

 
 

 
Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 12th October 2021 
 
Place 
Council Chamber, Council House, Earl Street, Coventry CV1 5RR 
 
Please note that in line with current Government and City Council guidelines in 

relation to Covid, there will be reduced public access to the meeting to manage 

numbers attending safely. If you wish to attend in person, please contact the 

Governance Services Officer indicated at the end of the agenda. 

 

 
Public business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 18) 
 

 (a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 31st August 2021 
 
(b) Matters arising 
 

4. Exclusion of Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the item of private 
business for the reasons shown in the report. 
 

5. Coventry City Council's Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23 
(Youth Justice Plan)  (Pages 19 - 106) 

 

 Report of the Director of Children’s Services 
 

6. Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 
(Local Account)  (Pages 107 - 166) 

 

 Report of the Director of Adult Services 
 
(Note: A Briefing Note relating to Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee’s 
consideration of the report at their meeting on 29th September 2021 is 
attached) 
 

7. Coventry Transport Strategy  (Pages 167 - 324) 
 

 Report of the Director of Transportation and Highways 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 

8. Coventry Very Light Rail  (Pages 325 - 338) 
 

 Report of the Director of Transportation and Highways 
 

9. Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme   
           (Pages 339 - 500) 
 

 Report of the Director of Education and Skills  
 

10. SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site  (Pages 501 - 584) 
 

 Report of the Director of Education and Skills 
 

11. Academies Act 2010 - Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease 
following the proposed academy conversion in respect of Woodfield 
School site and the grant of a 125-year Long Lease in respect of 
Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust 
(MAT)  (Pages 585 - 596) 

 

 Report of the Director of Education and Skills 
 

12. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

13. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.   
 

Private business 
 
14. SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site  (Pages 597 - 796) 
 

 Report of the Director of Education and Skills 
 
(Listing Officer: Kirston Nelson, Tel: 024 7697 6861) 
 

15. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.   
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
Monday, 4 October 2021 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Email: Lara.Knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership 
 
Cabinet Members:  
Councillors R Brown, K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), P Hetherton, A S Khan (Deputy 
Chair), M Mutton, J O'Boyle, K Sandhu, P Seaman and D Welsh 

mailto:Lara.Knight@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk


 

Page 3 

 
Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members: 
Councillors P Akhtar, B Gittins, G Hayre and G Lloyd 
 
By invitation:  
Councillors P Male and G Ridley (Non-voting Opposition representatives) 
 
 
Public Access 

Please note that in line with current Government and City Council Covid guidelines, 

there will be reduced public access to the meeting to manage numbers attending 

safely. 

Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is required 

to contact the following officers in advance of the meeting regarding arrangements for 

public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found here: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 

 

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon 
Governance Services 
Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 31 August 2021 

 
Present: 
Members: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Non-Voting Deputy 
Cabinet Members: 
 
 
 
 
Non-Voting Opposition 
Members: 
 
 
Other Non-Voting 
Members: 

 
 
Councillor G Duggins (Chair) 
Councillor AS Khan (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor K Caan 
Councillor P Hetherton 
Councillor P Seaman 
Councillor M Mutton 
Councillor R Brown 
Councillor K Sandhu 
Councillor D Welsh 
 
 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor B Gittins 
Councillor G Hayre 
Councillor G Lloyd 
 
 
Councillor G Ridley 
Councillor P Male 
 
 
Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor L Bigham 
Councillor J Clifford 
Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor R Singh 
Councillor C Thomas 

  

Employees (by Service):  

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Business, Investment and 
Culture 
 
 
Education and Skills 
 
Finance 
 
Housing and 
Transformation 
 
Human Resources 
 
Law and Governance 
 

 

G Quinton (Deputy Chief Executive), M Duffy 
          
 
A Williams (Director of Business, Investment and Culture), 
S Weir 
 
D Atkinson, P Barnett, N Johal, K Mawby 
      
B Hastie (Director of Finance), P Jennings 
 
      
M Burn, E Franklin 
 
S Newing (Director of Human Resources) 
          
J Newman (Director of Law and Governance), U Patel,  
M Salmon, G Singh Sangha 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
Public Health and 
Wellbeing 
 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services 
 
 

     
 
L Gaulton (Director of Public Health and Wellbeing), 
S Chun Lam    
 
A Walster (Director of Streetscene and Regulatory 
Services), A Chowns 
 

Apologies: Councillor J Innes 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor O’Boyle 

 
 

Public Business 
 
14. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

15. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13th July were agreed as a true record. There 
were no matters arising. 
 

16. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet agrees to exclude the press and public under 
Sections 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the private 
report in Minute 27 below headed ‘Restructuring Coventry City Council 
Subsidiaries’ on the grounds that the report involves the likely disclosure of 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as it 
contains information relating to the financial affairs of a particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) and in all circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

17. 2021/22 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2021)  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance, which would also be 
considered by the Audit and Procurement Committee at their meeting on 27th 
September 2021, that advised the forecast outturn position for revenue and capital 
expenditure and the Council’s treasury management activity as at the end of June 
2021. The headline revenue forecast for 2021/22 was for net expenditure to be 
£14.3m over budget before the application of COVID-19 emergency funding for 
local government. After the use of this grant, the net over-spend was £4.0m. At the 
same point in 2020/21 there was a projected overspend of £6.7m. 
 
The position included an underlying overspend of £6.5m within Children’s Services 
although £3.8m of this has been attributed to the pandemic and funded from one-
off Covid funding accordingly, leaving a net overspend of £2.7m. In order to 
anticipate the likely future budgetary position within Children’s Services it would be 
necessary to understand more fully the extent to which these pressures would 

Page 6



 

 
– 3 – 

 

continue beyond the period when Covid was a significant contributory factor. 
Looking ahead to next year, it would be a key focus of management to identify the 
causes and to reduce the budget pressures within Children’s Services as a 
fundamental element of balancing the 2022/23 Budget position. 
 
Elsewhere, budget pressures had emerged within Streetscene and Regulatory 
Services, Legal and Governance Services and Finance although the overall 
corporate position was within acceptable tolerances at this stage of the financial 
cycle. 
 
The Council and the city continued to receive Government support linked to Covid 
within the 2021/22 financial year. This amounted to c£19m announced to date to 
support Council services directly and a further c£45m channelled through the 
Council to support Coventry businesses and external suppliers. Although further 
allocations could not be ruled out, the pace of funding announcements had slowed 
markedly reflecting the wider easing of lockdown measures. The scale of any 
residual Covid related grants was therefore likely to be modest. 
 
The Council’s capital spending was projected to be £247.1m and included major 
scheme expenditure which ranged from investment in to the A46 Link Road, 
Coventry Station Masterplan, Friargate Building 2 and the Hotel, Air Quality and 
Secondary Schools expansion. The size of the programme and the nature of the 
projects within it, continued to be fundamental to the Council’s role within the city. 
 
The Council’s services and its financial position were moving gradually towards a 
business as usual position as the year progressed with activity and impacts arising 
from the Covid pandemic starting to subside. Some pockets of service activity 
continued to be significantly affected although often this was not resulting in a net 
financial cost. It was clear though that significant financial risk remained in relation 
to the underlying funding position for local government as well as the future 
trajectory of Covid costs and funding within a few service areas. It remained a 
financial imperative therefore to focus on the medium-term horizon and for the 
Council to tackle the anticipated legacy effects of Covid. 
 
Appendices to the report provided details of: the Revenue Position: Detailed 
Directorate Breakdown of Forecast Outturn Position; the Capital Programme: 
Analysis of Budget/Technical Changes; the Capital Programme: Estimated Outturn 
2021/22; the Capital Programme: Analysis of Rescheduling; and Prudential 
Indicators. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the Council’s revenue monitoring position incorporating the 

application of Covid emergency funding. 
 
2) Approves the revised forecast capital outturn position for the year of 

£247.1m incorporating: £32.5m rescheduling from 2019/20 outturn, 
£18.8m net increase in spending relating to approved/technical changes, 
£24.4m net rescheduling of expenditure into future years and a small 
£0.2m underspend. 

 
 

Page 7



 

 
– 4 – 

 

18. Empty Dwellings Strategy 2021-2026  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory 
Services that sought approval of an amended “Empty Dwellings Strategy for 2021 
- 2026”. 
 
The provision of good quality housing for Coventry residents was a priority for the 
City Council. The report proposed a new Empty Dwellings Strategy for 2021 -
2026, a copy of which was appended to the report, which set out the housing 
scene in Coventry and how the Council would target long term empty dwellings in 
the city which could be a magnet for vandalism, anti-social behaviour and a 
wasted housing resource. 
 
The new strategy would replace the current Council policy on empty dwellings and 
would take into account changes in legislation and the housing market in 
Coventry. It would also tie together the adopted Coventry Local Plan 2017 which 
detailed how Coventry City Council would meet the future house building needs up 
to 2031 and the need to consider the city’s existing housing stock and in particular 
the quality of homes provided via the Private Rented Sector (PRS). 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves the amended Empty Dwellings 
Strategy 2021 – 2026, attached at Appendix 1 to the report.  
 

19. Social Value and Sustainability Policy  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance that 
sought approval of the updated Social Value and Sustainability Policy for 
Coventry. A copy of the Policy was attached as an appendix to the report. 
 
Coventry City Council recognised the potential and impact of embedding Social 
Value in its procurement processes and contracts with third parties, as well as in 
its work with partner organisations and communities. The vision was to ensure that 
Coventry as a city embedded the social value ethos, to consider activities 
holistically, taking account of the wider economic, social and environmental 
effects, which would enable challenge of inequalities and the promotion of diversity 
and inclusion, delivery of sustainability, support for the local economy and to work 
with the local community.   
 
The report recommended that Cabinet approved an updated Social Value Policy 
for Coventry.  The policy committed the Council to take action through its 
procurement and contract management activities to ensure that social value and 
sustainability outcomes were maximised through the supply of goods, services 
and works to the Council.  Furthermore, social value was embedded throughout 
the City Council’s other policies and within the planning application process. 
 
This policy was an evolution and replacement of the current Social Value Policy 
which was adopted by Cabinet on the 11th February 2014.  Following a 
recommendation of the Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board (1), the 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources requested that Officers draft 
a revised Social Value Policy.  
 
 

Page 8



 

 
– 5 – 

 

The key elements of the policy were to: 
o Build social value into council contracts and major planning applications to 

maximise the impact gained from all money spent from the Councils budgets 
and from major developments within the City. 

o Increase the proportion of the council’s expenditure which goes to local 
businesses and providers rather than those outside of the area. 

o Raise the living standards of Coventry residents and commit to working 
towards the Joseph Rowntree Living Wage. 

o Introduce systems for assessing and measuring social value. 
o Commit to working with partner agencies (in a One Coventry way) to develop 

further how to achieve social value. 
o Create links between Social Value delivery and the United Nations 17 

sustainable development goals. 
 

Coventry City Councils Contract Procedure Rules already took steps to ensure 
that at least 2 out of 3 quotes for contracts up to £100,000 were from local 
companies and that social value considerations in line with the existing Social 
Value toolkit were considered as part of  tender exercises, but this policy looked to 
build on successes to date, enhance commitment to sustainability and to formalise 
and measure Social Value and Sustainability outcomes more clearly. 
 
Social value returns would be monitored and reported on an annual basis to 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources and to the Procurement 
Board. The first year of the policy would be a baseline year with targets set 
subsequently to increase the amount of social value secured. 
  
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the Social Value and Sustainability Policy, attached as an 

Appendix to the report, which will supersede the current Social Value 
Policy. 

 
2) Delegates authority to the Director of Law and Governance to implement 

the Policy. 
 

20. Managed Service Provider for Temporary Agency Workers  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive that sought 
approval for the procurement of a new three-year contract with the option to 
extend for one further year for a managed service provider for temporary agency 
workers. 
 
The Council currently had a call off contract for the supply of temporary agency 
workers. This acted as a support contract if the Council’s first choice sourcing 
routes of employment from the casual working pool or fixed term appointments 
were unsuccessful in fulfilling temporary staffing vacancies. 
 
The current provider delivered a managed service provider (MSP) solution which 
involved supplying their own temporary workers as well as workers from a 2nd tier 
of suppliers, that the provider managed on behalf of the Council.  Twenty-nine 2nd 
tier supplier supplied agency workers to the Council in the last year.  The 2nd tier 
suppliers tended to be used for more specialist requirements such as social care.  

Page 9



 

 
– 6 – 

 

As part of the contract, an electronic ordering system was supplied by the provider 
to allow the Council and suppliers to communicate requirements, supply c.v.’s, 
upload key support documentation for new starters and for the completion of 
timesheets.  This ensured the Council quicker access to the temporary market, 
real time visibility of the status of requests and an electronic, auditable trail for all 
transactions. 
 
The benefits that appointing a managed service provider brought to the Council 
included:  

• Contracting with one supplier with expertise of the market who could then 
source from an extensive supplier pool on the Council’s behalf. 

• A supplier that could manage all of the employment and IR35 legislation that 
were significantly higher in the temporary agency market.  

• A saving in resource in staff not having to engage the market and contract 
manage multiple suppliers. 

• One point of contact for all requirements and queries. 
• Benefitting from lower rates by accumulating spend with one supplier. 
• Obtaining management information on the Council’s ongoing agency spend. 
• A significant reduction in the number of invoices the Council would have to 

process and pay. 
 
Some investigation was completed prior to the procurement of the existing 
contract about the possibility of removing the contract and the Council potentially 
establishing its own ‘agency’. The idea was raised following another West 
Midlands Authority establishing an in-house agency, removing the need for an 
MSP contract. The findings found that the implementation and ongoing costs 
would be significant and would not eliminate the need for agencies particularly in 
specialised markets such as social care. For these reasons establishing the 
Council’s own in-house agency to replace an MSP service was not recommended. 
In the last year a working group had revisited exploring mechanisms for the 
Council to potentially manage some of its temporary agency requirements in the 
future, but this had not progressed to anything definitive and would not be possible 
to implement prior to the current agency contract expiring. 
 
The spend through the agency contract had been falling over a number of years. 
Over the last year, the contract had seen an increase in spend due to the 
Council’s COVID response and the need to recruit additional resource to support 
the Council with new requirements or to support the existing workforce.  The 
increased spend was also a result of Human Resources Recruitment work to 
move temporary contract requirements from alternatively procured contracts, onto 
the agency contract. This had increased the overall spend under the agency 
contract but delivered overall savings to the Council on the margins the alternative 
contracts charged. 
 
Coventry City Council (CCC) led the procurement process for the existing contract 
with collaboration from Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) who also 
used the same contract. The existing contract was procured using ESPO’s 
(Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation) Managed Services for Temporary 
Agency Resource framework (MSTAR2). This allowed aggregate spend for both 
councils to achieve greater savings and efficiencies both by driving down prices 
and by resourcing one tender process instead of two. The contract was due to 
expire on the 25th June 2022 and had no contractual extensions available. Due to 

Page 10



 

 
– 7 – 

 

the value of spend the Council must follow the Public Contract Regulations 2015 
and compliantly procure a new contract. It had been agreed between SMBC and 
CCC that CCC would again lead the re-procurement of the new contract. 
   
Procurement Services had investigated 3 compliant procurement routes available 
for the new contract. Further details on these were detailed in paragraph 2.2 of the 
report. From the routes investigated, it was felt that the route that proposed the 
greatest value and lowest risk to be a further competition via ESPO’s Managed 
Services for Temporary Agency Resource framework (MSTAR3). Further details 
on the reasoning for this were detailed in paragraphs 2.3 – 2.6 of the report. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
  
1) Authorises the procurement of a new three-year contract with the option 

to extend for one further year for a managed service provider for 
temporary agency workers to commence from the 25th June 2022 and 
expire on the 24th June 2026 (if extension is taken). 

 
2) Delegates authority to the Director of Law and Governance to agree the 

award of contract(s) following a further competition using Eastern Shires 
Purchasing Organisations (ESPO) Managed Services for Temporary 
Agency Resource 3 (MSTAR3) Lot 1b. 

 
3) Authorises the City Council to enter into Contract(s) with the successful 

supplier of the further competition for a three-year contract with the 
option to extend for one further year. 

 
21. One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2020/2021  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive that set out the progress 
made towards the One Coventry Plan in 2020-21. Appendices to the report 
provided the One Coventry Annual Performance Report 2020/21 and the 
Performance Management Framework 2021/22. 
 
The One Coventry approach helped to shape the way the Council worked with its 
partners to improve the city and improve people’s lives. It included the Council’s 
vision and priorities, new ways of working, and core areas of activity to deliver the 
One Coventry Plan objectives, key strategies, and approaches. A One Coventry 
approach would be taken to the Council Plan refresh, putting the needs of 
communities at the heart of the continued vision to be “globally connected; locally 
committed”. 
 
This annual performance report set out the progress made towards the One 
Coventry Plan in 2020-21. For each objective, the report set out the trends, actions 
taken, and performance metrics to provide an assessment of the progress made 
against previous years and with other places. This year’s report set out the 
progress made against an incredibly challenging year where the Covid-19 
pandemic had wreaked havoc on health and wellbeing, jobs and employment, and 
business and economy. 
 
 

Page 11



 

 
– 8 – 

 

It was intended that the current One Coventry Plan (2016-24) would be refreshed 
during 2021, to create greater alignment between the key themes and priorities 
that were emerging in the city and regionally, and the work that was undertaken 
across Council services and with partners. 
 
The report had been considered by the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee at their 
meeting on 26th August 2021. They requested that additional information be 
included in the Performance Report. They had no recommendations for Cabinet. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2020/21. 
 
2) Notes the intention to refresh the current One Coventry Plan (2016-24) to 

reflect emerging priorities. 
 

22. Refugee Transition Outcomes Fund (RTOF) Project  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of the Director of Public Health 
and Wellbeing on the Refugee Transition Outcomes Fund (RTOF) Project.   
 
Coventry had a long tradition of welcoming people to the city from all over the 
world. The City Council supported this tradition and aimed to enable and empower 
all those who had arrived in this welcoming city, to thrive and prosper. In line with 
this aim, the City Council Migration team had managed and continued to manage 
projects and partnerships across a number of externally funded programmes 
including through EU (Urban Innovative Actions) and UK Government (Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government and Home Office) projects. It also 
had a strategic responsibility for supporting newly arriving migrants and played a 
key part in supporting the city’s Local Migration Network. 
 
Following a competitive bidding process, Big Issue Invest (BII) were successful in 
their bid for outcome-based funding for the Home Office project known as The 
Refugee Transitions Outcomes Fund. A condition of the fund was that projects 
must include Social Impact Bonds, which allowed for up-front cash investment to 
be provided by a social investor so that the Home Office only paid for outcomes if 
and when achieved.  
 
Social Impact Bond projects entailed the setting up of a Special Purpose Vehicle 
(SPV), which was a subsidiary to the social investor, in this case BII.  The bid was 
a consortium regional bid comprising Birmingham, Coventry, Sandwell and 
Wolverhampton local authorities with the largest cohort of asylum seekers 
accommodated locally and respective partner organisations. The Council and its 
partners (St. Francis Church of Assisi, Ashley Community Housing (ACH) and 
Spring Housing) supported development of BII’s bid and had been awarded 
£622,283 of funding through the RTOF.  
 
The Big Issue Group was dedicated to supporting and tackling the issue of poverty 
and inequality in the UK.  Founded in 2005, Big Issue Invest extended The Big 
Issue’s mission by financing the growth of sustainable social enterprises. Since 
2013, BII had invested in successful Social Impact Bonds/Social Outcomes 

Page 12



 

 
– 9 – 

 

contracts from a dedicated Outcomes Investment Fund (£10m) and was currently 
managing commitments of over £7m into 19 investees. 
 
The RTOF was a £13.99m Home Office initiative which sought to improve 
employment, housing and wider integration outcomes for newly recognised 
refugees. The project was funded until March 2024 and would enable the city to 
offer intensive support to former asylum seekers granted leave to remain in the 
last 18 months.  
 
The total regional project award was £2,463,900 and aimed to support 361 
individuals across four local authority areas. Coventry’s portion of the funding was 
£622,283 which would assist 93 people, with Coventry City Council’s portion of the 
outcome funding being £184,237 and Coventry City Council’s partners portion of 
the outcome funding being £438,046. There remained the potential to increase 
number of participants supported over the lifetime of the Project, but it was 
dependent on the success of the project and the availability of additional funding 
from the Home Office. 
 
Whilst the proposal was based on a partnership approach, delivery across each 
Local Authority area was based on local delivery models supported by local 
providers with considerable experience of working with this cohort of participants.   
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
  
1) Notes the success of the partnership work between Coventry City 

Council, other Local Authorities and the wider delivery partnership in 
developing the funding bid. 
 

2) Notes that BII and its consortium bidding partners (which include 
Coventry City Council) have been successful in their bid for the Home 
Office funding. 
 

3) Authorises Coventry City Council to accept funding up to £622,283 under 
the Refugee Transition Outcomes Fund, subject to the satisfactory 
conclusion of (4) below. 

 
4) Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health and Wellbeing, 

following consultation with the Director of Finance and the Director of 
Law and Governance, to undertake all necessary due diligence which 
shall also include the authority to enter into any legal agreement 
necessary to facilitate the ability for Coventry City Council to participate 
in the project. 

 
23. European Social Fund 2014-2020 - European Structural & Investment Funds 

(ESIF) - Coventry - ESF Application to Youth Employment Initiative  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Education and Skills on the 
European Social Fund 2014-2020 – European Structural and Investment Funds 
(ESIF) –Coventry - ESF Application to Youth Employment Initiative. The report 
provided information on the new bid and requested Members’ approval for the 
Council to act as accountable body guarantor and delivery partner for this Funding 
Programme. 

Page 13



 

 
– 10 – 

 

 
The 2014-2020 ESIF Programme was launched in March 2015, it would now run 
until 2023 in the UK. 
 
A Cabinet report was approved on 26 November 2015 (minute 70/15 referred) for 
successful projects from the first round of funding under the Programme. In that 
report it was noted that further rounds of funding would be available and that the 
Council would seek to apply in those rounds.  
 
A further Cabinet report was approved on 18th February 2020 (minute 79/19 
referred) and at Council on 25th February 2020 (their minute 90/19 referred), to 
draw down up to a further £11.38m from ESIF for three Phase 2 Programmes. 
These programmes were now all successfully providing additional support to local 
residents.   
 
A further call for applications under the Youth Employment Initiative (Priority 1.3) 
was released by the Department of Work and Pensions in January 2021. A further 
Council led application was therefore submitted in response to this call. The 
application had been successful, and the Council had now been offered a Funding 
Agreement to secure these funds and commence delivery of the Programme. The 
total project cost of this application (Grant plus Match Funding from the City 
Council and delivery partners) was £3.17m, with just over 66% of these costs 
being made available from the ESIF grants to support the applications. The 
Council had again taken a leadership role by bringing partners together from 
across the Coventry and Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership area to 
develop projects and programmes that would lead to improved employment 
prospects across the City and the sub-region. The Council had an outstanding 
track record of securing, managing and delivering EU-funded employability 
support programmes.  
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Notes the success of European Funding via European Structural and 

Investment Funds in delivering the City’s education, skills and economic 
aspirations and continues to support the Council bidding for European 
Funds that are still available via the European Structural and Investment 
Funds (ESIF) Programme and which will support the objectives of the 
Economic Growth and Prosperity Strategy 2018 – 2022 and the One 
Coventry Council Plan 2016 – 24. 

 
2) Approves the acceptance of the ESF grant funding, totalling £2.11m from 

European Structural and Investment Funds to be utilised in delivering 
the City’s priorities as set out in this report. 

 
3) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills, in consultation 

with the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance, to 
negotiate final terms and entry into: (a) the grant funding agreement to 
secure the ESIF funding with the City Council acting as the Accountable 
Body for the funding: and (b) back to back funding agreement with such 
delivery partners as deemed necessary to deliver the City’s priorities as 
set out in this report. 

 

Page 14



 

 
– 11 – 

 

 
24. Restructuring Coventry City Council Subsidiaries  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance, that had 
been considered by the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee at their meeting on 26th 
August 2021 (their minute 16/21 referred) and would also be considered at the 
meeting of the Council on 8th September 2021, on proposals for restructuring 
Coventry City Council subsidiaries. An Appendix to the report provided the Terms 
of Reference for the Shareholder Committee. A briefing note containing 
recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee consideration of the 
report, had been circulated.  
 
A corresponding private report detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 27 below refers).  
 
The City Council’s portfolio of wholly owned company investments and joint 
ventures companies had grown in both volume and complexity over a number of 
years. A full list of the City Council’s company investments was detailed in the 
report. 
 
Each of these investments had been considered separately by the City Council at 
the point of purchase and / or investment through detailed due diligence, along 
with reports to the Cabinet and Council to recommend the appropriate course of 
action. Equally each investment had its own governance structure which regulated 
how the company or joint venture operated and performed. However, there was 
currently no single internal process to allow the City Council to consider the 
performance of its investments, including the mix of commercial investments and 
suitable apportionment of risk across different sectors. 
 
In response to the City Council’s auditors (Grant Thornton) advocating 
improvements in the overarching arrangements for the Council’s commercial 
investments, the report sought approval of a revised governance structure for the 
City Council’s commercial investments through the establishment of new sub-
committee of Cabinet , the Coventry City Council Shareholder Committee. Along 
with the grouping of all wholly owned investments under a single parent 
Company, HoldCo. The proposed governance structure for the City Council’s 
commercial investments was set out in the report. 
 
To facilitate the structure and following independent advice from Pinsent Mason 
LLP and Deloitte LLP, the report also sought: 

 the transfer of shares in all wholly owned companies to HoldCo, and the 
assignment to the City Council of new shares in HoldCo. 

 The adoption of all relevant terms of reference and policies for the 
Shareholder Committee and HoldCo. 

 The financial restructuring of North Coventry Holdings (NCH), in order to 
release funds back to the City Council. 

 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the following recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination 

Committee, that: 
 

Page 15



 

 
– 12 – 

 

I. Cabinet agree the recommendations contained in the report. 
 

II. Training is offered to other relevant Elected Members as well as 
those specifically appointed to the Board of Directors, on an 
annual basis. 

 
III. Annual reports to Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee include 

information about the income provided by HoldCo. that is spent on 
public services and that appropriate communications reflect this. 

 
2) Approves the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government 

Act 2003 and Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to establish HoldCo, a 
wholly owned subsidiary to act as a holding company. 

 
3) Approves the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government 

Act 2003 and Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to transfer the current 
shares in Tom White Waste Limited, Coombe Abbey Park Limited and 
North Coventry Holdings which are currently held by the Council, into 
HoldCo and set up the subsidiary companies as set out in paragraph 3.2 
of the report.  

 
4) Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, following consultation with 

the Director of Finance, the Director of Law and Governance and the 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, to finalise the 
necessary due diligence and finalise the terms of, and enter into, the 
relevant legal agreements as well as any associated documents deemed 
necessary to complete the transaction. 

 
5) Approves the implementation of the governance structure and Terms of 

reference for the Shareholder Committee, Delegations Policy and the 
Conflicts Policy as shown in the appendices to the report. 

 
6) Notes that the Leader shall exercise his authority under Local 

Government Act 2000 to appoint Members onto the Shareholders 
Committee to represent the Council as sole shareholder of HoldCo. 

 
Recommends that Council: 
 
7) Delegates authority to the Director of Finance following consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, the ability 
to carry out the necessary legal and financial transactions to facilitate a 
reduction in the share capital in North Coventry Holdings. The authority 
under this delegation shall also include the power to determine how any 
payments released as a consequence of the reduction in share capital in 
North Coventry Holdings is to be treated. 

 
8) Authorises the Director of Law and Governance to make the necessary 

amendments to the Council’s Constitution arising from this report. 
 

25. Outstanding Issues  
 
There were no outstanding issues. 

Page 16



 

 
– 13 – 

 

 
26. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 

matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  
 
There were no other items of public business. 
 

27. Restructuring Coventry City Council Subsidiaries  
 
Further to Minute 24 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the Director 
of Law and Governance, setting out the commercially confidential matters relating 
to the restructuring of Coventry City Council subsidiaries. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the following recommendations from Scrutiny Co-ordination 

Committee, that: 
 

I. Cabinet agrees the recommendations contained in the report. 
 

II. Training is offered to other relevant Elected Members as well as 
those specifically appointed to the Board of Directors, on an 
annual basis. 

 
III. Annual reports to Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee include 

information about the income provided by HoldCo. that is spent on 
public services and that appropriate communications reflect this. 

 
2)  Approves the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government 

Act 2003 and Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to establish HoldCo, a 
wholly owned subsidiary to act as a holding company. 

 
3)  Approves the use of its powers under Section 12 of Local Government 

Act 2003 and Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to transfer the current 
shares in Tom White Waste Limited, Coombe Abbey Park Limited, and 
North Coventry Holdings which are currently held by the Council, into 
HoldCo and set up the subsidiary companies as set out in paragraph 3.2 
of the report. 

 
4)  Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, following consultation with 

the Director of Finance, Director of Law and Governance and the Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, to finalise the necessary 
due diligence and finalise the terms of, and enter into, the relevant legal 
agreements as well as any associated documents deemed necessary to 
complete the transaction. 

 
5)  Approves the implementation of the governance structure and Terms of 

reference for the Shareholder Committee, Delegations Policy and the 
Conflicts Policy as shown in the appendices to the report. 

 
6) Notes that the Leader shall exercise his authority under Local 

Government Act 2000 to appoint Members onto the Shareholders 
Committee to represent the Council as sole shareholder of HoldCo. 

Page 17



 

 
– 14 – 

 

 
Recommends that Council: 
 
7)   Delegates authority to the Director of Finance following consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, the ability to 
carry out the necessary legal and financial transactions to facilitate a 
reduction in the share capital in North Coventry Holdings. The authority 
under this delegation shall also include the power to determine how any 
payments released as a consequence of the reduction in share capital in 
North Coventry Holdings is to be treated. 

 
8)  Authorises the Director of Law and Governance to make the necessary 

amendments to the Council’s Constitution arising from this report. 
 

28. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  
 
There were no other items of private business. 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 3.10 pm)  

  

Page 18



1 
 


 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 

  

Cabinet 12 October 2021 

Council 18 October 2021  

 

Name of Cabinet Member:  

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People - Councillor P Seaman   

 

Director Approving Submission of the report: 

Director of Children’s Services 

 

Ward(s) affected: 

All wards  

 

Title: 

Coventry City Council’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Youth Justice Plan) 

 

 

Is this a key decision? 

No –  While the Plan covers all wards of the City, it is not anticipated that the impact will be 

Significant. 

 

Executive Summary: 

 

This paper is being submitted as notification that The Coventry Youth Offending Service (CYOS) 

Youth Justice Plan has been agreed and signed off by its Chair, the Director of Childrens 

Services, and to seek Council endorsement. 

 

Youth Offending Teams were established under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The functions 

assigned to the Youth Offending Service include the duty upon the local authority, under the 

Children Act 1989, to take all reasonable steps to encourage children not to commit offences. 

The Crime and Disorder Act imposed a duty on each Local Authority, acting in cooperation with 

its Statutory Partners (Police, Health and Probation), to ensure that all Youth Justice services are 

available in their area to such an extent as it appropriate for the area. 

 

The key tasks of the service are: 

 

• Management and delivery of community sentences 

• Assessing and delivering interventions to the out-of-court-disposal cohort 

• Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

• Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of a court team, Bail 

& Health Assessments, provision of Pre-Sentence Reports and Stand-down Reports) 

• Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders 

• Victim services 

 

The Crime and Disorder Act also imposed a duty to complete and submit a Youth Justice Plan 

each year.  

 

The Plan provides an overview of CYOS achievements against key indicators, plans and targets, 

and identifies the key strategic priorities for the next 12-24 months1.  

 

Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is requested to: 
 

1)    Recommend that Council endorse the Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021/2023. 
 
Council is requested to: 
 

1)   Endorse the Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021/2023. 
 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 - Coventry City Council’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Background papers: 
 
None  
 
Other useful documents 
 
None  
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
  
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel, or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes - 18th October 2021  

 
1 In previous years the plan has focussed across a 12-month period only but has been extended to 24 months, in recognition that 

the Youth Justice Board ‘…welcomes plans that cover more than one year. Where YJ plans are covering more than one year, the 
YJB recommend an annual refresh and updating of key information, particularly relating to available resources, governance and 
key achievements from the previous year. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-practice-note-for-youth-

offending-partnerships .  

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-practice-note-for-youth-offending-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-practice-note-for-youth-offending-partnerships


 

3 
 

Report title: Coventry City Council’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 

 

1. Context (or background) 

 

The plan demonstrates, in line with the Youth Justice Board (YJB) grant requirement, the 

continued delivery of statutory responsibilities as described in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

part 111 (section 38).  

 

CYOS has submitted its plan which demonstrates its delivery of its statutory functions and the 

methods for achieving this to the YJB, in line with the grant requirement.  

 

The plan outlines the following: 

- Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

- Resources and Services 

- Performance and Priorities 

- Responding to the Pandemic and Recovery from Covid 19  

- Challenges, risks, and opportunities 

- And, includes an Improvement and Business Plan. 

 

Through this structure the Plan sets out details of performance over the past year and our 

priorities for 2021 - 2023.  

 

 

1.2 Headlines 2020/21  

 

1.2.1 Performance and outcomes for children, young people, families, and 

communities2  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 Family Group - a statistically similar comparator group as defined by the Youth Justice Board: Coventry, Derby, Bolton, Newport, 

Sheffield, Peterborough, Walsall, Leeds, Portsmouth, Southampton, Tameside. Due to the Covid 19 pandemic, not all comparator 
data has been available this year; this is currently being progressed by the Youth Justice Board and Ministry of Justice.  

The number of 

children entering 

the youth justice 

system has been 

stable over the last 

three years and 

there has been a 

47% reduction since 

2017.  

Page 21



 

4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

While there is a positive downward trend in reoffending rates and a reduced number of children 

entering the Youth Justice System, the city has not seen the same trajectories in the use of 

custody.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CYOS has seen the 

lowest reoffending 

rate in 3 years. 

There was a similar 

use of custody to 

2019/20, but this 

compares to a clear 

downward trend for 

the Family Group.  

57% reduction in 

new remand 

episodes compared 

to 2019/2020 and 

the lowest rate in 4 

years.   

Page 22



 

5 
 

CYOS has not seen as stark a reduction in custody use compared to the family group, partially 

as a result of 5 young people receiving life sentences for 3 separate murders, one from 2018/19 

and two from 2019/20. Of these children, 3 were first-time entrants evidencing the importance of 

identifying children at risk and having appropriate diversion and prevention, and the wide 

permeating impact of knife crime3.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2.2  Responding to Covid 19 and Other Key Achievement – 2020/21 

 

Last year’s CYOS 2020/21 Contingency and Recovery Youth Justice Plan outlined how the 

service was responding to Covid 19; that plan has been updated to respond to restriction changes 

and easing being made available to CYOS’ s Management Board on a quarterly basis.  

 

Last year, CYOS initially moved to a tiered based model of delivery, which saw most of the 

delivery being via video telephone calls and in person where assessed as necessary. This 

developed over the course of the year and CYOS has had a largely in person service delivery 

since September 2020; an exception to this is victim-based work, which has remained virtually 

delivered. Professional meetings have continued via Microsoft Teams and additional spaces 

have been created for team support, counselling, and reflective workshops.  

 

CYOS has continued developmental activity throughout the past year and have progressed an 

improvement plan following the Service completing a self-assessment against the new Youth 

Justice Board National Standards in April 20204; however, the progression of these 

improvements has been impacted by the Covid 19 pandemic. 

 

Other Key Achievements from the past year include: 

 We were awarded the ‘Achievement for All’ Quality Lead Award5. 

 
3 Only one of the children was known to CYOS on a substantive disposal at the time of the offence; a multi-agency learning review, 
facilitated by the Safeguarding Children Partnership, was undertaken with learning being actioned and progression tracked through 
Management Board. A wider learning review is being progressed around the 3 of the other children to explore learning for the city.   
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-standards-for-youth-justice-services  
5 Awarded in recognition of the efforts to secure better outcomes for children with special educational needs in the Youth Justice 

System- https://afaeducation.org/  

There is a continued 

improving trend around 

children being engaged 

in Education, Training 

and Employment, but 

children in the youth 

justice system continue 

to achieve grades far 

below the city average.  

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-standards-for-youth-justice-services
https://afaeducation.org/


 

6 
 

• We were the first Youth Offending Team to achieve the newly launched Registered Restorative Organisation status. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3 Our priorities and areas for improvement for 2021/23   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increased 

Board 

Membership  

Continued  

work around 

addressing 

disproportionality⁶  

Development 

around trauma 

informed practice 

and approaches  

Improved responses 

to serious youth  

violence and 

exploitation 

⁶ As per comments last year, the ethnic breakdown in the Plan is aggregated in line with the Youth Justice Board national reporting criteria, but a more detailed analysis is used operationally.  

P
age 24



 

7 
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal  

 

2.1 Completion and submission of this plan is a statutory duty under the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998. It is requested that Cabinet recommend that the Council endorse the Plan. 

 

3. Results of consultation undertaken  

 

3.1 All statutory partners are consulted under a statutory duty imposed by the Act. All 

Management Board members are consulted and contribute, although only statutory 

partner’s cooperation is required.   

 

3.2 Statutory Members are represented by: 

 

• Director of Children’s Services 

• Strategic Lead for Help Protection, Children’s Services 

• Chief Inspector, Coventry, West Midlands Police 

• Head of National Probation Service, Coventry 

• Director of Commissioning. Coventry and Warwickshire Clinical Commissioning Group  

• Head of Specialist Health Services for Children and Young People 

 

3.3 Other members include: 

 

• Head of Environmental Services Street Scene and Regulatory Services 

• Operations Manager, Coventry and Warwickshire, Prospects Services 

• Chair of The Magistrates Youth Panel 

• Head of Service, Education Entitlement 

• Head Teacher, Coventry Virtual School 

• Violence Prevention - Programme Manager, Public Health Team 

• Early Help Manager, Children’s Services 

• Service Manager, Positive Choices 

• Head of Innovation and Engagement, Midlands, Youth Justice Board 

 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision  

 

4.1 YJB grant conditions state that receipt of grant is conditional on submission of a strategic   

plan. The YJB recognise that local political processes do not necessarily tie in with 

submission dates and therefore they accept a draft plan, which had to be submitted by the 

end of June 2021; the plan was submitted in line with the deadline. 

 

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 

 

5.1 Financial implications 

 

Grant funding from YJB may be withheld/withdrawn if the plan is not submitted in line with 

the Crime and Disorder Act and grant requirements. 

 

Page 25



 

8 
 

 
The change to the local authority contribution, Health and Police are as a result of increased 

costs (for example, staff spinal points and increments, and budget realignments); the 

Health, Police and Probation figures reflect ‘payments in kind’ through seconded roles 

and other delegated funds6. The change to the YJB budget is as a result of a one-year grant 

uplift for 2021-22 to support the recovery from Covid 19.  

 

5.2 Legal implications 

 

Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on the local authority, after 

consultation with the relevant bodies, to formulate and implement a yearly ‘Youth Justice 

Plan’. The Plan must set out how Youth Justice Services in the area are to be provided and 

funded, how the Youth Offending Service established are to be composed and funded, and 

how they will operate and what functions they are to carry out. Such Plans are submitted to 

the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales and published in accordance with any 

directions issued by the Secretary of State.    

 

6. Other implications 

 

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ 

 Primarily activities support: 

 

• Protecting our most vulnerable people  

• Improve health and well being 

• Make communities safer 

• Improving educational outcomes 

• Reducing the impact of poverty 

• Reducing health inequalities  

 

 Activity within the Youth Justice Plan is aligned locally to plans that include: 

 

• Early Help Strategy 

• Local Police and Crime Board Plan 

 
6 Further finance tables are available on pages 54/55 of the Plan providing a breakdown of partner contributions to the pooled budget.  

Page 26

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

9 
 

• Safeguarding Children Partnership Plan 

• Coventry Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Children and Young People’s Plan 

• Local Policing Plan 

• Coventry Sustainable Communities Strategy 

• Coventry Youth Violence Prevention Strategy 

 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 

 

Risk to the YJB grant, has been managed by consulting with partners in a timely manner to 

facilitate sign off and submission of the draft plan (grant requirement). The report is also 

submitted now for endorsement in line with statutory duties and good practice requirements. 

 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

 

The Plan presents a balanced budget and no immediate implications for other groups.     

The Plan details the risks going forward in to 2021/23. 

 

6.4 Equalities/Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 

 

This is not a new activity. Legislative changes, such as pre court disposal options, have 

been subject to substantial Equalities/Equality Impact Assessments activity under Ministry 

of Justice and Youth Justice Board.  

 

An EIA has been completed and this identified a positive impact for one or more protected 

groups, given the detailed progressive actions within improvement/business plan.   

 

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 

 None 

 

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

 

Partners have all participated in agreement and sign off the Plan and there are no   

implication arising post sign off. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

10 
 

Report author(s): Nick Jeffreys 

 

Name and job title: 

Nick Jeffreys 

Operational Lead for Coventry Youth Offending Service 

 

Service: 

Children’s Services 

 

Tel and email contact: 

Tel: 024 7697 6107  

Email: nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk  

 

Enquires should be directed to the above 

 

Contributor/approver 

name 

Title Service Date 

doc sent 

out 

Date response 

received or 

approved 

Contributors: 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 

Officer 

Law and 

Governance 

27.08.21 27.08.21 

Lisa Harris  Strategic Lead, Help and 

Protection  

Children’s 

Services 

27.08.21 07.09.21 

Georgia Shelton Accountant Finance 27.08.21 07.09.21 

Names of approvers for submission:  

(officers and members) 

Tina Pinks Finance Manager Finance   27.08.21 07.09.21 

Janice White   People Team Leader   Law and 

Governance 

27.08.21 15.09.21 

John Gregg Director of Children’s 

Service 

-  27.08.21 13.09.21 

Councillor P Seaman Cabinet Member for 

Children and Young 

People 

- 27.08.21 16.09.21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  

 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


www.coventry.gov.uk

  

(1) All pictures of Coventry within the plan have been taken by a child open to CYOS.

  
 
  

 

Coventry City Council’s
Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23

P
age 29



 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

2 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Foreword from the Chair of Coventry 
Youth Offending Management Board

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

We will continue to drive improvements to reduce the 
number of children engaged in offending behaviour and 
youth violence, the number entering the youth justice 
system and the number subject to custodial sentences.

The workforce has remained committed to improving 
outcomes for children and workforce development 
remains a key priority. 

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has had a  
significant impact on services. All council buildings were 
assessed to ensure Covid-19 compliance and to ensure 
the maximum safety of all staff. Risk assessments are 
reviewed and updated on a regularly basis to respond 
to the changes in government guidance. Most staff have 
continued to be based at home where they can do their 
work effectively. Virtual visits have continued throughout 
the service, and face to face visits were maintained, 
where it is safe and necessary to do so. 

As a partnership in Coventry we are proud of our 
achievements and we believe together we can make 
Coventry a safe, great and enjoyable place to live, grow 
and work.

John Gregg
Director of Children's Services 
and Management Board Chair

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

I am passionate about improving services for children and 
families. It is clear there is a commitment from politicians, 
partners, and teams to make a real difference to ensure that 
children, young people and victims, are first and foremost at 
the centre of Youth Justice services in Coventry.

We are committed to our One Coventry approach, to tackle 
issues like exploitation and serious youth violence, with these 
arrangements maturing and developing to meet need at a 
strategic and operational level. There is a partnership 
commitment to trauma informed practice and a commitment 
to a public health approach through the 10-year Coventry 
Youth Violence Prevention Strategy.

The 2021-23 plan details how we intend to put the vision and 
priorities into action with key developmental areas around 
education engagement, promoting diversion from the youth 
justice system, addressing disproportionately and continued 
improvements against the Youth Justice Board’s National 
Standards.

Our overarching Children’s Service’s vision is: ‘Coventry:
where children, young people and families matter’. The 
Coventry Youth Offending Service vision and priorities seek
to put this into action. We have seen through local learning 
the challenges of recognising the vulnerability of children,
but additionally managing this with our responsibilities to 
protect the public.

P
age 30



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.Challenge, risks and opportunities

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Improvement and business plan

 

 

7.Glossary of Terms and Abbreviationanagement Board Sign8.Management Board Sign

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Contents page
1. Executive summary and outline of priorities  4

2. Introduction

3.Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements

4.Resources and services

5.Performance and priorities

6.Responding to the pandemic and recovery from covid 19

 6

 9

 15

 18

 28

 33

 38

Appendices - 53

1.Management Board Membership
2.Budget and Spend 2021/22
3.Workforce Information
4.Quality Assurance Activity Schedule 
5.Performance Information
6.Management Board Sign Off
7.Glossary of Terms and Abbreviation

P
age 31



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

   

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

  

 

   
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

serious violence and exploitation.

Going forward, to affect long-term change, it is 
paramount that these children are not lost in this 
challenging landscape, particularly with the 
possibility of an increase in all crime with Covid 19 
restriction easing. With recruitment over the last 5 
months, the service is now in a good position to 
respond to this challenge, though resources will 
need to be maintained to enable the current 
intensive support offer, an improved service and to 
respond to any increases. The CYOS vision and 
priorities (see next page) and action plan seek to 
redress this.

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

4 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Executive Summary
This plan outlines the priorities for Youth Justice 
Services in Coventry over the next 2 years following 
on from the self-evaluation against key
performance indicators, and consultations with the 
partnership, children/families and the team. This 
framed the formation of Coventry Youth Offending 
Service Vision, a local adaption of the Youth Justice 
Board's 'Child First, Offender Second' approach.

This plan builds upon an improvement plan formed 
following the self-assessment against the national 
standards for youth justice services, as well as 
consolidating approaches taken during the Covid 
19 pandemic and the plan detailed in last year's 
Contingency and Recovery Plan.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 
has had a significant impact on services and our 
improvement journey. While the service has adapted 
well, there have been real challenges in maintaining 
good service delivery, with particular challenges 
around children in custody, resettlement and 
managing transitions, particularly to adult services 
and the adult secure estate.

CYOS initially moved to a tiered based model of 
delivery, which saw the large majority of delivery 
being undertaken via video telephone call platforms 
and in person, where assessed as necessary. This 
developed over the course of the year and CYOS 
has continued a largely in person service delivery 
since September 2020, though through a 1 to 1 
model; an exception to this is victim based work, 
which has remained virtually delivered.

The Plan outlines the current governance 
arrangements with interconnectedness between 
the CYOS Management Board, other statutory 
boards, and the Coventry Youth Violence 
Prevention Partnership Board, and associated 
violence prevention plan.

The document outlines some great areas of 
innovation, greater emphasis on third sector and 
partnership working to ensure diverse 
individualised offers for children, and 
achievements from the last year; for example,
CYOS was the first Youth Offending Team to 
achieve the newly launched Registered 
Restorative Organisation with the Restorative 
Council.

With this said, the last year has continued to be a 
very challenging one regarding serious youth 
violence. While this is a national trend, Coventry 
has faced particular challenges with a small 
number of children being entrenched and 
groomed into gang violence and exploitation, 
resulting in several children being subject to very 
long/life term custodial sentences. These 
concerns are somewhat juxtaposed with a 
reduced number of children entering the youth 
justice system, a reduction in the number of 
proven offences by children, and improved 
reoffending rates for the service.

The phrase used in the 2019-20 Plan was a 'tale 
of two cities', which has been more starkly 
shown during the Covid 19 pandemic. For a 
small proportion of children and young people 
there have been increased concerns around

P
age 32



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

1
 

 
  

3 4

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Child Engagement and 
Desistance - enacting the CYOS 
vision and taking a whole system 

approach to recognising the 
child’s diversity, their family/peers 
and unique ecology, to support 

desistance

2
One Coventry 

Approach – 
everyone working 
together to make a 

difference 

Joint Strategic City Planning –
ensuring appropriate governance, 

challenge and support 

Trauma Informed Practice – as a 
whole system recognizing and 

responding to children’s 
experiences of trauma and adverse

childhood experiences

Making a difference, 
Reduce 

reoffending/Safer 
communities, Safer 

children

Tackling Exploitation and 
Serious Youth Violence – 

reducing and responding as a 
city to children exploited, at risk 
of exploitation and/or involved in 
serious youth violence, enacting 

the city’s and Violence 
Reduction Unit’s public health 
approach to serious violence

 
  
 
  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 

  

 
 
 
 

Workforce 
valued, 

motivated, 
skilled, confident 
and sustainable

 5
Service open 
and honest – 

listening, 
responsive, 

effective and 
safe 

Children, young 
people, and

victims, first and at
the centre of what  

we do

Continued National Standard 
Learning – promoting best 

practice across all areas of the 
child’s journey, with focus on 
resettlement and transitions

Education, Training and 
Employment - promoting 
education, training and 

employment as a key factor to all
children’s desistance

  

 
   
  

 
 
 
 

Workforce Development –
  ensuring the Service has a 

skilled, diverse and supported 
workforce with clear pathways

for development  

  Restorative Justice –
recognising and meeting the

needs of victims of crime

   
 
  

  

 

 
  
 

 

  
   
   
 

Addressing Disproportionality –
addressing the reasons why 

some groups are  over 
represented in the youth  

justice system

 

   
   
   

 

   
   
   

 

  
  
  

 

   
   
   
  
 

 

   
   
    
  

Promoting Prevention and
  Diversion –ensuring effective 

diversionary pathways built on 
the evidence base of what 
works and reducing child 

criminalisation

5 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

CYOS Vision 2021-2023

Coventry Children's Services vision: where children, young people and families matter, and are valued

CYOS’s  vision  compliments  the  wider  Children's  Services's  Vision  and  YJB  'Child  First, Offender  Second' approach  in  aspiring  to  create  a  local  justice  system, 
which supports  children  to  be  the  best  version  of  themselves, working  collaboratively  and  seeing  children  as  part  of  the  solution, through evidenced based practice. 
It  aims  to  recognise  the  need  to  create  an  individualised  approach  and appropriately  respond  to  a  child's  diversity, by  working holistically  through  a 
whole system approach to  support  the  wider  family  and  illuminate  barriers  to  desistance, including structural inequality, alongside recognising the  need  to  protect  the 
public and previous/future  victims of  crime.

P
age 33



Introduction

P
age 34



    

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

  

  

  

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 

While the past year has been challenging in responding to and ensuring quality 
service delivery during Covid 19 (detailed in Section 6), CYOS has continued to 
progress much developmental activity and progress against key performance 
indicators and priorities.

The last year's priorities were largely born out of identified learning following the 
National Standard self-assessment audit, submitted to the Youth Justice Board 
in April 2020. This led, in the absence of the usual Youth Justice Plan, to a 
separate Management Board owned improvement strategy and plan (2020-23);
the improvement strategy amalgamated learning from the national standard 
audit, any continued actions from the 2019/20 Plan, learning through
auditing/reviews, responding to inspection findings, and enacting a service 
action planing response to these, alongside actions against the priorities and 
key performance indicators. This Plan will build on this and thus cover the 
period 2021-23.

To create the plan an inclusive methodological approach has been undertaken, 
namely:

1. Management Board review and planning section
2. Child/Parent consultation on their experience and improvement areas
3. Team Consultation on how we achieve desistance for children
4. Data analysis review of the Service and children in the youth justice system
5. Assessment analysis of for and against desistance needs for children/adults
6. Assessment analysis of risk assessment factors for all children/adults
7. Evidence base best practice review of other YOTs
8. Wider strategic partnership review and parity to existing strategic plans
9. Sharing with partners for feedback and amendments

This plan and the local vision has been written with explicit consideration to the 
Youth Justice Board's Strategic Plan 2021-24, which outlines how the Youth 
Justice Board intends to seeks to achieve a Child First, Offender Second 
approach in the youth justice system, namely:

‘A youth justice system that sees children as children, treats them fairly and 
helps them to build on their strengths so they can make a constructive 
contribution to society. This will prevent offending, and create safer
communities with fewer victims.’

This approach is underpinned by a research evidence base as detailed within 
the ‘Child First Justice: the research evidence-base (2021),though, as 
highlighted HMI Probation's Annual Report (2020), it is important not to lose 
sight of the victim and risk to others in the local interpretation of this vision.

The CYOS Vision and Priorities seek to recognise this challenging interplay, 
and will inform the action plan and priorities for the next 2 years.

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
  
 

7 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Introduction

Youth Offending Teams were established under the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 with the principal aim being to prevent the offending behaviour by 
children. The Act imposed a duty on each local authority together with its 
statutory partners, Police, Health and Probation, to ensure that adequate 
Youth Justice Services are available in their area.

The key tasks of the service are:

 Management and delivery of community sentences
 Assessing and delivering interventions to the Out-of-Court-Disposal 

cohort
 Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement
 Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of a 

court team, Bail & Health Assessments, provision of Pre-Sentence 
Reports and Stand-down Reports)

 Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders
 Victim services

The legislation also imposed a duty to complete and submit a Youth Justice 
Plan each year. The Act states that the Youth Justice Plan should set out how 
youth justice services in their area are to be provided, funded, the leadership 
and governance arrangements, and as well as key information about the 
Youth Offending Team (YOT) to ensure quality and effective youth justice 
services.

This Plan will set out the direction and strategy of youth justice services, 
through the formulation of a vision and priorities, with a business and 
improvement plan detailing how this vision will be achieved and positive 
outcomes for children, in particular:

 Reducing first time entrants to the youth justice system
 Reducing the use of custody
 Reducing reoffending rates
 Locally agreed performance indicators that evidence positive outcomes 

for children, young people and victims of crime(1).

This plan builds on the Contingency and Recovery Plan (2020/21) and has 
been written in conjunction with existing plans and strategies across the city 
that support the wider crime prevention and youth justice agenda. The Plan
is also subject to Coventry City Council Cabinet and Council endorsement.

(1) Local indicators: Reduced re-arrests, reduced incidents of serious youth violence and reduced attendance at A&E for assault injuries, improved Child/Family/Parent feedback, reduced risk judgements, improved ETE engagement and attainment, and improved victim feedback.

P
age 35



 

 

Just over one-fifth of Coventry’s population, or 79,765 
(21.5%) are children and young people under the age of 18 years. 

This is slightly higher than national (England) rate (21.4%), but lower than 
the regional (West Midlands) rate of 21.9% and the metro area (West 
Midlands Combined Authority) rate of 23.8%. It is, however, higher than the 
sub regional (Coventry and Warwickshire) rate 20.8%.

Of Coventry’s children and young  
people population: 

• 22,757 are under 5

• 28,844 (aged 5-10) 

• 20,684 (aged 11-15) 

• 7,480 (aged 16-17)

The proportion of children and 
young people with English as an 
additional language:

•  In primary schools is 34.4% (the 
national average is 21.3%)

•  In secondary schools is 32.5% 
(the national average is 17.1%)

•  In special 
schools is 
28.6% (the 
national 
average  
is 14.8%)

As at January 2020 
source data

 

 

85 primary schools/academies, 

21  secondary schools/
academies,

1 all thorough school/academy, 

8 special schools/academy, 

1 nursery school, 1 PRU’s. 

These figures include 51 
academies and 4 free schools.

MASH  
contact timeliness is 98.5%  
compared with  
92.8% in 2019/20  
and 52.9% in 2017

166 Ofsted registered 
childminders  

101 early years settings

% of care leaver EET figures aged 
17-20 is 51.3% compared to 49% 
in 2019/20. 

Compared to Statistical 
Neighbours 51.1%, West Midlands 
54.3% and England average 56% 
(2019-20)

15 Unaccompanied  
asylum-seeking children  
(as at end December 2020)

382  
pupils educated  
at home

190 mainstream fostering 
households. And 24 new fostering 
households approved in 2020/21 
(as end December 2020)

      

•  13 children were living in a 
privately fostered arrangement

•  1202 open early help assessments 
(across the partnership)

•  463 children are supported by a 
child protection plan

•  1901 children  
in need 

•  759 children  
are in care

•  420 care  
leavers   

The proportion of children entitled 
to free school meals:

•  In primary schools is 18.3% (the 
national average is 17.7%)

•  In secondary 
schools is 19.2% 
(the national 
average is 15.9%)

•  In special schools is 
41.3% (the national 
average is 40.1%)

As at January 2020 
source data

 

  

2019
2020

8 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

City snapshot for Children and Young People – December 2020

Coventry is identified as a 
‘Marmot City’ . 14.4% of Coventry 
areas are identified as being in 
the most 10% deprived in 
England. Over one-third (37%) of 
Coventry children live in 
low-income families.

Coventry is a diverse city and is 
expected to become even more 
diverse, with nearly half of Coventry 
Pupils from BME backgrounds. 
According to the latest school 
census,53.1% of Coventry’s 
school children are from 
BME background, up from 
39% in 2011.

Coventry Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) – Citywide Profile 2019 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/31860/english_indices_of_deprivation_2019_-_coventry_summary_report - based on ‘Local Concentration - This measure defines 'hot spots' of deprivation by reference to a percentage of the local authority district's population.
https://www.centreforcities.org/city/coventry/ & https://powwownow.co.uk/smarter-working/the-uks-most-connected-cities/ 

Coventry is on a relatively small 
footprint (98.65 km2) and with an 
estimated population in mid-2019 
of 371,521 residents; this makes 
Coventry the 9th largest city in 
England in terms of population.

Sources: Data Team for Children’s Services and Education. Coventry people and race & ethnicity (equality factsheet 6), published January 2015; data from the 2011 Census (Table KS201EW). https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/31/children_and_families/2772/coventry_children_and_young_people_plan 
Coventry Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) – Citywide Profile 2019  - https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/31860/english_indices_of_deprivation_2019_-_coventry_summary_report - - based on ‘Local Concentration - This measure defines 'hot spots' of deprivation by reference to a 
percentage of the local authority district's population - https://www.centreforcities.org/city/coventry/ & https://powwownow.co.uk/smarter-working/the-uks-most-connected-cities/ 

P
age 36



 

 
 
 Governance,  Leadership 

and  Partnership 
Arrangements

P
age 37



 

 
 

 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  







 
 
 

 
 
   

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 





  

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
   

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

10 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements

  

  

  
 

 

These cross cutting priories ensure that the priorities and vision are seen as a city responsibility 
and challenge, as outlined in the 'One Coventry' approach and the council's values:

In line with the requirements of the Crime and Disorder Act (1998) and revised guidance from the 
Youth Justice Board for Youth Offending Team partnerships, CYOS Management Board over sees 
youth justice services, monitoring and actioning around the quality and effectiveness of child
justice services a cross Coventry, specifically monitoring:

 reducing first time entrants to the youth justice system
 reducing the use of custody
 reducing reoffending rates
 locally agreed performance indicators that evidence positive outcomes for children, young 

people and victims of crime(1).

The Management Board is chaired by the Director of Children’s Services designated by the Chief 
Executive. The Board has cross cutting members, at a senior level, across the statutory and
on-statutory strategic boards and groups championing the CYOS vision and priorities, for example:

  (1) Local indicators: Reduced re-arrests, reduced incidents of serious youth violence and reduced attendance at A&E for assault injuries, improved Child/Family/Parent feedback, reduced risk judgements, ETE engagement and attainment, and improved victim feedback.

Early Help Strategy 2020-2022 –Outcome 6: ‘Parents and young people involved or victims of 
crime and/or anti-social behaviour is reduced’

Police and Crime Board - Priorities 2021– ‘Reducing re-offending and harm’ and‘exploitation 
and youth violence’

Safeguarding Children Partnership – Priorities 2019-21-‘Contextual Safeguarding/extra familial 
harm’

Health and Wellbeing Board – Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023 – ‘Children and 
young people fulfil their potential’

Safeguarding Adults Board - Priorities 2019-2021 - To be assured that services and agencies 
have appropriatesystems, processes and training in place to support and safeguard adults 
effectively.

P
age 38



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
  
  
 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
  
  
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
 
  

 
 

 
  
 

 

 

  

   

 

  
  
 
  
 

 
 

 
  
 

11 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements

   
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

   
   
 
  
 

 
 

 
   
  
 

(1) Local indicators: Reduced re-arrests, reduced incidents of serious youth violence and reduced attendance at A&E for assault injuries, improved Child/Family/Parent feedback, reduced risk judgements, improved ETE engagement and attainment, and improved victim feedback.

CYOS Management Board

CYOS has the appropriate agencies and statutory representation on its Management Board, as detailed within the Board Members list in the appendices
(appendix 1). Alongside the key Statutory Partners, CYOS also benefits from the attendance of the Chair of the Youth Court Bench, the Head of Education 
Entitlement,  Service Manager for Positive Choices (Substance Misuse Agency) the Headteacher of Coventry Virtual School, Operations Manager for Coventry & 
Warwickshire Prospects Service, the Head of Environmental Service Street Scene & Regulatory Services, Programme Manager for the Violence Reduction Unit 
and Early Help Manager for Children's Services, and as required attendance from relevant Secure Estates, Chair of the Coventry Youth Partnership and 
agencies as required for updates. The Board is well supported by the YJB and Partnership Advisor. The board discharges its duties by:

 Requiring the CYOS Operational Lead and partners to report and account for performance against YJB and local indicators(1), health outcomes and the 
management of risk. Advanced reports are provided on performance, Probation transfers, Education (School Age), Education (16+), Health, Positive 
Choices (Substance Misuse agency), and the Police. Each report acts as an update from each agency of their activity across the last quarter.

 National and locally agreed performance indicators that evidence positive outcomes for children

 Oversight of budget and staffing structures to ensure that the service is adequately resourced

 Commissioning (internally) specific projects, research and evaluation of aspects of service delivery

 Quality assurance, oversight and monitoring of plans, including those, which emerge from community safeguarding and public protection incidents

 Scrutiny of compliance with YJB grant conditions, including timeliness of data submission and connectivity via Management Board meetings and
access to YJB reports

 Monitoring and sign off the Annual Youth Justice Plan

Management Board have continued with the 2020-23 improvement plan, which included continued learning following a updated self-assessment against the 
HMIP Domain 1 Standard co-facilitated by the regional Youth Justice Board Head of Innovation and Engagement in the Midlands; this has led developmental 
activities, as detailed in Section 6 - for example, being awarded the Achievement for All Lead Award in recognition of the efforts to secure better outcomes for 
children and young people with special educational needs in the youth justice system.

  Meeting with Marias Frank. Attendance: Head of 
Service-Education Entitlement-Board Member, 
General Manager-Mental Health Services for 
Children and Young People – Board Member, 
CYOS Team Manager, Inclusion and Attendance 
Manager, Statutory and Assessment Provision 
Manager, CYOS Specialist Mental Health 
Practitioner and CYOS Education Lead.

P
age 39



 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Attendance Manager, Statutory and Assessment Provision 
Manager, CYOS Specialist Mental Health Practitioner and CYOS 
Education Lead. ce

  
  

 

 

 
 

 
 
   
   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Operational Interplay:  
and violence prevention board enables strong operational interplay. 
Members of the team, managers and Board participate in a number 
operational groups, including:

• The Contextual Safeguarding Subgroup and Operational Group
• Coventry Reducing Re-offending Board
• Channel Panel (PREVENT)
• Drug & Alcohol Steering Group
• The Coventry Youth Partnership
• Local Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference
• Coventry Serious Youth Violence Forum
• Local Case Management Forum
• Child Sexual Exploitation Operational Group
• Vulnerable and Missing Panel
• Coventry Serious Youth Violence Forum
• Child Exploitation and Missing Triage
• Liaison and Diversion Service Programme Group
• Youth One Day One Conversation
• Education and YOS Action Group/Working Party
• Coventry and Warwickshire Youth Panel Meeting
• School and Police Panels Meeting
• Restorative Justice Group
• Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)
• Multi-Agency  Public Protection Arrangements 
• Fair Access Panels

 
 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements

  

 
 
 

In addition to the above, there are also a number of champion leads 
across the Service including: Child Sexual Abuse, Police, Domestic 
Abuse, and Child Exploitation. These champion leads support 
consistent practice across the service where they are able to lead in 
their specific area, developing their own expertise and supporting 
wider practice development.

Addionally, as part of Children's Services, CYOS will be involved in the 
Family Valued programme (aimed a supporting families, placing 
parents at the centre of decision making) with the CYOS Operational 
Lead co-leading on the on the ‘Embedding Relationship Based 
Practice’ workstream in line with the CYOS vision and priroties.

Regional Influence: To support in the local strategic direction, and given the regional 
and national footprint of youth justice and the preventative agenda, CYOS attends, 
has Board Member attendance, and/or input through a rota across the West Midlands 
YOT Heads of Service at the following meetings:

• West Midlands Criminal Justice Board
• Regional MAPPA Senior Management Board
• West Midlands Strategic Violence Reduction Board
• Girls Delivery Group
• Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion Strategic Board
• Child Exploitation Board
This is not an exhaustive list it evidences the local, regional and national interplay.

The interplay between regional, statutory boardsAlongside the statutory Boards, Coventry has a 10 Year Youth Violence Prevention 
Strategy with an action plan and outcome measures monitored through the
Coventry Youth Violence Partnership Prevention Board.

Coventry Youth Violence Partnership Prevention Board

The Board has strategic oversight of the Youth Violence Strategy and members are 
mutual accountable for the delivery of the key objectives. It is co-chaired by WM 
Police (Commander) and Public Health (Director) and has attendance from the 
Director of  Children’s Services/CYOS Management Board Chair. The aims of the 
Board and  partners' is to act as a One Coventry response to the issue of youth 
violence,  monitor  the action plan, and strategy progression against clear 
measurable outcomes of  achievement. Alongside this, the Board coordinates 
funding  opportunities, undertakes horizon scanning, and identifies best practice 
models for  consideration. The Board has recently commissioned the creation  of a 
Coventry Strategic Needs Assessment building on from the West Midlands Violence 
Reduction Unit –Strategic Needs Assessment (2021).

P
age 40



 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

  
 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  
  
 
   

'As the lead for St Giles across Coventry our service has been working closely 
with YOS. Our working relationship has grown into a solid partnership with 
both teams sharing the same common interest and that is to provide the best 
provision and support for the young person. We are particularly pleased with 
the acknowledgement that lived experience has a place in risk management.' 
Steve Clarke - Contract Manager (Midlands) St Giles

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

13 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements

Partnership Arrangements:

The Local Authority is represented by the Director of Children’s 
Services and Strategic Lead for Help and Protection who sits on the 
Board and the relationship has proven effective in:

 the role of CYOS Management Board Chair providing  challenge 
and support to partners

 Being instrumental in agreeing to a CYOS Management Board 
priorities, plan and progression of the improvement plan

 Ensuring that the service is appropriately profiled in key forums, 
partnerships and remains a priority area

 Representation at West Midlands Strategic Violence Reduction 
Board

 Securing partner engagement and development activity; for 
example, cross partner support for resourcing into the Horizon 
Team and development into a exploitation hub.

 Overseeing the partnership arrangement protocol

Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire National Probation Service are 
represented on the Management Board by the Head of Service for 
NPS, Coventry, Solihull& Warwickshire Cluster.This relationship has 
proven effective in:

 Providing information specific to transitions; for example, 
performance reports into CYOS Management Board specific to
re-offending and engagement rates for young people post 
transfer

 Trouble shooting transition protocol issues across NPS and CRC 
and jointly reevaluating the local protocol following learning 
through the national standard audit

 Ensuring appropriate support is available to care leavers through 
the development of a Through Care and Probation protocol 
forming part of the local protocol to reduced the unnecessary 
criminalisation of Looked After Children

 Facilitating joint audits across CYOS and Probation to ensure a 
continued learning feedback loop

 Overseeing and ensuring appropriate Probation resourcing into 
the Service

 Overseeing the joint protocol and secondment arrangements

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

West Midlands Police are represented by one of Coventry’s Detective Chief Inspectors. 
CYOS also has a named Inspector and Sergeant to support the Integrated Offender 
Management activity and Out of Court Disposals. This relationship has proved to be effective 
in:
 Securing close partnership working and high-level information sharing to support 

reducing youth violence and exploitation
 Increased police resourcing into the Offender Management and Youth Violence 

Reduction Team to support the preventative agenda
 Supporting the delivery of a point of arrest diversion offer by St Giles funded by the 

Violence Reduction Unit
 Supported and contributed to community safeguarding and public protection incident 

learning reviews and subsequent improvement actions
 Overseeing and ensuring appropriate Police resourcing into the Service, including the 

service level agreement, secondment arrangements and operational processes

Coventry and Warwickshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is represented on the 
CYOS  Management Board by the Director of Commissioning NHS Coventry and 
Warwickshire Clinical  Commissioning Group. Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust is 
represented by the General  Manager, Mental Health Services for Children & Young People. 
CYOS continues to benefit  from currently hosting two health staff (2 full time equivalents). 
Clinical supervision is offered via CAMHS and their work directly benefits the  wider health 
agenda. This relationship has proven effective in:

 Supporting the embedding of Trauma Informed Practice both in terms of facilitating 
formulation meetings, and consultation with CAMHS to inform the development of this 
area of practice

 Development of a broader health approach
 Development of the Health economy training pool
 Overseeing and ensuring appropriate Health resourcing into the Service, the 

secondment arrangements and working arrangements.

P
age 41



 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 
 

 

 

  

  

  
 
 

  
 
 
 

  

  

 
 

  

  

 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 
 

(1) https://legacyconsultants.co.uk/sandwell-youth-offending/; (2) https://youthjusticeboard.newsweaver.co.uk/yots2/1arsemjrcju1df4hdy7b24?lang=en&a=1&p=57921336&t=21098815

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 
 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 

  

  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 

14 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements

Other Partners:

Community Safety - CYOS works closely with the Community Safety 
Team within the Local Authority, with a particular operational focus on 
exploring preventative andcivil powers; for example, anti relationship 
Anti-Social BehaviourInjunctions.

Courts – CYOS seeks regular feedback from the courts, which 
continues to be very positive. CYOS and the courts, deputy and chair 
of the Youth Panel, having a close working relationship outlined 
through the Service Level Agreement, which aids in quick resolution of 
any issues; exampled by the joint planning for court listing prirotising 
as a result of Youth Court closures during the initial Covid 19 
restrictions, which saw effective prirotisation of more pressing matters 
and work through of any delays by September 2020.

Prospects (Year 11 + ETE Support)- Prospects form part of the 
Management Team and a revised working arrangement and education 
process ensure children are referred for eduction, training and 
employment support at the earliest opportunity.

Early Help – Early Help provide a targeted Youth Worker offer across 
the city, which is now being piloted for all children given a Police Only 
Community Resolution following learning from children entering 
custody as first time entrants. The Family Hubs continue to be a 
effective as additional deliver sites for CYOS.

Citizen Housing - CYOS has a well established working relationship 
with housing as part of the Local Authroity, with particular cross over 
around utilsiiting acceptable behaviour contracts and other joint 
planning/management.

NSPCC - co-work together where there are concerns around harmful sexual behaviour 
the arrangements are well defined through the Service eel Agreement.

Positive Choices - CYOS access substance use support for children(along with other 
offers) through positive choices and has seen an increased referrals over the last year;
CYOS benefits from co-location of a lead worker delivered virtually through team 
meetings and clear working arrangements through the updated service level 
agreement and revised commissioning arrangements.

Other Providers/local organisations:
St Giles (National Charity) - with increasing concerns around youth violence and 
exploitation it is important that children have a diversity of offers and CYOS has been 
worked closely with St Giles (National Charity) over the last few years to offer children 
mentors withlived/relevant experience with a particular focus on resettlement support.

Postive Youth Foundation (Local Charity)- developing several sports based mentoring 
offers, with a particular focus, through the Levelling the Playing Field Project, on 
supporting children form Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Backgrounds.

First Class Legacy - working with Coventry replicating a project in Sandwell YOT (1)
exploring disproportionately, a peer parenting project (2), and additionally
co-developing a child/family group to act as a shadow board to the CYOS 
Management Board.

Guiidng Young Minds - to extend the offer, CYOS has worked with Guiding Young 
Minds (local mentoring charity) over the last year, to particularly support children 
where engagement attempts have not been successful and the child is at risk of 
breaching their disposal.  

This is not an exhaustive list, but evidences the progressive partnership working with 
field 'experts' to improve the offer to Coventry's children.

P
age 42



 

Resources and Services

P
age 43



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

16 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Resources and Services

Budgets 2021/22
CYOS funding consists of the City Council budget, YJB Grant and statutory 
partner contributions. In addition, funding is received from the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC), all of which sits in CYOS pooled 
budget (see appendix 2). This budget enables the continued running Youth 
Justice services and, as will be outlined, continued improvement as per the 
CYOS vision and priorities, enacted through the improvement/business plan, 
and a more intensive working model due to increased needs/demand.

The YJB have increased their contribution by 8.8%, confirmed on the 30th 
March 2021; this has been clarified as a ‘one-off uplift and is not guaranteed 
for future years.The YJB has sought for this additional funding to support 
YOTs to address some of the pressures in the system moving into recovery 
following the impact of COVID-19 and to support the delivery of the YJB 
strategic plan. For CYOS, this will be utilised in staffing costs to support 
delivery of the CYOS vision and developmental work against the identified 
priorities in turn committing and meeting the vision outlined in YJB's strategic 
plan; this resulted in an interim Quality Assurance Manager support the 
service in some of this developmental activity, though this role has now ended 
to enable CYOS to stock take and evaluate needs of the Service through this 
plan. Management Board will evaluate the progression of the plan over the 
coming months and consideration can then be given to a further 
developmental role, particularly supporting development of ensuring
children/families/victims of crime are Children, young people, and victims, first 
and at the centre of what we do.

The Community Safety Fund was confirmed on 4th May 2021 by the West 
Midlands Police Crime Commission. The payments for services in-kind relate 
to staffing costs for employees working with the Youth Offending Service and 
have all been confirmed:  Probation, Police, and Coventry and Warwickshire 
Partnership Trust. Each agency additionally makes a cash contribution to 
cover expenses of the role for CYOS; the Police contribution is covered by the 
PCC grant.

There has been a slight uplift from last year on the Local Authority
contribution, but a reduction on the year previous, reflective of staff changes. 
The remand use of last year (outlined in Section 5) has had a significant 
financial implication to the Local Authority albeit not funded through CYOS 
and grants awarded in arrears as per s.103(4) of the LASPO Act 2012 ands.31 
of the Local Government Act 2003.

Workflow Demands
There has been a continued downward trajectory regarding the number of 
children in the youth justice system. CYOS has seen a further reduction in 
number of children open to the service over the last year with average 105 
caseload (2019/20) v. average 73 caseload (2020/21). This is reflective of the 
Covid 19 pandemic and a trend seen by neighbouring YOTs, and it is 
expected to increase alongside Covid 19 easing to pre-pandemic levels.

This reduction has however been timely to enable necessary developmental 
activity following the national standard audit and actions as per the 
improvement plan (2020-23). CYOS has also re-bench marked expectations, 
across all service areas, in line with the revised national standards meaning 
increased staffing time for each child; for example, for children subject to out 
of court disposals the average session frequency across the disposal has 
increased from 7 to 15 sessions. Alongside this, there has been an increase in 
intensity of support needed; when reviewing the assessed risk levels across 
2016/17, 15 children were assessed as presenting a high risk of serious harm 
or safety and wellbeing concerns, compared with 59 children across 2020/21;
this reflects children's experiences of trauma, serious youth violence and 
exploitation. The consequence of this is a need for higher contact rate, more 
intensive support, and increased multi-agency planning, increase staffing time 
per child.

Additionally CYOS has moved from using the City Centre office site as the 
main location of intervention to community based intervention using local 
community venues or home visits. While this shift for some children reflects 
attempts to supporting engagement, in large part this related to children 
expressing significant concerns about visiting the City Centre citing youth 
violence, gang issues and fears for their safety. When reviewing a random 
sample of 5 children assessed as high risk in 2016/17 this was not identified 
as an issue, but by 2018/19 3 out of 5 children and in 19/20 5 out of 5 children 
it was. Thus a one to one based model is recognised as a more effective and 
safer way of working, than group based activities as traditionally used.

In summary, CYOS is working with a smaller group of children, but a higher 
need group, presenting a higher risk to the public (this is outlined in more 
detail in Section 5), incurring more staff time per child.

P
age 44



     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

(1) https://www.cirv-nsd.org.uk/

 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 

  

 
  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

17 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Resources and Services

Workforce Development
To support the aforementioned developmental change CYOS has 
progressively successfully recruited three Senior Practitioners, with one 
per  Team Manager (see appendix 3). This post will provide improved 
connectedness between strategic priorities and operational delivery with 
the role acting as bridge between direct delivery/management and provide 
greater capacity to deliver on the CYOS vision. In addiition, this supports 
the developmental pathways across the service with two current YOS 
Officers on the Social Work Degree Apprenticeship, and supports the 
priority of workforce development to have a 'grow your own culture'.

CYOS has developed a new Skills Matrix Training Plan arising from a 
service wider self-assessment using the YJB's Youth Justice Skills Audit for 
Youth Justice Practitioners. This comprehensive exercise was completed 
by Coventry YOS practitioners in and has supported the development of a 
service specific workforce development strategy (2021-23), alongside the 
Council's strategy. The priorities identified and actions from this have fed 
into this improvement/business plan as a consolidated plan.

CYOS has recruited 3 new YOS Officers and 2 YOS Support Officers over 
the last year, with all practitioners completing/completed the Youth Justice 
Effective Practice Certificate; the qualification is endorsed by the Youth 
Justice Board and brings together the most up-to-date thinking,
knowledge, research and evidence about what works in this field. The 
course is made up of six learning blocks, studied one at a time over 30 
weeks.

Workforce Demographics
As of the 1st April 2021, the YOS workforce has total 23 permanent staff; a 
full breakdown is provided in the appendices (see appendix 3).The YOS 
has a relatively low turnover rate at 13.3%, albeit the Council has a 10% 
turnover rate. The staffing cohort is stable with 48% (11) staff being in post 
between 11-20 years. The sickness levels, while impacted by Covid 19, 
remained stable with an average of 8.99 days lost per employee across 
2020/21 compared to 11.93 across the whole of Children’s Services. The 
current workforce demographic profile of YOS at1st March 2021is not fully 
reflective of the community.The YOS has 78% female staff and 22% (5)
male staff and 17.4% (5) have a self-reported ethnicity of Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic. There is a commitment to ensure that the nature and 
diversity of the workforce responds to local needs; this has seen an 
increased use of mentors with lived experience, as detailed in Section 3.

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Seconded Roles
The current Seconded YOS Probation Officer started in March 2020 and therefore just 
completed the first year of their 3-year secondment. Following the revised National 
Probation Service funding formula change, at the time of this strategy, are awaiting 
appointment of a Probation Support Officer, which will see the Probation Officer post 
change to a 0.7 full-time equivalent and Support Officer as a 0.3 full-time equivalent; this 
is not predicted to impact of capacity, though considerations regarding the most 
appropriate working patterns to effectively meet the needs of children will be considered. 
The seconded Youth Crime Officer’s appointment is reviewed through home agency 
processes and can be reviewed where performance issues are identified;a role review 
was completed in 2018 and current remit appropriate to the Youth Justice Board 
Guidance. CYOS currently has two Specialist Mental Health Practitioners and a 0.4 
vacancy; a needs assessment and business case have been completed for additional 
resourcing into the Service, which is being considered by the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. CYOS has access to Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) support through the 
local service and a needs assessment and business case is currently underway to look
at service specific resourcing; this outlined in the improvement/business plan.

Quality Assurance
The updated Quality Assurance Activity Schedule (appendix 4) outlines CYOS’s 2021-22 
plan for quality assurance activity with broader actions tracked/progressed through the 
improvement/business plan. CYOS will continue in pushing improvements around 
practice and recording, following implementation of whole child’s journey case 
management guidance; these have been developed following learning from the National 
Standards self-assessment and associated actions absorbed into the improvement plan. 
CYOS has held, and will continue, monthly developmental practice workshops, and
build on the annual team day in January 2021 and quarterly hallf-day in April 2021, which 
saw a variety of quality improvement activities, Board Member engagement and team 
building. CYOS has introduced a monthly performance review, which allows opportunity 
to review where child contacts have not been met, agree a plan for resolution and review 
in the context of trauma informed practice; this is chaired by the CYOS Operational Lead 
and includes, Health, Police, Team Manager and YOSOfficer/Support Officer attendance.

Other Funding - invest to save
As part of supporting the preventative agenda, CYOS has supported two applications to 
the Youth Endowment Fund (replication of the Community Initiative to Reduce Violence
(1) for Coventry and a whole system trauma informed approach for several schools). 
CYOS has also utilised learning from custody reviews to support in service gap analysis 
leading to a new low risk child exploitation offer through Positive Choices.

P
age 45



 

 

   

Performance and  Priorities

  About Coventry 
Children’s Services

P
age 46



    

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Child Proven Offences Profile 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
  
 
 
   

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
   
   
 
   
  

 
  
 

  
  
 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
  
  

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
  
  
  
  
    

 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
  

 

  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
  
  
 
   
  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
  
  
 
   
  

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  
  
 
   
  

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 

19 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

The past year has been challenging in responding to and ensuring  quality 
service delivery during Covid 19. The mentioned improvement strategy 
amalgamated learning from: the national standard audit, any continued 
actions  from the 2019/20 Plan, auditing, reviews, and  responding to 
inspection findings. A subsequent action plan was devised in  response to 
these, alongside actions against the priorities and key  performance indicators. 
This section outlines performance and actions against these indicators and 
priority areas.

Reducing first time entrants (FTE) to the youth justice system

The year-on-year FTE rate has remained almost flat again this year, at 230 per 
100,000, just up from 224 last year. The latest available YOT family FTE 
indicator for period Jan 19 - Dec 19 indicates a rate of 249, higher than 
Coventry, but overall reflective of fewer children in the youth justice system; a 
regional and national trend. In Coventry, CYOS continues to offer an 
Enhanced Community Resolution funded by the Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner (OPCC), which continues to be a successful disposal as 
per the the live reoffending tracker rates (8.8% and rate of 0.32). Drugs were 
the most common offence group for community resolutions, whereas the 
violence group continued to be the most prominent category for substantive 
outcomes(citable conviction).

CYOS has been involved in much activity to support the preventative agenda 
and reduce the number of children entering the youth justice system; for 
example, development of a Youth Worker offer for children given a Police Only 
Community Resolution - further examples are detailed in Section 6.

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 

Youth Violence Profile
A Police profile has been provided to enable comparison to proven offences 
trend, specifically looking at Youth Violence given this is a key priority. 
Looking at under 24s, around 30% of all violence offenders for all violence 
offences. Within this, consistent offences were Assault Occasioning Actual 
Bodily Harm (32%),  Robbery personal property (29%) and Common Assault 
(21%), accounting  for around 40% of all violent offences with a peak ages of 
15 and 17 for  children, and 20-22 years for adults. While 25-34yrs is the most 
common age  for weapon offences, arrests for children are more likely to be 
recorded as violence with  injury. These trends are not reflected in proven 
offences and this reflects the  challenges of proving peer to peer violence, 
where witnesses and victims are  very reluctant to make formal complaints. 
There has been significant  evidence of this in relation to the violence 
between organised crime groups and urban street gangs and this  highlights 
why community engagement is a key part of the Coventry Youth  Violence 
Prevention Strategy and plan.

Table 1: First-time entrants - Coventry 2017-2021 - rate per 100,000 for children aged 10-17

•In 2020/21, CYOS was aware of 284 offences resulted in a substantive 
disposal (i.e. one that forms part of a person’s criminal record) and a further 
70, which resulted in a Community Resolution. This means the number of 
offences with a substantive outcome has decreased compared to the 479 
seen in 2017/2018, 319 in 2018/19, 373 in 2019/20; this is unsurprising given 
the impact of Covid 19.

•The most common categories punished by CR were Drugs (23%), Violence 
Against The Person (21%) and Criminal Damage (19%).

•The most common categories punished by substantive outcome were 
Violence Against The Person (33%), Motoring Offences (24%) and Robbery
(17%).

•Comparing to previous years (2016/17-2019/20), with an exception of 
robberies, all proven offence groups have reduced this year. This year three 
children were convicted of the same 5 robberies, but resulting in 15 proven 
offences, and once accounted there is a slight increase on 2019/20, but not 
indicative of a significant uplift across the last four years.

•Looking at proven knife/weapon possession offences - this has reduced 
from 2018/19 (31) and 2019/20 (26) to 25 proven offences.

P
age 47



          

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Table 2: Disposals - Coventry 2019-2021

 

 

 
 

(1) https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar2020/

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
  
  
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 

   
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
  
 
 

 

 
   
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

  
 

  

20 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

There has been a juxtaposition between the decreasing number of children in the youth justice system and the increase in the number of children receiving life sentences 
and concerns around serious youth violence. This trend indicates that a smaller group of children are responsible for a higher number of offences and consequently  an 
increased number of children have received Section 90/91 Orders (life/ 24months+ see table 2). The HMIP Annual Report (2019-20)(1) has highlighted that:

'The fact that an increasing proportion of all first-time entrants to the youth justice system are now coming into that system because of crimes serious enough to go straight to 
court (45 percent of all FTEs in the year to March 2019, compared with 10per cent in 2009) is a concern, and suggests that these children are not getting adequate 
preventative interventions earlier on. This needs to change(p.7).

The make up of Court disposals for Coventry is 60% (Covid 19 restrictions has impacted on a reduced number of community resolutions), as shown in the disposal profile 
below and, while preventive services are proving successful for the majority, for a small minority there remains more to do, which is why prevention and diversion is a 
priority area.

Disposal Profile
•Overall, CYOS was aware of 235 disposals this year, a 
reduction on 337 in 2018/19; by far the most used was the 
non-substantive Community Resolution used on 61 
occasions. With the CommunityResolution, Youth Caution 
(5 issued) and the Youth Conditional Caution (28 issued)
making up the out-of-court disposals, which account for 
94 of the total, or 40%.

•We started 128 disposal-based interventions in 2020/21, 
a reduction on the 239 seen in 2018-19. 21 were for the 
Enhanced Community Resolution, and 31 were for the 
Youth Caution or Youth Conditional Caution, meaning 52
(40.6%)were out-of-court. While the proportion of
out-of-court disposal based interventions compared to 
2018/19 has stayed stable(40.2%), the use of the of 
Enhanced Community Resolutions has decreased; this 
trend appears to reflect the impact of Covid 19 in reducing 
the likelihood of lower level offending behaviour; this trend 
has been identified and monitored through Management 
Board where all first-time entrants are reviewed to ensure 
appropriate decision making. The trend also provides 
evidence of the effective processes in referrals for out of 
court disposals and that children are not being charged to 
court inappropriately.

•For post court disposals, we saw a significant reduction 
in the number of YROs and a slight increased use in 
Referral Orders.

P
age 48



          

 

   

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
    

   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

hows-too-many-young-people-in-the-criminal-justice-system-suffer-from-vi olence-poverty-and-abuse-growing-up/

  

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

21 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

  
 

  
 
 

 
 
  
 

 

Demographics

•Of the 70 young people open to YOS at the end of the year, 60 (86%) were 
male; this is a slight reduction from the end of year snapshot in 2019/20 which 
was 87%. 

•77% of the group were aged 16 or over an increase on the 73% in 2019/20.

•17 (24.3%) of the group were currently Looked After, and a further 12 (17.1%)
had been Looked After previously. Additionally, 3 (4.3%) had a current Child 
Protection Plan and 7 (10%) had had a Plan at some point in the past;
meaning that in total 39 (55.7%) of those open to CYOS had had Children's 
Service's involvement  at least at the Child Protection Level, an increase on the 
45% for the 2019/20 snapshot. This reflects patterns for children looked after 
for the purposes of remand and concerns around exploitation.

•There is an over-representation of White British, Black and Mixed Heritage 
children in the YOS cohort, and a large under-representation of Asian children
(see appendix 5). The ethnic makeup of the group was 53% White British, 9% 
White Ethnic Minority, 17% Black, 3% Asian, 14% Mixed Heritage, and 4% 
Refused or Unknown. As of January 2021, Coventry secondary schools had a 
population makeup of 47% White British, 9% White Ethnic Minority, 13% Black, 
21% Asian, 7% Mixed Heritage, 2% Chinese / Other, and 1.0%.

•Children who reside in deprived areas in Coventry are more likely to be open 
to YOS, but there is otherwise no clear patterns regarding geographical areas.

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
   
  
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
   
  
  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  
 

  
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
   
  
  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 
 

  
  
 
  
  
  
 
 
  
 

Punishing Abuse Report - 2021 (2)

The report presents the findings of a targeted review of 80 children across 
11 authorities in the West Midlands (including Coventry) and West Mercia. 
The research began in 2018 co-funded by the West Midlands Combined 
Authority and West Midlands Police ad Crime Commissioner (PCC) and has 
identified recommendations across the sector and those relevant to CYOS 
are reflected in the 2021-23 business and improvement plan. The report 
starkly highlights how children in the youth justice system have experienced 
early childhood abuse, loss and structural inequalities.

Custody Analysis - CYOS undertakes a learning review for all children who 
have gone to custody and completed an aggregated overview for children 
sentenced across 2019/2020; while this evidenced an appropriate use of 
custodial sentences and why this sentence was given, it highlighted that 
more could have been done sooner for children the majority of whose 
experiences were similar to those outlined in the Punishing Abuse Report in 
relation to early indicators of vulnerability, witnessing domestic abuse and 
other experiences of trauma'. The Timpson Review (2019)(3) highlighted the 
high proportion of children permanently excluded from school within the 
secure estate, and the this was found in the local analysis; as a result of this, 
a mentoring offer is now available for children at the Extended Learning 
Centre (Pupil Referral Unit). CYOS has reviewed/amended the fair access 
panel process, and a further analysis into children permanently excluded will 
be undertaken across the coming year as detailed within the plan.

(1) Family Group - a statistically similar comparator group as defined by the Youth Justice Board: Coventry, Derby, Bolton, Newport, Sheffield, Peterborough, Walsall, Leeds, Portsmouth, Southampton, Tameside 
(2) https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/ground-breaking-report-evidence-; (3)https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf

Reducing the use of custody and remand

There has been a reduced number of remand episodes compared to
2019/20 (see appendix 5), but the length of the remand episodes has been 
exceptional as interconnected murder trials have been adjourned due to 
Covid 19; this issue was raised to the Youth Justice Board following a
service analysis into trial lengths over the previous 18 months.

Across the last year, a greater proportion of children were sentenced to 
custody following a period on remand, which evidences that remand use
was appropriate; remand and custody use is reviewed weekly through CYOS 
Management Meetings.

The use of custody has reduced slightly from the previous year, but risen 
from the historic low of 2018/19; a rate of 0.42 per 1000 compared to 0.2 for 
the family group(1), a new low from 0.38 (2018/19) and 0.36 (2019/20) likely 
due to the impact of Covid 19. CYOS has not seen as stark a reduction, with 
5 life sentences for 3 separate murders from 2018/19 and two 2019/20. Of 
these children, 3 were first-time entrants evidencing the importance of 
identifying children at risk and having appropriate diversion and prevention, 
and the wide permeating impact of knife crime. Additionally, only one of the 
children was known to CYOS on a substantive disposal at the time of the 
offence, though other preventative services were working with these children; 
a multi-agency learning review facilitated by the Safeguarding Children 
Partnership for the child known with multi-agency learning being actioned 
and progression tracked through Management Board.

P
age 49



          

 

   

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
    

   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   
 
 
 

   

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   
 
 
 

   

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   
 
 
 

   

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   
 
 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 

   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

  

 

Graph 1:

(1) https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/lammy-review; (2)https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ethnic-disproportionality-in-remand-and-sentencing-in-the-youth-justice-system

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

 

 
 
  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

 

 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

 

 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

 
 

 

 

22 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

 
 
  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 
   

 

 
 

Reducing offending and reoffending by children

•The latest national data indicates a reoffending percentage of 37.7% (April
18-Mar 2019) the lowest rate compared to the previous three years, though the 
family group average is 37.1%. Additionally, we have tracked the reoffending of 
47 young  people whose original penalty was imposed between October 2019 
and March  2020; in all cases, the 12 month monitoring period for reoffending has 
now  expired. 13 of these children have reoffended, giving a binary reoffending 
rate of  27.7%

•The children reoffending committed a total of 38 further offences within their
12-month period, giving a frequency reoffending rate of 0.81.

•4 of the children have committed a more serious further offence, by the YJB 
offence gravity scale, in all 4 cases with a new offence rated at 6 or higher on the 
YJB gravity scale (equivalent to Robbery or Domestic Burglary).

•The most serious reoffence categories were fairly evenly split, with 3 Violence 
Against the Person and 3 Domestic Burglary at the top of the list.

•The three most frequent children reoffending accounted for 17 reoffences 
between them; the most prolific individual child in the group had 8.

•The use of breach action against children more than halved in 2020-21 (18)
compared to the previous year (39) reflecting a downward tend over the last three 
years; breach action only counts as reoffending where re-sentenced. This trend 
reflect that the service is working with a reduced number of children, it may also 
indicates that some of the dynamic and creative means of engagement have
been more successful in engaging children in the last year and this will be 
considered in Sections 6 and 7 regarding areas considered for retention.

•There were no pertinent demographic patterns for children reoffending, but a 
clear upward trajectory in the rate of children reoffending going up from pre-court 
disposals (12.5%), first tier disposals (22.2%), community (45.5%) and custody
(50%), thus evidencing the importance of early intervention.

Disproportionately

- As expected, Violence Against The Person is the most prevalent offending 
category for all ethnicity groups where known, except 'White ethnic minority' 
where it is motoring offences

- Robbery is a much greater proportion of offences among Black, Asian and 
Mixed Heritage children than among the other categories, where there's 
statistical significance.

- White children remain more likely to have an out of court disposal 
compared to their counterparts; this is a trend seen in the Lammy Review
(2017)(1) and the YJB's review into sentence and remand 
disproportionately (2021)(2), with actions to address this outlined in the 
improvement/business plan.

- The use of breach action was proportionate across all groups.

- For children receiving custodial sentences, children identified as Black or 
Mixed Heritage' were significantly overrepresented (see Graph 1). Although 
findings were consistent with the mentioned YJB report(2), in that disposal 
outcomes were proportionate with offence type, circumstances, and
pre-convictions, there remains work to understand the overrepresentation 
with this group; this is why disproportionately remains a priority across the 
next two years, and is a standing agenda item at Management Board.

P
age 50



    

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
  
 
 
   

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
   
   
 
   
  

 
  
 

  
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
  
  

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Exploitation Profile

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

(1) Hidden in Plain Sight - National Youth Agency 2020 (2) Strategic Needs Assessment - West Midlands Violence Reduction Unit (2021); https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assesment-foms
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

Other Local Indicators

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  

  

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
  
 

 

 

  
  
 

  

  
 
 
 
  
  
 
  
  
 
   
   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The Strategic Needs Assessment - West Midlands - Violence Reduction Unit

The Strategic Needs Assessment has assessed the different available data 
sets to inform the regional picture on serious youth violence and highlights
the importance and relevance of key information, to strengthen the evidence 
base that partners and communities can access. The assessment identifies 
Coventry city centre as hotspot for knife crime and violence against the 
person (map below).

For violence against the person offences across the West Midlands:

9% of victims were under 16; 23% were aged between 16 to 24; 27%
were 25 to 34 and 27% aged between 35 to 49 (p.12)

Coventry has two identified impact areas (Hillfields and Wood End). The 
report highlights the importance of data sets in young adults presenting with 
violence related injuries; this identifies that across the West Midlands males 
are 2.5 times more likely to be admitted to hospital with violence related 
injuries, that 15-25 year olds have the highest in patient hospital admission for 
assault (indicating more serious injury) and, while overall admissions for all 
assault types have fallen across the last 9 years, assaults by a sharp object
(typically knife or broken bottle) has increased from 2013 to 2019. Through 
the St Giles reachable moments projects victims of serious youth violence 
attending hospital and arrested, will be offered voluntary mentoring; funding  
is expected to be confirmed for the next 12 months agreed at the West 
Midlands Strategic Violence Reduction Board attended by Chair of 
Management Board.

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Over the last few years, an increasing number of children have been 
identified as at risk of being exploited or identified to have been exploited, 
with a significant growing group of children being identified as criminally 
exploited(1)(2). To respond to this, the Children's Services Horizon Team 
has been expanded to respond to all forms of exploitation, which has seen a 
52% increase in the number of children the Team is working with comparing 
numbers across 2018/19 and 2020/21.

The Strategic Need Assessments (2) outlines this as a growing trend with an 
assessment regionally that between April 2018 and November 2020 52% of 
all people linked to county lines activity (victims, perpetrators or suspects)
were aged 18 and under. Looking over the last three years, 14 children have 
been convicted of possession with intent to supply offences. However, as a 
snapshot picture for children assessed as medium high risk of exploitation, 
12% of those children were also open to CYOS, evidencing that a large 
number of children outside of the youth justice system where there are 
significant concerns regarding exploitation.

CYOS, Horizon and the Police Violence Reduction Team (Police Team to 
coordinate early intervention against the Youth Violence Prevention Strategy)
are working closely together having joint weekly triage meetings,including a 
joint risk meeting once a month. These processes, mapping, joint working, 
and the introduction of a new child exploitation screening tool will enable 
improved identification and responses to children at risk. It is expected that 
this will result in an increase in the number of children identified as being in 
need of support and will improve service wide understanding of the local 
issues which will, in turn enable an improved response.

Reviewing the analysis of National Referral Mechanism(1)(a framework for 
identifying and referring potential victims of modern slavery and ensuring
they receive the appropriate support) referrals across the calendar year of 
2020 for Coventry, 55% of all referrals were for criminal exploitation, 53% of 
all referral were for children, and Coventry Local Authority was the largest 
referrer. The coordination and response to referrals is a key priority of the 
Horizon Team and this will offer improved use, as outlined in the 
improvement/business plan.

P
age 51



    

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
  
 
 
   

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
 
   
   
 
   
  

 
  
 

  
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
  
  

 

 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

(1) https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar2020/; (2) https://youngminds.org.uk/media/3708/coronavirus-report_march2020.pdf

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

24 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Horizon Team Expansion ....

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21
Other Local Indicators

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Risk Assessments
The overwhelming evidence indicates that there are increasing concerns 
around serious youth violence locally, regionally and nationally (HMIP 2020 
Report)(1).

Reviewing the assessed risk levels of all children since use of AssetPlus in 
2016/17, 15 children were assessed as presenting a high risk of serious harm 
or safety and wellbeing concerns (any adverse outcomes), which has 
increased since despite a downward trend in the number of children open to 
the Service. Across the last few years this has increased as follows:

- 36 - 2017/18 ----- 44 – 2018/19 ----- 58 - 2019/20 ------ 59 – 2020/21

While this reflects developing practices in risk assessing, and this trend has 
been found nationally by HMIP, it reflects the challenges the city has faced in 
serious youth violence.

Having completed an in-depth review of all assessments between April 2019 
and March 2021, ‘Peers/Rival Gang Members’ were identified as potential 
victims in 20% of cases compared with 8% for family members. Looking at 
children/adults assessed as posing the highest risk to others, the majority of 
these concerns related to potential ‘violence against the person’; this 
highlights  that the city has seen escalating issues of serious youth violence 
since 2016 to 2020, particularly between two prominent urban street gangs. 
This trend was again identified nationally in the HMIP 2020 report and reflects 
that the Service is working with a smaller, and sadly more violent, vulnerable 
and traumatised group of children whose needs are very high; for more 
information see the health profile and case study. This evidences the need for 
a public health and city response to preventing youth violence, as is outlined 
in the Violence Prevention Strategy.

Health Profile

•There were 78 referrals this year, this is an increase of one referral from 
2019-2020 for emotional and mental health support.

•There were 68 males and 10 females referred which is almost an exact 
replica of the gender split from last year.

•25% of children referred were classified as Looked After with five of these 
children placed into Coventry from out of area.

•9% of referrals were for children that were within a custodial provision and 
the majority of referrals were for children subject to an Out of Court 
Disposal.

•Long Term Plan Children and Young People complex needs service:
Midlands Overview (2020) document identifies that Coventry has a high 
assessed number of children with mental health disorders aged 5-16 and a 
high number of adverse childhood experience related indicators compared 
to the national average.

•Young Mind(2) surveyed more than 2,100 children and young people in 
March 2020 to understand the impact national lockdown has on their 
mental health revealed that 83% of respondents said the Covid-19 
pandemic has made their mental health worse.

•Referrals into Positive Choices (substance misuse agency) has increased 
three fold comparing 2019/20 to 2020/21 and engagement levels are 
tracked through Management Board.

The above evidences why trauma informed practice continues to be a 
priority for the service.

P
age 52



    

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 

  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
  
  

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 

(1) https://www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/schools-by-type?step=phase&region=331&geographic=la&phase=secondary; (2) https://www.coventry.gov.uk/homepage/1250/extended_learning_centre_-_key_information
(3) https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/814368/understanding-educational-background-young-offenders-amended-summary.pdf

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21
Other Local Indicators

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Educational Needs
As of January 2021, 17.6% of pupils had Special Educational Needs and/or an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP); this compares to 14.9% of children 
having an EHCP open to CYOS and an additional 50.7% having some 
identified special educational needs through the CYOS assessment, including 
non-school age children - see Section 6 for an outline of CYOS's work to 
support improved education outcomes for children.

Children Permanently Excluded
According to the VRU Regional Strategic Plan: 'at a regional level, permanent 
school exclusion rates for the period 2017-19 in the West Midlands were
higher than the national average in the West Midlands... for the same period, 
the rate of permanent exclusions within Birmingham and Coventry were just 
under the national average at 0.18% (p.36).'

Through analysing the children across 2019/20 and 2020/21 who were 
permanently excluded 6% were open referral to YOS prior to the date of 
exclusion, and 11% opened to CYOS after the date of exclusion. There were 
no  identified significant factors regarding the schools involved but this 
represents  a significant over representation of children permanently excluded 
in the youth  justice system; this analysis will continue through the coming 
year, as detailed  in the improvement/business plan.

Education Attainment
Analysis of children open to CYOS in Key Stage 4 across 2016-2019 identified 
that children were 2 grades below where they were expected to achieve similar 
to the specialist and alternative schooling provision across the city(1)(2); these 
findings are in line with national research (3). The analysis identified a 
downward trend overall, but this reflects a move to a smaller group of children 
in the youth justice system with a very high level of need; the analysis will 
continue to identify examples of success for consideration of improvements.

Education, Training and Employment
In 2020/21, among CYOS children/adults aged over sixteen, 20% were NEET at 
the time they completed their orders; as of March 2021, the national economic 
inactivity rate for 16-24 year olds was 3.3%; the ability for children to access 
employment opportunities has been significantly impacted by Covid 19. 
However, positively, across all children 86.7% were in suitable ETE at the end of 
their intervention, an improvement on the 81.9% in 2020/21 and 77.4% in 
2019/20; though, it is acknowledged that the quality of this will have been 
impacted by Covid 19. Due to the importance of education in supporting  
identity change, the needs identified and links to the youth justice system, it 
remains a key priority area.

Restorative Justice
CYOS continues to have lead restorative justice practitioners and will contact all 
victims where consent has been given. CYOS achieved a secondary contact 
rate of 93% up from 2019/20 at 92%. While updates and victim reparation 
stayed stable from the previous year, shuttle mediation and face to face 
mediation reduced in use due to Covid 19 and other methods of use (for 
example, video calling) not being appropriate. With this said, feedback from 
victims of crime remained very strong with an average rating score of 4.9 out of 
5. In addition to this, CYOS was the first Youth Offending Team to achieve the 
newly launched Registered Restorative Organisation status.

Probation
Young adults transferred to Probation continue to have their progression 
tracked through CYOS  Management Board and reoffending rates are tracked 
through the mentioned live reoffending tracker.  Updates are provided to 
Management Board for those transferred across the  last quarter, which largely 
showed positive engagement and no breach action  or reoffending; however, 
there have been challenges in the transfer process as a result of Covid 19, with 
particular challenges for children/adults in custody.

P
age 53



          

 

   

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
    

   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 

 
 
 

 
  

  
 

 

 

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

The recent Punishing Abuse Report (2021)
made extensive recommendations, 
including:

'That improving outcomes for children is 
intrinsically linked with improving outcomes 
for their immediate family (p.157)'.

  

 

  
 

(1) https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/814368/understanding-educational-background-young-offenders-amended-summary.pdf

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

26 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21

Other Local Indicators

Team Analysis
The team also undertook several reflective sessions focusing on what should be the priorities for the next two 
years, the following themes emerged:

- Prevention/diversion - routes of support without criminalisation and through early identification of exploitation
- Importance of understanding trauma informed practice and children’s experiences of adverse outcomes
- Importance of education and post 16 employment for desistance
- The need to take a whole system and family approach
- Restorative Justice and not losing sight of victims – particular consideration
- Relationships being key to effect change and the need for service re-branding to reflect Child First approach
- Workforce diversity - the need to have a diverse offer to children

Desistance Analysis
To better understand the factors which will support children to not reoffend, CYOS undertook a review of the assessed risk factors for and against a child's offending 
behaviour for all children from the last year. Reviewing the assessed factors for a child’s offending, the three most significant factors were: (1) Features of lifestyle (2)
Families and wider network (3) Thinking and behaviour; when looking at the strongest factors, this was followed by ‘emotional development and mental health’.

Reviewing the assessed factors for preventing/reducing a child’s offending behaviour, the most significant factors were:(1) Learning, Education, Training and 
Employment (2) Family and wider networks (3) Engagement and Participation; when looking at the strongest factors, this was followed by ‘attitudes of
offending/behaviours’.

The factors evidence the importance of a whole system approach to understand children within their peer group, family, and wider networks; this is not a surprise given 
concerns around serious youth violence and the influence peer groups can have on teenage children. Two consistent messages are the importance of education and 
emotional wellbeing to supporting children to not offend/reoffend, which is consistent with the Punishing Abuse report (see quote) and links between poor educational 
attainment and offending behaviour (1) and how education, training and employment provide routes to shift identities. The importance of promoting children's 
autonomy was clear through identification of 'thinking and behaviour' as a key factor, which is reflective of CYOS working with a large majority of children aged 16 and 
over and the importance of empowering children to make better choices. 

P
age 54



    

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

Performance and Priorities - Achievements and Performance 2020-21Overview of areas

Feedback from children and families

 
CYOS also undertook a consultation with children and families open to the CYOS (several quotes below) to see what has worked well and what could be improved;
several key themes emerged, namely: taking the service to children (home visits), adaptability, the importance of relationship building, diversity in offer of workers, and 
the value of learning about victims and impact of offending

27 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 55



 
 

Responding to the 
pandemic and recovery 

from Covid 19

P
age 56



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
  
   
  
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 

  

29 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Responding to the pandemic and recovery from Covid 19

Review of Contingency and Recovery Plan

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

I just wanted to put in writing that the staff here at the park have been 
approached by a couple of dozen people over the last 6 months or so, 
who have commented on the lovely work you have been doing with the 
YP in the park's wooded section. They noted that it has gone from  
being a hide away fort hose wishing to start fires and drink, to more of a 
family friendly area with copious dens being built with the cut wood.

Thanks again for your continued work. Kind regards, Allesley Park Team

as relevant for the majority of the team across the last 5 months. The 
office site has remained open throughout and a duty/rota system 
implemented to enable continued office use safely. 

Team communication has been managed through monthly practitioner 
workshops, monthly supervisions, monthly team meetings, monthly 
electronic bulletin, weekly pod meetings, lunch/tea catch up, a support 
group delivered by a counsellor, and a virtual team day/subsequent 
quarterly half-team days. Additional to this, training offers have been 
adapted and procured to meet service need; for example: motivational 
interviewing, restorative justice and assessing harmful sexual abuse. 
There  have been challenges around inducting new staff, but a revised 
induction  process with a buddy system to support team engagement and 
building  has been developed. Arranging opportunities for observing 
practice and  shadowing remains a challenge.

Servicing of the courts and police station have continued through a largely 
in person model with appropriate PPE and risk assessment to manage
this. Reparative activities have been creatively formed from children and 
young  people creating preventative posters, making blankets for the Dogs 
Trust  and working with the Park Team for outdoor activities.

The CYOS 2020/21 Contingency and Recovery Youth Justice Plan outlined 
how the service was responding to Covid 19, it began to identify elements 
for retention and outlined processes for recovery; the plan has been
updated and made available to CYOS’s Management Board on a quarterly 
basis regarding how CYOS has continued to adapt and change to 
restrictions and easing.

Additionally, in April 2020, all Youth Offending Teams were required to 
submit a Service self-assessment against the YJB’s new National Standards, 
which‘…define the minimum expectation for all agencies that provide 
statutory services to ensure good outcomes for children in the youth justice 
system'.  The self-assessment led to identified areas of improvement and an 
action plan around priority development areas and a 2020-2023 
Improvement Strategy was subsequently created. The Strategy outlined an 
action plan of improvement, which has been tracked and monitored through 
management Board, similar to the usual Youth Justice Plan.

Contingency and Recovery Plan

CYOS initially moved to a tiered based model of delivery, which saw the 
large majority of delivery being via video telephone call platforms and in 
person where assessed as necessary. This developed over the course of
the year and CYOS has continued a largely in person service delivery since 
September 2020, though through a 1 to 1 model; an exception to this is 
victim based work, which has remained virtually delivered.

Professional meetings and CYOS Management Board have continued via 
Microsoft Teams, which for some meetings has seen increased attendance 
and improved engagement. A weekly management meeting was enacted to 
review service issues regarding Covid 19, alongside the continued updating 
of a service Covid 19 Risk Assessment and practice standards; the risk 
assessment went, and continues to go, through a consultation exercise with 
relevant unions led by the Strategic Lead for Help and Protection.

Staffing levels have remained manageable through a safe working model 
reducing the potential impact of Covid 19, alongside the roll-out of vaccines

P
age 57



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
  

 
  
  

 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  
 

    

 
  
  
 
    

 
  
  
 
   

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 

(1)https://yjresourcehub.uk/serious-youth-violence/item/672-serious-youth-violence-stocktake-yjb-february-2020.html

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 

30 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Responding to the pandemic and recovery from Covid 19

CYOS has sought to support children accessing education remotely
through ensuring appropriate technological connectivity and, where 
approrpiate, evidenced that CYOS children were classed as vulnerable for
in person teaching. In addtion, developmental work has continued as has 
been outlined, with details against each outstanding priority below.

Priorities from the Contingency and Recovery Plan/ImprovementStrategy:

1. Board Partnership, Accountability and Joint Planning
CYOS Management Board has continued throughout the last year with 
updated service level agreements across the majority of partners and 
revised working arrangements with Children's Services, including escalation 
processes. An updated memorandum of understanding, induction, and 
terms of reference have been created, alongside a mapping of the sphere of 
influence of Board Members regarding the CYOS vision, as outlined in the 
governance section. The city continues to have strong interconnection 
between statutory and non-statutory boards and the progression of the 10 
Year Violence Prevention Plan continues. An Early Help Manager has joined 
the  Board and this offers increased interconnection to the Coventry Youth 
Partnership and Third Sector.

2. Tackling Criminal Exploitation, Knife Crime and Youth Violence
CYOS has supported the development of a Youth Worker offer for children 
given a Police Only Community Resolution, following learning to show that

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

 

this was a possible 'reachable moment'. The Operational Lead and VRU 
Programme Manager have undertaken the YJB Serious Youth Violence(1)
stocktake to assess the city's position, completing a gap analysis, and said 
areas feeding into this and the violence prevention plan. CYOS has worked 
closely with the Horizon Team (a multi-agency team who work with children 
at risks of or being exploited); this team will continue to expand into an 
exploitation hub, a pilot in Coventry, Birmingham and Wolverhampton across 
the West Midlands, which will involve increased multi-agency resourcing 
including policing. All high risk and safeguarding processes have been 
updated with a streamlined approach in having a CYOS/Horizon joint triage 
meeting for high risk children to prevent duplication and ensure children are 
discussed in the most appropriate multi-agency forum. The Serious Youth 
Violence Forum continues to evolve from a forum to manage urban street 
gang violence, to responding to victims and perpetrators of county lines. 
There has been a continued point of arrest diversion scheme funded by the 
VRU for St Giles to offer support to children post arrest; this has showed
great success and as February 2021, of the 120 children/young people 
engaged through the arrest diversion offer, there was an 11% re-arrest rate. 
CYOS has also, through VRU funding, ensured children at risk of exploition, 
violence, and as part of resettlement back to the community have a mentor 
to support desistance.

As identified in this strategy, early intervention is key to affecting city change 
and as part of this CYOS has supported across many projects, including 
Levelling the Playing Field (sports based mentoring to ensure opportunities 
for all children regardless of ethnic background), Chances Programme
(evidenced based sports based mentoring for children with low school 
attendance, NEET, at risk of exclusion and/or concerns regarding offending 
behaviour) and supporting in the County lines intensification weeks. While 
delivery approaches, like all areas, have been adapted as a result of Covid
19 restrictions, this has not meant a lack of developments across the city.

P
age 58



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

   

  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  
  
  
  
 
 
  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3. Disproportionately
We have commissioned the ‘First Class Legacy’ consultant service to 
conduct a survey exercise eliciting views of children, parent/carer and 
the team in relation to their lived experience of diversity 
/disproportionately within CYOS and wider youth justice system.

CYOS will review the findings and present the recommendation to the 
Management Board for action and change. Disproportionately is now a 
standing item on Management Board, alongside reviewing the ethnicity 
of children entering custody and the youth justice system.

4. Trauma informed practice
This is a service approach intertwined across all areas, and, while 
working around an enhanced trauma informed pathway has been 
challenging to purposefully deliver due to Covid 19 restrictions, much 
progression has continued with service wide trauma informed training, 
case study analyses and an ongoing intervention review; the same 
training as since been rolled out across schools. Closed reflective 
practice spaces have been created to support around vicarious trauma 
ran by a Psychotherpist. A supervision bench marking template has been 
created to ensure that supervision is a space for reflection, and 
reevaluating approaches, to achieve the best outcomes for children.

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 

31 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Responding to the pandemic and recovery from Covid 19 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
  
  
  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5. Education, Training and Employment (ETE)
ETE has been highlighted as key to children's desistance and supporting 
identity change. CYOS has been successful in applying for the 
Achievement for All Lead Award in recognition of the work around 
supporting improving children's education. CYOS has monthly meetings 
with the Education Inclusion Team and Prospects to review children in
need of support. CYOS has a revised education process for children 
entering the secure estate to ensure continuity of education provision and 
to ensure an appropriate education offer. CYOS has worked alongside the 
the Extended Learning Centre Teams around training on speech, language 
and communication needs, and restorative approaches.

6. National Standards/Journey of the Child
Following the National Standard self-assessment findings, CYOS has over 
the last year created and updated all guidance for out of court disposals, 
court orders and custody/resettlement. This has been done through the 
lens of the journey of the child in the youth justice system and ensuring a 
clear benchmarking of expectations a specific junctures; alongside this, 
updating against evidence based forms or practice like 'constructive 
resettlement' where the focus is supporting a child's identify shift in addition 
to practical resettlement factors (e.g. housing). Further examples of 
development, include: Out of Court Joint Decision Panel having 
representation from the Horizon Team and the Participation Team, 
introduction of a performance/practice standards monthly meeting chaired 
by the Operational Lead, reinstatement of the end of disposal feedback 
sessions with children following a pause due to Covid 19, piloting of a child 
app to support engagement with children and young poeple, and the 
developing process of a child/family board to quality assure feedback,and 
support change across the service.

The last year has presented a huge challenge in ensuring a continued
good service to children in custody due to restrictions around Covid 19, 
though there have been proactive local and regional frameworks for 
support and escalation facilitated by the Youth Justice Board.
Resettlement, alongside other transitions for children (for example, 
probation transfers or schools moves) remain a key priority area for CYOS.

7. Quality Assurance
This remains integral to ensure effective practice delivery and over the last 
year this has been achieved through monthly auditing, continuing with 
national standard timescale with monthly checks, weekly assessment 
timeliness reviews, and audits against the revised standards following the 
national standard audit learning, alongside progression of the improvement 
plan, which is superceded by this plan.

P
age 59



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

      

 
  
  
 
    

 
  
  
 
   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

(1) Hidden in Plain Sight - National Youth Agency 2020

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

32 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Responding to the pandemic and recovery from Covid 19

Service changes to be maintained:

While Covid 19 and the restrictions has presented a significant challenge 
there have also been areas identified for retention, namely:

- Improved engagement rates and reduced use of breach through utilising 
virtual sessions. This will not be the right approach for all children but 
through individual assessments may support engagement and reduced 
reoffending; for example, consideration should be given to the value of 
home visits particularly considering the National Youth Agency (2020)
Hidden in Plan Sight Report(1).

- Use of the family hubs and other community venues for service delivery;
this has worked well to 'take the service to children', but particularly 
relevant for continuation where there are concerns outlined around the city 
centre, urban street gang affiliation and exploitation /networking of
children. With this said, the city centre site remains paramount delivery

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

site for some children, particularly around supporting transition to 
adulthood and the running of specific meetings, for example: Referral
Order Panels.

- The 1 to 1 model has proved effective for relationship building and 
historical group model of delivery is no longer preferenced except where 
evidence that adds value and appropriate matching has taken place.

- Complimenting structured sessions with the 'walk and talk' approach 
utilised when socialising needed to take place outdoors; this, in places, 
yielded an effective softer approach to intervention, where appropriate to 
the child's needs/age and complimented with more structured sessions.

- Professional meetings have been largely successfully delievered, where 
not front facing to the public, using virtual video platforms; while this does 
not replicate for team activities and support, this has enabled greater input 
to regional and national meetings without the impact of physical travel. A 
tiered approach will be taken, but this will be retained where approrpiate.

- Collaborative working has continued through virtual means and, as the 
team has become more familiar and verse in this, in some instances 
enabled increased engagement, particularly important considering the high 
ratio of children open to Children's Services (as detailed in Section 5), 
though the initial impact on completing joint visits to families/children was 
impactful in front facing delivery and evidence of interconnected working.

- The current office duty/rota system for office use will be maintained and 
adapted as per Covid 19 restriction easing (see improvement/business 
plan. The current hybrid model of office/home/community working will be 
mainatined.  

HMIP Thematic

A review was undertaken by HMIP into the review of the work of youth 
offending services during the Covid-19 pandemic. CYOS reviewed this 
and, as outlined in the recommendations:

 Introduction of revised practice standards for service delivery
and function in Covid 19

 Continued parenting offer, targeted support and explicit training 
on child to parent violence

 A review was completed to measure the impact of Covid 19 on 
court hearings, with all Youth Court matters being up to date by 
September 2020

 Addition of the team day and team quarterly half-days as per 
virtual team support, supervision and wellbeing.

 A review was completed of CYOS's care taking arrangements 
with other Youth Offending Teams, to acknowledge that this 
national arrangement but may not be the best approach for a 
child where virtual delivery can enable the continuation of 
established relationships.

P
age 60



 Challenge, Risks and 
Opportunities

P
age 61



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

     

 
  
  

 
  
  
  

 
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
  
  
  

 

 
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
  
  
  

     
   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

 

  

  

 
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
  
  
  

 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar2020/ (2) https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/pp/; (3) 
https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/ground-breaking-report-evidence; (4) https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-children-and-young-people-briefing.pdf

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

   

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

   

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

34 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Challenge, risks and opportunities

Challenges

- The easing of Covid 19 restrictions will pose challenges for CYOS and 
the youth justice system as an expected spike in offending behaviour is 
anticipated, given the restrictions that have been in place for such a long 
period; this may impact on the current preferred 1 to 1 delivery model.

- CYOS vision outlines the importance of a 'child first, offender second' 
model, though as detailed and found by HMIP in their Annual Report(1):
'...a sizeable proportion of these children do also present a risk to others, 
including their own families. For that reason, it is important not to lose 
sight of the second part of this formulation, which can happen where 
YOTs become completely subsumed within children's services 
departments.' The delineation between CYOS and Horizon remains 
positive, but this will be a challenge over the coming years as awareness 
and understanding around criminal exploitation improves.

- The 2017 HMIP report 'The Work of Youth Offending Teams to Protect 
the Public' identified that social media represents a space where
offences are planned without an adult supervision; this remains a huge 
challenge for the youth justice system and has been compounded 
through Covid 19 restrictions.

- The YJB national standards expectations have increased the ask on 
YOTs and, while progression has been made against these, this will 
continue to be a huge developing exercise, which will see the service 
continue to change and adapt in response; this highlights the importance 
of funding retention to enable the service to meet these challenges and 
provide the best service to children, in turn reducing their likelihood of 
reoffending, reducing the number of victims, and supporting children to 
be successful contributors to society.

- CYOS will be continuing to support and explore diversionary pathways, 
as outlined in the CYOS vision, though this is remains a city, region and 
national task. While it is a strength of the city that we have a 10 year 
violence prevention plan, recognising the long term nature of  the 
challenge, this must remain a priority for all as evidenced by details  
within Section 5 for children, victims of crime and the wider public. There

is however, a huge challenge with this for diversion activities as outlined by 
HMIP(1): 'The move to divert children from court, where appropriate, is very 
welcome… However, this work is being delivered in a vacuum of national 
guidance and evaluation. This has resulted in what we described last year
as a ‘postcode lottery’ in the use of out-of-court disposals, with wide 
variation in the policies and processes that govern local schemes (p.33).'
Thus, while we know division pathways can be effective, there is a need to 
move in a coordinated joined-up way alongside the region and through 
support from the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner; actions for 
this are detailed within the plan.

- The Punishing Abuse Report (2021)(3), as detailed within this document, 
has outlined recommendations for YOTs, the region and nationally; these 
are considered within the plan.

Risks and Issues

• Over the last year, there have been several new additions to the team, 
which has brought challenge and diversity by experience but also seen new 
members of the team who have not worked in the service outside of Covid 
19 restrictions where standards around resettlement and transitions have 
been challenging to define. There is therefore a need to re-set some of 
these standards and re-outline expectations across the service, alongside 
Covid 19 restriction easing, to ensure the best service - workforce 
development remains a service prirority, alongside national standard 
learning.

•To appropriately horizon scan the right data is needed and, as shown in 
Section 5, this needs to be a city/region picture given the nature of the 
challenges in exploitation and serious youth violence; this remains a 
challenge and is resource intensive, though a local needs assessment is 
being explored for Coventry via the Violence Reduction Unit. 

•The last year has been a challenge for many, but ever more so for children 
(4) and the long-term impact is yet known, with particular worries for 
children's mental health, and employmenet/education opportunities/impact;
these remain priorities through the CYOS vision and plan.

P
age 62



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) https://youthendowmentfund.org.uk/; (2) https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/your-commissioner/police-crime-plan/; (3) https://coventry2021.co.uk/media/4mloaj22/wmp-artist-in-residence-pdf.pdf

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

35 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Challenge, risks and opportunities

•From 26th June 2021, the National Probation Service and the local 
Community Rehabilitation Company will reunify and re-commence as one 
new Probation Service, alongside the Offender Management in Custody
(OMIC); this will see a new Head of Probation for Coventry and
re-establishing strong working relationships at an operational and strategic 
level will be key to ensure children's transitions to adult services is not 
unduly impacted.

•Funding and resources remains a key risk, not only into the service, but 
for diversionary offers across the city supporting the preventative agenda;
for example, the mentioned St Giles VRU funded mentoring offers, 
including a point of arrest diversion offer. Funding is often agreed year by 
year and while the Youth Endowment Fund(1) offers some more
longer-term (up to 3 years) funding, the application process if very 
competitive and this is a risk regarding continued service delivery of such 
offers; this is monitored and tracked through the Coventry Youth Violence 
Partnership Prevention Board.

Opportunities

The coming year presents much opportunity with:

 Covid 19 restriction easing and exploration of more effective ways of 
working, a outlined in Section 6.

 Continued action planning and developments to respond to serious 
youth violence and exploitation

 A New West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner and
upcoming priorities and plan(2).

 Coventry being the UK City of Culture and the service working with
an artist in residence(3).

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Continued developmental activity against the vision and priorities, 
including but not limited to:
- development of a Child/Family Board to shadow the Management 
Board;
- a collaborative regional project exploring how services can improve 
their response to girls within the youth justice system;
- continued working with the third sector to ensure a diverse offer to 
children, families and young people;
- and, exploring arts based mentoring offers to support children to 
access offers through the City of Culture.

Next Steps
The improvement and business plan will outline, against the priorities, how 
we intend to deliver on the CYOS vision and measures of success as per 
the national and local performance indicators; in doing so, meeting and 
delivering on the YJB's 'Child First' vision, the guiding principles, and 
strategic pillars.

The plan consolidates actions as part of Covid 19 recovery, learning from 
relevant inspections, thematic reveiws, learning exercise, research and 
other sources. The plan is a working plan that will develop across the 
coming year. The plan has been created to compliment, and sit alongside, 
existing plans (for example, Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 
Partnership Strategy Plan), making reference to specific elements, but 
without duplicating actions or reporting processes.

The Plan focuses on specific actions across the coming year in recognition 
that much of this work will lead to follow on activity against the vision and 
priorities, which will be outlined in an updated 2022/23.

P
age 63



Improvement and 
Business Plan

P
age 64



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

 

 

  

1.  Create a Shadow Board with Terms of Reference Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) with First 

Class Legacy  

End of Q2 Shadow Board 

created 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

CYOS Children’s and 

Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 

Analysis and Strategy 

2.  Commence Service led self-assessment Participation 

Standards against the ladder of participation.  

Shadow Board self-assessment review 

Presentation to YOS Operational lead and Children’s 

Champion, and recommendations presented to YOS 

Management Board for action/next steps. 

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) with Guiding 

Young Minds 

End of Q3 

 

End of Q3 

 

End of Q4 

Co-developed 

improvement plan 

for child 

engagement for 

actions across 

2022 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

CYOS Children’s and 

Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 

Analysis and Strategy 

3.  CYOS Website/online consultation and review – visibility to 

families and children  

  

Danielle (YOS Officer)  End of Q2 New child 

friend/family 

friendly website  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

CYOS Children’s and 

Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 

Analysis and Strategy 

4.  Leaflet redesign with the participation team.  Kyle Patel (YOS Support 

Officer) 

End of Q2 More child 

friendly leaflets 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

Improvement Strategy  

5.  Whole team piloting of viewpoint use Stacey Brown (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Improved 

engagement with 

children  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

CYOS Children’s and 

Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 

Analysis and Strategy 

6.  Case closure reviews – end of quarter report to be available 

to Board Members and to include 4-5 months, where 

consent given.  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q1 Improved 

engagement with 

children 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment 

7.  

 

 

Action Plan monitoring across 2021/22 

Abi Jones (Team 

Manager) and Mandy 

Allen (Parenting Lead) 

End of Q1 

 

 

End of Q4 

Improved whole 

family offer  

West Midlands Violence 

Reduction Unit 

Evaluation - 

Serious Youth Violence 

pathfinder: Evaluation 

report – April 2021  

8.  Drive relational practice through the Coventry Family 

Valued Programme and identification of a YOS Lead.  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

 

End of Q2 Family Valued 

Programme 

intertwined with 

the CYOS Vision 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

 

Child Engagement and Desistance - Overall Leads - Nick Jeffreys and Tricia Watson

Children, young people, and victims, first and at the centre of what we do YJB Child First Principles: Principle 1 & 2
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2

National Standards 1 - 5

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback

 

 
 

  

 37 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Interim QA Analysis

Leeds Family Valued 
Programme (2017)

Action plan to be devised to support increased referrals to 
the Kitchen Table Talks project.

P
age 65



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

9.  Attending at the Builder User Group for considerations to a 

personalised space for Coventry YOS children and families. 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) and Sonia Watson 

(Children’s Services 

Programme Manager) 

 

End of Q2 A child friendly 

personalised 

space.  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback    

HMIP Domain 1 Self-

Assessment 

10.    

  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

 

End of Q1 Responding to 

restriction easing  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

A thematic review of the 

work of youth offending 

services during the 

COVID-19 pandemic – 

Nov 2020 – Coventry 

YOS Response  

 

11.  Review of CYOS Parenting Strategy Abi Jones (Team 

Manager) and Mandy 

Allen (Parenting Lead) 

End of Q4 Improved service 

to 

parents/families 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of custody 

A thematic review of the 

work of youth offending 

services during the 

COVID-19 pandemic – 

Nov 2020 – Coventry 

YOS Response  

 

12.  Business case for a child development and quality 

assurance role  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

 

End of Q2 Have a quality 

assurance and 

child 

development lead 

in the service to 

improve 

outcomes.  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of custody 

Interim QA Analysis 

Children, young people, and victims, first and at the centre of what we do  

 

 

1.  Reapplication RJ marker and associated actions, including 

a review of the victim offer.  

Matt Haynes (YOS Team 

Manager) and Carl 

Woodend (RJ Lead) 

End of Q3 Improved victim 

offer 

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

Increased and improved 

victim feedback 

Restorative Council  

Covid 19 Practice Standards – ongoing review and updates 
to the team regarding working models following 

consultation with strategic Council Leads and Management 

Board.

Current rota/duty model for use of the main office will be 

reviewed in line with restrictions easing - hybrid model of 

office/community/home working will be maintained.  

Restorative Justice - Overall Leads - Matt Haynes and Carl Woodend

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 1 & 2

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 1 & 2

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3
National Standards 1 - 5

 38 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 66



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

2.  Review of the offer to child victims and development of a 

clear pathway and offer of support 

Matt Haynes (YOS Team 

Manager) and Carl 

Woodend (RJ Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved victim 

offer 

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

Increased and improved 

victim feedback  

Local learning review  

3.  Support other Youth Offending Teams with applications for 

the RJ Marker providing an opportunity for joint learning 

Matt Haynes (YOS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q4 Create a network 

of support for 

matters around 

restorative 

justice.  

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

Increased and improved 

victim feedback 

  

  

 

 

1.  Development of a CYOS partnership meeting to review 

operational outcomes achieved, monitor procurements, and 

feed into CYOS Management Board 

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Improved 

oversight and 

governance for 

third sector 

provision.  

 

 

 

 

HMIP Domain 1 Self-

Assessment 

 

Interim Quality Assurance 

Review Action 

2.  Establish a statutory review group to create memorandum 

of understanding establishing a standardised and 

consistent approach to transition services, safeguarding 

and child exploitation for YOS children.  

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 Creating 

structured and 

well-defined 

pathways and 

processes to 

services 

 

 

 

 

 

3.  Review of the Coventry’s Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Board and associated Operational Group by 

CYOS Management Board 

 

 

All Board Members End of Q2 Ensure strategic 

connectivity is 

effective and 

achieving desired 

outcomes 

 

 

  

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

National Standard 5 

4.  Management Board review of Social Media champion role.  

 

Sarb Bhambra (Principal 

Social Worker)  

End of Q2 Practitioners 

understand how 

social media is 

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

HMIP Thematic Review – 

Work of Youth Offending 

Joint Strategic City Planning - Overall Leads - Caroline Ryder and Nick Jeffreys

One Coventry Approach – everyone working together to make a difference   YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 2, Priority 1 & 2

National Standards 1 - 5

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 
first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Increased referral rates 
to projects.

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

 39 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Interim Quality Assurance

Review Action

Risk and Deisrance: A 
Blended Approach to 
Risk Management) - 
HMIP (2021)

Code of Practice for 
Victims of Crime (2020)
 MOJ

P
age 67



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

 

 

 

used for 

exploitation.   

  

Teams to Protect the 

Public (2017) 

VRU Strategic Needs 

Assessment (2021)  

5.  Board members review of additional quality indicators to 

reflect key priority areas – for example, consider expansion 

to child hospital admissions with injury  

 

 

 

All Board Members End of Q2 

 

 

 

End of Q4  

Improved 

performance 

measuring   

Indicators updated as 

per plan  

6.  All Board Members to attend CYOS Team Meetings/Team 

Days/Half Days to explain their role and remit.  

 

All Board Members End of Q4  Improved 

team/Board 

relationships  

 

 

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment  

7.  Health Business Plan for increased resources to be 

considered by Clinical Commissioning Group  

Chris Evans (CAMHS 

Manager) 

End of Q1  Development of 

trauma informed 

approach  

 

  

  

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment  

8.  

 

Caroline Ryder (VRU 

Programme Manager) 

End of Q2  

 

 

 

  

New legislation  

9.  Mini consortium to be developed for CYOS to consolidate 

all mentoring for CYOS children, along with benching 

outcomes returns and expectations.  

 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q1 

2022/23 

Streamlined offer 

of support.   

  

  

 

 

  

Localassessment 
ofthe needs of 
childrenregarding 
domestic abuse

Local Domestic Abuse needs assessment to include 
input from CYOS

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Increased and improved 
victim feedback

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Increased and improved 
victim feedback

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

 40 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Police and Crime 
Commissioner Funding 
Plan

Mentoring and Peer 

Mentoring (2021) 

HMIP

Subsequent, Performance Report review regarding 
assessment of fit for purpose with changing patterns and 
trends.

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment

Contextual 
Safeguarding 
(2020) HMIP

P
age 68



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

  

 

 

1.  Continued trauma informed spaces for team support and 

development  

- monthly informal counselling offer and review at end 

of year.  

- piloting of closed trauma groups pilot with a 

Psychotherapist and report to Board to inform next 

steps. 

Kelly Mogano (Specialist 

Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q4 Improved team 

wellbeing   

 

  

   

A thematic review of the 

work of youth offending 

services during the 

COVID-19 pandemic – 

Nov 2020 – Coventry 

YOS Response  

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

2.  Trauma informed review of interventions  Lesa Arms (Senior 

Practitioner) and Kelly 

Mogano (Specialist 

Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q3 Supporting 

trauma informed 

approach  

 

 

  

   

HMIP 2020 Annual Plan 

 

 

 

3.  Review of Enhanced Case Management Model  Lesa Arms (Senior 

Practitioner) and Kelly 

Mogano (Specialist 

Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q4 Ensuring model 

fit for purpose   

 

  

  

 

 

4.    

 

   

Lesa Arms (Senior 

Practitioner) and Kelly 

Mogano (Specialist 

Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

  

Domestic abuse training to CYOS to support in exploring 
and identifying children have been witness to domestic 
abuse given significant factor in children entering custody 

locally.

Trauma Informed Practice -  Overall Leads - Abi Jones, Lesa Arms and Kelly Mogano

One Coventry Approach – everyone working together to make a difference YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2

National Standards 1 and 2

Reduced risk 
judgements

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Increased and improved 
victim feedback

Reduced number of 
first-time entrants

Reduced risk 
judgements

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Increased and improved 
victim feedback

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced risk 
judgements

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Increased and improved 
victim feedback

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced use of 

custody

 41 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Punishing Abuse Report 
(2021)

Trauma-informed 

practice (2020) HMIP

Punishing Abuse Report 
(2021)

Trauma-informed 

practice (2020) HMIP

Local Custody Review

Analysis

Punishing Abuse 
Report(2021)P

age 69



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

5.  Trauma informed training for new members of the team, 

schools, family hubs, and wider children’s services.  

 

 

 

End of Q4 

2022 

Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.  Mentors in Violence Prevention – piloting in schools to roll 

out across all primary and secondary Schools and YOS. 

 

 

 

Hayley Walton 

(Education Delivery 

Manager – VRU) and 

Vicky Hobbs (Youth 

Violence Reduction Unit) 

End of Q4 

2021 

Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

 

  

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

 

 

 

7.  Funding application to the NHS England and NHS 

Improvement to deliver the Framework for Integrated Care 

around supporting children with complex needs inclusive of 

children in the criminal justice system and at risk of entering 

the criminal justice system.  

Nikki Holmes (Health CE 

Coordinator) 

End of Q1 Earlier trauma 

informed 

intervention offers  

Reducing the number of 

first-time entrants 

NHS England & NHS 

Improvement Long Term 

Plan (LTP) 

8.  Continued progression Youth Endowment Fund Application 

for a whole system trauma informed approach in several 

Coventry and Warwickshire Schools, and following on 

actions to feed into plan if successful.  

Edouard Baynes Clarke 

(Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q2 Earlier trauma 

informed 

intervention offers 

  

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

9.  Exploration of a specific out of court offer around how to 

respond if witness to serious youth violence – for example, 

Street Doctors 

 

 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

 

 

End of Q2  

Earlier trauma 

informed 

intervention offers 

  

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children 

 

 

 

1.  Continued progression following application to the Youth 

Endowment Fund to replicate the Community Initiative to 

Sally Seeley (Chief 

Inspector – Project 

End of Q2 Development of 

‘reachable   

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake  

Edouard Baynes Clarke 
(Schools Violence 
Reduction Lead)

Tackling Exploitation and Serious Youth Violence - Overall Leads - Nick Jeffreys and Stacey Brown

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2

National Standards 1,3 and 5

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

 42 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Education violence 
reduction strategy

Punishing Abuse Report 
(2021)

Early Help Action Plan –

Crime and ASB

Punishing Abuse Report 
(2021)

Trauma-informed 

practice (2020) HMIP

P
age 70



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

Reduce Violence and following on actions to feed into plan 

if successful. 

 

Guardian – West 

Midlands Police) 

moment’ offers 

across the city  

 

 

  

2.  Continued progression of the Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Action Plan and gap analysis  

 

 

Caroline Ryder (Violence 

Prevention Programme 

Manager) 

End of Q4 

2022 

Safe city for 

children, young 

people and 

families 

 

 

3.  Mentoring offer for children at low risk of being exploited to 

be in place with a clearly defined referral pathway  

Sharon Bolesworth 

(Positive Choices Service 

Manager) 

End of Q2 Mentoring offer in 

place and being 

well assessed.  

 

 

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

4.  Business proposal for the tracker and monitoring of 

National Referral Mechanism (NRM), threat to life and 

disruption notices 

Sara Graves (Horizon 

Service Manager)  

End of Q2 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

  

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

5.  Completion of the Child Exploitation and Assessment of 

Extra Familial Risk Commissioning Strategy  

Nikki Holmes (Health CE 

Coordinator) 

End of Q3 

2021/22 

Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

6.  Expansion of the Horizon Team to respond to growing 

needs around criminal exploitation 

 

Review of Exploitation Hub following needs assessment  

Nicky Davies 

(Operational Lead – 

Responsive Services) 

End of Q4 

2022 

 

End of Q1 

2022/23 

Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

 

 

7.  Coventry needs assessment regarding youth violence and 

exploitation  

 

Caroline Ryder (Violence 

Prevention Programme 

Manager) 

End of Q4 

2021/22 

Safe city for 

children, young 

people and 

families 

  

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake  

8.  County lines mapping across the city to enable earlier 

identification of children at risk of exploitation  

Sara Graves (Horizon 

Service Manager), Karl 

Mackley (Sgt Op Astana) 

and Jade Hibbert (VRU – 

Exploitation Lead) 

End of Q2 

2021/22 

Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

 

Interim Quality Assurance 

Review Action 

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

Reduced incidents of 

serious youth violence 

and reduced 

attendance at A&E for 

assault injuries

  

  

  

Reduced incidents 

of serious youth 

violence

Reduced incidents of 
serious youth violence 
and reduced attendance 
at A&E for assault 
injuries

  

Reduced incidents of 
serious youth violence
and reduced attendance 
at A&E for assault 
injuries

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Increased identification 

of children to the NRM

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced incidents of 
serious youth violence

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced incidents of 
serious youth violence

 43 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

YJB Serious Youth

Violence Stocktake

Risk and Deisrance: A 
Blended Approach to Risk 
Management) - HMIP 
(2021)

Injustice or in justice –

Children’s Commissioner 
- 2020

Coventry Youth Violence 
Prevention Board - Youth 
Violence Literature 
Review (2020)

Contextual Safeguarding 
(2020) HMIP

P
age 71



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

9.  St Giles continued reachable moment mentoring offers, 

known as desist and transform; this covers: under 25s 

police custody, entered hospital for assault injury, identified 

concerns identification, and resettlement  

 

Steve Clarke (Contract 

Manager – St Giles)  

End of Q1 

2021/22 

Safe city for 

children, young 

people and 

families 

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

10.  CYOS and Horizon audit into children with parents in prison 

as an early identification exercise and to inform any 

developmental/training needs.  

 

 

Sara Graves (Horizon 

Service Manager) and 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead CYOS) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

 

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

 

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

11.  Review of community safety actions through updates at 

Management Board, attendance by CYOS at Local Case 

Management Forum, and use of civil measures.  

 

 

End of Q4 Improved public 

spaces  

 

  

 

Police and Crime Board 

Priorities and Plan 

Early Help Strategy  

12.  Wider Learning Review into children sentenced for murder Judith Jones (Operational 

Lead Quality Assurance) 

End of Q3  Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

Reduced use of custody  Custody Review Learning 

13.  Training on supporting asylum seeking children and 

working with the migration team.  

 

Elena Harrison 

(Programme Officer- 

Migration Team) 

End of Q1  Improved 

understanding of 

the needs of 

asylum seeking 

families.  

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

 

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

 

Team Day Request 

14.  Continued use of the Child Exploitation Screening Tool to 

ensure appropriate identification of concerns – overview to 

CYOS Management Board 

Sara Graves (Horizon 

Service Manager) 

End of Q2  Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

 

 

Interim QA Analysis  

15.  Counter narrative campaigns in priority areas    

 

End of Q3 Increased 

community 

engagement  

  

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

Craig Hickin (Head of 
Environmental Services)

Francesca Ruddock 
(Community 
Navigator)

 

Increased 

identification of 

children to the NRM

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced incidents of 

serious youth violence 

and reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries

Reduced use of custody

Increased identification 
of children to the NRM

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

 44 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Coventry Youth Violence 
Prevention Partnership 
Strategy and Action Plan

Domain 1 self- 
assessment

Mentoring and Peer 

Mentoring (2021) HMIP

P
age 72



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

16.  Regional review with the West Midlands YOTs and Crown 

Prosecution Service Youth Lead into the use and 

interpretation of the National Referral Mechanism  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead CYOS) and Ruth 

Edwards (CPS Youth 

Lead)  

End of Q2 Appropriate use 

of NRMs  

Learning Review  

17.  Review of Serious Youth Violence Forum, Operation 

Guardian (A police operation to target under 25’s violence 

offences) and Police Offender Management Support, 

reviewing the use of civil measures.   

Paul Southern (Chief 

Inspector – Crime 

Manager), Vicky Hobbs 

(Youth Violence 

Reduction Unit) and Nick 

Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead CYOS) 

End of Q3  Ensuring risk 

management is 

appropriate and 

robust 

 

  

 

  

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

18.   

 

 

Abi Jones (CYOS Team 

Manager) 

 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

1.  

 

 

 

Nikki Holmes (Health CE 

Coordinator) and Eve 

Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q3  Improved 

identification and 

offer to children 

with speech, 

language and 

communication 

needs.  

 

SEND Inspection 2019 

End of Q3

End of Q4

Training on AssetPlus changes through the YJB 

Practitioner Portal and guidance documents for the team; 

this will include guidance on the use of significant life 

event flags. 

Assessment audit of children assessed as high risk with a 
focus on children where there are concerns around 
exploitation and serious youth violence.

Education, Training and Employment - Overall Leads - Matt Haynes and Eve Linstead

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3

National Standard 5

Reduced incidents of 
serious youth violence

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback

Reduced 

re-offending/arrest

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Increased identification 
of children to the NRM

Reduced incidents of 

serious youth violence 

and reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Increased identification 
of children to the NRM

Reduced incidents of 

serious youth violence 

and reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries

Completion of a need’s analysis and business case for 
service specific Speech and Language Therapy offer SALT.

Team training on speech, language and communication 

needs identification to be completed. 

 45 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Punishing Abuse Report 
(2021)

Risk and Deisrance: A 

Blended Approach to 

Risk Management) - 

HMIP (2021)

P
age 73



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

2.  Exploration of post 16 training into employment offers: 

- Skills Mill 

- Park Rangers apprenticeship 

Hannah Parry (Prospects 

- Senior Careers Adviser) 

and Eve Linstead 

(Education Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

employment 

pathways  

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment  

HMIP Annual Report 

(2020)  

Interim QA Analysis 

3.  Progression of the Education Violence Reduction Strategy 

and plan – update to management Board on progress.  

Edouard Baynes Clarke 

(Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

 

  

 

Education violence 

reduction strategy 

4.  A review of children who have gone through the local fair 

access panel to identify early reachable moments and 

reviewing intervention offers.  

Sarah Mills (Head of 

Education Entitlement), 

Matt Haynes (YOS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3  Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

 

  

 

Injustice or in justice – 

Children’s Commissioner 

– 2020 

Local Learning Review 

5.  Continued AQA accrediting of all interventions  Eve Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Improved 

employment 

pathways 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment  

HMIP Birmingham 

Inspection (2020) 

6.  Review of Key Stage 4 – identification of good practice 

examples and consideration for learning – presentation to 

management Board for actions  

Kevin Coughlan 

(Performance Manager) 

End of Q2 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

Understanding the 

educational background 

of young offenders (DFE, 

2019) 

 

 

 

 

1.  Board Member to attend the strategic group for the 

Coventry Youth Partnership Youth Partnership   

End of Q2  Increased 

strategic 

engagement with 

the 3rd sector  

 

  

 

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment 

2.  6 Monthly attendance by Chair of the Coventry Youth 

Partnership  

Vera Ding (General 

Manager – Belgrade 

Theatre) 

End of Q4  Increased 

strategic 

engagement with 

the 3rd sector 

 

  

 

Punishing Abuse Report 

(2021) 

Domain 1 Self-

Assessment 

3.  Tracking off all children arrested, and intervention pathways 

through targeted third sector provision (for example, St 

Giles) 

Vicky Hobbs (Police) and 

Steve Clarke (Contract 

Manager – St Giles)  

End of Q1  Earlier 

identification 

 

  

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

Nigel Patterson 

(Early  Help 

Manager)

Promoting Prevention and Diversion - Overall Leads - Nigel Patterson and Nick Jeffreys

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3 

National Standard 1

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

 46 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 74



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

 children at 

highest risk 

 

4.  

 

Cat Stock (Community 

Engagement, Partnership 

Working Lead – Police) 

End of Q2  Children engaged 

in arts projects  

Police and Crime Board 

Priorities and Plan 

5.  CYOS review of arts-based intervention offers and review 

against areas for Artsmark Award through the Arts Council.  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2 

2022/23 

Improved arts 

offer   

 

  

HMIP Sandwell 

Inspection (2018) 

6.  Development of a CYOS mentoring pathway Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Increased 

engagement with 

the 3rd sector 

 

 

 

 

 

7.  Diversion pathway mapping for children at risk of 

engagement in anti-social behaviour, at point of arrest, 

offending behaviour and/or being exploited – reviewed on a 

quarterly basis through the Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Board 

Supt Ronan Tyler 

(Superintendent) and 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4   Gap analysis and 

ensure 

appropriate 

support  

  

 

8.  Development of a single referral route for targeted diversion 

intervention for the third sector, complimenting existing 

targeted youth work offer through the Family Hubs and 

PCSOs by the Violence Reduction Team.  

Vicky Hobbs (Youth 

Violence Reduction Unit) 

and Sarah Mills (Head of 

Education Entitlement)  

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

  

Early Help Action Plan – 

Crime and ASB 

9.  School wide substance misuse offer through group delivery.   Sharon Bolesworth 

(Positive Choices Service 

Manager) 

End of Q3  Identification of 

children in need 

of more targeted 

support.  

 

 

Injustice or in justice – 

Children’s Commissioner 

– 2020 

Local Learning  

 

YJB Serious Youth 

Violence Stocktake 

Coventry Youth Violence 
Prevention Partnership

 Strategy and Action Plan

HMIP South Gloucestershire 
(2021) Report

Improved ETE attendance 

and attainment

Reduced re-offending 

/arrest

Reduce the use of  custody

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

 47 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Interim Quality Assurance 
Review Action

Domain 1 Self- 
assessment

Mentoring and Peer 

Mentoring (2021) HMIP

CYOS to facilitate arts-based mentoring and, through 

the artist in residence, support  children into the 

universal art offers through the city of culture.

P
age 75



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

10.  Formation of local OOCD scrutiny panel x 3 per year, in 

addition to attendance at regional meeting scrutiny panel, to 

review OOCD decision making, including diversion offer 

through Cranstoun diversion.  

Sgt Tim Roberts (Police – 

Offender Management) 

and Arron Owen (Service 

Manager – Cranstoun 

WM) 

End of Q2  Appropriate 

threshold 

decisions around 

OOCDs 

 

 

HMIP Birmingham (2020) 

Report  

Police and Crime Board 

Priorities and Plan 

11.  Comparable data for children arrests, incidents of serious 

youth violence and re-arrest for CYOS Management Board 

on a quarterly basis. victims – quarterly basis   

Supt Ronan Tyler 

(Superintendent) and 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2 2 Improved 

performance 

indicators  

 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

12.  Outcome 22 (‘Outcome 22 – diversionary, educational or 

intervention activity, resulting from the crime report, has 

been undertaken and it is not in the public interest to take 

any further action’) pilot to be enacted with appropriate 

regional governance arrangements  

Nicola Lloyd 

(Neighbourhood Justice 

Manager) and (Nick 

Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

diversion 

pathways  

 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

Police and Crime Board 

Priorities and Plan 

13.  Review of youth worker offer following Police only 

Community Resolution by Management Board – interim 

tracking around re-arrest and outcome data.  

 

End of Q4 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

 

 

Early Help Action Plan – 

Crime and ASB 

14.  OOCDs case studies to be presented at Youth Panel and 

Board  

(Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) 

End of Q3 Support court 

diversions 

 

 

Youth panel Meeting 

OOCD HMIP Thematic 

2018 

15.  School link officers to deliver awareness sessions on 

effects of criminality to classes, assemblies or 1 to 1 in 

schools 

Vicky Hobbs (Youth 

Violence Reduction Unit) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

 

 

Early Help Action Plan – 

Crime and ASB 

 

 

 

 

1.  Quality assurance needs assessment to be presented to 

Management Board for consideration and action 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2  Improved quality 

assurance 

framework  

 

 

Interim Quality Assurance 

Review Action 

Nigel Patterson 

(Early  Help 

Manager)

Workforce Development - Overall Leads - Sarb Bhambra and Nick Jeffreys

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

 48 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3
 YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 1 & 2

National Standards 1 - 5

Workforce valued,motivated,skilled, confident and sustainable

P
age 76



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

2.  Continued development of a performance and monitoring 

Dahsboard  

Kevin Coughlan 

(Performance Manager)   

End of Q1 Improved quality 

assurance 

framework 

 

  

Domain 1 self-

assessment  

3.  Champions areas across the whole service and service 

champion lead identified to support individual expertise and 

development – map of areas and Board review  

Stacey Brown (Senior 

Practitioner)  

End of Q3 Improved service 

knowledge and 

expertise  

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Domain 1 self-

assessment 

4.  Team supervision survey  Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

supervision 

framework 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Domain 1 self-

assessment  

5.  Develop a pathway for completion of the foundation degree 

in Youth Justice and the Social Work Academy 

Sarb Bhambra (Principal 

Social Worker) 

End of Q3 Practitioners will 

be part way 

through a Youth 

Justice Degree 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

6.  Exploration of ‘Positive Action’ recruitment to ensure the 

service better reflects the community, including workforce 

Diversity Recruitment training to managers.  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Increased team 

diversity 

 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

7.  Training planner actioned following Youth Skills Matrix self-

assessment in February 2021, including training on risk 

management and resettlement for new starters.  

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

The quality of will 

be of good or 

outstanding when 

measured against 

HMIP standards 

 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

HMIP Annual Report 

(2020) 

HMIP Resettlement 

Thematic  

8.  Repeat skills audit assessment in 18 months on to check 

and evidence distance travelled   

 

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Improved scoring 

compared to 

February 2021 

Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

9.  Actions as per quality assurance framework  Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

The quality of will 

be of good or 

outstanding when 

measured against 

HMIP standards 

 

 

 

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy  

10.  Youth Justice Sector Improvement Partnership training 

offers to be attended by Team Managers and Senior 

Practitioners  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

The quality of will 

be of good or 

outstanding when 

measured against 

HMIP standards 

 

 

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

Reduced number of 
first-time entrants

Increased and improved 
child/family/parent 
feedback

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

 49 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 77



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

11.  IT Needs Analysis to be presented to Management Board Karyn Bacon  End of Q2 Improved IT offer Increased and improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback   

Domain 1 self-

assessment  

  

 

  

1.    

 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead)  

The quality of will 

be of good or 

outstanding when 

measured against 

HMIP standards 

 

 

  

2.   

  

Stacey Brown (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Improved 

outcomes for 

chidlren leaving 

custody 

 

 

 

National Standard Self-

Assessment  

3.  Consideration to the creation of info packs for YOIs and 

STCs support around identification of any worries/areas of 

support.  

 

Bridget Atkins 

(Operational Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Improved 

outcomes for 

chidlren leaving 

custody 

 

 

 

National Standard Self-

Assessment  

4.  Further case audit on implementation of new guidance for 

resettlement and transitions (education, engagement, and 

Children’s Services Protocol) 

Abi Jones (CYOS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

outcomes for 

chidlren leaving 

custody 

 

 

 

  

5.   

   

Supt Ronan Tyler 

(Superintendent) and 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q3 Improved 

outcomes for 

chidlren leaving 

custody 

 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership 

Strategy and Action Plan 

HMIP Resettlement 

Thematic and NS Self-

Assessment 

6.  6-month specific review of children’s experience of custody 

through 1 to 1 engagement  

Stacey Brown (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q3 Improve 

understanding of 

children’s lived 

experience  

 

 

HMIP Report -Children in 

Custody (2019-29 

   
 

Champions for resettlement and transition standards 
identified, and lead on training in the use of YJB 

Services for community/secure estate AssetPlus 

assessments.

End of Q4 National Standard Self-

Assessment

HMIP Camden (2020) 
Report

   

  Service open and honest – listening, responsive, effective and safe 

Continued National Standard Learning – Standards 4 and 5 - Overall Leads - Connor Shields (Team Manager) and Stacey Brown

YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 & 4
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 3 & 4

National Standards 4 and 5

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

 50 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

National Standard Self-

Assessment

Contextual Safeguarding 
(2020) HMIP

Management Board tracking and oversight of children 
leaving custody, alongside reviewing the learning 

process to ensure dissemination and reflection 

across the whole partnership

Review of offending by under 25s released from custody –

mapping of pathways and gaps analysis. Activity to be 

taken forward as a region to enable support/sharing best 

practice. 

P
age 78



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

7.  Custody reviews for all children to assess learning and feed 

into Management Board action with learning presented to 

the Extended Health and Protection Managers Meeting  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

The quality of will 

be of good or 

outstanding when 

measured against 

HMIP standards 

 

 

  

 

 

8.   

  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Increased 

mentoring access 

by children 

Reduced re-

offending/arrest 

 
 

 

9.  Child exploitation awareness raising training across CYOS, 

Horizon, Children’s Services, School and the Police. 

Becky Pearson (Child 

Exploitation Coordinator) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

 

  

 

 

10.  Pathway development for Offender Management in 

Custody and review of local YOT to Probation transfer 

arrangement following reunification  

  

Abi Jones (Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

transition 

arrangements 

 

 

National Standard Self-

Assessment 

11.  Review of monthly education operational and strategic 

meetings, alongside a review of the education process  

Matt Haynes (YOS Team 

Manager) and Eve 

Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q4  Improved 

employment 

pathways 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

HMIP Birmingham 

Inspection (2020) 

  

 

 

1.  Actions against the service self-assessment as part of the 

regional Girls Working Group – actions tracked and 

monitored through Management Board  

 

Abi Jones (Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

transition 

arrangements 

 

 

National Standard Self-

Assessment 

2.  Leaflets in Police custody to be available in multiple 

languages.  

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead)  

End of Q2  Reduced 

disproportionality    

Lammy Review (2017) 

YJB Disproportionality 

Assessment (2021) 

Addressing Disproportionately - Overall Leads - Abi Jones and Tricia Watson 

Service open and honest – listening, responsive, effective and  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 & 4
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 3 & 4

National Standards 1 - 5

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

  
   

 51 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Continued development of a resettlement service through  St 

Giles and lead YOS Resettlement Worker to offer an 

'enhanced priority offer' – updates through Management 

Board and assessment against HMIP Resettlement  Standard

Resettlement  

Strategy –

recommendations

Resettlement  

Strategy–

recommendations

Resettlement  

Strategy–

recommendations

P
age 79



 

Action Lead By When Outcomes  Indicator  

Relates 

Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents  

3.  Start of the in person ‘levelling the playing field’ mentoring 

offer and clear mentoring pathway defined between CYOS 

and Horizon.  

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Increased 

engagement with 

the 3rd sector 

 

  

 

 

4.  Continuation of disproportionality project and subsequent 

actions tracked and progressed through management 

Board, with explicit consideration to the recommendations 

the actions in ‘Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 

system: 2020/21’ and findings for CYOS that white children 

are more likely to receive out of court disposals  

 

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Reduced 

disproportionality   

 

  

Tackling racial disparity in 

the criminal justice 

system: 2020/21 

Lammy Review (2017) 

YJB Disproportionality 

Assessment (2021) 

5.  Team awareness session on ‘critical dialogue on anti-

racism’ facilitated by Dr Gurnam Singh 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead)  

End of Q2  Reduced 

disproportionality  

 

  

Interim Quality Assurance 

Review Action 

Domain 1 Self-

assessment 

Tackling racial disparity in 

the criminal justice 

system: 2020/21 

6.  The procurement of St Giles and Guiding Young Minds 

(Youth Engagement projects) for the coming year 2021-21, 

to improve the diversity of offer to children 

 

Tricia Watson (Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4 

2022/23 

Improved 

diversity of offer   

 

 

Workforce Development 

Analysis and Strategy 

7.  Review CYOS and Through Care processes to ensure 

appropriate provision particularly for care leavers and 

looked after children leaving custody.  

Natasha Stirling 

(Operational Lead- 

Through Care) 

End of Q2 Improved 

outcomes for 

chidlren leaving 

custody 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced  use of 
custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced re-

offending/arrest

Reduced use of custody

Increased and improved 
child/family/parent 
feedback

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest

Reduced use of 

custody

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants

 
 
 

  
 
  

 
 
 

 
 National Indicators: Reduced first time entrants to the youth justice system, reduced use of custody,  and reduced reoffending rates. Local Indicators: Reduced re-arrests, reduced incidents of serious youth violence 

and reduced attendance at A&E for assault injuries, improved Child/Family/Parent feedback, reduced risk judgements, improved ETE engagement and attainment, and improved victim feedback. 

 52 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Domain 1 Self- 
assessment

Mentoring and Peer 

Mentoring (2021) HMIP

Resettlement  

Strategy–

recommendations.

Reducing the 
unnecessary 
criminalisation of looked 
after children

P
age 80



      

Name Title

  Chief Inspector, Crime Manager, Coventry Neighbourhood Policing 
Unit - West Midlands Police.   

 Operations Manager, Coventry & Warwickshire Prospects Service

Matthew Gilks         
  

Chris Evans General Manager, Mental Health Services for Children & Young 
People, Coventry & Warwickshire Partnership NHS Trust

 Director of Children’s Services for Coventry, Coventry City Council

        

      

Jim Horgan Head Teacher, Coventry Virtual School (formerly LACES), Coventry 
City Council

Sarah Mills Head of Service, Education Entitlement, Coventry City Council

Nigel Patterson Early Help Manager, Early Help & Family Hubs (Central), Coventry 
City Council

          
   

Craig Hickin Head of Environmental Services, Street Scene & Regulatory 
Services, Coventry City Council 

Andy Wade Head of Service for NPS, Coventry, Solihull & Warwickshire Cluster 
Midlands Division

      

Paul Southern

 

          

Jas Madahar

     

Strategic Lead for Help and Protection, Coventry City Council

     

Sharon 
Bolesworth

Positive Choices Service Manager

            
   

         
   

  Caroline Ryder Violence Prevention - Programme Manager
(Shared post Coventry City Council and West Midlands Police)

NB - Peter Hesketh (previous YJB Head of Innovation & engagement - Midlands) was a Board 
Member, but a replacement for the role has not yet been recruited. 

John Gregg (Chair)

Lisa Harris (Deputy Chair)

        
 

Chair of the Youth Panel

 Appendix - 53 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Appendix 1 – Management Board Membership

Sue Robertson 
(Observer)

Director of Commissioning, NHS Coventry and Warwickshire 
Clinical  Commissioning Group

Page 81



Appendix 2: Budget and Spend 2021/22

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

:
 

CYOS Finance Tables (2021/22)

 Appendix - 54 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23P
age 82



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 Appendix - 55 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Appendix 2: Budget and Spend 2021/22: CYOS Finance Tables (2021/22)

P
age 83



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

   

Appendix 3: Workforce Information

   

 Appendix - 56 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 84



       
   

       

 Appendix - 57 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 85



        
            

  

 
  

   

 Youth Offending Service 

 
Theme Purpose 

Context / 
Source 

Auditors   Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar   Comments 

 

Practice 
Observations 

Review the quality of child sessions.  

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

CYOS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

     x     x      x       

  

Frequency may be higher, dependent on audit learning. Individual 
learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader learning 
will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - Out 

of Court 
Disposals 

To test the application of Association of 
Chief Police Officers (ACPO) Gravity 
Matrix (2013) and the Youth Out of 
Court Disposals; Guide for Police and 
Youth Offending Services; are decisions 
in line with this and, where 
appropriate, appropriate escalation has 
taken place.  

HMIP Domain 
3 and 

National 
Standard 2/ 

ACPO 
Guidance  

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYOS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - 

PACE - 
Quarterly 

Board Report 

To test the application of the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 
(1984), are decision in line with this 
and, where appropriate, has sufficient 
challenge taken place.  

HMIP Domain 
2/3 and 
National 

Standard 2/3 
PACE (1984) 

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYOS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - 

Remands - 
Quarterly 

Board Report 

To test the application of Legal Aid 
Sentencing Punishment of Offender's 
Act (2012) - are decisions in line with 
the guidance and has the Service taken 
appropriate action to offer appropriate 
community measures, where 
appropriate. 

Legal Aid 
Sentencing 
Punishment 

of Offender's 
Act (2012)/ 

National 
Standard 4  

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYOS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - First 
Time Entrants 

- Quarterly 
Board Report 

To test the application of YJB and ACPO 
guidance, are decisions in line with 
guidance and do interventions reflect 
assessed need. 

ACPO 
Guidance/HM
IP Domain 1 
Governance 

Operational Lead 
 

CYOS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Youth Justice 
Board 

National 
Standard Self-

Assessment 
Actions 

Following implementation of new local 
case management guidance after the 
National Standards Self-Assessment, 
auditing of these areas to review 
regarding implementation.  
 
To test the application of recording 
guidance. 
 
Check learning has translated into 
practice, jargon free / non-stigmatising, 
appropriate use of statutory headings, 
and case notes reflects the 
voice/journey of the child, and the 
victim (where applicable).  
 
Non engagement: Is there clear 
evidence of timely responses to non-

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

CYOS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

     x     x      x      

  

Actions for National Standard progression covered in the 2021/22 Action 
Plan.   
 
Individual learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader 
learning will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

  
    
 

  
    
 

Appendix 4 – Quality Assurance Activity Schedule
  COVENTRY CHILDREN'S SERVICES - CYOS

Quality Assurance Activity Schedule: 1st April 2021– 31st March 2022

 Appendix - 58 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23P
age 86



engagement against national standards 
including warning letters, evidence of 
diversity being recognized and 
responded to in intervention planning. 
Engagement panels and each 
participant taking responsibility to 
agree actions to support engagement 
prior to instigating breach (other than 
in high risk cases where risk to public 
overrides some of the steps). 
 
  

 

Supervisions 
Annual Supervision Staff Review 

HMIP Domain 
1 Governance 

Operational Lead 

  

      
x
  

               
  

Any feedback to be provided direct to Team Manager and associated 
development actions monitored for completion through supervision.  

 

AssetPlus 
Timeliness 

To ensure assessments are timely, robust 
and reflect the voice, needs and current 
circumstances of the child, and victim, 
evidenced by direct work relevant to the 
child/child’s Intervention Plan.  
 
To ensure assessments explore, evidence, 
and analyses the impact/potential impact of 
the risks (3 Domains) and robustly detail 
multi-agency time-scaled assessment 
findings.  
 
To ensure assessment findings and actions 
required by who, and by when, are also 
strongly reflected within the Intervention 
Plan. Intervention Plans must be SMART, 
desistance based, reflect child’s and 
parents’ self-assessments, address relevant 
domains, and have an appropriate risk 
management plan within external controls, 
including those to protect the victim as 
appropriate.    

National 
Standard 2 

and 3 

CYOS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

            x         x 

  

This involves the use of an Assessment tool that assesses against the 
HMIP Quality Indicators. 
 
Any associated actions will be reviewed through Management Meetings 
and Service learning delivered through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

 

AssetPlus 
Quality 

Assurance 

All AssetPlus assessments to be quality 
assured and feedback provided where 
amendments are required. 
 
Timeliness of assessments reviewed 
through weekly CYOS Management 
Meeting.  

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

All CYOS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

x x x x x x x x x x x x 

  

Continually completed with timeliness tracked through CYOS 
Management Meetings on a weekly basis. Any associated actions will be 
reviewed through Management Meetings and Service learning delivered 
through practitioner’s monthly workshops. 

 

Missing 
Reporting 

All Missing Notifications provided to 
CYOS for relevant children and Return 
Home Interviews.  

National 
Standard 3  

 
Lead Manager 

  

  x     x     x     x   
  

Ongoing action being monitored on a quarterly basis through CYOS 
Management Meeting. 

 

Report 
Gatekeeping 

Quality Assurance for all Pre-Sentence 
Reports. 

National 
Standard 2 

and 4 

All CYOS Team 
Managers 

  

x x x x x x x x x x x x 

 

Continually completed with timeliness tracked through CYOS 
Management Meetings on a weekly basis. Any associated actions will be 
reviewed through Management Meetings and Service learning delivered 
through practitioner’s monthly workshops. 

 

Supervision 
Observations 

Observations of supervision to be 
undertaken (one per manager) 

HMIP Domain 
2 and 3 Operational Lead   

                  x     
  

Any feedback to be provided direct to Team Manager and associated 
development actions monitored for completion through supervision.  

 

Direct Work 
Observations 

Observations of practice to be 
undertaken (min one per staff member 
over 12month period) 

HMIP Domain 
2 and 3 

All CYOS 
Management 

  

                      x 
 

Individual learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader 
learning will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 
Higher frequency where needs identified and as part of other processes 
(for example, probation/induction period).   

 

 Appendix - 59 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 87



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 5- Performance Information

First Time Entrants Reoffending

                       

    

               
 

              

Table 1: FTEs per 100,000 of the 10-17 year old population, Coventry YOS 2017-21

Use of Custody

 

Table 2:Children/Young People reoffending within a year, Coventry YOS 2015-2019

Use of Remand

Table 3: Custodial sentences as a rate per 1,000 of the 10-17 year old population, 
Coventry YOS 2016-2021

Table 4: New remand episodes per 1,000 of the 10-17 year old population, Coventry 
YOS 2016-2021

Appendix - 60 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 88



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

             

  

Custody and Remand Accommodation

                

              
 

          

                                            

Table 5: New episodes of custody and remand, Coventry YOS 2016-21 (10-17 Year olds) 

Education, Training and Employment

 

             Table 8: Gender profile of children with proven offences, Coventry YOS 2020-21 Table 7: Engagement in suitable ETE by local assessment and by former YJB national
standard, 2017-21

Table 6: Suitable accommodation, Coventry YOS 2017-21

Gender

Appendix - 61 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

P
age 89



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

             

  

          

Offences

        Table 9: Offences by offence type, Coventry YOS 2016-2021

 Appendix - 62 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23P
age 90



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Ethnicity

                                                                            Table 10: Ethnic profile of young people with proven offences, open to Coventry YOS 31/03/2021       

                                                       Table 12: Over and Under Representation by Ethnicity as per Table 10 and 11 data                                                         Table 13:Relative representation in custodial sentencing

 Appendix - 63 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Table 11: Ethnic profile of young people in Coventry Secondaries

P
age 91



       

………………………………………………….… (Signature)

John Gregg - Director of Children’s Services for Coventry 

      

 

          

………………………………………………….… (Signature)

Andrew Wade - Head of Service for NPS, Coventry, Solihull & Warwickshire Cluster, 
Midlands Division 

   

           
  

………………………………………………….… (Signature)

Paul Southe-rn Chief Inspector, Crime Manager, Coventry Neighbourhood Policing Unit

       

………………………………………………….… (Signature)

Matthew Gilks - Director of Commissioning, NHS Coventry and Warwickshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Appendix 6 – Management Board sign off page

 Appendix - 64 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Page 92



65

       

  

CAMHS Children and Adolescent Mental Health 
Service 

CBO’s Criminal Behaviour Orders

CBT Cognitive behaviour Therapy

CDQR Community Division Quarterly Review

CHAT Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool

CIN Child in Need

CJS Criminal Justice System

CP Child Protection

CR Community Resolution

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

COMG Coventry Offender Management Group

CYOS Coventry Youth Offending Service

DVA Domestic Violence and Abuse

       

   

 Appendix - 65 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Appendix 7 – Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations

CAF Common Assessment Framework

Page 93



ECR Enhanced Community Resolution

EHC Education Health + Care Plans

EIP Early Intervention Strategy + Plan

ETE Education, Training and Employment

FTE       
                                                             

HMIP Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation

HOS Head of Service

IOM Integrated Offender Management

IYSS Integrated Youth Support Service

JAC Junior Attendance Centre

LAC Looked After Children

LGA Local Government Association

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection 

Arrangements

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub

First Time Entrants (to the Youth Justice 
System)

 Appendix - 66 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Page 94



MoJ Ministry of Justice

MST Multi-Systemic Therapy

NEET Not in Education, Training or Employment

OCGS Organised Crime Groups

OOCD Out-of-Court Disposal

OPCC Office of the Police Crime Commissioner

PACE Police and Criminal Evidence

PBR Payment by Results

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner

PNC Police National Computer

PPRC People Posing Risk to Children

RJ Restorative Justice

SEN Special Educational Needs

STC Secure Training Centre

 Appendix - 67 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Page 95



T2 Adult Transition to Adulthood Programme

USG Urban Street Gangs

WMCA West Midlands Combined Authority

YJB Youth Justice Board

YJS Youth Justice System

YODOC Youth One Day One Conversation

YOI Youth Offending Institute

YOT Youth Offending Team

Appendix - 68 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23

Page 96



                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

1 
 

Title of EIA Coventry City Council’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 
2021-23 

EIA Author Name                  Nick Jeffreys 

 Position  Operational Lead – Coventry Youth Offending Service – Help 
& Protection, Children’s Services 

 Date of 
completion 

4th Aug 2021 

Head of Service Name Nick Jeffreys 

 Position Operational Lead – Coventry Youth Offending Service – Help 
& Protection, Children’s Services 

Cabinet Member Name Cllr Pat Seaman 

 Portfolio Children and Young People 

 
 

 
 

PLEASE REFER TO EIA GUIDANCE FOR ADVICE ON COMPLETING THIS FORM 
 

SECTION 1 – Context & Background 

 

1.1 Please tick one of the following options:  

This EIA is being carried out on: 
 

☐New policy / strategy 

☐New service 

☒Review of policy / strategy 

EIA

•Having identified an EIA is required, ensure that the EIA form is completed as early as possible.

•Any advice or guidance can be obtained by contacting Jaspal Mann (Equalities) or Hannah Watts 
(Health Inequalities)

Sign Off

•Brief the relevant Head of Service/Director/Elected Member for sign off

•Have the EIA Form ready for consultation if it is required

•Amend according to consultation feedback and brief decision makers of any changes

Action

•Implement project / changes or finalise policy/strategy/contract

•Monitor equalities impact and mitigations as evidence of duty of care

Page 97

https://coventrycc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/cvjma120_coventry_gov_uk/Documents/EIAs/New%20folder/FINAL%20EIA%20Guidance%20May%2021.pdf


                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

2 
 

☐Review of service 

☐Commissioning  

☐Other project (please give details) 

1.2 In summary, what is the background to this EIA?   

Local authorities have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth justice (YJ) plan relating to their 
provision of youth justice services. Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth 
offending partnership’s responsibilities in producing a plan. It states that it is the duty of each local 
authority, after consultation with the partner agencies, to formulate and implement an annual 
youth justice plan, setting out: 
 
• how youth justice services in their area are to be provided and funded 
• how the youth offending team (YOT) or equivalent service will be composed and funded, how it will 
operate, and what functions it will carry out. 
 
This plan outlines the priorities for Youth Justice Services in Coventry over the next 2 years following on 
from the self-evaluation against key performance indicators, and consultations with the partnership, 
children/families and the team. This framed the formation of Coventry Youth Offending Service Vision, a 
local adaption of the Youth Justice Board's 'Child First, Offender Second' approach. This plan builds upon an 
improvement plan formed following the self-assessment against the national standards for youth justice 
services, as well as consolidating approaches taken during the Covid 19 pandemic and the plan detailed in 
last year's Contingency and Recovery Plan. 
 
CYOS Vision and Priorities: 

 

Page 98



                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

3 
 

 

1.3 Who are the main stakeholders involved?  Who will be affected?  

CYOS is a multi-agency team with a Management Board that includes key stakeholder partners and 
includes statutory partners in the Local Authority, Police, Probation and Health, alongside the Youth 
Panel Chair for Coventry and Warwickshire Courts, Service Manager for Positive Choices (Substance 
Misuse Agency), Operations Manager for Coventry & Warwickshire Prospects Service, and the 
Programme Manager for the Violence Reduction Unit, alongside attendance from relevant Secure 
Estates, Chair of the Coventry Youth Partnership and agencies as required for updates. 
 
The plan is jointly formed by the team, Management Board and engagement with children/young people 
and parents/carers open to the Service.  
 

 
1.4 Who will be responsible for implementing the findings of this EIA?  

 
Nick Jeffreys, Operational lead  
 

 
 

SECTION 2 – Consideration of Impact 

Refer to guidance note for more detailed advice on completing this section.  
 
 In order to ensure that we do not discriminate in the way our activities are designed, developed, and 

delivered, we must look at our duty to: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conflict that is prohibited 
by the Equality Act 2010 

• Advance equality of opportunity between two persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not  

 
2.1 Baseline data and information  

Please include a summary of data analysis below, using both your own service level management 
information and also drawing comparisons with local data where necessary (go to 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/factsaboutcoventry) 

 

• Page 21 of the plan details the services demographic picture: 

Page 99

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/factsaboutcoventry


                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

4 
 

There is an over-representation of White British, Black and Mixed Heritage children in the YOS cohort, and a 
large under-representation of Asian children. The groupings used as per defined by the Youth Justice Board 
for aggregated national comparisons. The ethnic makeup of the group was 53% White British, 9% White 
Ethnic Minority, 17% Black, 3% Asian, 14% Mixed Heritage, and 4% Refused or Unknown. As of January 
2021, Coventry secondary schools had a population makeup of 47% White British, 9% White Ethnic 
Minority, 13% Black, 21% Asian, 7% Mixed Heritage, 2% Chinese / Other, and 1.0%.  
 
Plan link to be added once published.  
 

• page 22 there is an explicit section looking at disproportionality with a particular focus on children 
sentenced to custody and ethnicity 

 
For children receiving custodial sentences, children identified as Black or Mixed Heritage' were significantly 
overrepresented. Although findings were consistent with the mentioned YJB report 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ethnic-disproportionality-in-remand-and-sentencing-in-
the-youth-justice-system), in that disposal outcomes were proportionate with offence type, circumstances, 
and pre-convictions, there remains work to understand the overrepresentation with this group; this is why 
disproportionately remains a priority across the next two years, and is a standing agenda item at 
Management Board. There is further data analysis information available on page 62 of the plan, which 
details over and under representation by ethnicity for the YOS cohort (compared to second school 
ethnicity data) and children sentenced to custody.  

 
Based on this evidence, addressing disproportionality is identified as a key priority area with an 
improvement/business plan specific to this on pages 51 and 52.  
 
Actions are: 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ethnic-disproportionality-in-remand-and-sentencing-in-the-youth-justice-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ethnic-disproportionality-in-remand-and-sentencing-in-the-youth-justice-system


                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
2.2 On the basis of evidence, complete the table below to show what the potential impact is for each of 

the protected groups. 
  

• Positive impact (P),  

• Negative impact (N)   

• Both positive and negative impacts (PN) 

• No impact (NI) 

• Insufficient data (ID) 
 

*Any impact on the Council workforce should be included under question 2.6 – not below 
 

Page 101



                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

6 
 

Protected  
Characteristic 

Impact 
type 

P, N, PN, 
NI or ID 

Nature of impact and any mitigations required 
 

Age 0-18 P 
The strategy and plan seek to outline how the Service will deliver on 
the CYOS vision, which will see the delivery of the service putting 
children at the centre of decision making.  

Age 19-64 NI 
 
 

Age 65+ NI 
 
 

Disability P 

The improvement plan details much activity around ensuring 
appropriate health and education support for children, with a 
specific plan around improving the access to Speech and Language 
Therapists. 
 

Gender 
reassignment 

P 
The improvement plan details activity to support children in 
recognising and responding to a child’s unique identity, including 
gender and gender reassignment.  

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

NI 
 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

P 

The improvement plan includes a specific project around responding 
to girls within the youth justice system, which will explicitly consider 
support around pregnancy and maternity.  
 

Race (Including: 
colour, nationality, 
citizenship ethnic or 
national origins) 

P 

The service has commissioned a disproportionality project looking 
largely ethnic disproportionality and the business/improvement plan 
pages 51/52 details this.  

Religion and belief  P 
The improvement plan details activity to support children in 
recognising and responding to a child’s unique identity, including 
region and belief.  

Sex P 

The plan on pages 51/52 details a current regional project looking at 
how YOTs can best respond to the needs of girls within the criminal 
justice system. The overrepresentation of boys to girls is reflective of 
the national youth justice system – comparative national data is 
available through the Youth Justice Board’s Youth Justice Application 
Framework.  
 

Page 102



                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

7 
 

Sexual orientation P 
The improvement plan details activity to support children in 
recognising and responding to a child’s unique identity, including 
sexual orientation.  

 
 
HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
 
 

2.3 Health inequalities (HI) are unjust differences in health and wellbeing between different groups of 
people which arise because of the conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work and age. These 
conditions influence our opportunities for good health, and result in stark differences in how long 
we live and how many years we live in good health.   
 
Many issues can have an impact: income, unemployment, work conditions, education and skills, 
our living situation, individual characteristics, and experiences, such as age, gender, disability, and 
ethnicity 
 
A wide range of services can make a difference to reducing health inequalities. Whether you work 
with children and young people, design roads or infrastructure, support people into employment 
or deal with welfare benefits – policy decisions and strategies can help to reduce health 
inequalities 
 
Please answer the questions below to help identify if the area of work will have any impact on 
health inequalities, positive or negative. 
 
If you need assistance in completing this section please contact: Hannah Watts  
(hannah.watts@coventry.gov.uk) in Public Health for more information. More details and worked 
examples can be found at https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/Info/Pages/What-is-an-Equality-
Impact-Assessment-(EIA).aspx  

Question Issues to consider  

2.3a What HIs exist in 
relation to your work 
/ plan / strategy 

• Explore existing data sources on the distribution of health across different 
population groups (examples of where to find data to be included in support 
materials)  

• Consider protected characteristics and different dimensions of HI such as socio-
economic status or geographical deprivation  

 
 

Response: 
The strategy outlines an improvement plan, which will aim to improve service 
delivery to children and support more children to improved outcomes and 
desistance, including addressing structural barriers and inequalities.  
 

Page 103

mailto:hannah.watts@coventry.gov.uk
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/Info/Pages/What-is-an-Equality-Impact-Assessment-(EIA).aspx
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/Info/Pages/What-is-an-Equality-Impact-Assessment-(EIA).aspx


                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

8 
 

 
 

2.3b How might your 
work affect HI 
(positively or 
negatively). 
 
How might your work 
address the needs of 
different groups that 
share protected 
characteristics 

Consider and answer below: 

• Think about whether outcomes vary across groups and who benefits the most 
and least, for example, the outcome for a woman on a low income may be 
different to the outcome for a woman a high income 

• Consider what the unintended consequences of your work might be 

Response: 
 
The progression of the plan is expected to positively impact in the 
intergenerational transmission of ecological factors for families and a whole 
family offer will be made where parenting support is identified, through the CYOS 
Parenting Lead. The assessment framework used for all children takes a whole 
system approach and supports in identifying areas of structural inequality, which 
will then be addressed via a child’s intervention plan.  
 

The plan outlines how children within the youth justice system are a group of 
children who have experienced trauma, and this has been outlined within the 
Punishing Abuse Report as detailed on page 21: 
 
Punishing Abuse Report- 2021(1) 
The report presents the findings of a targeted review of 80 children across 11 
authorities in the West Midlands (including Coventry) and West Mercia. The 
research began in 2018 co-funded by the West Midlands Combined Authority and 
West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and has identified 
recommendations across the sector and those relevant to CYOS are reflected in 
the 2021-23 business and improvement plan. The report starkly highlights how 
children in the youth justice system have experienced early childhood abuse, loss, 
and structural inequalities. 
 
There is a specific priority on resettlement and looking at the whole system 
response to children exiting custody; it is expected that actions, as per the 
improvement plan, will support in this area of development. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 104



                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

9 
 

2.4  Next steps - What specific actions will you take to address the potential equality impacts and health 
inequalities identified above? 

Actions outlined in the improvement and business plan.  

 

2.5 How will you monitor and evaluate the effect of this work? 

 
Progression of the plan is monitored/evaluated via the quarterly CYOS Management Board through a 
quarterly update paper prepared by Nick Jeffreys Operational Lead for CYOS; the Management Board is 
made up of statutory and non-statutory leads who oversee the youth justice services within Coventry. 
The plan is also tracked operationally via CYOS’s Management Meeting, which includes statutory 
partners.   
 
 

 
2.6   Will there be any potential impacts on Council staff from protected groups?  

 
The plan outlines CYOS’s current workforce demographic and a graphic is viewable on page 54, with 
actions on pages 49, 50 and 51. Pages 16/17 of the plan detail progressive actions over the last year 
and a link to the plan will be added once published.    
 

You should only include the following data if this area of work will potentially have an impact on Council 
staff. This can be obtained from: lucille.buckley@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Headcount: 
 
Sex:        Age:  
 

Female  

 Male  

 
Disability: 
 

Disabled  

Not Disabled  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

 
Ethnicity:       Religion: 

16-24  

25-34  

35-44  

45-54  

55-64  

65+  

Any other  

Page 105

mailto:lucille.buckley@coventry.gov.uk


                                       EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)       

 
 

 

10 
 

 

White  

Black, Asian, Minority 
Ethnic 

 

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

 
Sexual Orientation:  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.0 Completion Statement 
 

As the appropriate Head of Service for this area, I confirm that the potential equality impact is as 
follows: 
 

No impact has been identified for one or more protected groups             ☐ 
 

Positive impact has been identified for one or more protected groups      ☒ 
 

Negative impact has been identified for one or more protected groups    ☐ 
 

Both positive and negative impact has been identified for one or more protected groups     ☐                                                                                           

 
4.0 Approval 

Signed: Head of Service: 
 

 

Date:  
 
27.08.2021 

Name of Director: 
John Gregg 
 

Date sent to Director: 
27.08.2021 

Name of Lead Elected Member: 
Councillor P Seaman 
 

Date sent to Councillor: 
27.08.2021 

 
Email completed EIA to equality@coventry.gov.uk  

Buddhist  

Christian  

Hindu  

Jewish  

Muslim  

No religion  

Sikh  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  
Heterosexual  

LGBT+  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

Page 106

mailto:equality@coventry.gov.uk


  
Public report 

Cabinet Report 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

                               
 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) 29 September 2021 
Cabinet 12 October 2021 
                                                                                                    
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Adult Services – Councillor M Mutton 
 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Director of Adult Services 
 
Ward(s) affected:  
All 
 
Title: 
Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
 
No - This is a report of performance for 2020/21 and no recommendations are made that have 

significant financial or service implications.  
 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (also referred to as 
the Local Account) describes the performance of Adult Social Care and the progress made against 
the priorities for the year.  It also provides specific examples of the operational activities to support 
service users and carers.  
 
Although there is not a statutory requirement to produce an annual report, it is considered good 
practice as it provides an opportunity to be open and transparent about the successes and 
challenges facing Adult Social Care and to show what is being done to improve outcomes for those 
that come into contact with our services. The production of an annual report is part of the Local 
Government Association’s (LGA) approach to Sector Led Improvement.  This approach was 
launched following the removal of national targets and assessments for Adult Social Care.  It should 
however be noted that the government has announced an intention for a formal oversight regime 
for Adult Social Care to be introduced, led by the Care Quality Commission.  No detail or specific 
timescales have been set for this, but the indication is that a move away from Sector Led 
Improvement will be forthcoming. 
 
The production of the 2020/21 report has drawn on the pool of feedback and information that was 
gathered over the year from a range of sources including social care staff, Adult Social Care 
Stakeholder Reference Group, providers, partner organisations and people that have been in 
contact with Adult Social Care along with their families and carers. It reflects the performance and 
activities throughout the main period of the COVID-19 pandemic to date. 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



 

                                     
 

The Local Account also looks forward to 2021/22 and includes summary details regarding key 
areas for improvement. These are improvements the service intends to look at to achieve better 
service delivery, improve outcomes for people and supporting our ability to operate within the 
resources available.  The priority is to improve care and support services for adults and in doing 
so to create a stable provider market for the city, within the context of the Adult Social Care 
reforms recently announced.      
 

Recommendations: 
 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) is asked to: 
 

1) Consider the report and submit any comments to Cabinet for their consideration on the 
content of the report. 

 
Cabinet is asked to: 

 
1) Consider comments from the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5).  
 
2) Approve the Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 

(Local Account). 
 

 
List of Appendices included: 

 
Appendix One - Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local 
Account) 
 
Background papers: 
  
None 
 
Other useful documents: 
 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
Yes – Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) on 29 September 2021 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



 

                                     
 

 
Report title: Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local 
Account) 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1. The Local Government Association (LGA) launched its approach to Sector Led Improvement 

in 2011. This approach was introduced following the removal of national targets and 
assessments with the aim of driving improvement through self-regulation, improvement and 
innovation. As part of this approach to Sector Led Improvement the expectation is that an 
Annual Report is produced by all local authorities with Adult Social Care responsibilities.  The 
production of an Annual Report is not a statutory requirement, nor has any statutory guidance 
been issued on its content or style. The government plans however to reintroduce oversight 
of Local Authority Adult Social Care functions by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
although no confirmed date exists for this to be introduced. In its NHS reform White Paper, 
the government has proposed introducing a duty through the Health and Care Bill, in which 
the CQC would be responsible for assessing Local Authorities’ delivery of their adult social 
care functions.  The Bill is currently progressing through Parliament.   

 
1.2. The Annual Report describes the performance and achievements along with considering the 

challenges for Adult Social Care in Coventry. It is intended to provide assurance to 
stakeholders that Adult Social Care is delivering its objectives and is achieving positive 
outcomes for people in Coventry within the resources available.   

 
1.3. The content of the Annual Report is informed by feedback on the experiences of people who 

come into contact with Adult Social Care, this feedback may be given in person, through 
groups or in response to surveys.   A number of more specific case studies and direct quotes 
have been used to demonstrate the impact that Adult Social Care has on individuals and 
their families. Those who have commented on previous reports have consistently stated that 
case studies are an important aspect of the report, as they help to demonstrate outcomes for 
individuals and the difference it has made to their lives. 

 
1.4. Although an Annual Report is produced for a 12-month period it needs to be recognised that 

the work of Adult Social Care does not fit neatly within a twelve-month period and delivery of 
the Adult Social Care objective of promoting independence and providing personalised care 
and support is very much an ongoing endeavour. 

 
1.5. The Annual Report reflects on the work during the financial year (April 2020 to March 2021) 

which included the full year impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of COVID-19 has 
been significant to Adult Social Care and we started to see real impact from the end of 
February 2020.  

 
1.6. As we moved into 2021/22 we started to see demand for Adult Social Care return to pre 

pandemic levels with potential additional pressures associated with the detrimental impact of 
social isolation on mental health, wellbeing and social skills. We are also experiencing people 
presenting to us with higher levels of need and approaching social care at a later stage than 
was the case pre-pandemic. We also know that unpaid carers have seen their caring roles 
intensify and have been placed under increased pressures during the last year which has 
had an impact on the emotional and physical health of carers across the city.  The Enhanced 
Support to Carers implemented in September 2020 aimed to mitigate some of the impact on 
carers.   

 

Page 109

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf


 

                                     
 

1.7. Although the challenges presented by COVID-19 now and into the future are significant they 
are not the only challenges we face and some of the key challenges we are continuing to 
address include:   

 

• Increasing demand for services resulting from an ageing population. In a decade, by 
2029, the city should expect to have an additional 8,900 people aged over 65 and an 
additional 2,000 people aged over 85. This group of people are more likely to live with 
multiple health conditions that require support.  

• Increasing numbers of adults with mental illness accessing long term support (with a 
now additional impact due to COVID-19). 

• Increasing costs of care due to external factors including National Living Wage, 
increases to employer pension contributions and the increased complexity of the care 
needs that people are experiencing 

• Challenges to maintaining sufficiency and quality of the adult social care market 
especially given the impact of Covid-19 on the sustainability of some provision brought 
about by a combination of factors including heightened requirements for infection 
control, fluctuating demand and the presence of short term grants. 

 
1.8. The production of the 2020/21 Annual Report has drawn on the pool of feedback and 

information gathered over the year from a range of sources including social care staff, , Adult 
Social Care Stakeholder Group, providers, partner organisations and people that have been 
in contact with Adult Social Care, along with their families and carers. Particular feedback to 
note includes: 

 

• Our work with Sarah (pages 22-23 of the Annual Report) demonstrating how we use 
legal frameworks to help people gain control of their lives and stay out of mental health 
hospital with a clear focus on what’s important to the person. 

• The work of our joint commissioning team, how we supported care providers across the 
City during the COVID-19 pandemic and how providers themselves responded when 
facing unprecedented challenges (pages 35-37 of the Annual Report). 

 
1.9. A lot of our ongoing improvement work was impacted on due to COVID-19 but the changing 

circumstances has enabled us to make progress in a number of these areas, for example: 
 

• Use of technology:  Our use of technology to support our assessment activity has grown 
significantly, for a period of time it was our primary means of engagement with service 
users until restrictions were lifted.  Whereas the majority of our work was completed face 
to face doing things remotely has been taken forward wherever possible.  This work is 
aligned with health partners as we jointly develop approaches to the remote monitoring 
of service users. As we progress achieving the right blend of technology and face to face 
contact will be required to ensure we continue to engage with people in a way that is 
both safe and effective recognising the legitimacy of both approaches.  For our financial 
assessments a switch to remote completion has become the normal way of operating.  
There is of course the opportunity to see people face to face on an exception basis but 
this has only been required in 2 out of approximately 2000 financial assessments 
implemented over this period. 
 

• Promoting Independence:  We have developed a new approach to support people with 
mental ill health.  We call this SICoL (Social Interventions Collective).  This brings 
together some key services involved in mental health support to promote independence 
and avoid hospital or residential care admissions during a mental health crisis.  The 
approach is centred on enabling people to take back control of their lives through working 

Page 110



 

                                     
 

together to find solutions. What started as a group of passionate professionals working 
together to try something different has been recognised for its impact and has attracted 
3-year grant funding to develop the approach further (pages 16-18 of annual report). 
 

1.10. The annual report provides an important opportunity to reflect back on the previous year, and 
this, combined with the insights gained during the COVID-19 pandemic provide a good 
foundation for where we focus future improvement work. As we continue to improve, the 
priority remains supporting people to live independently in their communities. We will work 
with communities to develop our use of Care Technology to ensure Coventry residents 
benefit from the growing digital opportunities presented.  
 

1.11. Our ability to deliver this requires a strength-based approach to how we deliver our work with 
people with care and support needs and their family carers, including a diverse and 
sustainable market for care and support within the City to draw on.  It is also important to 
recognise that although our focus is on Adult Social Care our success is increasingly 
intertwined with our health partners. New partnerships ‘Integrated Care Systems’ (ICS) will 
bring together; Acute, Community Health Trusts, GPs, Primary Care services with Local 
Authorities and other care providers. These aim to bring organisations together to redesign, 
improve support and outcomes for residents. 

 
1.12. We are continually seeking to improve and have developed a Performance Management and 

Quality Improvement Framework. This framework seeks to ensure a single approach to 
understanding how well our services are doing, checking impact, outcomes, and learning 
from what we find to guide improvement plans and actions to support. These plans ensure 
we are working to address any issues but also provide insights into how our service model 
may need to adapt to meet changing demand. For example, investigation into levels of 
admissions into residential care for younger people with mental health problems will be 
addressed by revisiting our accommodation-based support for this client group. 

 
1.13. Moving forward we will continue to frame our service wide development work and models of 

support in the following four areas and we have been and will continue to engage 
stakeholders in this work as we develop to help ensure we are focusing our efforts on the 
areas of highest impact. 
 

• Our Promoting Independence Model 
We remain committed to our prime service objective to promote independence where 
possible.  We now want to explore the possibility of where added impact can be achieved 
through combining our resources with those of partners in the City to support people to 
prevent deterioration and to actively support themselves as much as possible. This 
means looking first at what people can do with their skills, resources, relationships and 
their communities and understanding more from people as to what contributed to a 
positive experience so that this can be extended. 
 
We are continuing to develop our models of support, evidenced through the work of the 
Social Interventions Collective (SICoL) (1.9 above). 

 

• Accommodation Offer 
Our continued commitment to support people at home remains a priority.  However, 
when an alternative is required, we seek to ensure this offers the best opportunity for 
reablement and promoting independence.  We want to ensure the accommodation offer 
in the City is relevant to the lives of those who may require both accommodation and 
support.  We can achieve this by encouraging and supporting the development of 

Page 111



 

                                     
 

facilities within the City offering provision for people to live as independently as possible.   
In doing so feedback from those who are or want their care and support needs met within 
the appropriate housing setting is critical.       
 
We have continued to make improvements to our own internal provision (page 43 of the 
Annual Report).  In 2020/21 we also commenced work on a Market Development Plan 
for Mental Health Accommodation.  This plan complements our existing market 
development plan for provision catering for the needs of adults with learning disabilities 
and/or autism and finalised and approved by Cabinet Member in September 2021. 
 

• Locally Based Support 
We will continue to work with the local care provider market to help this important market 
remain stable and robust, with appropriate quality standards and costs. This may entail 
the loss of some less sustainable provision, especially in the care home market and 
replacement with more modern facilities. We do however also want to develop 
opportunities to connect the formal care market with local communities to strengthen our 
model of supporting people at home whilst including a focus on accessing support and 
resources available in the local area.   
 
We are developing new working relationships with partners such as CV Life following 
the success of support provided to those shielding during the pandemic and are further 
enhancing the support provided to carers (page 20 of the Annual Report) 
 

• Digital Technology and Innovation  
In order to maintain and develop modern, person centred services, we will use 
technology enabled care opportunities and ensure our workforce is equipped with 
technology to work agilely and support people effectively.  We will focus on self-service 
wherever possible, giving people the opportunity to access adult social care support on 
their terms, at a time and place of their choosing. Having a complete offer that is tailored, 
as much as is reasonably possible, to the needs of individuals is important. We will work 
with care technology suppliers to develop our approach to integrating technology into 
our resident’s care journey. Where appropriate this will be undertaken in partnership with 
health teams to ensure a consistent and integrated offer. 
 
Recognising that digital services are not appropriate for all we want to develop our 
approach in a way that remains flexible enough for us to respond to people with care 
and support needs and their carers when they need us. Working across the City Council 
we will seek to  address issues of Digital Inclusion to ensure our residents are able to 
access digital support and services. 
 
We continue to develop our use of technology and have plans for the adoption of new 
digital approaches and tools to support staff and people accessing our services (page 
33 of the Annual Report). 

 
1.14. In pursuing the above improvement themes, we must however acknowledge that the work 

required to implement the reforms for Adult Social Care announced on 7 September 2021 
will be extensive and therefore likely to require significant resource to implement. 
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 

2.1. An Annual Report provides the opportunity to evidence and communicate Adult Social Care's 
performance in an accessible and transparent way as part of an overall approach to Sector 

Page 112



 

                                     
 

Led Improvement.  It is therefore recommended that the Annual Report for 2020/21 is 
approved by the Cabinet. 

 
3. Results of Consultation undertaken 
 
3.1. Although the Annual Report for 2020/21 was not subject to specific consultation, the content 

has been drawn from feedback gathered from people who come into contact with Adult Social 
Care together with comments from other partner organisations and stakeholders in the City.  
The care studies contained therein are real stories provided with the consent of those 
involved. 
 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1. Once approved, the Annual Report will be published on the Council's internet pages and 

shared with partners and stakeholders.  Improvement work has continued through 2020/21 
and the pace and focus of this continues to be impacted by COVID-19.   

 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1. Financial implications 
 

Whilst there are no direct financial implications arising from the production of the report, the 
performance of Adult Social Care continues to be impacted by changes to Council resources 
and national legislation changes. 

 
The report highlights the £103.2m Adult Social Care Spend in 2020/21 compared to 
equivalent spend of £95m in 2019/20, with the increase largely driven by additional resources 
provided to the care market in response to the pandemic. This increase has been resourced 
from additional Council investment in Adult Social Care identified in the Budget report as well 
as extra grant resources received from Government during the pandemic.  
 

5.2. Legal implications 
 
 There are no direct legal implications arising from the publication of the Annual Report.   

 
The publication of the report is in accordance with the 2011 Department of Health 
recommendation that all local authorities’ Adult Social Care directorates publish an Annual 
Report. This shows how the Local Authority performed against quality standards, and what 
plans have been agreed with local people for the future. The proposals for change as set out 
in the Health and Care Bill and referenced above, requiring inspection by CQC of a local 
authority’s performance of its social care functions, are yet to be approved by Parliament.   

 
6. Other Implications 
 
6.1. How will this contribute to the Council's Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 
 
6.2. This Annual Report demonstrates the progress of Adult Social Care in maintaining and 

improving outcomes for the population of Coventry. This progress contributes to the Council's 
objectives of citizens living longer, healthier, independent lives and contributes to the 
priorities in the Council Plan to protect the city's most vulnerable people. 

 
 

Page 113

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

                                     
 

6.3. How is risk being managed? 
 
A range of risks exist in the delivery of Adult Social Care services, most notably related to 
resources and our ability to meet demand.  These are managed through the directorate and 
corporate risk registers.   

 
6.4. What is the impact on the organisation? 

 
There is no direct impact on the organisation.   

 
6.5. Equality/Equality Impact Assessments (EIA)  

 
An Equalities Impact Assessment is not appropriate for this report. There has been a 
continued drive to embed equality and diversity within operational practice, commissioning 
plans and performance monitoring. 
 

6.6. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 

 None 
 

6.7. Implications for partner organisations? 
 

 There are no specific impacts for partner organisations arising from this report at this point 
but as the work of Adult Social Care is connected to health organisations and the voluntary 
and community sector as we seek to improve impacts may be experienced. The Annual 
Report provides an overview of Adult Social Care's performance and provides assurance to 
partners that progress in being made.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

                                     
 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Andrew Errington 
Adults Principal Social Worker 
 
Service: 
Adult Services  
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 1542 
Email: andrew.errington@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service  Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Andrew Errington Adults Principal Social 
Worker 

Adult Services 09.08.21 09.08.21 

Lisa Lawson Adult Services 
Programme Delivery 
Manager  

Adult Services 10.08.21 10.08.21 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer  

Law and 
Governance 

11.08.21 11.08.21 

Liz Knight  Governance Services 
Officer  

Law and 
Governance  

10.08.21 11.08.21 

Sally Caren Head of Social Work- 
Mental Health and 
Sustainability 

Adult Services 10.08.21 23.08.21 

Marc Greenwood Head of Business 
Systems 

Adult Services 10.08.21 17.08.21 

Jon Reading Head of Commissioning 
and Provision 

Adult Services 10.08.21 17.08.21 

Ewan Dewar Finance Manager Finance 10.08.21 17.08.21 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(Officers and Members) 

    

Barry Hastie Director of Finance - 10.08.21 06.09.21 

Janice White Team Leader, Legal 
Services 

Law and 
Governance 

10.08.21 16.08.21 

Pete Fahy Director of Adult 
Services 

- 07.09.21 07.09.21 

Councillor M Mutton  Cabinet Member for 
Adult Services 

- 08.09.21 09.09.21 

 
This report is published on the Council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 115

mailto:andrew.errington@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



24 Hours in the Life of 
Adult Social Care

People’s Stories

COVENTRY

Our Key  
Achievements

Adult Social Care
Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) 

Page 117



 

Page 118



 

Contents
What is the Local Account? ...................................4

COVID-19 & Adult Social Care .............................5

Foreword .................................................................6

Introduction to Adult Social Care .........................9

Adult Social Care Vision ..................................... 10

24 Hours in the Life of ........................................ 11 
Adult Social Care

Setting the Scene - Adult Social  ....................... 12 
Care in a Changing Landscap

Key Achievements – Based on  .......................... 16 
the Adult Social Care Vision and  
our Priorities for 2020/21
 Adults and carers at the heart of  ....................16 
 everything we do

 High quality, person centred and  ..................18 
 effective support 

	 Reflective	and	responsive	to	change..............20 

 Outcome driven and meaningful ....................22 
 Support around people and ............................24  
 their families 

 Effective enablement, prevention ...................26 
 and wellbeing

 Mature partnerships  ........................................28

 Committed workforce ......................................30

 Innovative ...........................................................32

 High performing ...............................................34

Performance Matters........................................... 38

Celebrating Our Own Strengths -  .................... 40 
Awards and Good News

What’s Next? - Key Improvement ..................... 44 
Themes for Adult Social Care 2021/22

Glossary ................................................................ 45

Useful Contacts .................................................... 46

Page 119



What is the Local 
Account?
Every year Coventry City Council produces 
a report which describes what Adult Social 
Care is doing to help improve the lives of 
vulnerable people and how well as a service 
it is performing along with areas where we 
are seeking to improve further. This report is 
usually referred to as the ‘Local Account’ but is 
also referred to as the ‘Annual Report’ for Adult 
Social Care. 
We	hope	you	find	this	account	interesting	and	
that it provides you with an insight into Adult 
Social Care in Coventry and the work that is 
being done to support improvements.  

4

Page 120



5

COVID-19 & Adult 
Social Care
We could not write a Local Account reflecting 
back on 2020/21 without mentioning the 
impact Coronavirus (COVID-19) has had on 
the work of Adult Social Care and how it has 
dominated our work during this year. It has 
been a year unlike any previously experienced 
as such this Local Account needs to be viewed 
through the lens of a year unlike any other.

When the pandemic commenced, Adult Social 
Care needed to adapt quickly to continue 
to deliver most of our responsibilities for 
assessment and safeguarding through digital 
means while ensuring we continued to 
undertake face to face work where this was 
required. As we progress through continuing to 
live with COVID-19, we will increasingly blend 
the use of technology with face-to-face work.  
This blended approach has proved successful 
in a number of cases and is an approach we 
will	continue	to	refine.	We	did,	however,	have	
significant	challenges	in	respect	of	care	capacity	
during	the	first	wave	of	the	pandemic	and	
were one of only six local authorities nationally 
to activate the Care Act Easements due to a 
shortage of care and support staff early in the 
pandemic and the resulting need to prioritise 
our work. This required us to temporarily reduce 
our approach to Promoting Independence and 
simply ‘get care to people’, reassigning staff from 
day centre activity to other services. 

Although the pandemic has impacted 
significantly	on	Adult	Social	Care	it	has	not	
changed the essence of what we do, which 
continues to be supporting people to live 
as independently as possible within their 
communities.

During 2020/21 demand for social care has not 
been like a usual year, as a result of; furlough, 
stay at home guidance, the requirement to limit 
face to face contact with people outside of your 
household or bubble, there was an increased 
tendency to not seek care and support services.  
In addition, the group most impacted by the 
pandemic were those with vulnerabilities.  
These factors combined meant that demand 
for Adult Social Care and the number of people 
supported reduced.   

However, as we moved into 2021/22 we started 
to see demand for Adult Social Care increase 
and the indication of a return to pre pandemic 
levels. Indications are however that alongside 
the support with activities of daily living that 
make up most of our referrals, more people 
are presenting with a combination of issues 
associated with the detrimental impact of social 
isolation on mental health, wellbeing and social 
skills. People are also now approaching social 
care at a later stage in their care journey than 
would normally have been the case, with higher 
levels of need.

Unpaid carers have also seen their caring roles 
intensify and have been placed under increased 
pressures during 2020/21. This will have had 
an impact on the emotional and physical health 
of carers across the city which again is placing 
demand into Adult Social Care.  Page 121



6

despite the many challenges of the year, still 
evidences improvements made in Adult Social 
Care and the impact on people as a result.  
Indeed, we must never forget that we are a 
people business. There will continue to be 
significant	amounts	of	effort	and	energy	taken	by	
the big issues of social care reform, health and 
care integration, growing demand and a limited 
resource environment but all of this is for nothing 
if it does not result in improving outcomes for 
the people that rely on us for support. This is the 
reason why this report contains real life examples 
and stories describing what we have done to 
improve outcomes for people and producing the 
report in this way helps ground us back to why 
we are here.
Due to the people I work with and the 
commitment they show I remain immensely 
proud and privileged to be the Director of Adult 
Social Care for Coventry City Council.  
I	hope	you	find	this	Annual	Report	informative	
and as always myself and my team are happy for 
any feedback.

Pete Fahy 
Director of Adult Services 
The production of this Annual Report remains 
an important part of the annual cycle of Adult 
Social Care. It provides an opportunity for 
reflection on the progress we have made and 
challenges we face in delivering Adult Social 
Care within the city.
The year this report covers, 2020/2021, was a 
year unlike any other as the unique challenges of 
COVID-19 dominated much of our work, and the 
demands placed on people who work in social 
care, along with people that access our services 
and their families and carers were like nothing 
previously experienced.
Due to the uniqueness of the year much of 
the comparative information in this report is of 
limited use – it was an exceptional year and as a 
result the performance data is also exceptional. 
What is however becoming clear is that as we 
move forward we need to continue to adapt 
to new challenges, whether resulting from the 
ongoing impacts of the pandemic or other 
factors including the changing health and 
social care landscape due to the introduction of 
Integrated Care Systems from April 2022.
A key aspect of this Annual Report is the 
opportunity to highlight improvements and 
progress made and those who know me will 
know that the concept of continual improvement 
and	finding	ways	to	do	things	better	are	core	
character traits of mine. For this reason, I am 
pleased to write this forward to a report that, Page 122



This year’s Annual Report was produced during 
continuing challenging times for both the nation 
and Adult Social Care here in Coventry.  I hope 
you find the report effectively reflects both the 
ongoing day to day activity of the service as 
well as the truly inspirational impact the team 
working in Adult Social Care have continued to 
make during the last year.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the most 
significant	and	tragic	health	crisis	in	living	
memory, I have felt immensely proud that 
Council colleagues, care providers and their 
care staff have not only risen to the challenge 
but have truly gone above and beyond in the 
interests of the people they work to support.
It is not unusual for people who work in Social 
Care to see their roles as more of a vocation than 
a job and often when asked why they go to work, 
the resounding answer is ‘to make a difference’. 
I continue to be astounded by the difference 
people are making in all areas of Adult Social 
Care through the ways in which they support and 
care for the most vulnerable adults in the city.  
This report contains stories demonstrating this, 

along with key information on our performance 
and resources.
Whilst there are in fact far too many examples of 
incredible work happening across Social Care 
for me to list here, I want to take the opportunity 
to record my heartfelt thanks for the hard 
work, perseverance, compassion, humanity 
and dedication that mean so much to so many 
residents of Coventry, I along with many am truly 
grateful.
Please do get in touch if you would like to offer 
any feedback on the Annual Report by emailing  
getinvolvedasc@coventry.gov.uk

Councillor Mal Mutton 
Cabinet Member for Adult Services

Page 123



8

Karen McKay 
Adult Social Care Stakeholder Group

During the last twelve months the Adult Social 
Care Stakeholder Group has continued to meet 
virtually bi-monthly using Microsoft Teams. This 
has been a learning curve for many of us but has 
worked really well and has led to some really 
engaging conversations and contributions from 
group members. It was lovely to be able to check 
in even if only virtually. We continue as a group 
to try to be the voice of service users and carers, 
to contribute to ongoing developments in Adult 
Social Care, be part of conversations about new 
developments, improvements and the way that 
services have adapted during the pandemic. 
Some of the key agenda items have focussed 
on digital developments and care technology 
and we have been able to use a demo of a new 
animated tool for on-line self-assessment which 
again is helping the group to continue on their 
own digital skills journey! Thinking about how 
we can include more voices and improve on real 
collaborative working is another regular theme, 
rather than being asked after plans have been 
made. There is always more work to do on this!
I personally look forward to the long-awaited 
national review of Social Care, which cannot 
come soon enough. Previous national crises 
have	led	to	significant	social	improvements,	and	
if ever it was a time to tackle the long-standing 
problems in Social Care it is now. The Association 
of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) has 
spoken	of	significant	numbers	of	people	waiting	

for support, calls for urgent social care reform, 
investment and a proper workforce strategy. We 
need to add our voices locally in any way we 
can to insist this happens. For me, rather than 
applause, doing this for our Social Care staff and 
service users is the best way to show how much 
we value them.

The work of Adult Social Care continues to be supported by our Stakeholder Group, who meet 
regularly to discuss any updates and influence the improvements of the service. The group is 
made up of Coventry residents who are experienced in how services work. To find out more 
about Getting Involved you can access the link https://www.coventry.gov.uk/getinvolvedasc

A screen shot of one of the group's virtual 
meetings held on Microsoft Teams

Page 124



9

Introduction to  
Adult Social Care
The delivery of Adult Social Care is the responsibility of the Local Authority which interacts with a 
range of other local authority functions to support people in our communities, including Housing, 
Public Health, Children’s Services or Culture and Leisure to name but a view. Our work is also closely 
connected to health organisations and the voluntary and third sector who work with many of the same 
people who come into contact with Adult Social Care. Therefore, although Adult Social Care has a 
distinct identity so much of what we do is achieved through working with others.

We do not have a complex strategy for Adult 
Social Care – all our work is tested against our 
objective of: ‘Providing support, in the least 
intrusive manner possible, based on the assets, 
resources and abilities that are available to 
people’. Progressing this overarching objective 
is delivered day in, day out through the many 
interactions between our staff and people with 
care and support needs and through a series of 
improvement projects overseen by the Director 
of Adult Services aimed at constantly improving 
what we do.
During	the	last	year	we	have	made	significant	
progress in delivering these improvements 
including;
Use of Technology: Our use of technology 
to support our assessment activity has grown 
significantly.	Whereas	previously	the	majority	
of our work was completed face to face, doing 

things remotely has become the norm wherever 
possible. As we progress achieving the right 
blend of technology and face to face contact 
we will be required to ensure we continue to 
engage with people in a way that is both safe and 
effective.
Accommodation Offering Care and Support:  
We	are	finalising	a	market	development	plan	
in respect of accommodation-based support 
for people with severe mental health problems. 
This will help care providers plan and develop 
high-quality provision over the coming years, in 
line with our Adult Social Care vision and values. 
We have started work on this by developing 
new reablement accommodation to support 
women with mental health problems who have 
experienced crisis events in their lives such as 
abuse or exploitation and need support with their 
recovery and return to independent living.

Page 125



10

Adult Social Care supports people aged 18 and over who have care and support needs as a result 
of a disability or an illness. Support is also provided to carers who spend time providing necessary 
care to someone else. We continue to work in accordance with our primary legislation, the Care Act 
(2014) and the required changes to practice and policy set out by the Act. 

The delivery of Adult Social Care in Coventry, 
as embodied in our vision is that we focus 
on approaches that promote well-being 
and independence to prevent, reduce or 
delay the need for long term support and to 
enable people to achieve their outcomes.  In 
performance terms this means that we would 
expect to see a relatively smaller number of 

Adult Social Care  
Vision 

people in receipt of ongoing social care, and 
where ongoing social care is required that this 
is mainly provided in people’s own homes.  We 
would also expect that the short-term services 
we have in place to enable people to be 
independent are successful in reducing demand 
for ongoing Adult Social Care.

11

Page 126



4

Night

M
orn

ingEv
en

in
g

Afternoon

Hours in the Life of
Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care works 24/7  
With spending of over £103million, 
Adult Social Care works with many 

organisations, providing advice and 
support to our residents

Assistive 
Technology 

– We provide 
a wide range of 
assistive technology 
to help people be 
as independent as 
possible both day 
and night.  
 Self-Online 
Assessment – Our 
online-assessment 
can be completed 

at any time of the 
day and suits 

people that 
might have 
busy lives.  

Jenner8 – Our Jenner8 project supports 
adults with learning disabilities to access the 

community.  
 Shared Lives – Our Shared Lives Service 

supports people 24/7 by 
providing support in a  

family setting.

Emergency Duty Team 
– From 5pm onwards our 

emergency duty team help 
people who might require urgent 

support during the evening and night. 
Mobile Night Carers – From 10pm onwards the  

Mobile Night Carers service supports people who  
need help and assistance during the night.

Adult Social 
Care Direct – 
Our Adult Social Care 
contact team opens 
at 9am, they provide 
information and advice 
and	are	the	first	point	
of contact.  
 Home Visit – Our 
home support 
providers help people 
to maintain their 
independence 
 in their own  
homes. 

11

Page 127



BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS

The largest element of the increase 
relates to Spend on People (provision 
of services)

The ‘Spend on People’ referred to in 
the above chart has increased from

2020/21 ADULT SOCIAL CARE SPEND (£103.2m)

2020/21 SPEND ON PEOPLE (£79.5m)

Coventry still continues to be a 
comparatively low spending local 
authority per 100,000

population

£95m
in 2019/20

£70.4m
in 2019/20
£7.8m of that increase relates to 
the additional support to providers 
referenced above. ‘Spend on People’ is 
money spent directly on the following 
services

This compares to a spend of

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

Setting the Scene -  
Adult Social Care in a Changing Landscape

12

The demand for Adult Social Care rises every year as people live longer and there are more 
people living longer with more complex needs.  

BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS

BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS
In recent years we know that Coventry demonstrates comparatively low 
spending as a local authority per 100,000 population. The Local Government 
Association publish information about spend later on in the year but you 
can view information for 2020/21 at 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/LGInformASCreport

spent on people
£79.5m

spent on transport
£0.3m

spent on other
£0.2m

spent on community, 
assessment and overheads

£17.1m
spent on central recharges
£6.1m

spent on COVID
£7.8m

£2.4m
£21.8m
spent on residential

spent on day 
opportunities

£2.4m

spent on Direct 
Payments£9m spent on equipment 

and adaptions£1.1m

spent on homecare
£21.9m

spent on housing 
with care

£6.6m

Individual service funds
£0.4m spent on

£6.1m spent on
nursing

spent on 
supported living

The illustrations on the next few pages give you an indication of 
the position for Adult Social Care during 2020/21 in respect of: 
Budget – Money Matters
Activity – Facts and Figures
Demographic – The people who come to use for support 
Our Workforce - The people that provide support where required 

The Council is a large organisation spending a net 
£238.4m on revenue activity during 2020/21. 
The gross Adult Social Care spend in 2019/20 minus 
citizen’s and other contributions was £103.2m as 
shown below. This includes £7.8m of additional 
resources provided to support the care market 
during the pandemic. 

Page 128



PEOPLE RECEIVING SUPPORT

9,902 
new requests for support 
(a small decrease on last 
year’s figures of 10,534)

5% of requests resulted in a 
long-term service decrease 
from last year’s 7%)

received low level support 
(increase from last year’s 25%)

34%

30%
received a short-term 
service to promote 
independence (increase 
from last year’s 21%)

Adult Social Care receive a large volume of 
requests for support on a day-to-day basis. 
Our aim is to maximise people’s independence 
and support people in the least intrusive way.  

4,529 people received long 
term support during 
the year (an increase 
of 1.7% from last 
year’s 4453) 

1,430 received a planned 
or unplanned review 
throughout the year

23 people transitioned from 
Children’s Services to Adult Social 
Care compared to 44 last year

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

CQC Local Area Analysis data suggests in Coventry, 
compared to other local authorities that have similar 
populations, that we think of other solutions first, 
signposting to universal services and other community 
support rather than looking at traditional models of 
support. To explore the Local Area Analysis in more detail 
you can view the most recent reports from 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themes-care/
area-data-profiles#profiles-c.

In comparison to other local authorities 
Coventry continues to have;

Low rates of new requests 
for Adult Social Care, with 
an average of 27 a day 
compared to the national 
average of 35 in 19/20

A lower rate of new 
requests for Adult Social 
Care support going straight 
into an ongoing long-term 
service than comparators

A higher proportion of new 
requests for people aged 
65+ going on to receive 
short term support to 
maximise independence 
than comparators

Continued lower rate of 
people receiving long 
term support per 100,000 
population compared with 
our comparators

COVID-19 and the country’s response to the 
pandemic, with national lockdowns and limited 
family contact impacted on the activity of Adult 
Social Care, those accessing our support and 

Adult Social Care have an equal responsibility for 
anyone providing unpaid care within the city. 

Anyone providing necessary care to another 
adult is entitled to a carer’s assessment:

CARERS RECEIVING AN ASSESSMENT

588 carers had their needs assessed 
of which 286 received a 
separate assessment

802 carers received 
formal support

how we needed to work. We don’t know what the 
future holds but as a consequence of the pandemic 
we are starting to see more demand associated with 
mental health and wellbeing.

13

FACTS AND FIGURESACTIVITY

Page 129



14

SAFEGUARDING

Protecting adults to 
live in safety, free from 
abuse and neglect is a 
core duty of Adult Social 
Care. The rising rate of 
safeguarding concerns 
reported suggests people 
know how to report abuse 
and we are addressing 
concerns without the 
need for an enquiry or 
investigation.  

2020/21 Safeguarding Information:

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

4,321 safeguarding concerns 
received, a 2% decrease 
from the previous year

508 completed safeguarding 
enquiries were undertaken 
in the year compared to 
563 in the previous year 

11% the rate of concerns that 
led to an enquiry was 
down from 12% last year

423 people (83%) were asked 
about their outcomes, an 
increase from 80% of 
people asked last year

493 safeguarding enquiries, 
a 7% decrease from the 
previous year

93% of people reported fully 
achieved/partially achieved 
outcomes compared to 
95% last year

DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY SAFEGUARDS (DoLS)

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are part of the Mental Capacity Act 
2005. The safeguards aim to make sure that people in care homes and hospitals 
are looked after in a way that does not inappropriately restrict their freedom. 

2,250 2,237

There has been a 1% (13) 
reduction in the number of 
applications from

2020/212019/20

349 (16%) are in due 
process 
compared with

254 (11%) in 2019/20

1,889

In 2020/21 
there were

applications 
completed 
which is a 5% 
decrease from 

1,996

There was an 
increase of 
applications 
granted after
6 MONTHS
of being received 
from 22 (3%)
in 2019/20 to
37 (4%)
in 2020/21

Coventry has a higher rate of concerns per 100,000 population than comparators. In 2020/21 
1481 compared to the average rate in England (2019/20) of 938 - but thorough initial enquiries address these 
sooner without the need for a full enquiry. 2020/21 comparator data is due to be published in November 2021 
on the NHS Digital Adult Social Care Analytical Hub.

Comparator information 
will be published at the 
end of 2021 however we 
know from last year that 
Coventry continues to 
have a higher proportion of 
applications and completes 
a higher proportion of 
assessments per 100,000 
than our comparators. As a 
result of this Coventry has 
a lower rate of applications 
not completed than our 
comparators.

We continue to closely monitor our all our activity and use ‘sampling’ audits and develop improvement plans when we 
need to look into our approaches in more depth.

in 2020/21

Our work during the year was impacted as a result of the pandemic due to reduced staffing 
capacity and assessments taking longer to complete. Liberty Protection Safeguards are due 
to replace DoLS in April 2022 for which the service is actively preparing for.  Page 130



15

National data suggests that 
between 2015-2017 and 2017-2019, 
life expectancy between the richer 
and poorer increased further. In 
particular, there was a decrease 
in life expectancy for females 
in poorer areas - resulting in a 
widening of inequality in the life 
expectancy gap among females 
(7.4 years). Although, the gap for 
males (9.4 years) remains larger

Early mortality 
(<75 years)

Worse than national

Cardiovascular 
Cancer 
Liver disease 
Respiratory diseases 
Communicable diseases

X 
X 
X 
X 
X

 
X 
X 
 

X 
X

Life expectancy in Coventry 
remains consistently below 
England, but healthy life 
expectancy is similar
to England

Health outcomes are 
worse in the most deprived 
areas, where people not 
only live shorter lives, but 
spend a bigger portion of 
their years in poor health, 
and are more likely to die 
of preventable causes

928 internal 
staff

OUR WORKFORCE

Female staff Male staff
83% 17%

47.5 YEARS
Average age of workforce

workforce 
aged over 50

50%
workforce 
is white

69%

of workforce 
is BAME

19%

up 2% from last year

Leaver 
rate is 9%

people

New starter rate is 

15%
141 people

Vacancy 
rate
is 9%
compared 
to 6%
nationally

DEMOGRAPHIC

Coventry is home to 379,387 
Population growth 
is still amongst the 
top 10% of local 
authority areas but 
has stabilised
(growing by 2.1%)

Highest growth in the 
population is amongst 
the young working 
aged adult population

of the population is 65+ 
but this is expected to 
grow and accelerate in the 
next 10-15 years

13.31% 

Coventry’s 
population 
is growing, 

changing and 
increasingly 

diverse

residents 
(mid-2020 est)

The wider Adult Social Care 
workforce in Coventry amounts to

9,600jobs
which includes staff working in 177 
CQC registered establishments

83

Page 131



The Social Interventions Collective (SICol) – Working together to empower 
What is SICol?

16

This strengths-based approach relies on a mix 
of human connection, relationships and support 
to enable people to take back control of their 
lives. Intensive support is provided through daily 
contacts, active listening and working together 
to	find	solutions,	leading	to	better	outcomes	and	
increased long term mental health stability.

What started as a project bringing a group of 
passionate professionals together to make a 
difference has now been recognised for its 
innovation and impact. The project has now 
attracted a 3-year funding grant to enable the 
team to continue and expand their work, in order 
to reach more people in mental health crisis. 

Adults and carers at the 
heart of everything we do1

Key achievements -  
Based on the Adult Social 
Care Vision and our Priorities 
for 2020/21

This position has largely been arrived at by our 
approach to Adult Social Care which is based 
on supporting people to be as independent as 
possible. Where independence has been lost 
or reduced, we work with people to regain skills 
and where levels of independence have been 
limited, we work with people to improve this. 
Our goal is for people to be living independently 
within their own homes.  

The previous section contained a volume of data and comparisons across a number of areas of 
performance. To summarise this as succinctly as possible would be to say that Coventry continues to 
support a relatively low number of people with ongoing care and support needs and as a result is a 
comparatively low spender on Adult Social Care.

This is not always achievable and in many 
cases living independently is only possible with 
support.  
The	examples	below	give	a	flavour	of	how	we	
have delivered this approach alongside how 
we have responded during the COVID-19 
pandemic. We have used real examples given 
with the consent of those involved.

The SICol brings together some of the key services involved in mental health support; 
Home Treatment, The Pod, Axholme Services and is a unique approach aimed at promoting 
independence and avoiding hospital and residential care admissions during a mental health 
crisis which is proving to be hugely successful.  

Page 132



Crisis Plus Initiative

Hold
ing

 yo
u i

n 

mind Col
lab

or
at

ive

int
en

siv
e

ou
tre

ac
h

Alternatives 
to

Admission
Social

intervention 

collective

Crisis

Houses

Peter is a 32-year-old man with a long history of mental health problems leading 
to hospital admissions and a prison sentence. He had moved to Coventry from 
London to escape gang culture and had become disconnected from all family 
and friends, leaving him with no social connection and support.  
Peter had been placed in inadequate accommodation which was making his 
situation worse and he had lost all trust and confidence in mental health services 
due to a lack of consistency in support provided. All of this led to Peter feeling 
unloved and abandoned with risk of further hospital treatment or involvement 
with the police. 

What difference is this approach making to people’s lives?

The team worked closely and intensely with 
Peter, showing kindness and compassion to 
regain trust and to really listen to his needs.  
‘Co-production’ is at the heart of the work of 
the team and enabling Peter to make decisions 
and plan his own future was key to this. Twice 
weekly visits and daily phone calls to listen, 
offer hope and address practical issues and 
discuss options all contributed towards 
enabling Peter to have choice and control over 
his life.
Practical	support	helped	Peter	to	find	solutions	
to	some	of	the	difficulties	he	had	been	
experiencing, for example; liaising with family 
to gain support, viewing properties with Peter, 
help	in	making	an	application	for	benefits,	
GP registration, provision of funding towards 
essential goods such as microwave, pots and 
pans and advocacy and advice.

There is a long list of improved outcomes for 
Peter as a result of the work of the team and 
Peter’s commitment to co-production and 
consistent contact, including the following:
• Peter is better able to trust professionals
• Peter has avoided the need for acute medical  
 services, admission to hospital and police   
 involvement 
• Peter has improved family and professional  
 relationships
• Peter is using his medication appropriately   
 and taking a lead in liaising with pharmacy   
 and GP
• Peter is accessing psychological and   
 employment support

17

What did we do?

Peter’s 
Story

Page 133



2 High quality, person-centred 
and effective support

Transforming Care - 
Martin’s Story
Martin is a young man who has Autism. He 
lives in a shared house just outside of the 
City. In December 2020 Martin became 
unwell, there were incidents within the 
home where he assaulted another person 
and took an overdose of his medication. His 
relationships with friends and family were 
breaking down and Martin felt out of control.

Peter said;
“I trust you guys, just want to say thank 
you so much for all your help, I’m sorry 
I come across as blunt sometimes and 
direct but it’s not you guys, I just feel let 
down all the time. I really appreciated 
the microwave and everyone seeing 
me, I still get stressed where I am but 
just want to say thank you I appreciate it 
even if I can come across as I don’t.”
Peter’s journey continues and he is hopeful in 
finding	employment

“I have a trial shift at a restaurant as a 
kitchen hand tomorrow afternoon, I 
think this may benefit me as it is giving 
me purpose to better myself in my 
life for my future and I believe being 
positive can help me deal with feeling 
stressed and very low at points.”

Peter’s social worker Mariam said; 

“Peter’s journey showed us that using an 
empowering approach with 

co-production at the heart, helped 
Peter achieve what he wanted to. Not 
only this, but by Peter working with the 
different services involved in SICoL, he 
was able to become better connected 
with housing, employment as well as 
creating his own support networks.”

18

Page 134



18
12

“I felt angry, depressed, shouting at people and being abusive. 
I didn’t take care of myself, hitting people and screaming. I was 
upset inside, anxiety, shaking and worrying about everything.”

To avoid a hospital admission Martin was 
supported under Transforming Care where 
he worked with his Social Worker, Learning 
Disabilities Nurse and Personal Assistant (PA) 
accessing a direct payment.
An urgent increase in Martin’s support was 
agreed and this enabled Martin to have access 
to additional hours to support him at home. 
Gradually these hours were reduced to a level 
that Martin is now able to manage with in order 
to keep himself safe and well.
Martin now has strategies in place supported 
by Julie his PA to minimise any future incidents 
within his house and the community. 

19

“Julie listens to what the problem is 
and gives me advice, with a direct 
payment I can change the hours 
around with Julie, she is kind and 
helpful and makes me feel better.” 

The increase in support has enabled Martin 
to stabilise his mood and thought processes 
which in turn has had a positive impact in every 
aspect of his life and his ability to cope with 
anxieties and stress levels. 

“I don’t feel frightened in my own   
home anymore.”

Those that know Martin well cannot believe the 
changes in him and have voiced that;

“It is like having the old Martin back, the 
Martin I have not seen for many years. 
He is calmer, kinder and more engaging 
and is a pleasure to spend time with.”
Everyone is proud of Martin’s achievements 
including his family and friends.

Martin has also recognised that he is feeling 
much better and able to cope with stress in 
a different way and is very positive about this 
change.

“I can get back to being creative and   
doing amazing pictures, I feel in my   
own head things are working out.”

Martin was offered support from an agency but 
this	model	did	not	suit	him	as	it	was	too	fixed	
and they had set times. A direct payment gives 
flexibility	to	meet	changing	needs	and	has	
been the best solution for Martin.

“The networks in Transforming Care 
continue to grow stronger with our 
health colleagues supporting people to 
improve their situations and preventing 
hospital admissions for people with 
autism and learning disabilities to 
remain in their own homes with the 
right support to live their best lives.” 
Michelle Perry Social Worker, 
All Age Disability Team

Direct Payments enable people to have control 
over spending their personal budgets and 
many people choose to have a payment to 
employ their own personal assistant because 
they wish to have support from someone 
they know well and who has the right skills or 
experiences. Coventry City Council are working 
closely with a local direct payment support 
service, Penderels Trust to attract more people 
to apply to become personal assistants making 
this a more viable option for people eligible for 
social care. 

Interested in becoming a PA?
https://www.penderelstrust.org.uk/coventry.php

Page 135



3 Reflective and  
responsive  
to change

Enhancing Support 
to Carers
The pandemic changed all 
our lives when it hit in 2020 
but for carers the impact was 
huge with many having to 
cope with additional caring 
responsibilities. Carers Trust 
adjusted what they did, like 
many organisations to ensure 
that there was continued 
support for carers. Carers Trust 
was granted additional funding 
in September 2020 by Coventry 
City Council to give extra 
support to carers. 

What the Carers Trust did
The additional funding was used to support carers by 
addressing several key themes: 
 

Loneliness and isolation
We supported over 400 carers with over 1000 
contacts and have provided a buddying service 
and a listening ear.

Loss and grief
We held three, six-week courses and additional one-
off sessions on change. This has supported over 350 
carers who are dealing with grief in their lives, whether 
it is the loss of a loved one, change in a relationship or 
coping with the diagnosis of a loved one.

Impact on BAME (Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic) carers
We appointed a BAME development worker to 
link and engage with various groups and networks 
representing the diverse population of the city.

20

Page 136



Digital inclusion and engagement
We supported carers to access platforms such 
as Zoom and access equipment (laptops and 
tablets) through a one-off payment to enable 
them to digitally engage in their communities 
and access peer support virtually.

Hardship and poverty
We helped to address hardship through 
providing one off payments to over 40 carers, 
to pay for equipment and appliances and to 
engage in activities to support their health and 
wellbeing.

Working and caring 
We recruited a Working Carers Development 
Officer	and	supported	over	400	working	carers	
and encouraged employers to support those 
who are carers in their workplaces.

One carer tells us his story
Stephen, a carer (who now is a volunteer 
providing awareness workshops on scamming) 
talks about how the support has helped him.

“I am so grateful that, when the 
COVID-19 pandemic hit, and I found myself 
caring for two people, my older mother, and 
my wife. My ability to cope with the burden 
of care, a burden that turned out to be 
larger and longer than expected, got a huge 
boost when I engaged with the Carers Trust. 
My stress levels dropped enormously just 
knowing that there was an understanding 
and well-organized service out there, one 
that had diligently assessed my needs   
and was ready to help me meet them.

The people I support benefited, and not just 
because their carer was less stressed thanks 
to Carers Trust; they too were better able to 
get through the lockdowns, the isolation, 
and the long road to vaccination, knowing 
that Carers Trust knew what care they would 
need if something happened to me. Now, 
as we work our way towards whatever 
the new normal may be, I am benefitting 
from the excellent ‘HOPE Programme’ and 
looking forward to the growing number of 
opportunities to engage with other carers 
that the Carers Trust is enabling."
Anna Luczyna Working Carers Development 
Officer,	reflected	on	the	support	provided	by	the	
Carers Trust

“The pandemic has had a huge impact on 
everyone, but it has been particularly hard 
on people who juggle work and caring 
responsibilities. It has been so rewarding 
being able to support carers facing those 
challenges and working alongside such a 
dedicated team.”

21

Page 137



22

4 Outcome driven and meaningful
Helping people take back control of their lives 

Sarah is a 43-year-old woman who has a 
diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity 
disorder (ADHD) and has a Personality 
disorder which has led to several admissions 
into hospital since 1989 under the Mental 
Health Act (MHA) 1983 (amended in 
2007). Sarah also experienced a year long 
compulsory stay in a mental health hospital 
(under a section of the MHA 1983) and had 
appealed her stay under a section of the 
Act several times. Being discharged into the 
community under Community Treatment 
Orders had not helped Sarah to improve her 
mental health, particularly as she was often 
recalled into hospital due to not feeling safe 
in the community. Sarah was struggling to live 
independently.

Sarah’s story

Page 138



Sarah lived with several risks including self-harm 
and self-neglect and consuming alcohol would 
often make things worse.  Her longest period 
outside of hospital since 1989 had been 6 weeks 
and therefore Sarah had regarded the local 
mental health hospital as her ‘home’ and the 
outside community felt unsafe and unknown to 
Sarah.
Although Sarah felt the hospital was her home, 
she was desperate to leave, to be closer to 
her family and to build a life outside of formal 
services.  She was worried about managing her 
distress in the community but said 

“I hate being in hospital, but I’m scared   
of being in the community I don’t feel   
safe without a section on me.”

What we did?

23

Adult Social Care suggested to Sarah that a 
Guardianship Order could enable her to become 
more independent and less reliant on services 
and Sarah agreed to try this approach.  
Guardianship is a different approach to managing 
mental ill health with a focus on enabling 
individuals to live as independently in the 
community as possible, with a focus on welfare 
rather than treatment. The use of a Mental Health 
Act advocate is key in ensuring an individuals’ 
voice is heard and at the centre of the discussion.  
The role of an advocate depends on the person’s 
situation and the support people want, they are 
there to support a person’s choices. An advocate 
can listen to someone’s views and concerns, 
explore their options and rights, help them to 
contact relevant people and accompany and 
support them in meetings or appointments. It can 
often be overwhelming when the room is full of 
professionals, without the help of an advocate.   
With an advocate, Sarah was able to identify 
that Guardianship would help her feel safer in 
the community. She was also included in all 
discussions regarding options for support in 
the community, this was with the social workers, 
doctors, nurses and psychologist involved. This 
meant that Sarah was at the centre of every 
conversation about her wellbeing and her wishes 
and feelings were listened to.

Sarah’s family, nearest relative and other 
important people were also included, and this 
meant all of the important parts of Sarah’s life 
were being considered when care and support 
planning was undertaken.
Sarah’s care and support plan was co-produced 
with	her	heavily	involved.		This	included	finding	a	
suitable placement to meet her needs and enable 
her to continue seeing her sister.  Sarah moved 
into a specialist supported accommodation 
setting and has now had the longest period out 
of	hospital	since	she	first	came	into	contact	with	
mental health services – approximately 9 months!  
Sarah takes an active part in the community she 
lives in and has stated that she feels safe under 
the Guardianship Order. 
Sarah stated; 
“The Guardianship makes me feel safe, it feels 
like it’s a section for me and for the people 
looking after me. Even when I have low 
points, the most important thing is the staff 
bring me back home.” 
Not only this, Sarah told us she is now an activity 
champion in the community and said;
“I’ve organised a trip to Weston-super-Mare 
for the residents in a few weeks. We are 
looking forward to it! I’m part of the coffee 
mornings and planning of activities in the 
community. I also now go see my sister on my 
own.”

Page 139



5 Support around people
and their families

Janet’s Story
Janet is a 71-year-old woman who was referred 
to Adult Social Care by the Police who were 
concerned about her vulnerability and welfare. 
Janet	was	the	victim	of	financial	abuse	by	a	
doorstep scammer and was visited by Maxine 
the Social Worker as part of a safeguarding 
investigation. Maxine became aware that Janet 
had problems with hoarding and her property 
was almost uinhabitable due to the scale of the 
problem. Janet also had seventeen cats living in 
the home and although they were like family 
to her, she was struggling to care for them.
Janet told Maxine that she felt very
isolated and it soon became apparent 
that Janet had social care needs. She 
was not looking after herself, eating 
regular meals or taking her medication 
as prescribed. Formal carers were 
unable to provide care within her 
home environment as it was cluttered 
and unkept.

Janet’s strengths were recognised and she was 
willing to accept support to help her maintain 
her home and with personal care, medication 
and meal preparation. Janet had a love of cats 
but was overwhelmed by the responsibility of 
caring for 17. Janet stated that she wished to 
stay in her family home and that she was keen 
to meet new people and contribute to the local 
community in which she had lived all her life.

24

 
u

SA
D

N
ES

S 
O

F S

ITUATION

 uEXCITEMENT

 uFEAR O
F CH

A
N

G
E

To live in a clean house
Be clean, wear clean clothes, 

have care support 
Keep some of my cats

Get a job/contribute to society
Financial Control

Dirty House
Financial Exploitation

Embarrassment
Social Isolation

Odour and smell
Cats are unkempt

Not maintaining 
cleanliness 

Losing control of money
Clutter has importance

Carers/befrienders don’t 
visit dirty houses

Losing all cats

Maxine worked with Janet to access support 
from voluntary, private and statutory agencies 
to help her situation:
• Enabling Spaces, an agency that helps   
 people to learn/gain skills in maintaining   
 a healthy home environment, supported   
 her to clear and clean her home over 7   
 months. They now visit weekly to support   
 Janet to make sure everything is still ok   
 https://enablingspacescic.co.uk

Page 140



24 25

• A care agency to support Janet with   
 her personal hygiene, meal preparation and  
 medication management
• The RSPCA attended to 15 of Janet’s cats   
 and rehomed them. Janet wished to keep   
 2 female cats and agreed for them to be   
 spayed for their welfare
• An appointee was set up to support Janet   
	 with	her	finances,	help	her	pay	her	bills	and		
 agreed plan for how she wants to spend her  
 remaining money
• Support with shopping on a weekly basis to  
 ensure she has regular nutritious food in for  
 the care staff to prepare
• A fortnightly companionship visit from AGE  
 UK to reduce her social isolation Maxine   
	 also	supported	Janet	to	find	a	job	as		 	
 a volunteer in a local charity shop. She now 
 goes every Tuesday. Janet has met new   
	 friends	and	her	confidence	has	improved		 	
 dramatically
 Janet’s wellbeing has been enhanced. Janet  
 is happy living in a clean environment with  
 her beloved cats. She is receiving the support  
 she requires to remain living in her home.   
 Janet states that she loves her volunteer job  
 and the charity shop staff love Janet

“I am really happy working in the 
charity shop. I enjoy meeting new 
people and working with the other 
members of staff. The staff like me 
and I feel valued.”

What have we learnt?
• The importance of working with people at  
 their own pace, listening to people,    
 identifying what’s important to them, their   
 resilience and resourcefulness 
• When identifying older adults’ strengths   
 and needs during assessments, we    
 need to think creatively to empower    
 people by looking beyond traditional   
 services to meet social isolation needs   
 such as day centres and support people   
 with their desired outcomes such as working  
 and volunteering
• Multidisciplinary working with private and   
 voluntary partners is crucial in meeting   
	 people’s	identified	strengths	and	needs

Want to know more about how to support 
people who may be hoarding, see the Coventry 
Safeguarding Adults Best Practice Framework 
and Guidance

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/hoarding

Page 141



21

6

Mohammed is a 20-year-old man 
who now lives with his mum and 
two younger brothers in a rented 
three-bedroom house. Mohammed 
came to the UK in 2018 from 
Syria. Mohammed has physically 
disabilities which includes 
scoliosis, a spine condition and 
has no movement or function in 
his lower limbs. Mohammed has 
good upper body strength which 
enables him to move from one 
place to another and will use a self-
propelling wheelchair to mobilise.

What did we do? 
The family needed to have more accessible 
accommodation so the OT got in touch 
with a Housing Association and discussed 
Mohammed’s needs for a priority move 
to another property, which would allow 
Mohammed safe access to the community and 
education facilities. 
Mohammed was also very keen to access 
education and wanted to study ESOL (English 
to speakers of other languages) and he 
said he hoped to become a lawyer. The OT 
contacted the Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
team regarding Mohammed’s wish to access 
education and an EHCP (Education, Health and 
Care Plan) was started. 

26

Mohammed was originally referred into 
‘Promoting Independence’ services when 
he was 18 in 2019, he could speak very little 
English and required an interpreter. He was 
at	the	time	living	in	a	first	floor	two	bedroom	
flat	with	his	family	which	was	unsuitable.	
Mohammed’s mum was having to carry him 
up	a	flight	of	external	stairs	to	the	property.	
Mohammed’s mum was providing all care 
at this time and wished to continue with no 
formal support. The Occupational Therapist 
(OT) assessed Mohammed and due to the 
size of the property and space within it 
there was little that could be done to make 
the property more suitable to support the 
situation.

Effective enablement, 
prevention and wellbeing

Mohammed’s Story

27

Page 142



How did it go? 
Mohammed’s mum said they feel comfortable 
and very happy in their new property and 
Mohammed is freer to do what he wants to do. 
His mum said; 

“The only word I can say to you is 
thankyou you have the magic touch 
and thanked all those involved.”

Mohammed has been attending college 
studying ESOL, English, Maths GCSE and ICT 
and he no longer requires an interpreter as 
his English has improved greatly. Mohammed 
stated that;

“I am much happier in my new home 
and the care support is working well. 
I can be independent and can get 
myself around. I am very happy with 
college, the teachers are very good, I 
go there on the bus like everyone else 
and have made friends. I struggle on 
the telephone with English, but this is 
getting better. 

27

I am unsure what I will do after this 
course but there are lots of good 
courses at the college and I hope to 
have a job working in an area where 
I can help people.” 

Rachel the OT involved said; 

“It has been satisfying seeing all 
the different services joining up to 
support Mohammed, they are such a 
great family that have been through 
such a lot.”

Once	a	new	property	was	identified	the	OT	
visited and requested provision of a stair lift 
so that he can move between the upstairs 
and downstairs of the property. A ramp at the 
front for access and converting the bathroom 
to level access showering facilities means that 
Mohammed can maintain his independence.
More recently Mohammed’s mum was needing 
some support in her caring role and a care 
package of two calls a week to assist with 
personal care was arranged. This is the only 
support that Mohammed and his mum felt that 
they needed at this time to ease some of the 
pressure off his mum. 

Page 143



28

During the past six months informal engagmenet with partner organisations, 
people living with dementia, their carers and networks has led to resounding 
support for the proposals for a ‘Coventry Dementia Hub’ to open.  If plans go 
ahead this will be one of the very first within the country and the only one of its 
kind in the West Midlands region.

7 Mature Partnerships
Coventry Dementia Hub 

The proposed Dementia Hub offers an 
innovative approach providing a One 
Coventry service. Using an existing 
Council building (Maymorn day centre), 
Coventry City Council are in the process of 
developing a proposal for dementia hub 
that will bring together a range of health, 
social care and voluntary sector services in 
one place. 

The hub will potentially include both a 
physical location and a single telephone 
number, simplifying access to support for 
people with dementia, their families and 
professionals including GPs. The physical 
base will be designed, furnished and 
managed in a dementia friendly way to 
ensure those attending feel safe, comfortable 
and relaxed, reducing stress and anxiety 
often felt by those accessing support for 
dementia. The hub will include a social space 
café to enable people to build relationships 
with others living the same experiences and 
to facilitate peer support, helping people to 
help themselves. 
There will be a wide range of activities and 
information provided through the hub to 
enable people to extend their living well 
years through information.  This will include; 
healthy lifestyles advice and support, 
physical and social activities leading to 
improved quality of life for those with 

dementia and their carers and families. 
Some traditional day service activity will 
continue from the hub, but this will be 
combined with outreach approaches to 
ensure options available are inclusive and 
personalised. 
It is proposed that the hub offers a source 
of information and support based on good 
practice	elsewhere	as	well	as	specific	
community outreach events, public 
information via the café and information on 
accessing dementia assessments. It is hoped 
that the hub will be open Summer 2022.

April Ross, Service Manager said; 

“At the very heart of this model is 
the person living with dementia. 
Their personal experiences pre and 
post diagnosis were integral to 
the design of the model and will 
hopefully improve the experiences 
for those with dementia and their 
loved ones, now and in the future.”
The illustration was produced during 
virtual workshops held with stakeholders to 
engage on the plans and clearly highlight 
the most important elements for those living 
with dementia and the organisations that 
support them.

Take a virtual tour of the current building here;
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zW0JnsnzOXE

Page 144



29

Page 145



8 Committed Workforce
Our Internally Provided Services – Adapting 
and Innovating during COVID-19

30

Movement of staff 
During	the	first	national	lockdown,	some	
of the non-critical services were closed 
such as day services. During this time over 
70 staff were moved to support critical 
24/7 services at very short notice. These 
staff ended up being crucial members 
of the teams often in services they were 
not familiar with, working with a different 
group of people. At the same time many 
staff needed to self-isolate and it cannot 
be underestimated how these staff played 
an integral part in keeping services 
operational, most of whom had their own 
fears and anxieties around the unknowns 
of COVID-19. 

Changes to the way we supported 
people
In responding to the pandemic, staff 
at Maurice Edelman House installed a 
COVID-19 safe ‘Visiting Pod’ during the 
lockdowns to enable families to visit their 
loved ones. This allowed families to meet in 
a safe, private space and ensured those vital 
relationships were maintained when visits 
into care homes were not possible.
Across our day opportunities services 
for people with Learning Disabilities, 
we implemented a creative timetable of 
‘virtual activities’. The staff teams worked 
very hard to develop these sessions and 
hosted them live on Microsoft Teams so 
that service users who could not return 
(due to social distancing restrictions at the 
time of the Annual Report) were able to be 
involved, see and interact with their friends. 

During the past year staff within our internally provided services have been 
working differently to ensure continuity of care and support for the most 
vulnerable adults in the city.

Page 146



and people they know. Sessions ranged from 
quizzes and music from around the world to 
relaxation and sensory activities. The staff 
team attracted funds to purchase laptops 
for service users and families who 
previously didn’t have access. 
It was lovely to see how we supported 
people to stay connected and develop 
relationships with people they know 
whilst keeping safe. 

At any time, not just during the pandemic 
loneliness can be a big problem for people, 
with a lot of older people being affected and 
this can trigger depression and anxiety. 
Research has linked animal-assisted therapy 
to improvements in mood and the quality 
of life for older people, including those with 
dementia. A recent review of studies on 
robotic pets for people with dementia linked 
time spent with the robots to lower levels of 
depression and anxiety. 

These pets respond to the person’s voice and 
touch and have a ‘lifelike’ coat. They also make 
sounds, cats can purr, dogs can bark and are 
able to move their heads, lift their front paws 
and open and close their eyes. 
Eric Williams House purchased these robotic 
cats and dogs and the residents took great 
pleasure in unwrapping the boxes to see what 
was inside, their faces lit up and big smiles 
spread across their faces.  
The pets have had a positive impact within the 
home and have provided the residents with 
hours of joy and comfort. Some of the residents 
will sit for hours nurturing the pets and talking 

to them, the pets bark/purr and move 
in response to touch so they are also 
providing	sensory	benefits	as	well	as	the	

sense of self-worth. 
The pets have also given people 
a sense of purpose which is very 
important as it makes people feel 
like they have something to look 
after having a positive impact on 
mood and self-esteem. 

Page 147



During the last year Adult Social Care has 
continued to develop and increase our use of 
digital solutions to help residents living in care 
settings to remain connected to family members 
and loved ones during the pandemic.

9 Innovative
From Tablets to Tables – 
Using Digital Solutions 

What’s been happening?
The	Council	provided	a	significant	number	
of tablets and laptops to independent care 
homes in the city in November 2020 and 
some to our own internal provider services. 
The Council have also facilitated a number 
of workshops to review the use of the tablets 
and to understand the challenges providers 
may have experienced in using technology.
This equipment is being used by staff 
to keep in touch with professionals for 
example in holding virtual reviews, virtual 
consultations with GPs and enable residents 
to see and speak to relatives. 
This includes using them for special 
occasions, for example to enjoy virtual 
birthday celebrations with family members 
as seen in the photograph below from 
Brandon House Care Home.

32

Another example of the service utilising new 
digital tools has been the purchase of two 
interactive projector activity tables. Staff at Eric 
Williams House Care Home strive to deliver 
the best care possible for the residents who 
have dementia. This has included looking at 
new ways to keep residents active and using 
the key skills in life for as long as possible. 
The OMi Activity Table is a portable projector 
system that enables this to happen in the most 
amazing way.
Firstly, it provides sensory stimulus, whilst 
being bright it also plays music and sounds 
in the background. One of the residents was 
able to recognise the call of a thrush in the 
background. This then led to him reminiscing 
about the times he had spent out in his garden. 
The table also allows residents to keep active 
and mobile as some of the games involve 
movement, so they can have a game for 
example of air hockey or beachball.

Page 148



33

Angela Wilson, Activities & Lifestyles Co-
Ordinator at Eric Williams House said;
“For me the best games are those that 
encourage co-ordination, these games 
require the residents to think about 
what they have to do, where they need 
to place their hands or feet in order 
to continue with the game. The table 
is mobile and on wheels, it can be 
taken anywhere within the home. I 
can honestly say it is the best piece of 
equipment that we have purchased, and 
residents are really benefiting from it.”
The residents have taken to it like ducks to 
water, one resident said;

“It’s brilliant, I love it’ another ‘Well, I’ve 
never seen anything like that before!”
Jon Reading Head of Commissioning and 
Provision said; 

“Staff at Eric Williams House do a 
wonderful job in not just looking 
after people with dementia but also 
helping them to live well and enjoy new 
experiences as well as old favourite 
pastimes. This state of the art equipment 
helps residents (and staff!) to participate 
in an enjoyable activity whilst benefitting 
from stimulation and interaction.”
The team at Eric Williams House update 
Facebook on a regular basis so that the 
families can keep in regular contact and see 
how their loved ones are. Below are some 
quotes from resident family members in 
reaction to sharing pictures of the table in 
use on Facebook;

“I need an OMI table; they all look so well.”

“That looks amazing.”

“Fantastic fun.”

Another table is also available for use across 
other establishments and is currently being 
utilised by residents living in Housing with Care 
settings.

What Next?
We are continuing to adopt new digital 
approaches and tools to support staff 
and people accessing our services.  
Some initiatives we will be focussing on 
during the next year are;
• the development of an Integrated   
 Care Record enabling health    
 and social care staff to view shared   
 information 
• the implementation of an animated   
 online self-assessment tool, offering   
 people who contact Adult Social   
 Care an accessible guided process to  
 learn more about their own needs   
 and the help that is available
• a project focussing on increasing and  
 improving our use of care technology  
 such as sensors and reminders within  
 the home
• adoption of a digital dictation tool   
 to reduce administrative time for our  
 practitioners, enabling them to spend  
 more time working directly with   
 people
 

Page 149



10High Performing
Care Provider Support, Improvement 
and Response to COVID-19

The Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 
is the independent 
regulator of health 
and social care in 
England. The joint 
Health and Social 
Care Quality Team 
continue to work 
closely alongside 
CQC to ensure 
that we work 
collaboratively 
to make sure that 
health and social 
care services provide 
people with safe, 
effective and high-
quality care.

During the last 12 months Coventry’s (Care Homes and 
Community based adult social care services) Care Quality 
Commission	(CQC)	ratings	have	not	changed	significantly	as	
CQC paused visits during the pandemic and reconvened visits 
based on a risk-based approach from March 2021. Therefore, the 
ratings are very similar to 2020.

March 2021 - 
CQC Rating for 
the Coventry Care 
Market

34

CQC Care Provider Ratings across Coventry’s 
Comparator Group

Good           Inadequate          Outstanding          Requires improvement

Good           

Inadequate          

Outstanding          

Requires 
improvement

20% (29)

3% (5)

1% (1)

76% (111)

Page 150



CQC Care Provider Ratings across Coventry’s 
Comparator Group

35

Care Home Improvement 
Programmes
We currently use a range of quality improvement 
campaigns, which are central to contract and quality 
assurance activities for the people of Coventry. The 
quality improvement campaigns look to ensure 
good care outcomes for commissioned services. 
Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
all campaigns were put on hold and these will be 
recommenced as soon as possible. 

Supporting Care Providers 
across the City
COVID-19 brought challenges to all, not least 
of all the health and social care providers 
across the country. All care providers had 
to manage challenges most had never 
experienced before. Care providers across 
the city demonstrated amazing resilience and 
commitment to the people they support during 
the	pandemic.	Staff	had	to	make	significant	
changes within their day-to-day practices at 
work as well as in their personal life.
The Joint Coventry City Council and Coventry 
and Warwickshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CRCCG) Quality Assurance Team, 
adapted their working practices in line with 
government guidance and provided an 
extensive range of support to providers across 
the city in response to changing government 
guidance on how to manage COVID-19, from 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), self-
isolation and care home admissions.

What did we do?
• Kept in regular contact with all providers to  
 offer support and ensure they were aware   
 of changes to national and local guidance   
 and how to apply this to their practice.   
 This contact was as frequent as required   
 and included visits to providers as    
 appropriate. The City Council Public Health  
 team supported all providers and chaired an  
 Incident Management Review meeting for   
 each outbreak

• Held information events for providers   
 during the pandemic for example on   
 Infection prevention control and outbreak   
 management
• Produced a weekly bulletin with information  
 as a reference point for all providers and this  
 continues a monthly basis
• Implemented a PPE request service for   
	 free	PPE	due	to	the	difficulties	some			 	
 providers were having purchasing stock as   
 there was an unprecedented demand   
 before the national portal commenced in   
 September 2020
• The CRCCG medicines team for care homes 
 implemented a medicines support    
 telephone line, staffed by experienced   
 pharmacy technicians who could access   
 records and support with queries
• Supported providers to respond to and to   
 record capacity information on a new single  
 national system, the National Capacity   
 Tracker. This provides real time data on bed  
	 capacity,	staffing,	PPE	supplies	and	COVID			
 status of homes 
• Myton Hospice introduced a 24-hour   
 helpline for all care providers with access to  
 a medical support
Finally, in December 2020 the rollout of the 
COVID-19 vaccination amongst frontline 
workers in Coventry commenced, the team 
supported our NHS colleagues ensuring 
maximum uptake of vaccination and access 
across staff groups. This was a fast-paced 
program and we were and continue to be in 
constant contact with providers ensuring they 
are aware of availability and access to vaccines.Page 151



36

Care Providers and their 
responses to COVID-19
Care providers across the city needed to 
respond to the COVID-19 pandemic with 
a focus on keeping their clients and staff 
safe whilst continuing to provide support 
for people and help them maintain contact 
with friends and family. 
Weavers Care Home in Coventry upgraded 
their network supply to help the home 
deal with increased IT usage needed to 
keep	residents	connected	and	confirmed	
equipment was in place to ensure a COVID 
safe environment for visitors and staff. The home also worked hard to keep up the 

spirits of residents with events including a 
live stream from the Belgrade Theatre for 
the Christmas panto on a big screen, cinema 
afternoons, quizzes and celebrations.

36

Residents were supported via iPads so they 

could communicate with family and friends.

All of this was very well received by those living in the home;

Jean said; “staff have kept us busy we have had Skype calls on iPads and they have 
been a lifeline as my family live out of area and it means I can still see their faces.”

Dora said; “now we have pod in the garden I can see some family members, not 
touching is hard but having contact is important to me and the home have made 
this possible and safe."Page 152



3736 37

Brandon House Care Home also went to 
great lengths to keep in touch with staff with 
more frequent staff meetings via Zoom to 
keep all the staff updated. They
encouraged staff to bring their furry 
friends	into	work	which	benefited	both	
residents and staff alike and established a 
staff Whatsapp group to be able to send 
messages of support to everyone to keep 
them going or to ask for support and help 
when they needed it.
Staff were encourged to learn the facts 
about COVID-19 via a COVID notice board. 

The home also set up a POD for visting, 
which was funded from the Adult Social Care 
Infection Control Fund. They also made all the 
residents a framed picture of what they have 
been doing during lockdown.

Page 153



Understanding the views and experiences of adult 
social care CARERS 2020/21

Performance Matters 
On a yearly basis Adult Social Care undertake a survey of the experience of 
adults in receipt of support and every other year we undertake a survey of the 
experience of carers. This infographic shows our performance. This information 
helps us set our future priorities and identify any areas for improvement.  

The National Survey of Adults Carers in England did not take place in 2020 due to the 
pressures of COVID-19 however the survey will take in place in November 2021.  

NHS Digital due to COVID-19 did not 
require Local Authorities to undertake 
a survey in 2020. However, a decision 
was made by the Director of Adult 
Services to carry out a local survey to 
provide an opportunity for people 
in receipt of long-term support to 
share their views with us. We asked 
a smaller number of questions 
and used telephone calls as well 

Understanding the views and experiences of adult social 
care PEOPLE WITH CARE AND SUPPORT NEEDS 2020/21

as encouraging staff to help people 
complete the questionnaires. This survey 
was different to the usual annual survey 
and respondents were in a smaller 
number of settings which may not be 
representative of the population. 
The findings were positive though, with 
very few negative responses to any of 
the questions asked. 

38

Page 154



“Would 
like more 
consistency 
with carers.”

Total number 
of responses 
166 

93%  of 
people had 
a positive of 
experience of 
care services 
and support

Compared 
with 345 in 
2019/20

166

When analysing the results, although not comparable we tried to link these to the usual 
survey questions and as a result we found;

93% of 
people who 
are vulnerable 
felt safe and 
protected from 
harm

92%  of people with 
care and support needs had 
enhanced
quality of life

“Staff did well 
at keeping 
people safe.”

“Staff helped me 
stay in contact 
with friends 
and family.”

“I would like 
more social 
contact.”

“More 
chocolate.”

“Staff 
have done 
everything 

they can 
to support 

me.”

About the survey

75% 20% 5%
Aged 65+ Aged 18-64 Age 

unknown

We	also	asked	people	some	specific	questions	about	their	experience	during	the	pandemic,	
responses included;

39

Page 155



40

Celebrating Our Own Strengths  
Awards and Good News

Great British Care Awards 
Shortlisting 
The Great British Care Awards are a series of regional events 
throughout the UK and are a celebration of excellence across 
the care sector.  We have 7 staff/services shortlisted for 
the regional awards and if successful they will go on to the 
national	finals.

Councillor Mal Mutton, Cabinet Member for 
Adult Services, said;

“This is a fantastic achievement and I
send my congratulations to everyone 
who has been shortlisted.
The amazing and selfless work carried 
out by Adult Social Care staff often 
goes unnoticed so I’m delighted 
Coventry’s staff and teams are getting 
the spotlight. I wish them all well.”

April Ross, Service Manager, added;

“Just to be shortlisted is an achievement 
so well done to all. Good luck!”

Coventry’s nominations are:
Dolly Kirby: Housing with Care Award

Dawn Faulkner: Home Care Registered Managers Award

Terri Hallinan: Care Home Registered Managers Award

Telecare Responder Service includes mobile night team: Home Care award

Elizabeth O’Grady: The Ancillary worker Award

Copthorne Lodge: Housing with Care Award

Eric Williams House: Care Home Team Award

Page 156



41

Shared Lives Scheme
Do you have a room to 
spare and a life to share?
Relationships and human contact 
are so important to all of us, so 
how did Shared Lives ensure the 
people we supported made and 
maintained these relationships 
through such difficult times? 
COVID-19 has proven to be a 
challenge to all of us, having to 
change habits of a lifetime and 
losing those all-important contacts 
that are so important to us. 

Shared Lives with the help of Shared Lives 
carers, have helped to break the isolation felt 
by people with learning disabilities and helped 
them to keep in touch with family and friends. 
Kerry and Damien both live in Shared Lives 
placements with different carers. They have a 
very close relationship and although they don’t 
live together it’s extremely important to both of 
them that they continue to enjoy each other’s 
company and spend time together. Lockdown 
and the restrictions in place threw a challenge 
to both carers to support them maintaining 
that relationship. Through the use of Facetime 
and Zoom they were able to catch up with 
each other, enjoy meals together over Zoom 
and their carers organised virtual Bingo nights 
and fancy-dress discos, so both could enjoy 
some fun together and as shared lives families. 
Kerry and Damien also decided to make cards 
and write letters to each other and on their 
walks posted them, both thoroughly enjoying 
receiving their post. 
A lessening of restrictions allowed Kerry and 
Damien to meet once again and are being 

Interested in becoming a Shared Lives 
Carer? https://www.coventry.gov.uk/
sharedlivescommunity

Follow us on Twitter
@SharedLives18

Follow us on Facebook
Shared Lives Coventry 

supported to organise lots of days together. 
Shared Lives really is about supporting each 
other, giving individuals the opportunity to 
live with families who will support and nurture 
the opportunities to make and maintain 
real relationships. Kerry and Damien love 
sharing their life together on the Shared Lives 
Facebook and Twitter pages. If you would 
like to know more about our Scheme and see 
more stories and photos please take a look at 
our new website which explains the Scheme’s 
values and commitments to supporting 
people to live their lives the way they want to.  

www.coventry.gov.uk/sharedlives 

Page 157



42

The government 
produced guidance 
for people, including 
children, who were 
at very high risk of 
severe illness from 
COVID-19 because of 
an underlying health 
condition. This included 
the use of ‘Shielding’ 
as a measure to protect 
people during national 
lockdowns. People 
identified were strongly 
advised to stay at home 
at all times and avoid 
any face-to-face contact 
for a defined period 
after receiving a letter 
from the NHS. 

as needing to shield in Coventry

Shielding timeline
23/03/2020 – 
01/08/2020
clinically extremely 
vulnerable people 
were asked to
shield 

05/11/2020 – 02/12/2020 
clinically extremely 
vulnerable people were 
asked to follow additional 
precautions during the 
2nd national lockdown

05/01/2021 – 01/04/2021
clinically extremely vulnerable 
people were 
asked to 
shield again

Clinical Extremely Vulnerable and ‘Shielding’

15,743 people were 
identified

29,000 calls were made to check if people 
had access to food and check if 
they needed additional support

food parcels were delivered
1,300

social contact 
calls were made3,000

The library, customer 
services, CV life, adult 
social care and third sector 
organisations all worked 
together during the the 
three periods of shielding to 
support Coventry residents

Page 158



43

We are continuing to improve 
the physical environment for 
people supported in our internal 
services.

Maurice Edelman House is a care home for 
people with learning disabilities.
Residents used to have small bedrooms 
with a sink, with all other facilities 
being shared with other residents. New 
extensions meant we were able to create 
en-suite facilities offering a much-improved 
personal living space for residents.  

Improving our Internal Provision 

Quinton Lodge is a Housing with Care 
scheme for older adults, we have improved 
the shared communal space and there 
is now more space for people with 
mobility issues, more natural lighting for 
visual impaired and dementia friendly 
furnishings.

Principal Social Worker Annual Report
Most areas now have a Principal Social 
Worker for Adults and Children’s, supported 
by national and regional networks. The 
Care Act 2014 says local authorities should 
make arrangements to have a ‘qualified and 
registered social work professional practice 
lead’ in place.

In support of ensuring visibility for the role 
and celebrating achievements, our Adults 
Principal Social Worker, Andrew Errington, 
has produced a third annual report.

Read the report at www.coventry.gov.uk/apswannualreport

people were 
identified

Page 159



44

Reflecting on the last year, our own 
service model and our work with partner 
organisations we are continuing to frame our 
improvement work under the four key areas 
identified below. We are keen to continue 
to engage stakeholders in this work as we 
develop it to help ensure we are focussing on 
areas of greatest impact.
However, we recognise we will need to 
monitor the post pandemic impact of 

We have over several years been clear 
about our service focus on promoting 
independence.  We now want to take this 
model further and combine our resources 
with partners in the city to support people to 
prevent deterioration and to actively support 
themselves as much as possible. This means 
looking	first	at	what	people	can	do	with	
their skills, resources, relationships and their 
communities.  

Our Promoting Independence 
Model

This approach will help us to support people 
be as independent as possible and reduce 
and delay the need for people to move into 
residential care settings.

Locally Based Support

Accommodation Offering Care 
and Support

1

3

2

4

Our continued commitment to support 
people at home remains a priority.  However, 
when an alternative is required, we seek to 
ensure this offers the best opportunity for 
reablement and promoting independence.  
We will do this by encouraging and 
supporting the development of facilities 
within the city offering provision for people 
to live as independently as possible, even 
when they require care and support to do so.       

Providing the right accommodation within the 
city is a key part of enabling people to live as 
independently as possible and to be close to 
family and friends. This also reduces the need 
for more intrusive care and support.   

We will continue to work with the local care 
providers and to enable future stability and 
resilience by setting standards and managing 
costs robustly.  We will also utilise opportunities 
to work with local communities and 
organisations to improve access to support.  

This will strengthen our model of supporting 
people at home whilst including a focus on 
accessing the resources available in the local 
area, thus delaying and reducing the need 
for more formal packages of care.  

Digital Technology and 
Innovation 

In order to maintain and develop modern, 
person-centred services, we will use 
technology enabled care opportunities and 
ensure our workforce are equipped with 
technology to work agilely and support 
people effectively.  We will focus on self-
service wherever possible, giving people 
the opportunity to access adult social care 
on their terms, at a time and place of their 
choosing. 

The use of technology helps us support 
people to live as independently as possible 
and enables people to access services 
remotely	and	in	a	more	flexible	way.

‘’Our success in achieving the vision for Coventry 
depends on placing adults and carers at the 
heart of everything we do. We will ensure 
people we work with are involved as equal 
partners in planning and decision making.”

45

What’s Next? Key Improvement Themes for 
Adult Social Care 2021/22

changing demands on Adult Social Care as 
we move through 2021/22 and will adjust our 
improvement	areas	to	reflect	this	as	required.		
We will also adjust what we do as we move into 
a new landscape with Health of Integrated Care 
Systems.

Page 160



4544 45

Glossary
This section provides an explanation of some definitions and terms that appear throughout this document.  

Integrated Care Systems (ICS)

These are new partnerships between the 
organisations that meet health and care needs 
across an area, to coordinate services and to 
plan in a way that improves population health 
and reduces inequalities between different 
groups.

The Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS)

This is a charity representing Directors of Adult 
Social Services in England and a leading body 
on Social Care issues.
Care Act Easements
As part of the government’s response to 
the coronavirus pandemic, some temporary 
changes were made to the Care Act 2014. 
These changes, called ‘easements’ made it 
possible for local authorities to reduce their 
usual duties.
Promoting Independence
Short-term services which aim to maximise the 
independence of the individual. At the end of 
the support, ongoing care and support services 
will be arranged as required.
Short-term Support
Short term support that is intended to be 
time limited, with the aim of maximising the 
independence of the individual and reducing 
or eliminating their need for ongoing support 
by the Council. 
Safeguarding 
Safeguarding is how we work with people to 
prevent them experiencing harm from others 
or sometimes themselves. It includes helping 
people recover when they have been abused.
Carer Assessment 
If you care for someone, you can have an 
assessment to see what might help make your 
life easier. This is called a carer’s assessment.
Co-production
When	an	individual	influences	the	support	and	
services received, or when groups of people 
get	together	to	influence	the	way	that	services	

are designed, commissioned and delivered.
Transforming Care
Transforming Care is about improving health 
and care services so that more people with a 
learning disability and/or people with autism 
can live in the community, with the right support 
and close to home.
Personal Budgets
An amount of money the Council will pay 
towards any social care and support a person 
may need.
HOPE Programme
HOPE (Helping to Overcome Problems 
Effectively) courses are self-management 
support courses. They are designed to help 
people become more knowledgeable, skilled 
and	confident	in	managing	the	consequences	
of living with a long-term condition.
Community Treatment Order (CTO)
A community treatment order (CTO) is part 
of the Mental Health Act. A CTO allows you 
to leave hospital and be treated safely in the 
community rather than hospital.
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP)
A written plan for children and young people 
(up to 25) who have special educational needs 
or a disability that cannot be met by the support 
that is available at their school or college.
‘One Coventry’
One Coventry is how we describe the Council’s 
objectives, key strategies and approaches. It 
includes the Council’s vision and priorities; new 
ways of working; and core areas of activity.
Housing with Care
Housing with Care, sometimes known as Extra 
Care, is housing designed for older people, with 
various levels of care and support available on 
site.
Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund
Government grants to improve Infection 
Prevention Control measures in care homes, 
provided to Adults Social Care to facilitate 
access. Page 161



Useful Contacts
Adult Social Care and Communities Directory 
This online directory has all the information and advice you need in one central place, so you 
can	find	the	information	you	need	easily.	
Website: https://cid.coventry.gov.uk/

Council Contacts and Mental Health Services

Adult Social Care Direct The first point of contact for any referrals into 
Adult Social Care

024 7683 3003

Emergency Out of Hours 
(After 5pm Monday to 
Thursday, 4.30pm on 
Friday and throughout the 
weekend)

For urgent enquiries / emergencies only 
outside of normal office hours

024 7683 2222

Main Council Customer 
Services

The main switchboard for Coventry City 
Council

080 8583 4333

Central Booking Services 
(Mental Health Services) 

Run by Coventry and Warwickshire 
Partnership NHS Trust (CWPT), this is the first 
point of contact for people accessing mental 
health services and CWPT services

0300 200 0011

Other Organisations

Age UK Coventry Supporting adults 18+ providing information 
and advice, support and groups

024 7623 1999

Alzheimer’s Society 
Coventry

Supporting adults with a diagnosis of 
dementia and their families with the provision 
of information and advice and group-based 
support

0333 150 3456

Carers Trust Heart of 
England

One-stop shop for unpaid carers of  
all ages

024 7663 2972

Coventry & Warwickshire 
MIND

Support for people living with a mental health 
condition

024 7655 2847

Macmillan Cancer Support Cancer Support Service 024 7696 6052

Healthwatch  Independent organisation supporting people 
to have their say in health and social care 
services

024 7625 2011 

SEND Information, Advice 
and Support Service

Providing information and advice to 
young people with disabilities and special 
educational needs

024 7669 4307

46

Page 162



4746

Page 163



48

Special Thanks To….
Peter, Martin and Stephen

Carers Trust Heart of England

Sarah, Janet and Mohammed

Residents and staff at Eric Williams House 

Residents and staff at Weavers and 
Brandon House Care Homes

All care providers across the city

Kerry and Damien

The staff at Adult Social Care

All our partners

Contact Us 
You can contact us about this report at:  

getinvolved@coventry.gov.uk

For Adult Social Care Direct: 
email: ascdirect@coventry.gov.uk

Telephone: 024 7683 3003

More information about  
Adult Social Care can be found at: 

www.coventry.gov.uk/adultsocialcare

Page 164




Briefing note 

  
  

 

To:  Cabinet                                                                                                       12th October 2021 
 
 

15. Subject: Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local 
Account) – Comments from Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board 5 
 

 

 

   
 

1 Purpose of the Note 

1.1 To inform the Cabinet of the outcome of the discussions by Health and Social Care 
Scrutiny Board (5) regarding the Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of 
Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) at their meeting on 29th September 2021.  

2 Recommendation 

2.1 The Cabinet is recommended to note that the Health and Social Care Scrutiny 
Board (5) endorsed the Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of 
Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account). 

3 Background and Information 

3.1 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) considered the Adult Social Care Annual 
Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) on 29th September 
2021. 

3.2 Members of the Board praised the report and asked officers to consider options to 
ensure it was widely circulated, including possible distribution of the report via 
libraries. 

3.3 Members requested that the Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Officers 
present pass onto Adult Social Care staff their thanks for the outstanding hard work, 
commitment and dedication they had shown in providing an excellent service, 
despite of the challenges faced over the past year. Members also requested thanks 
be given to carers for the work they do to support individuals across the City. 

3.4 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board expressed concerns regarding the uncertain 
future of funding for Adult Social Care and Social Care reforms. The Board noted 
that the Cabinet Member for Adult Services had recently written to the Secretary of 
State for Health and Social Care to highlight these concerns.  

 

 
 
 

Victoria Castree 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator 
Tel: 024 7697 1699 
Email: Victoria.castree@coventry.gov.uk 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 12 October 2021 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change - Councillor J O’Boyle 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Transportation and Highways 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Coventry Transport Strategy 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum and are likely to 

have a significant impact on residents or businesses two or more electoral wards in the 
City. 

 

Executive Summary: 
 
Coventry City Council has developed a draft Coventry Transport Strategy (see Appendix 1 to the 
report). The strategy sets out a long-term (15 year) vision for the way that people and goods will 
travel to, from and around the city in the future. It is intended to achieve 4 broad objectives - 
supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth, delivering a sustainable, 
low carbon transport system, ensuring equality of opportunity and maximising health and 
wellbeing – and seeks to exploit new technologies and ideas, which are being developed in the 
city, in order to achieve these. 
 
The draft strategy is closely linked to the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) for the region as a whole.  The LTP is currently under review, and the 
Coventry Transport Strategy will form part of the final West Midlands LTP. 
 
It is proposed to carry out public consultation on the draft Coventry Transport Strategy (CTS), 
with a view to asking Members to adopt a final version before the end of March 2022. 
 
The strategy is supported by a separate draft Implementation Plan (see Appendix 2 to the 
report), focused primarily on the first five years (2022/23 – 2026/27). This sets out the specific 
transport schemes that will be delivered in order to implement the strategy and reflects an 
expected five-year funding settlement between the Department for Transport (DfT) and the 
WMCA - the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) – which is expected to 
provide the bulk of the funding required for many of these schemes. 
 

Page 167

Agenda Item 7



 

  

Discussions between DfT and WMCA are still ongoing, however it is expected that a final funding 
allocation will be confirmed before the end of 2021 as part of Government’s Comprehensive 
Spending Review. The draft Implementation Plan will therefore be updated to reflect this, prior to 
Members being asked to adopt a final version before the end of March 2022.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to:  
 
1) Approve the draft Coventry Transport Strategy as shown in Appendix 1 to the report, for 

public consultation. 
 
2) Note that following the consultation, a further report will be produced for Cabinet to adopt the 

Coventry Transport Strategy. 
 

List of Appendices included: 
 

• Appendix 1: Draft Coventry Transport Strategy 

• Appendix 2: Draft Implementation Plan 

• Appendix 3: TfWM Local Transport Plan Green Paper 

• Appendix 4: Draft WMCA CRSTS Prospectus 

• Appendix 5: Summary of Let’s Talk Survey Results  
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
The draft strategy makes reference to a number of recently published Government strategy 
documents, including: 

• Decarbonising Transport: A Better, Greener Britain 

• Bus Back Better: A National Strategy for England 

• Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Cycling and Walking  

• Great British Railways: The Williams-Shapps Plan for Rail 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No – However, a Briefing Note and Presentation on the Coventry Transport Strategy were 
considered by the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) at their meeting on 8 
September 2021. 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No – However, a presentation on the draft strategy was considered by the Disability Equality 
Action Partnership at their meeting on 12 August 2021 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bus-back-better
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/great-british-railways-williams-shapps-plan-for-rail


 

  

Report title:  Coventry Transport Strategy 
 
1. Context 
 
1.1 The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) is the statutory transport authority for the 

West Midlands area, including Coventry. The WMCA has a duty to prepare and implement 
a Local Transport Plan (LTP).   
 

1.2 The current LTP, Movement for Growth, is currently being reviewed to reflect recent 
national and regional policy changes, notably in relation to climate change, and Transport 
for West Midlands (TfWM), the transport delivery body for the WMCA, has published a 
Green Paper to start this process. This is currently out for consultation and has been 
appended to this report for reference (see Appendix 3 to the report). 

 
1.3 Coventry City Council is closely engaged with this review and it has been agreed that the 

WMCA’s LTP will be integrated with local Transport Strategies for each individual 
constituent authority (although the four Black Country authorities are working together on a 
joint strategy for the Black Country). Birmingham, Coventry and Solihull are therefore all 
producing individual Transport Strategies for their areas and, subject to Cabinet approval, it 
is now proposed to carry out public consultation on the draft Transport Strategy for 
Coventry. 

 
1.4 Delivery of both the WMCA LTP and Coventry’s associated Transport Strategy will be 

strongly linked to the availability of required funding, including the recently announced City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS).  

 
1.5 CRSTS comprises £4.2 billion of Government funding which will be allocated across the 

eight English Mayoral Combined Authorities to spend on transport schemes. The 
Department for Transport (DfT) has advised the WMCA that the West Midlands can expect 
to receive somewhere between £780 million and £1.28 billion from this fund. Some 
additional funding for core Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance programmes 
will also be added to added to this and TfWM/Coventry City Council will also still be able to 
access various separate funding streams including, for example, the £50 million already 
secured to deliver an All Electric Bus City. 

 
1.6 The WMCA has recently submitted a prospectus to DfT (see Appendix 4 to the report) 

which includes proposals for £1.7 billion worth of investment in transport schemes in the 
West Midlands. It is expected that DfT will confirm a final funding settlement before the end 
of 2021.  

 
1.7 The draft Coventry Transport Strategy and draft Implementation Plan are therefore 

intended to reflect both TfWM’s emerging LTP and the proposed CRSTS funding 
arrangements, as well as the City Council’s own strategic policy objectives for the city. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 As noted above, the draft Transport Strategy and Implementation Plan have been 

developed in conjunction with TfWM’s ongoing LTP review and the CRSTS negotiations.  
 

2.2 In addition to this, the Strategy has also been informed by: 
 

• A desktop review of other existing policy commitments and strategies 

• A further review of evidence relating to how the city’s transport network currently operates 

• A series of workshops held with internal and external stakeholders 

• A Let’s Talk survey of residents (see section 3 of the report). 

Page 169



 

  

 
2.3 Based on all the above, a set of four core objectives have been identified and the draft 

strategy has been constructed around these. These reflect the Council’s broader, emerging 
priorities. They are: 
 

• Supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth 

• Delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system 

• Ensuring equality of opportunity 

• Maximising health and wellbeing. 
 

2.4 In order to achieve these objectives, a fundamental change is needed in the way in which 
both people and goods travel to, from and around Coventry.  In particular, current levels of 
car travel will simply not be sustainable in the future as the city continues to grow. The draft 
Transport Strategy therefore sets out plans to create a city where it is easy, convenient and 
safe to walk, cycle and travel on public transport, and where most people do not need to 
use a car to access the services that they need for day-to-day life. 
 

2.5 This includes, for example: 
 

• Making substantial improvements to the city’s public transport network, including 
establishing a Very Light Rail (VLR) system and making improvements to existing rail and 
bus services 

• Creating a better, safer environment for pedestrians and cyclists, including building a 
network of segregated cycleways and further pedestrianisation of the city centre and other 
local centres. This will be aimed at ensuring that residents can access most of the services 
and amenities that they need within a 20-minute walking/cycling distance 

• Accelerating the shift towards zero emission vehicles, including establishing a fully electric 
public transport system and further expanding the existing public network of charge points 
for electric vehicles. This will be supported by renewable power generated locally 

• Delivering targeted improvements to the city’s road network. These will be aimed at 
meeting travel demand associated with new development, removing through traffic from 
residential areas (by making improvements to more strategic routes in order to reduce ‘rat 
running’) and reducing air pollution generated by congestion hot spots, as opposed to 
increasing the capacity for car travel overall. New roads such as the Keresley Link Road 
will not be designed exclusively for cars and will also provide for pedestrians, cyclists 
and/or public transport 

• Developing a more seamless transport system, enabled by 5G and making use of 
innovative transport solutions, such as mircromobility and demand responsive transport 

• Promoting behaviour change through engagement with local schools and businesses and 
through schemes that incentivise sustainable travel choices. 
 

3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 

3.1 To inform the draft Transport Strategy, the Council carried out an initial survey of residents 
via Let’s Talk. The survey collected views on the strengths and weaknesses of the city’s 
current transport network and on residents’ aspirations for the future. 262 people took part. 
 

3.2 An analysis of the survey results has been appended to this report (see Appendix 5 to the 
report). However, in summary, the survey showed high levels of support for improved 
infrastructure for walking and cycling and for investment in the city’s public transport 
system, including establishing a mass transit system, such as VLR.  
 

3.3 The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) considered the draft Transport 
Strategy at their meeting on the 8th September 2021. The Board raised the following points 
to be considered as part of the consultation on the draft Transport Strategy:  

Page 170



 

  

 

• That ward Members are kept up to date on activity which is planned for their wards, 
including formal consultations and consultation results. 

 

• The connectivity between different modes of transport on key routes across the city and the 
wider region is highlighted in the strategy. 

 

3.4     It is now proposed to carry out further public consultation on the draft Coventry Transport 
Strategy. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Subject to Cabinet approval, the draft Coventry Transport Strategy will be suitably 

formatted and subject to a period of public consultation. It is expected that this will include a 
mixture of further online engagement through Let’s Talk and public/stakeholder meetings.  
The consultation will commence before the end of 2021.  
 

4.2 The draft Coventry Transport Strategy and Implementation Plan will then be reviewed to 
take into account the results of the consultation and the final CRSTS funding 
arrangements. Members could then be asked to adopt a final version of these documents 
before the end of March 2022. This timeline broadly aligns with the implementation of 
TfWM’s revised LTP review and the CRSTS settlement, both of which are intended to come 
into effect in early 2022.  

 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
 The production of the draft Coventry Transport Strategy does not, in itself, have any direct 

financial implications for the City Council.  It does, though, provide the strategic policy 
framework for future bids for funding for transport schemes that the Council intends to bring 
forward, and will therefore strengthen the business cases that are submitted to funding 
bodies such as the DfT or the WMCA. 

 
 The draft Implementation Plan which sits alongside the draft Strategy lists the transport 

schemes and programmes that are identified as being necessary to support the successful 
delivery of the transport strategy objectives, along with the secured and unsecured funding 
and the sources of that funding.  In addition to the CRSTS, there are several funding 
streams available to the City Council, including the Active Travel Fund, the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, the Air Quality Implementation Fund, Large Local Major Scheme 
funding, Transforming Cities Fund, developer funding secured through Section 106 
Agreements, Growth Deal and the Levelling-up Fund. 

 
5.2 Legal implications 
 
5.2.1 The statutory requirement to produce a Local Transport Plan sits with the WMCA rather 

than the City Council.  There is no legal obligation on the City Council to produce a 
Transport Strategy and as such there are no formal legal requirements in relation to 
consultation.   

 
5.2.2 However, it is considered that having a Transport Strategy in place will strengthen the 

Council’s position when it comes to securing funding for transport schemes, negotiating 
with third parties such as land use developers, and in working with transport bodies to 
secure improvements to the transport network and services within Coventry.  

 

Page 171



 

  

6. Other implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 The draft Transport Strategy directly supports the following objectives set out in the current 

Council Plan: 
 

• Developing the city centre for the 21st century by enhancing the quality of public spaces 

• Creating the infrastructure for the city to grow and thrive by making the city more accessible 
for businesses, visitors and local people through better road, rail and digital connections 

• Increasing the supply, choice and quality of housing 

• Creating an attractive, cleaner and greener city 

• Improving health and wellbeing by helping local residents lead healthier lifestyles including 
better mental health 
 
In addition, by adopting an innovative approach to future transport and by investing in new 
technologies with local supply chains, such as Very Light Rail, the strategy will help to 
create new job opportunities in the city. 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 The draft Implementation Plan sets out details of a pipeline of transport schemes which will 

be delivered over the lifetime of the strategy, together with the timescales within which it is 
currently expected that these will be delivered. However, there are risks associated with the 
delivery of any infrastructure scheme and, in practice, it is highly likely that over time there 
will need to be changes to the detail of the Implementation Plan.  

 
 This could be, for example, as a result of difficulty securing scheme funding, some 

schemes being deemed unviable or more suitable alternatives being identified and 
feedback from public consultations. The long-term effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
residents’ travel habits, which are not yet fully understood, also adds a further element of 
uncertainty to this, and could affect the business case for some individual schemes. To 
manage this, it is proposed to take a flexible approach to delivering the Implementation 
Plan and to keep it under regular review.  

 
 An Annual Progress Report will therefore be prepared to outline progress in implementing 

the Coventry Transport Strategy, and to report any changes to the Implementation Plan. 
 
 Individual schemes will also be subject to the Council’s usual processes for risk 

management, as part of their governance arrangements. This will be proportionate to the 
stage of scheme development/delivery which they are at and the level of spend associated 
with them. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 There are no direct impacts on the organisation in terms of staffing or resourcing. However, 

the Transport Strategy sets out plans to reduce the level of car travel in the city overall and 
this would potentially benefit a number of Council services. For example, it would reduce 
delays that may currently affect various Council vehicles during their day-to-day business. 

 
 Similarly, plans to improve the city’s public transport network and to make it easier to walk 

and cycle around the city could make it easier for many residents to access many Council 
services.  

 
 

Page 172

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

The draft Coventry Transport Strategy has been discussed at a meeting of the Disability 
Equality Action Partnership, which will continue to be a key stakeholder as the draft 
Strategy is developed into the final Strategy.  An EIA has been undertaken for the draft 
Transport Strategy.  As set out in paragraph 2.3 of the report, the core objectives of the 
draft Strategy including ensuring equality of opportunity and maximising health and 
wellbeing for Coventry’s residents and users of the transport system. 
 
In addition, individual schemes within the draft Implementation Plan are all subject to the 
EIA process as part of their project and programme management process. 

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 The decarbonisation of the transport system is at the heart of the draft Coventry Transport 

Strategy, with delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system being one of the four 
core objectives of the draft Strategy.  This approach is critical to enable Coventry City 
Council to achieve its carbon emissions reduction targets. 

 
 Transport is currently the single largest source of greenhouse gas emissions, both 

nationally and in the West Midlands. The draft Transport Strategy sets out plans to address 
this by bringing about a significant change in the way in which we travel over the next 15 
years, with the goal of delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system through the 
delivery of projects such as the Very Light Rail network, constructing a network of fully 
segregated cycle routes, and providing charging infrastructure to support the increased 
take-up of zero emission vehicles by residents and businesses. 

 
 As well as helping to meet both national and regional/local climate change targets, this 

approach directly contributes to several of the United Nations 17 goals for Sustainable 
Development, including promoting good health and wellbeing, reducing inequalities and 
promoting sustainable cities and communities.  

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations?  
 
 Delivering a change in the way in which we travel will have significant, and mainly positive, 

implications for local communities. These will include, for example, reduced air pollution, 
fewer road traffic accidents and improved levels of physical activity among local residents.  

 
 In addition, delivery of the Transport Strategy will also have impacts on other partner 

organisations, including neighbouring local authorities, private sector public transport 
operators and local employers. Many of these partners have already been engaged in the 
development of the draft strategy and there will be further stakeholder engagement as part 
of the proposed public consultation. 

 
 The draft Transport Strategy complements the emerging Local Transport Plans currently 

being reviewed by the WMCA and by Warwickshire County Council, as well as regional 
strategies being developed by Midlands Connect, strategies developed by delivery 
agencies such as National Highways and Network Rail, and operational strategies of 
transport operators, notably bus and rail companies. 

 
 The Partner organisations will need to co-operate in order to successfully deliver the 

strategy and to ensure that appropriate measures are in place to monitor performance, 
including measuring the reduction in carbon emissions arising from changes to residents’ 
travel habits. 

 

Page 173



 

  

Report author(s):   
 
Name and job title: 
John Seddon 
Head of Transport and Innovation 
 
Service: 
Transportation and Highways 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Email: John.seddon@coventry.gov.uk 
Tel: 0759 0443 799 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

14.09.2021 14.09.2021 

Phil Helm Finance Manager Finance 22.09.2021 22.09.2021 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Sunny Heer Lead Accountant Finance 14.09.2021 17.09.2021 

Oluremi Aremu  Major Projects Lead 
Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

14.09.2021 22.09.2021 

Colin Knight Director of 
Transportation and 
Highways 

- 14.09.2021 17.09.2021 

Councillor J O’Boyle Cabinet Member for 
Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change 

- 20.09.2021 21.09.2021 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  

Page 174

mailto:John.seddon@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


APPENDIX 1 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Purpose of this strategy 

 
A safe, sustainable and reliable transport system is essential to the effective functioning of any 
community, and Coventry is no different.  This strategy sets out Coventry City Council’s plans to 
deliver a transport system that meets the need of the city’s population, businesses and wider 
community, providing access to community facilities and supporting a thriving economy and a 
healthy population.   
 
It sets out plans to bring about a fundamental change to the way that people and goods travel to, 
from and around the city in the future, and identifies how we will work with various partners to 
achieve this.   
 
More specifically, it includes:  

• the case for change.  A summary of how our transport system is working currently and why it 
needs to change 

• a long-term vision, including a set of objectives which we will aim to meet over the next 15 years  

• a broad description of what we will do over the lifetime of the strategy (2022/23 – 2036/37) to 
achieve these objectives.  Further detail is set out in an accompanying Implementation Plan  

• a summary of how we will measure our progress, through annual reporting. 
 
This strategy is fully integrated with the West Midlands Local Transport Plan, and the two 
documents together provide the transport policy framework for Coventry. 
 
The strategy will be subject to regular review, to allow for response to changes in national or 
regional policies, the emergence of new technology such as autonomous vehicles, or to respond to 
changes in travel behaviour, such as those brought about during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
An Annual Progress Report will also be prepared to outline progress in implementing the strategy, 
and to report any changes to the Implementation Plan. 
 
1.2 Vision and key principles 
 
The overall purpose of our strategy is to offer a safe, sustainable, equitable and resilient transport 
system, which enables our residents, visitors and businesses to thrive.  In seeking to realise this 
vision, there are also some important principles that we will adhere to.   
 
We will: 

• engage with local residents and businesses and ensure that our plans reflect and incorporate 
their views 

• strive to ensure that all parts of the transport system are accessible to everyone 

• be flexible in how we achieve our objectives, recognising that we are entering a period of 
considerable uncertainty 

• be innovative.  Coventry already has a reputation as a leader in the field of transport innovation.  
We will seek to maintain and strengthen this over the lifetime of the strategy 

• balance tackling local challenges with improving Coventry’s regional, national and international 
connections 

• balance detailed short and medium-term planning with longer-term thinking  

Page 175



• take a ‘multi-modal’ approach, recognising that no one form of transport can meet everybody’s 
travel needs.  This will include actively considering walking, cycling and any emerging modes of 
travel arising from new technology 

• think holistically, combining physical improvements to the city’s infrastructure with other 
measures, including for example measures that encourage and incentivise people to change 
their travel habits  

• align our strategy with those of our neighbours and with other key partners working in the 
region, and work collaboratively with them to implement it. 

 
1.3 Engagement with residents 
 
As part of the work to develop this strategy, we carried out a survey of residents, using the Council’s 

online consultation platform Let’s Talk, over February and March 2021.  In total more than 250 

residents participated.  The views of individual survey participants have been included throughout 

the strategy to illustrate key points.  Further consultation will take place as the draft strategy 

evolves, and the annual reporting process will also provide a forum for people to comment on our 

progress in delivering the strategy. 

  

Page 176



1. STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
This section summarises the current priorities of international, national, regional and local 
policymakers, which have influenced this strategy.  It identifies the key strategies which support, or 
which are supported by, this document. 
 
2.1 International priorities 
 
There are a number of international agreements which are relevant to this strategy. 
 
Tackling climate change 
 
In 2015, the UK joined 196 other parties in signing the Paris Agreement on climate change.  This was 
a major international commitment to a goal of keeping global temperature rise this century to well 
below 2 degrees Celsius (compared to pre-industrial levels) and to pursue efforts to limit this even 
further to 1.5 degrees. To deliver on this commitment, in 2019 the Government set itself a legally 
binding target to achieve ‘net zero’ greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.   
 
Ensuring sustainable development 
 
Also in 2015, the United Nations published its Sustainable Development Goals, described as 17 goals 
to transform our world.  These aim to address major global challenges, including poverty and 
inequality, health and education and climate change, and should be a consideration in all nations’ 
plans for the future. 
 
The 17 goals are: 

• No poverty 

• Zero hunger 

• Good health and wellbeing 

• Quality education 

• Gender equality 

• Clean water and sanitation 

• Affordable and clean energy 

• Decent work and economic growth 

• Industry, innovation and infrastructure 

• Reduced inequalities 

• Sustainable cities and communities 

• Responsible consumption and production 

• Climate action 

• Life below water 

• Life on land 

• Peace, justice and strong institutions 

• Partnerships for the goals 

 
2.2 National priorities 
 
The UK Government has also identified its own strategic priorities, several of which are directly 
relevant to this strategy. 
 
Tackling climate change 
 
As noted above, the UK Government is legally committed to achieving net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2050.  As transport is currently the largest source of emissions, Government is 
targeting a major shift in the way that people and goods travel in order to achieve this.   
 
In July 2021 the Department for Transport (DfT) published Decarbonising Transport: A Better, 
Greener Great Britain, its strategy to achieve this.  The strategy’s priorities include encouraging a 
shift in travel behaviour away from car travel and towards both public and active transport, 

Page 177



replacing existing passenger and freight vehicles with zero emission alternatives and establishing the 
UK as a hub for green transport technology and innovation. 
 
More detailed plans are set out in various further strategy documents focused on specific modes, 
including: 

• the Williams-Shapps Plan for Rail – a White Paper which proposes substantial reforms of the rail 
industry.  This will see major changes, including the creation of a new organisation, Great British 
Rail, and the publishing of a new 30-year strategy covering the rail industry as a whole 

• Bus Back Better – a new National Bus Strategy aimed at reversing a long-term decline in levels of 
bus patronage (outside of London).  It includes plans to make services more frequent and more 
reliable, to better integrate services that are operated by different bus companies and to 
accelerate the rollout of electric buses 

• Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Walking and Cycling – a further strategy focused on bringing 
about a long-term shift towards active travel.  Gear Change includes a specific commitment to 
ensure that by 2030 50 per cent of all journeys in towns and cities will be made by walking and 
cycling.   

 
As well as enabling the UK to achieve its goal of being Net Zero by 2050, these changes also form a 
key part of the Government’s economic strategy.  In November 2020 the Government published The 
Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution, which sets out plans to invest in order to both boost 
to country’s economic recovery, following the Covid-19 pandemic, and to tackle climate change.  The 
key transport priorities included in that plan are:  

• accelerating the shift to zero emission vehicles 

• green public transport, walking and cycling.  
 
‘Levelling up’ across the UK 
 
Government has also expressed a desire to address economic inequalities between different parts of 
the country.  This includes reducing deprivation in parts of the Midlands and the North of England, 
which are perceived to have been ‘left behind’ economically over recent decades.  Investment in 
transport infrastructure to improve connectivity across the Midlands and the North is a key 
component of this.   
 
In the West Midlands, major planned investments include:  

• HS2, a new high-speed rail line connecting London to the North of England.  Two stations are 
being built in the West Midlands, in Solihull and central Birmingham 

• the Midlands Rail Hub, a £2 billion package of further rail improvements  

• improvements to the region’s Strategic Road Network, via Highways England’s current and 
future Road Investment Strategies, including the grade separation of the Binley and Walsgrave 
junctions on the A46 Coventry Eastern Bypass.  

 
These investments are intended to support the region’s recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and 
to secure future economic growth. 
 
Building more homes 
 
The Government has set a target to significantly increase the number of new homes being built to 
300,000 per year.  One of the policy measures being introduced to achieve this is substantial reform 
of the planning system.  This is expected to result in many Councils being set more challenging 
targets for the number of new homes that need to be built in their area in the future, creating 
further travel demand which will need to be met in a sustainable way. 

Page 178



 
2.3 Regional priorities 
 
The picture with regards to regional priorities is more complex.  There are several different bodies 
with an interest in improving transport across the Midlands, each of which has a different remit and, 
in many cases, covers a slightly different geographic area.  Each of these organisations has its own 
strategic priorities. 
 
However, of particular importance is Transport for West Midlands’ (TfWM) regional transport 
strategy, Movement for Growth.  This strategy is intended to align closely with Movement for 
Growth and to set out Coventry’s local contribution to achieving the region’s wider vision and 
objectives. 
 
Movement for Growth is currently under review.  A Green Paper published by TfWM in June 2021 
makes clear that the refreshed strategy is expected focus on addressing five ‘motivations for 
change’.  These are tackling the climate emergency, reducing transport inequality, reducing physical 
inactivity, enhancing local communities & places and building a strong inclusive economy. 
 
Also of particular significance is the West Midlands Combined Authority’s (WMCA’s) Climate Change 
Strategy, #WM2041.  This sets a target for the region to achieve net zero status by 2041, nine years 
earlier than the current national target.  In 2016 transport accounted for 39 per cent of the region’s 
emissions.  
 
Other key regional strategies, which are also supported by this document include: 

• The West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy  

• WMCA’s Strategic Economic Plan, Making our Mark  

• Coventry & Warwickshire Local Economic Partnership’s (CWLEP) Updated Strategic Economic 
Plan  

• CWLEP’s Strategic Reset Framework 

• Midlands Connect’s Powering the Midlands Engine 

• The Coventry & Warwickshire Health Protection Strategy. 
 
As with the Government’s Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution at a national level, several 
of these documents set out the benefits of investing in green industries in order to create jobs and 
tackle climate change.  There is a clear aspiration to make the West Midlands a focal point for 
research into, and for the manufacturing of, zero emission transport options, such as electric 
vehicles and Very Light Rail (a new form of battery powered mass transit, similar to existing tram 
systems but suitable for smaller cities).  
 
2.4 Local priorities 
 
At a local level, there are also several relevant plans and strategies.  However, of particular 
importance is the Council’s current Local Plan, which covers the period 2011-31 and which sets out 
plans to stimulate economic growth and to meet a growing housing need.  
 
Coventry is a rapidly growing city, with a need for a large number of new homes.  The current Local 
Plan makes provision for 25,000 new homes to be built.  In addition, further commercial 
development is also planned.  This includes, for example, the establishment of a new business 
district at Friargate, in the city centre, and the regeneration of City Centre South.  These 
developments, which are described in more detail in section 4, will create a significant increase in 

Page 179



travel demand, which will need to be met in sustainable way, without worsening existing levels of 
congestion or the city’s carbon footprint.  
 
The Council is also currently working with various partners on establishing an Independent 
Commission for a Sustainable Coventry.  Once established, the Commission will develop a new 
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan.  This will set out detailed plans to reduce Coventry’s 
annual CO2 emissions to net zero by 2041, or earlier if possible.  
 
Other key local strategies, which are also supported by this document include: 

• The Coventry Health and Wellbeing Strategy, MARMOT Strategy and the Director of Public 
Health’s Annual Report 

• Coventry City Council’s Local Air Quality Action Plan 

• Coventry City Council’s Economic Growth and Prosperity Strategy 

• Coventry City Council’s Electric Vehicle and Charging Infrastructure Strategy 

• Coventry City Council’s City Centre Area Action Plan 

• The Coventry Partnership’s Sustainable Community Strategy 

• Coventry City Council’s Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy 

• Coventry City Council’s Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
 
Several of these local strategies place a strong emphasis on ensuring that economic growth is 
inclusive and that it benefits those who are currently economically disadvantaged, as well as the 
need to rapidly reduce the city’s carbon footprint and to improve health outcomes for local 
residents.   
 
2.4 Summary 
 
Considering all these national, regional and local strategies together, a clear set of priorities emerge.  
These suggest a need for this strategy to: 

• reduce the level of greenhouse gas emissions from transport, ultimately to net zero 

• support the city’s economy to recover from the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and secure 
future economic growth, including by investing in green industries such as zero emission 
transport 

• ensure that future growth is inclusive and delivers benefits for those who are on lower incomes 
or who are currently excluded from the labour market 

• capitalise on the potential benefits of HS2 and other planned improvements to regional, national 
and international connectivity 

• deliver improved public health outcomes for residents 

• enable new homes to be built to meet a growing housing need, and to meet the increased travel 
demand arising from this in a sustainable way.  
 

These issues are explored in more detail in section 4.   

Page 180



2. CURRENT TRAVEL PATTERNS 
 
This section provides a brief summary of recent travel patterns in and around Coventry, including 
the places that people most commonly travel to and form and the modes of transport that they 
most commonly use.  
 
3.1 Travel demand 
 
In 2018 there were 366,800 people living in Coventry, making it the 9th largest city in England.  It is 
also a rapidly growing city, in the past ten years, its population has grown by a fifth, making it the 
second-fastest growing local authority outside of London.   
 
This generates a significant level of travel demand, both within the city and to and from 
neighbouring areas.  Demand is particularly high during peak commuting hours, when large numbers 
of people travel to and from places like Nuneaton and Bedworth, Warwick, Rugby and Birmingham.  
However, the largest group of commuters are those who both live and work within Coventry.  In 
2011 it was estimated that 78,000 residents regularly commuted within the city. 
 
However, travel demand fell significantly during the Covid-19 pandemic and this particularly affected 
commuter journeys.  For example, a TfWM survey showed that, across the West Midlands, more 
than half of all workers worked from home during the initial lockdown period from March 2020. 
 
3.2 Current travel patterns by mode 
 
Car travel 
 
Coventry is a city that is largely dominated by car travel.   
 
Both the total number of cars owned by Coventry residents and the number of cars per household 
have been increasing steadily over the long-term.  In recent years, the Council has encouraged 
residents to switch from petrol and diesel to electric, and other zero emission, vehicles, including by 
installing more than 400 electric vehicle charge points – one of the largest public networks of charge 
points in the country.   
 
Government statistics show that the number of electric vehicles in Coventry is increasing rapidly.  
However, they remain a small minority of the total.  At the end of 2020 there were 613 battery 
electric vehicles registered to addresses in the city.  When other forms of ultra-low emission 
vehicles, such as plug-in hybrids, are also included this figure rises to 1,017. 
 
Regular counts of private and public transport trips into the centre of Coventry show that between 
2007 and 2019 car travel consistently accounted for around 70 per cent of both in-bound and out-
bound trips.  This is particularly true of commuter journeys, with data from the Council’s regular 
household survey suggesting that, both before and during the Covid-19 pandemic, around 70 per 
cent of commuter journeys made by Coventry residents were made by car (either as a driver or as a 
passenger).   
 
The Council’s household survey also shows that residents believe that car is the easiest way to 
travel, in 2021 85 per cent of respondents agreed that it was easy to get around Coventry that way.  
However, despite this, congestion is common on the parts of the city’s road network, particularly 
during peak hours.  Furthermore, the high volume of car trips also contributes heavily to the city’s 

Page 181



carbon footprint, as well as creating air pollution and leading to around 600-700 casualties from 
road traffic accidents every year. These issues are discussed in more detail in section 4. 
 

 
While there were substantial falls in the number of people travelling during the Covid-19 pandemic, 
car travel did not fall as sharply as other modes during lockdowns and was quicker to recover 
afterwards.  By June 2021, the total number of cars on the city’s roads had pre-Covid levels, albeit 
with less pronounced peaks during the morning and afternoon ‘rush hours’. 
 
Public transport 
 
The city is served by four railway stations (Coventry, Tile Hill, Canley and Coventry Arena) and has 
good rail connections to London, with (prior to the emergency rail timetables introduced during the 
pandemic) 3 high speed trains per hour from Coventry, and Birmingham, with 6 trains per hour from 
Coventry.  Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, passenger numbers were increasing steadily, with the 
Office of Rail and Road estimating that there were more than 9 million entries and exits across the 
city’s 4 stations in 2019/20. 
 
However, there is significant scope to improve the city’s rail connectivity.  For example, local services 
to Leamington, Kenilworth and Nuneaton currently only run once per hour, while the city has no 
direct rail links to the East Midlands at all.  As a result, Midlands Connect estimate that only 3 per 
cent of trips between Coventry and Leicester are made by rail.  This compares to 30 per cent of trips 
between Coventry and Birmingham. 
 

 
The city also has an extensive network of bus services.  This is largely based on a series of radial 
routes which connect the city centre to various residential and employment centres.  Longer 
distance services also connect it to neighbouring conurbations including, for example, Nuneaton, 
Bedworth and Solihull. 
 

“The only convenient and safe way to travel is via a car” 

“When there are more cars back on the road again, the sheer volume of traffic is just too much” 

“Car traffic is terrible at peak times” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

“Good railway links to London and Birmingham, and thus to the rest of the UK from these nodes” 

“The frequency of trains in and out of Coventry might be increased, for instance to Nuneaton and 

other places where people who live in Coventry… work” 

“Although rail services are much improved compared to 20-30 years ago, much still needs to be 

done in terms of providing services direct to more destinations” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 182



However, there are some challenges regarding the reliability of services, which can be affected by 
congestion on the road network, and the frequency of services on some routes, particularly outside 
of peak hours.  The radial nature of the city’s bus network also means that many passengers need to 
travel into the city centre in order to change buses.  This often leads to longer journey times that are 
not competitive, compared to travelling by car.  Furthermore, disabled residents, particularly 
wheelchair users, have raised concerns about difficulties accessing services.   

 
Prior to Covid-19, levels of bus patronage had remained broadly consistent in recent years.  
However, during the pandemic, the sharpest falls in travel demand were seen on public transport.  
During the initial lockdown in March 2020 bus patronage dropped to around 10 per cent of pre-
Covid levels and rail to around 2 per cent.  At the time of publication, these still have not recovered 
to anything close to pre-pandemic levels.  
 
Walking and cycling 
 
Although Coventry is a relatively compact city, the number of people walking and cycling is not as 
high as it could be.   
 
While data from the Council’s household survey suggests that many residents walk when escorting 
children to school or travelling to their own place of education, in 2018 only 12 per cent of 
commuters travelled to work on foot.  In 2021, during the Covid-19 pandemic, this fell even further 
to 9 per cent.  
 
Levels of cycling are particularly low, accounting for only around 1 per cent of journeys into the 
centre of Coventry and between 1 and 4 per cent of residents’ journeys when they are commuting, 
escorting children to school or traveling to their own place of education.  
 
A lack of convenient and safe routes for cyclists is likely to be a barrier to higher levels of uptake.  In 
2021 only 52 per cent of residents agreed that it was easy to travel around Coventry by bike.  This is 
significantly fewer than the number who felt it was easy to walk, drive and travel on public 
transport. 
 

 

“Coventry is a city (where) you can cycle to most places quite quickly but the roads don’t feel very 

safe for cyclists” 

“Getting around Coventry by bicycle is not a pleasant or safe feeling thing to do” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

 “Bus services are generally good, but need a more regular service outside peak times” 

“The bus network, whilst the coverage is good, doesn’t always perform reliably” 

“Bus routes are generally good but certain journeys across the city are slow because of (the) need 

to go via (the) city centre and change” 

“Buses do not have enough seating for passengers that are wheelchair users” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 183



3. THE CASE FOR CHANGE 
 
This section provides a summary of the key challenges that this strategy is intended to address.  It is 
informed by national, regional and local priorities and by how the city’s transport system is 
operating currently, as set out in sections 2 and 3.   
 
In summary, we have identified seven specific challenges which this strategy is intended to address, 
and which are discussed below. 
 
4.1 Tackling climate change 
 
As noted in section 2, the UK Government has set itself a legally binding target to achieve net zero 
carbon emissions by 2050, while as a region the West Midlands is currently aiming to reach this 
milestone nine years earlier. 
 
Coventry City Council is currently working on a new Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, which 
will set out in detail our plans to achieve net zero by 2041, or earlier if possible.  However, it is 
already clear that a major change in the way in which we travel will be required to achieve this.  
Midlands Connect estimate that in Coventry in 2019 376 million kgs of CO2 (or equivalent amounts 
of other greenhouse gases) were generated from transport.  This is equivalent to around 1,000 kgs 
of CO2 for every person who lives in the city.  By far the largest share of these emissions are 
generated by car travel.  
 

 
Current levels of car travel will simply not be sustainable in the future.  This is true, even though a 
shift towards electric and other forms of zero emission vehicles are expected to make car travel 
more environmentally sustainable.  Policymakers at both a national and regional level are clear that 
this alone will not be enough to meet current carbon reduction targets.  In practice this will require 
both a significant reduction in the total number of vehicles on the city’s roads and a shift towards 
zero emission vehicles for those journeys which are still made by car. 
 
4.2 Improving health outcomes for local people  
 
Life expectancy has been rising in Coventry over the long-term but remains below both national and 
regional averages.  Furthermore, there are substantial variations between different parts of the city, 
with women in the 10 per cent most prosperous parts of the city living on average for 7.8 years 
longer than those in the 10 per cent most deprived.  For men this rises to 10.1 years. 
 
Health inequalities are strongly linked to both economic inequality and levels of physical inactivity.  
Higher levels of walking and cycling and improved public transport options, which enable those on 
the lowest incomes to easily access major employment centres and transport hubs, will be essential 
to address these issues. 
 
Air pollution is also a significant concern.  Diesel, and to a lesser extent petrol, vehicles are major 
producers of both NO2 and PM2.5.  Prolonged exposure to high concentrations of these pollutants 
can be very serious and can include, for example, increased risk of asthma, heart disease, strokes, 

“The overriding message of the strategy should be about climate change. Everything should be 

focused towards reducing the amount of carbon (and related) emissions in the city” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 184



lung disease and dementia.  In 2014 Public Health England estimated that in Coventry 168 deaths 
per year could be attributed to exposure to PM2.5. 
 

At present there are a number of air pollution hotspots across the city where average annual 
concentrations of NO2 currently exceed the legal limit (40µg/m3).  A Ministerial Direction issued in 
May 2021 legally requires the Council to implement an Action Plan to reduce NO2 levels below this 
legal limit.  The Council’s approved Local Air Quality Action Plan sets out a package of measures to 
reduce concentrations of air pollution in these areas, and to bring them below the legal limit in the 
shortest possible time.  However, achieving a more general, long-term improvement across the city 
as a whole will require further action. 
 
4.3 Preventing road traffic accidents 
 
As noted in section 3, at present around 600-700 casualties occur each year as a result of incidents 
on Coventry’s roads.  While this has reduced significantly over the longer-term, in recent years these 
numbers have remained more consistent, indicating a flattening of the previous downward trend.  
The number of serious and fatal incidents fluctuates from year to year, however in 2018 there were 
114 serious incidents and 16 fatal incidents. 
 
It is our ambition both to reduce the number of incidents overall and to reduce the number of fatal 
incidents to zero.  We recognise that this is an ambitious target but every fatality has a significant 
impact on the local community, and we believe it is right to be ambitious in seeking to minimise the 
number of people who are killed or injured when using the city’s transport network. 
 
Initiatives such as the introduction of Average Speed Enforcement on main routes into the city have 
been highly successful in reducing casualties on these corridors and making further improvements to 
road safety will remain a high priority for this strategy. 
 
4.4 Supporting the city’s economic recovery and reducing levels of economic inequality 
 
In 2018 there were around 113,000 private sector and 51,000 public sector jobs in Coventry.  The 
Council has ambitious plans to increase this and, as noted in section 2, there is potential for 
investment in green businesses, including zero emission transport, to help support the city’s 
economy to recover from Covid-19.  
 
Current plans to create new jobs in the city include: 

• delivering a major regeneration of the South side of the city centre.  This will include improved 
leisure and retail facilities, as well as new homes 

• creating a new business district at Friargate, where one new office building has already been 
constructed and where work is currently underway on a second and on a hotel 

• a further expansion of Ansty Park 

• plans to establish both a UK Battery Innovation Centre and a Gigafactory in the South of the city.  
The plans would make the city a centre for both research and development and manufacturing 
relating to battery technology for zero emission vehicles 

• working with several major employers to facilitate their plans to expand, this includes Coventry 
University, the University of Warwick and Jaguar Land Rover. 

 

“(I am) hugely concerned about air quality as a result of congestion” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 185



While creating new jobs and supporting the city’s recovery from Covid-19, these developments will 
also create additional travel demand, which will need to be met in a sustainable way.  It is also vital 
that the benefits of these developments are inclusive and that residents in all parts of the city share 
in them.   
 
At present there are substantial inequalities between different parts of the city.  While some areas 
are affluent, there are also significant concentrations of deprivation. For example, according to the 
Government’s Index of Multiple Deprivation, in 2019 there were 28 (out of 195) neighbourhoods in 
Coventry in the 10 per cent most deprived in the country.  This rises to 50 amongst the most 
deprived 20 per cent. 
 
It is therefore essential that, as well as providing the necessary infrastructure to help create new 
jobs, we also improve transport links to and from the most deprived parts of our city.  Enabling a 
more general shift towards public transport and walking and cycling will also help to address this, 
given that car ownership and car travel is expensive, and that these are more affordable and 
inclusive forms of transport. 
 
4.5 Maximising the benefits of HS2 (and other major investments in the region’s infrastructure) 
 
Following confirmation that HS2 will go ahead as planned, the first phase is currently due to 
complete by late 2028.  It is expected to bring substantial economic benefits to the West Midlands. 
 
As noted in section 2, the planned interchange in Solihull will bring HS2 close to Coventry.  Although 
the first phase of the project connects London and Birmingham, two cities with which Coventry 
already has good transport links, later phases will extend it to the North East and North West of 
England which will provide real benefits to the city.   
 
The planned interchange is also located close to Birmingham Airport and the National Exhibition 
Centre (NEC) and forms part of ‘UK Central’.  This is expected to become both a major transport hub, 
with national and international connections, and a significant employment centre in its own right.  
Connectivity between Coventry and UK Central is therefore a key consideration for this strategy. 
 
HS2 is also significant because it is expected to alleviate some of the pressure on existing rail 
services.  This will enable other improvements to be brought forward.  At the same time, the 
Government is also continuing to invest in the region’s Strategic Road Network through a series of 
planned improvements set out in Highways England’s Road Investment Strategy, and these 
investments will also bring further benefits for Coventry. 
 
4.6 Meeting travel demand arising from new homes 
 
As noted in section 2, Coventry is a rapidly growing city, with plans to build 25,000 new homes to be 
built over the period 2011 – 2031.  This figure was based on an Objectively Assessed Need of 42,400 
new homes, with Warwickshire authorities providing those that cannot not be delivered within the 
city.  Since the adoption of the current Local Plan, the Government has introduced a new way of 
calculating housing need (the Standard Methodology), which delivers a similar estimate for the 
number of new homes required. 
 
Current plans include several large-scale developments, most notably Sustainable Urban Extensions 
(SUEs) in Keresley (allocated for 3,100 new homes) and Eastern Green (allocated for 2,250).  A 
further planned SUE in Kings Hill (initially 2,500 homes) lies within Warwickshire but is located right 

Page 186



upon the boundary with Coventry and will therefore also have a significant impact on the city’s 
transport network. 
 
In many cases, these developments are directly dependent on new transport infrastructure being 
delivered.  More generally, the increase in the city’s population will generate additional travel 
demand.  It is essential that this demand is met in a sustainable way, without exacerbating existing 
problems with congestion, air pollution and the city’s carbon footprint. 
 
4.7 Adapting to changes in the way that people live, work and travel 
 
It is possible that we may be on the cusp of a fundamental change to people’s travel habits.  For 
more than half a century, fossil fuel powered cars have been the dominant form of travel in the UK 
and, as noted in section 3, these remain by far the most common form of transport in Coventry 
today. 
 
However, new technology means that this may be beginning to change.  Electric vehicles are already 
becoming a ‘mainstream’ technology and now account for around 3 per cent of the total new car 
market.  This is highly likely to rise much further in the near future, but this may only be one part of 
a much more fundamental change to the way that people and goods travel.   
 
Other emerging technologies, which could have a major impact include: 

• Very Light Rail (VLR), a new form of urban mass transit, similar to existing tram systems but 
suitable for smaller cities such as Coventry, which is why the City Council has invested 
significantly in the development of this new innovative technology 

• driverless cars, or Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs), which can be tested in real-life 
conditions within Coventry utilising the CAV Testbed being installed in partnership with TfWM 

• the use of drones for deliveries and/or to transport passengers 

• micromobility.  This describes small, lightweight forms of transport like e-scooters, currently 
being piloted within the southern area of the city 

• Mobility as a Service (Maas).  This describes a change in the way that people travel, away from 
privately owned vehicles and towards a system where a variety of different travel options can be 
easily accessed on demand.  In practice this would most likely see residents using a single 
integrated platform (such as a mobile phone app) to plan, book and pay for journeys across a 
range of different modes 

• Demand Responsive Transit (DRT) services.  These operate in a similar way to Internet-based taxi 
services, such as Uber, but with larger vehicles.  They allow different passengers’ journeys to be 
aggregated, essentially creating a bus service with no fixed route, with a pilot project underway 
based on the University of Warwick campus.   

 
The precise impact of these emerging forms of transport is difficult to predict but it is highly likely 
that we will witness some dramatic changes in the ways in which people and goods travel over the 
next 15 or so years. 
 
As described in section 2, Covid-19 has also brought about substantial changes to the way that 
people travel.  However, its longer-term implications are difficult to predict.  The trends that we 
observed over 2020 and 2021 may continue after the pandemic has passed completely.  
Alternatively, most people may revert to their previous travel habits, or there may be further 
changes which cannot yet be anticipated. 
 
In response to this, we will seek to actively shape the future wherever possible, for example by 
proactively seeking to trial and to roll out new modes of transport.  More generally, we will also 

Page 187



remain flexible and adapt our strategy to any changes in residents’ travel habits, as these become 
clearer.   When considering the benefits of individual schemes, we will also use sensitivity testing to 
understand how the scheme would perform in different future scenarios. 
  

Page 188



4. OUR OBJECTIVES AND OUR PLANS TO ACHIEVE THEM 
 
This section sets out what we are aiming to achieve over the lifetime of this strategy and provides a 
summary of how we will do this.   
 
5.1 Our objectives 
 
In order to address the challenges, set out in section 4, we have identified four broad objectives for 
this strategy.  These are: 
 
1. Supporting the city’s economic recovery and enabling long-term growth 
2. Delivering a sustainable, low carbon transport system 
3. Ensuring equality of opportunity 
4. Maximising health and wellbeing. 
 
In order to achieve these objectives, we need to bring about a fundamental change to the way in 
which people and goods travel to, from and around our city.  In particular, current levels of car travel 
will simply not be sustainable in the future.  It is therefore our aspiration to create a city where it 
easy, convenient and safe to walk, cycle and travel on public transport, and where most people do 
not need to use a car to access the services that they need for day-to-day life. 
 
To achieve this, action will be required across a range of different areas and a summary of our plans 
is provided below.  Further details are provided in a separate Implementation Plan. 
 
In practice, not all the activity described in this section will be delivered directly by the Council.  
Some things will be delivered by, or in partnership with, our various partners in the region, with 
whom we will continue to work closely.  This is also set out in more detail in the Implementation 
Plan. 
 
5.2 Public transport (contributes to objectives 1, 2, 3 & 4) 
 
Although the number of people using public transport has dropped considerably as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, it remains a major part of our long-term plans to reduce car travel.   
 
At this time, it is unclear for how long additional safety measures that have been introduced during 
the pandemic will be required for.  However, we will work with partners to keep them in place for as 
long as necessary and will also integrate measures such as contactless ticketing, anti-microbial grab 
handles and optimised ventilation into our future plans.  Furthermore, we will ensure that the city’s 
public transport network is accessible to everyone and have recently published a Transport Charter 
for People with Disabilities aimed at achieving this.  We will implement all the commitments set out 
in that Charter. 
 
Over the next fifteen years, together with our partners, we will also deliver major improvements to 
the city’s public transport network.   
 
Very Light Rail (VLR) 
 

Page 189



VLR will be a new form of mass transit, similar to the tram systems seen in other major UK cities but 
with smaller, electric powered vehicles.  The first VLR route will connect Coventry city centre to 
University Hospital.  However, in the longer-term we will develop a complete network of routes to 
provide residents with a fast, frequent and affordable connection to various major employment 
centres and ‘transport hubs’, where people will be able to easily change between various different 
modes of transport.   

 
Coventry’s VLR network will be the first system of its kind in the world, and it is anticipated that 
many other small cities may eventually wish to develop their own networks.  Therefore, by 
pioneering this technology and establishing a local supply chain for it, we anticipate that there will 
also be longer-term benefits for the local economy. 
 
We will explore various funding options to introduce VLR.  This could include applying for grant 
funding from central and regional Government, seeking investment from private sector partners and 
considering options to raise revenue locally.  
 
Rail 
 
We will also work with our partners to deliver major improvements to the city’s existing railway 
infrastructure and services.   
 
We are already investing over £82m to enhance capacity at Coventry Railway Station.  Over the 
lifetime of this strategy, we will complement this with further improvements at Coventry, including 
the addition of a fifth platform, and at Tile Hill, where improvements will enhance the role of the 
station as a strategic park and ride site.  We will also develop at least one new railway station, in the 
South of the city close to the University of Warwick, and we will explore options for several further 
potential new stations. 
 
These improvements, and the opening of the new HS2 interchange in Solihull, will enable us to 
deliver significant improvements to the city’s rail connectivity.  Our priorities for this are to: 

• maintain the current 3 intercity services per hour to London 

• maintain 6 services per hour to Birmingham 

• double the frequency of services to Nuneaton, Kenilworth and Leamington, to 2 trains per hour.  
Crucially, this will also improve onward connectivity from Leamington to Warwick 

• double the frequency of services to Oxford, to 2 trains per hour 

• introduce at least 2 direct trains per hour to Leicester and Nottingham.  Research carried out by 
Midlands Connect suggests that this would cut journey times from 54 minutes to 38, and from 
108 minutes to 70 respectively.  At present, only 3% of journeys between Coventry and Leicester 
are made by rail, so enhanced connectivity is essential to ease pressure on the A46 / M69 
corridor and to enable people to travel more sustainably between the two cities. 

• improve connectivity with the North of England, via the new HS2 interchange in Solihull. 
 
We will also seek to better integrate our major railway stations into the city’s broader transport 
network, turning them into transport hubs where people can easily change between different modes 
of transport for both long and short distance travel.  We have already begun this work at Coventry 
Railway Station by delivering improved pedestrian access to the city centre, while the current 
improvements will also deliver increased car and cycle parking and a new bus interchange.  In the 

“The lack of a tram system is a negative. We need one!” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 190



longer-term, we will also add a further VLR interchange.  We will seek to replicate this approach, on 
a smaller scale, with other new and existing stations.  
 
Bus 
 
Our plans to improve bus services in the city will be set out in a separate Bus Service Improvement 
Plan, which we will develop with TfWM and local bus operators.  
 
In summary, that document will set out plans to: 

• ensure that all buses operating in the city are electric buses by 2025 through the successful 
implementation of the All Electric Bus City, through which £50 million in grant support has been 
secured from Government 

• ensure services continue to cover the whole city, with ‘turn up and go’ frequencies on key routes 

• improve journey times on key routes by introducing bus priority measures, like bus gates and 
bus priority at signalised junctions 

• make improvements to ticketing by expanding the use of contactless payments, multi-operator 
tickets and ‘fare capping’ 

• improve bus stops and bus shelters, including providing more live information for passengers 
who are waiting 

• improve the accessibility of vehicles by increasing the number of spaces available for wheelchair 
users and for passengers traveling with prams or pushchairs. 

 

 
We are currently trialling the use of ‘on demand’ bus services (DRT) and the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan will also set out our longer-term plans to expand this and to integrate it into the 
wider network of bus services operating in the city. 
 
5.3 Walking, cycling and micromobility (objectives 1, 2, 3 & 4) 
 
To further reduce the city’s reliance on car travel, we will also significantly improve conditions for 
those who walk and cycle, as well as introducing new forms of micromobility.   
 
City centre pedestrianisation 
 
We have already pedestrianised some sections of the city centre and have delivered public realm 
improvements to create a more pedestrian friendly environment.  We will continue this process over 
the lifetime of the strategy, with the aim of making the whole area within the city centre ring road 
an area that is designed primarily for pedestrians. 
 
To support this, we will remove five current city centre car parks and will ensure that those that 
remain will be easily accessible from the ring road, minimising the extent to which cars will need to 
drive around within the city centre.  We will also improve pedestrian access in and out of the city 
centre by improving crossings at various points around the ring road and by re-modelling ring road 
junctions to provide better pedestrian and cycle access, building on the successful works already 
completed at Junction 6 (Friargate). 

“More buses. Buses work very well but they are not so often. You can increase bus frequency” 

“Bus transport seems to work well. Ideally, buses would be electrified and run even more 

frequently and conveniently” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 191



 
Dedicated cycleways 
 
We will introduce dedicated cycleways across the city, to make cycling safer and to ensure that 
cyclists do not have to share road space with car users on busy routes.  Work is already underway on 
the next generation of cycleways, which will initially connect the city centre to Coundon and to 
Binley.  However, in the longer-term we will develop a complete network of cycleways spanning the 
city.   

 
This new cycle network will also include strategic cycleways linking Coventry to neighbouring areas.  
Our priorities for this are to create connections to Solihull, including UK Central, via Eastern Green 
and to Warwickshire, via Binley Woods, North on both the A444 corridor and via M6 Junction 2, and 
to Kenilworth in the South. 
 
In addition, we will provide more secure cycle parking facilities, including at major transport hubs, 
such as our railway stations. 
 
Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs) and School Streets 
 
LTNs are residential areas where a variety of tools are used to significantly reduce traffic levels and 
to create a more comfortable environment for pedestrians and cyclists.  This might include, for 
example, introducing 20mph speed limits, using bus gates to restrict the movement of private 
vehicles, creating more green space and installing cycle parking facilities for residents.  School 
Streets are areas immediately surrounding schools where temporary road closures are introduced 
around opening and closing times. 
 
We will seek to bring forward a community-led programme of both LTNs and School Streets.  To do 
this, we will first identify areas where there is a strong appetite for these measures among local 
residents, and then design them collaboratively with those residents. 
 
We will also seek to apply these principles to new developments, designing a low traffic approach in 
from the start. 
 
Cycle hire and other forms of micromobility 
 
In addition to the infrastructure improvements described above, TfWM have recently introduced a 
cycle hire scheme and we will work with them to increase the size and coverage of that scheme, and 
to extend it so that it also includes e-bikes. 
 
Finally, TfWM are also piloting an e-scooter rental scheme on the University of Warwick campus and 
we may also seek to extend this to other parts of the city in due course.  The current scheme is one 
of several national trials which are backed by central Government and which could lead to a change 
in the law to legalise the widespread use of e-scooters (currently, outside of the trial areas, e-

“I know that two cycle ways are being built, this network needs to be expanded to cover all areas 

of the city” 

“We have some good cycle routes. We need more of them and they need to join up” 

Let’s Talk survey respondents 

Page 192



scooters are only legal on private property).  Further progress is therefore dependent on the 
outcome of those trials. 
 
5.4 Road network (objectives 1, 3 & 4) 
 
New and improved roads 
 
We intend to significantly reduce the volume of car journeys taking place on our roads.  However, 
despite this, some investment in new and improved roads is still required.  This is primarily in order 
to: 

• enable new homes to be built 

• enable major employers, such as the University of Warwick and Jaguar Land Rover, to expand 

• remove through traffic from residential areas, making them more suitable for walking and 
cycling (by making improvements to more strategic routes in order to reduce ‘rat running’) 

• reduce the impact of congestion on public transport journey times 

• remove congestion in areas that have become air pollution hotspots. 
 
Working with our partners, we will therefore focus improvements primarily on the Strategic and Key 
Route Network (busy roads which carry large volumes of traffic, such as the city’s A-roads), on areas 
where significant development is planned and on local air pollution hotspots, as identified in our 
Local Air Quality Action Plan.   
 
Furthermore, we will not design roads exclusively for cars and will ensure that where new roads are 
built, or existing roads are improved, that space for pedestrians, cyclists and/or public transport is 
also designed in. 
 
Specific road improvements to be delivered over the lifetime of this strategy include:  

• various junction improvements on both the A46 and A444 

• a new strategic link road connecting the A46 at Stoneleigh Junction initially to the South of 
Coventry, and then ultimately to either Solihull or the West of Coventry 

• a further new strategic link road through the planned SUE at Keresley 

• new roads, and the improvement of some existing ones, in the vicinity of the ongoing 
developments at Friargate 

• improvements to the London Road corridor including junction improvements, traffic 
management and cycle routes. 

 
Further schemes may also be identified following a thorough review of the Strategic Route Network.   
 
Highway maintenance 
 
We will seek to maintain all of the city’s highways, including roads, footpaths and cycleways, to a 
high standard.  Our plans to do this are set out in a separate Highways Infrastructure Asset 
Management Strategy. 
 
Traffic management and enforcement 
 
We will work with TfWM to improve our management of the road network, including by introducing 
5G monitoring, and to prepare our road network for the rollout of Connected Autonomous Vehicles 
(CAVs).  This will include enabling testing to take place on a newly installed CAV testbed. 
 

Page 193



We will also ensure that we proactively enforce the rules of the road by using the powers available 
to us to take enforcement action against drivers who do not adhere to them.  We have already 
begun this with the installation of new average speed cameras at key locations in the city and will 
seek to roll these out on all of the main radial routes into the city over the lifetime of this strategy. 
 
In addition, we will also consider our approach to enforcing: 

• moving traffic offences, such as drivers making banned turns, stopping in yellow boxes and 
passing through bus gates, subject to Government legislating to allow local authority to take on 
these enforcement powers 

• on street parking offences, such as parking on double yellow lines 

• ‘pavement parking’.  The Government has recently consulted on options to give Councils new 
powers to take action against drivers who cause an obstruction for pedestrians, and so our 
approach to this will depend on the outcome of that consultation. 

 
5.5 Zero emission vehicles (objectives 2 & 4) 
 
We recognise that a shift to zero emission vehicles will not, on its own, be sufficient for the city to 
achieve its carbon reduction targets and are therefore seeking to significantly reduce levels of car 
travel over the lifetime of this strategy.  However, we also recognise that some journeys will 
continue to be made by car, and there will also still be significant demand for road travel from the 
freight industry and from public transport operators.   
 
We will therefore seek to accelerate the switch from petrol and diesel vehicles to zero emission 
alternatives.  The majority of our plans to do this will be set out in more detail in a separate Electric 
Vehicle and Charging Infrastructure Strategy. However, in summary, we will promote the take-up of 
electric and other zero emission vehicles by:  

• substantially expanding the city’s existing network of public electric vehicle charge points 

• creating super charging hubs and a multi-fuel hub.  These will be service station style facilities 
located on the Strategic Route Network which will provide rapid charging/refuelling facilities for 
owners of zero emission vehicles 

• encouraging local businesses to switch to electric vehicles via our Try Before You Buy E-fleet 
scheme 

• piloting innovative methods of electric vehicle charging, including static induction (wireless) 
charging and dynamic charging (charging of a moving vehicle).  These technologies could help to 
support operators of different types of vehicles, including larger vehicles and vehicles with very 
high mileage, to switch to zero emission alternatives. 

 
We would also like more of those journeys that are still made by car to be made using shared 
vehicles.  Research shows that households who use shared vehicles tend to make fewer car journeys 
than those who own their own vehicle.  As such, we will work with the private sector to expand the 
existing provision of ‘car club’ vehicles available for short-term hire, and to convert this an electric 
car club. 
 
Finally, we will also electrify Coventry’s public transport services.  As well as replacing all buses with 
electric vehicles by 2025, we will also begin only granting taxi licenses to zero emission capable 
vehicles from 2024. 

Page 194



 

 
All the above will create additional demands for electricity and so we will work with energy suppliers 
to ensure that the local grid has sufficient capacity to meet this growing need.  
 
5.6 Freight (objectives 1 & 2) 
 
As well as bringing about a substantial change in the way that people travel, we will also seek to 
reduce congestion and emissions from freight travel, such home deliveries.  
 
In part, we will do this by encouraging and supporting companies to switch to zero emission vehicles 
through the actions described above.  However, we will also explore further innovative alternatives 
including the use of drones to transport both passengers and goods.   
 
Finally, we will also explore options to establish freight consolidation centres.  These will be sites 
where goods travelling into and out of the city can be collected and transferred to a sustainable 
mode of transport for the first/last few miles of their journey.  This could be, for example, a zero 
emission van, an e-cargo bike, VLR or a delivery drone. 
 
5.8 Encouraging behaviour change (objectives 2 & 4) 
 
In addition to the physical improvements to transport infrastructure and services described in the 
previous sections, we will also seek to reduce car travel by actively encouraging a change in 
residents’ behaviour.   
 
This will include providing better information to residents about the full range of travel options that 
are available.  For example, we are currently holding Your Future Moves, a year-long event including 
an exhibition hosted by Coventry Transport Museum which will raise awareness of the various 
emerging travel options that are included in this strategy.   
 
We will also work with TfWM to develop tools that help residents to easily plan their journeys across 
a range of modes and will explore ways to offer incentives to those who make more sustainable 
travel choices.  For example, we are currently piloting an incentive scheme which rewards residents 
who scrap a heavily polluting vehicle with ‘mobility credits’, which can be spent on alternative travel 
options.  Depending on the outcome of this trial, we will look to roll this out more widely over the 
lifetime of the strategy. 
 
Finally, we will continue to engage with schools, businesses and local residents, including facilitating 
regular events and activities such as cycle training schemes and community cycle events. 
 

“Coventry taxis and local buses must become electric to show we are serious about tackling the 

climate emergency and air pollution” 

Let’s Talk survey respondent 

Page 195



5. MONITORING AND EVALUTION 
 
An Annual Progress Report will be prepared to report on our progress in delivering our objectives.  
This will integrate with monitoring requirements at a regional level, and will be submitted annually 
to the Council’s Cabinet. 
 
6.1 Measures of success 
 
The table below provides a set of indicators which we will monitor for each of our objectives.  These 
are a mixture of indicators that: 

• directly relate to the way that people and goods travel.  For example, over time we expect to see 
increasing numbers of people walking, cycling and taking public transport and fewer people 
driving 

• indicators that are influenced by many things, including transport.  For example, we expect 
improvements to the city’s transport system to lead to longer life expectancies and better 
employment rates among residents.  However, there will be many other factors that will also 
affect these indicators. 

 
We will report our progress against the following indicators on a regular basis.  
 

Objective Indicators 

1. Supporting the city’s 
economic recovery and 
enabling long-term 
growth 

• Gross Value Added (GVA) and/or GVA per employee  

• Total number of jobs and/or new jobs created  

• Number of residents in employment 

• New commercial floorspace created 

• Number of new homes enabled  

• City Centre footfall and/or other indicators of busyness, such as car and 
bike parking and numbers of arrivals by public transport  

2. Delivering a 
sustainable, low carbon 
transport system 

• Total estimated annual CO2 emissions  

• Estimated annual CO2 emissions from transport 

• Overall levels of car ownership 

• Levels of ownership of zero emission vehicles 

• Usage of EV charging point infrastructure 

• Levels of car travel, compared to walking, cycling and public transport 

3. Ensuring equality of 
opportunity 

• Levels of walking, cycling and public transport (i.e. the most affordable 
travel options) 

• Number of neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10 & 20 per cent 
nationally 

• Levels of unemployment 

4. Maximising health and 
wellbeing 

• Average life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 

• The gap in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between the 
most and least deprived parts of the city 

• Levels of walking and cycling 

• Resident perceptions of Coventry as a place where it is easy to walk and 
cycle 

• Air quality 

• The number of road traffic incidents overall, the number of serious 
incidents and the number of fatal incidents 

• Average vehicle speeds 

• National Road Condition Indicators 

 

Page 196



Appendix 2 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Purpose of this document 
 
This Implementation Plan accompanies Coventry City Council’s Transport Strategy.  
 
The Transport Strategy sets out plans to bring about a fundamental change to the way that people 
and goods travel to, from and around Coventry in the future. It explains why a change is needed and 
describes, in broad terms, what we will do over the next 15 years to deliver that change. This 
document is intended to provide further detail about our plans. It sets out details of the specific 
improvements that we will make to the city’s transport network and the expected timescales and 
approximate costs associated with these. 
 
It is important to note that the schemes referred to in this document are at different stages of 
development (for example, funding has already been secured to deliver some, while others are 
currently unfunded or only partly funded). For this reason, this plan focuses particularly on the 
schemes that we will deliver during the first five years of the strategy (2022/23 – 2026/27), as these 
are generally more developed, while also giving an indication of what further improvements we have 
ambitions to deliver over the later years of the strategy (2027/28 – 2036/37).  
 
Similarly, expected costs have been provided by sorting schemes into a range of cost brackets 
(<£10m, £10-£25m, £25-£50m, £50-£100m and £100m+). This is intended to be sufficient to provide 
a broad sense of the level of investment associated with our plans, while also reflecting the fact that 
some schemes are still in the early stages of development and that, as a result, precise figures are 
not available at this time. 
 
Furthermore, while this document accurately reflects current plans at the time of writing, we will 
also keep it under regular review. We will do this by publishing an Annual Progress Report, which will 
outline our progress in implementing the Transport Strategy and to report any changes which we are 
making to this plan. This will allow us to remain flexible in our approach and to add to or adjust our 
plans if and when circumstances change. 
 
1.2 Structure of this document 
 
The Transport Strategy describes the improvements that we intend to make across six broad areas: 

• public transport 

• walking, cycling and micromobility 

• road network 

• zero emission vehicles 

• freight 

• encouraging behaviour change. 
 
This document is therefore structured around these six areas. For each of them it describes the 
specific improvements that we plan to deliver and when. In practice, not all these improvements will 
be delivered directly by the Council.  Some schemes will be delivered by, or in partnership with, our 
various partners in the region, and this is also highlighted here. 
 
  

Page 197



2. PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
 
The Transport Strategy describes plans to deliver major improvements to the city’s public transport network, including the development of a first-of-its-kind 
in the world mass transit system, Very Light Rail (VLR), and improvements to existing rail and bus services. The table below shows the specific public 
transport schemes which we currently plan to deliver over the lifetime of this strategy. 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 
- 15 

VLR 

VLR Research & 
Development 

Development of a new form of mass 
transit, including vehicle and track 
testing  

 £25-50m Coventry & 
Warwickshire Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
(CWLEP)/ West 
Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA) 
Devolution Deal/ City 
Region Sustainable 
Transport Settlement 
(CRSTS) 

      

VLR Route 1 A first VLR route, connecting Coventry 
Railway Station to University Hospital 

 £100m+ CRSTS/ Other 
sources TBC 

      

Further VLR 
routes 

Development of a further network of 
VLR Routes serving various key 
locations across the city 

 £100m+ TBC        

Rail 

Coventry 
Station bay 
platform 

The addition of fifth platform at 
Coventry Railway Station, to enable 
more frequent/additional services 

 £10-25m Rail Network 
Enhancement 
Pipeline (RNEP) 

      

Tile Hill Station 
improvements 

Station improvements aimed at 
establishing Tile Hill as a major 
transport interchange/Park & Ride 
site, serving the West side of the city 

Partnership 
with 
Transport for 
West 

<£10m CRSTS       

P
age 198



Midlands 
(TfWM) 

New direct 
connections to 
the East 
Midlands 

Establishing a direct rail connection 
between Coventry, Leicester and 
Nottingham  

Midlands 
Connect 

£100m+ Midlands Connect / 
RNEP 

      

Coventry – 
Leamington rail 
improvements 

Double tracking sections of the line 
between Coventry and Leamington, to 
enable a more frequent service 

Midlands 
Connect 

£100m+ Midlands Connect / 
RNEP 

      

New Coventry 
South Railway 
Station 

Development of a new railway station 
located between Coventry and 
Kenilworth, close to the University of 
Warwick 

Partnership 
with 
Warwickshire 
County 
Council 
(WCC) 

£10-£25m RNEP       

Potential 
further new 
railway stations 

Potential further new railway stations 
at Binley & Willenhall, Coundon 
and/or Foleshill. Further work is 
required to determine whether some, 
or all, of these stations would be 
viable 

Partnership 
with TfWM 

£50-£100m 
(assuming all 
three stations 
progress) 

RNEP       

Bus 

Bus Service 
Improvement 
Plan (BSIP)* 

Various schemes aimed at improving 
the quality, reliability and accessibility 
of the city’s bus services 

TfWM  BSIP       

Trials of 
Demand 
Responsive 
Transport (DRT) 
services  

Initial trials of on demand bus services. 
A wider rollout of these services could 
follow, depending on the outcome of 
the trials 

TfWM <£10m TfWM Future 
Transport Zone 
(FTZ)/ Developer 
contributions 

      

All Electric Bus 
City 

All buses operating in the city to be 
replaced with electric buses 

Partnership 
with TfWM 

£50-100m All Electric Bus City/ 
Bus operator 
contributions 

      

Ansty Park & 
Ride 

Establishing an, initially bus-based, 
park and ride service at Ansty as part 
of the Coventry and Warwickshire 

Partnership 
with WCC 

£50-100m Partnership with 
private sector 

      

P
age 199



CLEAN Hub project (with the potential 
to add a VLR service at a later date) 

* Further detail will be added to this, including costs and expected timescales for delivery, once the BSIP has been finalised. This is expected to be before 
the end of October 2021 
 
KEY: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 

P
age 200



3. WALKING, CYCLING AND MICROMOBILITY 
 
The Transport Strategy describes plans to significantly improve the conditions for walking and cycling, and to trial new forms of micromobility, such as e-
scooters. The table below shows the walking, cycling and micromobility schemes which we currently plan to deliver over the lifetime of this strategy. 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 - 
15 

City (and local) centre pedestrianisation 

District mobility 
hubs 

Ongoing programme of 
improvements to various local 
centres around the city, including 
public realm improvements and 
better walking, cycling and public 
transport connectivity 

 <£10m CRSTS / Developer 
contribution 

      

Ring Road 
junction 
remodelling 

Remodelling of various further Ring 
Road junctions (following work 
already completed at J6 and 
planned works at J7 and J8) to 
improve pedestrian and cycle 
access in and out of the city centre 

 £25-£50m Major Road 
Network and Large 
Local Majors 
Programme/ 
Developer 
contributions 

      

City Centre 
Active Travel 
Zone 

Introduction of further restrictions 
on car travel within the Ring Road 
and further reallocation of road 
space, with the aim of ensuring 
that the whole city centre is 
designed primarily for pedestrians  

 <£10m CRSTS / Developer 
contribution 

      

Further city 
centre public 
realm 
improvements 

Ongoing programme of further 
public realm improvements in the 
city centre 

 £10-£25m CRSTS / Developer 
contribution 

      

Dedicated cycleways 

Coundon and 
Binley 
cycleways 

Completion of two fully segregated 
cycleways, connecting the city 
centre to Coundon and Binley 

 <£10m each Coundon – Local Air 
Quality Action Plan 
(LAQAP) 

      P
age 201



Binley - 
Transforming Cities 
Fund (TCF)/ Active 
Travel Fund (ATF) 

University of 
Warwick cycle 
routes 

Improved cycle connections 
between the University of Warwick 
and neighbouring residential areas, 
railways stations and the city 
centre 

 <£10m CRSTS/ ATF/ 
Developer 
contributions 

      

Eastern Green 
cycleways 

Two new cycleways connecting the 
planned Sustainable Urban 
Extension (SUE) at Eastern Green 
to the city centre and to Tile Hill 
Railway Station 

 <£10m CRSTS/ Developer 
contributions 

      

Keresley 
Connects 
cycleways 

New cycleways connecting the 
planned SUE in Keresley to the city 
centre and to Allesley/ Lyons Park  

 <£10m CRSTS/ Developer 
contributions 

      

Further cycle 
network 
improvements 

Ongoing programme to develop 
and deliver further cycleways, 
informed by the Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP). This will be aimed at 
establishing a complete network 
serving key locations across the city 
and connecting it to neighbouring 
districts 

 Ongoing 
programme 

ATF/ Developer 
contributions 

      

Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs)/School Streets 

LTNs/School 
Streets 

Ongoing, community-led 
programme to establish new LTNs 
and School Streets  

 Ongoing 
programme 

CRSTS / ATF       

Cycle and micromobility hire schemes 

E-scooter trials Trial e-scooter hire scheme focused 
on the University of Warwick 
campus. A wider rollout of this 
service could follow, depending on 

TfWM <£10m TfWM FTZ       

P
age 202



the outcome of this and other 
national trials 

WM Cycle Hire Ongoing expansion of the existing 
WM Cycle Hire scheme, with the 
aim of covering the whole city 

TfWM <£10m TfWM       

 
Key: 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 

P
age 203



4. ROAD NETWORK 
 
Although the Transport Strategy aims to bring about a reduction in levels of car travel overall, it is recognised that some investment in the city’s road 
network is still required. This will be targeted primarily at the Strategic and Key Route Network (busy roads which carry large volumes of traffic, such as the 
city’s A-roads), on areas where significant development is planned and on local air pollution hotspots, as identified in our Local Air Quality Action Plan.   
 
We will not design roads exclusively for cars and will ensure that where new roads are built, or existing roads are improved, that space for pedestrians, 
cyclists and/or public transport is also designed in. 
 
The table below shows improvements that we currently plan to make to the city’s road network over the lifetime of this strategy. 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 
- 15 

New and improved roads 

A46 Binley 
Junction 
improvements 

Complete installation of a flyover at 
the A46 Binley Junction 

National 
Highways 

£50-100m National Highways       

A46 
Stoneleigh 
Junction 
improvements 

Complete upgrades to the A46 
Stoneleigh Junction (this forms phase 1 
of the wider A46 Strategic Link Road 
project) 

WCC £25-50m National Highways       

LAQAP 
highways 
schemes 

Delivery of various highway 
improvement schemes aimed at 
reducing air pollution at a number of 
pinch points, including Spon End, Ring 
Road Junction 7 and the Holyhead 
Road area 

 £10-£25m LAQAP       

A444 junction 
improvements 

Improvements to various junctions to 
improve journey times on a key 
strategic route and to enable traffic to 
be removed from more residential 
areas 

 <£10m CRSTS/ Developer 
contributions 

      

P
age 204



London Road 
corridor 
improvements 

Various improvements on the London 
Road corridor, including remodelling of 
key junctions and improved facilities 
for cyclists 

 £10-£25m CRSTS / Developer 
contributions 

      

Keresley Link 
Road 

A new connection through the planned 
Keresley SUE, linking Long Lane in the 
West of Coventry and Winding House 
Lane in the North. This will also 
remove through traffic from existing 
residential areas 

 £10-£25m CRSTS/ Developer 
contributions 

      

A46 
Walsgrave 
Junction 
improvements 

Planned junction upgrade to improve 
journey times on a key strategic route 

National 
Highways 

£50-£100m National Highways       

A46 Strategic 
Link Road 
Phase 2 

Delivery of an initial section of the A46 
Strategic Link Road, connecting the 
newly upgraded A46 Stoneleigh 
Junction with the South of Coventry 

WCC £50-£100m Major Road 
Network and Large 
Local Majors 
Programme/ 
Developer 
contributions 

      

Ring Road 
junction 
remodelling 

Remodelling of various further Ring 
Road junctions (following work already 
completed at J6 and planned works at 
J7 and J8) to reduce congestion and to 
improve pedestrian and cycle access in 
and out of the city centre 

 £25-£50m Major Road 
Network and Large 
Local Majors 
Programme/ 
Developer 
contributions 

      

A46 Strategic 
Link Road 
Phase 3 

A continuation of the A46 Strategic 
Link towards either Solihull or the 
West of Coventry, with the aim 
creating a new travel corridor linking 
the North Warwickshire/South 
Coventry with UK Central Plus 
(including the new HS2 station) in 
Solihull 

Partnership 
with WCC and 
Solihull 
Metropolitan 
Borough Council 
(SMBC) 

£100m+ Major Road 
Network and Large 
Local Majors 
Programme/ 
Developer 
contributions 

      

P
age 205



M6 Junction 3 
improvements 

Improvements to reduce congestion at 
a key junction 

National 
Highways 

£25-£50m National Highways/ 
CRSTS / Developer 
contributions 

      

Highway maintenance, traffic management and road safety 

Highway 
maintenance 
programmes 

Ongoing work to maintain our 
highways, cycleways and footways to a 
high  

 Ongoing 
programme 

CRSTS       

Road safety 
programmes 

Annual programme of road safety 
improvements 

 Ongoing 
programme 

CRSTS       

Average speed 
cameras 

Ongoing programme to roll out 
average speed camera, with the aim of 
installing these on all major radial 
routes into and out of the city 

 Ongoing 
programme 

CRSTS       

Future 
Transport 
Zone (FTZ) 
programme 

Various projects aimed at preparing 
our highway network for the future, 
including testing of Connected 
Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs) and the 
rollout of 5G monitoring and other 
projects involving trialling and rollout 
of new transport technology 

TfWM Ongoing 
programme 

TfWM FTZ/ 
Commercial/ 
Government 
research funding 
e.g. Innovate UK 

      

 
Key 

 
 
 
 

  

Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 

P
age 206



5. ZERO EMISSION VEHICLES 
 
Although the Transport Strategy aims to bring about a reduction in levels of car travel overall, it is recognised that some journeys will continue to be made 
by road. Therefore, the strategy also seeks to accelerate the transition from petrol and diesel vehicles to zero emission alternatives. 
 
The table below shows schemes which we currently plan to deliver over the lifetime of this strategy in order to support this change. 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 
- 15 

DynaCOV Trial of dynamic vehicle charging 
(charging of a moving vehicle). 
Wider roll out of this technology 
may be possible at a later date, 
depending on the outcome of this 
trial 

 <£10m National Innovation 
Allowance 

      

Try Before You 
Buy electric 
vehicle scheme 

Ongoing operation of the Council’s 
Try Before You Buy electric vehicle 
scheme for local businesses 

 <£10m        

Electric Car Club Expansion of the current Car Club 
service, which provides short-term 
car hire, and conversion to an 
electric-car club 

 <£10m Partnership with the 
private sector 

      

Green 
Innovation Park 

Creation of a ‘super charging hub’ 
for electric vehicles 

 £10-£25m Partnership with the 
private sector 

      

Coventry and 
Warwickshire 
CLEAN Hub 

Creation of a multi-modal transport 
interchange with electric vehicle 
charging facilities, refuelling 
facilities for other types of zero 
emission vehicle, park and ride 
services and a freight consolidation 
centre 

Partnership 
with WCC 

£50-100m Partnership with the 
private sector 

      

Zero emission 
requirement for 
taxis 

Begin only granting taxi licenses to 
zero emission capable vehicles 

 N/a        P
age 207



All Electric Bus 
City 

All buses operating in the city to be 
replaced with electric buses 

Partnership 
with TfWM 

£50-£100m All Electric Bus City/ 
Bus operator 
contributions 

      

Public electric 
vehicle charge 
points 

Ongoing programme to expand the 
city’s network of public electric 
vehicle charge points 

 Ongoing 
programme 

On Street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme  

      

 
Key: 

 
 
 
 

  

Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 

P
age 208



 
6. Freight 
 
The Transport Strategy sets out plans to change the way in which goods are transported to, from around Coventry. The table below shows the schemes that 
we currently plan to deliver over the lifetime of this strategy in order to achieve this. 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 
- 15 

Urban Airport 
pilot scheme 

Pilot scheme to establish a ‘pop-up’ 
airport for drone travel. There may be 
potential to use this type of facility for 
drone deliveries in the future, 
depending on the outcome of the 
initial trial 

 <£10m UK Research and 
Innovation 

      

Ansty freight 
consolidation 
centre 

Establishing a freight consolidation 
centre, where goods entering or 
leaving the city can be moved to/from 
zero emission vehicles, in Ansty as part 
of the Coventry and Warwickshire 
CLEAN Hub project 

Partnership 
with WCC 

£50-100m Partnership with 
private sector 

      

City centre 
freight 
consolidation 
centre review  

Consider options to establish further 
freight consolidation centre(s) as part 
of the wider redevelopment of 
Coventry city centre. Further actions 
will depend on the outcome of the 
review 

 N/a        

 
Key: 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 P
age 209



7. ENCOURAGING BEHAVIOUR CHANGE 
 
In addition to the physical improvements to transport infrastructure and services described in the previous sections, the Transport Strategy also sets out 
plans to reduce car travel by actively encouraging a change in residents’ behaviour.  The table below shows schemes which we currently plan to deliver over 
the lifetime of this strategy in order to achieve this. 
 
 

Scheme Description Lead 
organisation 
(CCC if blank) 

Expected cost 
bracket 

Secured/ likely 
funding sources 
(Where known) 

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yrs 6 - 
15 

Mobility Credits 
trial 

Initial pilot of a vehicle scrappage 
scheme, where participants receive 
credits in exchange for scrapping an 
older, heavily polluting vehicle. A 
wider rollout of Mobility Credits 
could take place at a later date, 
depending on the outcome of the 
trial 

TfWM <£10m TfWM FTZ       

Travel Demand 
Management 

Ongoing programme of activity to 
promote and encourage sustainable 
travel choices 

TfWM Ongoing 
programme 

TfWM       

Engagement 
with schools 
and businesses 

Ongoing programme of engagement 
with local schools and businesses to 
help them to encourage and support 
residents to travel to school/work via 
sustainable modes 

 Ongoing 
programme 

       

Regular 
community 
events 

Ongoing programme including, for 
example, cycle training and 
community cycling events 

 Ongoing 
programme 

       

 
Key: 

 
 Scheme in development:  

Construction/ scheme 
delivery: 

 

P
age 210



1Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Reimagining 
transport in the 
West Midlands: 
a conversation 
about change

P
age 211



2Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Contents
Foreword                                                                       3

Section 1: Introduction                                                         4
A new Local Transport Plan                                                      4
The purpose of this green paper                                                 6

Section 2: The state of transport in the West Midlands                     7
How transport has changed                                                      7
Where we are heading                                                           14
The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic                                16

Section 3: Our Motives for Change                                          22
Motive 1: Sustaining economic success                                       24
Motive 2: Creating a fairer society                                            28
Motive 3: Supporting local communities and places                        36
Motive 4: Becoming more active                                               43
Motive 5: Tackling the climate emergency                                     47

Section 4: Reimagining transport in the West Midlands                   51
Rethinking the role of mobility in accessibility                                53
A framework for change                                                         57
Change in different places                                                       67

Section 5: Developing the Local Transport Plan                            73
Our partners                                                                      73
A new framework for transport policy                                         73
Working with the public, private organisations and public authorities      74

Throughout the paper are quotes we 
have taken from engagement with our 
Market Research Online Community 
made up of a diverse selection of real, 
everyday people from across our region

Please visit https://www tfwm org uk/who-
we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/ for 
further information about this green paper, 
including how to respond to it and engage 

Also, please visit https://www 
mytfwmcommunity co uk/ if you want to 
register to be a part of our Market Research 
Online Community and have your say in a 
range of conversations about transport  

P
age 212

https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/
https://www.mytfwmcommunity.co.uk/
https://www.mytfwmcommunity.co.uk/


3Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Foreword
As well as being at the heart of the UK’s 
transport network, the West Midlands is at 
another kind of crossroads; one at which there 
is an opportunity to build back better from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure we can carry 
forward the reputation for economic success 
the region has built in the new millennium 
while improving the impacts of transport on 
our towns, cities and local communities  

This green paper sets out the challenges and 
opportunities facing our transport system to 
inspire deliberation with the public over the 
kind of transport system we want to see in the 
future  The decisions we make now about how 
we plan, invest in and manage our transport 
system will affect us all, as well as deciding 
what legacy we leave for future generations 

Over the past few years, the West Midlands has 
seen substantial improvements to its transport 
network  The West Midlands Metro has been 
extended through Birmingham city centre 
and a new line is under construction in the 
Black Country, connecting Wednesbury with 
Brierley Hill  We are improving our railways, 
with improved and new stations planned at 
Perry Barr, Darlaston, Willenhall, Aldridge and 
the revival of the old Camp Hill line  Fleets 
of electric buses are taking to the streets in 
increasing numbers  And our active travel 

revolution is well underway, with new cycling 
and walking routes springing up across the 
region  After decades of underinvestment, our 
region is beginning to turn things around 

But significant challenges remain in tackling 
the defining issues of our time, such as climate 
change, air quality, our health, and now our 
economic recovery from the pandemic  This 
paper poses some difficult questions about 
how we address these challenges  But it also 
offers real hope that, with a collective effort, 
we can create a West Midlands that leads the 
way in tackling these issues  We have a strong 
entrepreneurial and innovative heritage to build 
on  By thinking and acting differently we can 
create a place where transport improves the 
opportunities available to all our residents  

A key aim of this paper is to understand what 
our residents and communities want from their 
transport network  Your views will inform our 
new Local Transport Plan, due to be published 
later in the year  

This green paper sets out five reasons why we 
should consider changing the way we travel  
We call these our five Motives for Change  
These are focussed on creating a fairer, greener, 
healthier, happier and more prosperous West 
Midlands  In particular, we want to know how 

the successive lockdowns have impacted our 
relationship with the transport network and how 
this should inform where we take the network in 
the coming years 

This is the start of a conversation with 
residents, organisations and businesses on 
the kinds of changes we want to see in our 
transport system and the trade-offs required  

So please engage with the prompts and issues 
raised in this paper and let us know what you 
think, so that together we can build a transport 
network that will serve our region for decades 
to come 

Councillor Ian Ward
Portfolio Lead for Transport
Leader of Birmingham City Council

Andy Street
Mayor of the West Midlands

P
age 213



4Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The aim of this green paper is 
to support conversations on 
difficult issues over the future 
of transport in the West 
Midlands  This will be used to 
support the development of a 
new statutory Local Transport 
Plan for our area which seeks 
to build consensus on the 
response to these challenges 

Section 1: Introduction
A new Local Transport Plan

Transport is critical for a prosperous and 
healthy society; people need to travel, and 
goods need to be delivered  The COVID-19 
pandemic has hit our region hard  We need 
a transport system which will help get our 
region back on track and unleash its potential 

The economic impact of the pandemic has 
been more severe in the West Midlands 
than elsewhere in the UK  Our exposure 
to the economic impacts of the global 
pandemic has been high because of our 
export led sectoral strengths - particularly 
sectors such as automotive, manufacturing, 
leisure and hospitality  However, these 
sectors remain great strengths that will 
enable a strong and fast recovery to happen  
It is critical that the transport system 
supports all sectors to recover  

There is much to be positive about  We are 
already delivering significant projects that 
support inclusive economic growth  We 
will lead the charge in powering the West 
Midlands recovery through the construction 
of HS2, Coventry City of Culture in 2021 
and the Commonwealth Games in 2022, as 
well as the region’s leadership in the growth 
sectors of the future  

Our transport system has also been affected 
by the pandemic with significant changes 
to how, when and why we travel  This 
presents challenges in terms of uncertain 
consumer demand to support the rebuilding 
of public transport, as well as opportunities 
to move forward doing things differently 
– more healthily and with less impact on 
our environment   Transport has a critical 
role to play as the region looks forward and 
plans for recovery: through the creation and 
accessing of jobs; training opportunities 
and the delivery of skills plans; by unlocking 
and delivering much needed housing across 
the region; supporting the regeneration 
of our local centres and neighbourhoods; 
improving health and well-being, and last 
but by no means least; addressing the 
urgent challenge of climate change 

Transport plays an important role in 
supporting a successful economy  It 
connects workers to jobs; businesses to 
customers and suppliers; and students to 
schools, colleges and universities across 
the region  It also employs many people 
across a range of industry sectors, from 
public transport operators to high-tech 
innovators developing new modes of travel  
Creating the right environment to support 
these businesses will be important as we 
bounce back from COVID-19  In particular, it 

will be essential to continue to support the 
innovative companies who can both help 
improve transport and create high-quality 
local jobs as well as support our ambitions 
to prevent climate change  

However, planning transport is no simple 
task  There are balances to be struck 
in how much the transport system can 
accommodate the diverse and competing 
transport needs of individuals and 
businesses  The positive and negative 
impacts of transport on people, 
communities and places also need to be 
considered  Reducing barriers to travel 
can help people access what they need 
to prosper and support economic growth  
However, depending on how this is achieved 
it can result in issues such as emissions that 
pollute the air we breathe and cause climate 
change, or it may benefit one set of citizens 
whilst marginalising another 

The places within our area are very 
different; what works in a modern estate 
with driveways and cul-de-sacs might not 
work in a terraced street with no off-street 
parking, and what makes sense in a city 
centre might not make sense in a village’s 
high street  We should be clear that there is 
not a “one size fits all” approach to tackling 
this issue  A range of solutions will need to 

P
age 214



5Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

be developed and tested, with engagement 
with local communities and businesses 
being an essential element of any new plans   

A transport system can be much greater 
than the sum of its many individual parts 
but ensuring the different elements are well 
coordinated and integrated takes conscious 
effort  The system cannot remain static 
and stagnant; it must constantly evolve to 
meet the changing needs of the people and 
businesses it serves  

There are also constraints to factor in, 
such as the amount of physical space 
available and the levels of public funding to 
support the transport system, as well as the 
legislative framework that also affects what 
can and can’t be done  

WMCA role as the Local 
Transport Authority

The Local Transport Plan is a key statutory 
document in which the region sets out how 
we intend to approach this complex balancing 
act and improve transport in our region  It 
does not only affect how public authorities 
will carry out their transport functions, it 
also affects wider decision making on other 
matters which relate to transport such as land 
use and energy infrastructure 

The West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) is a special type of local authority  

Its statutory administrative functions 
apply to the seven metropolitan boroughs 
of the West Midlands  One of WMCA’s 
key statutory functions is Local Transport 
Authority and through Transport for West 
Midlands (TfWM) it must produce a Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) for the area  

The LTP must set out policies to promote 
safe, integrated, efficient and economic 
transport to, from and within the area as 
well as plans to implement those policies  

WMCA and the seven city and metropolitan 
borough authorities (councils) are legally 
required to deliver this plan through the use 
of all their powers and functions  

We have already leveraged substantial 
investments for our transport improvements 
from Government and private sector 
partners  A new Local Transport Plan should 
not just be a plan for now, or even the next 
five years, but should support the ambition 
to build back better and level up our region 
for long term inclusive growth  Responding 
to the climate emergency and improving the 
way we move around the region presents 
us with some significant challenges  
New infrastructure to provide viable and 
attractive alternatives to single occupancy 
car use is critical, but alone will not be 
enough   There will also be a need for us all 
to think about how our travel behaviours 
could change 

Walsall

Wolverhampton

Dudley

Sandwell

Birmingham

Solihull Coventry

P
age 215



6Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The purpose of this green paper

Since the current LTP (Movement for Growth) was adopted five years ago 
there have already been significant global and local changes affecting the 
West Midlands which have been reflected in new WMCA policies 

Inclusive Growth 
Framework

In response to growing unease over the equity and sustainability of growth, WMCA 
has adopted a more deliberate and socially purposeful model of economic growth – 
measured not only by how fast or aggressive it is; but also by how well it is shared across 
the whole population and place, and the capacity of our environment to sustain it 

WM2041

In response to the pressing climate emergency, WMCA has adopted an ambition 
for the region to be carbon neutral by 2041 and principles for decarbonisation  It is 
developing a series of 5 year plans to decarbonise the West Midlands, the first of 
which runs from 2021-2026 

West Midlands 
Local Industrial 

Strategy

Understanding the need and opportunity to enable and encourage innovation in the 
transport sector to align the products and services of industry to the needs of society, 
WMCA has placed ‘Future of Mobility’ at the heart of its new local industrial strategy 

Recharge the 
West Midlands

In response to the social and economic challenges the region now faces as a result of the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, WMCA has adopted a plan to Recharge the West 
Midlands underpinned by the Community Recovery Roadmap; to use the opportunity to 
build back better to accelerate economic recovery in the West Midlands 

These four new WMCA policy agendas are shaping growth in the West Midlands 

These all have implications for the way we 
shape transport going forward  We have made 
a lot of progress that remains valid, however, 
there is a need to make sure that everything we 
are doing is appropriate and that we are doing 
everything we should be 

Transport is an important part of our lives, 
so we need to put people at the centre of 
developing how we respond to their transport 
needs and manage transport’s impacts  

The aim of this green paper is to support 
conversations over the future of transport in the 
West Midlands to feed in to the development 
of a new statutory Local Transport Plan for our 
area  In this document we explore:

• How transport has changed in our region, 
where we are now, and where we think 
we are heading under current forces and 
policies;  

• Some of the biggest transport issues that 
we think require attention if we are to 
achieve our ambitions for Inclusive Growth;

•  The kinds of changes we could make to 
our transport system that could enable 
us to build back better from the COVID-19 
pandemic, moving us towards a fairer, 
healthier, greener and more prosperous 
West Midlands; and

• Our proposed approach to developing 
the LTP 

Within this green paper, we have started to 
set out the choices we believe need to be 
considered in order to address the challenges 
we face in moving people and goods around our 
region  The nature of these complex discussions 
will increase the need for an open and honest, 
two-way discussion with our communities  We 
will take time to build understanding, debate, 
and allow reflection with groups to ensure the 
recommendations from those discussions are 
heard and addressed 

P
age 216



7Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 2: The state of transport in the West Midlands
How transport has changed

Our growing population
Our region has grown a lot over the last 150 years  There was a period of contraction and stagnation following 
industrial decline in last few decades of the 20th century  However, growth has been strong in the new 
millennium and is projected to continue 

Source: Analysis of Census data and ONS population estimates and projections

Population growth over the next 20 years 
would be like moving everyone who lives 
in Leicester into our area 

Leicester

Walsall
Wolver-
hampton

Dudley

Sandwell

Birmingham

Solihull
Coventry

P
age 217



8Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The population of our region has exploded over the last 
150 years from a collection of small but important towns 
and cities to a region of nearly 3 million people, and it 
continues to grow  As we’ve grown, there’s been much 
more travel in our region, but also the way we travel and 
where we can travel to has changed dramatically  

The transport options available to us impact 
what we can access  However, what we can 
access is also affected by how we use land and 
how we communicate   These three things are 
interdependent; a technological breakthrough in one 
can change our relationship with the others   It is no 
surprise that as travel options have changed, so have 
our lives and businesses 

Vehicles have made us much more mobile, and 
although vastly improved telecommunications have 
reduced the need to travel for some things, we are 
still travelling more overall   There are complex 
reasons for this; the scale of global supply chains, 
increased home deliveries, people’s desire to travel 
to meet people and visit places, and the increased 
distance between where people live and work  

Transport has changed the design and layout of places

As people could travel further and further, our settlements began to expand, 
streets became less connected, and buildings became more spread out with 
lots of space set aside for parking 

Source: Google Street View and Maps

P
age 218



9Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Travel and telecommunications have both increased a lot

2008-2009 
recession

Source: Transport Statistics Great Britain (DfT) 

The causes of the recent 
slow-down of travel growth 
are complex and not fully 
understood  Factors include: 
the 2008 recession, wealth 
inequalities, changes to key 
life events such as starting 
families and buying a home, 
the advancement of mobile 
communications devices, 
changing patterns of urban 
development and population 
migration 

However, the explanation is also perhaps simpler 
than complex analysis of detailed trends; people 
travel more when they can 

Increased mobility has radically changed our lives   
Improved affordability of car ownership and usage 
have meant that we have much greater flexibility 
over where we live and work within the region, 
where our children can go to school, travelling 
frequently to see distant relatives, and bulk-buying 
groceries and transporting bulky items   These are 
things that would not have been possible 100 years 
ago, but now are part of everyday life  

Whist increased mobility has provided social 
and economic benefits for some it also has other 
costs to society  For the new LTP, we aim to work 
with the public to develop a vision and plans for a 
more equitable and sustainable transport system 
that continues to enable and catalyse growth and 
prosperity in our region 

P
age 219



10Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

1880

Home
I live near the factory in 
terraces that were built 
for the workers 

Shopping
I walk to the butcher, baker 
and grocer around the 
corner for most supplies 

Work
It’s not too far to walk to the factory 

Holiday
At the weekends the family 
sometimes takes the tram to the 
park  We might take a daytrip to 
Sutton Coldfield by train 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
Most of my friends and 
family live nearby, but I 
write to those who aren’t 

1920

Home
We live in the suburbs 
away from the noise and 
pollution of the centre 

Shopping
We get groceries from around the 
corner, but sometimes I take the 
trolleybus into the city centre to meet 
my friends at a department store 

Work
I work in an industrial quarter in the city 
centre that I get to on the trolleybus 

Holiday
We took the train to Weston-
super-Mare last year!

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
I write to friends and 
family  We can use a public 
telephone but it’s quite pricey!

1960

Home
I live in a cul-de-sac 
with my own driveway 
for my new car 

Shopping
We drive our car to 
get our shopping from 
the supermarket 

Work
I drive to the office in one 
of the commercial districts 
near to the centre of town 

Holiday
We’re going on a coach trip to 
France this year on the ferry, but 
last year we drove to a holiday park 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
My friends and family are spread 
out  I call them on the telephone 
when we want a quick chat 

1980

Shopping
We use the supermarket for most 
shopping, but we’ve also started to 
visit some of the new out of town 
retail parks and malls  It’s easy to 
drive and find parking

Home
We’ve moved out of 
the area to one of the 
towns nearby 

Work
I’m working in one of the business 
parks by the motorway  I have 
to drive even if I didn’t want to 
because there’s no other choice!

Holiday
The whole family’s flying to 
Costa Brava for a package holiday  
At the weekends, we might drive 
out to a country park 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
My friends and family are spread 
out but the motorways make it 
easy to visit them  I can always 
call them on the landline 

2020

Home
With a car and the internet I 
think I could live anywhere I 
could afford to in the region 

Shopping
I’ve been going to shops less and 
ordering more online 

Work
I drive to work when I have to but 
we’re working from home more 
and more 

Holiday
The world is my oyster; I still like to 
fly to see the world, but I also like to 
take the train for UK city breaks and 
drive out into the wilds 

Keeping in touch with 
friends and family
I’ve got friends and relatives all over the 
UK  I like to visit them as often as I can 
and we all keep in touch everyday using 
social media across our many devices!

P
age 220



11Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changes in the costs of transport (UK) and car ownership (West Midlands)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2000 2005 2010 2015

In
de

x:
 1

99
7=

10
0

Changes in the costs of transport (components of RPI) and disposable 
income

Median equivali sed household
disposable income

Rail fares

Bus and coach fares

All motoring costs

Motoring (Purchase of vehicle)

Source: Transport Statistics Great Britain (DfT) and ONS

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s

WM met. Car Ownership (by household)

No car 1 car 2+ cars

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f W
es

t 
M

id
la

nd
s 

ho
us

eh
ol

ds

Source: Census and PRISM

As motoring costs have reduced relative to public transport fares, car ownership has increased  Whilst the 
proportion of households without a car is decreasing, the number of households is still increasing because 
of our growing population 

P
age 221



12Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Cars are getting bigger

Growth of SUV and pure electric car/van sales

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f n
ew

 
ca

rs
/v

an
s 

so
ld

 in
 t

he
 U

K

Source: UKERC

Mitsubishi Outlander 
Plug-In Hybrid 
Electric Vehicle

1968 Morris Mini-Cooper S Mk II 2018 Mini Cooper Classic

Weight (kg) 670 1200

Length (m) 3 1 4 0

Width (m) 1 4 1 9

Height (m) 1 3 1 4

As the affordability of motoring has improved, the size and weight of the cars we drive has also 
substantially increased  The weight of a Mini Cooper has almost doubled and its length has 
almost increased by a third over the last 50 years  1 in 5 cars sold in the UK were SUVs in 2018  
The Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV is the UK’s most popular plug-in electric vehicle and it is an SUV  

Whilst these bigger vehicles have been associated with comfort and safety for vehicle occupants, 
it has also increased energy consumption, carbon emissions, road wear, space required for 
parking and other impacts 

P
age 222



13Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Car accounts for most travel, except to particular centres

Destinations of car trips made in the morning peak

Source: PRISM

Comparing mode shares to/from centres with mode share for all travel

Source: TfWM Cordon Counts and National Travel Survey (DfT)

Most travel is not to or from our centres, even in the peak travel periods 

While public transport has remained a popular choice for accessing our big city centres, 
the car is by far the most popular choice for travel across the wider region  

For those who do use public transport, train and bus is popular for accessing big city 
centres but it is mainly bus that is used elsewhere  P

age 223



14Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

While it’s difficult to predict the future, we do know 
that change never stops and things that appear 
unachievable or unattractive today can be taken for 
granted as a new way of life in a few years’ time  

Yet many of our streets have changed very little 
over the years; and so as we move forward we 
need to update, retrofit and adapt the urban 
environments we have, which will be our legacy to 
future generations  

Reflection

So a lot of change has happened 
very quickly and transport has 
shaped places and lifestyles 
significantly within many 
people’s lifetimes  

Some changes are more easily 
embraced than others 

Is it possible that we could see 
more significant change in how 
and why we travel within the 
next 100 years?

Where we are heading 

It’s important to reflect on the effects of our 
current transport policies as we develop a 
new West Midlands Local Transport Plan  

Generally, local transport policies and plans have focussed 
on delivering specific impacts through:

• Infrastructure investments in specific places, 
for example:

• Delivery of new rail stations, as well as the 
creation of new West Midlands Metro, Sprint 
bus, and Very Light Rail (VLR) routes;

• Reallocating space to public transport on 
congested corridors;

• Delivery of new high quality cycle routes; and 

• Pinchpoint schemes to increase the vehicular 
traffic that can flow through congested parts of 
the road network 

• Subsidised services for the benefit of those 
who are less mobile, or where private services 
would struggle to operate on a commercial basis, 
for example:

• Concessionary travel schemes;

• Subsidies for particular bus services and our 
Ring and Ride service; and 

• Multi-modal ticketing and fares 

• Travel information, advice and education, 
for example:

• Supporting organisations with travel planning 
advice;

• Providing journey planning tools and 
information for members of the public; and

• Alerting the West Midlands to planned and 
unplanned disruptions on the network 

• Supporting innovation in mobility products and 
services, for example: 

• Exploring the commercial case for new 
products and services by collaborating with the 
private sector to test new transport modes and 
schemes; and

• Working closely with industry, central 
government and our local authorities to 
understand regulatory changes needed to 
support new transport solutions 

P
age 224



15Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Great stuff is already happening across the West Midlands

Extending our Metro

Metro extensions are currently being built for 
Wednesbury – Brierley Hill, Birmingham Westside, 
Birmingham Eastside and Wolverhampton city centre 
(as part of the Wolverhampton Interchange project) 

The West Midlands Metro network expansion will 
ensure that all West Midlands strategic centres are 
served by a rail and rapid transit network and will 
open up investment in jobs and housing across the 
Black Country and Birmingham 

Blue cycle routes

The A38 Bristol Road cycle route provides a high 
quality two way segregated cycle route between 
Selly Oak, the University of Birmingham and 
Birmingham city centre  

The blue surfaced route was opened in 2019 and 
is approximately 4 km long  Its high standard 
informs wider cycle network development in the 
West Midlands and the quality of this cycle route’s 
infrastructure has received national acclaim 

Swift multi-modal ticketing

Swift is the largest and most comprehensive 
smartcard scheme in the UK outside of London  
Before the pandemic it was used 75m times a year 
by  537,000 card holders 

The new “Swift Go” fare-capping service calculates 
the best value fare at the end of each day based on 
the journeys taken  Although currently only available 
on the West Midlands Metro line, the aim is to extend 
Swift Go to buses and rail services in 2021 as part of 
constant product innovation and development 

RTCC

The West Midlands Regional Transport Coordination 
Centre (RTCC) is part of a £22 million project to 
improve coordination across public transport and 
road networks and manage congestion in the 
West Midlands 

Opened in January 2020, the RTCC has the role 
of providing real time, data driven intelligence on 
the transport network  The RTCC operate across 
the entire region, across all modes to help better 
informed decision making through incidents, events 
and engineering and works to ensure a single 
cohesive message to the travelling public 

P
age 225



16Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Our region has recently seen 
unprecedented delivery and commitment 
to investment into the transport system  
This investment aims to create an 
integrated, multi-modal public transport 
system that is plugged into HS2  

Many policies target access to busy town 
and city centres to encourage economic 
growth by enabling more people to 
access these centres without increasing 
congestion  We are also delivering a step-
change in public transport accessibility 
in areas of the region where access is 
currently poor  Delivery of particular 
transport infrastructure will encourage 
and enable the development of land for 
purposes such as housing and employment  
As the connections between our region 
and the rest of the country improve, the 
markets that local businesses and people 
benefit from will expand and encourage 
investment in the West Midlands  

Economic benefits are a crucial driver of 
our current policies, however, these aren’t 
only derived from the improvements to 
access  The construction of new transport 
schemes itself provides opportunity for 
those in the industry who plan, develop, 
build and operate new infrastructure and 
services - helping to develop skills and 
provide employment for local people  

In this way, public investment in the 
infrastructure our region needs will play 
an important role in supporting the post-
COVID-19 economic recovery of our region  

Much of our investment and policies 
aim to improve provision for sustainable 
travel modes  However, whilst 
important, this isn’t enough to generate 
sufficient travel behaviour changes to 
address wider environmental, social 
and economic challenges we face  The 
transport impacts of current schemes 
tend to make a big difference in some 
areas but their impacts across the wider 
region are more limited 

If significant behaviour change is a core 
part of our aims, then we will need to 
do more 

Reflection

Whilst we are seeing 
unprecedented levels of 
investment, does it feel 
like transport in the West 
Midlands is getting better?

The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic

When asked how their journey 
habits have changed as a 
result of the pandemic, here’s 
how people responded 

• Avoiding public transport 
where possible, opting to 
drive, walk or cycle instead

• A decrease in communting 
journeys as more people are 
working from home

• Less travel into city centres

• Shopping more locally

• Grocery shopping weekly, 
rather than every other day

• Travelling to visit friends 
and family less often

• Cycling more

Almost all stated that their journey habits 
had changed as a result of the pandemic 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online 
Community

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted 
our way of life  There have been and 
will be changes to the way we live and 
work during the pandemic  However, the 
pandemic will also have long term effects:

• There will be economic shocks in which 
people may face challenges finding 
employment and making ends meet;

• As we adapted our lives to minimise 
spread of the virus we have found 
new ways of working and living that 
people will want to keep; and

• The pandemic has triggered many to 
reconsider what their priorities are 
in terms of health, relationships with 
people, the environment, and the kind 
of economy we want 

Whilst the economic and social impacts 
of the pandemic are undeniable and many 
face significant challenges ahead, the 
ability of so many businesses and people 
to adapt so as to keep as much social 
and economic activity going as possible 
has shown us that we are resilient and 
adaptable to rapid change  A substantial 
amount of activity has been able to 
continue with far less travel than before, 
and in some circumstances this presents 
long term opportunities, for example:

• Reducing time and money spent on 
travel;

• Exploiting the potential of digital 
connectivity to expand access to 
markets and collaborators; and

• Increasing local spending in West 
Midlands businesses through increased 
active travel and living locally 

P
age 226



17Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changing priorities during the COVID-19 pandemic

When asked in May 2020 what they wanted to see change as a result of the crisis, people said   

Cleaner air 81%
Quieter streets75%

Better work/life 
balance 67%

To be fitter 
and healthier65%

Stronger 
community ties 59%

Greater use of 
neighbourhood shops 
and local high streets58%

More diversity 
and wildlife 58%

Source: TfWM COVID-19 pandemic public surveys

   but when asked in Summer 2020 to name their top priority for the 
region’s recovery after the pandemic, people said   

Jobs 45%
Health35%

Education 9%
Environment8%

High streets and 
neighbourhoods 3%

Community1%

People do want to live in friendlier, nicer and sustainable places, but individuals 
also have fundamental basic needs; they want a job to make ends meet and they 
want to be in good health  As we explore in this green paper, these needs and 
desires do not have to be mutually exclusive P

age 227



18Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

People have been working from home a lot during the 
pandemic  I think it will become a way of life in the future, 
when more companies realise they don’t need expensive 
offices and overheads 

65+, Solihull, No cars in household, Driver
Yes, COVID has proven that this (reducing travel without actually 
doing less) is effectively possible, particularly for business travel  
Do you really need to meet in person? The answer these days is 
more likely to be no! Stop making unnecessary journeys, do you 
really need to get in the car to go to that shop that’s five minutes 
away? Probably not 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, No licence

We’re already seeing it with COVID that companies are 
realising that they can have staff working from home 

25-44, Walsall, No cars in household, No licence

I know I’m not exercising enough now due to the 
pandemic, my entire lifestyle has changed  I’d like 
to see things go back to normal, so I can travel more 
as I tend to exercise when I explore new places 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver
I do much less activity since the pandemic as I work from 
home and try to avoid the rish of catching COVID-19  Before 
that I used to regularly go hiking/walking in the countryside  
Running once a week, and walking long distance – 10 to 20 
miles most weekends 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver

Many people, businesses and public authorities 
have come together to tackle the challenges of the 
pandemic  TfWM and our partners are continuing to 
contribute with actions that aim to:

• Provide travel that is safe and secure;

• Get workers and businesses up and running 
(when safe);

• Support travel to schools and keep children and 
families safe;

• Keep the clean air, physical exercise and reduced 
carbon emissions; and

• Support a green economic recovery 

Even though there will be long lasting impacts of 
the pandemic, at some point, hopefully this year, we 
will be able to say that the pandemic is over and the 
restrictions designed to prevent the spread of the 
virus will be lifted 

P
age 228



19Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

We’ve been working hard to face the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic

Emergency Active Travel Fund

The Government’s Emergency Active Travel Fund was established 
to rapidly create and then enhance safe conditions for walking and 
cycling  This was to help cater for and grow increased  UK levels of 
cycling and walking seen with the first lockdown   

The West Midlands was awarded £16 85m  These funds have helped 
create pop-up cycle lanes, footway widening and other active travel 
improvements as well as enabling some temporary measures to be 
upgraded and made permanent 

Maintaining public transport services

Public transport use has been massively affected as a result of the 
pandemic  TfWM has made the case for Government revenue support 
to keep services running, established a multi-modal and multi-
organisation Transport Recovery Cell, and worked with partners to 
implement social distancing standards, regulations on face coverings, 
enhanced cleaning of public transport infrastructure and vehicles 

Shuttle buses for NHS staff

To support NHS staff, Ring and Ride services were repurposed to 
provide shuttles to key hospital sites from transport stops  

The free shuttle service started in April 2020 for NHS workers  The 
shuttles linked West Midlands Metro stops with Walsall Manor 
Hospital and Wolverhampton New Cross Hospital, along with shuttle 
services in Dudley for Russells Hall Hospital and services to Good Hope 
Hospital in Sutton Coldfield   By the end of 2020, these services had 
been used for 30,000 trips by NHS workers  

P
age 229



20Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Patterns of demand – where people travel to and 
from and when – are likely to diverge significantly 
from trends before the pandemic  The shift to remote 
working and the increased role of e-commerce has 
been accelerated  The roles that big centres and our 
local neighbourhoods play in our lives could well 
change because of this  The effect of these changes 
is likely to be more complex than a simple reduction 
in the amount of travel; we are likely to see that 
where travel for some reasons and between particular 
places may reduce, other kinds of travel demand may 
increase  Consider:

• If remote working becomes more popular, people 
may live further from the office  This may mean 
that a reduction in frequency of commuting is 
counteracted by an increase in commuting journey 
lengths 

• If e-commerce becomes more popular, people 
may have goods delivered on a weeknight freeing 
up their weekend for leisure trips and trips to see 
friends and family, which tend to be longer than 
shopping trips 

Public transport faces serious challenges ahead  
As with many businesses, demand for services 
has dropped during the pandemic  People were 
specifically advised to avoid using public transport 
during the pandemic where they could to help 
manage the spread of the virus  Maintaining service 
levels has required greater public subsidy because 
there have been fewer fares collected  There is a 
concern that as people have adopted new behaviours 
to avoid public transport where they can, these 
behaviours may persist after the pandemic is over  

Furthermore, much of the fare paying demand for 
public transport comes from regular commuting 
to and from busy centres  With the likely move to 
remote working, this is also likely to reduce demand 
for these services  

It is difficult to predict the long-term behavioural 
consequences of the pandemic, however, they will 
be influenced by public policies  There is a desire 
to “build back better” but doing so will require a 
conscious effort to do things differently  

Investment in transport can support the economic 
recovery from COVID-19 both in terms of direct 
employment to support development, delivery 
and management of infrastructure and services, 
but also by improving access  Getting the most 
out of this investment will need us to focus on “no 
regrets” actions that are consistent with our desire 
to “build back better” by providing the right kinds of 
improvement to access, but also that are resilient to 
any uncertainties in how the world will be disrupted 
in the long term by the experience of the pandemic 

Reflection

What are some of the changes in 
how we live that you’d like to keep 
after the pandemic?

P
age 230



21Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Changes to travel demand during COVID-19 pandemic

Public transport and car demand

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec

N
um

be
r o

f c
yc

lis
ts

 c
ou

nt
ed

Canal On Road Off Road Shared Footway

2019 2020-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

%
 d

iff
. f

ro
m

 p
re

-C
O
V
ID

-1
9 

pa
nd

em
ic

 n
or

m
al

Bus Metro Rail Motorway

Source: TfWM Data Insight Service analysis

Travel restrictions and social distancing have caused reductions in travel across 
all modes  Car use recovered more than public transport when restrictions were 
lifted  Rail demand has remained particularly low 

Cycle counts

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec

N
um

be
r o

f c
yc

lis
ts

 c
ou

nt
ed

Canal On Road Off Road Shared Footway

2019 2020-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov D
ec Ja
n

%
 d

iff
. f

ro
m

 p
re

-C
O
V
ID

-1
9 

pa
nd

em
ic

 n
or

m
al

Bus Metro Rail Motorway

Many needed to cycle as a way of avoiding public transport and getting more exercise, 
and they were better able to cycle owing to the quieter streets, which people felt were 
safer and more pleasant to cycle on  As a result, cycling levels were much higher during 
2020 than preceding years P

age 231



22Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 3: Our Motives for Change
Inclusive Growth in the West Midlands 
means that all citizens can shape, 
contribute and benefit from the 
advancement of the region 

It is a deliberate and socially purposeful model of 
economic growth – measured not only by how fast 
or aggressive it is; but also by how well it is shared 
across the whole population and place, and the 
capacity of our environment to sustain it 

WMCA’s goal for Inclusive Growth is to occupy a 
space where social need, economic ambition and our 
responsibilities to the environment are in balance 

Inclusive Growth Framework

The space for a balanced, inclusive economy is where social 
challenges can be met without degrading the environment

Sustainability

Health and 
wellbeing

Education 
and learning

Affordable, 
safe and 
connected 

places

Power, 
influence and 
participation

Economy Equality

Biodiversity

Reducing
CO2

Circular
economy

Air quality
A balanced, inclusive West 

Midlands economy

Transport’s relationship with Inclusive Growth is 
complex:

• Meeting many of our needs and ambitions relies 
on transport connections;

• But those same transport connections have 
impacts that the environment can’t sustain 
and which are detrimental to other social and 
economic outcomes; and 

• Improving connections for a particular group of 
people, by a particular mode, to particular places 
can limit and even worsen connectivity elsewhere 
for others 

P
age 232



23Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

TfWM has adopted five Motives for Change to 
frame society’s relationship with transport and the 
sort of society and places in which we want to live   
They explain why change, although difficult in the 
short-term, is likely to be much better for all in the 
long-term  This is because following through with 
the changes to satisfy our Motives for Change will 
involve trade-offs between benefits, impacts and 
other aspects of transport that many value 

All the Motives for Change are important  As 
we work with the public to set a new direction for 
transport, our collective challenge will be finding a 
new direction that best delivers the level of change 
people want across all our Motives for Change  

Any big changes to our transport system and the 
way we travel must be based on widely held public 
consensus; preparedness to travel differently 
and acceptance of the public policies that will 
effectively deliver change 

Change can be intimidating and some may be 
better positioned to adapt than others  We of 
course need to support those who need it most, 
however, in general we are often more adaptable 
and resilient to change than we give ourselves 
credit 

Through this green paper, we explore the changes 
to transport that can address the challenges we’ve 
set out, but we also need to understand whether 
the public feels there are paths we should not 
take, where progress towards one or more goals 
could be outweighed by negative impacts on other 
aspects of our lives Our Motives for Change

Why 
change?

Sustaining
 economic 

success

Tackling the 
climate 

emergency

Creating 
a fairer 
society

Becoming 
more 
active

Supporting 
local 

communities 
and places

P
age 233



24Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 1: Sustaining economic success

Inclusive economy

Social and economic activity requires people and 
businesses to be able to access other places, people 
and resources  Reducing barriers and costs to travel 
can unlock new social and economic opportunities - 
helping people and businesses prosper, and enabling 
places to regenerate and develop  

However, reducing barriers to travel in an untargeted 
way can also be detrimental to economic success or 
make it increasingly difficult to sustain, for example 
where:

• Increased travel is accompanied by external 
impacts that harm our economy such as climate 
change and poor health of workers;

• Limited capacity for travel becomes congested 
with too many vehicles making journey times 
unreliable and reducing how far people can travel 
in a given time frame as the number of vehicles 
increases; and

• Transport infrastructure becomes more costly to 
maintain as more infrastructure is built and the 
demands on it increase 

It is also important to consider who benefits from 
reduced barriers to travel and how this can affect the 
economy  For example,

• Improving connectivity beyond our region can 
increase the labour pool that local businesses 
can access  This may help local businesses 
secure labour with particular skills sets that are 
challenging to source locally 

• Those who are more deprived are generally 
much less mobile than others (particularly where 
they lack access to a car)  Targeted measures to 
increase the mobility of this group can enable 
them to participate more fully in our economy 
helping the region to prosper and levelling up their 
life outcomes 

Finally, it is also important to consider that quality 
of life and places are key factors that help attract 
and retain citizens and businesses in our area, 
supporting economic growth  Changes to transport 
can have either positive or negative impacts on 
places and quality of life and so this must be taken 
into account when thinking how transport helps (or 
hinders) us to prosper 

P
age 234



25Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

We can unlock sustainable economic growth by changing our approach

A comparison of the limitations 
of allowing current trends and 
practices to continue vs  the 
economic potential of a more 
inclusive approach to mobility 
are set out opposite

Status quo More inclusive mobility

Description We focus on improving specific connections by adding or increasing the 
capacity of road and rail links  We continue to take actions that result in 
modal shift on journeys to centres but without overall reductions in traffic 
and without wider behaviour change across the region  We encourage a 
shift to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) but without more fundamental 
changes to personal vehicles  We continue to adopt a laissez faire policy to 
freight and deliveries 

We focus on improving the mobility of those who are currently 
mobility poor  This includes a continued focus on public transport and 
active travel, but also includes more transformational levelling up of 
mobility through permitting new, more affordable and lower impact 
forms of mobility such as micromobility  We also focus on improving 
opportunities locally  We generate a significant shift from car usage 
to more sustainable forms of mobility  We take action to encourage 
better consolidation and planning of freight and deliveries 

Effect on mobility This would have a marginal effect on mobility as we would be adding/
improving links on an already extensive transport network 

This would enable much greater participation in the economy 
by enabling more people to be mobile, resulting in more 
transformational economic benefits 

Effect on external 
impacts

Traffic at best gets no worse into centres and at worst increases everywhere 
with associated worsening impacts on places, people and the environment  
Tailpipe emissions reduce but road, tyre and brake wear continue to be 
an issue  Total energy consumption of transport activity increases, with 
consequent climate impacts  

Traffic reduces and the vehicles used for personal travel have fewer 
impacts  This reduces noise, pollution, stress, road collisions and 
community severance caused by traffic, which reduces the economic 
costs and foregone opportunities associated with these impacts 

Effect on resilience The extent of the transport network expands as new links are formed and 
upgraded but the number and weight of vehicles increases at a rate that 
outpaces this  The result is increased maintenance costs because of a more 
extensive and heavily trafficked network and resultant disruptions  

Traffic and the impacts of traffic on transport infrastructure 
(particularly highways) reduce  This reduces maintenance costs and 
helps keep the network well-maintained 

Effect on congestion Congestion reaches a limit where people will not accept longer travel times and 
choose other destinations  This excludes many from the benefits of opportunities 
in strategic employment centres  This stunts the growth of centres and over 
time the congestion spreads further as people seek opportunities elsewhere  
The congestion results in highly unreliable journey times representing significant 
economic costs 

There is sufficient capacity to cope with transport demands but with 
some crowding on public transport during the peak travel periods  
Regardless, journey times become much more reliable 

P
age 235



26Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the West 
Midlands was experiencing a renaissance 
of economic growth and regeneration  We 
want to ensure our region continues to 
succeed but our ambition is to ‘build back 
better’  

Like many urban areas, the success of the 
West Midlands economy has historically 
been linked to mobility  More people 
and more trade meant more movement 
and more vehicles  Moving out of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the West Midlands 
faces the challenge of economic recovery 
and rebalancing  There is a need to 
decouple growth from the impacts of 
transport to address all our Motives 
for Change  This could require us to 
move towards lower impact forms of 
mobility that make more efficient use of 
available capacity and to ensure that the 
transport system enables those who are 
marginalised by its current form to better 
contribute to and benefit from the region’s 
economic successes  

To “build back better” from the pandemic 
we could take more targeted actions 
to reduce travel barriers to catalyse 
growth by improving access in a way that 
ensures we make best use of existing 
infrastructure, reduce the negative 
impacts of transport and create new 
opportunities for those who are less 
mobile  This will ensure economic success 
is catalysed, can be sustained, spread 
across the population and coupled with a 
better quality of life  

We think that an objective for a new 
Local Transport Plan should be: 

Inclusive economy - We will inclusively 
grow our economy by reducing travel 
barriers in a way that reduces the economic 
costs of transport’s externalities and 
maintaining the network, improves the 
reliability of the network, improves the 
health of the workforce, and levels up 
access to opportunities for those who are 
less mobile to enable greater participation 
in the economy 

Reflection

We have historically seen transport 
and economic success intrinsically 
linked   They will still be important to 
each other but there are ways that 
we can help the green economy’s 
relationship to be less reliant on 
transport 

If the long term aim is to reduce 
traffic then does it make sense to 
build infrastructure that enables and 
encourages traffic growth?

Is there a better way to deliver 
Inclusive Growth? Should we be doing 
it by improving the mobility of those 
who are already mobility rich or by 
improving the access for those who 
are mobility poor?

P
age 236



27Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Mobility market transformation 

The historic relationship between the West Midlands 
economic success and mobility goes beyond 
increasing travel  

The West Midlands is a key UK centre of automotive 
manufacturing and production, with 54,000 people 
employed in motor vehicle manufacturing 

It is also part of the UK’s so called “Golden Triangle” 
within a 4-hour drive to all major UK ports and 90% 
of the UK’s population  As such, it is the location 
of choice for some of the UK’s major industries and 
largest distribution centres  Freight and logistics, a 
key sector for the West Midlands, supports almost 
every other economic sector, employing around 
100,000 and generating £9 5 billion GVA 

There are also those employed in public transport 
services in our region, including many who work for 
National Express Group, a leading public transport 
operator with bus, coach and rail services across the 
world, headquartered in the West Midlands 

Much of the value of these sectors to the West 
Midlands is externally traded; not everyone in the 
West Midlands is driving a car that is made here, 
most of them are exported  So whilst local transport 
policies in the West Midlands may affect these 
industries, they only affect a proportion of their 
market, which may be large (in the case of public 
transport) or small (in the case of automotive) 

However, many of the changes we believe are needed 
to transport here in the West Midlands, are also likely 
changes that are needed across the UK (and perhaps 
even the world) 

These shifts will represent great challenges and 
opportunities to industry, both in terms of products and 
services created here and exported, and products and 
services created here and used by West Midlanders  
Some examples of the challenges faced include:

• The automotive sector faces significant challenges 
with phasing out internal combustion engines but 
also with potential shifts away from private vehicle 
ownership to shared ownership and away from 
fashionable high-powered cars to vehicles more 
appropriate for urban usage; and

• The freight and logistics sector also faces a great 
challenge with phasing out internal combustion 
engines, but also with reducing vehicle miles 
through consolidation of deliveries and minimising 
the impacts of delivery vehicles in places with high 
pedestrian footfall 

However, there are also plenty of opportunities for 
new industrial activity in the provision of transport 
products and services that better support Inclusive 
Growth; after all, there will always be demand for 
transport 

The West Midlands currently leads on the Industrial 
Strategy’s ‘Future of Mobility’ grand challenge 
building on its existing strengths in automotive 
innovation (e g  the UK Battery Industrialisation 
Centre), and connected supply chains in rail, 
automotive and aerospace as well as digital 
communications with the West Midlands 5G testbed   

We are piloting and leading on a broad spectrum of 
transport innovations and technologies including 

micromobility (such as e-scooters), Mobility as a 
Service (MaaS), connected autonomous vehicles 
(CAV) and mobility credit trials   We have also 
developed a UK first proposal for a transport 
regulatory ‘sandbox’ to help test and develop new 
solutions to our transport challenges  The West 
Midlands already has well developed infrastructure 
and energy plans to support the shift to zero carbon  

Cementing our position as a UK industry leader in 
mobility sectors will attract new investment, create 
and sustain highly-skilled jobs, accelerate clustering 
and catalyse innovation - boosting the international 
competitiveness of the region  However, it will 
require industrial transition  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be:

Mobility market transformation - We will support 
industrial transformation of the mobility sector to 
position West Midlands as a global leader in future 
transport by creating a local transport market that 
enables innovation, development and deployment 
of transport products and services that best support 
Inclusive Growth 

P
age 237



28Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

I think the car has made for an unequal 
society, particularly for those on low/no 
incomes who don’t have a choice…how 
we have put cars and transport above 
the needs of pedestrians is backwards 
and counter productive, we’ve created a 
car led society which creates unsightly 
streets, noise, pollution and everything 
else that entails 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, 
No licence

Motive 2: Creating a fairer society

Addressing transport inequity is twofold:

• Ensuring people have more equitable access to 
opportunities to support a more socially mobile 
West Midlands where everyone can prosper; and

• Reducing the negative impacts of transport, 
which generally are disproportionately attributable 
to the travel behaviour of more mobile citizens 
and disproportionately impact those who are more 
deprived  

Fair access

Where you can travel is a big determinant of what 
you can access and affects the extent that people can 
participate in the economy and society  There are a 
number of key factors which can affect whether the 
transport system provides good access for everyone:

• How land is used – Where people live and how 
employment, opportunities and services are 
distributed is the biggest underlying driver of 
demand for transport and who can access what;

• The availability and affordability of transport – 
This includes cost, geographic accessibility, the 
design of the network, and availability of transport 
through the day; and

• The experience and usability of transport – 
Many factors affect whether people feel safe and 
confident using the transport system including 
a broad spectrum of things from the quality of 
information available to them, to fear of being a 
victim of crime/road collision  

The car remains the most popular choice because 
it offers affordability at the point of use and 
flexible convenience   However, the popularity of 
the car hampers the ability to provide high quality 
alternatives  Consider:

• More car drivers means less fare paying bus users 
means reduced bus services;

• Congestion impacts the ability to provide reliable 
bus journey times; and

• Heavy traffic dissuades people from walking and 
cycling  

The barriers to good access are often higher for 
particular groups; for example, the form of the 
transport system disadvantages those experiencing 
deprivation and disability, but also those from 
particular age, gender and ethnic minority groups  
This inequity of access to opportunity reduces social 
mobility and participation   These groups also often 
live in areas that experience the worst levels of 
adverse impacts from transport 

Improving access to social and economic 
opportunities to disadvantaged communities can 
be achieved by reducing their barriers to travel  
We often achieve this through changes such as 
improving connectivity via new or improved public 
transport services, or through reducing the cost of 
travel through subsidies   While important, it is not 
enough to support Inclusive Growth; there are wider 
systematic issues which cause inequity of access  

A systematic issue is the difference in mobility 
between those with and without access to a car and 
the way that land has been developed and used in a 
way which is geared towards car ownership  The result 
is those with access to a car have a much higher level 
of access to opportunity than those who don’t   The 
extent to which this gap in access can be closed by 
extra public transport services or concessions is limited 
within the bounds of what is realistically affordable 
through public subsidy 

This isn’t a minor issue; 1 in 4 households in the West 
Midlands don’t have a car and most households with 
a car don’t have one for every person  

P
age 238



29Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The gap in access to opportunity

People with cars can access more than those without  Most West Midlands 
residents could accesss more than double the job opportunities within 
45 minutes of where they live with a car than without a car 

Jobs accessible within 45 minutes without a car

Source: PRISM

Jobs accessible within 45 minutes with a car

Number of jobs accessible within 
45 minutes

Areas within lowest 10% 
of Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation

Legend

P
age 239



30Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Inequalities in access to a car across different groups

UK inequalities in car access by gender

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

UK inequalities in car access by income (2019) 

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

UK improving car access for those on lower incomes

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

1985 2000 2019 1985 2000 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
gender

Male Female
Lowest real 

income 
level

Second 
level

Third level Fourth 
level

Highest 
real 

income 
level

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Inequalities in car access by 
income (2019)

Live in house without car/van
Non driver in house with car/van
Other driver in house with car/van
Main driver in house with car/van

2002 2010 2019
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Improving car access for those 
on lower incomes

Live in house without car/van

Non driver in house with car/van

Other driver in house with car/van

Main driver in house with car/van

Access to cars has been improving amongst groups that historically have had poorer access  However, there is still a significant proportion of 
people without access to cars and particular groups such as women and those on lower incomes who are effectively less mobile because of it  
Providing everyone with access to a car might level the playing field, but it would worsen many of our other problems 

P
age 240



31Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The issue is more complex than the fact that it is the 
more deprived communities that tend to be less likely 
to own a car   Many people feel that not having a car 
denies them of a decent quality of life, particularly 
when it comes to having to find employment, manage 
the travel needs of having a family and finding 
affordable housing that meets their requirements  

Across the UK motoring has become more affordable 
as public transport has become less affordable  At the 
same time, whilst public transport service levels may 
have been maintained along key corridors into centres, 
elsewhere a reduction in farebox income and subsidy has 
led to reduced services in places  This has happened as 
A) land uses changed and patterns of travel demand have 
become more disperse as cars became more affordable 
leading to even greater switches from public transport 
to car use leaving operators with reduced income and B) 
subsidies have reduced with austerity policies 

This spiralling pattern of greater affordability of 
motoring relative to public transport and reduced 
usefulness and availability of public transport has 
meant many on lower incomes have stretched their 
finances by taking on a car  At the same time, many 
have moved to more affordable suburbs, where 
mobility via public transport is worse 

In the West Midlands we have invested significantly 
to address these wider issues by improving bus 
routes and introducing best value fare capping   But 
more needs to be done to ensure  people are do 
not become more dependent on their cars   This 
is especially so for those might be in a financially 
precarious position where increases to the cost 
of motoring can represent a serious issue for their 
mobility and funding wider household needs 

I do think those that have access to a car have greater 
flexibility and access to destinations  Having a car 
often results in less prior journey schedule planning 
and frees up time to complete a lot more in a day 

45-64, Walsall, No cars in household, Driver

Our family would not be able to function as we do without 
a car, because it is quicker to use the car  We are able to 
support picking up grandchildren, dropping off to various 
after school clubs etc, otherwise we would not be able to do 
it without the advantage of having a car 

45-46, Birmingham, 2 cars in household, Driver

I have always taken my car for granted but I should 
realise that is gives people, particularly women, a 
sense of freedom and independence 

65+, Wolverhampton, 2 cars in household, Driver

When an individual has access to a car, it means 
their lifestyle can be improved in many ways  For 
example, it’s easier for them to get to work and 
commute as well as being easier for shopping for 
essentials  It also gives a better lifestyle in the the way 
it allows you to visit friends and family more easily 

16-24, Sandwell, 3+ cars in household, Driver
Able to work more flexibly, work during bank holidays and 
Xmas day when public transport is limited  Able to drive to 
places that are more green like seasides and beauty spots 
and have a better way of life 

45-64, Birmingham, No cars in household, Provisional 
driver

P
age 241



32Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Interrelations between transport and poverty

Source: NatCen Social Research on behalf of DfT Source: NatCen Social Research on behalf of DfT

Transport barriers are an important factor in determining our ability to prosper 

It is unlikely that we can ever level up the mobility 
provided by public transport and active travel to the 
same level as cars today 

It is important that we continue to make significant 
improvements to public transport services and 
active travel, enabling these options to provide 
other attractive benefits which the car does not – 
such as wider experiences and the opportunity to 
do other activities whilst travelling  

However, if equity of access is a key aim, then we 
could look beyond these traditional solutions to 
close gaps in mobility across the population so that 
particular groups are not unfairly excluded from 
taking advantage of opportunities in and around our 
region  This is particularly important if the general 
population continues to be highly mobile in the 
future as they are today (by virtue of access to cars) 

We believe that an objective for the new Local 
Transport Plan should be:

Fair access - We will improve social mobility by 
improving equity of access to opportunity by ensuring 
everyone, regardless of personal circumstance, has 
safe, usable and affordable travel choices that enable 
them to prosper 

P
age 242



33Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Citizens’ views on equity of access

A transport system that is designed for all is believed 
to have great potential in creating a fairer, more 
equal society, where acess to basic necessities and 
opportunities is not determined by access to a car  

A transport system FOR ALL should be   

Inclusive Integrated

Affordable Attractive

Accessible Safe

Well connected Diverse

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

Access to basic necessities is the starting point

Necessities are more important but 
if you can go further then that’s great, 
but if the basic necessities aren’t there 
what’s the point of trying to go further 
when all passengers don’t even have 
what they need 

16-24, Coventry, 2 cars in household, 
Provisional licence

A transport system for all should 
focus on offering basic necessities 
for all  Equal access would exist in an 
ideal world around every corner but is 
it feasible on a massive scale? Equal 
access should be ensured where it is 
needed the most 

25-44, Coventry, No cars in 
household, Driver

I think we should ensure equal access 
to all opportunities but start off with 
the basic necessities  We should see 
what is working and what isn’t  Then 
what is working we can expand on 
those so that we can develop and 
progress the transport system 

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in 
household, Driver

Equal opportunites for all is the end goal

It should try to ensure equal access to 
opportunities for all because it would 
allow people to all have an equal 
chance at pursuing something rather 
than it depending on if you’re able to 
reach it due to being able to afford a 
car and the mobility it brings 

16-24, Dudley, 2 cars in household, 
No licence

I feel it should go that step further, as it 
would mean that everyone would be 
able to access places and areas they 
wouldn’t normally be able to  This 
would open up job opportunities and 
give them access to facilities that they 
would benefit hugely from 

45-64, Sandwell, 1 car in household, 
No licence

It recognises difference in need across 
the lifespan and proactively enhances 
quality of life 

45-64, Birmingham, No cars in 
household, Driver

P
age 243



34Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Fair impacts

Any transport system has an impact on people; 
pollution and poor air quality, accident risk and busy 
roads affect people’s health and wellbeing, make 
people feel less safe, and reduce the quality of the 
urban environment 

How much we are affected depends on:

• Exposure to traffic – this tends to be higher 
amongst those working and living in more heavily 
trafficked areas; and

• Physical and mental condition and health – 
some people may cope better with the effects of 
transport depending on their age and other factors 
affecting their wellbeing   

The effects of air pollution are cumulative and 
compounding; exposure to air pollution can 
irreversibly worsen physical condition and health, 
which in turn makes people more vulnerable to 
further exposure 

There are also particular deprived communities where 
exposure to air pollution is high because of nearby 
heavily trafficked roads (particularly in inner city 
areas and along major arterial routes)  In these same 
communities, instances of poor health are already 
higher owing to wider health inequalities, and this 
makes these communities more vulnerable to the 
impacts of air pollution  The effect is that air pollution 
has a disproportionately high impact on the health of 
these communities 

There is also a strong link between risk of injury 
and death from road collisions and who you are  
Pedestrians and cyclists are obviously vulnerable 
road users  However, in particular children and 
young people from deprived areas face the highest 
risks particularly on main roads, residential roads 
near shops and leisure services  Deprived areas tend 
to be more hazardous environments, with greater 
proximity to heavy traffic and high levels of on-street 
parking  Furthermore, exposure to these hazards is 
exacerbated by a reliance on walking, and the lack 
of safe spaces for children and young people  Higher 
levels of hazardous and illegal driving behaviour also 
pose a greater risk in these areas 

P
age 244



35Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

More than 1 in 
20 deaths

Deaths in the West Midlands attributable 
to fine particulate matter (PM2 5)

38 4 for 
every 100,000 

residents

People killed or seriously injured in a 
traffic accident between 2016 and 2018

235,000 
residents

Exposed to levels of night-time noise 
pollution that can increase risk of 
heart attack

Physical and mental health conditions are adversely influenced by the 
stress associated with living in neighbourhoods where the environment is 
seen as threatening, such as high volumes of fast-moving traffic, where 
the quality of the housing is poor and where public transport facilities 
are lacking 

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport Plan should be:

Fair impacts - We will reduce the negative external effects of transport 
on people’s health and wellbeing by improving road safety, reducing air 
pollution, and reducing noise 

Reflection

The transport system in the West Midlands 
is not working for everyone   Whilst there are 
improvements that are and can be made through 
transport policy and strategy, there are also 
changes in the way we plan for homes and provide 
access to key services such as employment, 
education and healthcare and in a way which 
reduces the negative impacts of transport for 
everyone 

P
age 245



36Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 3: Supporting local 
communities and places

Local access 

The West Midlands is a region of diverse places 
and people   Our cities, towns, villages and 
neighbourhoods are all different and make the West 
Midlands what it is   We know that residents in the 
West Midlands are proud of their local areas 

As generations have become more mobile and 
spend more time online, this has enabled people to 
build connections and maintain relationships with 
people across a much broader area  People enjoy this 
freedom to expand their reach, but it has led to many 
spending less time in their local neighbourhoods and 
forming weaker relationships with their neighbours  
There has been a decline in local centres, with people 
being attracted to out of town shopping centres and 
online shopping  Greater segregation of land uses 
and low-density car-oriented residential development 
have put many services out of easy reach of residents 
without a car, encouraging them to drive rather than 
travel more sustainably 

The COVID-19 pandemic has given many people 
an opportunity to re-discover their local areas 
and to reassess the importance and value of local 
communities pulling together  More flexible and 
remote working in particular has enabled people to 
explore the benefits of their local communities 

it’s nice to have a vibrant community on your doorstep, without 
having to travel too far to access the facilities, many people do 
not have access to a vehicle so to be able to enjoy the outside 
more both for our physical health and mental health and to meet 
other people would be a great asset 

65+, Solihull, No cars in household, Driver The West Midlands is a region of diverse places and people 
– it is our unique strength   Our cities, towns, villages and 
neighbourhoods are all different and have a range of characteristics 
and are what makes the West Midlands   We know that residents in 
the West Midlands are proud of their local areas  Everyone is always 
fighting for space, reserved parking spaces are a joke as no one 
cares for them  The roads are packed either side with massive lines 
of cars making it all very uncomfortable and uneasy 

16-24, Sandwell, No cars in household, Non licence holder

Local communities have lost essential businesses and 
services  Many villages and towns had their own shops 
e g  butchers, greengrocers, bakers etc  The car has 
lead to people travelling further to larger supermarkets, 
leaving smaller local businesses to suffer 

25-44, Dudley, 1 car in household, No licence

P
age 246



37Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

3 in 5 people note that there 
are occasions when they travel 

further than they have to, primarily 
for shopping purposes e g  trips to city 
centres for a wider range of items, or to 

shopping centres for convenience, 
or if they’re wanting to visit 

a specific store 

Sometimes people will also 
travel further than necessary 
when visiting particular bars 
and restaurants or meeting 

up with friends Source: TfWM’s Market 
Research Online Community

A new and strengthened role for local 
neighbourhoods in the lives of their people will need 
to evolve to adapt to the modern world; for example, 
e-commerce is here to stay, however, there may be 
particular goods and services that people prefer to 
access locally  Access to green space and safe spaces 
to play and exercise are also important 

The majority of the West Midlands population live 
within walking distance of key services; such as 
schools, food stores, doctors surgeries and post 
offices  However, the walking experience is often less 
than convenient, and whilst people may have access 
to a shop or a school by foot, they often lack a variety 
of choices; people and places thrive where they have 
more options 

The 15-minute neighbourhood concept is based 
around the idea that residents can access a good 
variety of daily goods and services within 15 
minutes of their home without using a car  This can 
help people live healthier and reduce the impacts 
of traffic in their area  However, for this concept to 
work, it has to be underpinned by excellent local 
sustainable connections and land use strategies 
that enable greater density and mixed uses, not 
just in new developments but in the existing urban 
environment too 

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be: 

Local access - We will strengthen local communities 
and economies by improving local sustainable travel 
connectivity and removing severance within and 
between neighbourhoods by sustainable means to 
provide better access to local opportunities 

P
age 247



38Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Localising social and economic activity

There are examples from around the world where transport and land use 
policymakers are working with communities to understand how to create 
places in which most people’s daily needs can be met within a short walk, 
cycle or perhaps public transport journey 

Ensuring more can be accessed sustainably in local areas is essential 
for enabling the reduction of travel (and its impacts) whilst supporting 
inclusive and resilient communities where people enjoy good access 
to fundamental needs 

This is a concept that TfWM will look to develop more with partners and 
the public as we engage on this green paper and develop the new LTP 

Reflection

With quieter streets and a good selection of 
local services and amenities, could you imagine 
travelling less and staying more locally within a 
15-minute neighbourhood?

20-Minute Neigbourhood
Victorian Government, Australia

99OUTCOME 5

Neighbourhood activity centres are an integral part 
of the city’s vibrant community life and critical to the 
creation of 20-minute neighbourhoods. These high 
streets and specialised strips of shops, cafés, small 
supermarkets, service businesses, community services 
and public spaces serve the needs of the surrounding 
community and provide a focus not only for local jobs but 
also for social interaction and community participation. 

A 20-minute neighbourhood can create a more cohesive 
and inclusive community with a vibrant local economy—
reducing social exclusion, improving health and wellbeing, 
promoting a sense of place, reducing travel costs and 
traffic congestion, and reducing carbon emissions across 
the city as a whole.

Due to the specialised and diverse nature of many 
people’s work, access to employment will often be outside 
the 20-minute neighbourhood.

Policy 5.1.1

Create mixed-use neighbourhoods at 

varying densities

Neighbourhoods need to offer more choice in housing 
so they can accommodate a more diverse population, 
create opportunities for local businesses and new jobs, 
and deliver better access to local services and facilities.

Local government is best placed to understand and 
apply local solutions. The Victorian Government has 
a role in providing a supporting framework, including 
overarching strategies (such as for housing needs and 
metropolitan open space), to enable local government 
to better deliver local solutions for all residents. 

The application of zones, such as the Residential Growth 
Zone and the Mixed Use Zone, can facilitate diverse 
housing and a greater mix of uses at varying densities.

Policy 5.1.2

Support a network of vibrant neighbourhood 

activity centres

The attributes of and opportunities for neighbourhood 
activity centres at the local level vary across Melbourne. 
That is why local communities should lead the planning 
of their own centres.

Where centres are well established or communities 
are seeking to protect the unique character of their 
centres (such as protecting heritage buildings or access 
to public land or open space to achieve community 
benefit), they should be assisted in determining the 
desired built form outcomes.

Local governments will be supported to prepare 
structure plans for their neighbourhood activity centres 
to help deliver 20-minute neighbourhoods.

Figure 12

The 20-minute neighbourhood

Local health
facilities and services

Local shopping
centres

Well connected 
to public transport,
jobs and services
within the region

Local schools

Lifelong learning
opportunities

Safe streets
and spaces

Local playgrounds
and parks

Ability to age in place

Housing diversity

Walkability

Local
public transport

Safe cycling
networks

Affordable housing
options

Green streets
and spaces

Community
gardens

Sport and
recreation facilities

Local employment
opportunities

20-minute
neighbourhood

The ability to meet most of your  
everyday needs locally within a 

20-minute journey from home by 
walking, cycling, riding or local 

public transport

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

Quarter Hour Paris
Mayor of Paris, France

Le Paris    du quart d'heure

20-Minute Towns and a 45-Minute City
Land Transport Authority, Singapore

P
age 248



39Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Streets for communities

The role and character of streets in our region 
has significantly evolved in the last 100 years  As 
we’ve become more mobile and car ownership has 
become more affordable, the number of vehicles on 
our streets has increased at a greater rate than the 
space available for them  As a result our streets have 
become ever more heavily trafficked and occupied 
with parked vehicles  

There are some streets in our region where people 
are frequently parking illegally, causing obstructions 
to other people, as the number of local vehicles has 
simply exceeded the capacity to park them safely  The 
space available is not increasing in these places but 
the number of vehicles could continue to rise 

Citizens’ views on the impact of traffic on places

Those who have a generally positive 
experience (around a third) with 
traffic say:

They don’t tend to have much traffic, or 
only have some peak hours, which is seen as 
tolerable at most 

People in the local area tend to drive safely 
(e g  at or below the speed limit )

There are a number of local travel options 
e g  good bus system, trains etc  which 
eases traffic, or helps people to avoid traffic 

Those who have a generally negative 
experience (around two thirds) with 
traffic say:

Congestion is continuous, and some live 
in areas where collisions and accidents are 
commonplace 

There are issues with speeding and 
dangerous driving, making both driving and 
walking difficult 

Roadworks are commonplace and cause 
disruption and delays 

Suggestions to improve traffic 
issues included:

More frequent/reliable public transport 

More policing locally 

Adding speed bumps in areas prone 
to speeding

A focus on ‘walk to school’ schemes to 
reduce congestion and on-street parking 
caused by parents at drop off/pick-up 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

P
age 249



40Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Streets are filling with parked cars

1

1.05

1.1

1.15

1.2

1.25

1.3

1.35
20

02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

In
de

x o
f n

o.
 ca

rs
 p

ar
ke

d 
on

-s
tr

ee
t a

t 
ho

m
e 

ov
er

ni
gh

t i
n 

th
e 

W
es

t M
id

la
nd

s

Source: Analysis of NTS (DfT) and APS (ONS)

80%

16%

4%

of the 
time 
parked at 
home

of the 
time 
parked 
elsewhere

of the 
time in 
use

The average car spends…

Source: RAC Foundation

Streets are filling with parked cars…

Source: Analysis of NTS (DfT) and APS (ONS)

The proportion of cars that are kept on-street overnight has remained relatively constant  However, 
the number of cars per household and the number of households have been increasing as motoring 
has become more affordable and as the population has grown  This has meant that in places where 
there is no off-street parking, more and more vehicles are being parked on-street  The space for this 
has run out in some places in our region 

The average car spends   

80% of the time parked 
at home

16% of the time parked 
elsewhere

4% of the time in use

Source: RAC Foundation

P
age 250



41Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The impact of traffic and mobility on local communities

Skipton Building Society UK Survey (2018)

68% Consider neighbours as strangers

67% Admitted that days passed without seeing 
others living on the same street

73% Don’t know their neighbours’ names

51% Don’t know the names of the children next 
door

84% Don’t participate in any local events

40% Felt no sense of pride about where they live

Increased mobility has a two-fold effect on the 
relationships we have with our neighbours  When 
we’re more mobile we spend less time in our own 
neighbourhood cultivating local relationships  
When people are more mobile, streets are more 
heavily trafficked, and this reduces the likelihood of 
people forming relationships with their neighbours 

Community interactions on 3 Bristol streets

Source: Hart and Pankhurst

These conditions are having a significant negative 
social impact; disconnecting communities, especially 
the elderly and children 

It is not only the fact that we spend more time 
online and further from our neighbourhoods that 
has weakened relationships with neighbours, the 
traffic on our streets also makes it less likely that we 
connect with one another  

P
age 251



42Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Older generations experienced more time playing 
outdoors when they were children, often in local 
streets, than children today  As outdoor play became 
more dangerous with greater traffic, and as our 
relationships with neighbours weakened, parents 
became resistant to allowing children to travel 
independently to local parks and to play outside in 
our streets 

The space we all have outside our homes on our 
streets is undervalued  Streets make up 80% of urban 
space in the West Midlands  The function of streets 
is not just to enable the movement of motor vehicles; 
they are also spaces to exercise, enjoy, connect and 
be inspired by our surrounds  However, streets are 
often designed to primarily cater for vehicles and the 
impact of traffic reduces their enjoyment by others 

The benefits of better streets do not only apply to 
residential streets  Investments in the public realm 
to allocate more space for walking and cycling have 
proven to have benefitted many local retailers and 
businesses by increasing trade, even when this has 
reduced space for motor vehicles  Living Streets 
found that where the pedestrian experience has been 
improved, footfall has increased between 20 and 35%  

The COVID-19 pandemic has shown us the benefits of 
quieter streets  Vehicle usage drastically fell in April 
2020 at the start of lockdown  Research undertaken 
during the pandemic found that people have 
welcomed this change  It has helped them rediscover 
their connections with their local communities, 
encouraged them to exercise, and given them cleaner 
air and peace  

Well-designed and managed streets can be pleasant 
and safe places for communities to explore; 
encouraging social contact, physical activity and 
supporting improved community cohesion  They can 
help make the region happier and healthier and more 
economically active  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport 
Plan should be: 

Streets for communities  - We will strengthen 
communities by reducing the dominance of motorised 
transport in local neighbourhoods to enable 
repurposing of streets 

Reflection

Would you be happy / able to use 
your own vehicle less or could you 
give up road space and/or parking 
space on the highway if it meant 
that it would make your local 
streets safer and cleaner and more 
enjoyable for yourself and others?

P
age 252



43Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 4: Becoming more active 

Physical activity

Economic development has supported 
improvements in many aspects of health 
and wellbeing as access to healthcare has 
become better, and living and workplace 
conditions have become safer  However, 
one set of health problems has been 
traded for another as changes to our 
lifestyles, diet and the nature of work have 
resulted in long term trends of declining 
physical activity and increasing obesity  
Tackling these problems will not only 
improve life expectancy, but it will also 
ensure people can enjoy more of their life 
in good health – helping them to be happy 
and prosperous 

The hill to climb in the West Midlands 
is greater than other areas of the UK, 
with most adults spending less than 
30 minutes participating in physical 
activity each week, far less than the 
recommended 150 minutes per week 

We can create a legacy where future 
generations are more active than we are 
rather than less, where our children are 
spared the associated health issues of 
inactivity as they grow up, improving their 
life chances and happiness  Doing this 
would avoid a future where the economic 
prospects of our region and its citizens  
are constrained by poor health  It is well 
understood that a healthier population is a 
more productive population as:

• People in better physical condition 
tend to have better mental health and 
cognition, helping them perform better 
when working and learning;

• Fewer days off are taken for sick leave;

• People can remain economically active 
for more of their life; 

• Less public funding is needed for the 
treatment of preventable conditions 
and to provide long-term support for 
people who become unable to work 
because of poor health 

West Midlanders are not very physically active 

6

INTRODUCTION

Consultation informed us that one of the biggest 
opportunities we have to realise our vision for a 
‘healthier, happier, better connected and more 
prosperous West Midlands’ is to create an active society 
in a way that has not been achieved here before.  

We recognise that the West Midlands continues to 
produce and deliver world beating athletes, sports 
coaches, events and clubs – but acknowledge that 
for the combined authority it is addressing levels 
of inactivity and inequality which will have the 
greatest impact. 

We have developed the strategic framework following 
extensive consultation with constituent and non-
constituent organisations and stakeholders* with a 
vested interest in physical activity, improving health 
and wellbeing and social and economic development. 

We acknowledge the great work by those 
organisations we consulted and many others who 

are in�uencing behaviour change to get more people 
active and using sport and physical activity to 
support social and economic growth priorities. 

GETTING MORE PEOPLE ACTIVE

In the West Midlands approximately one third of 
adults would be in the category of ‘highest levels 
of adult physical inactivity’ in England - less than 
30 minutes per week. This is an estimated 90,000 
people below the England average for physical 
inactivity and also raises concerns over children and 
young people’s activity levels. 

ADDRESSING INEQUALITIES

Not only do we continue to have high levels of 
inactivity, but inequalities persist within the region’s 
population, across gender, disability, socio-economic 
groups, age and black and ethnic communities. 
We need a concentrated e�ort to ensure opportunities 
for everyone to become physically active, to strengthen 
communities and improve life chances.

WHY DO WE NEED A WMCA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGIC 
FRAMEWORK?

      

   

    
 

 
 

 
 

      
 

 
 
  

 

 

A third of adults 
aged 16 and over are 
currently inactive

adults below the England 
average 

90,000
anticipated boost to the 
West Midlands economy

147m

Graph 1: the number of people in the WMCA 3 LEP geography who are physically inactive/ do not take part in physical 
activityby gender, age, disability, ethnicity and socio-economic grouping. Black Country Consortium 2017.

Sports England, Active People Survey 10, December 2016* denotes Incomplete Data

The percentage of adults who are physically inactive/not taking part in physical activity.

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

49.3% 64.7%

GENDER

D
is

ab
le

d

N
ot

 
D

is
ab

le
d

80.6% 52.2%

DISABILITY

16
-2

5

26
-3

4

35
-4

4

45
-5

4

55
-6

4

65
+

37.6%*

43.7%*
48.3%*

57.0%

66.7%

78.2%

AGE

N
S 

SE
C

 1-
4

N
S 

SE
C

 5
-8

NS-SEC

51.1% 69.5%

W
hi

te
 

B
ri

ti
sh

B
M

E

ETHNICITY

57.2% 57.5%

*Available from WMCA

30min
per week of activity

The cost of physical 
inactivity to the 
region economy is 150min

per week of moderate intense physical 

The Government recommends

A third of adults 
in WMCA are 
inactive, doing 
less than

147m

Around a third of adults in the WMCA area are currently inactive, spending less than 30 minutes per 
week on physical activity  The estimated cost to the region’s economy is about £147m a year 

P
age 253



44Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What are the health benefits of physical activity?

10

WHAT ARE THE HEALTH BENEFITS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

Source: Public Health England

Over two 
thirds

of people feel they are not doing 
enough exercise and want to increase 
their activity levels through habits and 
routines which they can maintain 

Over two 
in five

feel that their loved ones aren’t exercising 
enough, particularly those with older family 
members  However, they do acknowledge 
that the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted 
their routines and activity levels 

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community

P
age 254



45Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The potential of shifting short trips to walking and cycling

Most trips are relatively short but overall 
they don’t account for the majority of the 
total distance we travel over the course 
of a year  

Consider that fifty 1 mile trips in a year - 
perhaps a weekly shop - accounts for less 
annual mileage than a single family trip 
to the Snowdonian National Park 

This means that switching the short 
trips we currently make to walking and 
cycling could be great for increasing 
physical activity, and improving issues 
such as road safety and air pollution by 
reducing traffic in our urban area (by 
reducing the number of vehicles that 
are on our roads at once, particularly in 
peak travel periods)  However, this would 
have limited impact on issues associated 
with our high annual mileage, such as 
carbon emissions that cause climate 
change  Walking and cycling could play a 
bigger role in reducing carbon emissions 
if people reduced the amount of longer 
trips they make and instead travelled 
more locally 

Unfortunately, people currently have 
little appetite for walking or cycling 
more than 1 or 3 miles respectively for 
everyday travel  Most journeys under 
a mile are made by walking, however, 
car use is also still fairly high for trips 
of these lengths  Also, people are more 
likely to jump in the car or on public 
transport than cycle for journeys that are 
1 to 2 miles  Micromobility solutions such 
as eBikes, eScooters, and other light 
and low emission vehicles may provide 
attractive alternatives and help address 
this problem 

Trips and distance travelled accounted for by 
different journey lengths

Trips
Distance 
travelled

Less than 1 mile 24% 1 6%

1 to 2 miles 19% 2 4%

2 - 5 miles 25% 11%

Upper limit of everyday  journeys by active 
travel (85th percentile)

Walk Cycle

Commuting 1 3 miles 2 5 miles

Education/Escort 1 0 mile 2 5 miles

Shopping 1 0 mile 2 5 miles

Personal Business 1 0 mile 3 miles

Percentage of trips and distance travelled for short journeys by main modes

Walk Cycle Car
Public 
transport

Other

Trips
Less than 1 mile 80% 1 1% 18% 0 7% 0 6%

1 to 2 miles 31% 2 8% 60% 5 3% 1 9%

Distance travelled
Less than 1 mile 76% 1 2% 21% 1 0% 0 6%

1 to 2 miles 31% 2 9% 59% 5 4% 1 9%

Source: NTS (DfT)

P
age 255



46Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Re-incorporating physical activity into travel is a 
major opportunity to increase physical activity, 
leaving a healthier legacy for future generations, as 
well as playing a key role in helping to decarbonise 
the transport system and reduce the wider impacts of 
travel 

We need to understand what could motivate those 
who are currently less active to becoming more 
physically active   We need to understand what 
they feel the barriers are in the transport system to 
prevent them from doing so  

The increase in traffic and parked cars have made 
parents reluctant to allow their children to play and 
exercise in the street and made people nervous to 
walk or cycle  This means that children are missing 
out on the potential to exercise outside with local 
children, and lots of trips that could be made either 
by cycling or walking are currently made by car  

Reflection

Our lifestyles, including our travel 
behaviours, have contributed to 
creating some serious health issues 
for our society   Some of these 
would be improved if we undertook 
more physical activity   

Could you swap some of your short 
car journeys to walking or cycling?

Modern life doesn’t really allow for there to be a 
choice; motorised travel is a necessity for most 
and that trade off is accepted 

25-44, Wolverhampton, 2 cars in household, 
Driver Peoples’ view is always short to medium 

term and mainly about what impacts them    
convenience plays more strongly than the 
longer term repercussions 

45-64, Solihull, 2 cars in household, No licence

We need to continue the work we have already 
started to make our urban area safe and convenient 
for active travel   Walking and cycling should be the 
first choice for short journeys   We need to encourage 
people to combine active travel for the first and last 
mile of longer journeys by public transport  

We think that an objective for a new Local 
Transport Plan should be:

Physically active - Enable safe, convenient and 
accessible walking and cycling opportunities, to 
increase active travel for whole journeys and as part 
of journeys, improving the health, wellbeing and 
productivity of people today as well as leaving a 
healthy legacy for future generations 

Amount of time spent active on an average 
journey by mode
Research for London has shown that whilst every trip 
begins and ends with a walk, a car trip involves much 
less walking than a public transport trip 

Source: London Travel Demand Survey 2012/13 - 
2013/14 (TfL)

Car
Less than 
one minute

Public Transport
8 - 15 minutes

Walking
17 minutes

Cycling
22 minutes

P
age 256



47Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Motive 5: Tackling the 
climate emergency

Transport decarbonisation 

It is very important to reduce our carbon 
emissions  Not only is it healthier for ourselves, 
but it is good for the environment  Polluting our 
planet is not something that we should continue 
to do as the knock on effect will be felt for years 
to come  

25-44, Birmingham, 2 cars in Household, Driver

The greatest environmental challenge we face is 
climate change  The majority of carbon emissions 
in the West Midlands are attributed to transport   
Most of these emissions are from car use   Despite 
improvements to engines, transport emissions have 
remained stubbornly high for the last 30 years, largely 
because of increased travel demand associated with 
economic and population growth, increased car 
ownership and the increasing weight and power of 
the cars we drive  

Transport carbon emissions compared to other sectors

Breakdown of UK and surface transport sector emissions (2018)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

UK Emissions Surface Transport
Emissions

Breakdown of UK and surface transport 
sector emissions (2018)

Other Sectors Shipping

Aviation Surface Transport

Cars Vans

HGVs Buses

Trains Other

Estimated UK GHG emissions (by domestic sectors and aviation and shipping)

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

GH
G 

em
iss

io
ns

 (M
tC

O2
e)

Estimated UK GHG emissions (by 
domestic sectors and aviation and 

shipping)

Energy supply Business & industry

Public sector Agriculture & LULUCF

Waste management Residential

Surface transport Aviation*

Shipping*

*excludes military aircraft and shipping

Source: UK GHG emissions national statistics (BEIS) Most transport carbon emissions are now from surface transport, and most of those 
are from cars  Surface transport carbon emissions have not really reduced over the 
last 30 years and so surface transport carbon emissions are now the UK’s greatest 
source of carbon emissions P

age 257



48Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Causes of climate change and how it can affect us

Drivers of 
climate change

Changes to the 
climate system

Impacts

Source: Met Office

Source: Met Office

If we do not reduce our carbon emissions, 
the average global temperature will soon 
reach a point where natural stores of 
carbon will start to be released into the 
atmosphere  This will itself accelerate 
global temperature rises and will create 
a positive feedback loop resulting in 
extensive climate change which we are 
unlikely to be able to prevent  

Such climate change would have substantial 
impacts around the world that would be 
catastrophic in particular places  The World 
Economic Forum agrees that climate change 
is the world’s greatest risk to economic 
stability  The West Midlands would face 
direct and indirect impacts such as:

• Local weather risks including floods 
and heat waves, which could create 
casualties and damage infrastructure 
and property;

• Disruption of access to various global 
supply chains including key resources 
such as imported food and materials, 
placing pressures on people and 
businesses; and

• Diversion of public funds to cover 
and prevent damages caused by 
climate change in our own region 
but particularly more badly affected 
regions such as the UK’s coastal 
communities, leaving less available for 
otherwise improving and maintaining 
local infrastructure and services 

Tangible impacts of climate change on our 
transport system in the West Midlands are 
already being seen  These include more 
occurrences of melting road surfaces in 
the summer and highway drains unable to 
cope with regular heavy rain (no matter 
how often they are cleaned) 

The UK has signed the Paris Agreement 
and is committed to global efforts to 
prevent this environmental breakdown 
by reducing carbon emissions to net-zero 
by 2050  WMCA is committed to these 
efforts and has adopted its own WM2041 
carbon ambition  It is developing plans to 
decarbonise our region by 2041  The first of 
these plans is published and runs from 2021-
2026  Other authorities across the UK have 
ambitions to decarbonise faster 

Rapid and deep reductions of transport 
carbon emissions will be needed to meet 
the region’s targets  

P
age 258



49Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The shift to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) is critical in the long 
term for meeting mobility needs while decarbonising   There will need 
to be virtually no petrol/diesel powered vehicles on our roads by 2041 
(including hybrids)  However, it will take a relatively long time for ULEVs 
to permeate our fleets and for the energy sector to decarbonise, as 
well as time in service that it will take for these vehicles to offset the 
additional carbon costs of manufacturing these vehicles  

Because the switch to ULEVs and the delivery of their carbon benefits 
will take time, we still need to reduce the energy we use for transport in 
the short term  In simple terms, this means using cars less for passenger 
travel – and this is the case across all local and national targets  

To do this, we could need a significant change in travel behaviour and 
the vehicles we use   It will require a mix of the following:

• Reductions in the frequency of travel – consolidation of trips or 
replacement of travel with use of information and communication 
technologies;

• Changes to where people travel to/from – making shorter journeys 
and/or to places that are more easily accessed and served by more 
sustainable modes of travel; and

• Changing the vehicles we use to travel – modal shift to more 
sustainable modes such as public transport and walking and cycling, 
and switching to personal vehicles that require less energy to use 
such as smaller cars, personal light vehicles, and micromobility 

However, the amount of behaviour change required depends on how 
fast we think we need to reduce our carbon emissions  This is not only 
about our net-zero date but also the path we take to get there, which 
determines how much carbon we will emit overall: 

• The Climate Change Committee has recently advised Government 
that car mileage reduction of 5% by 2030 and 17% by 2050 would 
be required for Government to meet its commitments to the Paris 
Agreement and to be net-zero by 2050   

•  However, research carried out by the Tyndall Centre found that even 
if all new cars were ULEVs by 2035, a 58% reduction in car mileage 
between 2016 and 2035 would be required to meet its recommended 
carbon budget for the UK 

We have been making good progress with building much of the 
infrastructure needed for a decarbonised transport system; supporting 
better public transport services, creating safer routes for active travel 
and enabling a shift to a ULEV based fleet  However, current policy 
delivery won’t result in the scale and pace of behaviour change we now 
need to address the climate emergency  

We think that an objective for a new Local Transport Plan could be:

Transport decarbonisation - We will protect the future of our own 
community as well as communities around the world from the effects of 
climate change by rapidly reducing transport carbon emissions at a rate 
consistent with WM2041 

Reflection

Does climate change concern you?

Do you as an individual / organisation believe you 
have a role in tackling the climate emergency?

What changes could you make and how easy 
would it be to do? 

 Are there things that could make this change 
easier for you?

These kind of changes are on a scale that the UK has never yet 
achieved to tackle congestion or air quality concerns  They cannot 
be achieved through incremental changes to existing policy 
packages and through nudging people to make slightly different 
choices  

This level of systemic change requires investment in new options, 
but also a good deal of local political bravery and engagement 
with people to create a vision of a zero carbon future which 
communities benefit from 

Local Government Agency - Decarbonising transport: Getting 
carbon ambition right

P
age 259



50Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The limitations of ULEVs in driving immediate carbon reductions

Projected take-up scenarios of ULEVs as a percentage of new sales 
(blue), and the whole fleet on our roads (green)

TfWM ULEV Strategy 

Project Code (742/002) Page 64 of 144  

% of new registrations % of all vehicles registered 

Low 30% 11% 

Mid 50% 17% 

High 70% 23% 
 

 
Figure 23: Plug-in vehicle uptake 2018-2030 

For the West Midlands, a fourth scenario (Business as Usual, BAU) was added which is derived from 
the last 8 years’ vehicle registration data analysed in Work Package 3.  A polynomial extrapolation 
of this data was combined with the scenarios described above to project the overall number of EVs 
for the study area.  It is generally accepted that the BAU scenario represents a significant 
underestimate of the likely number of EVs but it gives a good baseline to illustrate the scale of change 
which will be required to achieve the Road to Zero projections.  Figure 24 shows that between 
700,000 and 1.2 million PiVs are projected for the study area by 2040. 

Source: TfWM ULEV Strategy

The total proportion of vehicles on our roads that are electric vehicles will lag 
behind the total proportion of sales that are electric vehicles in a given year  It 
will take time for people to upgrade their vehicles 

How far an electric vehicle must drive to become cleaner 
than a conventional equivalent 

Source: Drax

Not all electric vehicles (EVs) are as good for climate change as each other  The 
use of some EVs will take considerably longer to offset the additional carbon cost 
of manufacturing them than others 

P
age 260



51Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 4: Reimagining transport in the 
West Midlands
As we “build back better” from the COVID-19 
pandemic, we have the opportunity to reimagine 
transport in our region to support an economic 
recovery that enables us to address all our Motives 
for Change  All of the Motives for Change could be 
argued to be as important and urgent as each other, 
and all could require significant changes to the way 
we travel  

Although all of our Motives for Change are 
independently important, the climate emergency is 
unique; there is a more definitive level and pace of 
change required in the way we travel to preserve the 
region for future generations, as well as to address 
global challenges 

The Paris Agreement binds its parties to pursue 
efforts to limit global warming to 1 5°c above “pre-
industrial level”  If average global temperature 
rises exceed this, the impacts of climate change 
on people around the world will ramp up and we 
will pass particular tipping points where climate 
change will accelerate beyond our control and will be 
irreversible  The United Nation’s Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change have warned that at current 
rates of emissions, we could exceed 1 5°c of global 
warming by 2030; carbon emissions would need to 
substantially reduce before that date to avoid passing 
this point  

How we change transport in the West Midlands 
before 2030 will be critical for the legacy we create 
for future generations 

The switch to ULEVs, whilst positive and important, 
will not deliver substantial reductions in carbon 
emissions until later in that timeframe and will not 
address wider issues such as road safety, the impact 
of traffic on streets and physical inactivity  So there 
is a need and opportunity for wider changes to the 
way we travel as well; we also need to reduce the 
energy demand for transport 

Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has presented us 
with new challenges, it has also demonstrated that 
we are incredibly resilient to change and that there 
are viable alternatives to what we have  For example, 
many people switched to working from home and 
using videoconferencing, the commuting peaks and 
pressure on the transport network were reduced, and 
people also ordered more goods online and via local 
shops rather than travelling far  People benefitted 
from quieter streets and reduced emissions  

We understand that change can be a difficult process 
to navigate and that some will find it easier to adapt 
than others, that some will need more support  
However, whilst change can be intimidating it can 
also be exciting and offers us a chance to make things 
better  As a world leader in transport innovation and 
the UK’s first Future Transport Zone, we’re well placed 
to develop a vision to enable a smooth transition to a 
low carbon future and a green recovery moving out of 
the COVID-19 pandemic  

Reflection

We know that rapid and significant 
change is possible before 2030  
The question is whether people 
are up for it…do people agree 
that there’s a need to transform 
transport within the next decade 
and are people excited about the 
opportunity?

Is it right that the climate 
emergency should set our pace, or 
are there other issues which mean 
we need to go faster? 

P
age 261



52Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

2030 doesn’t seem so far away, but a lot of change has 
happened in few years previously… 

14 
years

US announced its intent to launch 
a satellite in 1955 and put a man on 
the moon in 1969 

8 
years

In 2000 the most popular mobile phone 
was the Nokia 3310  By 2008 the most 
popular phone was the iPhone 

11 
years

UK’s first motorway opened in Lancashire 
in 1958 and the first 1000 miles of 
motorway are completed in 1969 

There are many ways to reduce transport carbon 
emissions rapidly, however, we will need to find a way 
that helps us address our wider Motives for Change 
too  It will be important to understand and resolve 
any trade-offs required to reach goals, where change 
may create new but different issues  

“Avoid, shift, improve” provides a useful framework 
for the sorts of changes that we need to make 

A new LTP can be more than a plan to create a great 
legacy for future generations, we can also set out how 
we want to make a difference in the lives of citizens 
today  We will need to challenge ourselves to build a 

consensus around what kind of future people want 
and make decisions at a pace which reflects the 
urgency of the challenges we need to solve  People 
will clearly hold a range of different views on what 
is acceptable and what is not, and it is right that we 
account for them, however, we must also consider 
the risks of inaction if we are paralysed by a fear of 
change 

Once we have had these conversations, we can set a 
new vision and ambition to reflect what policy actions 
and changes are needed  

Avoid
Avoiding travel – for example by accessing services online 
and consolidating the trips we make;

Shift
Shifting travel – to places that are more accessible by 
sustainable modes of transport, such as cycling, walking or 
public transport and travelling by those modes; and

Improve
Improve travel – by designing out emissions and other 
impacts from the vehicles we use and tailoring their use, 
for example by adopting ULEVs 

P
age 262



53Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Rethinking the role of mobility 
in accessibility  

There are many options available to us that will help 
us deliver Inclusive Growth  To understand the range 
of options available to us, we need to consider:

• It is access that is critical for social and economic 
prosperity  The ability to access what we need 
is not just dependent on how physically mobile 
we are, it also depends on the spatial proximity 
of opportunity and our digital connectivity  This 
means for example that it is actually possible to be 
less mobile without necessarily sacrificing access 

• There are many ways of being mobile using today’s 
technologies that will help us address our Motives 
for Change; these are modes of travel that result 
in fewer negative impacts, allow us to use space 
more effectively and are more affordable  

The Triple Access System

This is the triple access system that shows how physical mobility, digital 
connectivity and spatial proximity interrelate and provide access 

Spatial 
Proximity

Physical
Mobility

Digital
Connectivity

Land Use
System

Transport
System

Telecommunications
SystemAccessibility

Source: Lyons, G  and Davidson, C  (2016)  Guidance for transport planning 
and policymaking in the face of an uncertain future  Transportation Research 
Part A: Policy and Practice, 88, 104-116  P

age 263



54Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Sustainable modes - modes of travel with lower impacts

The impacts of vehicles are affected by a complex 
combination of factors such as their emissions, speed, 
size, and noise  The cumulative impacts of the sheer 
volume of traffic also needs to be considered 

Aside from travelling less and increasing the 
segregation/increasing barriers between people and 
traffic, there are two universal ways to reduce the 
impacts of vehicles and traffic:

• Use vehicles with higher occupancy; and/or

• Use more energy efficient vehicles (by reducing 
power, weight, and/or speed) 

Cars are mainly used to transport just one person, the 
driver, and only 0 3% of the energy used by a car is 
actually used to move the driver…

En
er

gy
 e

ffi
ci

en
cy

Occupancy

SUV

Small electric car

Personal Light vehicle / 
Powered two wheeler

Micromobility (e.g. ebike, 
escooter, or mobility scooter)

Active travel (e.g. 
walking and cycling)

Community and Demand 
Responsive Transport Bus, rail and tram

Very Light RailAutonomous pods

There are lots of options 
for changing the vehicles 
we use to generally 
reduce the impacts of 
traffic…62%

car trips 
are single-
occupancy trips

The average 
occupancy of 
a car is

1 6 
people

Modes of travel with lower impacts

The impacts of vehicles are affected by a complex combination 
of factors such as their emissions, speed, size, and noise. 

The cumulative impacts of the sheer volume of traffic also 
needs to be considered.

Aside from travelling less and increasing the 
segregation/increasing barriers between people and traffic, 
there are two universal ways to reduce the impacts of vehicles 
and traffic:

• Use vehicles with higher occupancy; and/or
• Use more energy efficient vehicles (by reducing power, 

weight, and/or speed).

Cars are mainly used to transport just one person, the driver, 
and only 0.3% of the energy used by a car is actually used to 
move the driver…

62% car trips are single-
occupancy trips

The average 
occupancy 
of a car is

1.6 people

Li
gh

te
r 

ve
hi

cl
es

Higher occupancy vehicles

SUV

Small electric car

Personal Light vehicle / 
Powered two wheeler

Micromobility (e.g. ebike, 
escooter, or mobility scooter)

Active travel (e.g. 
walking and cycling)

Community and Demand 
Responsive Transport Bus, rail and tram

Very Light RailAutonomous pods

There are lots of 
options for changing 
the vehicles we use to 
generally reduce the 
impacts of traffic...  

P
age 264



55Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

However, we are a mature urban area - we are not 
building a transport system and urban environment 
from scratch - and we are constrained by the pace of 
change required  This has consequences for options 
that are more or less likely to be successful 

Land use 

Investments in land are some of the longest term 
and most important investments that people and 
businesses make  It took hundreds of years to build 
our towns, cities, villages and neighbourhoods  We 
can, and should, ensure that new developments 
are built in a way that is well suited to our future 
vision for transport, and this could for example 
involve encouraging higher density walkable mixed-
use developments in places accessible by public 
transport  However, it will take a long time for our built 
environment to be renewed, and so we will also need 
to consider how to adapt the existing built environment 
in the short-term, for example by enabling land use 
changes within existing building stock  

Physical mobility 

Many of our places have either been developed or 
retrofitted for car-use  Many people’s lifestyles are 
also dependent on cars  This means that our places 
and people are adapted for higher levels of mobility 
and disperse travel patterns  We could and should 
make those trips that could be made by walking, 
cycling and/or public transport by those modes  
However, a lot of where people want to travel is to 
places that are unfeasible to access by these modes 
and where demand is too low to enable a high 
frequency public transport service  It is therefore 
important that we also consider new ways to provide 
a similar degree of mobility as a car does in the urban 
environment without the associated disbenefits  

Digital connectivity 

The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated how 
people can communicate and work remotely  Using 
digital connectivity, we can modify or avoid the 
need to travel on a daily basis  eCommerce has 
increased the range of goods available to consumers, 
consolidating delivery trips and drastically reducing 
travel for shopping while still providing accessibility 
for consumers  Use of telecoms could offer a 
compelling alternative to business travel in many 
instances with the added benefit of being able to 
reach a broader market  For those whose personal 
circumstance enables it, remote working can help 
reduce the costs and time spent commuting and 
help people access work over a broader geography  
Many aspects of public and private services have also 
been successfully migrated online helping people 
stay up to date with their finances at any time, and 
even helping doctors provide advice to patients  
The pandemic has seen a strong movement towards 
home working  Even by September 2020, only a 
third of workers in the West Midlands were mainly 
working from their usual/pre-pandemic work location  
Digital connectivity presents a huge opportunity for 
improving access, however, there is also a risk that 
as society shifts more towards online systems, an 
inequality gap defined by digital skills and capability 
will widen, with some households becoming more 
excluded and isolated 

P
age 265



56Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Transport is different across the world

A particular kind of transport system is 
not necessarily a prerequisite for different 
levels of productivity/growth – there are 
functioning urban areas across the world 
where the defining characteristics of 
accessibility are very different 

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam Copenhagen, Denmark Tokyo, Japan

Curitiba, Brazil Houston, USA Kampala, Uganda

P
age 266



57Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

A framework for change

With the right mix of policies and measures, we can 
create an even better West Midlands  One that is 
fairer, greener, and healthier as well as a great place 
to live, work and visit  In order to achieve this we 
will, collectively, need to think differently about how 
we could travel and to agree what changes to the 
transport system would effectively help us shift  

The pace and scale of changes needed of our travel 
behaviour are unprecedented and will need to happen 
at the same time as planning for a shift to a ULEV 
based fleet, as well as other fundamental changes to 
the vehicles we use  This is change on a grand scale 
and could herald the start of a low carbon transport 
revolution that supports a growing green economy 
across the region 

We are not proposing a specific plan of action 
within this green paper  It is through our 
conversations with the public using this green paper 
that we will identify actions to change in the way 
we govern and invest in our transport system to 
respond to our Motives for Change  

Through these conversations we will need to 
consider how travel behaviour, the way we govern 
our transport system and citizens and businesses 
experience of the transport system are interlinked 

The way we govern the transport system changes 
people’s experience of it, which in turn influences 
their decisions on how, when and where we travel  
However, in a democracy, citizens’ experiences also 
influence the way we govern 

 

Governance of the 
transport system

Travel Behaviour

Experience of the 
transport system

Travel behaviour 

How we choose to change our travel behaviour is at 
the heart of a new Local Transport Plan 

We need to think about how we want to travel in the 
future by making best use of what we have, before 
understanding what changes to infrastructure, 
services and governance would enable that change  

We know that people make transport and mobility 
decisions as a result of a complex range of factors, 
influenced by their own wants and needs, as well as 
options available to them, which are affected by the 
way the transport system is governed 

People are influenced by various lifestyle choices: 

• Long-term choices - including family size, career 
and leisure activities; 

• Medium-term choices - where to live and work; 
and 

• Short-term day-to-day choices - which shop to visit 
or service to access  

Alongside these lifestyle choices, mobility decisions 
are influenced by practical, economic, psychological 
and social factors as well as by demographics and 
circumstances  These can change over time  

P
age 267



58Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Current average 
impacts per person

Future average 
impacts per person

Generally, daily routines are repetitive and habitual  
People start a pattern of behaviour, and they usually 
continue with it until particular events or triggers 
prompt them to change  

If people want the West Midlands to meet the 
proposed objectives associated with our Motives 
for Change, this will involve people changing their 
behaviour - doing less of one thing and more of 
another 

We must approach our new strategy in a way that 
helps us deliver Inclusive Growth; growth that is more 
equitable and sustainable  

Reflection

The people who have the highest 
impacts are also likely the people 
who feel they’ve become most 
dependent and accustomed to 
their cars  Is it fair to expect those 
who are dependent on their cars 
to use them less, and to help those 
who are less mobile and have less 
impacts to increase their mobility? 

Fair contributions to transport challenges 

Generally, transport impacts 
are caused by more mobile 
people   

Those who currently make the 
biggest impact will need to 
make the biggest changes  

 However, there is a real 
opportunity to help level-up 
those who are less mobile 
whilst still reducing impacts 
of transport overall  

Lowest quartile Highest quartile

Fair contributions to transport challenges 

Tr
an

sp
or

t r
el

at
ed

im
pa

ct
s p

er
 p

er
so

n

Current average 
impacts per person

Future average 
impacts per 

person

(Generally) increasing affluence and car use

Generally, transport 
impacts are caused by 
more mobile, affluent 
people.  

Those who currently 
make the biggest 
impact will need to 
make the biggest 
changes.  

However, there is a real 
opportunity to help 
level-up those who are 
less mobile whilst still 
reducing impacts of 
transport overall. 

P
age 268



59Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Our experience of the transport system 

Citizens’ experiences of the transport system shape 
and influence their behaviour and decisions of when 
and how to travel  The quality of the experience is 
largely influenced and shaped by how we plan, deliver 
and manage the transport system  

For example, we know that road safety is often a 
reason cited for people not walking and cycling more 
and that journey time reliability is often a problem 
raised by people using public transport  

For many, less time spent travelling can also 
contribute to good wellbeing, and people have more 
time for other activities that are good for their health 
and wellbeing such as sleep, exercising or spending 
time with friends and family 

We’ve recently worked with members of the public 
who told us what they believe makes a good travel 
experience  The following principles are important 
if we are to transform the user experience of 
the transport system to an easy to use, safe and 
accessible transport system which will give people a 
real alternative to using cars  

• Easy/Reliable: Reliable, seamlessly works, 
available when and where needed  

• Trusted/Safe: Safe, predictable, and informed  

• Valued: Desirable and affordable  

• Efficient: Quality assured with real choice 

Our engagement with the public during the pandemic 
has shown that people have hopes to retain some 
of the benefits of the pandemic and go further by 
building back better  However, they are also anxious 
about the economic challenges ahead  

P
age 269



60Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Governance of the transport system 

We need to develop our transport system to 
encourage people to travel differently in the future; 
we need to plan the infrastructure and manage it 
so that it doesn’t exacerbate existing problems or 
become quickly redundant  

Investment in new roads can initially reduce 
congestion  However, the benefits are often short 
lived as capacity fills up again  There are other 
ways that can help deliver more sustainable and 
transformational improvements to the transport 
system so that it meets our long-term needs 

The pandemic has changed travel demands in an 
unprecedented way  There is uncertainty over how 
the influence of market forces, such as how land 
might be used and the nature of future employment, 
could affect future travel demands  However, we 
can influence this through public policies rather than 
leaving things to chance 

If we want to travel differently in the future, then we 
need to change how our transport system is governed 
to support the types of travel that we want to 
encourage  This could mean ensuring that regulations 
are in place to permit the safe use of new forms of 
travel, it could mean building new infrastructure that 
new modes may rely on, and – in our constrained 
urban area where space is not always an abundant 
resource – it may mean reallocating space and 
priority of right of way from modes that we don’t 
want to travel by in future to those that we do 

We think there is a need to update and define what 
the West Midlands integrated transport system needs 
to be  This should set out clear plans and priorities 
for the network and how we can best deliver them to 
meet our objectives  

Notwithstanding recent years, there has been a 
long-standing downward trend of funding available 
to maintain our transport system and the capital we 
receive to enhance our transport system has been 
increasingly subject to competitive bidding processes 
(which means we lack long term security of funding)  
With such a significant change in behaviour required, 
this means we may need to consider more actions 
that can be delivered quickly and with greater impact 
across a larger area – which could be achieved using 
many low-cost interventions 

We know that our current approach of investing 
in public transport and active travel is critical, but 
alone won’t be sufficient to generate the level of 
behaviour change needed  Our modelling shows 
us that increasing investment in initiatives such 
as e-scooters and e-bikes could have important 
benefits, but again is unlikely to generate the level 
of shift needed away from car use 

We are seeking to understand if people agree 
that car use needs to be replaced by alternatives 
(including options to avoid travel) in order to 
address the challenges and opportunities set out in 
this green paper  We want to explore more effective 
measures to change travel behaviour with the 
public as we shape the new LTP 

A coherent and effective plan must be able to 
match the ambition of our goals with the appetite 
for action  If effective measures that the public 
are willing to accept to deliver behaviour change 
cannot be identified, then together we must 
consider whether goals should change 

P
age 270



61Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Impact of high level policy option testing
(comparing modelled transport in 2036 to 2016)

Testing of policy options shows that whilst 
investment in and improvement of sustainable 
forms of transport will improve access to 
opportunities for those without cars, it is unlikely 
to have a significant impact on car travel  Measures 
that in effect restrain car use would be required to 
shift behaviours in a way that significantly reduces 
car travel 

Green indicates a change is good for the 
Motives for Change.

Red indicates a change is bad for the 
Motives for Change.

As car travel increases, the impacts of 
traffic increase (carbon, physical 
inactivity, air pollution, noise, road 
accidents, on-street parking).

As access without a car increases, this 
helps those who are less mobile access 
more opportunities but does not 
necessarily reduce car travel.

Symbol Change relative to levels 
before the COVID-19 pandemic

- Little/no change

▲/▼ Notable increase/decrease
▲▲/▼▼ Significant increase/decrease

Ac
ce

ss
 fo

r t
ho

se
 w

ith
ou

t a
 c

ar

Am
ou

nt
 o

f c
ar

 tr
av

el
 e

ve
ry

w
he

re

Am
ou

nt
 o

f c
ar

 tr
av

el
 to

/fr
om

 c
en

tr
es

Scenario

1. Do minimum - ▲▲ ▲▲
2. Significantly improve public transport ▲ ▲▲ ▲▲
3. 2 + enable micromobility ▲▲ ▲▲ ▲▲
4. Restrain car access to centres only - ▲▲ -

5. Restrain car travel across the region - ▼ ▼▼

6. 5+2 ▲ ▼ ▼▼

7. 5+3 ▲▲ ▼ ▼▼

P
age 271



62Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

The challenge with improving alternatives such 
as public transport, walking and cycling, and 
micromobility, is that there is simply a limit to how 
much mobility, comfort, and convenience these can 
offer in contrast to the car today  This significantly 
limits the extent to which people are likely to switch 
from cars to the alternatives to meet their travel 
needs if the level of mobility that the car provides 
remains as it is today  Furthermore, without that 
switch, consumer spending on alternatives will remain 
relatively low, which will also reduce the extent to 
which those services and products can be improved    

Evidence suggests that to effectively and significantly 
change behaviours without compromising what 
people can access, simultaneous measures would 
be required to: 

• reduce barriers and costs to travel by the 
alternatives to the car; at the same time as 

• restraining the use of cars using physical measures 
(such as allocating less space to cars), and 
regulatory measures (such as increasing the price 
of car use or restricting access to particular roads) 

Often these measures can be combined, for example: 

• Space can be reallocated from cars to other forms 
of transport to both improve the alternatives to car 
while restraining car use  

• Public funds generated by increased price of car 
use can be reinvested into alternative services and 
support for those who are disadvantaged and face 
greater barriers to change 

Measures to stimulate behaviour change 
couldn’t and shouldn’t be taken forward without 
understanding and acceptance from the public that 
they’re a critical component of an overall plan that 
aims to create the kind of transport system and 
region that citizens want 

Whether or not these measures could be needed in 
such a plan largely depends on whether the public 
agrees that the role of the car in the future transport 
system should be considerably lower (with much 
lower levels of use) to reduce the impacts of traffic 
on people, places, communities and the environment 
on which we depend, and to help improve alternative 
choices for accessing what we need 

There are limits to the restraints on car use that local 
authorities can effectively implement in isolation 
without wider support and action from Government 
and neighbouring authorities  Government has 
also recognised the need for action to change 
behaviours, particularly to reduce carbon emissions  
The Chancellor of the Exchequer has also recently 
signalled the Government’s interest in exploring Road 
User Charging as part of fiscal policy reforms required 
to address the anticipated significant shortfall in tax 
revenue from fuel duty as more electric vehicles are 
adopted  There may be ways at a national level to re-
structure how way we pay for highways infrastructure 
that also support lower carbon travel choices and 
more viable travel alternatives 

P
age 272



63Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

When asked their opinions on the need for sticks 
as well as carrots, here’s what citizens said   

Carrots

1 in 2 think better 
alternatives to driving 
need to exist first

It’s not about making the car obsolete and 
making that a poorer item, but more of making 
public transport the better alternative as it 
offers way more presonalised and more luxury 
items for the price we pay then owning a car 

16-24, Dudley, 2 cars in household, No licence

Sticks

1 in 2 think restrictions 
to driving need to be 
applied first

If any added financial expenses of making a 
car journey far outweigh the cost of making 
a journey by a workable alternative method, 
I would chose the alternative option, even 
if the journey took longer 

45-65, Birmingham, 1 car in household, Driver

Which ones of these measures do you think would be most effective at making the car less advantageous?

Controlling the supply of parking 31%

Reallocating road space from cars 
to other forms of transport 17%

Restricted access to particular 
places by car 29%

Fuel and vehicle taxes 17%

Road user charges 23%

Speed bumps, chicanes and other 
“traffic calming” measures 11%

Source: TfWM’s Market Research Online Community 

Change over time

To help inform the development of a 
new Local Transport Plan, TfWM has 
undertaken an initial review of the 
transport delivery plan  The review has 
sought to assess both the current and 
alternative approaches to delivery to 
establish and understand the areas of focus 
and change, which are needed to support 
the refreshed strategy and new objectives  

From the review, we understand that our 
current mix of policies and strategies are 
likely to have shortcomings in responding 
to the Motives for Change  The analysis 
suggests a number of changes could be 
needed in the short, medium and long-term 
to better deliver objectives  Urgent action 
will be needed in certain intervention areas 
such as personal mobility to help ‘shift the 
dial’ in delivering positive outcomes in the 
region  

We have started to identify the measures 
and approaches to help address the gaps 
in the current approach and issues raised in 
the Motives for Change  This could include 
a change in focus on policy priorities and 
a reallocation of spend and effort to effect 
change  These measures will be critical to 
help us achieve a significant reduction in 
transport carbon emissions before 2030  
If progressed right, it could also help us 
deliver Inclusive Growth 

P
age 273



64Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What change 
could happen 
quickly, 
before 2030?

Avoiding travel through digital connectivity

We might be able to have a conversation, 
access a service or collaborate without 
having to physically meet  This could reduce 
the impacts of travel and improve access to 
opportunities that people may not be able to 
physically access  

Shifting and improving how we access goods

Through e-commerce and better consolidation and 
management of deliveries by lower impact vehicles we 
can access a broader range of goods with less travel  

Shifting to public transport and active travel

We can shift many short trips to walking 
and cycling 

We can shift journeys to centres and within 
congested corridors to public transport  Bus 
will have greatest capacity and coverage to 
support this modal shift up to 2030 

High energy use Low energy use

Shifting and improving personal mobility

There are motorised personal vehicles we can use that have 
lower impacts, could be more affordable and enable people 
to reach places that are not accessible by public transport, 
walking or cycling 

Supplementing public transport with 
demand responsive services to help us shift

Demand responsive services could let you 
arrange to be picked up near to or at home 
to get to places you can’t by other means  

Demand responsive services could include 
taxis, much as they function today, as well 
as new demand responsive forms of public 
transport which could provide coverage 
where demand is too low for good quality 
fixed public transport and for people who 
are unable to drive or use public transport 

Supplementing consumer choices with 
information, booking and payment options 
to help us shift

With a broader range of transport services 
you could select the right tool for the job 
where privately owned cars are currently 
being used for too many trips (like a 
sledgehammer to crack a nut) 

We could help bring these together 
with information, booking, and payment 
services to help people access what they 
need when they need it for a fair price 

Supplementing what we own with shared services to 
help us shift

Car/van clubs could reduce the need to own a car for 
some whilst improving access to the benefits of these 
vehicles for those who can’t afford to own 

Bike/micromobility share schemes could help people 
get around town/city centres or other areas who arrive 
by other means, where walking isn’t good enough 

P
age 274



65Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

What 
change 
could take 
longer to 
happen?

Shifting more journeys onto public transport, walking and cycling through 
land use changes

If we really want to shift even more journeys onto public transport, walking 
and cycling, this requires changes to where people are travelling to and 
from  This could be supported by changes to the way we use land; not 
just where we put new developments, but how we adapt the existing built 
environment so that there are more of the things people need nearby 

Shifting more journeys onto an 
expanded rail and rapid transit 
network

Improvements to rail and rapid 
transit that require significant 
infrastructure works will take 
time but it will increase the 
number of journeys that can 
switch to public transport 

Improving emissions by changing vehicle 
propulsion technology

It will take time for a shift to zero emission 
vehicles (battery electric and hydrogen) to 
eliminate carbon emissions  It will take time for 
the UK grid to decarbonise and it will take time 
for vehicle fleets to upgrade  However, we are 
making great progress  

Shifting more journeys to active travel and 
improving the experience of streets through 
redesigning the public realm 

The public realm, the everyday streets and public 
places we all enjoy access to, is everywhere and 
extensive  There are quick changes we can make 
using low cost infrastructure changes, however, 
fundamental redesign and rebuilding of places 
would take time 

Improving and shifting travel through the 
adoption of connected and autonomous vehicle 
(CAV) technologies 

CAV technologies have the potential to improve 
many aspects of travel, potentially revolutionising 
public transport, improving the productivity of 
time spent travelling, reducing road accidents 
and improving the flow of traffic  However, these 
technologies are still in development  Some 
technologies, such as driver aids, are already 
being implemented, however, full automation will 
take a long time if it occurs 

P
age 275



66Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Reflection

We want to understand what you 
think about how your travel behaviour 
could change:

What could you do to avoid, shift, 
or improve your journeys?

How much different would your life 
be if you travelled less frequently, or 
less distance, or if you used different 
types of transport such as walking 
and cycling for some of the journeys 
you might currently make by car? 

Could you see yourself using an 
e-scooter?

Could you see yourself using a car 
club vehicle as and when you need it 
instead of owning your own car?  

Why would you make those changes?

Our vignettes paint a picture of what 
transport might look like in our region 
in the future  Can you see yourself 
living in these places?

What do you think you would be 
losing? 

What do you think you could gain?

Who do you think is responsible for 
making these changes possible?

Some of these changes could be 
expensive, who should pay?

P
age 276



67Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Change in different places

City and town centres

A possible future vision for our 
city and town centres:

This is an inclusive urban centre that attracts all 
kinds of people and businesses  The many unique 
experiences on offer have created an exciting and 
popular destination in which to live, work and play  
Deliveries are made to the area using small electric 
vehicles and cargo bikes that are effective but low 
impact  

Getting to your nearest urban centre is quick and easy 
using the clean and efficient public transport network 
that connects the region  An increase in digital 
working and shopping means that people travel at 
different times, resulting in a quieter and more reliable 
transport network  

Moving around the centre itself is easiest by walking, 
wheeling and cycling which is prioritised and provided 
with plenty of space  Low levels of traffic have created a 
quieter and cleaner urban centre for you to enjoy  Public 
spaces are engaging and fun places for you to interact 
with the environment and with other people  

What could we do to achieve this in the West 
Midlands? 

There will be more opportunities to live within urban 
centres close to transport hubs which will make it 
easier for you to travel by sustainable modes 

Embrace changes to our lifestyles and working 
practices which allow us to think about how and when 
we travel differently 

You will have the opportunity to try out and support 
new transport innovations which help you to connect 
with people and places cleanly and safely 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about sharing your data in 
order to get a more personalised transport service?

How would you feel about working from home 
more (if it was possible for you) in order to reduce 
the level of traffic in your neighbourhood?

P
age 277



68Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Local high street

A possible future vision for transport 
in our high street:

Your local High Street is designed for you, rather than 
for other people’s cars  There are plenty of green 
spaces, wide footways and places for you to sit  

The street is accessible, regardless of age or ability, 
and provides a pleasant and safe environment for you 
to enjoy  There are many local shops and services and 
flexible co-working spaces save you making longer 
trips out of your neighbourhood  

The street is connected by shared and active 
transport, including bike and scooter hire schemes, 
as well as car-clubs and ride hailing services  Access 
to all of these services is available via one app and at 
your nearest travel hub  

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West  Midlands?

Taking public transport or walking and wheeling on 
your journey reduces traffic on your own and other 
people’s high streets 

Think before you travel outside of your own 
neighbourhood - can you make a shorter trip to stay 
local 

Spaces for people are provided instead of space for 
cars 

Parking spaces will be limited and reserved for those 
who really need them 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about using a local parcel 
locker if it was attached to a bus/tram stop or train 
station rather than always having deliveries direct 
to home?

How would you feel about walking more to the 
shops if your local shops were arranged to deliver 
heavy and bulky items later that day using an cargo 
bike or an electric vehicle?

P
age 278



69Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Rural living

A possible  future vision for transport 
in our rural areas:

Your safe rural area is well connected and 
convenient to get around  Sustainable travel brings 
health benefits to the whole rural community, and 
reconnects people with nature and each other 

You don’t need to travel unless you want to, as you are 
able to access services online or nearby  Less traffic 
and time spent travelling creates a more relaxed way 
of life and more time to do what you enjoy 

When you do travel, active travel is the go-to for 
getting around on a daily basis, supporting cleaner 
and more agile local transport including taxi services 
and Demand Responsive Transport  Rural mobility 
hubs provide access to services including zero carbon 
community car hire schemes and Park and Ride to help 
you reach destinations in a timely fashion  Information 
is accessible whenever and wherever you need it to 
help you reach local places of interest to support your 
lifestyle choices in the most sustainable way 

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West Midlands?

An even better sense of community as you get out and 
about without the car 

Order things to your door to reduce your need to travel

Charge points are available so you can use an electric 
bike to make your medium length trips more do-able

Power your home and your vehicle sustainably

Better active travel infrastructure provides connections 
to rural mobility hubs

Would you consider making more active trips if you had 
access to an electric bike?

What do you think? 

How would you feel about using an electric bike or 
scooter to reach your nearest village if safer routes 
were provided?

How would you feel about using demand 
responsive transport instead of a timetabled bus 
service?

P
age 279



70Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Older urban neighbourhood

A possible future vision for your 
local neighbourhood:

There is a greater sense of community spirit as you 
spend more time in your neighbourhood  Your local 
neighbourhood is safe, quiet and pleasant to walk 
around  The street has become a social space and is 
now designed for people  There is safe space for kids 
to play outside and for you to stop and chat with your 
neighbours  

Working from home is easy and you can recieve your 
online shopping to your door by cargo bike or electric 
van  When you need to leave the neighbourhood 
there is public transport and cycle paths nearby  

People own fewer cars and remaining cars are electric 
and shared within the community  This results in a quieter 
and cleaner environment which is positive for people’s 
physical and mental health  Reduced need for parking 
results in space you can use for other needs 

What could we do to achieve this 
in the West Midlands?

You might not own your own car, but you will have 
access to car sharing, public transport and walking and 
cycling paths 

If you do need to own a car, electric vehicles will be 
the default option with easy to access EV charging 
solutions 

Saving a journey by working from home or on 
line shopping will result in less traffic in your 
neighbourhood 

Your neighbourhood is inclusive, safe and enjoyable as 
there is a greater sense of community 

What do you think? 

How would you feel about walking more if pedestrians 
were prioritised over cars in your neighbourhood?

How would you feel about not having your own 
car and using an electric car club if it was available 
near your home instead?

How would you feel about letting your kids play 
in the street if the movement of cars was reduced 
and restricted?

P
age 280



71Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Modern suburban neighbourhood

A possible future vision for transport in 
our suburban areas:

Your suburban neighbourhood is a safe place in 
which to live, work and and travel in  The local area is 
attractive with lifestyles focussed on health and well-
being with plenty of space for walking, cycling and 
recreation 

Working and shopping from home are embraced 
more with spare time well-spent with family and 
friends  You are connected to your local centre by 
public transport links that are within easy reach by 
walking, cycling or wheeling   

Less travel results in a reduced need for car 
ownership  Instead local neighbourhood/community 
car clubs make it easy for you to have access to a car 
when you really need it without the hastle and cost of 
owning and running your own 

This creates a cost-saving lifestyle whilst also helping 
you to contribute towards local zero carbon targets, 
also making your suburban neighbourhood a more 
pleasant and safe place to live 

What could we do to achieve this in 
the West Midlands?

Embrace sustainable transport as a way to create a 
friendlier and safer neighbourhood

Seek alternatives to travelling, in particularly 
commuting, to improve air quality and safer 
environments for the community

Improvements to local neighbourhoods and the 
development of ‘20 minute neighbourhoods’ help you 
to be more active and access all the important things 
within easy reach of home 

Due to reduced traffic and improved infrastructure, 
active travel is a joy and is embraced by the local 
community 

What do you think?

How would you feel about reducing access to 
private vehicles on your road it meant you could 
live in a low traffic neighbourhood?

How would you feel about cycling or wheeling? 
into town if there was a network of quiet routes 
and separated cycleways?

P
age 281



72Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Main road 

A possible future vision for transport on 
our main roads:

This street prioritises walking, cycling, wheeling and 
public transport  The cleaner air and reduced noise 
levels result in a welcoming place for you to access 
different travel options  Travel information, booking 
and payment that is personalised to you make travel 
easy and enjoyable 

The streets are active with more people around, 
heading to many dynamic workplaces and leisure 
activities  There is more space for you to walk, cycle 
and scoot, and the street is designed to be accessible 
to everyone, including people of all ages and abilities 

It is easy to travel without having a negative impact 
on the planet - public transport is cleaner and more 
comfortable and with less traffic on the roads it is 
faster and more reliable 

Roads will be clean, safe and smooth with vehicles 
communicating with each other to reduce accidents 
and pot holes detected and fixed before they appear 

What could we do to achieve this in 
the West Midlands?

Public transport might look different with shared 
autonomous vehicles operating alongside conventional 
buses and trams   

More of the space on our streets will be given over to 
cycling and walking  

We will use our cars less as we work from home more 
and use new, innovative and clean transport services 

All of these services can be booked through an easy to 
use app that lets you know you are getting good  value 
for the journey you are taking

What do you think?

How would you feel about walking and cycling 
more if you had priority over cars and vans and if 
there was less traffic?

How would you feel about getting in a shared 
vehicle (with comfy seats and WiFi) with others 
to get to your nearest public transport hub or 
destination?

P
age 282



73Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Section 5: Developing the Local Transport Plan
Our partners

Transport governance in the UK is complex and made 
up of a number of key public and private authorities 
and agencies  The LTP will affect and need the 
cooperation of these parties, including:

• Government – Ultimately, Government sets 
national policies on transport, planning and digital 
infrastructure  It also proposes and sets (through 
parliamentary approval) legislation and distributes 
significant public funding 

• National transport agencies – Government tasks 
Highways England with running trunk roads and 
motorways, and Network Rail with running the 
vast majority of heavy rail in the UK 

• West Midlands Combined Authority – WMCA, 
working through Transport for West Midlands, is 
the local transport authority responsible for setting 
local transport policies in the Local Transport 
Plan  It also has wider powers and duties including 
those previously held by the Integrated Transport 
Authority and Passenger Transport Executive and 
additional powers granted through devolution 
agreements  This includes subsidising bus routes 
and fare concessions, providing travel information, 
developing transport schemes, and managing and 
maintaining some public transport infrastructure 

• Seven metropolitan borough authorities – These 
authorities are the highway and traffic authorities 
responsible for managing, maintaining and 
operating local highways and parking  They are 
also responsible for local development plans 

• Public transport operators – Private bus 
companies run services at their discretion 
including subsidised services  Train operating 
companies operate rail services under franchise 
agreements with Government  West Midlands 
Metro Ltd is a company owned by WMCA that 
operates the West Midlands Metro 

• Transport partnerships – WMCA is a partner 
of West Midlands Rail Executive and Midlands 
Connect, which are both partnerships including 
other local authorities to speak with one voice on 
rail issues across the West Midlands wider region, 
and strategic rail and highways investment across 
the Midlands 

We will also need to work closer with other bodies 
responsible for wider areas of public policy that affect 
and are affected by transport  In particular, we will 
work closely with local planning authorities to ensure 
that - through a mix of planning new developments 
and enabling the existing urban environment to be 
repurposed - the ability to access resources through 
more sustainable ways of travelling and transporting 
goods is improved 

A new framework for transport policy

As part of the development of the new Local 
Transport Plan, we intend to develop a new 
framework for policy  The framework will cover both 
the form of the LTP (noting that the LTP can be set 
out in more than one document covering different 
aspects of policies and implementation plans) and 
how we are held to account on delivering it 

We intend to develop the new LTP in stages:

• An initial overarching vision, objectives and 
strategy, alongside an initial implementation and 
funding plan; and

• Supplementary system-wide and place-based 
policies, alongside detailed refinement of the 
implementation plan to reflect actions required 

The development of supplementary system-wide and 
place-based policies will enable more detailed policy 
making and planning and focussed engagement 
with partners  The development of system-based 
policies will allow us to develop policy with key 
delivery partners such as public authorities with 
relevant powers/duties and service providers  The 
development of place-based policies in specific 
parts of the West Midlands will allow us to work with 
relevant local authorities to tackle specific challenges 
in these areas 

Local Transport Plan

System-wide policies
(examples)

Place-based policies
(examples)

Parking Centres

Metropolitan rail
and rapid transit Corridors

Fares and 
ticketing Neighbourhoods

Overarching vision, objectives and strategy

Implementation and funding plan

LTP performance monitoring and governance

Policy impactPolicy delivery

Delivery of the LTP requires action from wider 
partners  Therefore, we will work with our local 
partners to establish governance that monitors the 
policy delivery of all key stakeholders in the area in 
addition to monitoring the impact of policies 

Local Transport Plan

System-wide policies
(examples)

Place-based policies
(examples)

Parking Centres

Metropolitan rail
and rapid transit Corridors

Fares and 
ticketing Neighbourhoods

Overarching vision, objectives and strategy

Implementation and funding plan

LTP performance monitoring and governance

Policy impactPolicy delivery

P
age 283



74Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

Working with the public, private 
organisations and public authorities

This green paper is starting our journey to develop 
a new Local Transport Plan for the West Midlands   
Given the challenges we face, we will need to engage 
with the public and key stakeholders to shape its 
direction, particularly around difficult and complex 
decisions  The green paper will be used to engage 
with four key groups using a range of techniques:

• General public – deliberative engagement 
and consultation

• Private organisations – targeted events with 
representative organisations

• Transport service providers – targeted events 
with key operators and public agencies

• Transport and place policymakers and planners – 
transport summit and ongoing co-development of LTP

Using this green paper as a starting point, we will use 
feedback to help us develop a new West Midlands LTP 

The timelines for developing the overarching strategy 
of the LTP are shown across  Development of 
supplementary policies will follow, and engagement 
will continue throughout 

2021
Q1

Agreeing objectives and 
identifying options

2021
Q2

Assessing options

2021
Q3

Drafting LTP

2021
Q4

Finalising LTP

P
age 284



75Reimagining transport in the West Midlands

P
age 285



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

West Midlands 
City Region Sustainable 

Transport Settlement  
Draft of CRSTS prospectus v10 | 20 September 2021 

 

 Page 287



 

 

 

Pag e |  i  
 

 

Document Status: 
This is a draft document pending final feedback and comments before being finalised for 
submission, including completion of a Foreword by the Mayor and WMCA Portfolio Lead for 
transport. 

P
age 288



 

 

 

Pag e |  i i  
 

 

Contents 
1 Foreword from Mayor and Transport Portfolio Lead iii 

2 Introduction 1 

3 Strategic case for a new investment approach via CRSTS 2 

4 How we have identified and prioritised schemes for CRSTS 9 

5 Our proposed investment programme 2022-27 10 

6 The benefits of our programme 17 

7 How the programme will be funded 21 

8 How we will deliver at pace and scale 24 

 

 

P
age 289



 

 

 

Pag e |  i i i  
 

 

1 Foreword from 
Mayor and Transport 
Portfolio Lead 

[Resistissemus tectumque a ramumque. Uocetisque et 
frenentque consistimusque cum ob nihil cum evaseritque, a 
per conscendissent. Rediebat trahereminique premeris. 
Socer linquerentque, velabam delenireque collabas aut 
eloquebatur teneborque accumbereque. Dolares statui, ante. 
Petiique volveremusque aut et ad duciebamusque, ob 
utilitatis a errantemque uellentque, et tremesceretis cum 
consederoque. Latuereque staveram mussitantesque aut et 
cum aut aut reddaris. Velabaminique ob ad sensero. 
Confluentesque remittabimini prometisque transis locaretque 
salutabimus, fidissent insinuat per aptavisti. Vocantem 
cultrumque et potuerintque tuendo comitari, et et et 
reditionisque. Rauracorumque eantque, effero. 
Uertissentque rogaverintque ab incenderetque 
spirabamusque syracusae latinoque sulphur uertentur. 
Amant iulia, clam aut ex ab passa perficere praecedis.. 
Populus abundantia - onerariis sit amet] 

 

 

Andy Street, Mayor of the West Midlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Resistissemus tectumque a ramumque. Uocetisque et 
frenentque consistimusque cum ob nihil cum evaseritque, a 
per conscendissent. Rediebat trahereminique premeris. 
Socer linquerentque, velabam delenireque collabas aut 
eloquebatur teneborque accumbereque. Dolares statui, ante. 
Petiique volveremusque aut et ad duciebamusque, ob 
utilitatis a errantemque uellentque, et tremesceretis cum 
consederoque. Latuereque staveram mussitantesque aut et 
cum aut aut reddaris. Velabaminique ob ad sensero. 
Confluentesque remittabimini prometisque transis locaretque 
salutabimus, fidissent insinuat per aptavisti. Vocantem 
cultrumque et potuerintque tuendo comitari, et et et 
reditionisque. Rauracorumque eantque, effero. 
Uertissentque rogaverintque ab incenderetque 
spirabamusque syracusae latinoque sulphur uertentur. 
Amant iulia, clam aut ex ab passa perficere praecedis] 

 

Councillor Ian Ward 
Portfolio Lead for Transport 
Leader of  Birmingham City Council 
 

P
age 290



 

 

 

Pag e |  1 
 

 

2 Introduction 
The City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) is 
a new, consolidated fund for local transport investment in 
England's eight large metropolitan areas. The UK Government 
has committed at least £4.2bn of new money over the next 
five years, from financial year 2022/23 to financial year 
2026/27. Existing funding for small scale transport capital 
improvement schemes and highways maintenance will also 
be rolled into CRSTS as a move towards greater consolidation 
of transport capital funding streams. 

This prospectus sets out the West Midland Combined 
Authority’s proposed CRSTS programme of transport 
investment – to be delivered through Transport for West 
Midlands (TfWM) and our constituent Local Authorities. This 
programme is designed to meet the ambitious vision set out 
in our recently refreshed Local Transport Plan Green Paper 1 
for a greener, more active, fairer and economically 
successful West Midlands, whilst taking strides towards our 
2041 carbon neutral target as part of the #WM2041 initiative. 

Our sincere hope is that CRSTS will enable an ambitious 
rolling, multi-decade strategic investment programme – 
prioritised and delivered locally. This must move the dial in 
addressing local and national objectives, in particular the 
levelling up agenda which is so critical to one of the regions 
hardest hit by COVID. Anything less risks us treading water 
and missing the opportunity to invest in programmes 
complementary to key national initiatives such as HS2. 

As we prepare for negotiations with Government, our £1.7bn 
ask from CRSTS would leverage a further £554m of local 
contributions, evidence of the priority we place on transport 
in the West Midlands. This will deliver a £2.3bn programme 
of transport investment over five years. The investments 
range from essential maintenance and renewals to keep our 
transport network moving, through extensive active travel 
and community-focussed improvements, to innovative and 
transformational projects such as Coventry Very Light Rail, 
Metro extensions, rail and Bus Rapid Transit improvements. 

 
1 Local Transport Plan Green Paper – link.  

Picture 1: Prime Ministerial visit to Midlands Metro depot  

 
The interventions have been carefully selected to maximise 
growth outcomes, enable modal shift, and improve 
accessibility – especially in traditionally under-served and 
deprived areas of the region. We are acutely aware that the 
pandemic has exacerbated some of our longstanding 
economic challenges around inequality, poverty, and poor 
health. Transport investment through CRSTS will play a 
critical role in opening up opportunities for communities 
across the region, to allow us to quickly regain growth 
momentum and avoid long-term economic scarring. 

Investment in the West Midlands is also good for the 
country. Our central location at the heart of the UK’s 
transport networks – 90% of the UK population is within a 4-
hour train or car journey – means that transport 
improvements in the region translate into widespread 
benefits for the country and the union at large. 

The delivery of the CRSTS programme will build on WMCA’s 
long track record of partnership working, successful delivery, 
innovative solutions and our robust and well-established 
governance and decision-making process for transport 
investments. These have been developed and strengthened 
following the agreement of our two devolution deals in 2015 
and 2017, and during delivery of our £8 billion 30-year 
Investment Programme and Transforming Cities Fund – 

including expansion of the Midland Metro extensions, our 
first Sprint Bus Rapid Transit route, and new rail stations at 
Perry Barr and University. Investments under the CRSTS 
programme will also align with previously identified growth 
opportunities for our economy to help deliver jobs and 
productivity growth for our region, including in our emerging 
‘Future of Mobility’ cluster. 
CRSTS is not the only funding route available for delivering 
West Midlands’ transport priorities. Our CRSTS programme 
has been developed to avoid any double counting of funding 
asks. The schemes described in this prospectus will be 
delivered as part of a single integrated transport programme 
alongside other funds – the Levelling Up Fund, Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, Active Travel, Major Road Network and 
Large Local Majors, local EV charging infrastructure funds.  

The remainder of this prospectus is structured as follows: 

• Section 3 sets out the strategic case for new investment 
in the West Midlands, and how the programme is aligned 
to local and national policies and objectives. 

• Section 4 describes how we have prioritised the 
investments within our CRSTS programme 

• Section 5 explains the proposed investments under our 
six programme themes: Connecting our Places, 
Supporting Inclusive Growth, Healthy Streets and 
Spaces, Creating Resilient Networks and Communities, 
Delivering a Green Revolution, and Making Behaviour 
Change Easy. 

• Section 6 illustrates the benefits that the transport 
programmes will bring to address the shared objectives 
of driving growth and productivity, contributing towards 
levelling up and decarbonisation, and delivering value 
for money. 

• Section 7 describes the funding ask through CRSTS and 
our substantial local contribution. 

• Section 8 sets out how we will deliver. 

P
age 291

https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/


 

 

 

Pag e |  2 
 

 

3 Strategic case for a 
new investment 
approach via CRSTS 

3.1 The West Midlands economic 
context  

The West Midlands (WM) city region is the largest MCA area 
in the country; home to 3.0 million residents and 91,150 
businesses which employ 1.3 million people and generate 
£70.3bn per annum in GVA. Between 2010 and 2018, output 
in the WMCA grew by 2.5% on average YoY (compared to 
the national average of 2.4%) and the age profile of the area 
is young, with a quarter of residents aged under 19, the 
highest share of young people of all UK metropolitan areas. 
The West Midlands is one of the fastest growing regions in 
the UK, with our population set to increase by 440,000 
people by 2035, requiring 165,000 new homes and a step-
change in our transport network’s capacity and connectivity.  

Our region competes on a global stage; with our economy 
characterised by high exports (particularly in machinery and 
transport goods, which represent 71% of all goods exports 
compared to 41% nationally) and significant Foreign Direct 
Investment (between 2015/16 and 2019/20 the WM region 
ranked 3rd behind London and the South East as a location 
for FDI), both are underpinned by the strength of our existing 
strategic domestic and international connections. Indeed, the 
economic geography of our city region is a significant asset, 
with Birmingham city centre at its heart and the two fast 
growing cities of Coventry and Wolverhampton. These have 
significant economic potential that could be unlocked 
through investment in better connectivity (see Figure 1). The 
surrounding areas of southern Staffordshire, Warwickshire 
and north Worcestershire bring complementary strengths in 
terms of business, housing and leisure offers. The region’s 
central location at the heart of the road and rail network, 
together with Birmingham Airport, means that it is well 
connected to the rest of the UK and international markets. 

Figure 1: Map of City Region 

 
Our distinctive sectoral strengths, from world-leading 
automotive and aerospace innovation, green technology to 
health and life sciences, are globally competitive and set us 
apart from other regions.  

Figure 2: WM Sectoral Strengths 

Current Regional Strengths include: 

  

  

  

  

  

  

West Midlands’ key sectors punch above their weight across 
many performance metrics, including their productivity and 
employment contribution. For example, 25% of the UK 
aerospace sector is based in the Midlands and 10% of all UK 
aerospace jobs. The region is also at the forefront of shaping 
the future of mobility in the UK, employing 180,000 people in the 
transport technology sector (2.5x more than any other region).  

Emerging Regional Strengths include: 

  

  

  

  

  

The West Midlands is home to some of the most innovative 
businesses in the UK, owing to the strength and resources of 
our universities, science parks and research institutes (the 
region educates 160,000 students each year with c50% 
studying STEM related subjects), together with the skills of 
our workforce and transport connections, which together 
promote a rich environment for innovation and R&D. We 
attract £398 per head of private sector R&D investment 
(ranking 3rd amongst regions in the UK) whilst receiving less 
than £83 per head of public sector investment (ranking last 
amongst regions in the UK). The West Midlands has also 
consistently been a hot bed for innovation and 
entrepreneurship, with strong one-year enterprise births 
growth to 2019 (+16.4% versus 5.4% at the UK level) and 
higher overall number of enterprise births than the UK 
average (the WM has 67 enterprise births per 10,000 
population compared to 58 at the UK level). 

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the West Midlands 
experienced 9 years of steady growth with a boom in the 

Aerospace 

Automotive 

Construction (incl. Offsite Manufacturing) 

Food & Drink Technology 

Metals and Materials 

Professional Services 

Low Carbon Technology 

Rail Technology 

Logistics and Future Mobility Technology 

Health and Life Sciences 

Creative 

P
age 292



 

 

 

Pag e |  3 
 

 

business and professional services sector; technology-driven 
manufacturing and city centre construction growth. Our 
manufacturing base was becoming more productive and the 
automotive sector was responding to the challenge of a 
carbon neutral future. 

However, whilst we are in a strong position to leverage our 
economic strengths, we must also address the emerging 
effects of the pandemic and tackle some of our longstanding 
economic challenges to level up all areas of the West 
Midlands. These challenges include pockets of inequality, 
entrenched poverty, youth unemployment, lower skills and 
poor health outcomes. As we invest in the future, we must 
ensure that all communities across the region can access 
economic opportunity and play their full part in maximising 
the growth potential of our region, with transport investment 
under our CRSTS playing a critical role in opening up those 
opportunities.  

Figure 3: Map of Deprivation in the region  

 
Across the West Midlands, we have several pockets of 
significant deprivation (see Figure 3 above). Overall, 19.2% 
of WM LSOA’s sit in the 10% most deprived areas in the UK, 
however, this figure rises to 41% in Birmingham 
neighbourhoods, followed by Walsall at 26% and 
Wolverhampton at 21%. The distribution of gross income in 
the West Midlands is also unequal – 72% of people have a 

total income below the regional average of £23,200 (the 
national average is £24,400). TfWM is striving to address 
these issues, and recently invested significantly in affordable 
and high-quality transport connections across the region. As 
outlined in Section 6, the investment associated with the 
CRSTS programme will enable us to continue to reduce the 
cost of living and barriers to employment for some of our 
most deprived communities. 

Whilst COVID-19 has exacerbated many of these challenges 
and has impacted the region’s service and export based 
sectors the most, there remains a unique opportunity to build 
back better from the pandemic, and ensure we carry forward 
the reputation for economic success the region has built in 
the new millennium. It is critical that we quickly regain this 
growth momentum, to avoid a steep rise in unemployment 
and long-term economic scarring. Moreover, the region is 
home to sectors of national importance such as advanced 
manufacturing, automotive and the business and 
professional services sector – ensuring a strong recovery 
in the West Midlands will support the wider growth of 
the nation. 

3.2 The West Midlands transport 
context  

The West Midlands’ central location positions our region at 
the heart of the UK’s transport networks and international 
connections. Strong transport connectivity is vital to the 
economic prosperity of our region, supporting the 
productivity and growth of our key strategic sectors 
(including aerospace, professional services and transport), 
as well as providing our most deprived communities with 
improved access to economic opportunities.  

Between 2016 and 2018 there were 2.3 billion trips made in 
the West Midlands, 70% of which were made by car, 10% 
via public transport, comprising bus (8%), rail including West 
Midlands Metro (2%) and 20% via active travel. This 
compares to 61% of trips being made by car nationally, 
alongside 7% via public transport, 29% via active travel and 
3% via other modes in 2018 (based on National Travel 
Survey data).  

Recent investments in the West Midlands Metro will triple the 
networks size, linking Wolverhampton and Dudley with the 
heart of Birmingham City Centre and carrying 30 million 
passengers per annum. Nevertheless, bus remains the 
prime mode of public transport for our residents, and 
particularly for those without access to car, making up 
around 259 million journeys in the West Midlands in 
2017/18. Unlike other city regions outside London, the West 
Midlands benefits from limited fragmentation of bus services, 
with 94% of bus journeys provided by a single operator; 
National Express. National Express works closely with 
TfWM, alongside local councils and other bus operators as 
part of the West Midlands Bus Alliance to ensure services 
are integrated across the region. We also benefit from one of 
the safest public transport networks in the UK, with crime 
rates on our bus network reducing by 60% over the last 
decade. However, much like the rest of the country, we have 
faced a long-term decline in bus patronage. Notwithstanding 
recent positive changes, we have seen changing behaviour 
patterns (preferences to travel by car), increasing cost of bus 
fares relative to motoring costs, and declining service 
coverage (in part because of declining bus speeds), with bus 
boarding’s falling by 2% year-on-year in the 10 years 
preceding 2020. These trends risk being exacerbated by the 
pandemic, with a 61% fall in bus patronage in 2020/21 as a 
result of the pandemic (See Figure 4 below). 

Figure 4: Bus Passenger Journeys 2010/11 to 2020/21 

 

P
age 293



 

 

 

Pag e |  4 
 

 

The investment underway in the first corridors of our Sprint 
network, linking Walsall, Solihull, Birmingham city centre and 
Birmingham Airport, is an important step in reducing journey 
times for passengers and stimulating bus use. Further 
investments in our Sprint network proposed under both the 
CRSTS programme and with additional bus priority 
proposals in our parallel Bus Service Improvement Plan are 
critical to building on this momentum and sustaining and 
promoting bus travel in our region over the medium term.  

Meanwhile uptake of active travel in the city region remains 
limited. Recent investments such as the Starley Cycle 
Network have helped to expand active travel options in the 
region. However, the WM is currently the combined authority 
with the lowest share of cyclists – with only 9.6% of adults 
cycling at least once per month, against 16.1% nationally. 
Moreover, only 63.2% of adults walk at least once per week, 
below the national average of 63.8%. Much of this is a 
function of long standing under investment in critical 
infrastructure, and further investment in new cycleways and 
active travel corridors are a critical step in promoting the 
usage of active travel modes in the region. 

The ongoing development of our refreshed Local Transport 
Plan has highlighted a number of key challenges as set out 
in our Motives for Change (see Section 3.4) for our transport 
network which our proposed investment under the CRSTS 
programme, as part of a long-term and integrated approach 
to transport investment in the West Midlands, is critical in 
helping to address. These issues are summarised below:  

Accessibility and affordability of public transport 

Historically, investments in transport have supported local 
economic growth in our region, subsidising services for the 
benefit of those less mobile and supporting innovation in 
mobility products and services. However, the quality of 
access to public transport still varies considerably across our 
region and this variation can act as a significant barrier for 
lower income households and more vulnerable groups 
accessing economic opportunities and realising their full 
potential. Job accessibility declines significantly for residents 
who are reliant on public transport, and this tends to be most 
pronounced in deprived areas of the region where car 
ownership is less common. Indeed, most West Midlands 
residents could access more than double the job 

opportunities within 45 minutes of where they live with a car 
than without a car (see Figure 5). 

Figure 5: Job accessibility in WM region with a car vs with 
public transport (2016) 

 

 
Despite its important role, bus within the West Midlands has 
experienced a long-term decline in passenger numbers, 
under both absolute and ‘per head’ measures, in common 
with other UK metropolitan areas outside London. The fall in 

services, alongside increased congestion, has resulted in 
reduced accessibility to key urban centres for those that are 
reliant on public transport. For example, Figure 6 shows how 
access to Birmingham city centre within 45-60mins via buses 
has sharply declined over the past decade. However, 
targeted investments have had success reversing trends 
around the speed and frequency of services. For example, a 
£9.2m investment along Services X51, 934, 997 in 
Birmingham and Black Country has led to a 14% patronage 
increase. The CRSTS programme will be vital in helping us 
to capitalise on this momentum and spread it across the 
region (see Section 6 for more detail on this).  

The impact of transport externalities (e.g. pollution, noise, 
poor road safety and severance) are also often felt most by 
those in our most deprived areas. For example, the rise in 
killed or seriously injured casualties in the region since 2013 
have been predictably clustered around high-density urban 
areas with high levels of traffic flow and deprivation.  

The complexity of ticketing and affordability of public 
transport is also deemed a barrier to all types of customers 
of the network, particularly for journeys involving multi-leg 
trips by bus across the region’s network and between bus, 
Metro and rail. Single fares are still significantly higher in the 
West Midlands than they are in London (for example, the 
daily cap on TfL bus and tram services is £4.65 whereas in 
West Midlands it is £6.80), which has been a contributing 
factor to declining demand. The issue is even more stark by 
international standards, wherein our region ranks in the 
bottom quartile for public transport affordability of 66 major 
global cities, with 5.36% of our region’s residents’ monthly 
income spent on public transport. Simplification of ticketing, 
through Smart Ticketing, multi modal fare capping and travel 
planning tools which provide simplified, trustworthy, and 
affordable public transport options is key to addressing these 
challenges and reducing car reliance.  

P
age 294



 

 

 

Pag e |  5 
 

 

Figure 6: Access to Birmingham city centre within 45-60mins 
via bus (2008-2018) 

 

Growing reliance on road travel 

Despite our region’s efforts to invest in sustainable transport 
alternatives, car mileage has significantly increased (+6 
billion miles) across the West Midlands over the last 25 
years. Although the current share of public transport 
commuting in Birmingham city centre is relatively high, 
across the wider area (including our two other major city 
centres in Coventry and Wolverhampton), cars, vans and 
light vehicles dominate modal share (see Figure [2] in the 
Appendix). Across the area, two in five journeys under two 
miles are currently being made by car. The reliance on road 
travel not only results in congestion, poor air quality and 
negative consequences for our environment, but contributes 
to declining health outcomes more broadly in the region by 
reducing the share of walking and cycling and active travel 
associated with public transport. 

Without the significant investment proposed in our public 
transport network, alongside ambitious measures to promote 
behavioural change and targeted measures aimed at 
demand management, these historic trends are set to 
increase over the next 20 years, with the share of 
households not owning a car expected to fall to 18% in 2040 
(down from c22% today). The reliance on road travel has 
also been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which 
has resulted in significant changes to how, when and why 
we travel. Data collected in support of our recent BSIP 
evidence paper highlighted that 94% of car owning residents 
enjoy the independence car ownership gives to them. 
Without significant investment to stimulate and accelerate 
the recovery of public transport demand, we risk seeing a 
permanent shift in behaviour which undermines our 
economic growth, levelling up and net zero ambitions. 

Congestion, air quality and the environment 

The reliance on private road transport has led to a built 
environment which prioritises car-based travel and has 
resulted in a legacy of a hazardous, unattractive 
environment for pedestrians and cyclists, including poor air 
quality that we are now addressing through investments like 
those in the CRSTS. Air pollution in the West Midlands 
affects some 2.8 million people, reducing life expectancy by 
up to 6 months, while the carbon saving potential from 
installing 2,000 EV charge-points, as proposed within the 

scope of West Midlands’ CRSTS programme, is estimated to 
be capable of saving £16.9m million per year in direct and 
indirect economic costs. 

The reliance on private road transport also generates 
congestion in city centres and key transport corridors across 
the region, which in turn contains the economic growth 
potential of our region. The average Birmingham driver lost 
134 hours in congestion in 2018, with congestion costing 
£2.3bn per annum across the West Midlands metropolitan 
area.  

The West Midlands has an ambitious target to be net zero as 
a region by 2041. To deliver this will require significant 
modal shift as well as a substantial increase in the number of 
zero emission vehicles on the road. However, under a 
business-as-usual scenario, current carbon emissions from 
road travel (car, LGV, HGV, and bus), rail and Metro will only 
fall to 3.183 MtCO2e by 2027 (the end of the CRSTS funding 
period) and 2.490 MtCO2e by 2027, which will fall 
significantly short of our net zero ambitions. Nearly all the 
business as usual carbon emissions from transport are 
attributable to cars, LGVs, and HGVs (buses and rail 
accounted for approximately 1% of emissions respectively), 
while the uptake of EVs remains lower in the West Midlands 
at 0.35% relative to the UK average of 0.47%. 

CRSTS is a significant step in the right direction, with 2000 
proposed EV charge points and ambitious PT and active 
travel investments. The West Midlands will continue to 
pursue other decarbonisation opportunities outside the 
scope of CRSTS to meet its net zero ambitions. 

Summary 

Our programme of investment in transport has a critical role 
to play as the region looks forward and plans for COVID-19 
recovery. By connecting our residents to new jobs and 
educational/training opportunities, coupled with the delivery 
of skills plans and unlocking and delivering much needed 
housing across the region; we can support the regeneration 
of our local centres and neighbourhoods and drive 
productivity and level up our most underserviced 
communities. This will further improve our health and well-
being, and last but by no means least; help us address the 
urgent challenge of climate change. 

P
age 295



 

 

 

Pag e |  6 
 

 

3.3 Our investment themes  
Our emerging Local Transport Plan (LTP) strategy is 
underpinned by the ‘Avoid-Shift-Improve’ Framework which 
provides a set of principles from which strategic and local 
measures can be shaped and established:  

• ‘Avoid’ travel in the first place where possible, e.g. 
through homeworking. 

• ‘Shift’ to shorter journeys and lower-carbon modes  

• ‘Improve’ measures to decarbonise the vehicle fleet. 

Alongside these strategic priorities for transport, our 
investment themes under the CRSTS programme have been 
shaped to support our wider ambitions around delivering 
jobs and growth, levelling-up deprived communities and 
meeting our decarbonisation targets. We have identified six 
themes to guide investment which are the building blocks for 
ensuring transport investment delivers for our region (see 
Table 1 in Section 3.6 which outlines how each of the six 
CRSTS investment delivers on key national priorities for the 
CRSTS programme: Economic growth and productivity, 
levelling-up and decarbonisation): 

Connecting our Places – This programme will build on 
existing programmes to continue investment in public 
transport connectivity by boosting connections across our 
key centres and corridors. As we move closer to the arrival 
of HS2 a targeted public transport investment programme of 
rail, rapid transit and bus; underpinned by enhanced 
interchange facilities will enable the West Midlands to build 
back better.  

Supporting Inclusive Growth – This programme is focused 
on driving inclusive growth, levelling-up and housing delivery 
in six high priority corridors. The programme takes a place-
based approach to delivering targeted packages of work to 
completement and maximise the existing investment, unlock 
housing and employment opportunities and offer new and 
existing residents safe and sustainable transport choices to 
deprived areas of the region. Key schemes will include 
£100m in transport upgrades along the Walsall to 
Wolverhampton corridor, including beginning development 
on the Metro extension to New Cross Hospital, to unlock 

4,500 new homes and regenerate local urban centres and 
programmes to support Smethwick and Icknield, Sandwell to 
Dudley, Walsall to Birmingham, Coventry to Solihull and 
East Birmingham/North Solihull including kickstarting the 
development of the Metro route in this key corridor.  

Healthy Streets and Spaces – This package contains 
measures aimed at encouraging more active travel and 
reducing the volume of trips made by car to improve health 
and reduce environmental impacts. The programme will also 
target improving air quality for residents and visitors to WM, 
as well as providing a wider range of affordable travel 
options which will be crucial in meeting our ambition to be 
net zero by 2041.  

Creating Resilient Networks and Communities – This 
theme delivers junction and corridor route improvements to 
highways and the Key Route Network across the WM, whilst 
also investing in road safety and innovative technological 
infrastructure. These schemes will improve multi-modal 
connections, reduce barriers to active travel by making our 
roads safer to use, and address congestion and capacity 
constraints. 

Delivering a Green Revolution – This programme aims at 
decarbonising the largest sources of carbon emissions on 
the road, focusing on research and development, building a 
robust supply chain for zero emission technologies, and 
delivering supporting infrastructure to build consumers’ 
confidence in zero-emission vehicles. Major schemes 
include the £10m WM EV Public Chargepoint Fund and the 
£7m WM ULEV Scheme.  

Making Behaviour Change Easy – The programme of 
investment within this theme will provide a step-change in 
both the attitude and behaviour of individuals by providing 
frictionless access to sustainable transport across the 
region. The initiatives put forward are based on in-depth 
analysis of the travel needs, preferences and choices of 
residents in the WMCA region. Significant initiatives that fall 
under this theme include £27m for Very Light Rail R&D, a 
Regulatory Sandbox for agile development of regulatory 
reform in partnership with industry, a Local Network 
Improvement Plan to better facilitate multi-modal travel, 
smart ticketing (e.g. Swift payments scheme), and 
micromobility schemes including eBikes and eCargo Bikes. 

3.4 Our objectives for the CRSTS 
investment programme 

Our Local Transport Plan Green Paper sets out five ‘Motives 
for Change’ – the reasons why we should consider changing 
the way we travel. These are focussed on creating a fairer, 
greener, healthier, happier and more prosperous West 
Midlands, and delivering on our #WM2041 carbon reduction 
pledges. As outlined in Section 3.3, alongside the Motives 
for Change are a series of related objectives that govern our 
proposed CRSTS programme and link directly to our six 
investment themes (see Table [2] in the Appendix).  

Figure 7: Why change? 

 
However, these are not just objectives for the next five years 
– they will support our long-term ambition to build back 
better and level up our region for inclusive growth. They are 
as applicable to CRSTS as they are to investment delivered 
through other routes (e.g. Bus Service Improvement Plans, 
WM Investment Programme, Active Travel Fund) as we aim 
to deliver a single integrated transport programme over a 
series of five-year transport settlements. 

Work is underway to develop a set of specific targets and 
metrics for the new Local Transport Plan. We will identify key 
measures across a range of policy outcomes including 
decarbonisation, accessibility, health and wellbeing, safety 
and security and economic impact. These will be developed 
during the autumn in parallel to the ongoing development of 
the CRSTS programme. 

P
age 296



 

 

 

Pag e |  7 
 

 

3.5 Alignment with local policies and strategies 
West Midlands is well-placed to capitalise on the economic opportunity presented by the 5-
year CRSTS investment programme, as we have been developing a series of long-term 
strategic plans setting out our ambitions for sustainable and inclusive growth. These include: 

• Local Transport Plan Green Paper2 – This sets out the key challenges and opportunities 
facing our transport system since the first Local Transport Plan was adopted in 2011. This 
is currently acting as the key consultation document with the public to help inform our new 
LTP which is due to be published later in the year. This will set out our policies to promote 
safe, integrated, efficient and economic transport to, from and within the area as well as 
plans to implement those policies.  

• WM204134 – Our framework for developing a series of 5-year plans to decarbonise the 
WM in response to the pressing climate emergency and the ambition for the region to be 
carbon neutral by 2041. It calls for a substantial investment programme in the order of 
£40bn over 21 years (2020-2041) and a 10-point strategy for decarbonising the region. 
The CRSTS programme will support several key pillars of this strategy, including active 
travel and cleaner transport, electric vehicle charging infrastructure, and behaviour change 
around travel patterns.  

• West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy – Our integrated plan to drive long-term 
sustainable economic growth across the whole of the West Midlands. Developed locally and 
agreed with government, this Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) sets out the priorities to increase 
the productivity of the West Midlands and the national economy. It places the ‘Future of 
Mobility’ at its the heart and is a key strategic enabler of Inclusive Growth. 

• Inclusive Growth Framework – Our framework to help ensure socially equitable and 
environmentally sustainable growth secures long term benefits for everyone in our region. 
The concept of ‘Inclusive Growth Corridors’ are reflecting the approach of the Inclusive 
Growth Framework by creating more holistic vehicle for investment – which goes beyond 
‘site-by-site’ development, embedding whole-system thinking and offering the possibility of 
a different order of change for communities and places.  

• Local Plans – Our local authorities have developed a series of local plans (covering 
Birmingham, Solihull, Coventry and the Black Country) which detail where and how much 
housing and employment space is needed in the region. The CRSTS investment programme 
has been developed with an eye to helping to unlock housing and connecting up future 
employment centres across the West Midlands. 

 
2 Local Transport Plan Green Paper – link.  
3 #WM2041 - link 

3.6 Alignment with national policies and strategies  
West Midlands is well positioned to deliver on the key national priorities of the CRSTS 
programme (including economic growth and productivity, levelling up and decarbonisation – 
see Table 1 below) and wider transport policy agenda of Government (including the National 
Bus strategy and Cycling and Walking investment strategies) having placed these at the heart 
of the WM CRSTS investment themes. These are set out further in Section 6 as to how the 
programme delivers benefits in these areas. 

• Economic Growth and Productivity – Given the challenges with accessibility and 
connectivity in our region, our CRSTS transport programme has been designed to improve 
access and connections between workers and business, driving productivity both locally 
and nationally by enhancing business competition, allowing businesses to better match 
with the right suppliers, customers and employees, and increasing the likelihood that 
ideas, knowledge and innovations are diffused across the WMCA economy. Our themes 
Connecting our Places, Creating Resilient Networks and Communities and 
Supporting Inclusive Growth, along with the projects that sit beneath them, all centre on 
driving productivity and net additional economic growth both locally and nationally. 

• Levelling Up – Taking into account the economic geography of our region, with strong 
urban centres surrounded by pockets of acute deprivation and poorly connected rural 
communities, we have put forward a transport programme with inclusive growth and 
accessibility at its heart. The transport projects under Supporting Inclusive Growth and 
Connecting our Places are focussed on levelling up the lives and connectivity of the most 
deprived in our region. These interventions will play an important role in regenerating city and 
town centres, unlocking new affordable housing and development, improving health and 
amenity through active travel, and importantly providing access to work, leisure and 
educational opportunities to deprived communities.  

• Decarbonisation – This is a key priority of the CRSTS programme and for our region, with 
three investment themes directly focused on addressing the pressing climate emergency: 
Healthy Streets and Spaces, Making Behaviour Change Easy and Delivering a Green 
Revolution. The transport initiatives investment themes mirror the recommendations 
outlined in DfT’s Transport Decarbonisation Plan published in 2021 and prioritise modal 
shift and the rollout of electric vehicles to the road. The schemes will also help ensure 
developments can come forward in more sustainable locations across the region. 

 

4 WM2041 Fiver Year Plan 2021-26 – link 

P
age 297

https://www.tfwm.org.uk/who-we-are/our-strategy/green-paper-2021/
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4008/wm2041-final-003.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4870/wm-net-zero-fyp-tech-report.pdf


 

 

 

Pag e |  8 
 

 

• The National Bus Strategy (NBS) – Announced in 2021, the NBS proposes ambitious and far-reaching reforms to how services are planned and delivered in order to reverse declining bus 
patronage rates. Investment in the WM bus network is a key pillar of our CRSTS transport programme, helping to bring forward corridor improvements and station upgrades that will each 
congestion and improve services along key route. 

• Active Travel Investment – Government has earmarked £2bn for Cycling and Walking investment strategies to deliver a step-change in active travel in UK. Our CRSTS transport programme 
shares the same ambition for the WM, with projects under Healthy Streets and Spaces and Making Behaviour Change Easy encouraging a shift to active travel patterns in order to improve air 
quality, combat climate change, improve health and wellbeing, address inequalities and tackle congestion on our roads. 

Table 1: Alignment of CRSTS Programme Investment Themes with key national priorities 

Alignment with Key 
National Priorities 

CRSTS Programme Investment Themes 

Healthy Streets 
and Spaces 

Making 
Behaviour 
Change Easy 

Connecting our 
Places 

Delivering 
a Green 
Revolution  

Creating 
Resilient 
Networks and 
Communities 

Supporting 
Inclusive 
Growth Alignment Summary 

Economic Growth and 
Productivity       

The CRSTS transport programme has been designed to improve access and 
connections between workers and business, driving productivity both locally and 
nationally. 

Levelling Up 
      

Investment under the breadth of CRSTS themes target a range of measures of 
levelling up the lives and connectivity of the most deprived pockets in our region 
(see Figure 12). 

Decarbonisation 
      

All our CRSTS themes contribute to differing degrees to addressing the 
pressing climate emergency in our region, including through modal shift and the 
rollout of EVs.  

 

P
age 298



 

 

 

Pag e |  9 
 

 

228 schemes
Drawing upon Local Transport Plan 

and objectives of the CRSTS 
programme

139 schemes
Schemes sifted based on strategic fit, 
affordability and deliverability and risks

105 schemes
Review and challenge from constituent 
Local Authorities, scheme promoters 

and senior leaders

Call for projects and programme 
gap analysis

Sifting against programme 
criteria

Building consensus around 
the optimum package of 

interventions

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Figure 9: Programme Development Process

4 How we have identified and 
prioritised schemes for CRSTS 

Introduction 
Since formation of the West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) in 2016, we have worked with our members to 
prioritise how and where we invest with the finite resources 
available to the CA. This has meant we have invested time in 
identifying a pipeline of investment projects that are needed to 
support the region’s need, alongside developing an evidence-
based and balanced approach to prioritising between 
investments. We have built upon this experience in identifying 
and prioritising schemes over the five-year CRSTS 
programme that are aimed at delivering real benefits to the 
West Midlands right from the outset. 
Our process commenced in 2020 in anticipation of CRSTS. 
We have taken a structured, iterative and collaborative 
approach based on a clear prioritisation framework, with 
criteria linked to local and national objectives, with buy-in from 
Local Authority partners and the Mayor. 
Our programme development process 
Given the needs of the West Midlands discussed in section 3, 
inevitably even at the upper range of funding available 
through CRSTS there is insufficient money to develop or 
deliver all of the projects we would want to across the West 
Midlands. There are currently a significant number of projects 
in the pipeline, all at different stages of development. It was 
essential that the process to develop our programme allowed 
all projects to be assessed on a fair and objective basis 
regardless of the stage of maturity of individual schemes. 
With this in mind, we have followed a three-stage process 
when developing our programme. 
Stage 1 – Call for projects and programme gap analysis 
We undertook an exercise to refresh and review the current 
position of the capital pipeline across the West Midlands 
based on existing or desired transport scheme proposals over 
the next 15 years. This early stage call for projects from Local 
Authorities and within TfWM allowed scope for new proposals 
to be developed to address current challenges and support 
the delivery of local and national objectives. 

This resulted in a refreshed pipeline of over 200 individual 
transport schemes, which were identified during this process, 
conducted once in 2020 and again in spring this year. 
We then carried out a programme-level gap analysis to identify 
the extent to which the desired outcomes were not being fully 
met, using an evidence base of technical work undertaken 
when drawing up our Local Transport Plan and the linked 
themes and objectives for the CRSTS programme. Where gaps 
were identified, we developed new proposals to be included 
within the project pipeline and also refined existing schemes to 
better align to the overall outcomes sought. 
Stage 2 – Sifting against programme criteria 
The next stage was to sift the ‘long list’ pipeline of schemes 
based on strategic fit, affordability and deliverability to 
generate a first cut of proposals for the CRSTS programme. 
To facilitate this process we collated a consistent level of key 
information for each scheme including: a problem statement, 
anticipated outcomes and benefits, the thematic driver for the 
intervention, timescales for development and delivery, barriers 
to delivery, an indicative cost range and, where appropriate, 
complimentary and/or alternative funding routes. Our 
prioritisation framework was then applied using assessment of 
the following criteria: 
• Strategic fit: schemes were assessed against national 

priorities, the emerging LTP objectives and the CRSTS 
delivery programme themes. As part of this we considered 
whether a proportionate amount of work had been 
undertaken at the different stages of development to 
articulate the benefits of individual schemes, and sought 
further details where necessary. We then used logic maps 
to visualise how schemes contribute towards objectives. 
We also considered the fit with our emerging Inclusive 
Growth Corridors (cross boundary corridor packages 
which support inclusive, zero carbon growth) and Local 
Delivery Plans (area-based strategies which support LTP 
outcomes - see section 3.3). 

• Affordability: we assessed whether the level of 
investment required justified the rationale and benefits of 
each scheme, and whether the programme as a whole fell 
within a reasonable funding envelope. As part of this, we 
considered links with other funding programmes to ensure 
CRSTS was the most appropriate route, as well as the 
extent to which any investment could level local funding.  

• Deliverability and risks: we looked at whether the 
programme and funding commitments could be met, within 
the timescale necessary, what level of local and political 
support they had, and how sensitive scheme costs and 
benefits were to uncertainty stemming from COVID. 

Stage 3 – Building consensus around the optimum 
package of interventions 
Fine-tuning the programme was an iterative process. There 
were extensive discussions with constituent Local Authorities, 
scheme promoters and senior leaders to review, clarify and 
challenge the programme. This included: 
• Review and challenge from our Strategic Transport 

Officers Group (STOG) culminating in a specially 
convened STAR Chamber session. 

• Engagement with our Strategic Transport Board, Met 
Leaders and the Mayor to agree the shape of the 
programme. 

• Final approval by the West Midlands Combined Authority 
board on 17 September 2021. 

As a result of this process we have developed a robust, 
prioritised programme of transport investments that maximises 
the positive contributions towards economic growth, carbon 
reduction, levelling-up transport and economic inequalities, health 
and supporting communities across the West Midlands. This 
includes a mix of delivery over the next five years, and 
development where schemes have a strong case for 
development funding via CRSTS for delivery beyond this window. 
Work now continues to further develop business cases for 
schemes at the front end of the delivery timeframe.

P
age 299



 

 

 

Pag e |  10 
 

 

5 Our proposed 
investment 
programme 2022-27 

Introduction to the West Midlands CRSTS programme 

Our proposed programme of transport investment is 
designed to meet the ambitious vision set out in our Local 
Transport Plan for a greener, more active, fairer and 
economically successful West Midlands. The interventions 
have been carefully selected to maximise growth outcomes, 
enable modal shift and improve accessibility – especially in 
traditionally under-served and deprived areas of the region. 

Our proposed programme is intentionally ambitious. 
Anything less risks us simply treading water for the next five 
years – covering essential maintenance and renewals and 
already committed projects but missing the opportunity to 
move the dial on transport investment. It is essential that 
HMG’s national objectives for improved transport outcomes 
are reflected in our own regional ambitions for change. We 
want to deliver innovative, high quality projects that provide 
genuine improvements to people’s lives in the West 
Midlands, attract people to new active forms of transport, 
and make strides towards our 2041 carbon neutral target as 
part of the #WM2041 initiative. 

The scope and scale of our proposed programme 

As we prepare to enter into negotiations with the 
department, our £1.7bn ask from CRSTS would leverage a 
further £554m of local contributions, to deliver a £2.3bn 
programme of transport investment over five years. This 
would range from essential renewals and maintenance, 
through extensive smaller scale active travel and community 
focused improvements (which are relatively quick and low 
risk to deliver), to some larger targeted transformational 
projects such as Metro extensions, heavy rail 
enhancements, new very light rail routes and Bus Rapid 
Transit schemes. We have worked hard with our local 
partners to maximise the level of our local contribution – ours 

is high and that reflects the relative criticality for the West 
Midlands of transport investment. Our ambition and needs 
are high, and we are taking climate change and economic 
recovery very seriously. Given the inclusion of previous 
funding commitments by HMG (such as TCF) we are 
seeking incremental investment to allow us to deliver 
meaningful change. 

We have packaged our CRSTS programme into six themes, 
aligned to the Motives for Change described in our Local 
Transport Plan (see section 3.3). Each theme delivers 
benefits that cross-cut national objectives to improve growth 
and productivity, contribute towards levelling up and 
decarbonisation, and deliver value for money. 

Our themes are inter-linked and complementary. The 
investment made through our Connecting our Places theme 
provides the region-wide public transport network at the 
heart of TfWM’s CRSTS programme. It enables much of the 
complementary investment in other programme themes to 
thrive. A well-connected and accessible public transport 
network will help support inclusive growth corridors and 
make behaviour change easier by providing fast and efficient 
connections between key centres and corridors. Investment 
will support resilient networks by helping to provide a viable 
public transport alternative for residents and releasing 
capacity on our highway network. This will lead to reduced 
car usage and associated carbon and particulate emissions 
to help us deliver a green revolution. Provision of attractive 
urban realm in our centres and facilitating effective 
interchange between active and public transport modes will 
complement our healthy streets and spaces initiatives.  

Finally, better intra-regional connectivity for the West 
Midlands will generate national benefits, improving travel 
times for those passing through or visiting the region, as well 
as indirect spillover of economic activity to neighbouring 
regions.  

Theme 1: Connecting our Places - £615m funding 
required from CRSTS 

Overview: This theme comprises a targeted programme of 
public transport investment across rapid transit and rail (see 
Figure [6] in the Appendix) and bus, complemented by 
enhanced interchange facilities. 

We will blend both delivery and development to ensure we 
have the solutions fit for the short and medium term to 
enable the West Midlands to build back better. 

Strategic rationale: this investment builds on the 
momentum gained thorough current public transport 
improvements including Metro expansion, new rail stations 
and the first Sprint Bus Rapid Transit route. As we move 
closer to the arrival of HS2, boosting public transport 
connections across our key centres and corridors will be all 
the more important. 

This investment will unlock development around public 
transport hubs, catalyse economic activity in our centres, 
and provide residents with the same levels of opportunity to 
access employment, health, education and leisure 
opportunities. A better public transport network for the West 
Midlands that offers a viable alternative to car travel will 
reduce carbon emissions, directly addressing our climate 
emergency. 

Picture 2: Solihull Station Redevelopment 

 

P
age 300



 

 

 

Pag e |  11 
 

 

Table 2: Key Schemes – Connecting Our Places 

Scheme Description 

Metro £286m 

A package of investment comprising essential renewals to sustain operations on the 
original Line 1 between Wolverhampton and Birmingham, which is now over 20 years 
old; the completion of the 11km Wednesbury to Brierley Hill metro extension to better 
connect this underserved and deprived corridor; and the development of further route 
options from Wednesbury to Walsall and the Hagley Road route to the west of 
Birmingham linking into the Black Country. 

Coventry Very 
Light Rail 
£63m 

Currently at a higher technology readiness research and development stage, this 
exciting project employs our regional automotive expertise (and thereby directly 
supporting our Local Industrial Strategy) to deliver an innovative and affordable light rail 
system. This project aims to deliver all the benefits of trams – low floors, comfort, 
efficiency, reliability – but at a fraction of the cost of traditional light rail schemes. CVLR 
will be lightweight and use 100% renewable energy, providing a real alternative to the 
car and thereby helping to improve air quality and reduce congestion. The first route 
will connect major employment, commercial, education and healthcare sites between 
the newly improved railway station (opening late 2021), Coventry city centre, and 
University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire, supporting city centre regeneration at 
Friargate with commercial mass transit services that will complement existing bus and 
rail services within the city. 

Future Bus 
£30m 

We will complement BSIP investment by developing measures to improve bus 
connectivity between HS2, Birmingham Airport and Solihull. We will also bring forward 
our region-wide Demand Responsive Transport offer by investing in a fleet of zero-
emission vehicles and depot facilities, building upon the already committed All Electric 
Bus City programme in Coventry which will see all buses in the city be electric by the 
end of 2025, and developing the back office systems necessary to allow customers to 
book journeys on demand using a single integrated platform. 

Rail £55m 

We will introduce a new station at Aldridge and continue to make the case for 
reintroducing passenger services on the remainder of the Sutton Park Line to provide 
enhanced orbital rail connectivity. We will support the delivery of essential components 
of the Midlands Rail Hub – including Snow Hill Platform 4 and Kings Norton 
remodelling – to improve rail connectivity to the south and west of Birmingham. As 
delivery of HS2 gathers pace we will also support the development of master planning 
activity between Curzon Street and Moor Street station to secure a world class 
gateway and interchange. We will begin the development work needed to progress 
new stations in high priority locations such as Tettenhall in Wolverhampton, Coventry 
and East Birmingham.  

Interchange 
£109m 

Underpinning all of this activity will be a significant programme of interchange 
improvements. Major new gateways at Sutton Coldfield and Solihull (see call-out box) 
will provide iconic access points to these regional centres and catalyse further 
investment and regeneration. Four future park and ride sites at rail/Sprint stations will 
support interchange between transport modes and further improve connectivity. 

Scheme Description 

Snow Hill 
Growth 
Strategy £50m 

Snow Hill is one of Birmingham City Centre’s three main rail stations providing local 
and regional services, and direct connections to London. The scheme involves the 
major redevelopment and transformation of Snow Hill rail station and its immediate 
environs, and improved transport connectivity within the Snow Hill area. This is 
predicted to support 112,000sqm of new office-led development accommodating over 
7,700 jobs and 200 homes. 

Interactions with other programmes: This investment will support and build upon a number 
of other programmes linked to the arrival of HS2 and the WM Investment Programme 
including University Station, Metro Birmingham City Centre to HS2, Dudley Interchange, 
Sprint and Perry Barr station. Investment in bus priority measures as part of our Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (BSIP) will be complemented by the expansion of the rapid transit network 
alongside a refresh of the DRT offer in the West Midlands. This programme will maintain the 
momentum generated from previous investment and act as a springboard for further 
investment towards even greater connectivity across the West Midlands. 

The wholesale redevelopment of Solihull train station is required to ensure it is fit for purpose to deal 
with significant forecast growth in passenger numbers. The redesigned station will include an enlarged 
new internal public concourse, upgraded facilities and enhanced public realm at the station entrance. 
Sustainability has been at the heart of the design from an early stage, with numerous features such as 
onsite energy generation, electric vehicle charging, biodiverse planting and energy efficient systems. 

 

A brand-new station at Sutton Gateway will provide access to Sutton Coldfield town centre and 
Sutton Park, enabling residents and businesses [direct] access to the future HS2 link. The rail station 
will be integrated with a new bus interchange serving Sutton. The project will provide a much-improved 
arrival experience for visitors into Sutton Coldfield and enhanced pedestrian and commuter access to 
the town centre. Sutton Gateway will complement other developments in the town and support growth 
proposed in the Birmingham Development Plan. 

Theme 2 Supporting Inclusive Growth - £311m funding required from CRSTS 

Overview: This programme is focused on driving inclusive growth, levelling up and housing 
delivery in six high priority corridors across the West Midlands (see section 3.4). The 
programme takes a place-based approach to delivering targeted packages of work to 
complement existing investment, unlock housing and employment opportunities and offer 
residents safe and sustainable transport choices. The interventions – ranging from new 
walking and cycling routes, game changing rapid transit links, and further phases of the 
SPRINT Bus Rapid Transit network – have been carefully chosen to enhance the 
environment, increase wellbeing and maximise the potential and success of our 
diverse population. 

 

P
age 301



 

 

 

Pag e |  12 
 

 

Strategic rationale: Our Local Industrial Strategy sets out the region’s commitment to driving 
a more inclusive economy. Addressing transport inequality is also a key part of our Local 
Transport Plan. Our six Inclusive Growth Corridors align with areas of high deprivation, with 
housing supply shortfalls. Transport investment will be a key catalyst for growth and 
regeneration. We will use the investment through CRSTS as leverage to improve the 
outcomes for local residents around housing, skills and employment. Targeted new transport 
links will unlock housing development on brownfield sites. A focus on active, low carbon and 
sustainable travel will improve safety and air quality. Better public transport will provide access 
to jobs and services for people living in the most deprived areas of the West Midlands. 

Schemes within this theme, including funding required from CRSTS 

Table 3: Key Schemes – Supporting Inclusive Growth 

Corridor Catalyst Selected schemes 

Walsall to 
Wolverhampton 
£39m 

Major regeneration and development 
opportunity, with c.£100m transport 
upgrades planned to support the 
construction of over 4,500 new homes, 
as well as major redevelopment in 
Walsall and Wolverhampton urban 
centres. 

• A454 multi-modal corridor to relieve 
congestion, improve air quality and 
install active travel infrastructure 

• Metro development – City Centre to 
New Cross Hospital 

• Sustainable access to new stations 
• Walking and cycling improvements 

Sandwell to Dudley 
£31m 

Builds on significant investment in 11km 
Metro extension between Wednesbury 
and Brierley Hill. This links the Black 
Country with HS2 and supports the 
regeneration of Brierley Hill and Dudley 
town centres. 17 new Metro stations will 
support investment and regeneration 
opportunities throughout the corridor. 

• Interchange improvements between 
bus, heavy rail and the new Metro 
at Dudley Port 

• Feasibility studies on further rapid 
transit routes to Stourbridge and 
Walsall 

• Improvements to walking and 
cycling access to new Metro stops 

Birmingham to 
Walsall £66m 

The 2022 Commonwealth Games 
provides the catalyst for regeneration of 
the wider area with an improved new rail 
station, major public transport 
investment, and delivering new homes 
and jobs post-Games. 

• Completion of Sprint Phase 2 route 
including priority measures in the 
Black Country. 

• Completion of Perry Barr rail station 

Smethwick & 
Icknield £51m 

Major investment in land remediation 
and transportation are enabling a new 
mixed-use urban quarter just 10 minutes 
from Birmingham city centre. The project 
covers a development area of 137 

• Multimodal corridor covering bus, 
walking and cycling improvements 
on the Dudley Rd in Birmingham 

 
5 East Birmingham Inclusive Growth Strategy, link  

Corridor Catalyst Selected schemes 

hectares, able to accommodate 
approximately 5,000 new homes and 
10,000 square metres of commercial 
floorspace – one of the largest 
opportunities for brownfield regeneration 
in the UK. 

• Enhancements to a key pinch point 
in Sandwell adjacent to housing 
development sites 

• Segregated cycle lanes and mobility 
hubs 

East Birmingham / 
North Solihull £87m 

Much of East Birmingham falls within the 
top 20% most deprived areas in 
England. The arrival of HS2 and the 
proposed Metro extension from East 
Birmingham to Solihull represents a 
once in a generation opportunity for 
positive change. 

• Development work to progress the 
Metro corridor 

• Package of sustainable transport 
improvements 

• Cross-city bus priority routes 
• Segregated cycle schemes 

Coventry to Solihull 
£16m 

This corridor links UK Central – including 
the new HS2 Interchange station, Arden 
Cross development, Birmingham Airport, 
NEC and JLR sites – to the thriving 
University of Warwick, Eastern Green 
and Keresley developments (6,000 new 
homes), and Coventry city centre with 
investment in improved park and ride 
facilities at Tile Hill and strategic cycle 
routes. 

• Multi modal transport interchange at 
Tile Hill station 

• Cycling improvements to enable 
sustainable access to Warwick 
University and science park  

Interactions with other programmes: our proposed investment in inclusive growth corridors is 
targeted at maximising the impact of the significant levels of infrastructure already committed 
and in delivery across transport, housing and regeneration. These include the transformational 
11km Metro extension to Dudley; SPRINT Bus Rapid Transit Routes across Birmingham, 
Solihull and the Black Country; new or improved rail stations between Walsall and 
Wolverhampton and across Birmingham; new housing and regeneration in Smethwick and 
Icknield; and the Commonwealth Games and housing growth adjacent to Perry Barr station. 

East Birmingham is home to more than 230,000 people and forms a crucial part of the city and region’s 
economy. Major growth is coming which will deliver more than 60,000 new jobs and 10,000 homes 
within and near to East Birmingham over the next ten years.  
The East Birmingham Inclusive Growth Strategy5 sets out a clear vision for the future of East 
Birmingham as an excellent place of strong communities in which to live and work. It will guide the 
delivery of inclusive growth in East Birmingham over the next 20 years. 

 

P
age 302

https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/downloads/file/19118/east_birmingham_inclusive_growth_


 

 

 

Pag e |  13 
 

 

The arrival of HS2 is a huge opportunity for East Birmingham. Transport 
investment delivered through CRSTS will maximise these benefits through 
a proposed East Birmingham to Solihull Metro extension and a new Sprint 
rapid transit route along the A45 Coventry Road corridor. Wide ranging 
cycle, walking, bus and rail improvements will change the way people 
move around, reduce congestion, improve air quality and encourage 
people into healthier travel habits. 

 

Theme 3: Healthy Streets and Spaces - £234m funding required from CRSTS 

Overview: This theme delivers measures aimed at encouraging more active travel, reducing 
the volume of trips made by cars, improving health and well-being, and reducing the 
environmental impacts of transport. The package of measures comprises a high quality 
network of new walking and cycling corridors and public realm improvements in strategic 
centres, designed to DfT LTN 1/20 standards. 

Strategic rationale: This theme has very strong alignment to both local and national policies 
around promoting physically active, community-focused, sustainable and decarbonised forms 
of transport. For example, our Local Transport Plan set out the urgent need to shift from short-
distance car journeys to active travel modes. 

This theme builds on West Midlands’ recent success in delivering active travel projects, 
including walking and cycling infrastructure as part of the Active Travel Fund. These schemes, 
and those delivered through CRSTS, will reduce the carbon footprint of the West Midlands, 
improve air quality, and provide a wider range of affordable travel options to resident and 
visitors alike. 

Table 4: Key Schemes – Healthy Streets and Spaces 

Scheme Description 

Cycleways £137m 
16 new routes linking key centres, distributed across the whole of the West 
Midlands. Many are up to 10km in length, with all new infrastructure 
meeting LTN 1/20 standards for high quality cycling infrastructure. 

Public Realm 
improvements £73m 

Improved surfacing, wayfinding and place making in the local and strategic 
centres of Wolverhampton, Dudley and Birmingham. 

Active travel corridors 
£27m 

New or improved combined walking and cycling routes across the West 
Midlands, including improvements to the popular canal towpath network. 

Interactions with other programmes: The spatial spread of the proposed active travel 
projects means there are a number of interactions with other programmes. For example: 

1. The One Station package of improved pedestrian connections will link the new HS2 
Curzon Street station with the three other city centre railway stations – New Street, Moor 
Street and Snow Hill. The project will deliver wayfinding and a much-improved public realm 
along key walking routes to enhance sustainable connectivity to and from Curzon Street. 

The Dudley Town Centre Interchange Public Realm will deliver high quality public realm 
in and around the Dudley Interchange project. The existing Dudley Town Centre bus 
station will be replaced with a new state of the art facility which will provide direct 
connectivity to the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro extension. Dudley Interchange and 
the Metro extension are both funded, in part, through the Transforming Cities Fund. 

Keresley Connects: a 7km segregated cycleway linking the new Keresley residential development, and 
major employment area at Lyons Park, with Coventry city centre. The residential development is being 
designed as a Sustainable Urban Extension and the supporting cycle infrastructure will be imperative to 
encourage new residents to travel more healthily and sustainably. 

 

Birmingham District / Town Centres: a package of improved signage, cycle parking, the widening of 
footpaths and the removal of parking bays at district and town centres across Birmingham. Investment 
through CRSTS will build on similar measures implemented as part of the Active Travel Fund which saw 
increases in footfall to local centres and strong support from local retailers. 

 

Selly Oak to Longbridge Cycleway: extending the popular segregated cycleway between Birmingham 
city centre and the University of Birmingham by 8km to reach Longbridge. This would link a number of 
local centres along the A38 corridor to major employment centres at the University of Birmingham, 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital and the city centre. The extended cycleway will provide an attractive, safe 
means for people to travel along this busy corridor, reducing reliance on the car. 

Theme 4: Creating Resilient Networks and Communities - £407m funding from CRSTS 

Overview: This theme delivers multi-modal junction and corridor route improvements to 
highways and the Key Route Network across the West Midlands, whilst also investing in road 
safety and innovative technological infrastructure. These schemes will improve multi-modal 
connections, reduce barriers to active travel by making our roads safer to use, and address 
congestion and capacity constraints.  

Strategic rationale: Resilient networks are key to addressing the transport and economic 
challenges faced in the West Midlands. This region-wide programme will help our road 
network to be a better neighbour to our communities through the renewal of aging assets and 
improved accessibility. Creating new and improved connections will maximise the benefits of 
nationally significant infrastructure such as HS2. Delivering new multimodal connections and 
improvements to public transport mean communities will have a viable alternative to private 

P
age 303

https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/downloads/file/19118/east_birmingham_inclusive_growth_strategy_2021


 

 

 

Pag e |  14 
 

 

car use and ensure that our residents can access more employment opportunities. Addressing 
capacity constraints and congestion – particularly for public transport – will support the 
Government’s ambition for Gear Change, the National Bus Strategy and decarbonisation 
objectives. Meanwhile, improving road safety will remove barriers to active travel. Investment 
in the network will keep ahead of a number of high capacity residential and employment sites 
proposed across the region.  

Significant schemes within this theme, including funding required from CRSTS 

Table 5: Key Schemes – Creating Resilient Networks and Communities 

Scheme Description 

Highways 
maintenance and 
structures £120m 

The region's highways maintenance programme focuses on reducing the 
deterioration of main carriageways, structures and the unclassified network, 
which is essential for improving accessibility to local services, public transport 
and encourages local trips by walking, cycling and other emerging mobility 
solutions. Overall the programme seeks to renew, repair and extend the life of 
highway assets across the West Midlands. This programme is aimed at 
improving conditions across all classes of roads to support our thriving 
communities and businesses. 

A461 Tipton Multi-
Modal Corridor – 
Sandwell £40m 

Capacity enhancements, installation of active travel infrastructure and air quality 
improvement measures. The scheme will also include bus priority measures to 
address Key Route Network action plan priorities. 

West Midlands 
Regional Road 
Safety Programme 
£8m 

Evidence shows an increase in deaths for vulnerable road users (particularly 
pedestrians) over the past three years. In order to meet our target of reducing 
road traffic accidents by 40% up to 2028 we will invest in road safety measures 
to deliver an accessible, efficient, and safe transport system. 

RTCC/UTC 
Highways Investment 
Package Phase 2 
£17m 

Traffic signals and roadside technologies across the region have experienced a 
legacy of under investment. We will deliver critical roadside infrastructure that 
keeps traffic moving and supports a cleaner greener transport system. This will 
make for a more efficient network, and one that can adapt to our dynamic urban 
environment 

West Midlands Key 
Route Network 
Enhancement 
Package £16m 

A set of route specific multi-modal solutions to address challenges in areas of 
persistent inequality, poor public transport accessibility, lacking cycling and 
active travel facilities and poor road safety. This will support the health and 
wellbeing of local people, housing and employment growth, as well as the 
decarbonisation of transport. 

West Coast Mainline 
and M42 Bridge link 
to HS2 Hub £15m 

Creation of a public transport corridor between Birmingham International station 
and HS2, including a direct link for cycling and walking. Provision of reliable 

Scheme Description 

public transport to the Arden Cross and NEC developments including the Health 
and Innovation Campus. 

Interactions with other programmes: there are a number of complex interactions with HS2 
and related investment, access routes to UK Central, planned capacity improvements to 
motorways being delivered by National Highways, Sprint bus priority routes, on-street running 
of the Metro, and local cycle and walking investment programmes. 

Theme 5: Delivering a Green Revolution - £58m funding required from CRSTS 

Overview: This programme aims at decarbonising the largest sources of carbon emissions on 
the road, including cars, LGVs and HGVs. The schemes within this programme focus on 
research and development, building a robust supply chain for zero emission technologies, and 
delivering supporting infrastructure to build consumers’ confidence in zero-emission vehicles. 

Strategic Rationale: The schemes within this theme are part of a number of essential steps 
towards our carbon neutrality target contained in our regional #WM2041 commitment, 
supporting DfT’s Transport Decarbonisation Plan and national carbon zero targets.  

The interventions are carefully targeted on the parts of the West Midlands with the most 
challenging air quality issues (e.g. Key Route Network and major A roads) and where the bulk 
sources of carbon emissions from cars, LGVs and HGVs occur. Furthermore, the locations of 
charging stations will be strategically selected such that they provide easy access to other 
greener modes of transport so as to maximise the decarbonisation potential of all the 
programmes within this proposal. 

These interventions are complemented by schemes that promote modal shift and active travel 
in other themes, such as the £137m active travel corridors and £27m cycleways scheme 
under Healthy Streets and Spaces.  

Table 6: Key Schemes – Delivering a Green Revolution  

Scheme Description 

WM EV Public 
Chargepoint 
Fund £10m 

A centrally managed fund to support installation of public EV chargepoints in 
destinations and town centres across West Midlands, alleviating ‘range anxiety’ for 
residents and supporting local business and taxi/private hire operators/car clubs. The 
contribution from CRSTS will allow the region to maximise the decarbonisation 
opportunities from EVs. 

WM ULEV 
Scheme £7m 

Delivery of approximately 1,000 chargepoints over five years at origins particularly in 
the Black Country where EV take up is low due to only on-street parking being 
available to most residents. 

Through the above two schemes, TfWM aims to deliver 2,000 7-22/50 kW chargepoints by 2025. 

P
age 304



 

 

 

Pag e |  15 
 

 

Scheme Description 

Ultra-Rapid 
Charging Transit 
Stations £14m 

The development of 10 Transit Stations aimed at regional transport, located in close 
proximity to the Key Route Network for the West Midlands. These facilities will 
provide Ultra Rapid charging targeted at fleets without access to depot charging and 
own use charging for shared mobility services such as car clubs. 

Alternative fuels 
for freight £10m 

Development funding to explore alternative fuels and the infrastructure necessary to 
decarbonise freight. Through our work with expert academic establishments such as 
the University of Birmingham and partners such as Midland Connect and National 
Highways, we will explore the case for increased use of hydrogen and biomethane in 
the freight transport sector. This work will serve as a pathway towards our longer-
term transition to low carbon fuels. In order to support this ambition, we will deliver 
hydrogen and CNG/LNG refuelling stations. 

Gigafactory 
Links £17m 

Essential improvements to London Road, a key corridor to the Coventry Airport site 
where the Battery Innovation Centre (BIC) and proposed Gigafactory will be located, 
including a segregated cycle link. 

Interactions with other programmes 

The programme described above will derive most of its benefits from the uptake of zero 
emission vehicles which is driven by growing road users’ confidence in the technology and 
availability of supporting infrastructure. 

However, making strides towards a green revolution in the West Midlands permeates through 
our entire CRSTS programme across multiple themes. Modal shift from private vehicles to 
other greener forms of travel modes such as public transport, cycling and walking are key 
objectives discussed in earlier themes. The locations of charging stations and their 
accessibility to other greener modes of transport (e.g. Park and Ride site) are also linked. 
Across our entire programme we will ensure that we maximise the decarbonisation 
opportunities from the transition to zero emission vehicles and modal shift. 

Theme 6: Making Behaviour Change Easy - £102m funding required from CRSTS 

Overview: The programme of investment within this theme will provide a step-change in both 
the attitude and behaviour of individuals by providing frictionless access to sustainable 
transport across the region, and innovative new ways of travelling that build on the success of 
our Future Transport Zone programme. 

Strategic rationale: The interventions have been carefully selected to encourage more use of 
public transport, active travel and new forms of mobility, thereby ensuring a viable transport 
network and supporting our net zero aspirations. This theme builds on West Midlands’ recent 
success in delivering bike hire schemes and e-scooter hire services. In shaping the 
programme we have used recent work 6 that segmented the WMCA population according to 

 
6 TfWM All Traveller Segmentation Summary Report 

spatial, economic, residential, demographic and transport-related factors. These segments 
condense the range of needs, preferences, and choices made by residents of the WMCA 
region, and have supported us to make user-centred decisions to allow us to better map 
interventions to behaviour, and then to track that behaviour change. 

Table 7: Key Schemes – Making Behaviour Change Easy 

Scheme Description 

Contactless 
payment broker 
£20m 

TfWM in partnership with Midlands Connect have designed a back-office payment 
system that aggregates contactless payments across all operators and modes of 
transport. This ‘broker’ will enable an integrated best value cap to be applied the end 
of the day. In doing so, we will capture and utilise greater intelligence and insights 
about the way that people travel in the region. 

Coventry Very 
Light Rail (VLR) 
research and 
development 
£27m 

Funding to progress the research and development to be ready for final deployment, 
followed by planning and consenting phases, for the first route of this innovative, 
affordable urban VLR system. This will provide a real alternative to car use and drive 
modal shift to cleaner and more sustainable forms of transport (see ‘Connecting our 
Places’ theme for further details). 

Regulatory 
Sandbox £2m 

Creation of a regulatory ‘safe space’, where new transport technologies and 
business models can be trialled in real-world conditions to inform policy and 
regulatory formulation. TfWM will provide guidance, foster collaboration and facilitate 
certain exemptions. The sandbox will allow agile development of regulatory reform 
in partnership with industry, and support HMG’s Future of Transport Regulatory 
Review. 

Mobility Hubs 
£22m 

A network of highly recognisable physical interchanges that offer a range of 
connectivity including public, shared active and decarbonised mobility options, 
together with enhanced facilities and information. Mobility hubs are far more than 
just transport exchanges – they will provide an opportunity for access to a much 
wider range of mobility options to support sustainable travel and address air quality 
issues. They have the potential to revitalise neighbourhoods and town centres, 
facilitating more social interactions and support stronger local communities and 
economies. We will consult locally on the design of each hub, so the offering is 
tailored to the needs of the local community. 

Local Network 
Improvement 
Plan £22m 

A multi-modal West Midlands-wide Network Improvement programme of minor 
schemes and behaviour change programmes to support Making Behaviour Change 
Easy. This will be delivered across the seven local authorities and TfWM. Initiatives 
could include travel demand management support. 

P
age 305



 

 

 

Pag e |  16 
 

 

Scheme Description 

Micromobility 
£5m 

Further expansion of micromobility solutions including expansion of the cycle hire 
scheme, an increase in e-bikes and e-cargo solutions and exploring other new forms 
of micromobility. We will roll these offers out across the entire West Midlands region. 

Rules of the Road 
- Fully Digitised 
Network £4m 

Building a fully digitised (and live) view of the network, opening up new opportunities 
for a wide range of transport from flexible logistics delivery to dynamically managed 
kerbside use. This is an essential enabler for the widespread use of connected and 
automated vehicles, and efficient freight and delivery services. 

Interactions with other programmes: The schemes set out above are part of TfWM’s 
broader portfolio of transport innovation programmes (see Figure 8 below). They will enhance 
and complement other future transport initiatives within the portfolio that are funded through 
other routes. 

The schemes are intrinsically linked – for example, the Midlands Future Mobility connected 
and automated mobility testbed is co-located with the 5G testbed for transport trials. Equally, 
the Regulatory Sandbox will assist with the quick and efficient move from development to 
delivery of VLR and be supported by a digitised road network. 

Layering these initiatives creates a synergy that not only benefits individual initiatives but also 
sets the West Midlands apart as a region uniquely attractive to investment in 
transport innovation. 

The schemes within this theme will be complemented by TfWM’s commitment to spend 1% of 
each capital scheme budget across our entire portfolio on travel demand management 
measures to prompt behaviour change, minimise construction disruption and 
enhance outcomes. 

Figure 8: Programme Interactions 

 

 P
age 306



 

 

 

Pag e |  17 
 

 

6 The benefits of 
our programme 

The programme we have developed has been tailored to 
help deliver against the key outcomes of value for money, 
growth and productivity, levelling up and decarbonation. We 
set out below a summary of how we expect the WM CRSTS 
programme to support each of these objectives. 

Driving growth and productivity at the local and national 
level 

As addressed in Section 3, the strengths of our economy lie 
in our world-leading automotive and aerospace innovation, 
green technology, health and life sciences industries and 
research institutions. However, our economy also faces 
some challenges – such as increasing inequality, entrenched 
poverty, youth unemployment, lower skills, poor health 
outcomes and low educational performance.  

It is well established that while a lack of accessibility can 
constrain and exacerbate these socio-economic challenges, 
investing in city region transport infrastructure can be a 
catalyst for growth; driving up the productivity of existing 
businesses, attracting new and high value economic activity 
to the region and creating new and better-paid employment 
opportunities for local residents. Indeed, recent investments 
in the West Midlands Metro will triple the networks size, 
linking Wolverhampton and Dudley with the heart of 
Birmingham City Centre and carrying 30 million passengers 
per annum, and this unlocking growth and prosperity within 
the corridor. 

Within our proposed CRSTS investment programme, our 
themes of Connecting our Places, and Supporting Inclusive 
Growth both focus on driving productivity and net additional 
growth locally and nationally, as do many projects across the 
remainder of our investment themes. These two themes 
represent a minimum circa £869m of growth-focused 
transport investment over the next 5 years (some 50% of our 
total CRSTS programme).  

Together, this step-change in investment will improve access 
and connections between workers and businesses across 
our region; driving productivity both locally and nationally by 
enhancing business competition, allowing businesses to 
better match with the right suppliers, customers and 
employees, and increasing the likelihood that ideas, 
knowledge and innovations are shared and exchanged 
throughout the West Midlands economy. Our investment 
programme will provide some of our major employment 
locations with access to a deeper and wider pool of skilled 
labour, and at the same time help to make places and 
housing more economically viable in key areas; providing 
people with more freedom to decide where they live and 
work. This will not only help to attract high value and 
globally-mobile investment and jobs to the West Midlands, 
but support existing and new residents to seek out more 
productive, higher paid employment. 

Based on early analysis in the development of our proposed 
programme, we expect the investment of the type and 
ambition proposed under our CRSTS programme could 
potentially deliver an 11-25% improvement in residents’ 
access to employment by public transport over the next 
15 years. As shown in Figure 9, this is expected to deliver 
widespread accessibility benefits across the region, and with 
the greatest improvements within the Birmingham ring road 
and areas served by new Metro schemes and Birmingham 
Business Park. 

Figure 9: Change in the PT accessibility to jobs relative to 
the a Do Minimum scenario  

 

Figure 10 demonstrates how our programmes has the 
potential to drive growth and productivity by targeting 
investment which improves access to current and new 
employment opportunity areas, encourages productivity my 
improving connectivity with educational institutions, and 
unlocks innovation and growth in areas with key value and 
export led sectors.  

Figure 10: Programme interventions by theme, mapped to 
areas of employment deprivation, employment returns and 
residential return sites 

  
Our proposed programme includes investments in rapid 
transit, which will see the sustained operation of the original 
Line 1 between Wolverhampton and Birmingham and the 
completion of the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill metro 
extension, combined with the development of route options 
from Wednesbury to Walsall and the Hagley Road route to 
key employment growth areas in the west of Birmingham 
and the Black Country. 
It also includes critical rail investments at Sutton Park 
railway line and delivery of Aldridge station, the essential 
components of the Midlands Rail hub, including the Snow 
Hill Platform 4 and Kings Norton remodelling which will 
improve the rail connectivity between key employment 
locations and underserved residents of the south and west of 
Birmingham. We will also leverage the arrival of HS2, 
delivering on the master planning activity between Curzon 
Street and Moor Street station to unlock business investment 
and drive up productivity in these prime city centre locations, P

age 307



 

 

 

Pag e |  18 
 

 

and in turn create high value employment opportunities 
which support growth both locally and nationally. 
Underpinning all of this activity will be a programme of 
interchange improvements including rail park and ride to 
support the transition between transport modes and the 
connectivity this brings. Our key centres of Sutton Coldfield 
and Solihull will also see the delivery of new gateways, 
which will provide an attractive and welcoming access point 
whilst also catalysing further investment and regeneration in 
the area.  
Case studies: Both the Coventry Very Light Rail and the A45 
Birmingham to Airport SPRINT are key examples of how 
connecting our places across the West Midlands will unlock 
growth and productivity locally and at the UK level. 

Coventry Very Light Rail is a research and development project, 
using the latest automotive expertise developed in the region to 
deliver an innovative and affordable light rail system, directly 
supporting the West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy. This 
project aims to deliver all of the economic benefits of light rail, but 
at a fraction of the cost, providing a real alternative to the car, and 
boosting key connections between residents and 
employment/educational opportunities. The first route is being 
developed in Coventry to provide a mass transport system for the 
city and prove the concept of VLR in a city centre environment. 
This will connect major employment, commercial, education and 
healthcare sites between the city centre and the newly-improved 
HS2 connected railway station, supporting economic activity and 
productivity growth within the WCMA and across the UK. 

 

A45 Birmingham to Airport SPRINT is a bus-based rapid transit 
(BRT) proposal linking Birmingham city centre with Birmingham 
International Airport, the National Exhibition Centre and Solihull 
town centre along the A45 Coventry Road. It also links to an area 
of significant growth at the HS2 Interchange station site – ‘UK 
Central’ (UKC Hub). It will provide a high reliable and high 
frequency (targeting 95% on time, at 10 min between services at 
the least in the peak), alleviating congestion and connecting 
workers with new employment opportunities, homes, facilities, and 
onward domestic and international connections via the rail and air. 
It will also support growth and regeneration, supporting 
developments in the Birmingham City Centre Enterprise Zone, 
around the new HS2 Curzon Street Station and surrounding 
Masterplan area, development at UK Central, and in Solihull Town 
Centre, significant expected expansion at the JLR Lode Lane 

plant, with a new logistics hub, and new the ‘Environmental 
Enterprise District’ site identified in Birmingham’s ‘Big City Plan’. 
Finally, it is expected to drive productivity through agglomeration 
economies, with a level 1 BCR of 2.9 and a level 2 BCR of 3.6.  

Levelling up connectivity and economic prosperity 
across the West Midlands 

Improving the wellbeing and prosperity of our most deprived 
and vulnerable communities is a key part of levelling up the 
region, such that all West Midlands residents have access to 
the same life chances. Improving transport connectivity – 
particularly via public transport and active travel – plays a 
critical role in opening up those opportunities by reducing 
living costs, improving health and amenity, and importantly 
providing affordable access to work, leisure and educational 
opportunities. In supporting our most disadvantaged 
communities, we can also support significant regeneration of 
our towns and cities by unlocking new affordable housing 
and employment development in the areas that need it most.  

As already set out in Section 3, whilst public transport and 
active travel provides an important means of accessibility for 
those that cannot afford to travel by car, current service 
levels do not meet the needs of certain deprived areas, and 
risks entrenching deprivation by constraining access to 
employment and investment opportunities in these areas. 

Transport inequality between car and public transport can be 
measured by using the gap between the number of jobs 
accessible by those who commute by car and those who 
must rely on active and public transport modes. Figure 11 
below shows that these disadvantages arise in semi-rural 
areas such as Knowle and the Meriden Gap. In these 
locations there is easy access to the motorway network 
extending the range that car commuters can travel. 
However, there is limited public transport service provision, 
which reduces travel horizons for public transport users. 
Areas west of Walsall, which do not have local rail or metro 
connections and must rely on bus as a means of public 
transport, also show high levels of inequality. The lowest 
areas of inequality are found within the centre of Birmingham 
where a high-quality public transport system competes 
against congested roads. 

Figure 11: Level of transport inequality 

 
Based on early analysis in the development of our proposed 
programme, we expect the investment of the type and 
ambition proposed under our CRSTS programme could 
potentially deliver a 2-5% improvement in overall 
transport equality toward public transport and active 
travel over the next 15 years.  
Figure 12 demonstrates how our programme has the 
potential to address the key challenge of levelling up, 
targeting those underserviced and deprived regions such as 
inner-city communities in Birmingham, Wolverhampton and 
Walsall, as well as more rural areas of the WMCA. Within 
these Local Authority areas, the majority of our programme 
interventions are also concentrated in the LSOAs that that 
have higher levels of deprivation and poor accessibility/ 
employment opportunities. This underscores the fact that not 
only is the programme itself targeting areas in need of 
levelling up within the West Midlands, but that significant 
investment in the region will materially contribute to levelling 
up the UK economy overall. 

Figure 12: Programme interventions by theme, mapped to 
areas of index of multiple deprivation  

 

P
age 308



 

 

 

Pag e |  19 
 

 

Both the Smethwick – Birmingham Inclusive Growth Corridor 
and Walsall to Wolverhampton Inclusive Growth corridor are 
key examples of how we will Level Up connectivity and 
economic prosperity for the areas of our region which are 
most in need. 

The Smethwick – Birmingham Inclusive Growth Corridor is 
home to some of the most deprived and vulnerable communities in 
the West Midlands. The transport investment package combines a 
range of sustainable transport measures to increase travel 
horizons to employment and education opportunities. The 
additional capacity provided in the corridor will also help to 
accommodate new housing development and support the 
economic transformation of the corridor. 

 

The Walsall to Wolverhampton Inclusive Growth corridor 
proposals combine multi-modal transport investment to improve 
journey time reliability, increase physical activity and boost 
connectivity for residents in the corridor. The package of measures 
will unlock housing and enable improved access to employment 
and education in Wolverhampton and Walsall as well as providing 
onward connections to improve travel horizons. 

Decarbonising the West Midlands transport network to 
achieve our Net Zero ambitions  

As of 2021, the carbon emissions from cars, LGVs and 
HGVs across the West Midlands amount to 3.443 MtCO2e. 
Under a business-as-usual scenario, this is predicted to fall 
to 3.183 MtCO2e by 2027 (the end of the funding period). 
However, this decarbonisation pathway is not sufficient to 
bring the West Midlands’ transport emissions to net zero by 
2050, with a significant gap of 2.490 MtCO2e at this stage. 
On top of carbon emissions, road transport is also the main 
contributor to NOx and PM 2.5 emissions which deteriorate 
air quality and are detrimental to public health. Hence, there 
is an urgent need for additional transformative interventions 
which accelerate decarbonisation via modal shift and switch 
to zero emission engine sources in vehicles. The CRSTS 
timeframe is the earliest opportunity to make these 
interventions and meet our net zero carbon target by 2041. 

Our proposed programme reduces carbon emissions and air 
pollutants (NOx and PM 2.5) by targeting cars, LGVs and 
HGVs which are the largest contributors by mode and the 

locations which suffer most from air quality issues in West 
Midlands as shown on the map in Figure 13. The 
programmes aim to reduce carbon emissions and air 
pollutants through the following means: 

• Improvement of public transport link and capacity to 
encourage modal shift from private vehicles to public 
transport 

• Strengthening the links of cycling and walking paths to 
public transport and other transport hubs to encourage 
modal shift from private vehicles to active modes of travel 

• Improvement of West Midland’s Key Route Network to 
reduce congestion and therefore emissions from idling 
vehicles on roads 

• Encouraging innovation to enable transition to zero 
emission powertrains for freight lorries 

• Provision of EV charging points to build consumers’ 
confidence in adopting EVs. 

Figure 13: Programme interventions by theme, mapped to 
areas levels of Nitrogen Dioxide 

 

 

Non-quantifiable (to be quantified as scoping matures): 
We expect more carbon-saving benefits can be reaped from 
the modal-shift-oriented interventions, the impact of which 
will be modelled in the near future. Furthermore, with the 
shift from ICE to zero emission vehicles, we also expect a 
proportionate reduction in NOx and PM 2.5 emissions to the 
reduction in carbon emissions.  

Delivering Value for Money 

As presented in section 4 and 5, our CRSTS programme has 
been designed to align with key local and national SMART 
objectives and has gone through a robust sifting process to 
ensure that we deliver on the key objectives of the 
programme. This includes ensuring that Value for Money 
(VfM) is delivered by optimising economic (e.g. travel time, 
vehicle costs), environmental (e.g. noise, air quality and 
greenhouse emissions, landscape) and social (e.g. health, 
safety, accessibility) benefits and costs both locally and 
nationally, as well as targeting projects that can unlock 
growth and productivity, contribute to levelling up our 
economy and society, and decarbonise our 
transport network. 

At this stage, not all projects are designed to a level of 
maturity where a detailed Business Case and Green Book 
economic appraisal has been completed. There are, 
however, a number of key schemes in the programme that 
are at or are progressing towards this stage. 

 

Quantifiable element example: By 2027, which is the end of 
funding period, we have estimated that the EV chargers 
proposed within the programme are able to help drive down 
emissions to 3.140 MtCO2e as opposed to the 3.183 MtCO2e 
baseline. By 2050, we expect that our programme will help drive 
carbon emissions down to 1.056 MtCO2e compared to the 
baseline which currently stands at 2.490 MtCO2e.  

Specifically related to the EV infrastructure element of the 
programme, the social cost of carbon, this will allow us to realise 
c.£423m (c.£16.9m per year from 2022) in carbon saving 
benefits by 2050.  

P
age 309



 

 

 

Pag e |  20 
 

 

Table 8 provides a summary of a mix of key schemes, representative across the six themes of 
our programme. It demonstrates our commitment to both developing and delivering schemes 
and to optimising our overall programme so that we maximise public value both locally and 
nationally, and our commitment to testing these outcomes through a robust Green Book 
compliant busines case process.  

Table 8: VfM summary of key illustrative schemes across the six CRSTS programme themes 

Name Description Key benefits 
BCR (exl 
WEBS) 

Connecting our Places 

The Solihull 
Station Hub 

Major station redevelopment and 
regeneration scheme, creating a 
multimodal transport hub.  

Journey time and reliability savings, 
improved journey experience, health 
and security through active travel and 
urban real enhancements, 
regeneration  

2.2 

Aldridge 
station 

Train station development improving 
connectivity and integrating Aldridge 
with regional economic and housing 
growth prospects. 

Access to high value employment, 
journey time and reliability savings, 
modal substitution, enhanced active 
travel opportunities, reduced 
greenhouse gas emissions 

2.2 

Supporting inclusive growth 

Midland Metro 
East 
Birmingham 
to Solihull 
Extension 

Tramway development providing a 
high-quality public transport 
connection between deprived areas 
and major commercial, employment 
and entertainment precincts.  

Journey time and reliability savings, 
improved journey quality, 
regeneration, agglomeration 
economies, physical activity 
opportunities.  

1.6 

Smethwick-
Birmingham 
Inclusive 
Growth 
Corridor 
Transport 
Package 

Multiple enhancements of a key 
arterial route between the Black 
Country and Birmingham, addressing 
carriageway bottlenecks, public 
transport operation and active mobility. 

Journey time savings, reduced 
greenhouse gas emissions, reduced 
cost of accidents and increased 
safety, active mobility opportunities, 
regeneration. 
 

2.3 

Health Streets and Spaces 

A45 Coventry 
Road Cycle 
Scheme 

Improvement of the cycling 
infrastructure with the creation of 
segregated tracks, priority crossing 

Journey time and reliability savings, 
improvements in air quality, improved 
journey quality and safety, active 

3.3 

Name Description Key benefits 
BCR (exl 
WEBS) 

points and connections to existing 
cycling routes including the Cole 
Valley and Grand Union Canal. 

travel, urban realm enhancements, 
employment opportunities. 

Creating Resilient Networks and Communities 

A45 Coventry 
Road / 
Damson 
Parkway / 
Terminal 
Road 
Junction 
Improvement 

Improvement of a strategic road 
junction with increases in private and 
public transport capacities, and the 
development of active mode 
infrastructures. 

Journey time savings, journey 
experience and security benefitting 
active travel development, economic 
opportunities by improving 
accessibility to major employers. 

3.9 

The Coventry 
North 
Transport 
Package 

Series of transport interventions that 
create a new route, displacing orbital 
journeys from unsuitable residential 
areas, facilitating planned 
developments and enabling growth  

Journey time and reliability savings, 
improved journey experience and 
improvements to urban realm, 
regeneration, employment 
opportunities, productivity gains.  

3.6 

Delivering a Green Revolution 

Black Country 
Ultra Low 
Vehicle 
Emissions 
Strategy 
(ULEV) 

Strategy leveraging electric and low 
emissions vehicle usage, supporting 
public/private vehicle transition, the 
installation of charge points and 
improvements in energy 
infrastructure.  

Reduced greenhouse gas emissions, 
business sector benefits through 
reduced operational cost, improved 
skilled employment opportunities 
,and a catalyst for new investment in 
the local area.  

3.6- 33.6 

Making Behaviour Change Easy 

Smart 
ticketing 
scheme 
(cEMV 
contactless 
payment 
broker) 

Integrated contactless ticketing across 
the transport network with the 
introduction of an advance fare 
system directed at supporting 
behavioural change towards West 
Midlands objectives.  

Time and reliability savings, reduced 
greenhouse gas emissions from 
mode shift, journey quality 
improvements through real time 
passenger information, 
agglomeration economies, and better 
customer experiences from greater 
operator competition.  

3.3 

 

P
age 310



 

 

 

Pag e |  21 
 

 

7 How the programme will be funded 

7.1 Programme Funding 
The total funding requirement 

Our £1.7bn ask from CRSTS would, if fully provided, leverage a further £554m of local 
contributions, which we could raise on the back of this level of investment. This would deliver 
a £2.3bn programme of transport investment over five years from 2022/23 to 2026/27. The 
vast majority of the capital costs of the programme are contained and delivered within the 5-
year CRSTS period and anything that spans past 2027 is limited. We have included where 
appropriate development funding costs within strategic schemes. The annual breakdown of 
the programme by theme is shown in Table 9 below. 

Table 9: Per annum total funding requirement for WM CRSTS Programme by theme 

Theme 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

Supporting Inclusive Growth £83m £90m £99m £69m £31m £372m 

Connecting our Places £43m £334m £146m £191m £176m £889m 

Healthy Streets and Spaces £88m £106m £67m £51m £15m £327m 

Creating Resilient Networks and 
Communities £62m £72m £91m £102m £114m £440m 

Delivering a Green Revolution £21m £26m £43m £27m £8m £124m 

Making Behaviour Change Easy £38m £45m £26m £12m £12m £132m 

Data & Programmes £3m £3m £3m £3m £3m £13m 

Total £337m £675m £473m £453m £360m £2,297m  

Proposed scale of Government’s funding contribution  

Table 10 summarises the proposed phasing of funding and split between central government 
CRSTS contributions and those raised locally. 

Table 10: Proposed split of local and central government funding for WM CRSTS 

Total Funding Requirement 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

Central Government Funding £289m £446m £337m £355m £316m £1,743m 

Local Government Funding contribution £48m £229m £136m £98m £43m £554m 

Total £337m £675m £473m £453m £360m £2,297m  

Proposed local funding contribution 

In recent years the West Midlands Combined Authority and constituent local authorities have 
put in place a series of positive progressive measures to generate local revenues for transport 
– for example Birmingham’s Clean Air Zone and bus lane enforcement. These have involved 
us making some difficult decisions to balance the needs of road users with negative 
externalities associated with traffic and congestion. 

Against this background the WMCA and Local Authorities have together assembled a 
significant package of funding that commits up to £554m of local contribution towards the 
CRSTS programme, alongside our £1,743m funding ask of Government net of existing 
highways maintenance funding of £120m, this amounts to a 34% local contribution comprising 
locally generated revenue streams, CA borrowing against future farebox revenues, and 
private sector contributions – wholly additional to Government’s contribution. 

This is an ambitious package of measures – and materially exceeds even HMG’s higher 
bound range of targeted local contribution for CRSTS. This demonstrates the level of 
commitment we in the West Midlands have to transport, the endeavour we have made to 
source local contributions, and the consensus across the CA, local authorities and private 
enterprise around the essential need for a step change in investment in the West Midlands. 

The key components of our local funding contribution over the next five years are: 

Local Authority contributions: around £210m committed from discretionary local authority 
revenue streams including: 

• £70m earned from the growth in business rates generated within Birmingham City Centre 
Enterprise Zone, reinvested in a package of initiatives to improve multi-modal access to 
the zone, cycleways and pedestrian routes 

• £15m from Birmingham’s new Clean Air Zone and bus lane enforcement to fund the Selly 
Oak to Longbridge segregated cycle route, and a package of improved signage, cycle 
parking, the widening of footpaths at district and town centres across Birmingham 

• almost £125m match funding against the local network improvement plans funded out of 
general council budgets.P

age 311



 

 

 

Pag e |  22 
 

 

West Midlands Combined Authority contributions: 
almost £246m of WMCA borrowing, supported by future net 
operating surpluses from Metro Line 1 and incremental 
revenues generated from the Birmingham Eastside, 
Edgbaston, Centenary Square and Wednesbury to Brierley 
Hill Metro Extensions. This borrowing will be reinvested in 
the Metro system to fund: 

• essential renewals to sustain operations on the (now 20-
year old) Line 1 between Wolverhampton and 
Birmingham 

• the completion of the 11km Wednesbury to Brierley Hill 
metro extension 

• the Birmingham Eastside Extension connecting the 
network to the new HS2 station at Curzon Street. 

Private sector contributions: almost £98m of contributions 
from the private sector including: 

• section 106 contributions towards vital cycleway and 
road improvements linking key commercial and 
residential sites such as the Keresley Sustainable Urban 
Extension and the Gigafactory development near 
Coventry 

• private operators covering the cost of new vehicles for 
the next phase of our SPRINT Bus Rapid Transit network 

• match funding for 10 new Ultra Rapid Charging Transit 
Stations, and payments in lieu of the commercial 
revenues earned through charging. 

This package of local measures amounts to a very 
significant contribution to the overall CRSTS programme. It 
is contingent on the commitment from Government matching 
the scale of our ambition for transport investment over the 
next five years. Together we believe we can deliver almost 
£2.3bn of new transport investment. 

7.2 Our fiscal sustainability plan  
The Combined Authority’s current exposure to revenue and 
operating risk is limited to its wholly owned subsidiary 
Midland Metro Limited (MML), the operating arm of the 
Metro system. 

Predictably, COVID-19 has had a detrimental impact on 
passenger numbers – during the most severe periods of the 
pandemic, passenger numbers decreased to 8% of normal 
operating levels. However, in recent months, passenger 
numbers on the Metro have recovered to 70% of pre-
pandemic levels largely due to MML’s customers typically 
being in ‘blue collar’ and ‘key worker’ industries. 

All surpluses generated by MML are re-invested into the 
network. Indeed, further planned extensions to Edgbaston, 
the HS2 site and the Black Country will in part be supported 
by borrowing WMCA plans to undertake secured against 
farebox takings from the significantly expanded route. 

The borrowing projections are underpinned by a detailed 
financial model which extrapolates out the MML business 
plan costs and revenues to determine an affordable level of 
borrowing. This financial model is continually refined and 
reviewed to reflect the latest forward forecasts for interest 
rates, inflation, passenger numbers and variances in the 
capital costs of the investment. The match funding 
referenced in the previous section refers to borrowing which 
WMCA has agreed to undertake – the actual value of match 
funding will be subject to the latest outputs of the financial 
model at the point the investment decision needs to be made 
but the principle that all operating surpluses are invested into 
the network holds true. 

The only other significant scheme involving revenue and 
operating risk is the Coventry Very Light Rail Route One. 
Demand modelling estimates strong ridership on the 
proposed route through the City centre – on this basis we 
expect the scheme to be financially sustainable, operating 
on a commercial basis without the need for financial subsidy. 
Potential commercial partnerships are being explored as the 
R&D phase of the project progresses and the project 
partners look to move into the operational phase, with 
continued strong interest in the project from both public and 
private sectors in the UK and beyond. 

Ongoing revenue costs for the remaining projects are 
expected to be met through local resources and that will be 
properly assessed and established as the schemes progress 
through the assurance stages. 

7.3 Alignment with other funding 
programmes 

The CRSTS programme is central to a wider and more 
complex overall Transport Investment Programme for the 
West Midlands. The programme themes within it have been 
co-developed with the overarching delivery themes for our 
refreshed Local Transport Plan and are one and the same 
approach. Our recently submitted Active Travel bids, 
Levelling Up Fund submissions and developing Bus Service 
Improvement Plan sit seamlessly within these themes. There 
is no duplication of asks between them.  

All of the active travel schemes are incremental to each 
other – focusing on delivering whole corridor benefits and 
are physically mapped and designed alongside all other 
interventions (committed and planned) in that corridor. This 
is a typical example of our programme design philosophy, 
which will be fully codified and adopted as part of our 
refreshed Local Transport Plan. This will be explicitly set out 
in the series of four Area Based Delivery and Implementation 
Strategies which will focus on the interpretation of the 
overarching LTP policies and strategies into a 10-year 
detailed and prioritised area-based delivery plan. They will 
set out the order and phasing of schemes over this period, 
relative priorities for road space allocation and detailed 
interaction of schemes with housing, land and wider 
regeneration policies. TfWM will draw these up under a 
common framework, but working hand and glove with each 
relevant Local Authority who will lead the development of the 
content.  

Our BSIP proposals also twin with the CRSTS and active 
travel proposals – with the same approach to integrated 
planning. Within CRSTS we are bringing forward a series of 
multi-modal corridors that will deliver targeted road space re-
allocation to support bus and active travel, as well as 
addressing key pinch points which compromise overall 
public transport reliability. We will enhance our bus-based 
park and ride offer, strengthen the key bus based rapid 
transit corridors that are at the heart of our overarching 
network strategy and focus on key multi-mode interchange 
points. In addition to the over £700m of bus related schemes 
within CRSTS, it will deliver a step change in the first-last 

P
age 312



 

 

 

Pag e |  23 
 

 

mile solutions needed to support a viable bus network as 
well as enhance the rail based mass transit solutions which 
can take pressure off our most congested bus corridors.  

In tandem to CRSTS, our BSIP submission will focus on 
improving the quality of the vehicles, further targeted road 
space reallocation for buses, service reform and moving us 
more fully towards a sustainable financial footing for bus 
services in the West Midlands. Together both BSIP and 
CRSTS will enable us to recover fare box revenues and 
patronage and move beyond pre-COVID design concept for 
the public transport system towards a new integrated 
approach which blends demand responsive, micromobility, 
mass transit and conventional bus planning in order to 
achieve a truly compelling alternative to private single 
occupancy car use. This will include greater integration of 
existing public transport modes as well as the development 
of new ones, including physical integration as well as 
ticketing and timetabling.  

There is limited transport content in the region’s Levelling 
Up Fund submissions, with the notable exception of the 
WMCA’s own submission for the Metro Depot (£50m). This 
is not replicated in the CRSTS and is absolutely required as 
set out in that submission and business case. If not funded it 
would become a further pressure on the CRSTS 
programme, with consequent impacts on ambition and 
outcomes set out in this submission. 

We recognise that CRSTS is a positive step towards a truly 
integrated single multi-year consolidated funding approach. 
With this in mind we have been careful to include some 
contribution towards critical activities which we anticipate will 
be mostly funded from other national funding pots, 
including Local Large Majors, Major Road Network funding 
and Midlands Rail Hub. If HMG is to require local 
contributions to these schemes and funding sources it is 
important to appreciate that given the consolidated nature of 
the current CRSTS programme scope it will be the main 
source for any such local contribution to these pots. Whilst 
we have been able to assemble a very strong local 
contribution element against the CRSTS scheme, this is 
drawn from schemes which have very direct and immediate 
physical relationships to development sites and regeneration 
schemes. In contrast, whilst utterly essential, the broader 

strategic nature of these other funds means a different 
approach is required – hence inclusion of this in the 
proposed CRSTS programme. 

Looking more widely than transport, the CRSTS programme 
has direct synergies with investment in the wider WMCA 
Investment programme and across HMG priorities, including: 

• HS2: improving connectivity to both HS2 stations through 
new Sprint and Metro routes, and improved access for 
walking, cycling and public transport.  

• Commonwealth Games: building on committed 
investment by DCMS in and around Perry Barr, including 
£165m for housing development. 

• West Midlands 5G: technology and learning from the 
c.£18m pathfinder programme for 5G applications will be 
directly exploited e.g. the Regional Transport 
Coordination centre. 

• Priority Sites Land Fund / Brownfield Fund: direct 
alignment of CRSTS schemes with key growth corridors 
will complement £100m of MHCLG funding to unlock site 
specific regeneration, and £84m of MHCLG/HMT funding 
for stalled brownfield housing sites.   

• Adult Education & Digital Skills: A total existing budget 
of £132m in 2021/22 and going forward will be aligned 
wherever possible to support CRSTS and transport 
objectives. 

• Town Centres Fund: Our £138m programme will deliver 
benefits into Wolverhampton, West Bromwich, 
Smethwick and Rowley centres and will be directly 
supported by the accessibility enhancements bought 
forward under the CRSTS programme.  

• Coventry Electric Bus: Investment via CRSTS and 
BSIP will reinforce £128m to transform the carbon 
footprint of public transport across Coventry and Solihull. 

There are many more examples of how we have carefully 
chosen the schemes within our CRSTS programme to align 
with wider funding programmes, regional and national 
objectives for carbon reduction, and to support growth and 
enterprise. These are set out in more detail in the Appendix. 

P
age 313



 

 

 

Pag e |  24 
 

 

8 How we will deliver 
at pace and scale 

Introduction 

The delivery of the CRSTS programme will build on the 
WMCA’s robust and well-established governance and 
decision-making process for transport investments. This has 
been developed and strengthened following the agreement 
of our two devolution deals in 2015 and 2017, and during 
delivery of our £8 billion 30-year Investment Programme.  

We have been working hard since last year to refresh and 
enhance our processes in anticipation of CRSTS, with wholly 
new Assurance, Risk Management and Monitoring & 
Evaluation frameworks and capabilities now in place that are 
fit for purpose given the scale of investment over the next 
five years (see the Appendix). Indeed, the independent 
review of our capability and capacity conducted earlier this 
year for HM Treasury pointed to strong alignment between 
investments and regional strategies, consistent delivery and 
programme management, and strong governance and 
assurance processes. 

At the heart of our process to allocate public funding is the 
West Midlands Single Assurance Framework (SAF). This 
applies to all capital proposals and ensures consistency of 
approach, standards, appraisal, assurance and decision-
making across all funding pots. Our internal framework will 
be supplemented with any CRSTS-specific HMG conditions 
or oversight processes. 

The WMCA’s newly developed Strategic Risk Management 
Framework will apply to CRSTS at a programme level. For 
individual schemes, all approvals via SAF above £1 million 
are subjected to our well-established Risk & Investment 
Appraisal. 

We have a well-developed Monitoring & Evaluation (M&E) 
capability that builds on requirements from the 2017 
Devolution Deal – indeed, a recent independent review for 
HM Treasury commended the WMCA on having 
strengthened our processes over time through a culture of 

learning from previous projects. TfWM has developed a 
single overarching M&E Framework for transport. We have 
set aside 0.5% of total CRSTS funding for M&E activities 
relating to the programme, amounting to £6m over five 
years. 

Local delivery capacity 

The WMCA, TfWM and their pre-cursors (the West Midlands 
Public Transport Authority and Passenger Transport 
Executive) have a delivery track record spanning several 
decades. The skills, processes and mechanisms we now 
have in place have been refined and strengthened over 
many successfully delivered small and large-scale capital 
projects. Our current and recent project experience include: 

• West Side Extension (£150m) to Centenary Square 
(opened in 2019) and on to Edgbaston (opening in 
2021): The Midland Metro Alliance (WMCA, a consortium 
of engineering design teams and a contractor) have 
delivered the first extension to Centenary Square ahead of 
schedule and are currently delivering two more 
extensions. This rolling programme has reduced our 
procurement risk and allowed us to embed deep expertise. 
As a result, the Line 1 renewals will be ready to progress 
as soon as further funding is secured. 

• Sprint Phase 1: Due to complete in spring 2022, ahead 
of the Commonwealth Games. It is critical that the small 
but highly skilled (and sought-after) Phase 1 delivery 
team are transitioned smoothly and efficiently to Phase 2 
of the Sprint programme. Securing funding and retaining 
key members of the team will save significant time and 
cost. 

• West Midlands Rail Programme: Two stations at 
University and Perry Barr are in delivery and due to open 
in advance of the Commonwealth Games. Both these 
projects have been externally audited and received 
positive assessments. We are applying the lessons 
learned to our other projects in the programme – for 
example through the implementation of progressive 
assurance on the University project, which has 
substantially improved the schedule without 
compromising quality. Maintaining a strong pipeline of 

work will be vital in ensuring that the West Midlands 
builds on this existing experience and capability. 

We also commit to spending 1% of each capital scheme on 
capitalisable Travel Demand Management measures drive 
desirable behavioural change and maximise scheme 
benefits. 

Individual Local Authorities in the West Midlands also have 
extensive experience of delivering local road, bus, 
interchange and active travel schemes. Examples include: 

• Lode Lane Route Enhancement (£4.7m, SMBC): a 
package of route improvements including bus and cycle 
lanes, bus priority signals, cycle crossing facilities and 
bus stop improvements. The project was completed in 
Autumn 2016 on time and on budget. 

• A45 Coventry Road South Bridge (£10m, SMBC): a 
replacement three-lane road-over-rail bridge used by 
around 30,000 vehicles a day. To minimise disruption to 
road users, part of the new bridge was built next to the 
old bridge to carry traffic while the old bridge was 
demolished. SMBC worked in partnership with a range of 
stakeholders to minimise disruption. The project won the 
‘Outstanding Project’ category in the UK Rail Industry 
Awards 2016 and the Celebrating Construction 2017 
West Midlands Project of the Year for Civil Engineering. 

• Ashted Circus (£8.1m, BCC): new traffic signal-
controlled junctions on the Ring Road in Birmingham as 
well as enhanced facilities for pedestrians and cyclists 
and improved access to the Enterprise Zone in 
Birmingham. The scheme has improved connectivity and 
reduced congestion levels – and was delivered below its 
allocated budget. 

• Selly Oak New Road (£62m, BCC): the construction of a 
new road through existing railway and canal 
embankments to the south of University Station, Selly 
Oak. A ‘two-bridge’ option was selected based on risk, 
whole life cost and design aesthetics. Public and 
stakeholder feedback has been very complimentary and 
the scheme has won numerous industry awards. 

Given the breadth and scale of projects completed and 
currently being delivered by the WMCA, TfWM and 

P
age 314



 

 

 

Pag e |  25 
 

 

constituent Local Authorities, we are confident that we have 
the capacity and capability in place to meet the challenge of 
delivering a programme of investment on the scale of 
CRSTS. 

Our approach to consultation and local engagement to 
support delivery 

Engagement with the public is an essential part of the 
design and delivery of TfWM’s services. Activities cover 
everything from surveys tracking the performance of the 
transport system, to gathering feedback on new transport 
policy and strategy or commenting on major infrastructure 
proposals such as Sprint. We have used this information to 
shape the CRSTS transport programme. 

We have surveyed over 12,000 residents over five phases of 
engagement relating to travel behaviours during and after 
the pandemic. Separately, our quarterly Travel Trends and 
Behaviours Tracking Survey (TTABS) monitors travel 

patterns amongst local residents and their opinions on 
different modes of travel. 

The pandemic has accelerated the use of digital platforms to 
engage with the public. Our Keeping the West Midlands 
Moving initiative is a thriving online community of over 1,000 
residents who share their views on key transport issues. 
Commonplace, an independent online engagement platform, 
allows residents to give their views Active Travel 
Fund proposals. 

For individual schemes, detailed and comprehensive 
stakeholder engagement processes will be (or have already 
been) followed for development and approval – including 
extensive consultation with political and civic leaders, 
alongside statutory consultees, contractors and delivery 
partners. For example, as part of designing, refining and 
obtaining planning permission for the Metro expansions, a 
number of consultation exercises were undertaken which 
met and exceeded statutory requirements for obtaining all 
necessary planning consents. 

Engagement with constituent local authorities on 
oversight of highways is via our well-established Highways 
Infrastructure Managers Group. This forum allows sharing of 
data, asset management and renewal plans and winter 
service plans in an open environment. This collaborative 
effort supports our ambition for a well-managed, well-
maintained and fit for the future highways network. 

We have also significant levels of engagement with local 
constituents through our work on the Key Route Network. 
The local authorities have been at the forefront of supporting 
the development of regional action plans through regular and 
sustained dialogue. The development and opening of the 
regional transport coordination centre has attracted 
significant support from local authorities. Further, the 
inclusion of regional delivery packages in CRSTS has been 
supported through our regional road safety partnership and 
our strategic transport leads from across all local authorities. 

.

P
age 315



 

 

 

  

P
age 316





 
 

Briefing note  
  

 

To:        Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board 3                           Date: Sept 2021 
 
Subject:  Appendix 3 – Let’s Talk survey results 
 

 

 

1 Background and methodology  
1.1 Coventry City Council are in the process of developing a new Transport Strategy. To inform 

this work, an initial survey of residents has been carried out via the Council’s online 
consultation platform, Let’s Talk. This document provides a summary of the Let’s Talk 
survey results. 

1.2 The Let’s Talk survey was carried out between 3 February and 7 March 2021. 

1.3 Survey questions were mostly open and were intended to capture residents’ views on the 
city’s current transport network and on their aspirations for the future. This is in advance of 
a more detailed public consultation being carried out on a draft strategy. 

1.4 In total 262 people completed the survey. The vast majority of these (256) were responding 
as individuals, with only a very small number of responses (6) coming from organisations. 

2 Executive summary 
2.1 This section provides a brief summary of the main headlines from the Let’s Talk survey. A 

more detailed analysis of the results is provided in section 3.  

2.2 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system works well, residents most 
commonly mentioned: 

• the city’s comprehensive bus network. While many respondents also suggested that some 
services could be more frequent, more reliable or more affordable, most comments in 
response to this question were still broadly favourable 

• recent/planned improvements to cycle infrastructure. Many respondents were keen to see 
more of this in the future 

• the city’s good rail connections, particularly the frequent services to London and 
Birmingham 

• the ease with which motorists can move from one part of the city to another, facilitated by 
the Ring Road 

• the pedestrianisation of much of the city centre, particularly the areas around Coventry 
Railway Station and Coventry University. 
 

2.3 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system requires improvement, 
residents most commonly mentioned: 

• the lack of safe space for cyclists 

• congestion on the road network 

• a lack of safe, attractive or suitable spaces for pedestrians, outside of the city centre  

• infrequent or unreliable bus services 

• gaps in the bus network or a lack of direct bus services between particular places 

• a lack of car parking or the cost of car parking 

• issues with junction design at particular locations, most commonly the on/off slip roads on 
the Ring Road. 

Page 317



 2 

 
2.4 When residents were asked to name a town or city with a good transport system, the most 

popular choice was London because of its comprehensive and affordable public transport 
network and its good facilities for cyclists.  

2.5 Other popular choices included Amsterdam (and various other cities in the Netherlands) 
Birmingham, Manchester, Nottingham and Copenhagen. The reasons given for choosing 
these cities were generally similar – a good public transport network (including a 
metro/tram/underground system) and good facilities for cyclists. 

2.6 Residents’ top priorities for the Transport Strategy are making walking and cycling easier, 
reducing air pollution, improving public transport and tackling climate change.  

2.7 Residents’ most common suggestions when asked to name something which should 
definitely be in the Transport Strategy were more cycleways, or other measures to make 
cycling safer, and the creation of a Very Light Rail/tram/metro/underground system. 

3 Full analysis of survey results 
3.1 A fuller summary of residents’ responses to each survey question is set out below. This is 

not an exhaustive list of all responses but is intended to highlight the recurring themes that 
emerged from the responses to each question. 

3.2 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think 
currently works well? Think about all forms of transport. What should we keep 
doing/do more of? 

3.3 Public transport 

There were a high number of responses to this question relating to public transport.  

In particular, there were lots of comments (53) about the frequency, reliability and coverage 
of the city’s bus network. Most of these were broadly positive, although some also 
suggested that some services could still be made more frequent, more reliable or more 
affordable. 

“Buses seem to be able to get in and out (of the city centre) reasonably well and cover 
most areas”  

“Bus services, with some exceptions, have good frequency and accessibility to (the) city 
centre but less so to hospital and employment destinations” 

“Bus services are generally good, but need a more regular service outside peak times” 

“The bus network, whilst the coverage is good, doesn’t always perform reliably” 

“The busses are very expensive, but the routes seem to work well” 

There were also a number of positive comments (12) about the new electric buses, which 
are now operating on some routes. 

“Bus routes are generally good. The fact that they are electric busses is very good” 

In addition, there were also a high number of comments (24) about the city’s rail 
connections, particularly the frequent services to London and Birmingham. 

“Train frequency is good in the most part” 

“Good railway links to London and Birmingham (and thus to the rest of the UK from these 
nodes)” 

3.4 Active travel 

There were also a large number of comments relating to active travel.  

Page 318



 3 

In particular, a high number of respondents (42) were positive about recent/planned 
improvements to cycle infrastructure and wanted to see more of this in the future. 

“I have used the temporary cycleway on Charter Avenue and I look forward to the Coundon 
cycleway. I love cycling” 

“I know that two cycle ways are being built, this network needs to be expanded to cover all 
areas of the city” 

“We have some good cycle routes, we need more of them and they need to join up” 

“New cycleways on Barkers Butts Ln and Binley Rd will be great! The plans and progress 
look really good, glad to see they're fully segregated” 

“The new canal towpath surface is amazing. It has made the cycle into Bedworth (for work) 
much safer and enjoyable” 

A number of respondents (15) also commented on the pedestrianisation of sections of the 
city centre, saying that this had created a better environment for walking. Respondents 
specifically mentioned the areas around Coventry Railway Station and Coventry University. 

“The pedestrianised centre of the city is great, it's much more pleasant to be able to walk 
around without cars” 

“The walking route from the train station into town is great and is a pleasure to use” 

“(The) Pedestrianised city centre was ahead of its time. (The) train station to city centre 
walking route (is now) much more attractive” 

3.5 Car travel 

There were also a significant number of comments about car travel. 

Of these, a large number (22) related specifically to the Ring Road, which respondents felt 
facilitated the movement of traffic between different parts of the city effectively. 

“Getting from one side of the city to the other is relatively efficient… The Coventry Ring 
Road, whilst much maligned, does a good job here” 

“The Ring Road has always worked well at moving traffic from one radial road to another” 

There were also a smaller number of comments in support of: 

• the rollout of average speed cameras (10) 

• the relative lack of congestion on the city’s road network (7) 

• proximity to the motorway network (6) 

• ease of access to the city centre and the availability of city centre car parking (6). 

There were both positive (9) and negative (5) comments about the removal of bus lanes. 

3.6 Other comments 

There were also a group of respondents (16) who felt that there was nothing, or very little, 
that works well about the current transport system. 

“Honestly, nothing works well. Traffic is too congested for cars, public transport is not 
connected enough and takes too long, cycling is too dangerous”  

3.7 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think 
works less well? Again, think about all forms of transport. What should we improve? 

3.8 Active travel 

The largest number of responses to this question related to active travel. 

A very large number of these (89) related specifically to the lack of safe spaces for cyclists. 

Page 319



 4 

“Compared to other similar sized and located cities… cycling infrastructure is woeful in 
Coventry. More people would be cycling if the infrastructure was there, people don't cycle 
due to being afraid of cycling on the roads” 

“Roads (are) unsuitable and often dangerous for cycling” 

“The city is relatively compact - easily within cycling distance - but many routes are just too 
dangerous to cycle” 

“Getting around Coventry by bicycle is not a pleasant or safe feeling thing to do” 

Related to this, some respondents (11) also mentioned a lack of cycle parking facilities. 

“(The) lack of bike parking at shops or in parks is a problem” 

A significant number of respondents (21) also cited a lack of safe, attractive and suitable 
infrastructure for pedestrians. More specific comments included concerns about pedestrian 
underpasses, a lack of pedestrian crossings on busy roads and poorly maintained 
pavements. 

“Ring Road pedestrian underpasses are unattractive and a blight on the city” 

“Pedestrian & cycle access into the city centre is poor - at almost every point where the 
Ring Road needs to be traversed the experience is off putting” 

“The A45 is such a barrier to active transport. There are so few crossing points and those 
that do exist favour motor transport over cyclists and pedestrians” 

“Pavements (are) not well maintained in a lot of areas” 

3.9 Car travel 

There were also a large number of responses to this question relating to car travel. 

The majority (48) of these related to congestion. Respondents cited a variety of different 
causes of congestion, including the sheer volume of cars on the road, the impact of traffic 
lights at key junctions and the number of HGVs operating on certain parts of the network. 

“Car traffic is terrible at peak times” 

“Most routes into and out of the city have key ‘pinch points’ which slow the flow of traffic 
considerably... Also when there is an accident on the M6, every route into and out of town 
grinds to a standstill” 

“When there are more cars back on the road again, the sheer volume of traffic is just too 
much. We need to encourage more people to cycle or use public transport” 

“(There are) too many traffic lights on the main routes into the city centre causing delays 
and congestion” 

“Lorries in and around Allesley are having a real impact on road services” 

A number of respondents (16) also raised concerns about either the cost or availability of 
car parking. Various specific locations were mentioned, including the city centre, University 
Hospital and Tile Hill Railway Station. 

“(There is a lack of) affordable parking for people who work in the city centre or at the 
hospital” 

“Car parking can be an issue at busy times in (the) city centre” 

Several respondents (15) also criticised junction layouts at specific locations. These most 
commonly related to the on/off slip-roads on the Ring Road, however various other 
locations were also mentioned. 

“People (from) out of Coventry hate the Ring Road junctions and avoid Coventry as a 
shopping and leisure destination” 

Page 320



 5 

“The Ring Road is absolutely appalling, but is virtually the only way to traverse the city” 

“Many roundabouts (are) poorly designed and drivers can't understand how they work” 

In addition, there were also a smaller number of comments relating to: 

• air pollution (11) 

• traffic speeds (10) 

• lack of enforcement of parking restrictions, particularly pavement parking (10) 

• potholes/poor maintenance of road surfaces (6).  

3.10 Public transport 

There were fewer responses to this question relating to public transport. 

However, the greatest number of these related to either infrequent or unreliable bus 
services (20) or gaps in the bus network/a lack of direct bus services between particular 
places (18). 

“Bus services (are) too infrequent, especially (at) evenings and weekends” 

“Buses are not regular and do not meet their schedules” 

“To go to another area of Coventry nearly all journeys involve (a) change of bus” 

“In general, I think the buses are pretty good but they don't really work if you have to 
change” 

“Bus routes don't run regularly to (the) hospital outside of 9-5pm, making their use for 
workers hard” 

A number of respondents (11) also mentioned the cost of travelling on public transport. 

“Bus (services are) too infrequent, and too expensive. (When a) family of four trip to town 
(costs) £8... why wouldn't you just drive?” 

“Another drawback to using buses is the one-off price, £2 I think to go even just one or two 
stops. This encourages people to drive short distances” 

A smaller number of respondents mentioned the continuing presence of diesel/petrol buses 
and taxis (9) and infrequent or unreliable train services (6). 

3.11 Question: Is there another town or city you have visited that you think had good 
transport opportunities? Please briefly tell us where you visited and what was good 
about it 

Respondents mentioned a wide variety of different towns and cities with good transport 
systems. However, London (34) was the place which was highlighted most frequently. 
Respondents particularly praised its comprehensive and affordable public transport 
network, with joined up ticketing, and its cycling facilities. 

“Cycling in London is actually really good, (it is) well signposted and the cycle super-
highways are excellent”  

“Some of the cycle paths in London are awesome. They are segregated from both 
pedestrians and motor vehicles. They have their own traffic lights” 

“London buses are fab. (You pay a) flat fare, (and) travel as far as you like” 

“Use of the Oyster card and excellent public transport means most people never use a car, 
and many don't even own a car” 

“London has a fantastic one ticket (system covering) all forms of (public) transport” 

“Fast, cheap and easy. Everyone takes public transport because it's the easiest option” 

Page 321



 6 

Within the UK, Birmingham (18), Manchester (12) and Nottingham (10) were all also 
popular choices. Several respondents highlighted their respective metro/tram systems and 
their cycling facilities: 

“Birmingham has great transport opportunities with trams, dedicated cycle lanes… and a 
good suburban train network, along with many bus routes to all corners of the city” 

“The cycle provision there (in Manchester) was great. Drivers (are) physically separated 
from cyclists… (and) the tram network was fast and reliable” 

“The tram network in Manchester is excellent. It has great connectivity and goes to all 
areas” 

“(The) tram network (in Nottingham) is good for a city its size” 

Many respondents also mentioned various European cities, the most common of which 
were various cities in the Netherlands (33). Respondents mostly cited Amsterdam, however 
Arnhem, Breda, Groningen, Leiden and Rotterdam were all also mentioned. Respondents 
commonly cited the excellent cycle facilities in these cities and the Dutch culture of cycling, 
as well as their good public transport services. 

“Joined up public transport offering, priority given to cycles and pedestrians over private 
cars. The public transport was frequent, clean, and you felt safe” 

“The public’s transport and cycling provision are world class” 

“Cycling is so easy there, bikes are given at least equal priority to cars everywhere, which 
means everyone cycles. The segregated cycle lanes are great! Particularly helpful as well 
is how easy it is to transfer from cycling to public transport and back again, with lots of 
secure bike parking” 

“Both the cycling and public transport infrastructure, I believe, make Amsterdam the gold 
standard in getting around in a safe and greener way” 

Outside of the Netherlands, a number or respondents (12) identified Copenhagen, for 
similar reasons. 

“My favourite cities with regards to transport are Copenhagen and Amsterdam. The cycling 
infrastructure encourages all levels and all ages to cycle. Families can cycle safely” 

“Cycling is extremely easy and safe, so everyone, from kids to old ladies, do it on a daily 
basis. Separated cycle paths go everywhere, including lots of routes that are for cycling 
and walking only.” 

“Cycle paths on every road and an excellent circular rail/metro system allowing easy 
access to all areas of the city” 

3.12 Question: Which of the following do you think are the most important for us to 
consider in relation to transport in Coventry. Please choose three only 

Respondents were asked to choose their top three from a selection of possible policy 
priorities. When ranked from the most to least popular choices, these were: 

• making walking and cycling easier (170) 

• reducing air pollution (147) 

• improving public transport (144) 

• tackling climate change (93) 

• preventing road traffic accidents (66) 

• better connecting Coventry to the rest of the country (54) 

• improving access to employment opportunities (48) 

Page 322



 7 

• enabling new jobs to be created (46) 

• enabling new technology (e.g. driverless cars) (37) 

• enabling new homes to be built (13). 

3.13 Question: What one thing do you think we absolutely should include in the strategy? 

Respondents made a wide variety of suggestions when asked for something that should 
definitely be included in the strategy. These were a mix of specific policy suggestions and 
broad areas for improvement. 

However, the most common, recurring choices were: 

• more cycleways/safer cycling (58) 

• Very Light Rail/trams/metro/underground (24) 

• improved public transport (in general terms) (14) 

• reduced air pollution (13) 

• reduced car dependency (12) 

• safer/better walking routes for pedestrians (11) 

• more/more affordable/free car parking (9) 

• improved provision for motorcycles/motorcycle parking (8) 

• reduced congestion (8) 

• climate change (8) 

• improvements to walking and cycling (mentioned in general terms) (8) 

• electric buses (7). 

 

David Pipe 
Senior Officer, Transport Strategy 
david.pipe@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Page 323

mailto:david.pipe@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank




 

 
Public report 

 
Cabinet report 

 
 
 

 

  
 

Cabinet 12 October 2021 
Council 18 October 2021
  
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change – Councillor J O’Boyle  
 
Ward(s) affected:  
City-wide  
 
Director Approving Submission of the report:  
Director of Transportation and Highways  
 
Title: Coventry Very Light Rail 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum and are likely to 

have a significant impact on residents or businesses two or more electoral wards in the 
city. 

 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
Coventry’s Strategic Transport Investment Strategy ‘Connecting Coventry’, approved by Council 
in January 2017, aims to maximise the economic potential of the city through investment in 
transport infrastructure to support growth and jobs. It set out an ambitious £620m programme 
over the next ten years to improve the resilience of the road network, ensuring connectivity to job 
opportunities, expansion of railway capacity, including Coventry Very Light Rail (CVLR) and 
linking key development and employment sites.  
 
A progress report in March 2018 provided an update on how the strategy had progressed and 
sought further approvals to take forward the schemes in the Strategy to delivery. A further report 
will be tabled at today’s Cabinet to provide an update on Coventry’s Transport Strategy, and to 
report on the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement submission recently approved by the 
West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) for submission to Government.  Crucially, this 
makes provision for securing funding for the CVLR project for the 2022-27 period, subject to 
Government approval. 
 
This report provides a brief progress update on CVLR, a flagship project for the Council.  The 
project is supported by Transport for West Midlands (TfWM) and has gained national and global 
interest. Appendix 1 outlines the VLR vision, progress to date, next steps and evidence of 
progress. To showcase the city’s position as a world class centre for innovation, it is proposed to 
bring forward delivery of a City Centre CVLR Demonstrator. The CVLR team will explore the 
viability of delivering the infrastructure required to operate a city demonstrator between the 
Railway Station and Pool Meadow. 

Page 325

Agenda Item 8



 

 

The purpose of this report is to outline the capital investment required to deliver the first route, 
the funding opportunities currently identified, together with the project’s funding requirements for 
the 2021/22 financial year. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council: 
 

1) Approve up to £3.2m from corporate reserves to CVLR programme activities to maintain 
programme which is working towards a delivery of a first route for Coventry at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
2) Subject to approval of recommendation 1), delegate authority to the Director of Finance, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to 
determine the final allocation from corporate resources once the outcome of funding bids 
are known. 
 

3) Delegates authority to the Director of Transportation and Highways, following consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate 
Change, to finalise and negotiate the terms of, and enter into, the relevant legal agreements 
as well as any associated documents deemed necessary pursuant to the procurements in 
relation to the CVLR activities. 

 
Council is requested to: 
 

1)   Approve the allocation of up to £3.2m corporate reserves to CVLR programme activities to 
maintain programme which is working towards a delivery of a first route for Coventry at 
the earliest opportunity. 

 
2) Subject to approval of recommendation 1), delegate authority to the Director of Finance, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to 
determine the final allocation from corporate resources once the outcome of funding bids 
are known. 
 

3) Delegate authority to the Director of Transportation and Highways, following consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate 
Change, to finalise and negotiate the terms of, and enter into, the relevant legal agreements 
as well as any associated documents deemed necessary pursuant to the procurements in 
relation to the CVLR activities. 

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1: VLR vision, progress to date, next steps and evidence of progress. 
 
Background papers: 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
Council: Implementing the Devolution Agreement – Provision for Mayoral West Midlands 
Combined Authority 31 May, 2016 
Cabinet: City Centre South 24 January, 2017 
Cabinet: Connecting Coventry Strategic Transport Investment Programme 24 January, 2017 
Cabinet: 2018/19 Transportation and Highway Maintenance Capital Report, 6 March 2018 
Cabinet: Coventry Transport Strategy, 12 October 2021 

Page 326



 

 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes – 18 October 2021 
 
 
 

Page 327



 

 

Report title: Coventry Very Light Rail (CVLR) 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 Coventry is a dynamic and rapidly growing city where transport investment is needed to 

keep pace with expected change. In 2004 the city’s population was under 300,000. It has 
grown steadily since to 365,000 and is forecast to reach over 415,000 in the next 20 years. 
Furthermore, in the current Local Plan period up to 2031, nearly 50,000 jobs to meet the 
needs of our growing city will be required.  

 
1.2   In order to make the step change in transport provision that is needed to deliver this growth 

and to tackle climate change it was agreed at Cabinet in January 2017 that an innovative 
rapid transit network is required to enable residents to access jobs, education and training 
opportunities across the city.  None of the currently available rapid transit solutions available 
were deemed suitable, either on the grounds of cost or their ability to provide a real 
alternative to the car.  From this challenge the Coventry Very Light Rail project has been 
developed. 

 
1.3 CVLR is being developed as a complete solution: vehicle, track and associated 

infrastructure.  It is being designed to fully integrate with existing transport systems and to 
exploit new technologies including 5G to ensure the entire journey – door to door - is 
provided as a seamless experience. 
 

1.4 CVLR has the potential to generate a new manufacturing sector in the city and to provide 
job opportunities for local people. In conjunction with the initiatives outlined in the Coventry 
Transport Strategy Report, CVLR will provide excellent access for all to those, and other, 
job opportunities.   

 
1.5 In March 2017 £2.4m of Growth Deal Funding was secured from Coventry and 

Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership (CWLEP) to support the  Council in 
researching and developing a suitable light rail vehicle and also exploiting the advances in 
light weighting in the automotive sector pioneered by WMG at the University of Warwick.  
 

1.6 A Strategic Outline Business Case was also submitted to the WMCA in Summer 2017 to 
secure further funding to initiate research into a high-quality light rapid transit system to 
provide the step change required in transport provision. £12.2m of a £55m Devolution 
Deal funding allocation was awarded in December 2017, which included a £3.6m 
contribution to Dudley’s Very Light Rail National Innovation Centre (DVLRNIC), where the 
VLR vehicle and innovative track form will be tested. Both Coventry City Council and 
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council are working with WMG, who are market leaders in 
VLR research and development, and have the necessary technical expertise to turn 
CVLR from concept into reality. The state-of-the-art facility at Dudley will provide an 
important asset to the Coventry VLR project to enable testing and evaluation to take place 
in a state-of-the-art research environment.   
 

1.7 In August 2020 a further £1.8m from the Getting Building Funding was secured via the 
CWLEP to invest in Dudley Very Light Rail National Innovation Centre (DVLRNIC) 
facilities to support CVLR testing. This is due to commence on site in December 2021. 
 

1.8 In addition to the above grants, Westfield (https://westfieldavs.com/) led a consortium bid  
(partnership between Westfield, Nexor, BCIMO, CCC and WMG)  securing funding from 
Innovate UK to trial their Autonomous Control System (ACS) on the Coventry VLR 
prototype. The project is known as 5G – CAT (Connected Autonomous Train). This is 
excellent news for CVLR as it potentially enables autonomy to be brought forward earlier 

Page 328

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/I5iDCGZLYiAnG6ltKXhWk?domain=westfieldavs.com


 

 

than the current expectation (2035) which will improve the commercial business case 
significantly. 
 

1.9   With the current secured funding of £16.4 million, the CVLR programme will achieve the 
following: 

 

• a prototype vehicle which has undergone eight weeks Site Acceptance and 12 months 

Durability Testing 

• a detailed track design with component testing complete 

• feasibility work to determine the first route for Coventry, including extensive surveys, 

and an outline business case and economic impact assessment to support funding bid 

submissions 

• Operations and Maintenance (O&M) input and Independent Competent Person input 

into the R&D via TfWM 

• A retaining wall, workshop, equipment, platform and halt to support the CVLR R&D at 

DVLRNIC. 

 
1.10 To date the CVLR programme has achieved the following: 

 

• the prototype vehicle has been assembled, with remote control equipment installed on 
the vehicle. The vehicle is currently undergoing factory acceptance testing and will then 
undergo site acceptance testing at DVLRNIC. 

• the track initial R&D phase is almost complete with an approved concept design, 
components tested at a laboratory. 

• route feasibility work is underway. An invitation to tender for the first route outline 
design and ongoing O&M support is being prepared and is scheduled to be released 
subject to Cabinet/ Council approval of the recommendations in this report. 

• improving the commercial case for the first route is an ongoing activity, with the 
outcome from an initial study to assess the commercial benefit of a first route extension 
to a Park and Ride at Ansty Park indicating an uplift in passenger demand for the 
extended service. Further route development/ commercial work is now required. 

• DVLRNIC now has an operational test track, charging facilities, appropriate tools and 
equipment required for CVLR testing, as well as a secure workshop to host the CVLR 
vehicle during the testing phase. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

 
Option 1 - Recommended – Commit corporate Council resources of up to £3.2m to 
enable the project progress to be maintained. 
 

2.1 When WMCA approved £12.2m funding in 2017, the Council had an allocation of £55m for 
VLR development through the Devolution Deal at the time. In July 2019 CCC submitted a 
Strategic Outline Business Case to draw down a further £7.8m from the allocation, but 
unfortunately WMCA could not commit further funds to VLR at the time due to their cap on 
investment at £801m. Additional funding for VLR did not fall within the £801m allocation. 
Therefore, WMCA was unable to approve the £7.8m funding application and consequently, 
a Change Request was submitted to WMCA to reprofile the allocation to deliver the outputs 
currently agreed. 

 
2.2 Consequently, it was necessary to review the programme and secure alternative funding to 

maintain the outstanding momentum on the project.  New funding bids have been 
submitted totalling £93 million as detailed in Appendix 2 to the report, but to date, no further 
funding has yet been secured. 

Page 329



 

 

   
2.3 The current programme timescale for the first CVLR route in Coventry is late 2025, but it is 

currently envisaged that a City Centre Demonstrator (Rail Station to Pool Meadow) could 
be delivered much sooner, subject to regulatory approvals. The feasibility of delivering this 
first part of the route is being investigated. This would provide a great opportunity to 
showcase the new technology, promote CVLR and generate commercial interest in the 
project.  It would also promote Coventry as a city of innovation thereby encouraging inward 
investment and promoting jobs growth.  The project team are working with DfT, WMG and 
TfWM to develop options for delivering the City Centre Demonstrator, together with an 
operating strategy.  Critically the demonstrator route would be able to then form part of any 
future route between the railway station and city centre. 

 
2.4 The total capital investment cost of the scheme (including spend to date) through to 

implementation of the first route is currently estimated to be approximately £140 million. 
 

2.5 The existing secure CVLR funding of £16.4 million is either spent or committed as 
illustrated by Table 1 below: 

 
Table 1 summary table of funding bid for, secured/committed, unsecured and spend 
to date  

 
 

2.6 The outcome of the Levelling up Fund bid is expected to be known imminently, however 
the outcome of the CRSTS bid is not expected to be known until March 2022. 
 

2.7 Funding of £3.172 million is essential in 2021/22 to deliver the following activities as 
summarised below 

 

• enable progression of the business and commercial case for the first route 

• enable the procurement of the Outline Design Concept and Operations and Maintenance 
input for the first route 

• progression of the track workstream to enable Test Track facilities of the new track design 
to be procured and constructed. It is anticipated the £1.7m allocated to R&D will enable test 
track facilities to be inserted into the loop at DVLRNIC to enable integrated system testing 
and cornering trials to take place. Further test facilities will be constructed across the 
entrance to Whitley depot to assess the impact of HGV movements on the track. 
 

2.8 The Council currently have applications for grant funding to support CVLR activities, the 
outcome of such bids are still to be known. . 

 

Funding Application 
Secured and 
Committed 

 
Unsecured 

 

Spend to 
Date   

Growth Deal R&D Phase 1 £2,460,000  £2,460,000 

WMCA R&D Phase 1 £12,204,821  £10,669,065 

Getting Building Fund £1,765,800  £915,064 

LUF  £3,200,000  

CRSTS R&D and Consenting Phase 
2 

 £26,800,000  

CRSTS First Route Delivery Phase 3  £63,000,000  

Total £16,430,975  £93,000,000 £14,044,129 

Page 330



 

 

2.9 The recommended approach is to approve the funding so that momentum can be 
maintained and the benefits for Coventry and beyond are realised at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
Option 2 – Do not commit Council resources and wait for external resource to become 
available 
 
2.10 It has been considered whether the project could be paused until the outcome of funding 

bids is known. However, this option is not recommended for the following reasons:  

• the programme and benefits from the scheme will be delayed   

• key personnel will be lost 

• critical information will not be available to support the R&D 

• Coventry and the West Midlands will lose the benefits (including supporting the Industrial 

Strategy) arising from developing the technology in the region 

• Coventry and the West Midlands could lose its position as Leaders of the urban VLR R&D 

programme 

•   significant costs would be incurred for remobilisation at a later time. 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 If the 2023 City Centre Demonstrator is deemed feasible, a public engagement event will 

take place in 2022, with formal consultation to follow as part of the Transport and Works 
Act Order process required for the full first route delivery. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Subject to approval, activities required to continue to deliver the CVLR Programme will be 

implemented immediately upon approval. The first activity being the release of the invitation 
to tender for the outline design concept. This will be followed by a programme of activity to 
enable test track facilities to be constructed at the earliest opportunity to progress the R&D 
programme. 

 
5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
5.1.1 The required capital investment cost through to the delivery of the first route is estimated at 

£140m.  Of this, £16.4m has been secured and committed from a combination of the 
CWLEP and the WMCA. Further funding bids of £93m have been submitted.  
 

5.1.2 The outcome of funding bids will be known this year and in March 2022  
 

5.1.3 There is a requirement to commit up to £3.2m imminently to maintain momentum.  
 

5.1.4 The corporate contribution if approved will be put forward as part of the minimum 15% 
match required for City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement bid submission. This 
would improve the chances of a successful outcome of the regional bid, within which CVLR 
is one of the highest priorities. 

 
5.2 Legal implications 
 

The project team delivering CVLR will work alongside legal team to ensure compliance and 
mitigation of any legal risks associated with this report. 

 

Page 331



 

 

 On approval of funding, procurement at appropriate stages of scheme development, 
consultancy support  and construction will be let in line with both the Councils Rules for 
Contracts and the Public Contract Regulations 2015, in close consultation with the 
Council’s Procurement Services with approval being reviewed by Place and Corporate 
Procurement Panel and Procurement Board at the necessary financial values.  

 
6. Other implications 
  
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 CVLR contributes to the Council Plan by addressing the Council’s core aims; 

• Economic prosperity – the Council is  working to establish the city and wider region  as 
a world-class business investment location by supporting urban public transport 
connectivity, developing significant supply chain opportunities and providing a focus for 
driving up skill levels, by focusing on the development of VLR technology in the UK. 
Furthermore, the CVLR scheme is anticipated to accelerate proposed development 
within the corridor. 

• Tackling inequalities – CVLR will provide enhanced access to opportunities within the 
defined CVLR corridor, as well as across other parts of Coventry via public transport 
interchange. 

• Improving Accessibility - the aim of CVLR is to connect areas of high travel demand at 
either end of a route; as well as serving the primary nodes along the corridor. This will 
therefore enhance accessibility to jobs and education and improve accessibility to 
health care. 

• Tackling Climate Change - VLR will help address the ‘Net Zero’ target for transport, as 
it is zero emission at point of use and will be an attractive public transport mode to 
encourage modal shift. 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 A robust governance structure is in place to manage risk. A programme risk register is 

established which highlights key risks and put in place appropriate mitigation. 
 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 

Coventry City Council requires a CVLR Team dedicated to the delivery of CVLR. Once this 
has been achieved, the Council could potentially license the CVLR system and expertise to 
other councils nationally and internationally. This is a marketable commodity which could 
generate future revenue income for the Council. 

 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 
 The CVLR Programme will improve economic outcomes and transport in the area. No 

adverse impact on any group protected under the Equalities Act is anticipated in this decision. 
 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 

    CVLR has significant advantages over conventional public transport systems: 

• there are no tailpipe emissions, and no brake and rubber dust (as a result of steel wheel 
on rail) and therefore all point of use transport emissions are eliminated 

Page 332

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

 

• there is no visually intrusive (and expensive) overhead line equipment (as there is with 
conventional light rail) 

• CVLR will be a very quiet mode of travel; and will be much better than other solutions 
in terms of noise emissions 

• its permanence of way provides users with confidence that the transport provision will 
be long term and therefore encourages modal shift 

As CVLR will reduce levels of demand for car travel, there are likely to be significant 

environmental benefits associated with a lower number of vehicles and the mitigation 

of congestion (when emissions are significantly higher than free-flow conditions). 

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 

Coventry City Council will work closely with Transport for West Midlands through scheme 
development and delivery.  
 
Coventry City Council is also working with a number of other partners including Dudley 
Metropolitan Borough Council, WMG at the University of Warwick and the Black Country 
Manufacturing Organisation (BCIMO); the legal entity managing DVLRNIC. 
 
The partner organisations and the region is set to benefit from the CVLR programme as 
follows; 

• high value training, apprenticeship and job opportunities in the West Midlands – 
associated with design, construction and information technology 

• innovative Research & Development capability for light rapid transit, which can be 
exported to other areas of the UK and abroad 

• a substantially lower cost system, that is capable of moving large numbers of 
people (potentially up to 1,200 per hour) 

• new technologies – including the potential for autonomous operation for either the 
“last mile” or even the whole route 

• an affordable and flexible system which can be implemented in areas where 
passenger demand is lower than can be supported by conventional trams (e.g. 
Midland Metro) 

• reduced levels of traffic congestion within the West Midlands by offering a high-
quality public transport alternative to the car 

• A low emission environmentally friendly form of mass transit – with no tailpipe 
emissions or visually intrusive overhead line equipment 

• High density development along urban VLR corridors and around stops 

  
 

Page 333



 

 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Colin Knight 
Director of Transport and Highways 
 
Service: 
Transportation and Highways 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Email: Colin.Knight@coventry.gov.uk 
Tel: 024 7683 4001  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

John Seddon Head of Transport 
and Innovation 

Transportation 
and Highways 

13.9.21 15.9.21 

Nicola Small  Senior Programme 
Manager  

Transportation 
and Highways 

14.9.21 15.9.21 

Michelle Salmon  Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

15.9.21 15.9.21 

Gurbinder Singh Sangha Corporate and 
Commercial Lead 
Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

13.9.21 15.9.21 

Helen Williamson  
 

Lead Accountant Finance 13.9.21 15.9.21 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Phil Helm  Finance Manager Finance 15.9.21 21.9.21 

Oluremi Aremu 
 

Major Projects  
Lead Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

15.9.21 22.9.21 

Colin Knight Director of 
Transportation and 
Highways 

- 13.9.21 15.9.21 

Councillor J O’Boyle Cabinet Member, 
Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change 

- 15.9.21 21.9.21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 334

mailto:Colin.Knight@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 

 

Appendix 1: VLR Vision and Progress to Date 
 

Coventry City Council (CCC) and Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council (DMBC) are 
collaborating to help establish the West Midlands as a world-class business investment location 
by supporting urban public transport connectivity, developing significant supply chain 
opportunities and providing a focus for driving up skill levels, focusing on the development of 
Very Light Rail (VLR) technology in the UK. 
 
Coventry Programme: The Coventry VLR programme, which has secured £16.4m to date1, will: 

• Use the latest innovations in the regional automotive sector to create a very light weight mass 
transport rail solution, comprising a state-of-the-art vehicle and innovative track system that is 
relatively simple and cost-effective to construct (cost per kilometre of c.£10million). 

• Deliver a first route for Coventry linking the Rail Station, City Centre, and University Hospital, 
with an operational section in place by late 2025. 

• Develop an integrated VLR system blueprint that will be commercially available to other 
towns and cities across the UK and globally. 

 
Dudley Programme: The Dudley programme, which has secured £24m to date, will deliver a 
new, national innovation centre and test track facilities at Castle Hill, in Dudley. Launch and 
operation of the new centre will be undertaken by the newly formed Black Country Innovative 
Manufacturing Organisation (BCIMO). 
The primary aim of the innovation centre is to facilitate the manufacturing supply chain and 
market development for integrated VLR systems, using the Coventry VLR system as a blueprint 
for the urban market, through: 

• Applied R&D to help progress the ‘building blocks’ of VLR systems from low to high 
Technology Readiness Level (TRL) and Manufacturing Readiness Level (MRL), accelerating 
technology development and the realisation of VLR’s potential. 

• The creation of a vibrant UK manufacturing supply chain for VLR technologies (powertrain, 
vehicle and supporting infrastructure, including track, power transfer and signalling) 
safeguarding jobs and enabling economic growth within the Black Country and the West 
Midlands. 

• Catalysing market development to ensure the spread of VLR systems across the UK and 
overseas, to include the transfer of VLR technology to lower the cost of more conventional rail 
operations. 

 
There are significant benefits through the combined Coventry VLR and Dudley programmes, 
which are captured in an Economic Impact Assessment. In brief, the benefits are as follows: 

• A low emission environmentally friendly form of mass transit as part of an integrated Future 
Mobility solution. Battery-powered, with no tailpipe emissions or costly overhead power lines. 

• High value training and job opportunities in the West Midlands and UK – associated with 
design, construction, and information technology. 

• Innovative R&D capability for light rapid transit, which can be commercially exported to other 
areas of the UK and abroad. 

• New technologies – including the potential for autonomous operation and development of 
complementary “last mile” solutions. 

 
1 Funding secured via Coventry and Warwickshire (C&W) LEP (£2.46m Growth Deal) West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) (£12.2m 
Devolution Deal) and CWLEP (£1.8m Getting Building Fund). The outstanding funding required to deliver the programme is detailed on page 5 of 
the West Midlands Recovery Plan: https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3975/west-midlands-economic-recovery-our-ask-and-offer-hd-spreads.pdf 

Page 335

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3975/west-midlands-economic-recovery-our-ask-and-offer-hd-spreads.pdf


 

 

• Reduced levels of traffic congestion across the UK where VLR is implemented, by offering a 
high-quality affordable public transport alternative to the car. 

 
CVLR Progress (as of 13/9/2021) 

Coventry Vehicle Progress: 

• WMG leading the vehicle design, together with their partners Transport Design International. 

• Manufacture of the demonstrator vehicle commenced July 2020 at the build site, NP 
Aerospace. 

• Significant progress has been made on vehicle assembly, with Factory Acceptance testing 
underway. 

Next actions include: 

• Completion and factory acceptance testing of the demonstrator vehicle in late 2021. 

• Site acceptance testing of the demonstrator vehicle at Dudley from December 2021. This will 
use the centre’s test track 1 (TT1) facility. Testing will evaluate acceleration, cruising, braking 
and endurance, as well as the vehicle’s cornering behaviour, including noise and vibration, on 
tight 15m radius curves. 

 

Coventry Track Progress: 

• WMG leading Track R&D project, together with their partners Ingerop/Rendel. 

• Design concept has been selected and slabs have been manufactured at the School of 
Engineering at the University of Warwick. 

• Laboratory testing of component parts is underway 

Next actions include: 

• The manufacture of additional slabs for Test Track facilities 

• Securing funding to build Test Track facilities 

 

Dudley National Innovation Centre Progress: 

• BCIMO was launched in September 2020 

• Trackwork, contractor for the construction of test track 1 (TT1), commenced on site in June 
2020 and construction of TT1 and including loop is complete. The Test Track comprises a 
2.2km conventional ballasted track which can carry any type of rail vehicle (heavy, light or 
very light) and 15m radius loop to allow for Coventry vehicle cornering trials.  

• Glegg Construction, contractor for the construction of the centre, commenced on site in 
October 2020 and remains underway. The facilities will include a triple-height engineering 
hall, research laboratories, conference and seminar rooms, and offices for 45 people, 
alongside exhibition spaces and an auditorium.  

• DMBC and CCC worked in partnership to secure Getting Building Funding for the VLR 
project, part of which has funded the workshop to house the Coventry vehicle during the 
testing period and Capital Equipment required by the project. 

 

Next actions include: 

• Centre build to complete March 2022. 

• Ongoing negotiations with DfT for the remaining funding for operation costs for the BCIMO. 

 

Page 336



 

 

Photos (March 2021) 

 
Coventry Vehicle Assembly: 

 

 
 
 
 
Prototype Supply Chain (*67% of material spend in the UK): 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 337



This page is intentionally left blank




 
 
 
 

Public report 
Cabinet Report  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Cabinet 12th October 2021 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills – Councillor K Sandhu 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Education and Skills 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes - the proposals will significantly affect all wards of the city 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry City Council has a statutory duty to ensure 
sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the Council’s role to plan, 
commission and organise school places in a way that raises standards, manages supply and 
demand and creates a diverse infrastructure. 
 
The Coventry One Strategic Plan, first presented to Council on 2nd October 2018, sets out pupil 
forecasts for special, primary and secondary pupils across education planning areas in response 
to rising or falling pupil cohorts across the city. It outlines the strategy proposed by the Local 
Authority and the Coventry Education Partnership to meet the additional places required in 
secondary provision from 2019 – 2024. Work has also been undertaken to look at the Special 
School provision and the primary estate in line with falling birth rates and new housing, outlining 
how we will mitigate against these factors. 
 
It is proposed that this strategy will be a flexible plan, able to adapt to shifting mechanisms of 
parental preference, unforeseen changes in supply and demand of school places, and future birth 
rates. To do this, the One Strategic Plan will be monitored and updated annually with presentation 
to the Education Portfolio Councillor, and Cabinet, alongside a wider process of constant review of 
School Place Planning. In addition, the procuring of places will take place annually so as not to 
create an unstable number of school places.  
 
A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has been established to ensure partnership commitment 
between the Council and secondary schools (and will be rolled out to primary and special, subject 
to approval). These partnerships signify a commitment and cooperation between the Council, 
governing bodies and school leadership teams to meet the educational needs of children and young 
people in Coventry, ensure the sustainability of Coventry schools, and to enable the City Council 
to meet its statutory obligations. 
 
This partnership commitment signifies a statement of intent to collaborate and work in partnership 
to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people in Coventry, ensure the 
sustainability of Coventry schools, and to enable the City Council to meet its statutory obligations. Page 339

Agenda Item 9



 

 2 

As part of this process, numerous options have been discussed at both full Coventry Education 
Partnership meetings, and the Secondary Headteacher Executive. The preferred option presented 
below has been approved by the Coventry Education Partnership as being the best valid option 
keeping in line with our statutory requirement as outlined by the DfE to:  
 
i. Spend capital funding efficiently 
ii. Safeguard the quality of places in the system 
iii. Manage down spare capacity in the estate where it exists. 
 
Capital allocations to meet projected shortfalls in provision are provided by the Education Skills 
Funding Agency (ESFA) to all Local Authorities based on the data provided in the annual School 
Capacity return (SCAP). Demand for places minus the supply of places is multiplied by a cost per 
pupil place to inform the final allocation. This return informs the ESFA of the expected change in 
pupil numbers over the next few years, the current capacity of schools to meet those numbers and 
the planned changes to that capacity.  The next tranche of funding will be announced in March 
2022. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Authorise the programme of work outlined within the proposed Coventry One Strategic Plan for 

Primary, Secondary Education and Special Educational Needs (SEN). 
 

2) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills to agree the most appropriate 
procurement route for the works to be delivered and awarded.  

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1: One Strategic Plan 2020-2025 
Appendix 2: Letter from Lord Agnew regarding Basic Need funding (Dated: 30/05/2018) 
Appendix 3: Letter from Lord Agnew regarding Basic Need funding (Dated: 23/09/2019) 
Appendix 4: Letter from Baroness Berridge regarding High Needs Funding (Dated: 25/02/2021) 
Appendix 5 A and B: School Organisation Regulations 
Appendix 6: Alternative Options for Secondary Expansion 
Appendix 7: List of Secondary schools and Ofsted rating 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme   
 Cabinet Report – 18th February 2020 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MID=11948#AI30130 
 
Coventry One Strategic Plan – Phase 2 Secondary School Expansions 
 Cabinet Report – 13th October 2020 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=12245&Ver=4 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
 
 

Page 340

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MID=11948#AI30130
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=12245&Ver=4


 

 3 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
 
No  
 
Will this report go to Council? 
 
No

Page 341



 

 4 

Title: Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme  
 
1. Context (or background) 

 
1.1. Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry City Council has a statutory duty to 

ensure sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the Council’s 
role to plan, commission and organise school places in a way that raises standards, 
manages supply and demand and creates a diverse infrastructure. 

 
1.2. The Coventry One Strategic Plan sets out pupil forecasts for primary and secondary across 

education planning areas in response to rising or falling pupil cohorts across the city. It 
outlines the strategy proposed by the Local Authority and the Coventry Education 
Partnership to meet the additional places required in all phases of education (Early Years, 
Primary, Secondary and Special Education Needs (SEN)) from 2020 – 2025.  

 
1.3. Primary  

 
1.3.1. The birth cohort is reducing, easing the previous pressure on primary places, although there 

are still localised areas of pressure within distinct planning areas of the city. There is a 
shifting movement of births within Coventry from the North East of the city, which has a 
falling birth rate, towards the West of the City where births are starting to stabilise and, in 
some areas, continuing to increase.1  
 

1.3.2. The birth cohort peaked for entry into Reception in September 2016 and, with the existing 
housing stock considered, has begun to re-stabilise and in some areas of the city started to 
decrease. Although future developments within the local plan may lead to a future rise in 
birth rates in the specified locations.  
 

1.3.3. To utilise the existing school estate efficiently and enable schools to manage budgets more 
effectively; exploration of expanding the use of enhanced resourced provision (ERP) is 
being considered, which could lead to a range of ERP bases within the city to reflect the 
current priority areas of need including Early Years developmental delay, Autistic Spectrum 
Condition (ASC) and Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH).2  

 
1.3.4. The current Year 4 (2020-21 Academic Year) is the largest cohort currently in Coventry 

Primary mainstream and special schools, September 2023 entry to Secondary, and will 
severely impact upon the availability of Year 7 places within the city.3  
 

1.4. Secondary 
 

1.4.1. From September 2019, additional capacity has been added in Secondary schools to 
mitigate these larger cohorts. As agreed at Coventry Education Partnership meetings with 
Heads, the plan is to deliver and adopt a model of both permanent and temporary 
expansions to ensure sufficiency of places, viability for schools, and cost efficiency. 
Temporary expansions are for a single year of Year 7 increase, and that increase then 
moves through the school as that cohort reaches Year 11. Adopting a mixed economy model 
of permanent and temporary expansions will ensure the safeguarding of the future viability 
of the school estate, and longer term will allow for a more flexible approach to increasing 
and reducing capacity. 
 

1.4.2. Phase 1 covers the years (2019-2021) and was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 
outlining the planned temporary and permanent increases up to 2021.  This was updated to 
recognise site constraints and affordability.  
 

 
1 Appendix 1 – One Strategic plan - page 22. 
2 Enhanced Resource Provision is a model adopted by the majority of local authorities of providing small classbases (8-10 pupils) with 
an EHCP specialised teaching within a mainstream school. 
3 Appendix 1 - One Strategic plan - page 17. 

Page 342



 

 5 

Phase 2 was presented in October 2020.  In this report Phase 2 has been altered from the 
previous report due to West Coventry Academy (WCA) being identified as part of the DfE 
‘School Rebuilding Programme.’  West Coventry Academy were originally down to take 2 
bulge classes, 1 each in 2022 and 2023.  Due to the DfE rebuild announcement, the 1 
bulge class originally planned for 2022 has been reviewed and is no longer required, due 
to the number of surplus places for Y7 admissions in that year (c.80).   
 

1.4.3. Both phase 1 and phase 2 will provide sufficient places up to 2024.  We will then see the 
drop in primary numbers stabilise for future secondary need across the City. 

 
1.5. Special Education Needs (SEN) 

 
1.5.1. Local Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure, that all learners who are subject to an 

Education, Health and Care Plan receive the provision they require to meet their assessed 
needs.  This means that LAs have to provide a continuum of provision to meet a continuum 
of need. Whilst Coventry currently has relatively few specialist provisions delivered in the 
form of resourced centres/units in mainstream schools, it does have a comprehensive range 
of special school provision.  However, it should be noted that despite significant growth in 
special school demand, the number of pupils placed out of City within the independent non-
maintained sector, has remained broadly constant reducing from 113 in October 2017 to 98 
as at September 2021. It should be noted that the majority of the 98 placements are for 
pupils experiencing SEMH needs at an average cost of £53,000 per child, per annum. 

 
1.5.2. However, the recent evidenced growth in need and extended retention in post 16 provision, 

specifically in the areas of learning disability, complex communication (autism spectrum 
conditions) and social emotional and mental health (SEMH), has placed an unprecedented 
level of demand on the special school system. This reflects the national position. 

 
1.5.3. Over the past 4 years, an additional 208 special school places have been commissioned 

locally through local expansion.  The additional places have been provided through 
completing the below projects:  

 

• Demolition of the Old Tiverton school building enabled use of the land to accommodate 

two, double modular build provisions.   

• Expansion of Riverbank school.  

• Further expansion at the Corley Centre. 

   

1.5.4.  There is a further planned 108 places being added in September 2022 & 2023, which may 
extend further.   
 

1.5.5. There is currently work being undertaken to address the Special Estate: and to add more 
places within mainstream schools for pupils with additional needs. This being centred 
around: 
 

• Early years (reception) developmental delay 

• SEMH growth across all age ranges 

• Increased demand for secondary/post 16 special school placement for generic learning 
difficulties 

• ASC growth across all age ranges  
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1. Primary Schools options and recommended proposal  

 
2.1.1. With a declining birth rate and therefore a corresponding increasing primary school surplus, 

the Council still has a statutory duty to provide sufficient school places. To aid in a more 
measured and transparent manner for parents, we have and will continue to examine 

Page 343



 

 6 

Published Admission Number (PAN) reductions in a coordinated cycle. This will ensure that 
not all surplus places are removed in the same academic year, and that information about 
the reduction in places is made apparent in admissions booklets. This proposed option will 
have the minimum impact upon parental preference whilst also ensuring that the majority of 
schools are able to maintain balanced budgets. 
 

2.1.2. The Local Authority are working towards a sustainable level of surplus places in the city. 
There are local fluctuations in birth rates and migration rates which create challenges. It is 
proposed to ensure sufficient places whilst avoiding oversupply and without exceeding 8% 
surplus places within a planning area. 
 

2.1.3. In certain areas of Coventry, DfE guidance would suggest that schools look at potentially 
temporarily decommissioning places to adjust supply to meet the future reductions in 
demand. Coventry Local Authority will look to facilitate those connections between head 
teachers, governing bodies and school finance to examine where parties are in agreement 
over potential temporary reduction of PAN4. 
 

2.1.4. Headteachers have been encouraged to contact the Local Authority to discuss the PAN of 
the school if they are concerned about the number of surplus places the school is likely to 
hold. 

 
2.1.5. With recent housing allocations within the Local Plan being approved, there is a proposal 

for land to be secured for 2 new primary schools on site (1 per site).   
 

2.1.5.1. Eastern Green Sustainable Urban Extension currently has approval for c.3,200 homes, 
with Coventry City Council securing land to allow the building of up to a 3FE Primary 
School.  The proposal is the Local Authority would look to engage a move of St Andrews 
from its current site to the new location, extending to a full Reception to Year 6 cohort, 
whilst simultaneously working with Eastern Green Junior to expand their current 
provision to a full Reception to Year 6 cohort also. Meetings have been held with 
headteachers of both the Infant and Junior school and the Diocese of Coventry, and all 
are in agreement of the proposals.  The additional places would not be made available 
until such point that the housing development generated additional pupils and required 
the new places. 

 
2.1.5.2. There is also a significant development in the Keresley area of Coventry, with the 

building of c.3,100 homes as part of the Sustainable Urban Expansion.  At time of 
writing only c.1,800 homes have planning approval in principle and this has also 
provided the Council with land to provide a Primary school.  It is currently being explored 
by the Local Authority that there is a potential for an existing primary school to relocate 
and expand on this site.  It is not anticipated that a new school would be required until 
approximately 2024/2025. 

 
2.2. Secondary School options5 and recommended proposal   
 
2.2.1. On the 30th May 2018, all Local Authorities received a letter from Lord Agnew, the 

Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for the School System, stating that the Local 
Authority Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) ‘expect that, in doing so, Local Authorities will make 
every effort to spend capital funding efficiently, safeguard the quality of places in the system; 
and manage down spare capacity in the estate where it exists.’ One of the key points of the 
letter, was Local Authorities are  

 
‘expected to create new places in schools or academies that have an overall Ofsted rating 
of ‘good’ or ‘outstanding,’ and to consider a range of performance indicators and financial 
data before deciding which school to expand. It is not expected that you expand a school or 
academy that is underperforming, unless there is a very strong rationale to do so.’ 

 
4 See One Strategic Plan – ‘Primary’ section 
5 Other Options considered – as Appendix 6. 

Page 344



 

 7 

 
2.2.2. Phase 1 Secondary programme included the expansion of 11 number of Good & 

Outstanding schools, 4 number of academy converters (with no Ofsted category listed) and 
1 school currently in Requires Improvement.  Phase Two Secondary Programme included 
the expansion of 7 number of Good & Outstanding schools, 4 number of academy 
converters (with no Ofsted category listed) and 2 schools in Requires Improvement. Further 
information on the expansion programmes is included within the One Strategic Plan on page 
27 and the Ofsted information can be found in Appendix 7. Due to the scale of expansion 
required, it was not possible to expand only Good and Outstanding schools. Therefore, the 
Local Authority have ensured where a school is taking additional pupils and is currently RI, 
the school is supported by a strong Academy Trust with the aim to ensure the change does 
not negatively impact the school’s performance.   
 

2.2.3. Across the Phase 1 and Phase 2 programme’s there will be 1,134 additional pupil places 
added to support the increase in demand for Secondary school places in the City from 
September 2018 to September 2024. 
 

2.2.4. Alternative options (Appendix 6) to this have been discussed in collaboration with the 
Coventry Education Partnership, however these options are not being pursued as they do 
not fulfil the criteria of providing good value for money, are not central to the areas of 
pressure, or cannot be completed due to site constraints.    
 

2.3. Special Education Needs Options  
 
2.3.1. Coventry City Council have been allocated funding to create new school places and improve 

existing facilities for children and young people with SEN and disabilities. The Special 
Provision Fund is currently available on the Coventry Local Offer page. This was a 
requirement of the funding being allocated as local authorities had to complete and publish 
a concise plan to show how they would invest their share of the fund on their local offer 
page. 
 

2.3.2. The £3.9million funding received via the Special Provision Fund funding has been utilised 
across multiple projects, to create 208 places within Coventry SEN schools.  
 

2.3.3. There is a separate report to Cabinet to address the proposed strategy to meet the demand 
for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) by expanding and relocating Woodfield Special 
school. 

 
2.3.4. There is also the potential option to explore use of mainstream primary space not currently 

utilised: 

• Expansion of resource bases in Mainstream Primary to better facilitate pupils with more 

complex special educational needs, by putting in Enhanced Resource Provisions (ERPs).  

• A revised SEND strategy is currently in co-production, which will focus on the key principle 

of improving outcomes for children and young people with SEND, within a value for money 

framework.   

 

2.4. Finance  
 
2.4.1. The funding for the One Strategic Plan consists of several separate capital funding streams 

of which the details of these are set out below: 
 
2.4.2. Basic need funding is allocated to Local Authorities to meet the demand for pupil places. 

Allocations have been made up until 2022/23. Future funding for the 2023/24 financial year 
will be announced March 2022. 
 
 
 

Page 345

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/capitalfunding


 

 8 

Historic Funding received £14,665,000.00 

19/20 Allocation  £3,913,000.00 

20/21 Allocation £6,237,000.00 

21/22 Allocation £23,733,503.95 

22/23 Allocation expected £12,853,000.006 

Total Funding £61,401,134.95 

 
 
2.4.3. In March 2017, the Government committed £215 million of capital funding to help local 

authorities create new school places and improve existing facilities for children and young 
people with SEN and disabilities, in consultation with parents and providers. Coventry City 
Council secured £775,574, annually, for three years, with a further top-up of £1,500,000 
(total £3,950,018). The consultation for this Special Provision Fund is available on the 
Coventry Local Offer page, this consultation determined the sites of the additional allocation. 
The Council liaised closely with all special and mainstream schools via Coventry Education 
Partnership meetings in order to inform a strategic plan. 
 

2.4.4. In July 2021 the DfE allocated £2.4 million of High Needs Provision Capital funding.  This 
allocation must be used to create additional places for pupils with EHC plans. 

 
2.4.5. Overall capital resources for One Strategic Plan:  
 

Funding stream Resources  

Education Capital Basic Need up until 2022 £61,401,135 

S106 for Education held by Council £6,974,1727 

Education Capital Special Provision Fund £3,950,018 

High Needs Capital Funding (Secured July 2021) £2,426,212 

Other Corporate Resources £10,604,7088 

Total  £85,356,245 

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1.1. As academies, the schools included in the Secondary recommended option are required to 

consult for their expansion and inform the Department of Education of this consultation. The 
Council have consulted with Primary, Secondary, and SEN headteachers via Coventry 
Education Partnership meetings to co-produce this One Strategic Plan. For Primary, and 
SEN, depending upon whether the school is maintained or academy, the responsibility for 
conducting the consultation will either sit with Coventry City Council or with the school. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

 
The timescale for the One Strategic Plan is set out in the following table: 

 
6 Indicative allocation not yet received. 
7 Please note potential future S106 income has been removed from the income table, as to comply with CIL 
compliance S106 can be only be spent at the specified school/project. Therefore, this funding will be 
dependent upon schools being named as part of the Programme for providing additional school places. 
However, it is likely that further S106 funding will be utilised in areas where expansion of schools is related 
to new housing developments. 
8 This value is estimated, level of other corporate resources allocated is not yet finalised. 

Activity Approximate Timing 

Consultation with Primary, Secondary and SEND Headteachers via 
Coventry Education Partnership meetings 

February 2020 – May 
2021 

Page 346

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/capitalfunding


 

 9 

 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 

 
5.1. Financial implications 
 

Capital resources for the One Strategic Plan are a cumulation of several funding streams, 
including estimated funding from future year allocations which could still be subject to some 
change. Project costs are also indicative until the point of awarding contracts and therefore 
may differ from those currently anticipated. 
 
The overall programme of works may need to be adjusted to ensure spend is not committed 
above the available resource. This will be managed by the project team and will include 
progress reports and budgetary control reporting as set out in section 6.2. 

 
5.2. Legal implications 
 
 Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 places the Local Authority under a duty to promote 

high standards and fair access to education. S14 of the Education Act 1996 sets out the 
Local Authority’s duty to secure sufficient schools in their area, and to consider the need to 
secure provision for children with SEN. This includes a duty to respond to parents’ 
representations about school provision.  

 
 The Local Authority has a wide discretion in exercising the s 14 duty but has to follow 

statutory processes when establishing, closing, or making alterations to a school as set out 
in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations 
to Maintained Schools (England) Regulations 2013. Failure to comply with statutory 
requirements would leave the Local Authority unable to make the proposed changes and 
subject to action by the DfE. Reduction to the published admission numbers (PAN) at 
maintained mainstream schools are not subject to compliance with the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools (England) Regulations 2013, although 
admission authorities (the Local Authority) in the case of community and voluntary controlled 
schools, the governing body in the case of voluntary aided and foundations schools, and 
the academy trust in the case of academy schools, must consult  as required by School 
Admissions Code 2014 (SAC).  

 
 The SAC provides that when changes are proposed to admission arrangements, all 

admission authorities must consult on their admission arrangements (including any 
supplementary information form) that will apply for admission applications the following 
school year. Where the admission arrangements have not changed from the previous year 
there is no requirement to consult, subject to the requirement that admission authorities 
must consult on their admission arrangements at least once every 7 years, even if there 
have been no changes during that period. Community and Voluntary Controlled schools 
have the right to object to the Schools’ Adjudicator if the PAN proposed is lower than they 
would wish. 

 
6. Other implications 
  
6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)  

 
These proposals will support and synergise with the Councils Policies as set out below: 

• Improving Educational Outcomes – by providing additional school places in Good or 
Outstanding Schools. 

Secondary Headteachers agreed proposals for secondary expansion 
for phase 2 via Coventry Education Partnership meetings 

March 2020- June 
2021 

 

Report to Cabinet for adoption of the policy set out in the One 
Strategic Plan and recommendations 

October 2021 

Page 347

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

 10 

• Raising the Profile of Coventry - by providing additional school places in Good or 
Outstanding schools. 

• Creating the Infrastructure – Aiding in Schools to be self-sufficient. 

• Rationalising our property portfolio – Enabling schools to reach their potential. 

• Creating the infrastructure for the city to grow and thrive – by providing additional school 
places for Coventry residents to attend 

  
6.2. How is risk being managed? 
 

Monitoring is carried out through a number of different processes. This project will be 
monitored through a project management team and will be subject to careful scrutiny and 
regular assessment on progress towards identified milestones. Further monitoring will be 
carried out through progress reports to the Cabinet Member (Education and Skills), Cabinet, 
and quarterly budgetary control monitoring. 
 

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
There are no specific impacts on the organisation. 
 

6.4. Equalities/Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 
 

 Children and young people with SEN often experience greater discrimination and have 
fewer opportunities than children without such difficulties. The proposal aims to ensure that 
all Coventry children have access to education in accordance with their needs. Any revised 
accommodation changes and admission arrangements take into account the provisions of 
the Equality Act 2010 in the context of their possible impact on equal opportunities. 

 
 Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the need to 

eliminate discrimination, 2) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not 3) foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not (public sector equality duty 
- s 149(1) Equality Act 2010). The applicable protected characteristics are disability, gender 
reassignment; race, religion or belief, sex; sexual orientation, pregnancy or maternity. 

          
 Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of their 

decision-making process with rigour and with an open mind. The duty is to have “due 
regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals. 
Consideration being given to the potential adverse impacts and the measures needed to 
minimise any discriminatory effects. 

  
 Each school has been assessed thoroughly in line with the Disability Discrimination Act 

2004’ and meet the requirements of the Building Regulations and relevant British Standards 
including BS 8300 2009. Specific provisions of inclusion for wheelchair users; hard of 
hearing and visually impaired have been included in the designs. An access statement is 
provided for each school to act as an on-going live document. It documents the initial 
building approach and becomes an effective building management tool for the users to 
ensuring long term accessibility.  
 

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
  
 Coventry has 117 schools (excluding private owned). Of these 117 schools, 52% are LEA 

schools and purchase energy from Coventry City Council and therefore, captured within 
scope 3 of Coventry City Council’s annual GHG emissions report. LEA schools account for 
9% of Council emissions. Any new school buildings would be designed to mitigate the 
effects of climate change fluctuations and to help reduce surface water run off as a result of 
flash or extreme weather events, reducing any negative effects on the local community and 
environmental infrastructure. 

 

Page 348



 

 11 

 All future build and refurbishment programmes will need to report impacts in terms of carbon 
emissions in relation to the targets for carbon reduction to be achieved and future cost 
benefit analysis will need to incorporate the environmental and socio economic costs of the 
impacts of the carbon emissions from the developments on climate change.    

 
6.6. Implications for partner organisations? 
 

Planning for additional SEN places will require close partnership working with the PCT, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust, Social Care 
and Private/Voluntary Organisations and will enable multi-agency support and provision for 
children with SEN to be made. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 349



 

 12 

 
 
 
Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title:   
Kirston Nelson, Director of Education and Skills  
Sarah Mills, Head of Service Education Entitlement  
 
Service:  
Education and Skills 
 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 024 7697 7043 
Email: sarah.mills@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/ 
approver name 

Title  Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Adrian Coles Programme Delivery 
Manager – Education 
and Skills 

Education and 
Skills 

16.08.21 26.08.21 

Elaine Atkins Lawyer - Finance and 
Corporate Services 

Law and 
Governance 

16.08.21 17.08.21 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

16.08.21 15.09.21 

Sarah Mills Head of Service 
Education Entitlement 

Education and 
Skills 

16.08.21 16.08.21 

Helen Williamson Lead Accountant 
Capital and Grants 
Team 

Finance 
16.08.21 18.08.21 

Lowell Lewis SHEQ Manager – 
Facilities 
Management  

Property 
Services and 
Development 

16.08.21 26.08.21 

Jeannette Essex Head of SEND and 
Specialist Services 

Education and 
Skills 

26.08.21 12.09.21 

Names of approvers 
for submission:  
(Officers and Members) 

    

Rachael Sugars Finance Manager Finance 15.09.21 20.09.21 

Christopher Whiteley Finance Manager  Finance 01.09.21 16.09.21 

Julie Newman Director of Law and 
Governance 

- 01.09.21 15.09.21 

Kirston Nelson Director of Education 
and Skills 

- 16.09.21 20.09.21 

Councillor Dr K Sandhu Cabinet Member for 
Education and Skills 

- 20.09.21 20.09.21 

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief 
Executive 

- 20.09.21 21.09.21 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 
 

Page 350

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Page 1 of 56 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Coventry City Council 
 

Education and Learning  

One Strategic Plan 

2020 - 2025 

Page 351



 

 

Page 2 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................................. 3 

1.1. Coventry’s Education and Learning Vision .......................................................... 3 

1.2. Statutory Context ...................................................................................................... 3 

1.3. Coordinated Strategic approach ............................................................................ 4 

2 Key strategic priorities .................................................................................................. 6 

3 Maintaining Available Capacity ................................................................................... 7 

3.1 School Admissions .................................................................................................... 8 

3.2 Home to School transport ........................................................................................ 9 

4  Funding .......................................................................................................................... 9 

5  Housing Developments ............................................................................................. 12 

6 Providing School Places ............................................................................................ 13 

6.1 School expansions .................................................................................................. 13 

6.1.1 Partnership working ................................................................................... 14 

6.1.2 Size ........................................................................................................... 14 

6.2 New schools ............................................................................................................. 15 

7.1. Characteristics of Coventry provision for children ............................................. 15 

7.1.1 Academisation ........................................................................................... 15 

7.2 Special Schools ............................................................................................ 16 

7.3  Population Context ................................................................................................. 17 

7.4 Early Years ............................................................................................................... 18 

7.5 Primary Context ....................................................................................................... 20 

8 Future Need ................................................................................................................. 21 

8.1 Primary ...................................................................................................................... 21 

8.2 Secondary ................................................................................................................. 24 

8.3 SEND Provision ....................................................................................................... 28 

8.4 Proposed Strategic SEN Plan ............................................................................... 36 

8.4.1 SEMH Strategy ..................................................................................................... 36 

8.4.2 Broad Spectrum/Autism ...................................................................................... 36 

8.4.3 SEND programme 2020 onwards ...................................................................... 37 

9. Post 16......................................................................................................................... 37 

10. Alternative Provision (AP) ...................................................................................... 38 

Appendices ...................................................................................................................... 40 

 

 

Page 352



 

 

Page 3 of 56 

 
 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 
1.1. Coventry’s Education and Learning Vision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In this context, the One Strategic Plan will help schools, parents, council staff, local 

partners and stakeholders understand how Coventry City Council plans to provide school 

places to ensure that all children and young people thrive in Coventry schools and settings 

throughout their education, wherever they live.  

 

This document sets out the principles underpinning school place planning; the ways in 

which places will be delivered, the information used to inform this delivery, and the way 

work is conducted to deliver high quality, accessible school places for all learners. 

 

1.2. Statutory Context  
 

Coventry City Council (CCC) has a legal duty under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, 

to ensure sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the 

Council’s role to plan, commission and organise school places in a way that raises 

standards, manages supply and demand and creates a diverse infrastructure. This enables 

the Council to:  

 

• ensure sufficient schools and places in a locality; 

• secure sufficient early years & childcare places; 

• ensure sufficient post 16 provision; 

• provide appropriate education provision for children with special educational 

needs and disabilities; 

• promote high education standards; 

• ensure fair access to educational opportunity; 

• promote the fulfilment of every child’s education potential and 

• promote diversity and parental choice. 

Coventry’s Children and Young People 2018 plan sets out the outcomes which 

organisations in Coventry will work together to deliver so they can provide the 

best support possible for children, young people and their families.   

 

There are four key priorities within the plan: 

▪ Early help 

▪ Be healthy 

▪ Stay safe 

▪ Education, training and employment 

Page 353



 

 

Page 4 of 56 

 
 

 

 

With the Council being statutorily responsible for commissioning school places in all 

schools, including Academies and Free Schools, these are considered equally in the City 

Council’s planning of school places. 

 

This strategy provides, for the longest possible planning horizon, until September 2023 for 

Primary and September 2025 for Secondary, to ensure that need is anticipated and met in 

a transparent, objective, cost effective and sustainable way. The purpose behind the One 

Strategic Plan was to provide political leadership for an annual review and audit of the 

school places being delivered. 

 

1.3. Coordinated Strategic approach 
 

A memorandum of understanding (MOU) has been established in order to ensure 

partnership commitment between the City Council and Coventry Secondary Schools which 

will support the strategic plan for the delivery of additional school places 2018/19 to 

2024/2025. This approach will be rolled out to primary and special to mitigate or meet 

demand through a partnership strategy. 

 

This partnership commitment signifies a statement of intent to collaborate and work in 

partnership to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people in 

Coventry, ensure the sustainability of Coventry schools, and to enable the City Council to 

meet its statutory obligations.  

 

The MOU has established a partnership commitment concerning the below principles: 

 

1. The Council and all Coventry schools have a shared interest in ensuring all pupils 

have access to good quality local provision.  

2. School organisation issues rarely affect schools in isolation; therefore, strong LA/ 

school partnerships are important to understanding the impact of school organisation 

decisions. 

3. A partnership approach is therefore required to create the strategic plan based on 

a set of agreed partnership principles: 

• collective moral purpose & accountability; 

• openness & transparency; 

• expansion & investment of existing schools where possible and relevant – 

against agreed criteria – as set out in point 4; 

• working with current partners and 

• never knowingly undermining another school. 

These principles will underpin the way Education Capital Strategy work together and how 

the plan is created. 

 

Page 354



 

 

Page 5 of 56 

 
 

 

 

4. A basic requirement of this strategy is that it ensures the right number of school 

places to meet pupil’s needs, in the right locations, at the time they are needed. 

Commissioning additional school places at existing schools will therefore be assessed 

against the following criteria: 

  

• Net Capacity- Education Capital Strategy will wherever possible seek to expand 

schools in whole forms of entry; 

• Current performance of school – LA or Ofsted categorisation. Guidance on 

school organisation is clear that outcomes should lead to school improvement 

and increased attainment levels; 

• The location of the school relative to the expected pupil need. It is desirable for 

schools to be at the heart of the community that they serve in order to provide 

easy access to their facilities by children, young people and their families, and 

the resident community;  

• Current size of school – maximum 10 forms of entry and minimum 7 forms of 

entry where possible; 

• Popularity of the school. Education Capital Strategy will seek to commission 

additional places, when needed, at schools with high levels of parental 

preference in the locality, looking closely at first choices and those schools that 

are oversubscribed; 

• Physical ability of school to expand including any site or potential planning 

constraints; 

• Cost of expansion. It will be important to ensure that any proposals represent 

good value for money and are in keeping with available capital funds. All school 

buildings and estates in the City should be of the highest quality within the 

resources available; 

• Diversity of provision. Coventry has a broad variety of provision, with both 

voluntary-aided, trust schools, in addition to a large number of academies of 

various types. The LA seeks to maintain or increase levels of diversity and choice 

for parents wherever possible. In considering school planning, the aim will be to 

maintain the balance of denominational provision, unless parental preferences 

via the admissions process provide evidence that change is required. In 

considering places at voluntary aided schools the LA has a strong relationship 

with the appropriate Diocesan and Church Authorities, and Education Capital 

Strategy regard this partnership working as implicit to good planning; 

• SEN/ Inclusion. Wherever possible any school changes should seek to promote 

greater inclusion for those pupils having SEN and/or disabilities, by providing 

specialist provision within /linked to mainstream schools or academies. The 

benefits of this approach are that it; maximises the opportunity for children and 

young people to be included within their local community, minimises journey 

times to and from school and makes the optimal use of the revenue funding 

available to support such individuals or groups and; 

Page 355



 

 

Page 6 of 56 

 
 

 

 

• Governing Body/ Trustees support. Proposals will normally require careful 

negotiation with schools and their governors to align aspirations for 

development. Where proposals are subject to statutory notice processes, 

Education Capital Strategy will ensure that all prescribed consultees have the 

opportunity to have their say before any decisions are taken by the LA. 

 

It is therefore intended to develop through this agreement, a spirit of co-operation between 

the Council, governing bodies and school leadership teams that will help all parties to 

achieve a fair and open way forward to meet the education needs of local families and their 

children.  

 

2 Key strategic priorities 
 

Where possible, Education Capital Strategy will consult with all schools and decide upon 

the most cost-effective way forward.  

 

Education Capital Strategy are committed to ensuring all schools are kept informed with 

regards to long term school planning. Education Capital Strategy will, where possible, 

design buildings which enable schools to be flexible in the longer-term regarding use of 

buildings and grounds. 

 

Each year Education Capital Strategy will communicate to all schools our proposals for 

new schools, expansions and the long-term demand by area. Schools will be invited to 

comment and declare an interest in expansion.  

 

Education Capital Strategy are committed, where expansions and funds allow, to address 

the following areas 

 

• Local places for local children 
Education Capital Strategy are committed to providing school places for children in their 
local community whenever possible.   
 

• Removal of half forms of entry by increasing or decreasing (where 
appropriate) schools PAN 

In order to provide schools with stability when organising classes, Education Capital 
Strategy will look to remove half forms of entry, where possible. A number of schools in the 
City are operating with half forms of entry (e.g. admit 45 or other multiples of 15) this often 
requires the school to organise into mixed age classes in order to provide financial viability 
towards covering the cost of a full time teacher. Whilst it is possible to operate in this 
manner, it is more challenging for teachers and can be unpopular with parents. The local 
authority will look to remove half forms of entry where possible, particularly through 
expansion programmes. 
 

• Increase 1 form of entry (FE) to 2 forms of entry (FE) 

Page 356



 

 

Page 7 of 56 

 
 

 

 

When expansion is required, if possible and appropriate Education Capital Strategy will 
look to expand schools to 2 (FE) to provide better financial stability.  
 

• Incorporate SEND facilities within mainstream schools 
To make best use of education facilities and increase inclusion for pupils with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities, Education Capital Strategy are developing schemes 
to include SEND facilities within mainstream schools and expand capacity. 
   

• Address safeguarding issues relating to buildings and grounds 
Education Capital Strategy are committed to addressing any safeguarding within schools 
relating to the school building or grounds and will address any issues identified in a timely 
manner to ensure the safety of children in Coventry schools 
 

• Address buildings defects and Equality Act noncompliance 
Where funds allow, Education Capital Strategy will address any identified defects. All 
school buildings in Coventry should be accessible to all and up to an equal standard. 
 

• Addressing condition issues particularly those that are unsustainable in 
terms of energy efficiency 

Where funds allow, Education Capital Strategy will collaborate with the Climate change 
and Sustainability team to address inefficient school buildings and support the City Council 
Sustainability strategy.  

 

3 Maintaining Available Capacity 
 

Education planning areas are used by the LA to assess the supply and demand of school 

places. The areas are proposed by the LA and agreed by the Education Skills Funding 

Agency (ESFA). Any changes to planning areas must be agreed through this process. 

Coventry City Council applied to change its planning areas in February 2018, these were 

accepted and approved in April 2018. Please see attached appendices 1-4 which detail 

the planning area boundaries and in which planning areas schools are sited.  Whilst 

Education use these areas to plan, there is recognition that the boundaries are not rigid 

and there is significant movement across these boundaries as parental preference and 

flexibility changes each year.  

 

There is a need to maintain a certain amount of capacity within a given area to allow for 

flexibility to meet parental preference as much as possible, enable in-year transfers and 

allow families moving to an area to be able to secure a place at a local school or for each 

of their children at the same school.1  

The DfE previously recommended that Local Authorities should retain between 4% and 

8% capacity per planning areas as surplus to accommodate ‘In Year’ applications/growth. 

 
1 The School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) Regulations 2012, Section 4.—(1) states that ‘No infant (Year 
Reception, Year 1, and Year 2) class may contain more than 30 pupils while an ordinary teaching session is 
conducted by a single school teacher.’ 

Page 357



 

 

Page 8 of 56 

 
 

 

 

This guidance lapsed in 2014, and now the DfE recommend that LA should monitor its own 

capacity to reasonable levels. Within Coventry LA this figure is determined as 2% for 

Secondary and aiming for 4% for Primary.  

 

This is due to high levels of In-Year variance the city is experiencing. For the most part this 

3-4% capacity will be measured within a planning area. However, Education recognise that 

where there are planning areas with a low Published Admission Number (PAN) or 

oversubscribed schools, 4% capacity may be unattainable or lead to issues with financial 

viability in the school. It is also noted that due to the size and nature of the City, particularly 

in relation to secondary pupils where freedom of movement is more accessible, if a 

planning area is consistently oversubscribed it is unlikely to be able to maintain this level 

of surplus capacity. Similarly, if a planning area contains less popular schools, the surplus 

margin may be much larger. Therefore the 4% surplus will also be monitored as a city-wide 

aggregate.  

 

This policy has been factored in the planning and analysis set out further on in this strategy. 

Current and forecast capacity and how it aligns to the maintaining capacity policy is 

available within Appendix 3 (primary) and Appendix 4 (secondary). 

 

3.1 School Admissions  
 

All aspects of school admissions are based on the School Admissions Code. It governs 

the way all schools set their admissions oversubscription criteria, ensures compliance with 

local co-ordinated schemes, makes offers of places and allows for school admissions 

appeals. It also places the local authority as a regulator for all other admission authorities 

within its boundaries, with the expectation that the local authority will report those 

admission authorities whose admission arrangements are not in line with the School 

Admissions Code to the school’s adjudicator.  

 

The School Admissions Code places a requirement on all local authorities to publish a ‘co-

ordinated scheme’ and manage the admissions process. This booklet is published and 

made available to all parents, via the Council website, and sets out how to apply for a 

school place for 

• Primary (Year R)  

• Junior (Year 3)  

• Secondary (Year 7) 

• University Technical Colleges (Year 10) 

 

For all children, the authority will try to offer a place at the school listed first. Parents are 

advised to read the admissions policies of all the schools requested so they can judge the 

likelihood, or not, of being offered a place at the school they most prefer. When a school 

Page 358

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1001050/School_admissions_code_2021.pdf


 

 

Page 9 of 56 

 
 

 

 

receives more applications than it has places available, Education Capital Strategy need a 

fair and consistent way of deciding how to offer the places available. 

 

 

3.2 Home to School transport  
 

Coventry City Council provides home to school transport to pupils in accordance with 

national legislation. In instances where a place at a school named as a parental preference, 

cannot be offered to a pupil and the alternative place offered is above the distance criteria 

set out below (or use of a walking route that is deemed ‘unsafe’ is required), CCC will 

provide transport to the alternative school. 

 

Pupils up until the age of eight: 2 miles 

Pupils aged eight and over: 3 miles  

 

Please click here for more information on Home to School Transport 

 

4  Funding 
The provision of additional school places usually requires Capital investment into the 

school. There are currently several avenues for funding additional school places. This is 

usually provided as a grant through the DfE or by requesting contributions from new 

developments. The following section examines the different sources through which funding 

can be claimed.  

 

• Basic Need Grant funding  

 

Capital allocations to meet projected shortfalls in provision are provided by the Education 

Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to all local authorities based on the data provided in the 

annual School Capacity return (SCAP).2 This funding is required to help fulfil the Local 

Authorities duty to make sure there are enough school places for children in their local 

area. The level of funding is determined by the demand for school places in the city. This 

return informs the ESFA of the expected change in pupil numbers over the next few years, 

the current capacity of schools to meet those numbers and the planned changes to that 

capacity. There is pressure on capital budgets for new school places across the country 

and it is likely that allocations will continue to be limited for the foreseeable future. It is 

important, therefore, to consider value for money in the process of commissioning school 

places. 

Historic Funding received £14,665,000.00 

19/20 Allocation received £3,913,000.00 

20/21 Allocation received £6,237,000.00 

 
2 The forecast pupil numbers methodology for the SCAP return can be found in Appendix 7. 

Page 359

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/61/schools_and_schooling/756/school_travel_passes/1
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/61/schools_and_schooling/756/school_travel_passes/1


 

 

Page 10 of 56 

 
 

 

 

21/22 Allocation part-received £23,733,503.95 

22/23 Allocation expected £12,853,000.00 

Total Funding £61,401,134.95 
 

The Chancellor, in October 2019, confirmed details of the Spending Round. The Spending 

Round focused on day-to-day departmental resource budgets for 2020-21 (as well as a 3-

year settlement for core schools’ resource funding as an exception). It did not consider 

departmental capital budgets, as these have already been set for 2020-21. A full multi-year 

spending review was due to follow in 2020, but due to the Global pandemic, this was only 

carried out as an annual review on Basic Need and at the present time there is no 

commitment to funding for a longer period.  One practical consequence for local authorities 

is that the DfE are not able to announce Basic Need allocations for places needed in 2021 

onwards. This uncertainty will have implications for the way that local authorities plan and 

deliver basic need projects.3 

 

• Section 106 (S106) funding / Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding  

 

The SCAP return asks local authorities to provide forecasts of pupil numbers that exclude 

pupils brought to the area by new housing development: there is an expectation that 

provision for these pupils will be funded through contributions provided by the developers. 

The ESFA expect the infrastructure required as a result of housing developments to be 

mitigated by S106 funding/ CIL funding.  

 

The Local Authority will seek to access funding from developers towards providing 

additional education provision, through the expansion of existing schools or the opening of 

new schools, when the predicted impact of a new housing development creates a shortfall. 

 

Where new housing development creates a demand for school places in excess of those 

available, the LA will work with developers to ensure that the appropriate contributions for 

the provision of additional school places are given. Where a housing development yields a 

large number of pupils and justifies new provision, it may be necessary to secure land. The 

land would be used for education purposes, to safeguard the LA’s statutory responsibility 

to provide sufficient school places.   

 

This will continue to be achieved through Section 106 agreements. Education will seek the 

maximum contribution from developers to support the provision of additional places that 

Education Capital Strategy believe is proportionate to the impact of the development. It is 

critical that developers make a financial contribution to school places as, without it, the LA 

will be unable to deliver the required provision. Section 106 also includes asking for Primary 

and Secondary SEN contributions to aid in commissioning additional special school places 

 
3 A full copy of the letter received from Lord Agnew can be found Appendix documents 

Page 360



 

 

Page 11 of 56 

 
 

 

 

as a result of the development.  Contributions are requested fairly based on their proximity 

to the development, all education types are considered and some rounding within the pupil 

yield calculation may see an additional place be requested when rounded up to the nearest 

whole pupil place.4 

 

Given the housing trajectory provided by the Local Plan as to how many dwellings the 

Council plans to deliver the maximum contribution5 that will be requested is as follows. 

 

Funding 

Received/Expected 

in Financial Year 

beginning 

Total Primary 

Contribution 

Total 

Secondary 

Contribution 

Total SEN 

Contribution 

Apr-19 £879,314 £680,739 £58,336 

Apr-20 £2,332,623 £1,805,849 £154,752 

Apr-21 £3,871,422 £2,997,142 £256,840 

Apr-22 £6,869,637 £5,318,272 £455,749 

Apr-23 £5,929,260 £4,590,260 £393,362 

Apr-24 £5,410,221 £4,188,435 £358,927 

Apr-25 £5,703,325 £4,415,348 £378,373 

Apr-26 £5,147,648 £3,985,159 £341,508 

Apr-27 £5,685,006 £4,401,166 £377,157 

Apr-28 £5,343,051 £4,136,434 £354,471 

Apr-29 £5,343,051 £4,136,434 £354,471 

Apr-30 £5,251,456 £4,065,524 £348,395 

 

• Centrally funded new schools via the Government’s Free School programme. 

 

• Capital Receipts – the sale of former education settings deemed surplus to 

requirements can be ring fenced to education, in exceptional circumstances.  

 

• Capital contributions from individual school budgets and/or bids by Academies for 

‘Capital Infrastructure Funding’ (CIF). 

 

• Capital funding allocations for ‘Voluntary Aided’ schools (LCVAP funding). 

• Special Provision Fund (2018 – 2021) £3.9 million - Summer 2018 first tranche of 

funding received, with the second tranche by Summer 2019 and the third and final 

tranche received in Summer 2020.  The deadline for updating and republishing the 

 
4 The methodology for the pupil yield calculation is included in appendix 2. 
5 Please note where requests cannot be justified or will not be Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) compliant, the 
funds received may be lower than outlined in this table. 

Page 361



 

 

Page 12 of 56 

 
 

 

 

final plan showing where all money has been allocated and will be spent against, 

was submitted in March 2021. 

 

• High Needs Provision Capital Allocation – this was announced in November 2020 

as a National allocation of £300 million for 2021-22 for new school places for 

children with special educational needs and disabilities, with the remaining £20 

million will be used for specific High Needs capital projects to support LAs facing 

high Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficits.6  Of the £280 million allocated to LAs, 

Coventry City Council were advised that Education Capital Strategy would receive 

£2.4 million and in June 2021 the proposed short grant assurance data return 

showing its allocation against identified schools was submitted, with the full funding 

being received in July 2021. 

 

 

5  Housing Developments  
 

The Coventry Local Plan 2011-2031 has followed a period of public examination and 

consultation on proposed modifications. The Inspector did publish the reports covering the 

Local Plan and City Centre Area Action Plan. These were approved and the Council ratified 

the plan on the 5th of December 2017. 

 

New housing developments can create additional demand for existing and new education 

facilities. This new housing is estimated to lead to over 13,200 additional children across 

all age ranges. There are also significant numbers of housing developments receiving 

planning permission outside the local plan process, which are already beginning to impact 

on local schools. Coventry do not ask for developer contributions on one-bedroom 

dwellings, as they are unlikely to generate either primary, secondary or sixth form pupils. 

As part of the Section 106 process, Coventry calculate pupil yield from developments which 

are designed for familial occupation, i.e. 2 bed dwellings and above.  The Education team 

are notified on all Coventry planning applications, whereby they make an assessment of 

the development make-up and any dwellings of 2+ bedroom; not deemed for student or 

care home provision are assessed and responded to within the statutory 14 day 

consultation period.   

 

With the evident rising cohorts in Secondary, post-16 and SEN (all phases) Education will 

continue to defend their position in terms of the contribution levels requested due to the 

current and continued pressure demand in this phase of Education.  However, regarding 

the early years and primary contribution requests there is currently an opportunity to 

discuss any requests and amend an Education request if the evidence supports.   

 
6 A full copy of the letter received from Baroness Berridge can be found in Appendix documents 

Page 362



 

 

Page 13 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

Contributions are requested fairly based on their proximity to the development, all 

education types are equally considered and some rounding within the pupil yield 

calculation may see an additional place be requested when rounded up to the nearest 

whole pupil place. 

 

From September 2019, the pupil yield figures for Coventry are follows: 

 Primary Secondary 
Sixth 

Form 

Primary 

SEND 

Secondary 

SEND 

Early 

Years 

Pupils generated per 1 

eligible dwelling 
0.39 0.23 0.04 0.01 0.01 0.08 

Pupils generated per 

100 eligible dwelling 
40 24 4 1 1 8 

 

The pupil yield methodology for how these figures have been calculated is included in 

appendix 2.7 

 

Rounding is to 2 decimal places and across multiple formula, so this in turn can add an 

additional pupil once these rounding’s are factored into the nearest whole pupil place. 

 

 

6 Providing School Places 
There are two consistent methods for providing additional school places, through either 

school expansions or providing new schools. 

 

6.1 School expansions 
Where a predicted shortfall of places has been identified, the most common solution is to 

expand an existing school. Education Capital Strategy will consult with all schools in the 

area and decide upon the most cost-effective way forward after considering expansion 

opportunities available within various school sites and costs.  

 

There are several factors taken into consideration as set out below: 

 

Criteria How is this Measured Source 

1 

Access – 

Serving Area 

of Need 

Pupil number forecasts. 

Data Team / Education & 

Learning 

 

Locality of schools in relation to demand. Education & Learning 

Long term planning applications in the adjoining 

area. 

Planning Team / 

Education & Learning 

 
7 These figures have been rounded to two decimal places.  

Page 363



 

 

Page 14 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Proposed admission arrangements. Education & Learning 

2 

Suitability of 

site and 

buildings for 

expansion 

Net capacity of schools. 
Property Information 

Team/Academies 

Size of site 
Property Information 

Team 

Capacity of existing M&E to accommodate 

expansion requirements. 

Property Information 

Team / School 

Planning issues including highways and transport 

impact. 
Highways / Other 

Potential for the site to bring investment that 

would support the development. 
Education & Learning  

Barriers to expansion including listed buildings, 

grant funding conditions, third-party impact. 
Education & Learning 

Demonstrable commitment to making maximum 

use of the existing school buildings. 
School 

3 

Leadership 

capacity & 

Quality of 

provision 

OFSTED reports. Education & Learning 

School position in terms of pupil attainment. Education & Learning 

Capacity to maintain standards and manage 

change during build programme. 

Education & Learning / 

School 

4 

Consequential 

impact of 

project 

Impact on pupil numbers at other local provision. Education & Learning 

Potential for expansion project to improve 

condition need of existing buildings within funding 

envelope. 

Property Information 

Team 

Current number of forms of entry. 
Education & Learning 

 

Early Years provision. Education & Learning 

 

6.1.1 Partnership working 
There is an expectation that small schools or schools with known budget pressures will 

work in partnership or collaborate with suitable partner schools whenever possible, to 

achieve economies of scale, for example: through federation and shared 

staffing/resources. This may help to maintain financial viability and remain sustainable 

longer term. 

 

6.1.2 Size 
The minimum size for a primary school will vary across local authority borders; however, it 

is an important consideration when looking to ensure the long-term viability of Coventry 

City Schools. When looking at expanding primary school provision, the local authority will 

look to expand primary schools from 1FE to 2FE where there is demand for places, to help 

with the financial viability of those schools. Where new schools are required, the preferred 

model will be for 2FE primaries, although specific context may require smaller or larger 

schools to be provided.  

 

Page 364



 

 

Page 15 of 56 

 
 

 

 

6.2 New schools 
The need for new schools often arises when there are no opportunities to expand existing 

local schools or where new housing developments are expected to bring large numbers of 

new families to an area, where no existing provision can accommodate the influx of people.  

 

When the need to establish a new school arises, there is a presumption in law that these 

schools will be Free Schools. The role of the local authority is to identify a site for the school 

and to seek applications to run the new school from potential sponsors. The final decision 

on who should sponsor a new school is taken by the Regional Schools Commissioner 

(RSC), whilst the RSC now has a requirement to consult with the LA on any new free 

school proposal, the overall decision is outside of local authority control. 

 

It is the responsibility of the local authority to seek sponsors for these new schools, 

therefore if a new school is required, the local authority would look to engage with potential 

suitable organisations including existing high-quality providers within Coventry. The council 

intends to work collaboratively with the ESFA and office of the Regional Schools 

Commissioner and other external providers if new school(s) are required.  

 

In order to provide sufficient Early Years places across Coventry, where existing provision 

is at capacity, all new build schools will include facilities for Early Years provision, and SEN 

provision. For Secondary, similar inclusion facilities will be provided. 

 

7.0 Coventry Context   

7.1. Characteristics of Coventry provision for children 
 

7.1.1 Academisation 

 

There are currently 86 primary schools in Coventry. This includes the Primary phase of the 

Seva School. The academy conversion process which was initially popular with Secondary 

Schools is now starting to spread to Primary schools as Multi-Academy Trusts expand and 

encompass more schools across wider areas. These are broken down as follows.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8 Please note information correct as of the 12/08/2021. 

Page 365



 

 

Page 16 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Table 3:  Academies, maintained schools and schools in process, a comparison by 
phase (primary, secondary, special, all-through and other)   

School Type 
 In 
process 

 
Maintained 

Free 
Schools 

Voluntary 
Controlled 
Schools 

Voluntary 
Aided 
Schools 

 
Academies 

Total 
(all 
schools 
of type 
in 
county) 

Primary (inc. 
Inf, Jun, Pri) 

0 46 1 2 6 30 85 

Secondary  0 0 3 0 0 18 21 

Special (all 
types) 

1 5 0 0 0 2 8 

All-through 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

 

 

7.2 Special Schools 

 

Coventry maintains six special schools and commissions places at two special academies 

within the local area, offering the following provision: 

 

School Type of Need Age Range 

Castlewood *generic learning difficulties Primary: 4 to 11 

Kingsbury 

Academy 

general learning difficulties and 

autism 

Primary: 4 to 11 

Tiverton *generic learning difficulties Primary: 4 to 11 

Sherbourne *generic learning difficulties All age: 4 to 19 

Baginton *generic learning difficulties Secondary: 11 to 19 

Riverbank 

Academy 

*generic learning difficulties Secondary: 11 to 19 

Corley Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) Secondary: 11 to 18 

Woodfield Social Emotional Mental Health 

(SEMH) 

All age: 4 to 16 

* referred to locally as ‘broad spectrum’ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 366



 

 

Page 17 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

7.3  Population Context 

 
 

The 2020 Mid-Year estimates 379,387 people live within the City boundaries. (2020 Mid-

Year ONS estimates)  

 

The birth cohort is starting to stabilise to more regular levels, this means the pressure on 

primary places is starting to ease, although there are still localised areas of pressure within 

distinct planning areas of the city. The transient nature of a city’s population and the social 

mobility of its residents mean that births, and GP registration data will be updated quarterly 

from the NHS trust, so that Coventry City Council can more effectively track pre-school 

cohorts and how they move around the city. This social mobility, and any unprecedented 

migration to areas of the city may lead to increased localised pressure which will require 

monitoring to ensure that additional school places are not immediately planned for when it 

is known that the pressure will dissipate as the families migrate again. 

  

The latest data from the health authorities gives us some key headlines: 

 

• The birth cohort peaked for entry into Reception in September 2016 and, with the 

existing housing stock considered, has begun to re-stabilise and in some areas of 

the city started to decrease. Although future developments within the local plan may 

lead to a future rise in birth rates in the specified locations.  

 

• The current Year 4 is the largest cohort currently in Coventry Primary schools, 

September 2023 entry to Secondary, and will severely impact upon the availability 

of places within the city. 

 

 

3000

3200

3400

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

4600

4800

5000

Si
ze

 o
f 

C
o

h
o

rt

Year Entering Primary School

Birth Cohort

Page 367



 

 

Page 18 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

7.4 Early Years 
In line with its statutory duties under the Childcare Act 2006 and 2016, Coventry Local 

Authority (LA) is required to regularly complete a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment to 

monitor supply and demand of childcare provision within the city. This assessment is a 

measurement of provision type, quantity, supply and demand within each of the Coventry 

wards. The purpose of the assessment is to identify current gaps in the childcare market 

and propose recommendations to address these.   

Section 6 of the 2006 Act gave Local Authorities a new duty of ‘Securing, so far as is 

“reasonably practicable”, that the provision of local childcare is sufficient to meet the 

requirements of parents and carers to enable them to work or undertake education or 

training leading to employment. 

 

The provision of early years’ education and childcare in Coventry is provided by 

• one maintained nursery school 

• school nursery classes 

• early years provision run by schools on site (in addition to nursery class) 

• private, voluntary and independent settings (PVI) which include childminders, 

preschools, day nurseries, out of school provision and holiday schemes 

 

9 

Childcare 

on non- 

domestic 

premises 

Childminders 

Nursery 

classes/ 

school 

Out of 

school 

provision 

inc. 

breakfast 

club 

Holiday 

schemes 

Childcare 

on school 

sites 

Independent 

school sites 

offering early 

years places 

Number of 

settings 
92 241 68 81 28 11 4 

Number of 

places 
5,064 1,524 3,398 n/a n/a 349 n/a 

 

In summary, early years’ education and childcare provision within Coventry has continued 

to grow and the Ofsted quality profile of providers continues to remain high. 

 

Coventry LA has a statutory duty to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, there is 

sufficient childcare to meet the needs of working parents, those studying to work and to 

secure prescribed early years provision free of charge. As the extended hours entitlement 

(30 hours) for 3- and 4-year olds has become embedded, demand has changed with 

parents seeking more flexible childcare provision.  For example, provision that is open for 

 
9 Data correct as of 1st April 2021. 

Page 368



 

 

Page 19 of 56 

 
 

 

 

longer hours, stretched across school holidays or open during the weekend to support 

parental working patterns. 

 

In order to achieve participation targets for Early Education Entitlement Funded places 

(EEF) and support Coventry children to achieve a good level of development at the end of 

the Foundation Stage, the following points form the basis of the Early Years’ service, work 

stream action plans; 

• increase capacity of childcare in line with growth and employment in Coventry to 

meet the statutory requirements for all children aged 0-14 years old (and up to 

18 years old for children with Special Educational Needs or Disability) 

• Assess the variety of options for older children within primary and secondary 

during non-school hours, including before/after school and holiday provision. 

Explore demand and take up of this provision to inform actions in specific areas 

of the city. Provide a targeted focus on the quality delivery of services for this 

age group 

• Childcare and early year’s provision to be considered when new housing is 

planned, to ensure any new families moving into the area, or any increase in 

overall population, can access childcare and early years provision to meet their 

needs. Consider opportunities for Section 106 funding to support capacity 

development (contributions from developers towards the costs of providing 

community and social infrastructure which are required as a result of new 

development taking place) 

• Ensure parents are aware of the support available to them to reduce the cost of 

childcare including early year’s entitlements and Tax-Free Childcare (TFC). 

Encourage childcare providers to register to deliver Tax Free Childcare. Work 

with employers and Job Centre Plus to ensure working parents and those 

moving into employment are aware of support to meet the costs of childcare, 

flexibility options and to promote childcare vacancies locally, to support parental 

choice 

• Support partnership working between schools to offer sustainable models of 

delivery (including provision across the school holidays). Support partnership 

working across different types of provision (including sessional provision and 

childminders) to ensure parents have access to flexible and stretched provision, 

and providers can maximise occupancy to ensure sustainability of provision 

• Continue to increase the take-up of all EEF places.  Support opportunities for 

providers to maximise funding across all early year’s entitlements, in order to 

protect provision for 2-year olds and 3 and 4-year olds (universal) 

• Drive workforce development improvements within the sector to address growth 

in services and the decreasing interest in childcare as a career choice within the 

sector 

Page 369



 

 

Page 20 of 56 

 
 

 

 

• Promote childminding as a profession in Coventry to increase overall numbers 

and reverse the decline in the number of people choosing to undertake 

childminding as a profession. This is a national issue 

• Investigate possible barriers for parents and providers to the take up and delivery 

of provision for children with SEND. Ensure information available for parents 

identifies inclusive provision available across the city 

• Work across the early year’s sector to improve the attainment level for all 

children at the end of the foundation stage. Reduce levels of inequality and 

narrow the educational gap between those most disadvantaged and their peers 

• Monitor and drive quality improvement of Ofsted outcomes to ensure the 

availability of sufficient, high quality childcare  

 

The Early Years’ Service has created several action plans which detail how these 

recommendations will be delivered and support the ongoing management of the childcare 

market.  Education Capital Strategy have seen the childcare needs of Coventry families 

constantly change and demand has been further impacted upon by the pandemic. This 

may take some time to stabilise. The current focus for early years and childcare provision 

in Coventry is to sustain current childcare places and monitor the availability of flexible EEF 

places, whilst continuing to develop partnership working which facilitates choice for families 

across the city.  

 

7.5 Primary Context 
 

Significant amount of work continues by the School Improvement team, in liaison with the 

schools, there are currently 10 Ofsted rated ‘Requires Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ 

Coventry Schools.  

 

Coventry has been delivering additional primary places since 2008. The vast majority of 

these have been OFSTED rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ schools.  

 

The below table highlights the phasing of these expansions and the overall number of 

additional places added. The 37.3FE added in permanent format equates to 1120 

additional Reception places for children. There were a further 2 bulge classes added at 

Edgewick, and at Moseley which temporarily increased capacity in Reception for a single 

year before reducing back down to the agreed PAN. 

 

Given the shifting movement of births within Coventry from the Binley and North East of 

the city, which has a falling birth rate, towards the North and West of the City where births 

are starting to stabilise and, in some areas, continuing to increase. As this cohort moves 

through the primary phase, alongside existing primary cohorts, and starts to impact upon 

secondary places the level of secondary school places required will rise.  

 

Page 370



 

 

Page 21 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

 

8 Future Need 
The below outlines in response to the context of Coventry school age population, broken 
into Primary, Secondary, and SEN sections. 
 

8.1 Primary  
From 2011, Coventry undertook a significant primary expansion programme adding circa 

37 forms of entry to the primary capacity. This was to accommodate the rising pupil 

numbers at the time, however with the birth rate now starting to fall, the surplus capacity 

across Primary Schools is rising 

 

The below table breaks down the current rates by catchment area. As can be seen births 

are declining in a large proportion of the planning areas, whilst in certain areas of the city 

the birth rate is continuing to increase or stabilise: 

 

PLANNING AREA PAN Sep-20 Sep-21 Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24 

West Central 270 260 241 232 265 258 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

P
la

ce
s 

ad
d

ed
 a

s 
Fo

rm
s 

o
f 

En
tr

y

Primary Forms of Entry Added

Additional Permanent FE Created in that Year Cumulative FE Added

Page 371



 

 

Page 22 of 56 

 
 

 

 

North West 210 218 202 182 220 213 

Longford 450 516 469 510 457 462 

East 435 349 330 327 315 297 

South 405 378 369 370 319 280 

North East 395 389 390 333 343 368 

North 315 403 347 343 337 304 

West 225 223 199 241 192 206 

South East 180 210 228 210 224 170 

East Central 555 546 483 464 495 448 

Coundon 240 126 134 149 146 127 

Tile Hill 195 270 254 206 231 195 

North Central 540 598 550 558 544 498 

Binley 270 247 213 256 211 178 

  4685 4733 4409 4381 4299 4004 

 

Given this reduction in birth rate amongst the vast majority of the planning area, it is likely 

to have a significant impact upon the number of surplus school places in the City.  Since 

2017 Education have been working with schools to reduce PAN, to date, 11 schools have 

reduced as outlined below: 

 
Year of 

PAN 
reduction 

West 
Central 

Longford East South 
North 
East 

East 
Central 

Coundon 
North 

Central 
Binley 

2018 
Spon 

Gate (60 
to 30) 

Little 
Heath (60 

to 30) 
            

St 
Bartholomew's 

(60 to 30) 

2019           
Frederick 
Bird (120 

to 90) 
      

2020     
Richard 
Lee (90 
to 60) 

      
Coundon 

(90 to 
60) 

John 
Gulson 
(90 to 

60) 

  

2021   
Alderman's 
Green (90 

to 60) 
  

St 
Thomas 

More (60 
to 30) 

Whittle 
Academy 

(45 to 
30) 

        

2022               
Hill Farm 

(90 to 
60) 

  

 

Education Capital Strategy are working towards a sustainable level of surplus places in the 

city. There are local fluctuations in birth rates and migration rates which create challenges. 

It is our intention to ensure sufficient places whilst avoiding oversupply and without 

exceeding 8% surplus places within a planning area. To meet this level may require further 

PAN reductions where appropriate. 

Page 372



 

 

Page 23 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

Given this forecast level of surplus for the plan period, planning areas may want to look at 

potentially temporarily decommissioning places to adjust supply to meet future reductions 

in demand. Coventry Local Authority have, and will continue to, facilitate these 

conversations between head teachers, governing bodies and school finance through both 

planning area and individual school meetings, supported by producing and issuing Primary 

Position Statements.  This highlights which schools may need to consider PAN reductions 

and what this change would look like for individual and neighbouring planning areas.  

 

Headteachers are encouraged to contact the Local Authority to discuss the PAN of the 

school if they are concerned about the number of surplus places the school is likely to hold. 

 

Coventry City Council holds a statutory responsibility to provide school places, part of this 

duty is in relation to new housing developments, as such, Education have secured two 

parcels of land within Coventry. These sites are required, as despite the falling birth rate, 

the number of homes within the local plan and with approved planning permission will 

increase demand within the local area. These Primary school sites will only be brought 

online in conjunction with the housing developments and the occupation of these homes. 

 

In 2018, a planning application was submitted for a significant housing development as 

part of the Eastern Green Sustainable Urban Extension. All 3,300 homes have now been 

approved, Coventry City Council has secured land to allow the building of up to a 3FE 

Primary School.  Coventry City Council has secured 2.7 hectares of land within the 

development and will have 15 years from the date the site is transferred to the Council to 

construct and open the Primary School.  

 

The neighbouring schools to this securing land are St Andrews Infant and Eastern Green 

Junior, the only remaining infant and junior schools within the city. This housing 

development provides the opportunity for both to schools to extend their age ranges to 

become all-through Primary Schools. Education would look to engage a move of St 

Andrews from its current site to the new location, extending to a full Reception to Year 6 

cohort, whilst simultaneously working with Eastern Green Junior to expand their current 

provision to a full Reception to Year 6 cohort also. In line with the proposed buildout rate 

of the housing development, this move is programmed to occur in 2027. 

 

A sum of £9,270,000 has been secured for Early Years and Primary, from developers as 

part of the larger Eastern Green site.  The £9m figure was sought following conversations 

with Warwickshire and Northamptonshire on recent new school projects. 

 

The other parcel of land is connected with the planned development in the Keresley area 

of Coventry, with the building of 3000 homes as part of the Sustainable Urban Expansion. 

Page 373



 

 

Page 24 of 56 

 
 

 

 

This has also provided the Council with additional demand and securing land to provide 

Primary education. 

 

There is potential for a nearby existing Coventry primary school to relocate and expand on 

to this site. This primary site has been secured for 5 years from transfer to the Council 

which is likely to take place later in 2021, this means that the use of the site will be required 

by 2026.  

 

 

8.2 Secondary  
 
The large cohort of pupils moving through primary provision is due to impact upon 
secondary provision from September 2018. In order to meet the need for additional 
provision without providing too much surplus capacity in future years, it was agreed to 
expand secondary places using a mixture of temporary ‘bulge’ and permanent expansions.  
 
As set out below, Phase One was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 and outlines the 
planned temporary and permanent increases up to 2021. To address the further forecast 
shortfall of places between 2022 and 2024, Phase Two outlines the agreement between 
the Local Authority and the Coventry Secondary Headteacher Partnership to meet the 
additional places required. This will continue to be reviewed annually in line with updated 
pupil forecasts. 
 
All schools are required to consult as part of the expansion programme. 
 
Phase One 
 

• In September 2018, the LA added an additional 50 places across 5 different 
secondary schools. These were temporary increases and did not require any school 
to expand.   

 

• In September 2019, an additional 8 forms of entry (235 year 7 places) were added 
using a mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry 
schools. 
 

• In September 2020, an additional 2 forms of entry (60 year 7 places) were added 
using a mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry 
schools. 
 

• In September 2021, an additional 6.5 forms of entry (199 year 7 places) were added 
using a mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry 
schools. 

 
The below table demonstrates the sufficiency position if the additional places are added in 
this way:  
 

Page 374



 

 

Page 25 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 
Rising Secondary Cohort 
 

 
 
 
As Education Capital Strategy come to the end of our Phase One projects, Education 
Capital Strategy are starting to see some shortages on certain materials such as timber 
and steel but also an increase on material costs. There is also the added pressure of the 
Covid-19 Global Pandemic, where site personnel numbers can fluctuate in line with 
infection rates and self-isolation.  Education continue to work closely with the project 
delivery lead personnel and the on-site contractors to keep the schools and Trust updated, 
a timely manner.  New mitigation steps and plans are being reviewed and updated 
regularly.   
 
Coming onto phase two of the Secondary expansion programme, Education Capital 
Strategy are also seeing an impact on the increase in estimated project costs in tender 

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

4600

4800

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

PAN Phase 1 permanent Phase 1 temporary

Phase 2 expansions Forecast pupil numbers
(basic need)

Forecast pupil numbers
(incl. housing)

Page 375



 

 

Page 26 of 56 

 
 

 

 

returns for future projects and these have been factored into our future project budgets, as 
detailed below. 
 
Phase Two 
 
The ‘Rising Secondary Cohort’ table above shows how the Phase One of the capital 
programme will meet demand. From September 2022 onwards, with increasing pupils’ 
numbers, there is an additional basic need pressure which will require the delivery of a 
phase 2; also shown on plan in purple.10 To address the forecast shortfall of places and 
provide a sufficient surplus of places city-wide,  the following requirement for additional 
temporary places/bulge classes has been planned: 
 

• In September 2022, an additional 7 forms of entry (210 year 7 places) will be 
needed. 
 

• In September 2023, an additional 10 forms of entry (300 year 7 places) will be 
needed. 
 

• In September 2024, an additional 6 forms of entry (180 year 7 places) will be 
needed. 

 
As part of the initial programme of works for phase 2, Education Capital Strategy identified 
2 forms of entry needed – 1 in September 2022 and 1 in 2023 academic year.  Having 
relooked at this the Education team have removed the 2022 form of entry and identified 
the school who will take1 bulge class in 2023.  
 
The reduction in the September 2022 entry will reduce the number of surplus places for 
admissions Y7 in that year (c.80), but due to forecasts showing higher levels of surplus 
than the current year, this supports the removal of the 1FE originally planned for. 

 
The following table demonstrate how the Phase One and proposed Phase Two options are 
to be delivered: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10 This is in addition to the agreed expansions for 2019 – 2021 (Phase One).  

Page 376



Page 27 of 56 

 

 

School Expansion -
Temporary (bulge) 

PHASE 1 

  

PHASE 2 

Sep-18 Sep-19 Sep-20 Sep-21 Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24 

Bishop 
Ullathorne (10) 

Caludon Castle 
(30) 

President 
Kennedy (30) 

Bishop 
Ullathorne (30) 

Ernesford 
Grange (30) 

Blue Coat (30) 
Cardinal 

Wiseman (30) 

Finham Park 
(30) 

Cardinal 
Wiseman (30) 

Finham Park 2 
(30) 

Blue Coat (10) Foxford (5) 

Blue Coat (30) 
Finham Park 2 

(30) 
Foxford (30) 

West Coventry 
(60) 

Bishop 
Ullathorne (30) 

Foxford (30) 

Cardinal 
Newman (5) Lyng Hall (30) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Stoke Park (30) 
Stoke Park 

(30) Bishop 
Ullathorne (30) 

Coundon Court 
(15) 

Westwood (30) 

Sidney Stringer 
(30) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Sidney Stringer 
(30) 

Sidney Stringer 
(30) 

Whitley (10) Westwood (30) 

West Coventry 
(30) Sidney 

Stringer (30) 
Westwood (30) 

School Expansion - 
Permanent 

  

Cardinal 
Newman (30) 

Barr's Hill (30) 

Barr's Hill (19) 

  

Coundon Court 
(60) Ernesford 

Grange (30) President 
Kennedy (30) 

Whitley (20) 
Finham Park 

(30)  P
age 377



Page 28 of 56 

 

 

Across the Phase One and Phase Two programmes there will be a total 1,134 additional 
places added in Secondary, to support the increase in demand for places across the City 
from September 2018 to September 2024. 
 
Due to the anticipated decline in pupil numbers from 2025, which is forecast to reduce. It 
is expected that the required number of places here will be met by the 2019-2021 
permanent expansions. Therefore, the proposal for Phase Two is to use temporary 
increases. This solution would allow the Coventry Partnership to future proof by avoiding 
an oversupply of places long term and ensuring that no school has a significant amount of 
spaces.  
 
Phase two secondary expansions are being delivered by a mixture of utilising existing 
secondary school capacity up to schools published admission number (PAN), physical 
building expansions on the school site, and the transfer of a LA building to Academy Trust 
to enable the school to accommodate the additional pupils.  
 
The building due to be transferred to Sidney Stringer Academy Trust is the Swanswell 
Centre. The Swanswell Centre currently accommodates pupils from the Coventry 
Extended Learning Centre (CELC). The pupils currently attending this location will be 
moved to the new building at The Link which is being refurbished and expanded. 
Transferring the Swanswell building to The Sidney Singer MAT will allow Sidney Stringer 
Academy to take an additional 90 pupils across the academic years September 2022-2024. 
The Academy do not have the physical capacity to expand due to the school being land 
locked. Further details regarding the CELC move can be found on page 39.  
 
 

8.3 SEND Provision  
Introduction 
 
The Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) School Place Planning Strategy for 
Coventry City Council sets the baseline for specialist provision across the city and 
summarises a range of factors that are driving the need for change over the short to 
medium term.  
 
This strategy gives more in-depth information regarding the current and future SEND pupil 
population and outlines the options available to add or make changes to specialist provision 
for Coventry pupils. The aim of this strategy is to help the City Council, schools, parents 
and the wider community understand the need for specialist provision planning and to 
establish future demand. It will provide a basis against which future specialist provision will 
be planned. 
 
The agreed key principles for meeting the demand for SEND school places is set out below: 

 

• A whole system approach will be adopted, to secure a continuum of provision that 

reflects the continuum of need 

• The majority of children with an EHC Plan will have their needs met within a 

community mainstream school 

Page 378



 

 

Page 29 of 56 

 
 

 

 

• Where possible the current special school(s) estate will be expanded to meet 

demand and ensure sustainability 

• When additional or new provision is required, this will be secured through utilising 

existing vacant or underused education provision   

• The condition of existing provision will be addressed to secure minimum standards 

and maximise capacity 

• The special school offer will negate the need to place out of City because of a 

shortfall in local provision  

• Consideration of reviewing and extending the age range of existing provision to 

address any ‘bottle-necks’ in transition.  

 

The provision strategy to meet the needs of Coventry with SEND includes: 

 

• The further development and review of current enhanced resourced provision 

(ERP), which will lead to a range of ERP bases across the primary and secondary 

phase that reflects current priority areas of need including ASC (Autistic Spectrum 

Condition) and SEMH (Social, Emotional, and Mental Health). 

 

• Prioritisation of the current special school estate to develop it for purpose schools 

within the available capital funds. Explore, where possible and advantageous, the 

opportunity to move, expand and/or rebuild special schools on alternative sites.  

 

• Increase, where required, special secondary provision within the budget envelope 

of the High Needs Block for commissioned places. 

 
 

Number of 
school age 
EHCPs 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

1,349 1,321 1,315 1,292 1,280 1,432 1,559 1,724 1,863 2,084 
 
2,145 

 
2,344 
 

 
The growth displayed above is attributable to both the number of new first-time 

assessments, resulting in an EHC Plan, which has risen by 25% in the last three years and 

the number of young people remaining in Further Education with an EHCP.  Before 2014, 

a Statement of Special Educational Needs would cease at the point a student moved from 

a school to a college.  However, in September 2014 legislation changed, and the Children 

and Families Act came into effect which meant LAs took over responsibility for maintaining 

EHC Plans in colleges until a pupil is aged 25.  Approximately 27% of the EHC Plans 

maintained are for students aged 16 to 25. 

 
The increase in EHC plans in Coventry is displayed in the chart below: 

Page 379



 

 

Page 30 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 
  
 
The increase in the number of plans since 2014, is a clear indicator from the Code of 
Practice (2014), and the extended age range of 25.  There has been a steady increase 
since 2014 to 2020.  A vast increase in plans for 2021 could be a result of COVID-19 and 
may not be a true reflection had the Global Pandemic not happened.   
 
These numbers encompass all pupils with SEND on roll at schools located in Coventry, 

including independent schools and pupils that are resident in Coventry but attend schools 

outside of Coventry. With the number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) 

increasing over the last few years, this has resulted in an increasing number of children in 

high cost Out of City Placements.  

 

National and Local Policy Context 

 

The Government’s vision for children and young people with special educational needs 
(SEN) and disabilities is the same as for all children and young people – that they achieve 
well and lead happy and fulfilled lives. The Children and Families Act 2014 places important 
statutory responsibilities on local authorities for supporting children and young people with 
special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities. This is a vital role that local authorities 
retain in an increasingly school-led education system and one that requires long-term 
strategic planning, informed by detailed local knowledge enhanced through consultation 
with parents and carers, and good relationships with local schools. 
 
Local authorities must ensure there are sufficient good school places for all pupils, 
including those with SEN and disabilities. Through long-term strategic planning Councils 
are seeking to reconfigure specialist places to ensure that they can meet need whilst 
containing spending within the constraints of the High Needs budget and available capital 
resources. 
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

A
xi

s 
Ti

tl
e

Axis Title

Page 380



 

 

Page 31 of 56 

 
 

 

 

The Special Educational Needs & Disability Provision Strategy is part of a wider framework 
of policy documents that support the One Coventry Council Plan (2016-24) which sets out 
the 3 Council priorities: 
 

• Globally connected 

• Locally connected 

• Delivering our priorities 
 
Current School Estate 
 
Specialist SEND Provision located in Coventry is comprised of 8 special schools: six 
maintained special schools and two special academies.  
The total number of commissioned placements at Coventry’s Special Schools, is 

exhausted.  Whilst there is capacity to increase the number of primary placements for 

generic learning difficulty, there is generally no physical capacity to expand secondary 

placements, without capital investment; with the exception of Corley secondary school, 

which caters for autism spectrum conditions (ASC).  

 

The 8 schools are outlined in more detail below: 

School 
 

Description 

Castle Wood 
Special School 

For pupils aged from 4 -11 with a range of learning difficulties from profound 
and multiple, severe to moderate and with varying degrees of autistic 
spectrum conditions.  

Baginton 
Fields 

For pupils aged from 11-18 with a broad range of special educational need 
and disability, Autism, Sensory Impairment, Physical Disability, 
Communication Difficulties and Challenging Behaviours. 
 

Corley Centre For pupils aged from 11-18 with complex social and communication 
difficulties.  

Sherbourne 
Fields 

For pupils aged from 2-19 with a broad spectrum of need including physical 
disabilities, medical conditions and learning needs.  

Tiverton  For pupils aged from 3-11 with severe learning difficulties or profound and 
multiple learning difficulties. They may also have some physical or sensory 
impairment, or an autistic spectrum disorder.  

Woodfield Based across two sites, a Primary for pupils aged 4-11 and a Secondary 
for pupils aged 11-16 (and support until the age of 18). Many of the pupils 
needs range from dyslexia, dyspraxia, being on the Autistic Spectrum 
(ASC), or having Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD), 
Pathological Demand Avoidance (PDA) and attachment difficulties.  

Kingsbury 
Academy 

For pupils aged 4-11 with learning difficulties and additional needs, with 
over half of the pupils having autism spectrum conditions (ASC) and others 
have additional needs, including sensory impairment, communication 
difficulties and physical difficulties.  
 

Riverbank For pupils aged 11-19 with a broad range of special educational need and 
disability. Learning is influenced by Autism, Moderate and Severe Learning 

Page 381



 

 

Page 32 of 56 

 
 

 

 

disabilities, Sensory Impairment, Physical and medical difficulties, 
Communication Difficulties and Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
difficulties linked with their special educational needs. 

 
The table below shows the increase in commissioned places from September 2018 to 
September 2021 and further planned increase at Coventry’s 8 special schools: 
 

School Name 
Specialism of 
School 

September 
2018 
Commissioned 
Places 

September 
2019 
Commissioned 
Places 

September 
2020 
Commissioned 
Places 

September 
2021 
Commissioned 
Places 

Total 
increase 

Further 
Planned 
Increase 

Castle Wood 
Broad 
Spectrum 
(Primary) 

139 147 156 160 21  

Kingsbury 
Academy 

Autism/Broa
d Spectrum 
(Primary) 

84 84 87 92 8  

Riverbank 
Broad 
Spectrum 
(Secondary) 

164 164 176 188 24 12 

Corley 
Autism 
(Secondary) 

96 118 122 129 33  

Tiverton 
Broad 
Spectrum 
(Primary) 

70 95 100 110 40  

Baginton 
Fields 

Broad 
Spectrum 
(Secondary) 

100 116 116 118 18  

Sherbourne 
Fields 

Broad 
Spectrum 
(All-Through) 

148 167 200 220 72  

Woodfield 
SEMH (All-
Through)  

160 160 160 152 -8 96 

   961 1051 1117 1169 208 108 

 
 
Historical Growth 

Page 382



 

 

Page 33 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Significant growth in capacity for primary generic learning difficulties has been achieved 

through the expansion of Tiverton School which has been rebuilt, on the former Alice 

Stevens School site. The primary site of Woodfield Special School has been identified in 

the local plan as having some potential for development, and currently a draft masterplan 

is in development to scope options for integrating the primary and secondary sites onto 

one site, with the aim of responding to growth demands.  

 

Forecasts 

The below forecasts have been arrived at by analysing the mainstream forecasts and 

projecting the % of EHC numbers forward. 

All SEN (number of 

EHCPs) 
(0-4) Primary Secondary Post – 16 

2019 80 780 750 432 

2020 94 789 772 458 

2021 101 787 800 475 

2022 100 780 830 487 

2023 105 769 859 489 

2024 98 749 870 502 

 

No increase is shown in the forecasts for Early Years. This is due to the fact that, despite 

a 0-4 care: on the whole, children are too young to have an EHCP in place during the Early 

Years phase and Coventry has no physical capacity to arrange specialist early years 

provision, within the special school sector.  This is a priority area for future early 

intervention development, which will be subject to high needs block affordability and 

prioritisation of special school space. 

 

The largest increases are in Secondary and Post 16. Nationally, and within Coventry, there 

is a higher percentage of pupils with EHCP at Secondary than Primary, as Education 

Capital Strategy are witnessing with demand increasing for Woodfield Secondary. Larger 

primary cohorts are moving through into secondary, impacting upon the availability of 

places. With the extension of the age range to 25; Post – 16 EHCP numbers have 

increased and are forecast to increase further, and this has placed unplanned pressure on 

Key Stage 5 and FE provision, which is envisaged to continue.  

 

There is forecast to be small increases in Primary SEN. This is due in part to a stabilising 

of the birth rates and larger cohorts moving through into Secondary phase. 

 

Future need 

 

Using September 2017 commissioned places as a baseline and assuming that the recent 

increase in demand is permanent, the following cumulative forecast for demand increase 

by phase between 2019 and 2022 is set out:   

Page 383



 

 

Page 34 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

The analysis indicates that currently 64% of pupils with an EHCP are placed in specialist 

provision.  Based on this statistic, the table above outlines the forecast need for additional 

places for children with EHCP across all year groups. These additional places will be added 

across mainstream and special schools. The special school places are separated for 

secondary. This assumes the threshold for EHCP continues at the same level and 

therefore the split between pupils attending special schools (63%) and mainstream (37%) 

stays the same.  

 

The SEND code of practise states that it is expected that “the majority of C&YP with SEN 

or Disability will have their needs met within local mainstream, EY settings, schools or 

colleges. In comparison to Coventry’s statistical neighbours, Coventry has a higher 

proportion of pupils with an EHCP within a special school.  

 

  

Total Pupils 

in 

Mainstream 

Total 

Pupils in 

Special 

School 

% of Pupils 

with EHC in 

Special 

Proportion of 

Cohort with 

an EHCP 

Bolton 768 705 48% 2.87% 

Tameside 183 383 68% 1.64% 

Wigan 587 646 52% 2.74% 

Leeds 1,000 1,207 55% 1.78% 

Sheffield 894 1,094 55% 2.47% 

Derby 634 693 52% 3.06% 

Coventry 481 858 64% 2.33% 

Medway 559 736 57% 3.03% 

Portsmouth 453 485 52% 3.29% 

Southampton 469 523 53% 3.08% 

 

Statistically, it might be argued that Coventry has a high percentage of children with EHCPs 

placed in specialist provisions. However, there is no evidence that the threshold for 

placement in Coventry is lower than other LAs.  Initial work suggests that Coventry’s profile 

of complex SEN is high.  Further investment will be made in supporting mainstream schools 

to build capacity within the community through a range of targeted training and support to 

schools.  This programme will be designed in partnership with schools and underpin the 

Inclusion Strategy. 

 

Primary 

The number of pupils in primary mainstream with additional needs has also been rising 
requiring schools to have to meet a broader range of pupils needs with no additional 
funding. In order to meet the needs of these pupils, it is proposed to create several 
resourced provision units on mainstream school sites making use of existing education 

Page 384



 

 

Page 35 of 56 

 
 

 

 

assets. The resourced provision will be targeted towards primary age pupils with Autism 
Spectrum Condition and Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) 
 
New specialist provision attached to mainstream schools has proved able to meet some of 
the needs of many complex learners with Autism Spectrum Condition and Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs whilst allowing the individuals to remain in 
their own communities and not face overly arduous travel. Coventry has developed a model 
of provision based on best practice and experience, both internally and that of other local 
authorities. This best practise states that resource provisions can accommodate to 10 
learners in secondary and up to 8 learners in primary on a mainstream school or academy 
site. However, this is a variable depending on the type of provision being provided.  
 
It is envisaged that the increased demand arising from the projected increase in pupil 

numbers, could be accommodated within resourced provision (RP) over the next 5 years. 

The RP would need to be targeted for primary age pupils with ASC and SEMH.  

 

It is predicted that an additional 3-5 resourced provision would be required over the plan 

period, assuming a population of 8-12 pupils per provision. It is estimated that this would 

cost c.£200k, in capital cost investment. Work is underway to identify areas of the city 

where education provision will be released and can be utilised for this purpose.  

 
 

Secondary 

Secondary capacity has been filled from 2019 children and this increase will mean a need 

for additional places. The main increases are evident with pupils attending Tiverton and 

Castle Wood school. This will impact upon the availability of Special school places, given 

that the schools were already, from September 2019, at full capacity at their already 

increased commissioned number.  

 

 

2020 

• Sherbourne Fields – qty 2 additional 2 classroom modular’s, existing school 

remodelling and refurbishment allowed an additional 24 pupils to be taken on by the school.  

The old Tiverton school was demolished and created a larger parking facility on site and 

also located one of the new bespoke, double modular’s and its own dedicated play area. 

 

2021 

• Riverbank – a permanent Special School expansion wing has been identified with 

remodelling and relocation of car parking. This addition to the school building, will 

accommodate an additional 36 pupils. 

 

• Corley – through reconfiguration and refurbishment within existing school building 

and external buildings, this has enabled the creation of 2 new classrooms, new 

Page 385



 

 

Page 36 of 56 

 
 

 

 

toilet, kitchen and outdoor space to support the accommodation of an additional 7 

pupils. 

 

• Baginton Fields – additional car park works, pedestrian crossing, bathroom and 

changing room upgrade as a site improvement continuation for the additional 16 

pupils previously taken in September 2019. 

 

 

Post 16 

Secondary special school provisions have developed an increased post 16 provision as a 

consequence of growth.  As part of secondary mainstream expansion, partnerships with 

colleges and employment pathways including supported internships there is the 

opportunity to develop an extended SEND post 16 provision which would in turn release 

special school capacity.   

 

8.4 Proposed Strategic SEN Plan 

8.4.1 SEMH Strategy  

In November 2018, Cabinet Members agreed to the principle of expanding and relocating 
Woodfield Special School to the vacant former Woodlands School site. Academisation of 
the existing Woodfield school is underway and plans still progressing for the planned 
relocation to the former Woodlands school site.  This relocation would address Woodfield 
Special School’s split site, building suitability, and capacity issues. This project will enable 
the school to grow in capacity to 256 pupils, increasing the number of SEMH places across 
primary and secondary phases. 

When fully occupied this will resolve the SEMH deficit of places, enabling children that are 
currently in ‘Out of City’ placements to be brought back into the City.  This larger school 
site for both SEMH primary and secondary, will enable pupils of all age ranges to attend 
the and fulfil the increase in demand for SEN places; thus supporting the increase in the 
extended age range to 25 for SEND post-16 education. 
 

8.4.2 Broad Spectrum/Autism 

 
The phase two expansions are solely covering the additional places that were required for 
the 2019 academic year.  No creation of further places that can be utilised, will come from 
these developments.  They will be fulfilled from September 2020 onwards. The schools 
that form part of this phase 2 expansion, to fulfil the additional places required are: Baginton 
Fields, Corley Centre, Sherbourne Fields, and Castle Wood.    
The following table shows the detail in how this is broken down: 
 

Page 386



 

 

Page 37 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 
As the table above shows, there was an increased need in places for September 2019. 
Castle Wood acquired an additional 8 pupils to the previous academic year, Corley Centre 
an additional 22, Baginton Fields an extra 16 pupils and Sherbourne Fields a further 19 
places.  This growth in additional places has been met using both refurb or remodelling of 
existing space, by way of adding additional teaching areas, and also by adding modular 
units on site to create further classrooms & breakout areas.  
 

8.4.3 SEND programme 2020 onwards  
With EHCP plans increasing, there is need for additional places within the City.  As there 
continues to be demand pressure within Secondary, there is an opportunity due to a decline 
in mainstream Primary numbers, to look at any potential surplus classroom space, to 
accommodate Enhanced Resource Provisions (ERP) within Secondary Mainstream for 
SEN pupils.  Any existing space within mainstream sites, is yet to be identified.  
 
Work is currently underway to integrate the primary and secondary sites of Woodfield 
Special School onto one large site.  
 
The following projects were addressed and agreed at Special Heads Partnership and with 
the SEN Team:  
 
Working in Partnership with the Special Educational Needs (SEN) department within 
Coventry, Education Capital Strategy have helped support them with capital funding in both 
special schools and increasingly in mainstream.  This has enabled the quality of education 
within SEN to grow and maintain the levels of inclusiveness in place throughout Coventry 
schools and where appropriate, enhancing this within settings.  These projects are 
currently underway and at varying stages of completion.  
 
 

9. Post 16 

School 
Name 

Sept 2018 
Commiss
ioned 
Places 

May 2019 
Commissi
oned 
Places 

Variation 

Sept 
2019 
Commis
sioned 
Places 

Varianc
e to 
Sum-19 

Total 
increase 

 
Project detail 

 
Estimated 
costs 
(£) 

 
Funding 
source 

Castle 
Wood 

139 139 0 147 8 8 

Creating 2 
classrooms from 
previous 1 larger 
classroom 

£20,000.00 Special 
Provisio
n Fund 

Corley 
Centre 

96 96 0 118 22 22 

Refurb of old 
residential unit to 
create 3 
additional 
classrooms 

£350,000.00 Special 
Provisio
n Fund 

Baginton 
Fields 

100 102 2 116 14 16 

Installation of 2 
classroom 
modular unit 
including hygiene 
suite 

£360,000.00 Special 
Provisio
n Fund 

Sherbourne 
Fields 

148 157 9 167 10 19 

Remodel of 
existing 2 
classrooms to 
create 2 
additional 
classrooms and 
breakout space 

£270,000.00 Special 
Provisio
n Fund 

City wide 961 976 15 1043 67 82    

Page 387



 

 

Page 38 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

Currently, all but 2 Secondary schools within Coventry have sixth form provision. These 

current arrangements have been developed as a collaborative approach across Coventry 

and provide sufficient sixth form places to meet the demand, variety and quality of 

education within the city.  With rising secondary cohorts, Education Capital Strategy are 

seeing a significant impact on post 16 numbers. 

 

There are a further three secondary schools within Coventry which do not have sixth forms, 

Seva and Eden Girls and these are growing organically from Year 7 upwards. The decision 

for Eden Girls to open a sixth form has been delayed for the foreseeable future. However, 

it is anticipated that these new sixth forms will provide the additional spaces required to 

accommodate the increasing secondary and forecast sixth form numbers in the coming 

years.  

 

Currently, the two largest sixth forms in Coventry are Caludon Castle and Blue Coat Church 

of England School. These two are the only sixth form provisions in Coventry to have in 

excess of 300 pupils across both years. At the other end of the scale there are 6 sixth forms 

within Coventry which have less than 100 pupils in both year groups. To resolve these low 

pupil numbers Coventry sixth forms, have, through partnership working, banded together, 

often through MAT links, to provide educational facilities and a range of curriculum which 

positively impacts upon student attainment.  

 

In addition to this there are 2 general Further Education Colleges; Coventry College, (as a 

merger between City and Henley Campuses), and Hereward College, which is specifically 

for those pupils with additional needs. These provide more technical training and support, 

whilst also providing more academic teaching. 

  

This mixed economy of sixth form provision allows for Year 11 pupils to study a wide range 

of subjects within the city boundary. Whilst also ensuring the quality of provision allows 

them to achieve their potential. 

 

10. Alternative Provision (AP) 

 

 

Hospital Education – SEMH Location: Whitmore Park Annex 

 

Provision for children and young people who have difficulties in areas such as: 

 

• Attending their usual school following hospitalisation or long-term illness 

• Reaching their full potential because of time missed at their usual school due to 

various medical conditions 

Page 388



 

 

Page 39 of 56 

 
 

 

 

• Re-integrating successfully back into their usual school. 

 

 

Coventry Extended Learning Centre (CELC) – Link, Swanswell, Wyken 

 

Pupils are moved over on a referral basis not as part of School Admissions, to the 

CELC/PRU (pupil referral unit). 

 

Provision for pupils who are experiencing behaviour difficulties within a mainstream school 
setting and are in Key Stage 3 & 4 (11-16). Previously some pupils will have been 
permanently excluded and most will have been at risk of permanent exclusion from their 
mainstream school.  
 
Spring 2022 will see the merge of the Swanswell CELC to the Link CELC, where it will 
become one PRU as part of an Education Capital Programme investment of over £4 
million.  This will take form as an existing building refurbishment and a 2-storey building, 
as an extended wing to the existing.  With the merge and scope for the potential of 
additional pupils, the new Link could theoretically accommodate 130 pupils post expansion.  
 
Reconfiguration and refurbishment to the existing layout and structure, will include a new 
reception area, multi-function office areas, to include space for when external professionals 
come in for appointments with the pupils.  Additions of hair, beauty and nail salons that will 
be housed in this section of the provision, to provide a more purpose-built curriculum. This 
will help to achieve a target set by Ofsted.  With additional kitchen/canteen and dining 
facilities and as part of the new wing there will be 3 new vocational subject workshops’, 
showcasing fully accessible areas: electrical/plumbing, mechanic and 
bricklaying/plastering along with a new gymnasium.  As part of the first-floor extension, this 
is where Core subjects English, maths and science will be taught.   
 
Overall, in the extended ground and first floor, there is the possibility to create up to an 
additional 7 classrooms, with additional intervention rooms and a newly purpose-built staff 
room. With the additional subjects being able to be taught at the centre, focussing on the 
core subjects and the vocational, this will aid in encouraging pupils to engage and support 
them post-education, and gaining recognised qualifications and gateway onto future 
vocational qualifications. 
 
 
Keys – Parkgate Primary School, Frederick Bird Primary School 

 

Provision for mainstream intervention programmed for National Curriculum Key Stage 1 

and Key Stage 2 pupils who are at risk of exclusion and are struggling to meet the 

behavioural expectations of their school. The service provides short term, intensive support 

in a small group to improve resilience and self-regulation focused on enabling a child to be 

successfully integrated into their mainstream class group. The intervention is offered for 

up to 2 terms for 4 days per week, children remain in their registered school on the 5th day.  

 

Page 389



 

 

Page 40 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices  
Appendix 1 - Primary Planning Areas 
 

Page 390



 

 

Page 41 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Primary Planning Area School 

North 

Holy Family Catholic  

John Shelton 

Parkgate Academy 

Whitmore Park 

Keresley Grange 

North Central 

Broad Heath 

Edgewick 

Hill Farm Academy 

Stanton Bridge 

Page 391



 

 

Page 42 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Joseph Cash 

St Augustine’s Catholic 

John Gulson 

Radford Academy 

St Elizabeth’s Catholic 

East Central 

All Saints’ CE 

Frederick Bird 

Gosford Park 

Stoke 

Stoke Heath 

Sacred Heart Catholic 

St Mary & St Benedict Catholic  

Sidney Stringer Academy 

Southfields 

West Central 

All Souls’ Catholic 

Earlsdon 

Hearsall Academy 

Moseley 

St Osburg’s Catholic 

Spon Gate 

Longford 

Alderman’s Green 

Courthouse Green Academy 

Grangehurst 

Good Shepherd Catholic Academy 

Holbrook 

Little Heath 

Longford Park 

St Laurence’s CE Academy 

North East 

Henley Green 

Moat House 

Potters Green 

SEVA (Free) 

Whittle 

SS Peter & Paul Catholic 

Walsgrave 

St Patricks Catholic 

East 

Wyken Croft 

John Fisher Catholic  

Clifford Bridge 

Pearl Hyde 

Ravensdale 

Page 392



 

 

Page 43 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Richard Lee 

St Gregory's Catholic 

Binley 

Aldermoor Farm 

Ernesford Grange 

St Bartholomew's 

Sowe Valley 

Corpus Christi 

South East 

St Anne's Catholic 

Stretton CE 

Whitley Abbey 

Willenhall 

South 

Finham 

Grange Farm 

Howes 

Manor Park 

St Thomas More Catholic 

Stivichall 

Cannon Park 

Tile Hill 

Templars 

Our Lady of the Assumption Catholic 

Leigh 

Charter 

West 

Eastern Green Junior 

Limbrick Wood 

Mount Nod 

Park Hill 

St Andrew's Infant 

St John Vianney 

North West 

Allesley 

Allesley Hall 

St Christopher 

St John CE 

Whoberley Hall 

Coundon 

Christ the King 

Coundon 

Hollyfast 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Secondary Planning Areas 

 

Page 393



 

 

Page 44 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Secondary 

Planning Areas 
Schools 

Centre 

Barr's Hill 

Eden Girls 

Sydney Stringer 

North East 

Seva 

Grace Academy 

Cardinal Wiseman 

North West 

President Kennedy 

Cardinal Newman 

Coundon Court 

Page 394



 

 

Page 45 of 56 

 
 

 

 

South West 

Whitely Academy 

Ernesford Grange 

Blue Coat 

South East 

West Coventry Academy 

The Westwood Academy 

WMG Academy for Young Engineers (UTC Free School) 

Finham Park 2 (Free school)    

South 
Finham Park School  

Bishop Ullathorne Catholic School (Voluntary Aided) 

Foxford Foxford 

East 

Lyng Hall 

Stoke Park 

Caludon Castle 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Primary Forecasts 

Primary 
Planning 
Area 

Year 
Reception 
Forecasts 

PAN 
Available 
Capacity 

Total 
NOR 
Forecasts 

Overall 
Capacity 

Available 
Capacity 

North 

2020/21 319 315 -1% 2175 2205 1% 

2021/22 278 315 12% 2139 2205 3% 

2022/23 276 315 13% 2108 2205 4% 

2023/24 272 315 14% 2073 2205 6% 

2024/25 249 315 21% 2022 2205 8% 

North 
Central 

2020/21 471 540 13% 3632 3780 4% 

2021/22 453 540 16% 3557 3780 6% 

2022/23 454 510 11% 3481 3750 7% 

2023/24 444 510 13% 3379 3520 4% 

2024/25 412 510 19% 3258 3490 7% 

East 
Central 

2020/21 483 555 13% 3550 3885 9% 

2021/22 443 525 16% 3507 3855 9% 

2022/23 432 525 18% 3402 3825 11% 

2023/24 446 525 15% 3322 3795 12% 

2024/25 404 525 23% 3206 3765 15% 

West 
Central 

2020/21 259 270 4% 1893 2010 6% 

2021/22 250 270 8% 1888 1980 5% 

2022/23 236 270 13% 1847 1950 5% 

2023/24 267 270 1% 1839 1920 4% 

2024/25 248 270 8% 1806 1890 4% 

Longford 
2020/21 475 480 1% 3305 3570 7% 

2021/22 444 450 1% 3280 3330 2% 

Page 395



 

 

Page 46 of 56 

 
 

 

 

2022/23 460 450 -2% 3273 3300 1% 

2023/24 430 450 4% 3201 3270 2% 

2024/25 432 450 4% 3182 3240 2% 

North 
East 

2020/21 334 390 14% 2469 2730 10% 

2021/22 340 390 13% 2469 2730 10% 

2022/23 303 390 22% 2431 2730 11% 

2023/24 303 390 22% 2375 2730 13% 

2024/25 317 390 19% 2326 2730 15% 

East 

2020/21 431 435 1% 3004 3135 4% 

2021/22 406 435 7% 2980 3105 4% 

2022/23 402 435 8% 2946 3075 4% 

2023/24 393 435 10% 2887 3045 5% 

2024/25 375 435 14% 2835 3045 7% 

Binley 

2020/21 235 270 13% 1715 1890 9% 

2021/22 218 270 19% 1667 1890 12% 

2022/23 244 270 9% 1689 1890 11% 

2023/24 218 270 19% 1661 1890 12% 

2024/25 183 270 32% 1616 1890 14% 

South 
East 

2020/21 161 180 11% 1180 1260 6% 

2021/22 177 180 2% 1194 1260 5% 

2022/23 164 180 9% 1191 1260 6% 

2023/24 172 180 4% 1192 1260 5% 

2024/25 134 180 26% 1158 1260 8% 

South 

2020/21 395 405 2% 2704 2835 5% 

2021/22 386 405 5% 2682 2835 5% 

2022/23 383 375 -2% 2665 2805 5% 

2023/24 346 375 8% 2619 2775 6% 

2024/25 302 375 19% 2552 2754 7% 

Tile Hill 

2020/21 189 195 3% 1270 1365 7% 

2021/22 180 195 8% 1306 1365 4% 

2022/23 153 195 22% 1278 1365 6% 

2023/24 167 195 14% 1270 1365 7% 

2024/25 144 195 26% 1232 1365 10% 

West 

2020/21 229 295 22% 1520 2065 26% 

2021/22 216 295 27% 1525 2065 26% 

2022/23 237 295 20% 1536 2065 26% 

2023/24 205 295 30% 1533 2065 26% 

2024/25 216 295 27% 1543 2065 25% 

North 
West 

2020/21 207 210 1% 1425 1470 3% 

2021/22 192 210 9% 1418 1470 4% 

2022/23 180 210 14% 1387 1470 6% 

2023/24 203 210 3% 1379 1470 6% 

Page 396



 

 

Page 47 of 56 

 
 

 

 

2024/25 199 210 5% 1392 1470 5% 

Coundon 

2020/21 222 210 -6% 1591 1650 4% 

2021/22 210 210 0% 1573 1620 3% 

2022/23 224 210 -7% 1568 1590 1% 

2023/24 218 210 -4% 1549 1560 1% 

2024/25 196 210 6% 1518 1530 1% 

City 
Wide 

2020/21 4412 4750 7% 31432 33250 5% 

2021/22 4192 4690 11% 31185 32830 5% 

2022/23 4147 4630 10% 30800 32410 5% 

2023/24 4084 4630 12% 30280 32410 7% 

2024/25 3810 4630 18% 29647 32410 9% 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Secondary Forecasts 

 

Secondary 
Planning 
Area 

Year 
Year 7 
Forecast 

PAN 
Available 
Capacity 

Total NOR 
Forecasts 

Overall 
Capacity 

Available 
Capacity 

Central 

2020/21 565 491 -15% 2526 2621 4% 

2021/22 576 510 -13% 2640 2621 -1% 

2022/23 592 540 -10% 2773 2621 -6% 

2023/24 602 540 -12% 2921 2621 -11% 

2024/25 583 540 -8% 2932 2621 -12% 

North West 

2020/21 858 925 7% 4098 4505 9% 

2021/22 915 925 1% 4230 4505 6% 

2022/23 920 925 0% 4372 4505 3% 

2023/24 933 925 -1% 4542 4505 -1% 

2024/25 903 925 2% 4615 4505 -2% 

Foxford 

2020/21 174 180 3% 897 960 7% 

2021/22 180 180 0% 900 960 6% 

2022/23 181 180 0% 897 960 7% 

2023/24 181 210 14% 899 960 6% 

2024/25 179 210 15% 908 960 5% 

South 

2020/21 469 420 -12% 2211 2340 6% 

2021/22 489 480 -2% 2282 2340 2% 

2022/23 497 510 3% 2359 2340 -1% 

2023/24 493 480 -3% 2421 2340 -3% 

2024/25 475 450 -6% 2422 2340 -4% 

East 

2020/21 680 570 -19% 3102 2850 -9% 

2021/22 710 570 -25% 3250 2850 -14% 

2022/23 716 600 -19% 3382 2880 -17% 

Page 397



 

 

Page 48 of 56 

 
 

 

 

2023/24 737 630 -17% 3555 2910 -22% 

2024/25 710 630 -13% 3575 2910 -23% 

North East 

2020/21 326 550 41% 1878 2870 35% 

2021/22 337 550 39% 1865 2870 35% 

2022/23 333 550 40% 1800 2870 37% 

2023/24 345 595 42% 1686 2870 41% 

2024/25 339 595 43% 1690 2870 41% 

South East 

2020/21 614 625 2% 2938 3335 12% 

2021/22 665 655 -2% 3043 3335 9% 

2022/23 651 715 9% 3165 3335 5% 

2023/24 667 685 3% 3238 3335 3% 

2024/25 641 685 6% 3251 3335 3% 

South West 

2020/21 484 519 7% 2194 3175 31% 

2021/22 513 639 20% 2322 3175 27% 

2022/23 545 694 21% 2502 3175 21% 

2023/24 525 754 30% 2640 3175 17% 

2024/25 519 699 26% 2709 3175 15% 

City Wide 

2020/21 4170 4280 3% 19843 22656 12% 

2021/22 4385 4509 3% 20532 22656 9% 

2022/23 4434 4714 6% 21250 22686 6% 

2023/24 4484 4819 7% 21901 22716 4% 

2024/25 4347 4734 8% 22103 22716 3% 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5 – Bus Route Information 

 

School Bus Routes 

Barr’s Hill All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

Caludon 

Castle 

4 – Holbrooks, Ricoh arena, Foleshill, City Centre, Stoke, Walsgrave 

 

8 & 8a – City Centre, Stoke, Wyken, Walsgrave, Potters Green, Henley Green 

 

9/9A – Finham, Stivichall, City centre, Stoke, Wyken, Walsgrave 

 

Page 398



 

 

Page 49 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Coundon 

Court 

5- Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City Centre, Coundon, Holbrooks, Little Heath 

 

Eden All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

6/6a – Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City Centre, Courthouse Green, Little Heath, Bell 

Green 

 

21 - Willenhall, Whitley, City Centre, Courthouse Green, Bell Green 

 

Ernesford 

Grange 

13 – Willenhall, Binley, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley 

 

Finham Park 9s/9/9a – Walsgrave, Wyken, Stoke, City Centre, Stivichall, Finham 

 

Foxford 6/6A – Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City Centre, Courthouse Green, Little Heath, 

Aldermans Green 

 

20 – City Centre, Foleshill, Little Heath, Longford, Ricoh Arena, Exhall, 

Bedworth 

 

Lyng Hall 10/10a– Eastern Green, Chapelfields, City Centre, Wyken, Bell Green 

 

60 – Canley, Whitley, Willenhall, Walsgrave, Wyken, Holbrooks 

 

President 

Kennedy 

13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley, 

Holbrooks, City centre 

 

772 – Bedworth, Exhall, Longford, Holbrooks, Little heath 

 

Sidney 

Stringer 

All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

The 

Westwood 

Academy 

19- Westwood Business Park - Hearsall Common - Coventry City Centre 

 

18 - Tile Hill - Canley - Hearsall Common - Coventry City Centre 

 

18a  Tile Hill, Canley, Stivichall, City centre 

 

43 – Westwood, Canley, Tile Hill, Allesley 

 

Whitley 

Academy 

7 – Brownshill Green, Allesley Village, City Centre, Whitley 

 

Page 399



 

 

Page 50 of 56 

 
 

 

 

21 - Willenhall, Whitley, City Centre, Courthouse Green, Bell Green 

 

Bluecoat 16 - Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley 

 

16s (school bus) Coundon, Radford City Centre 

S4 

Bishop 

Ullathorne 

9/9a – Walsgrave, Wyken, Stoke, City Centre, Stivichall, Finham 

 

18a – Tile Hill, Canley, Stivichall, City centre 

 

45 (school bus) 

Cardinal 

Newman 

13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley, 

Holbrooks 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City Centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley 

 

61s – Allesley, Coundon, Holbrooks, Ricoh arena 

 

 

Appendix 6 - Education Pupil Yield Methodology 

There are two main factors to the contribution’s requests, firstly the cost per pupil (Cost 

Multiplier) which is a Department for Education (DfE) stated amount for Coventry, and 

secondly the pupil yield anticipated from the development. Coventry City Council request 

contributions, where required, for Early Years (EY), Primary, Secondary, Sixth Form, and 

Primary, and Secondary SEN. These requests are in line with changes in Government 

policy including the funded two year olds EY policy, 30 Hrs as of September 2017, and the 

raising of the participation age to 18; as well as ensuring Coventry matches its 

neighbouring local authorities in terms of level of request. 

 

The way in which Education select schools to secure contributions towards expanding 

school places, as part of the Section 106 process, is determined by the following criteria: 

 

• Good value for money 

• Only expand good and outstanding Ofsted rated schools 

• Ensure contributions requested align with Coventry City Council’s One Strategic 

Plan and its ongoing programmes 

• Select schools close to the development where possible, but must also factor in 

localised areas of pressure City wide 

• All schools are selected equally and fairly 

Page 400



 

 

Page 51 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Coventry City Council Education do not ask for contributions for one-bedroom dwellings as 

they are unlikely to generate either primary, secondary or sixth form pupils. For this reason, 

Coventry calculate the pupil yield from dwellings which are designed for familial 

occupation, i.e. 2 bed dwellings and above. Furthermore, a majority of the one bed 

dwellings within the city are occupied by and designated for use by students and so familial 

occupation would not occur. 

This will continue to be achieved through Section 106 agreements. Education will seek the 

maximum contribution from developers to support the provision of additional places that 

Education Capital Strategy believe is proportionate to the impact of the development. It is 

critical that developers make a financial contribution to school places as, without it, the LA 

will be unable to deliver the required provision. Section 106 also includes asking for Primary 

and Secondary SEN contributions to aid in commissioning additional special school places 

as a result of the development.  Contributions are requested fairly based on their proximity 

to the development, all education types are equally considered and some rounding within 

the pupil yield calculation may see an additional place be requested when rounded up to 

the nearest whole pupil place. 

 

Cost Multiplier 

There is no nationwide funding formula for Early Years provision, however there is 

guidance based on the amount of floor space that an Early Years child will need, based 

on age of the child. Providers must meet the following indoor space requirements:  

• Children under two years: 3.5 m2 per child 

• Two-year olds: 2.5 m2 per child 

• Children aged three to five years: 2.3 m2 per child 

 

The variation in EY provision, between AM and PM sessions, and the high turnover of 

providers mean that this can often be a variable that changes on a monthly basis. For this 

reason, the same cost multiplier as primary aged pupils are used.  

The Department for Education (DfE) provide an annual update to this figure and for 

2020/21 this figure is £14,402. The Secondary calculation has been updated by the DfE to 

a figure of £18,722. These new figures have been confirmed by the DfE and are expected 

to rise in the future in line with inflation. Therefore, the cost per pupil multiplier will be 

updated as and when the DfE provide the new allocation allowance for Coventry. 

The DfE do not provide costs per pupil place for Sixth form pupils. Therefore, the 

methodology for this, takes the Secondary calculation and adds the additional floor space 

required for a sixth form pupil. The additional floor space required for a sixth form pupil 

over a secondary age pupil is a recognised DfE statistic. The basis behind these floor 

space calculations is the extra equipment and supervision that sixth form pupils require 

over secondary age pupils. The DfE state the additional floor space required be larger than 

that for Secondary, working this out as a percentage sixth form pupil require 14.6% more 

Page 401



 

 

Page 52 of 56 

 
 

 

 

space than Secondary. Therefore, 14.6% has been added to the cost multiplier for 

Secondary to give a total for a single sixth form of £24,339.  

For SEN, as there is no DfE multiplier, Coventry use the benchmarking mechanism 

undertaken by the DfE in 2019, which recommends that ‘Special schools require more 

space per pupil than mainstream schools, and this should be reflected in the assumed 

costs of provision. Education Capital Strategy recommend that developer contributions for 

special or alternative school places are set at four times the cost of mainstream places, 

consistent with the space standards in Building Bulletin 104. You can also refer to the 

National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking report for the costs of delivering SEN school 

places.’ The DfE recommend for a cost of £65,739 average cost per pupil place for SEN, 

Coventry’s cost per pupil multiplier has been updated to match this figure. 

 

 

Pupil Yield Changes 

Early Years 

The take up rate for Coventry for the 30hrs was circa 50% and the take-up rate for funded 

two years old is circa 32%. These two programmes have effectively doubled the amount 

of Early Years care required. The impact of the new universal credit benefit system, and 

the lowering of the benefit cap, will also increase the eligibility of funded two-year-old 

places and therefore the amount of places required will increase. Coventry City Council 

are currently working to calculate the effect of this. Therefore, the contribution request is 

calculated from asking for two years’ worth 15 Hrs or 0.8 of a FT year group with the take 

up rate of funded two years and 30 Hrs being added into this. This will be co-ordinated 

each year with Early Years colleagues as the take up rate for both Government schemes 

is expected to rise. 

 

Primary and Secondary 

Coventry City Council has seen a primary age population explosion in recent years with 

the current reception cohort being 24% higher than the current Year 11. This has been as 

a result of larger birth cohorts which have impacted upon available school places. These 

larger birth cohorts are coming from existing housing stock as well as new homes being 

put into the city. There has been relatively little new housing in Coventry over this period, 

but the city as a whole has become more attractive for people to raise families in, resulting 

in a younger population within the city. This trend is expected to continue in the new 

housing that is being put into the city. In essence more people within Coventry are having 

more children. The formula for this is by examining the total number of eligible homes within 

Coventry and the current Number on Roll in Schools, split between Primary and 

Secondary. This gives the pupil yield for how many school age children the current housing 

stock within Coventry provide. The pupil yield from a single eligible dwelling for primary is 

0.39 and for secondary 0.22 pupils per eligible household. 

Page 402



 

 

Page 53 of 56 

 
 

 

 

 

Sixth Form  

The formula for this is calculated from the proportion of children staying on in sixth form 

and also staying in education between Years 12 and 13. However it is still an inconsistent 

indicator, therefore the percentage applied to the children staying on rate will be based on 

the stay on rate of children the September before the application was received. For the 

most recent year, the drop off between year 12 and year 13 was 8.9% of the cohort, 

therefore, to incorporate this into the pupil yield only 1.9 year groups are requested. This 

has resulted in a drop in the sixth form contribution asked for.  

 

Primary SEN 

To calculate the primary SEN contribution Coventry City Council use the School census 

published three times annually. This lists the student details for the current mainstream 

and BSSS cohort and the number of children within this cohort an EHC plan or SEN 

statement. By understanding the total number of EHC plans and SEN statements within 

the current primary cohort, it is possible to calculate the current % of the cohort which 

require additional needs arising from new housing. By dividing the figures of total cohort 

by number of EHC’s a total of 1.67% is received. This factor will be applied to the pupil 

yield calculation for primary. This figure will be updated annually as the number of EHC 

plans is rising in excess of proportionality of the general increase in population.  

 

Secondary SEN 

The Secondary SEN pupil yield is calculated using the same method of calculating the 

current number of secondary age pupils with an EHC plan or Statement and dividing by 

the total amount of children in Secondary education. The current amount of EHC plans 

within Secondary school is 3.3%. This figure will be updated annually as the number of 

EHC plans is rising in excess of proportionality of the general increase in population. 

 

Appendix 7 – Forecasting Methodology and Planning Considerations 

 

Introduction 

 

Local authorities use different methods to forecast pupil numbers and take different factors 

into account, the forecast of pupil numbers is then submitted to the ESFA annually and a 

basic need allocation is granted based off the information provided.  This methodology 

explains the process by which the pupil forecasts are made, the following process is 

followed. 

 

Primary 

Page 403



 

 

Page 54 of 56 

 
 

 

 

Birth Data is gathered annually from the NHS Trust that covers Coventry. This is then 

aggregated annually with the most recent GP data, and broken down into each individual 

school’s catchment area, using GIS software. For forecasts beyond this point, I.E When 

the birth data is not yet available, a three-year weighted average for each catchment area 

is used, to plot the trends and determine long term sufficiency planning.  

 

This determines the number of pupils’ resident in each school’s catchment area. To be 

determined the number of pupils expected to be educated in each school and therefore 

planning area, this number is then broken down into how pupils move across the city. To 

calculate how this cohort is reflected onto a school level, the variable of parental choice is 

applied, with a historic percentage on the movement of pupils from each catchment area 

to all schools in the city being applied.  

 

Where any school has an excess of forecast pupils above its PAN, unless it is agreed that 

the school can take above PAN, then that excess will be redistributed to other schools 

within the planning area. The redistribution is added, in liaising with the Coventry City 

Council school admissions team, by filling the most ‘popular’ school in planning area and 

then moving onto the second ‘most popular’, and so on. 

 

This calculates the September intake for each Primary School for Reception for the plan 

period. Any other mitigating factors, such as Out of City (OOC) children entering the school, 

housing, and other migration are then added after the September intake. Individual rates 

of increase are applied to specific schools, based upon historic trends and housing 

allocations within the Local Plan, as this is more of a factor for schools near the city 

boundaries. Those rates are based on recent trends of OOC in the school. These are 

manually added after the Coventry applications are factored in, to account for the effective 

pushback of some of these children to their LA. 

 

In-Year  

Once the September intake is calculated. In-Year variations are applied, there are two 

forms of In-Year calculations within the forecasting model. These are migration rates and 

the impact of additional housing across the City.  

 

Migration is added for each school year group in each school based off historic transience 

and movement – this is often internal migration. This is based off school admissions data 

on the number of pupils applying and being allocated a school place at each school over 

the previous year.  

 

The City Council maintains a database of housing developments, these housing 

developments are within the Local Plan or have already been approved as windfall sites. 

This database corresponds to the forecasting model and generates the estimated pupil 

yield from each housing development broken down by the number of homes being built 

Page 404



 

 

Page 55 of 56 

 
 

 

 

per year. The pupil yield numbers are then added to individual schools based upon 

proximity to each housing development and the likelihood of those pupils attending that 

school. This pupil yield is calculated using formulae that are based off city wide pupil yields. 

In some cases, assumptions are made as to the rate the houses will be built, if this is not 

identified within the Local Plan, and occupied. 

 

Secondary 

For Secondary forecasts the methodology behind them is the same as the Primary 

element, with the exception that birth data is no longer used and instead the existing year 

6 cohort within the city is the initial dataset.  

 

The Year 6 cohort is calculated based on census information on the existing school cohort 

and rolled forward 1 year for the transfer round. Coventry education allows for a loss of 

pupils at the transfer round as children choose to attend other LA schools and private 

schools. This figure is calculated annually as it is dependent upon the amount of place 

available in other LA schools, this figure is typically around 5%. 

 

Sixth Form 

For Sixth form, individual rates of stay on for each school are applied. The school’s intake 

figures for Year 12 are generated from actual school values by using the previous year’s 

transfer of Year 11 to year 12. This figure is then placed within the context of the projected 

Year 11 cohort for the forecast years. This transfer round considers the pupils transferring 

to other phases of education, such as apprenticeship, or FE colleges, which the LA do not 

forecast for. Therefore, only the pupils anticipated to enter a School sixth form are included 

in the forecasts. 

 

Additional Detail  

 

It should be stressed that the projections are only indicative. For instance, where the 

projection for the city is in excess of total amount of places available and an individual 

school forecast exceeds the capacity of that school, therefore no redistribution can occur 

as there are insufficient city wide school places, the projections do not imply that the school 

will be required to admit the additional pupils. 

 

Appendix 8 – SEN Projected Methodology 

 

It is widely known that mainstream population has grown over the last few years. It is more 

commonly acknowledged within primary, where large scale expansion of mainstream 

capacity has taken place.  Education Capital Strategy therefore see there is a direct 

correlation at least at primary level, of the growth of EHCP’s being linked to the growth in 

mainstream. With the size of the mainstream primary cohort now starting to stabilise, it can 

Page 405



 

 

Page 56 of 56 

 
 

 

 

be assumed by way of forecast that the number of primary pupils with additional need will 

similarly stabilise.  

 

Proportion of EHCP 

(Education, Health, and 

Care Plan) of total 

cohort11 

2015 2016 2017 2018 

Early Years Cohort 0.69% 1.36% 1.79% 1.67% 

Primary Cohort 1.85% 1.94% 1.98% 2.24% 

Secondary Cohort 3.53% 3.44% 3.40% 3.44% 

 

The above figures show that despite the large raw increase in Primary SEN number’s, 

proportionally EHCP numbers have only slightly increased in primary compared to the 

population growth. 2018 jump in primary is due to an increase in plans being issued. It also 

identifies a clear stabilising numbers in proportion for Secondary need.  Given that the 

secondary cohort is increasing the largest, this proportion will similarly increase. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
11 Benchmark data 

Page 406



Appendix 2
Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Lord Agnew Kt DL 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for the School System 

Sanctuary Buildings   Great Smith Street   Westminster   London   SW1P 3BT 
tel: 0370 000 2288   www.education.gov.uk/help/contactus 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Director of Children’s Services 
[Sent electronically] 

 
 

23rd September 2019 
 

 

I am writing to you to highlight the Department for Education’s support to local 

authorities to ensure effective delivery of school capital projects; and – in light 

of the Spending Round announcement on 4 September – provide an update on 

the next Basic Need allocation.  

Basic Need Allocations 

As you will be aware, the Chancellor last week confirmed details of the 

Spending Round. The Spending Round focused on day-to-day departmental 

resource budgets for 2020-21 (as well as a 3-year settlement for core schools’ 

resource funding as an exception). It did not consider departmental capital 

budgets, as these have already been set for 2020-21. A full multi-year spending 

review will follow in 2020.  

One practical consequence for local authorities is that the DfE will not therefore 

be able to announce Basic Need allocations in 2019 for places needed in 2022. 

As you know, we have historically tried to announce basic need allocations 3.5 

years ahead of when places are needed, and therefore recognise that this 

delay may have some implications for the way that local authorities plan and 

deliver basic need projects.  

We are continuing to review local authorities’ recently submitted SCAP 19 data, 

and expect this data to inform the next set of Basic Need allocations. 

Delivering School Capital Projects Efficiently 

We are working with the Education Building and Design Officer Group 

(EBDOG) to encourage greater collaboration between local authorities to drive 

down school delivery costs and improve efficiency and effectiveness. This 

includes encouraging local authorities to take advantage of the rates offered 

through our Framework.  

Appendix 3

Page 411



 

 

Becoming more efficient, will free up local authority funding to invest elsewhere, 

for example on improvements to existing school buildings. This could help 

reduce school expenditure on maintenance, for example. 

School Place Scorecards 

The department published the latest local authority School Place Scorecards 

on 27th June. These are a key monitoring and transparency tool for the 

performance of local authorities in providing sufficient school places, their 

accuracy in forecasting demand, the quality of the schools where those places 

are being added, and the cost per place of projects. If you have not already, I 

hope that you will take the opportunity to study your authority’s performance 

compared to the rates that some of your peers are already achieving and those 

that could be achieved through DfE Frameworks.  

Peer support and guidance on efficiency 

The Scorecards include a link to offers we have been working on with EBDOG: 

a peer support initiative and a joint guidance note on making efficient use of 

capital funding in education. I would like to congratulate those local authorities 

that are delivering cost effectively and in particular to thank those which have 

agreed to offer advice to others. I would encourage higher cost local authorities 

to take advantage of the guidance and support on offer, including on 

procurement.   

DfE traditional and offsite construction frameworks 

The National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking Study published by EBDOG 

in June 2019 highlighted that between 2012 – 2018, primary schools procured 

through the DfE frameworks were delivered 15 – 30% cheaper than local 

authority self-procured schools. The 2019 report further highlights that DfE 

derives such efficiencies through standardisation of design and purchasing at 

scale.  

The 2017 DfE (traditional) construction framework was procured to include use 

by local authorities, for the development of school infrastructure as well as 

other educational facilities. To date, a number of local authorities – Kent, 

Essex, Oxfordshire, Central Bedfordshire – are using this framework to deliver 

their school projects. Other local authorities have this under active 

consideration.  

The contractors on the DfE (traditional) construction framework were appointed 

on the basis that they would construct schools at a specified rate per square 

metre which has been proven to be value for money. The DfE (traditional) 

construction framework rate structure operates on the basis of capping the 

maximum percentage margin that a contractor can make on any project. 

The DfE are also shortly launching the next offsite schools framework, titled 

Page 412

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-school-places-scorecards-2018
https://ebdog.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/F07125-National-School-Delivery-Cost-Benchmarking-Primary-Secondary-and--SEN-Schools-Final-June-2019-v6.7a.pdf


 

 

MMC1. This will enable up to £3bn of offsite school construction over the next 4 

years. MMC1 will be available to local authorities in the same manner as the 

DfE (traditional) construction frameworks. This is because in recent years, 

there has been an increase in the proportion of projects being constructed 

through ‘offsite construction’, in which large-scale building components are 

manufactured in offsite production facilities then brought to the site for rapid 

assembly to form finished buildings. This has the benefit of shortening 

programme durations, reducing disruption on site and benefitting productivity 

within the construction sector. 

The DfE frameworks are unique in that they do not charge an access/usage fee 

which other frameworks do. For example, fees paid to a third-party framework 

operator which can range from 1 – 2.5% of the capital value of a project and 

represent a significant cost to the local authority. Any user of the DfE 

frameworks can engage with the contractors in the same manner as DfE 

projects do and can rely on DfE senior management leveraged relationships 

with the contractors. 

The frameworks are structured to deliver and respond to a broad value range of 

capital projects. The contractors on the DfE frameworks range from SMEs to 

larger contractor firms and the frameworks have the capability of delivering 

both offsite and traditional construction solutions for projects. 

Given the proven efficiencies, I would therefore ask that you give serious 

consideration to using the DfE frameworks for the delivery of your school 

infrastructure. Local Authority  officers can engage with the DfE framework team 

and process through the following weblink.  

Thank you for your ongoing work and collaboration. 

 

 

THEODORE AGNEW 

 
 
 

Page 413

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-buildings-construction-framework


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Baroness Berridge of the Vale of Catmose 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for the School System 

Sanctuary Buildings   Great Smith Street   Westminster   London   SW1P 3BT 
tel: 0370 000 2288   www.education.gov.uk/help/contactus 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Director of Children’s Services 
[Sent electronically] 

 
25 Feburary 2021 

 
HIGH NEEDS PROVISION CAPITAL ALLOCATIONS 
 

Dear Colleagues 

 

In November 2020, we announced we would allocate £300 million in 2021-22 for 

new school places for children with special educational needs and disabilities, almost 

four times as much as the government provided to local authorities (LAs) in 2020-21. 

I am now pleased to be able to confirm further details of how this funding will be 

distributed to the sector.  

 

I can today confirm that £280 million will be allocated to LAs through formulaic 

allocations which we aim to announce this Spring. These allocations are intended to 

support local authorities to deliver new places and improve existing provision for 

children with SEND and for those pupils that require alternative provision. This 

funding will support the provision of places needed by September 2022. It will be 

allocated proportionally, based on each local authority’s estimated share of future 

growth in the High Needs pupil population – using a combination of ONS population 

projections and national data on Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), as well 

as data on funding already being provided in the form of new Special and AP Free 

Schools. A minimum funding floor will ensure every LA receives at least £500k. We 

anticipate paying the resulting grants to LAs in the summer. Further details regarding 

the methodology used to calculate the allocations, payment dates and associated 

conditions of grant will be released alongside the allocations. 

 

The remaining £20 million will be used for specific High Needs capital projects in 

support of ongoing work with some of the local authorities facing high Dedicated 

Schools Grant (DSG) deficits. We have already been in contact with the LAs who will 

be eligible for this funding. 

 

Local authorities should note these funding allocations and methodology only cover 

the financial year 2021-22 and may be subject to change in future years. Future 

funding, and any future allocation methodology, will be subject to the outcomes of 

the next Spending Review.  

 

Appendix 4

Page 415

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-2020-documents/spending-review-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-2020-documents/spending-review-2020


 

As per my letter in January regarding the Basic Need capital allocations, in planning  

capital projects, we expect that local authorities will think strategically and consider 

economies of scale or efficiencies that may be achieved through, for example, 

combining condition works and expansion schemes, including as part of decisions 

taken in concert with other responsible bodies. 

 

Finally, you may recall that in April 2020, in order to reduce burdens on LAs during 

the coronavirus pandemic, the DfE relaxed the requirement on LAs to publish 

updates to their local plans – a requirement attached to the previous Special 

Provision Capital Fund (which provided funding between 2018 and 2021 for new 

places and to improve existing provision for pupils with EHCPs). I would like to take 

this opportunity to inform you that, as per our original guidance, we would now like 

you to undertake a final update of your published local plans, setting out how this 

funding was used. Further details, including revised deadlines for making this 

update, will be published alongside the allocations mentioned above. 

 

I hope this additional information is helpful as you continue to plan school capital 

projects.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ELIZABETH BERRIDGE 

 

PARLIAMENTARY UNDER SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

Page 416

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-provision-capital-funding-for-pupils-with-ehc-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-provision-capital-funding-for-pupils-with-ehc-plans
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/773706/SPCF_Guidance.pdf


 

Making significant 
changes to an open 
academy 

Departmental advice for all types of 
academy trust 

March 2016 

Appendix 5a

Page 417



2 
 

Contents 
1: Summary 3 

About this departmental advice 3 

Expiry or review date 3 

Who is this advice for? 3 

Main points 3 

2: Types of changes 5 

Potentially contentious proposals: full business case required 5 

Governance changes to an academy trust 5 

Physical expansion of premises 6 

Physical expansions onto satellite sites 7 

Age range changes 8 

Amalgamations / mergers 10 

Faith-related changes 11 

Other change proposals 12 

3: Funding 14 

4: What are the steps to making changes? 15 

Who should be consulted and how? 15 

Requesting a change: fast track and full business case 16 

Fast track application: academies rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 16 

Full business case 17 

Decision making process 19 

Admissions-related changes 19 

5: Further Information 21 

 

  

Page 418



3 
 

1: Summary 

About this departmental advice 
This document provides advice to academy trusts on what they need to do to make a 
significant change (which in general has an impact on the number, type and / or location 
of school places) to an open academy. 

Academy trusts should ensure that they read this guidance in full to ensure that they are 
aware of which process their proposal will need to follow and identify whether their 
proposal can follow the ‘fast track’ application or will require a full business case. 

The purpose of this advice is to ensure that additional good quality school places can be 
provided quickly where they are needed; and expects that academy trusts do not 
propose changes that will have a negative impact on basic need or other good provision 
in the area; and so changes can be implemented quickly and effectively where there is a 
strong case for doing so. There is a general expectation that additional new places will 
only be provided at academies that have an overall Ofsted rating of ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’. 

Expiry or review date 
This advice document will be reviewed in February 2017. 

Who is this advice for? 
Academy trusts considering a change to the characteristics of all types of open academy 
(as defined in the Academies Act 2010 e.g. free school, studio school and university 
technical college, including the requirement for it to be ‘principally concerned’ with 
providing education for pupils of compulsory school age / under 19). Free schools and 
academies are not envisaged as being for students aged 19-25. 

Governing bodies of maintained schools who wish to propose changes immediately 
following conversion to academy status.  

Separate advice is available on how to make changes to a maintained school. 

Main points 
• Academy trusts proposing to make a significant change to the characteristics of an 

open academy, which will affect clauses in their funding agreement, MUST submit 
a proposal for change in advance of the change being made. Failure to do so 
could constitute a breach of its funding agreement. 

Page 419

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/school-organisation


4 
 

• Proposals for change must be submitted to the department through one of two 
processes, the ‘fast track’ application or ‘full business case’. An assessment of the 
proposal will be made before the Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC) or 
Secretary of State, as appropriate, makes a final decision. See part four. 

• In making decisions on proposals, the RSC will be advised by their Head Teacher 
Board (HTB). 

• Certain changes can be fast tracked, at academies, rated as ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’ in their last inspection by Ofsted and do not require a full business 
case. Part two sets out which applications can be made via this route. 

• It is expected that RSCs will approve the majority of fast track applications as long 
as the academy trust can provide the required evidence set out in part four. The 
department may, on occasion, need to request additional information depending 
on the complexity of the proposed change. 

• Changes which do not meet the fast track criteria will require a full business case. 
The RSC will make a decision based on consideration of the factors and evidence 
relating to the academy trust(s) as set out in part four. 

• Academy trusts will need to ensure that a fair and open local consultation has 
been undertaken; the change is aligned with local pupil place plans; that all 
required funding is in place and appropriate planning permissions and other 
consents have been secured to support all proposals. Any unfunded proposal 
will require a full business case, regardless of Ofsted rating or type of change. 

• Where a proposed change sets a precedent, or is considered contentious a full 
business case will usually be required, regardless of the academy’s Ofsted rating. 
RSCs may choose to escalate such proposals to the Secretary of State to decide. 

• All proposed changes which require changes to admission arrangements must 
ensure that a fair and open local consultation on changing the school’s proposed 
admission arrangements has been completed, in accordance with the School 
Admissions Code. See part four. 

• For cases where a significant change will require admission arrangements to be 
varied to implement the proposal; if an existing point of entry will be removed, or 
the published admission number (PAN) reduced, the variation of the PAN can only 
normally be implemented for the following September if it can be agreed before the 
closing date for applications. This will not prevent the rest of the proposal from 
being approved see part four. 

• Once a change has been approved, the responsibility for updating the academy’s 
details on the department’s EduBase system lies with the academy trust. 

Page 420

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group/about/our-governance
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group/about/our-governance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


5 
 

2: Types of changes 
This section provides details of significant changes which require approval, either through 
a fast track application or full business case. The academy trust should provide additional 
evidence and respond promptly to requests for clarification or further information. 

Potentially contentious proposals: full business case required 
Where a proposed change sets a precedent or is potentially contentious, a full business 
case will usually be required, regardless of the academy’s Ofsted rating and whether the 
type of change being proposed is eligible for the fast track process. Examples are those: 

• which reduce places in an area of basic need; and 

• which have received objections from the LA and/or neighbouring schools that the 
proposed change will undermine the quality of education provided by other ‘good’ 
or ‘outstanding’ schools in the area, by creating additional places where there is 
already surplus capacity. 

Where proposals are particularly controversial and could attract public or press attention; 
RSCs may choose to escalate such proposals to ministers for a decision. 

Governance changes to an academy trust 
This guidance does not apply to governance changes such as a single academy trust 
(SAT) joining or becoming a multi-academy trust (MAT) or a SAT or MAT adding a new 
free school. There are different routes to becoming a MAT so, depending on what route a 
SAT takes, they need to access the appropriate link and follow the process below. The 
case will be assessed then the RSC makes a final decision. The change will need to be 
reflected in funding agreements and articles of association as necessary. 

All applications must be submitted to academy.questions@education.gsi.gov.uk for: 

• SATs thinking about setting up a MAT to become a sponsor; 

• SATs/MATs wishing to add a new free school to their trust; 

• The SAT to MAT application form must be used in the following situations: 

o MATs who are taking responsibility for an existing SAT;  

o Two or more SATs coming together to set up a MAT;  

o A SAT working with other schools who want to form a MAT; and 

Page 421

mailto:academy.questions@education.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sponsor-an-academy
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/opening-a-free-school
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-to-become-a-multi-academy-trust


6 
 

• SATs becoming MATs where there are no other schools involved at all and where 
the change does not relate to becoming a sponsor. 

Physical expansion of premises 
A significant expansion is defined as an enlargement of the site so that it can provide 
spaces for at least 30 additional pupils. If this criteria is not met schools do not need 
to seek approval via the significant change process, but will need to seek 
agreement to amend the capacity figure in the funding agreement. 

Under section 14 of the Education Act 1996, every local authority (LA) has a statutory 
duty to provide sufficient school places for all pupils in its area. The department has a 
strong expectation, especially in areas of basic need, that all ‘good’ and ‘outstanding’ 
academies should consider how they can best support their LA in meeting this duty. To 
help achieve this, academies can propose either an expansion of their school premises, 
increase their PAN or admit over PAN. 

The department expects that only academies that are rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ will 
seek to expand their premises, in order to increase their intake. Only in very limited 
circumstances will the RSC consider approval of a proposal to expand from a school in 
another category, for example: 

• where the academy is in an area of critical basic need; 

• all other options for providing additional places have been fully explored; and  

• the academy has a robust improvement plan in place. 

Academies rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ at their last inspection, proposing to physically 
expand their school premises, may follow the fast track process, unless the proposal; 

• results in an increase of over: 50% in the school’s capacity; and/or  

• increases pupil numbers to 2,000 pupils or more. 

Where the fast track requirements are not met, expansion proposals will require a full 
business case. 

Part four explains the steps to making a significant change and the information needed 
for both a fast track application and full business case. 

Special academies that are proposing to increase the physical capacity (number of 
pupils for which the schools is organised to make provision) of the school (including 
where PAN only is increased), and when taking into account all previous increases), by 
10% or 20 pupils (whichever is the lesser) will need to seek approval based on a full 
business case regardless of their Ofsted rating. 

Page 422

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents


7 
 

Physical expansions onto satellite sites  

Where academy trusts wish to expand onto an additional site they will need to consider 
whether the new provision is genuinely a change to an existing school or is in effect a 
new school. 

The establishment of new selective schools in all cases is prohibited by statute. 
Expansion of any existing academy onto a satellite site will only be approved if it is a 
genuine continuance of the same school.  

When deciding whether to approve an expansion onto a satellite site, the RSC on behalf 
of the Secretary of State will consider factors including: 

The reasons for the expansion 

• What is the rationale for this approach and this particular site?  

Admission and curriculum arrangements 

• How will the new site be used (e.g. which age groups/pupils will it serve)? 

• What will the admission arrangements be? 

• Will there be movement of pupils between sites? 

Governance and administration 

• How will whole school activities be managed? 

• Will staff be employed on contracts to work on both sites? How frequently will they 
do so? 

• What governance, leadership and management arrangements will be put in place 
to oversee the new site (e.g. will the new site be governed by the same governing 
body/academy trust board and the same school leadership team)? 

Physical characteristics of the school 

• How will facilities across the two sites be used (e.g. sharing of the facilities and 
resources available at the two sites, such as playing fields)? 

• Is the new site in an area that is easily accessible to the community that the 
current school serves? 

The purpose of considering these factors is to determine the level of integration between 
the two sites; the more integration, the more likely the change can be considered to be 
an expansion. 

Page 423



8 
 

Academy trusts proposing to expand onto a satellite site will always be required to 
submit a full business case, to enable the department to ensure the proposal is a genuine 
expansion and does not in effect constitute a new academy. For selective academies the 
final decision will be made by the Secretary of State. 

Type of proposal Fast Track route possible? Full business case needed? 

Physical expansion of 
premises  Yes  

If the change meets the 
expansion criteria; the 

academy is currently rated 
‘good’ or ‘outstanding and 

the proposal is not 
considered contentious 

Possibly  

If the change meets the 
expansion criteria, the 

academy is not rated ‘good’ 
or ‘outstanding’, the 

expansion results in a 50% 
increase, or takes pupil 

number to 2,000 or more or 
the proposal could be 

considered contentious 

Physical expansion onto an 
additional or satellite site 

No Yes 

Physical expansion of 
premises - special academy No 

Yes 

If the increase is for 10% or 
20 pupils (whichever lesser) 

See part four for more detail 

Age range changes 
Academies rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ at their last Ofsted inspection can propose to 
change the age range of their school by up to two years (including adding nursery 
provision but excluding adding a sixth-form) by following the fast-track process. 

Only in very limited circumstances will the RSC consider approving a proposal from a 
school rated as any other category, for example: 

• where the academy is in an area of basic need; or 

• where there are no other options for meeting the need for additional places; and 

• the academy has a robust improvement plan in place. 

Academy trusts proposing to change the age range of their school by three years or 
more; add a sixth-form, or make any age range change which could be considered 
contentious, or which will set a precedent for schools in their local area, will usually need 
to submit a full business case.  

Page 424

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/establishing-a-new-school-free-school-presumption


9 
 

Where proposals are likely to have a significant impact on other local provision a full 
business case will usually be required to provide evidence that the education of children 
in the area, as a whole, will not be compromised. Where local provision is organised in 
three tiers and the aim is to move to two tier age range, the department expects schools 
to work together to ensure an appropriate co-ordinated implementation, and will only 
approve any individual proposal in that context.  

The addition or removal of a relevant age group must be consulted on in accordance with 
the School Admissions Code. 

There is a general presumption that a primary school seeking to expand its provision by 
adding secondary level provision will in effect be a new school, and that the academy 
trust will therefore need to apply to the department to set up a presumption free school 
rather than seeking to make this change via a change of age range proposal. 

If fast-track conditions are not met, a full business case is always required, see part four. 

Proposals to add sixth-form provision will require a full business case and should 
normally only be put forward for existing academies rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. 

Applications for the addition of a sixth-form will be assessed against the following quality 
criteria; these will be used as guidelines when being considered by the RSC: 

• Size, an expectation of around 200 students or more, either in the institution or 
through partnership; 

• Breadth, an expectation that a student should be able to choose from around 15 A 
levels across a range of subjects, either in the institution or through partnership;  

• Demand, including any shortage of post 16 places, and assessment of the quality 
of level 3 provision overall in the area and the impact of the new provision on other 
providers; 

• Financial viability and value for money, including testing financial resilience should 
student numbers fall and considering the degree, and impact on 11-16 education, 
of cross-subsidisation of funding from the school’s other budgets. 

A request for a variation to admission arrangements, in line with the School Admissions 
Code, will be necessary if the school wants to admit external pupils to the sixth-form. 

  

Page 425

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/establishing-a-new-school-free-school-presumption
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


10 
 

Proposals to remove sixth-form provision can be made as a fast track application. 

Type of proposal Fast Track route possible? Full business case needed? 

Change of lower or upper 
age limit by up to 2 years 
(including adding a nursery1 
but excluding adding a 
sixth-form) 

Yes 

If the academy is currently 
rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding 

and the proposal is not 
considered contentious 

Possibly 

If the academy is not rated 
as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ or 
where the proposal could be 

considered contentious 

Change of lower or upper 
age limit by 3 years or more 

No Yes 

Adding a sixth-form No Yes 

Removing a sixth-form Yes 

Case should address how 
displaced pupils will be 

offered alternative places. 

No 

See part 4 for more detail 

Amalgamations / mergers 
In ALL cases, proposals for amalgamation or merger with another academy will require a 
full business case, regardless of either academies Ofsted rating. The academy trust must 
propose to close one (or more) school (terminating the funding agreement(s) in the 
process) and propose to enlarge/change the age range/transfer site of an existing 
academy to accommodate the displaced pupils. The remaining academy will retain its 
school number, as it is not a new school, even if its age-range/phase has changed. 

As these proposals will involve the closure of at least one school, academy trusts should 
be mindful of TUPE implications. The issue and implications of excess land will be dealt 
with by the department as part of an amalgamations / merger case. 

Type of proposal Fast Track route possible? Full business case needed? 

Amalgamating or merging 
with another academy 

No 

Yes 

Case should address TUPE 
and land issues, as 

applicable. 

See part four for more detail 

                                            
1 Small Business Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 - schools no longer have to register, separately with 
Ofsted, their early year’s provision for two, three or four-year olds, so long as it meets certain requirements. 
Contact Ofsted for further details. Early years provisions in Childcare Act 2006 will need to be addressed. 

Page 426

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/26/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/contents


11 
 

Faith-related changes 
Gaining, removing or changing a faith designation requires approval based on a full 
business case. Only academies that are designated with a religious character can admit 
pupils and appoint staff by reference to faith criteria or teach religious education /deliver 
collective worship according to the tenets of the faith designation.  

Before they may apply for a designation of a religious character, academy trusts are 
required, by their funding agreement, to seek the Secretary of State’s consent. The 
relevant RSC will make this decision on behalf of the Secretary of State. 

The academy trust must clearly set out, as a minimum, in their business case: their 
proposed new governance and staffing arrangements; the basis on which they believe 
the change is needed; and, why it will benefit the academy and the wider community. 
They must show that there is support for this change from their school and wider local 
community and have the express consent of the relevant religious body to become a 
school designated with a religious character. If faith based admission arrangements are 
proposed these must be consulted upon too, in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code. The academy trust should also consider if an Equalities Impact Assessment 
should be completed, and include this with the business case. 

It is possible for an academy that was formerly a voluntary controlled school to alter 
certain characteristics; i.e. their governance structures, approach to employment of staff; 
teaching of religious education and collective worship, so they are akin to those of a 
voluntary aided (VA) school. 

This gives the academy greater freedoms in relation to how they maintain and develop 
their faith ethos. Therefore, the academy trust is required to undertake a local 
consultation and submit a summary of the results with their application. Once the RSC is 
satisfied there is sufficient support, changes are made to the funding agreement and 
articles of association. If the school wishes to have VA style freedoms in relation to 
employment of staff, an Order will be issued to ensure compliance with legislation. 

Type of proposal Fast Track route possible? Full business case needed? 

Gaining, removing or 
changing a faith designation 

No Yes 

Change a Church of England 
academy’s characteristics 

No Yes 

See part four for more detail 

Page 427

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


12 
 

Other change proposals 
Transfer to another site can mean an enlargement of the premises, but might also 
affect the catchment area. If so, the academy trust will also need to reconsider their 
admission arrangements. A full business case is required in all cases. 

Change of gender composition, made via a full business case, allows a move from 
single sex to co-educational (or vice versa). A change from single sex to co-educational 
provision in post-16 provision can be made through the normal procedures for changing 
admissions. Academy trusts should remember that a co-educational school cannot 
change its nursery or post-16 provision to single sex. 

Change in type of SEN provision proposals require a full business case and allow 
special academies to add, remove the designation and categories of SEN provision that 
they currently provide. 

Changes affecting provision reserved for pupils with SEN proposals require a full 
business case to add or remove the reserved provision or increase or decrease the 
number for which the reserved provision caters. The characteristics of the reserved 
provision may also be changed so as to change the age range or type of SEN for which 
the reserved provision caters. Academy trusts should note that provision reserved for 
pupils with SEN includes both "resourced provision" – where pupils spend more than half 
of their time in mainstream classes with support – and "designated SEN units" – where 
pupils spend more than half of their time in special classes. 

Proposals for adding or increasing boarding provision can be made through a fast 
track application. In these cases compliance with health and safety, fire, planning 
regulations will be required. 

When adding new boarding or residential provision an Ofsted material change inspection 
is required, before the boarding provision can be operational, to ensure the boarding 
schools national minimum standards and residential special schools national minimum 
standards are met. The department will commission the inspection to check that the 
school is likely to meet the standards. Ofsted will normally contact the school two days 
prior to the inspection. 

An inspection is not required where an academy is proposing to increase existing 
boarding provision. 

Where an academy makes accommodation arrangements for boarders – for example 
with host families – the academy must still register as a boarding school. A fast track 
application will need to be made as well as a material change inspection. 

Decrease in, or removal of boarding provision requires a full business case when the 
proposal is to decrease by 50 pupils or 50% (whichever is the greater), or the entirety of 
boarding provision. 

Page 428

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-standards-check-sheet-for-a-material-change-inspection-of-an-independent-school
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/boarding-schools-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/boarding-schools-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/residential-special-schools-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/residential-special-schools-national-minimum-standards


13 
 

Type of proposal Fast Track route possible? Full business case needed? 

Transfer to another site No Yes 

Change of gender 
composition - single sex to 
co-educational (vice versa) 

No Yes 

Change in type of SEN 
provision 

No Yes 

Changes affecting provision 
reserved for SEN pupils 

No Yes 

Adding or increasing 
boarding provision 

Yes 

However other legislation, 
as above, applies and will 
need to be complied with. 

No 

Decrease in, or removal of 
boarding provision 

No 

Yes 

If proposal is to remove at 
least 50% or 50 pupils 
(whichever greater), or 

entire boarding provision 

See part four for more detail 

Page 429



14 
 

3: Funding 
Generally the department does not provide funding for significant changes or any 
associated legal or administrative costs. Academy trusts will need to consider how to 
fund any associated costs in terms of capital funding. The proposal should include 
indicative costings and an explanation of how these will be met. 

Where capital funding for the expansion of high performing academies is to be sought 
through the Condition Improvement Fund (CIF), academy trusts will need to state this in 
their business case. The decision on capital funding rests with the minister, taking into 
account the RSC’s views on the proposed significant change. Academies will need to 
make a separate CIF application to demonstrate their ability to plan and deliver the 
proposed capital project ahead of the December deadline. From September 2016 the 
intention will be for academies to make a single application for the significant change and 
capital approval. Please see the Condition Improvement Fund guidance which sets out 
the eligibility criteria and application process for the 2016-17 round. 

It is expected that all academies that were rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ at their last 
Ofsted inspection and are situated in areas of population growth will actively consider 
how they can best support the LA in meeting its duty to supply sufficient school places. 
This can include increasing PAN without expansion of the premises or an expansion of 
the premises and an increase in the PAN. Where an academy agrees to expand in 
response to a proposal by an LA to meet a local need for places, the LA should meet 
these costs. The department provides capital funding to local authorities facing a shortfall 
of places (basic need), to help support them to meet their statutory duty to secure 
sufficient school places in their area. 

  

Page 430

https://www.gov.uk/condition-improvement-fund


15 
 

4: What are the steps to making changes? 
Academy trusts should always discharge their Public Sector Equality Duty2 in proposing 
changes and consider if the proposed change will affect the trusts governing documents. 

For ALL significant change enquiries and proposals, academy trusts will need to contact 
the department, via an enquiry form, at least three months prior to the proposed change 
coming into effect. This is to ensure that there is time for the decision to be made and 
that the funding agreement and, if necessary, the admission arrangements can be varied 
BEFORE the change can take effect. Failure to follow the correct procedure could 
constitute a breach of the funding agreement. 

Who should be consulted and how? 
For both full business case proposals and fast track applications the academy trust will 
need to confirm that a fair and open local consultation has been undertaken, with all 
those who could be affected by the proposed change, and that the proposal takes 
account of all responses received. Comments or objections can be made on any grounds 
and opportunities for feedback should be given at all public and stakeholder meetings.  

The LA will hold important contextual information on the requirement for places locally, 
and must be consulted in all cases. The RSC (or the Secretary of State as appropriate) 
will need to be satisfied that the LA has been consulted, and will consider any reasonable 
objections from them. 

A condition of funding for any future capital funds is that the academy trust has 
conducted a consultation, that responses have been taken into account, and that any 
consents required have been given. Changes will not be agreed unless appropriate 
consultation has taken place. 

If you are a maintained school and are consulting on proposals to make a significant 
change as soon as you become an academy, this must be undertaken as part of your 
section 5 (conversion) consultation. Decisions about significant changes immediately 
following conversion are separate to decisions about conversion, and may not be 
approved when conversion is approved. 

The department considers the stakeholders listed below should be consulted about 
proposals for change, but others may also be included: 

• each LA which maintains an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) or statement 
of SEN in respect of a child attending the academy. 

                                            
2 Section 149 Equality Act 2010 

Page 431

https://www.gov.uk/change-your-charitys-governing-document
https://form.education.gov.uk/fillform.php?self=1&form_id=HR41uA2F8Dh&type=form&ShowMsg=1&form_name=Knowledge+centre+enquiry+form&noRegister=false&ret=%2Fmodule%2Fservices&noLoginPrompt=1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


16 
 

• parents of children who attend the academy. 

• parents in the area. 

• primary, secondary and special schools and sixth-form and FE colleges in the 
area. 

• The Admissions Forum for the academy’s area, where one exists (if admissions 
are to be affected). 

• affected admission authorities, including those in neighbouring LA areas (if 
admissions are to be affected). 

• any diocesan / religious authority for academies designated with a religious 
character must be consulted. 

The consultation process on a significant change should run for a minimum of four 
weeks, although where there are any changes requiring a change to admission 
arrangements there must be a six week consultation on the admission arrangements, 
with the parties set out in the School Admissions Code.  

It is important to take timing into account in order to maximise responses to the 
consultation, including attendance at any public meetings – for example, consulting 
during term time rather than school holidays. The location of public and stakeholder 
meetings should also be planned to maximise responses. It is good practice to hold 
meetings in the academy or in a venue close to it. It is also important when making 
changes that affect admission arrangements to ensure your consultation is completed 
and business case and variation request submitted in sufficient time to ensure any 
changes to an admission policy can be implemented before parents submit their 
applications for school places. 

Guidance is available from the Cabinet Office on consultation principles, which can be 
used for examples of good practice. 

Requesting a change: fast track and full business case 

Fast track application: academies rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 

Changes which can be made via the fast tracked application i.e. do not require a full 
business case, at academies, rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ in their last inspection by 
Ofsted, are: 

• a significant expansion unless it results in an increase of over 50% in the school’s 
capacity, takes pupil numbers to 2,000 or more and results in an expansion onto a 
satellite site; 

Page 432

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-existing-academy


17 
 

• an age range change (by up to two years) e.g. to extend existing nursery provision 
to two year-olds, unless the case is likely to be contentious; and excluding adding 
a sixth-form; 

• adding boarding provision and, 

• removing a sixth-form. 

It is expected that RSCs will approve the majority of fast track requests from academies 
currently rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ provided that the academy meets all the fast-
track criteria (as below) and is prepared to demonstrate, with evidence if requested: 

• a fair and open consultation has taken place, including that any consultation 
relating to admission arrangements which are necessary has been undertaken, 
the number and percentage in favour of the change has been considered, and if 
there are any objections, how the issues raised will be (or have been) managed;  

• funding has been secured in relation to the proposed change for both capital 
costs, and that there are no issues with current budget and/or finances. In the 
case of expansions, academies have sufficient funding for additional pupils, until 
lagged funding is applied; 

• the change is aligned with local pupil place plans and it is unlikely to have a 
negative impact on educational standards at the academy or at other local schools 
or colleges; and 

• that appropriate planning permissions and other consents required have been 
secured. 

The department may on occasion need to request additional information to that 
requested above, depending on the complexity of the proposed change. Whilst there is a 
presumption that changes deemed ‘fast track’ will be approved, change found not to have 
met the criteria will not be approved by the RSC.  When assessing a fast track 
application, the RSCs will consider the impact that the proposed change will have on the 
quality and capacity of the academy.   

Full business case 

For full business case proposals, the RSC, advised as necessary by their HTB, will make 
a decision based on consideration of the factors and evidence provided by the academy 
trust(s) which are: 

• educational track record and current performance of the academy; 

• the details of the change, including the rationale and impact on the school, any 
potential issues/risks relating to the proposals (e.g. changes to leadership and 

Page 433

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-existing-academy


18 
 

governance, any foreseen adaptations, additions, refurbishments or land transfers 
needed), and evidence of demand; 

• when the change is to be implemented, and how (e.g. will it be done in stages); 

• details of the schools at which displaced pupils will be offered places (if 
applicable), including any interim arrangements; the alternative provision for 
children recognised by the LA as reserved for children with special education 
needs; and in the case of special academies, the alternative provision made; 

• local context including supply of school places data, LA wider position data and 
the impact on the availability of places, the effect on other schools, academies, 
colleges and educational institutions within the LA; 

• evidence of fair and open local consultation, including an overview of the 
responses to the consultation; 

• the degree of LA support and what the academy has done in response to any 
consultation responses from them; 

• financial health of the academy and funding arrangements of the proposed 
change, any indicative costings and an indication of how these might be met, 
including how the change will be sustained in terms of capacity and value for 
money; 

• a request for a variation of the admission arrangements, where changes are 
necessary to implement an approved change. The request should flag whether it is 
proposed that a PAN will be reduced, or a relevant age group for admission will be 
removed; 

• information on the consultation on the proposed change including any admissions 
consultation, including the number and percentage in favour of the change, and if 
there are any objections, how the issues raised will be (or have been) managed; 

• when an academy is proposing changes to its SEN provision, the business case 
must demonstrate that the proposed change will not have a detrimental impact on 
local SEN provision; 

• details of financial and governance arrangements and if appropriate, confirmation 
that planning permission has been secured; 

• the consent of any relevant religious authority and/or site trustees; and  

• any implications for other statutory requirements e.g. under TUPE, childcare (early 
years), equalities and health and safety legislation. 

Page 434



19 
 

Decision making process 
The RSC, advised by their HTB, will consider the proposal and either approve or reject it. 
The RSC may also defer the approval pending further evidence. Where proposals are 
particularly controversial and could attract adverse public or press attention; the RSC 
may choose to escalate such proposals to the Secretary of State for a decision. 

The department will notify the academy trust of the RSC’s decision. The responsibility for 
amending trust documentation lies with the trust. 

The responsibility for updating the academy’s details on the departments EduBase 
system also lies with the academy trust. Further guidance on using EduBase is available 
on the EduBase website. Ofsted use EduBase as part of their inspection scheduling and 
to ensure relevant inspector expense, so it is important that significant changes are 
accurately and promptly recorded. 

Admissions-related changes 
Reductions in the PAN, or the removal of a relevant age group, must be consulted on in 
accordance with the School Admissions Code or, if a variation is sought because of a 
major change in circumstances, the request must be made sufficiently in advance of the 
closing date for admissions applications. 

What should be done when a change affects admissions but cannot meet the 
normal timescale for making changes to admission arrangements’? 

• All academies are contractually obliged to comply with the School Admissions 
Code, including the timescale for changing admissions. 

• The normal lead in time between beginning consultation on changing admission 
arrangements, as set out in the School Admissions Code, and determining those 
arrangements as final, is 17 months which includes a six week statutory 
consultation on the proposed revision to arrangements. However, this may not 
always be possible – for example, if the timing for a significant change does not 
align with the normal admissions consultation timetable. 

• Where it is not possible to follow the normal admissions timetable, academies 
must seek a ‘variation’ of their admission arrangements at the same time as they 
submit their full business case for the significant change. 

• A variation can only be agreed if there is a major change in circumstances 
necessitating the change to the admission arrangements.  

• All variation requests should be the minimum necessary to implement the 
significant change, if approved. 

Page 435

http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


20 
 

What needs to be done before the variation of the admission arrangements can be 
agreed? 

• The academy trust must consult the relevant persons or bodies as set out in the 
School Admissions Code. 

• The consultation must cover the relevant change to the admission arrangements. 

• The consultation on admission arrangements should last six weeks. 

• Evidence of the consultation should be submitted with the business case. 

• Where a change reduces a PAN or removes a relevant age group, it is essential a 
decision is made before parents apply for a place. Submissions must be 
sufficiently in advance of the closing date for applications in order to allow the 
RSC, on behalf of the Secretary of State, to take a decision. The following 
deadlines apply: 

• Changes reducing a primary PAN or removing a primary relevant age group 
for admission – submission to the department by 1 November3 in the year 
before the change will be implemented; 

• Changes reducing a secondary PAN or removing a secondary relevant age 
group for admission – submission to the department by 31 August 4 in the year 
before the change will be implemented; 

What changes to admissions arrangements are likely to be necessary if the age 
range is changed? 

• Where, for example, a school changes its age range from 11-16 to 4-16, the 
department would normally expect the current oversubscription criteria to be used. 
However a new PAN, to apply to reception as a new point of entry, should be 
determined and the year seven PAN may need to be reduced or removed. 

• Where a school adds boarding provision, a boarding admission number and 
boarding admission criteria must be adopted. 

• Where a school adds a sixth-form, there is no need for changes to be made to 
admission arrangements unless the intention is to admit external pupils, in which 
case a year 12 PAN and oversubscription criteria must be included. 

                                            
3 The closing date for parents to submit an application for the following September is 15 January 
4 The closing date for parents to submit an application for the following September is 31 October 

Page 436

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


21 
 

5: Further Information 
Queries can be made via the online enquiry form,  

• Education Act 1996 

• Childcare Act 2006 

• Academies Act 2010 

• Equality Act 2010 

• Small Business Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 

• The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2014 

• Regional Schools Commissioners  

• Head Teacher Board 

• Charity Commission 

• Establishing a new school: free school presumption 

• Opening a free school  

• Sponsor an academy 

• Academies funding payments and compliance 

• Condition Improvement Fund guidance 

• The School Admissions Code 

• Governors' handbook 

• Change your charity's governing document 

• Boarding schools national minimum standards  

• Residential special schools national minimum standards 

• Ofsted material change inspection 

• EduBase 

• How to make changes to a maintained school 

• Consultation principles guidance  

Page 437

https://form.education.gov.uk/fillform.php?self=1&form_id=HR41uA2F8Dh&type=form&ShowMsg=1&form_name=Knowledge+centre+enquiry+form&noRegister=false&ret=%2Fmodule%2Fservices&noLoginPrompt=1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/26/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3352/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group/about/our-governance
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/charity-commission
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/establishing-a-new-school-free-school-presumption
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/opening-a-free-school
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sponsor-an-academy
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/academies-funding-payments-and-compliance
https://www.gov.uk/condition-improvement-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/governors-handbook--3
https://www.gov.uk/change-your-charitys-governing-document
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/boarding-schools-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/residential-special-schools-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-minimum-standards-check-sheet-for-a-material-change-inspection-of-an-independent-school
http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/school-organisation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


22 
 

 

© Crown copyright 2016 

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any 
third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright 
holders concerned. 

To view this licence:  
visit  www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3  
email  psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk 
write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU 

About this publication:  
enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus  
download  www.gov.uk/government/publications 

Reference:  DFE-00062-2016 

  
Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk  

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

 

Page 438

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk


Making ‘prescribed 
alterations’ to 
maintained schools 

Statutory guidance for proposers and 
decision-makers 

April 2016 

Appendix 5b

Page 439



Contents 
1: Summary 5 

About this guidance 5 

Review date 5 

Who is this guidance for? 5 

Main points 6 

2: Prescribed alteration changes 7 

Enlargement of premises 7 

Expansion onto an additional site (‘or satellite sites’) 8 

Reducing pupil numbers in mainstream schools 10 

Change of age range 11 

Adding or removing a sixth-form 13 

Closing an additional site 14 

Transfer to a new site 15 

Changes of category 16 

Single sex school becoming co-educational (or vice versa) 17 

Mainstream school: establish/remove/alter SEN provision 18 

Change the types of need catered for by a special school 18 

Boarding provision 19 

Remove selective admission arrangements at a grammar school 21 

3: Contentious / controversial proposals 22 

4: Changes that can be made outside of the statutory process 23 

5: Statutory process: prescribed alterations 25 

Publication 26 

Representation (formal consultation) 27 

2 
 Page 440



Decision 28 

Rights of appeal against a decision 29 

Implementation 29 

Modification post determination 29 

Revocation of proposals 30 

Land and buildings for foundation, foundation special or voluntary controlled 
schools 31 

6: Statutory process: foundation proposals 32 

Changing category to foundation, acquiring a Trust and/or acquiring a foundation 
majority 32 

Initiation 33 

Publication 33 

Representation (formal consultation) 34 

Decision 35 

Implementation 36 

Modification post determination 36 

Revocation of proposals 36 

Governance and staffing issues 36 

Land transfer issues 37 

Removing a Trust and/or removing a foundation majority 38 

Initiation 39 

Land and assets (when removing a Trust) 40 

Consultation 40 

Publication 41 

Representation 41 

Decision 42 

3 
 Page 441



Implementation 42 

Modification of proposals 43 

Annex A: Information to be included in a prescribed alteration statutory proposal 44 

Annex B: Information that must be included in foundation proposals 45 

Annex C: Information to be included in proposals to remove a Trust 46 

Annex D: Information to be included in proposal to reconstitute the governing body 47 

Annex E: Further Information 48 

Annex F: Contact details for RSC offices 49 

 

4 
 Page 442



1: Summary 

About this guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Department for Education. This means that 
recipients must have regard to it when carrying out functions relating to making 
‘prescribed alterations’ to maintained schools. 

The purpose of this guidance is to ensure that additional good quality school places 
can be provided quickly where they are needed; that local authorities and governing 
bodies do not take decisions that will have a negative impact on other schools in the 
area, and that changes can be implemented quickly and effectively where there is a 
strong case for doing so. In line with these aims it is expected that, where possible, 
additional new places will only be provided at schools that have an overall Ofsted 
rating of ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. 

A governing body, LA or the Schools Adjudicator must have regard to this guidance 
when exercising functions under The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 (‘the Prescribed Alterations 
Regulations’) and The School Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of 
Schools) Regulations 2013 (‘ the Establishment and Discontinuance Regulations’). It 
should be read in conjunction with Parts 2 and 3 and Schedule 3 of the Education 
and Inspections Act (EIA) 2006 (as amended by the Education Act (EA) 2011) and 
the Prescribed Alterations Regulations. It also relates to the Establishment and 
Discontinuance Regulations and The School Organisation (Removal of Foundation, 
Reduction in the Number of Foundation Governors and Ability of Foundation to Pay 
Debts) (England) Regulations (2007).  

It is the responsibility of LAs and governing bodies to ensure that they act in 
accordance with the relevant legislation when making changes to a maintained 
school and they are advised to seek independent legal advice where appropriate. 

Review date 
This guidance will be reviewed in April 2017.  

Who is this guidance for? 
Those proposing to make changes to maintained schools (e.g. governing bodies and 
LAs), decision-makers (LAs, the Schools Adjudicator and governing bodies), and for 
information purposes for those affected by a proposal (dioceses, trustees, parents 
etc.) 

5 
 Page 443

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3109/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3109/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made


This guidance is relevant to all categories of maintained schools (as defined in 
section 20 of the School Standards and Framework Act (SSFA) 1998), unless 
explicitly stated. It is not relevant to Pupil Referral Units. Separate advice on making 
significant changes to an academy, opening and closing a maintained school and the 
guidance for decision-makers is available. 

Main points 
• All proposals for prescribed alterations must follow the processes set out in 

this guidance. 

• Where a LA proposes to expand a school that is eligible for intervention they 
should copy the proposal to the relevant Regional Schools Commissioner 

• To enable the department to monitor potentially controversial proposals, the 
proposer should copy any proposal which falls within the definitions set out in 
part 3 to the School Organisation mailbox – 
schoolorganisation.notrifications@education.gsi.gov.uk. 

• Where a LA is the decision maker, it must make a decision within a period of 
two months of the end of the representation period, taking into account the 
factors outlined in the guidance for decision-makers. Where a decision is not 
made within this time frame, the proposal must be referred to the Schools’ 
Adjudicator for a decision. 

• It is not possible for any school to gain, lose or change religious character 
through a change of category. Information on the process to be followed is 
available in the opening and closing maintained school guidance. 

• It is the department’s view that governing bodies should convert to academy 
status rather than change category to a foundation. Governing bodies wishing 
to discuss this issue should email 
schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk and a member of the 
school organisation team will contact them to discuss the proposed change of 
category. 

• Once a decision has been made the proposer (school governing body or LA) 
should make the necessary changes to the school’s record in the 
department’s EduBase system and MUST have done so by the date the 
change is implemented. 

6 
 Page 444

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-existing-academy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-existing-academy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools
mailto:schoolorganisation.notrifications@education.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools
mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml


2: Prescribed alteration changes 

Enlargement of premises  
Details of how special schools can increase their intake are covered below. 

Local authorities are under a statutory duty to ensure the sufficiency of school 
places in their area. They can propose an enlargement of the premises of community 
foundation and voluntary schools. When doing so they must follow the statutory 
process as set out in the Prescribed Alterations Regulations (see part 5) if: 

• the proposed enlargement of the premises of the school is permanent (longer 
than three years) and would increase the capacity of the school by: 

o more than 30 pupils; and  

o 25% or 200 pupils (whichever is the lesser). 

• the proposal involves the making permanent of any temporary enlargement 
(that meets the above threshold). 

Where a proposal seeks to increase the school’s pupil number to over 2,000 or 
would result in an increase of over 50% of the school’s current capacity, the LA 
should copy the proposal to schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk 
for monitoring purposes. 

Governing bodies of all categories of mainstream schools and LAs can propose 
smaller expansions that do not meet the thresholds above without the need to follow 
the formal statutory process in part 4. In many cases this can be achieved solely by 
increasing the school’s published admissions number (PAN); please see the School 
Admissions Code.  

The table below sets out who can propose an enlargement of premises and what 
process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-maker Right of appeal 
to the adjudicator 

LA for 
community 

Enlargement 
of premises 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

LA for 
voluntary or 
foundation 

Enlargement 
of premises 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB / Trustees 

7 
 Page 445

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made
mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-maker Right of appeal 
to the adjudicator 

LA for 
voluntary 
and 
foundation 

Enlargement 
of premises 
(on small 
scale 
expansions) 

Non statutory 
process 

LA N/A 

GB of all 
categories 
mainstream 

Enlargement 
of premises 
(on small 
scale 
expansions) 

Non statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Expansion onto an additional site (‘or satellite sites’) 
Where proposers seek to expand onto an additional site they will need to ensure that 
the new provision is genuinely a change to an existing school and not in reality the 
establishment of a new school. Where a LA decides that a new school is need to 
meet basic need the free school presumption process must be followed.  Other 
proposals seeking to establish a new school should follow the free school application 
process. 

Decisions about whether a proposal represents a genuine expansion will need to be 
taken on a case-by-case basis, but proposers and decision makers will need to 
consider this non-exhaustive list of factors: 

The reasons for the expansion  

• What is the rationale for this approach and this particular site?  

Admission and curriculum arrangements  

• How will the new site be used (e.g. which age groups/pupils will it serve)?  

• What will the admission arrangements be?  

• Will there be movement of pupils between sites?  

Governance and administration  

• How will whole school activities be managed?  

8 
 Page 446

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• Will staff be employed on contracts to work on both sites? How frequently will 
they do so?  

• What governance, leadership and management arrangements will be put in 
place to oversee the new site (e.g. will the new site be governed by the same 
governing body and the same school leadership team)?  

Physical characteristics of the school  

• How will facilities across the two sites be used (e.g. sharing of the facilities 
and resources available at the two sites, such as playing fields)?  

• Is the new site in an area that is easily accessible to the community that the 
current school serves?  

The purpose of considering these factors is to determine the level of integration 
between the two sites; the more integration, the more likely the change will be 
considered as an expansion. Where a LA considers there is a need for a new school 
to address basic need for school places it must1 seek proposals to establish a free 
school under the free school presumption. 

LAs should copy any proposal to expand a school onto a satellite site to 
schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk for monitoring purposes. 

Quality of new places created by expansions 

Where schools are underperforming, the quality of new places provided may be 
compromised by expansion. The department expects that schools should not 
generally expand if they are eligible for intervention by the local Regional Schools 
Commissioner (‘RSC’). There will be exceptional cases where there is no viable 
alternative to ensuring sufficient school places locally. In cases where there is a 
proposal for a school that is eligible for intervention to expand, we expect LAs to 
send a copy of the proposals to the RSC so that they can ensure appropriate 
intervention strategies are agreed or, where appropriate, that there is a robust 
improvement plan in place.  

Change in number of pupils in a special school 

Governing bodies of all categories of special school and LAs for community 
special schools may seek to increase the number of places by following the 
statutory process in part 5, if the increase is by: 

1 Under section 6A of Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

9 
 

                                                            

Page 447

mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk


• 10%; or  

• 20 pupils (five for all boarding special schools) (whichever is the lesser). 

The exception to this is where a special school is established in a hospital. 

Governing bodies of all categories of special school and LAs for community 
special schools may seek to decrease the number of pupils, by following the 
statutory process in part 5. 

The table below sets out who can propose a change in the number of pupils in a 
special school and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-maker Right of appeal 
to the adjudicator 

GB 
foundation 
special 

Increase by 
10% or 20 
pupils (5 for 
boarding 
special: or 
Decrease 
numbers 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB / Trustees 

GB 
community 
special 

Increase by 
10% or 20 
pupils (5 for 
boarding 
special: or 
Decrease 
numbers 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

 

LA for 
community 
special 

Increase by 
10% or 20 
pupils (5 for 
boarding 
special: or 
Decrease 
numbers 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Reducing pupil numbers in mainstream schools 
Reductions in pupil numbers at maintained mainstream schools which result in a 
decrease to the Published Admission Number (PAN) are not covered by the 
Prescribed Alterations Regulations. Where this is proposed the admissions authority 
(the LA in the case of community and voluntary controlled (VC) schools or the 

10 
 Page 448

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made


governing body in the case of voluntary aided (VA) and foundation schools) must 
consult on the proposed change in accordance with the School Admissions Code. 
Community and VC schools have the right to object to the Schools’ Adjudicator if the 
PAN proposed is lower than they would wish. 

Change of age range  
For changes that are expected to be in place for more than 2 years (as these are 
considered permanent increases): 

Local authorities can propose: 

• a change of age range of up to 2 years (except for adding or removing a 
sixth-form) for voluntary and foundation schools by following the non-statutory 
process, see part 4.  

• a change of age range of 1 year or more for community schools (including the 
adding or removal of sixth-form or nursery provision) and community special 
schools or alter the upper age limit of a foundation or voluntary school to add 
sixth-form provision by following the statutory process, see part 5. 

Governing bodies of foundation and voluntary schools can propose 

• an age range change of up to 2 years (except for adding or removing a sixth-
form) by following the non-statutory process, see part 4. 

• an age range change of 3 years or more or alter the upper age limit of the 
school to add or remove sixth form provision by following the statutory 
process, see part 5.  

Governing bodies of community schools can propose the alteration of their upper 
age limit to add sixth-form provision following the statutory process, see part 5 

Governing bodies of community special and foundation special schools can 
propose a change of age range of 1 year or more following the statutory process, 
see part 5. 

Where a proposed age range change would also require an expansion of the 
school’s premises, the LA or governing body must also ensure that they act in 
accordance with the requirements relating to proposals for the enlargement of 
premises. 

Where a proposal seeks to change the age range of a primary school to make it an 
all-through (cross phase) school the proposer (as set out below) should copy the 

11 
 Page 449

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


proposal to schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gov.uk for monitoring 
purposes. 

The table below sets out who can propose a change of age range and what process 
must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

LA for 
voluntary and 
foundation   

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range of 
up to 2 years 
(excluding 
adding or 
removing a 
sixth form) 

Non 
statutory 
process 

LA NA 

GB of 
voluntary and  
foundation 

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range by 
up to 2 years 
(excluding 
adding or 
removing a 
sixth-form) 

Non 
statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

GB of 
voluntary and  
foundation 

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range by 
three years or 
more 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

LA for 
community 
and 
community 
special  

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range by 
1 year or more 
(for community 
school 
including the 
adding or 
removal of 
sixth form or 
nursey 
provision) 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB foundation 
special  

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range by 
one year or 
more 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

12 
 Page 450

mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gov.uk


Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

GB community 
special  

Alteration of 
upper or lower 
age range by 
one year or 
more 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

LA for 
community 

Alteration of 
upper age 
range so as to 
add or remove 
sixth-form 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

LA for 
voluntary and  
foundation  

Alteration of 
upper age 
range so as to 
add sixth-form 
provision.  

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
voluntary and 
foundation   

Alteration of 
upper age 
range so as to 
add sixth-form 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
community  

Alteration of 
upper age 
range so as to 
add sixth-form 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB of 
voluntary and 
foundation  

Alteration of 
upper age 
range so as to 
remove sixth-
form provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Adding or removing a sixth-form 
The department wants to ensure that all new provision is of the highest quality and 
provides genuine value for money. There is a departmental expectation that 
proposals for the addition of sixth-form provision will only be put forward for 
secondary schools that are rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by Ofsted. Proposers 
should also consider the supply of other local post-16 provision in the area and 
assess if there is a genuine need for the proposal. 

13 
 Page 451

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


In deciding whether new sixth-form provision would be appropriate, proposers and 
decision makers should consider the following guidelines: 

• the quality of pre-16 education must be good or outstanding; 

• the proposed sixth-form will provide places for a minimum of 200 students; 

• the proposed sixth-form will, either directly or through partnership, offer a 
minimum of 15 A level subjects:  

• there is a clear demand for the new sixth-form (including evidence of a 
shortage of post-16 places and a consideration of the quality of L3 
provision in the area);  

• the proposed sixth-form is financially viable (there is evidence of financial 
resilience should student numbers fall and the proposal will not impact 
negatively on 11-16 education or cross subsidisation of funding). 

To admit external pupils to the sixth-form a request for a variation to admission 
arrangements, in line with the Schools Admissions Code will be needed. 

Closing an additional site 
For foundation and voluntary schools that are already operating on a satellite site, 
governing bodies must follow the statutory process in part 5, if they are proposing 
the closure of one or more sites where the main entrance at any of the school’s 
remaining sites is one mile or more from the main entrance of the site which is to be 
closed.  The LA may make such a proposal for a community school following the 
statutory process in part 5. 

The table below sets out who can propose the closure of an additional site and what 
process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to the 
adjudicator 

LA for 
community 

Closure of 
one or 
multiple sites 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese RC 
Diocese 

GB voluntary 
or foundation 

Closure of 
one or 
multiple sites 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees  

14 
 Page 452

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or the proposal must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator for 
a decision. 

Transfer to a new site 
Where the main entrance of the proposed new site for a school would be more than 
two miles from the main entrance of the current school site, or if the proposed new 
site is within the area of another local authority: 

Local authorities can propose the transfer to an entirely new site for community 
schools, community special schools and maintained nursery schools following the 
statutory process in part 5. 

Governing bodies of voluntary, foundation, foundation special and community 
special schools can also propose a transfer to a new site following the statutory 
process in part 5. 

The table below sets out who can propose a transfer to a new site and what process 
must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to the 
adjudicator 

LA for 
community, 
community 
special and 
maintained 
nursery 

Transfer to 
new site 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB voluntary  
foundation or 
foundation 
special 

Transfer to 
new site 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees  

GB 
community 
special 

Transfer to 
new site 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or the proposal must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator for 
a decision. 

15 
 Page 453

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


Changes of category 
The department has set out its intention to legislate to remove the option of making a 
change of category to a foundation. It is the department’s view that schools 
considering foundation status should convert to academy status in order to gain 
these freedoms. Governing bodies wishing to discuss a change of category to a 
foundation should email schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk and 
a member of the school organisation team will contact them to discuss the proposed 
change of category. 

Governing bodies of all categories of maintained schools may, exceptionally, 
propose to change category by following the statutory process. The addition or 
removal of a foundation is set out in part 6.  

The table below sets out who can propose a change of category and what process 
must be followed: 

Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

GB of 
voluntary  

VC to VA 
VA to VC 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
voluntary 

VC or VA to 
foundation 
VC or VA to 
foundation and 
acquire foundation 
VC or VA to 
foundation, acquire 
foundation and 
majority foundation 
governors on GB 

Foundation 
proposals 
statutory 
process 

GB For proposals at a 
VA school when 
decided by the 
GB:  
LA 
CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB of 
foundation 

Foundation to VC or 
VA 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
foundation 

Acquire foundation 
Acquire a majority of 
foundation governors 
on the GB 
Removal of foundation 
and/or reduction in 
majority of foundation 

Foundation 
proposals 
statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

16 
 Page 454

mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk


Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

governors on GB 

GB of 
community 

Community to VC or 
VA 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB of 
community 

Community to 
foundation 
Community to 
foundation and 
acquire foundation 
Community to 
foundation and 
acquire majority of 
foundation governors 
on GB 

Statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

GB of 
foundation 
special 

Remove foundation 
and/or reduce majority 
of foundation 
governors on GB 

Foundation 
proposals 
statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Single sex school becoming co-educational (or vice versa) 
Proposers can seek to change their school from single sex to co-educational (or vice 
versa) when they can show that this would better serve their local community. A co-
educational school cannot change its nursery or post-16 provision to single sex. 

The table below sets out who can change a school from single sex to co-educational 
(or vice versa) and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

LA for community 
or community 
special 

To co-ed or 
single sex 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB of foundation. 
foundation special 
or voluntary 

To co-ed or 
single sex 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of community 
special 

To co-ed or 
single sex 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 

17 
 Page 455

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

provision RC Diocese 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Mainstream school: establish/remove/alter SEN provision 
The table below sets out who can propose to establish, remove or alter SEN 
provision and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

LA for 
community 

Establish, remove or 
alter SEN provision  

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

LA for 
voluntary 
and 
foundation 

Establish or remove 
SEN provision  

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
foundation 
and 
voluntary 

establish, remove or 
alter SEN provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Change the types of need catered for by a special school 
The table below sets out who can propose a change to the type of need catered for 
by a special school and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

LA for 
community 
special 

change designation and 
categories of SEN 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

LA for 
foundation 
special 

change designation and 
categories of SEN 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

18 
 Page 456

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

GB of 
community 
special 

change designation and 
categories of SEN 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
 

GB of 
foundation 
special 

change designation and 
categories of SEN 
provision 

Statutory 
process 

LA  CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

Boarding provision 
Local authorities can propose for: 

• community schools the establishment, removal or alteration (decrease by 50 
pupils or 50% whichever is the greater) of boarding provision by following the 
statutory process in part 5. 

• community special schools the establishment, removal or alteration (increase 
or decrease by 5 places or more where there are both day and boarding 
places) of boarding provision following the statutory process in part 5. 

Governing bodies of voluntary and foundation schools can propose the 
establishment or increase of boarding provision following the non-statutory process 
(part 4) and the removal or alteration (decrease by 50 pupils or 50% whichever is the 
greater) of boarding provision by following the statutory process(part 5). 

Governing bodies of special schools can add or remove boarding provision or 
where the school makes provision for day and boarding pupils can increase or 
decrease boarding provision by five pupils or more following the statutory process in 
part 5. 

The table below sets out who can propose to establish, change or remove boarding 
provision and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

LA for 
community 

Add, remove 
or change 
(decrease by 

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

19 
 Page 457

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


Proposer Type of 
proposal 

Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal to 
the adjudicator 

50 pupils or 
50% 
whichever is 
greater) 
boarding 
provision.  

LA for 
community 
special 

Add, remove 
or change 
(increase or 
decrease by 5 
pupils or more) 
boarding 
provision.  

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

GB of 
foundation or 
voluntary 

Add boarding 
provision.  

Non-statutory 
process 

GB N/A 

GB of 
foundation or 
voluntary 

Remove or 
change 
(decrease by 
50 pupils or 
50% 
whichever is 
greater) 
boarding 
provision 

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 
 

GB of 
foundation 
special 

Add, remove 
or change 
(increase or 
decrease by 5 
pupils or more) 
boarding 
provision 

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
community 
special 

Add, remove 
or change 
(increase or 
decrease by 5 
pupils or more)  
boarding 
provision 

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or the proposal must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator for 
a decision. 

20 
 Page 458

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


Remove selective admission arrangements at a grammar 
school 
The table below sets out who can propose the removal of selective admission 
arrangements2 and what process must be followed: 

Proposer Type of proposal Process Decision-
maker 

Right of appeal 
to the adjudicator 

GB of 
voluntary 
or 
foundation 

Remove selective 
admission 
arrangements  

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 
GB / Trustees 

GB of 
community 

Remove selective 
admission 
arrangements 

Statutory process LA CofE Diocese 
RC Diocese 

NB: the LA must make a decision within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or the proposal must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator for 
a decision. 

2 In accordance with s.109 (1) of the School Standards and Frameworks Act 1998. 

21 
 

                                                            

Page 459

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


3: Contentious / controversial proposals 
The department is keen to ensure that, when proposing: 

• enlargement of premises; 

• changes to a school’s age range, and / or  

• adding a sixth form. 

LA’s and governing bodies act reasonably, in line with the principles of public law, to 
ensure that the changes do not to have a negative impact on the education of pupils 
in the area. 

It is the department’s expectation that, in the majority of cases, it would not be 
appropriate for a primary school to change its age range to meet the need for new 
secondary provision. Where the level of basic need is such that a new secondary 
school is needed, this will trigger the free school presumption process.  

To enable the department to monitor potentially controversial proposals, LAs and 
governing bodies should notify 
schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk of the publication of, any 
proposals which would: 

• result in an existing primary school becoming an all-though school / cross 
phase school; 

• result in an increase of over 50% in the school’s capacity; 

• increase the school’s pupil numbers to over 2,000; 

• propose expansion onto a separate ‘satellite’ site; or 

• have received objections from the LA and / or neighbouring school that the 
proposed change will undermine the quality of education.  

22 
 Page 460

mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk


4: Changes that can be made outside of the 
statutory process 
Local authorities and governing bodies of mainstream maintained schools can make 
limited changes (see section 2 for the exact detail) to their schools without following 
a statutory process; they are nevertheless required to adhere to the usual principles 
of public law. They MUST: 

• act rationally;  

• take into account all relevant and no irrelevant considerations; and  

• follow a fair procedure. 

The department expects that in making these changes LA’s and governing bodies 
will: 

• liaise with the LA and trustees/diocese (as appropriate) to ensure that, a 
proposal is aligned with wider place planning/organisational arrangements, 
and that any necessary consents have been gained;  

• not undermine the quality of education provided or the financial viability of 
other ‘good’ and ‘outstanding’ schools in the local area; or 

• not create additional places in a local planning area where there is already 
surplus capacity in schools rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ and 

• ensure open and fair consultation with parents and other interested parties to 
gauge demand for their proposed changes and to provide them with sufficient 
opportunity to give their views. The consultation principles guidance can be 
referenced for examples of good practice. 

Before making any changes governing bodies should ensure that: 

• they have consulted with the LA to ensure the proposal is aligned with local 
place planning arrangements 

• they have secured any necessary funding; 

• they have identified suitable accommodation and sites; 

23 
 Page 461

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


• they have secured planning permission and/or agreement on the transfer of 
land where necessary3; 

• they have the consent of the site trustees or other land owner where the land 
is not owned by the governing body; 

• they have the consent of the relevant religious authority (as required); and 

• the admissions authority is content for the published admissions number 
(PAN) to be changed where this forms part of expansion plans, in accordance 
with the School Admissions Code. 

Once a decision on the change has been made the proposer (i.e. LA or governing 
body) is responsible for making arrangements for the necessary changes to be made 
to the school’s record in the department’s EduBase system. These changes must be 
made no later than the date of implementation for the change. 

3 Including, where necessary, approval from the Secretary of State for change to the use of playing 
field land under Section 77(1) of the SSFA 1998. 

24 
 

                                                            

Page 462

http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml


5: Statutory process: prescribed alterations 
The statutory process for making prescribed alterations to schools has four stages: 

Stage Description Timescale Comments 

Stage 1 Publication 

(statutory 
proposal / notice) 

  

Stage 2 Representation 
(formal 
consultation) 

Must be at least 4 
weeks 

As prescribed in the 
‘Prescribed Alteration’ 
regulations.  

Stage 3 Decision LA should decide a 
proposal within 2 
months otherwise it 
will fall to the Schools 
Adjudicator. 

Any appeal to the adjudicator 
must be made within 4 weeks 
of the decision. 

Stage 4 Implementation No prescribed 
timescale 

However it must be as 
specified in the published 
statutory notice, subject to 
any modifications agreed by 
the decision-maker. 

Although there is no longer a statutory ‘pre-publication’ consultation period for 
prescribed alteration changes, there is a strong expectation that schools and LAs will 
consult interested parties, in developing their proposal prior to publication, as part of 
their duty under public law to act rationally and take into account all relevant 
considerations. Schools will also need to ensure that they have the consent of the 
site trustees and other relevant religious authorities4 (where necessary). 

When considering making a prescribed alteration change, it is best practice to take 
timing into account, for example: 

• by holding consultations and public meetings – either formal or informal – 
during term time, rather than school holidays; 

• plan where any public and stakeholder meetings are held to maximise 
response: and 

4 Including under the CofE Diocesan Board of Education (DBE) Measure 1991. 

25 
 

                                                            

Page 463



• take into account the admissions cycle for changes that will impact on the 
school’s admission arrangements. 

A number of changes can impact on admissions, necessitating reductions in PAN, 
new relevant age groups for admission or the adoption of revised admission criteria.  
Changes to admission arrangements can be made by the admission authority in one 
of two ways:  

• the consultation on changing the admission arrangements (as set out in  the 
School Admissions Code) takes place sufficiently in advance of a decision on 
the prescribed alteration so that the change to admissions can be 
implemented at the same time as the proposals; or  

• a variation is sought, where necessary in view of a major change in 
circumstances, from the Schools Adjudicator so that the changes to the 
admission policy can be implemented at the same time as the prescribed 
alteration is implemented.  

Decision-makers should, so far as is possible, co-ordinate with the admission 
authority, if different, to ensure they avoid taking decisions that will reduce a PAN or 
remove a relevant age group for admission after parents have submitted an 
application for the following September (e.g. 31 October for secondary admissions or 
15 January for primary admissions. 

Publication 
A statutory proposal must contain sufficient information for interested parties to make 
a decision on whether to support or challenge the proposed change. Annex A sets 
out the minimum that this should include. The proposal should be accessible to all 
interested parties and should therefore use ‘plain English’. 

Where the proposal for one change is linked to another, this should be made clear in 
any notices published. Where a proposal by a LA is ‘related’ to a proposal by other 
proposers (e.g. where one school is to be enlarged because another is being closed) 
a single notice could be published. 

The full proposal must be published on a website (e.g. the school or LA’s website) 
along with a statement setting out: 

• how copies of the proposal may be obtained; 

• that anybody can object to, or comment on, the proposal; 

• the date that the representation period ends; and 

26 
 Page 464

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• the address to which objections or comments should be submitted. 

A brief notice (including details on how the full proposal can be accessed e.g. the 
website address) must be published in a local newspaper. If the proposal is 
published by a governing body then notification must also be posted in a 
conspicuous place on the school premises and at all of the entrances to the school. 

Within one week of the date of publication on the website, the proposer must send a 
copy of the proposal and the information set out in the paragraph above to: 

• the governing body/LA (as appropriate); 

• the parents of every registered pupil at the school - where the school is a 
special school; 

• if it involves or is likely to affect a school which has a religious character:  

• the local Church of England diocese; 

• the local Roman Catholic diocese; or 

• the relevant faith group in relation to the school; and 

• any other body or person that the proposer thinks is appropriate. 

Within one week of receiving a request for a copy of the proposal the proposer must 
send a copy to the person requesting it. 

There is no maximum limit on the time between the publication of a proposal and its 
proposed date of implementation. However, proposers will be expected to show 
good reason (for example an authority-wide reorganisation) if they propose a 
timescale longer than three years. 

Representation (formal consultation) 
The representation period starts on the date of the publication of the proposal and 
must last four weeks. During this period, any person or organisation can submit 
comments on the proposal to the LA to be taken into account by the decision-maker. 
It is also good practice for representations to be forwarded to the proposer to ensure 
that they are aware of local opinion. 

27 
 Page 465



Decision 
The LA will be the decision-maker in all cases except where a proposal is ‘related’ to 
another proposal that must be decided by the Schools Adjudicator5. 

Decisions must be made within a period of two months of the end of the 
representation period or they must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

However, the body or individual that takes the decision must have regard to the 
statutory guidance for decision-makers. 

When issuing a decision, the decision-maker can: 

• reject the proposal; 

• approve the proposal without modification; 

• approve the proposal with modifications, having consulted the LA and/or 
governing body (as appropriate); or 

• approve the proposal – with or without modification – subject to certain 
conditions6 (such as the granting of planning permission) being met.  

A proposal can be withdrawn by the proposer at any point before a decision is taken. 
When doing so the proposer must send written notice to the LA or the governing 
body (as appropriate); or the Schools Adjudicator (if the proposal has been sent to 
them). A notice must also be placed on the website where the original proposal was 
published. 

Within one week of making a decision the LA must publish their decision and the 
reasons for it, on the website where the original proposal was published and send 
copies to: 

• the LA (where the Schools Adjudicator is the decision-maker);  

• the Schools Adjudicator (where the LA is the decision-maker); 

• the governing body/proposers (as appropriate); 

• the trustees of the school (if any); 

• the local Church of England diocese; 

5 For example where a change is conditional on the establishment of a new school under section 10 or 
11 of EIA 2006 (where the Schools Adjudicator may be the default decision maker). 
6 The prescribed events are those listed in paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 to the Prescribed Alterations 
Regulations. 

28 
 

                                                            

Page 466

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools


• the local Roman Catholic diocese; 

• the parents of every registered pupil at the school – where the school is a 
special school; and 

• any other body that they think is appropriate (e.g. other relevant faith 
organisation). 

If the Schools Adjudicator is the decision-maker they must notify the persons above 
of their decision, together with the reasons, within one week of making the decision. 
Within one week of receiving this notification the LA must publish the decision, with 
reasons, on the website where the original proposal was published. 

Within one week of the decision being made the proposer (i.e. governing body or 
LA) should make the necessary changes to the school’s record in the department’s 
EduBase system and must make the change by the date of implementation. 

Rights of appeal against a decision 
The following bodies may appeal to the Schools Adjudicator against a decision made 
by a LA decision-maker, within four weeks of the decision being made: 

• the local Church of England diocese; 

• the local Roman Catholic diocese; and 

• the governors and trustees of a foundation, foundation special or voluntary 
school that is subject to the proposal. 

On receipt of an appeal, an LA decision-maker must then send the proposal, 
representations received and the reasons for their decision to the Schools 
Adjudicator within one week of receipt. There is no right of appeal on determinations 
made by the Schools Adjudicator. 

Implementation 
The proposer must implement a proposal in the form that it was approved, taking into 
account any modifications made by the decision-maker. 

Modification post determination 
If it proves necessary, due to a major change in circumstance, or unreasonably 
difficult to implement a proposal as approved, the proposer can seek modifications 

29 
 Page 467

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator
http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml


(e.g. to the implementation date) from the decision-maker before the approved 
implementation date. However, proposals cannot be modified to the extent that new 
proposals are substituted for those that have been published. 

Details of the modification must be published on the website where the original 
proposals were published. 

Revocation of proposals 
If the proposer cannot implement an approved proposal because circumstances 
have changed so that implementation would be inappropriate or implementation of 
the proposal would be unreasonably difficult, the proposer must publish a revocation 
proposal, to be determined by the decision-maker, to be relieved of the duty to 
implement. A revocation proposal must contain: 

• a description of the original proposal as published; 

• the date of the publication of the original proposal; and 

• a statement as to why the duty to implement the original proposal should not 
apply. 

The proposer must publish the revocation proposal on the website and a brief notice 
of the proposal, including the website address where the proposal is published in a 
local newspaper. The proposal must contain details of how copies can be obtained; 
details of where to send comments to; and the date by which comments must be 
sent.  

Where the proposer is the governing body it must send the revocation proposal to 
the LA within one week of the date of publication on the website. Where the original 
proposal was decided by the Schools Adjudicator the LA must refer the revocation 
proposal together with any comments or objections within two weeks of the end of 
the representation period to the Schools Adjudicator. 

The LA decision-maker, who must determine the revocation proposal within two 
months of the end of the representation period, must arrange for the revocation 
determination to be published on the website where the original proposal and 
revocation proposal were published. The LA decision-maker must also arrange for 
the following persons to be notified of the revocation decision together with reasons: 

• the local Church of England diocese; 

• the local Roman Catholic diocese; and 

30 
 Page 468

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• the governors and trustees of a foundation, foundation special or voluntary 
school that is subject to the proposal. 

The same persons also have the right of appeal to the Schools Adjudicator (within 
four weeks of determination of the revocation proposal) if they disagree with the 
decision to revoke the proposal. 

Land and buildings for foundation, foundation special or 
voluntary controlled schools 
Where a LA is required to provide a site for a foundation, foundation special or 
voluntary controlled school, the LA must: 

• transfer their interest in the site and in any buildings on the site which are to 
form part of the school’s premises to the trustees of the school, to be held by 
them on trust for the purposes of the school; or 

• if the school has no trustees, to the governing body, to be held by that body 
for the purposes of the school. 

In the case of a dispute as to the persons to whom the LA is required to make the 
transfer, the adjudicator will make a decision. 

Further details on land and buildings can be found in paragraphs 17 and 18 of 
Schedule 3 of the Prescribed Alteration Regulations. 

  

31 
 Page 469

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


6: Statutory process: foundation proposals 

Changing category to foundation, acquiring a Trust and/or 
acquiring a foundation majority 
It is the department’s view that governing bodies should convert to academy status 
rather than change category to a foundation. Governing bodies wishing to discuss 
this issue should email schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk and a 
member of the school organisation team will contact them to discuss the proposed 
change of category. 

A ‘Trust school’ is a foundation school with a charitable foundation complying with 
the requirements set out in SSFA 19987. These include that the Trust must have a 
charitable purpose of advancing education and must promote community cohesion. 

The term ‘acquire a foundation majority’ means acquiring an instrument of 
government whereby the school’s Trust has the power to appoint a majority of 
governors on the governing body. 

Where exceptionally a school’s governing body considers changing category: 

• from community, VA or VC to foundation: or 

• from community special to foundation special, 

acquiring a Trust and / or acquiring a foundation majority on the school’s governing 
body, the following five-stage statutory process must be followed: 

Stage Description Timescale Comments 

Stage 1 Initiation  The governing body 
considers a change of 
category to foundation / 
acquisition of a trust / 
acquisition of a 
foundation majority. 

Stage 2 Publication  Having gained consent 
where appropriate. 

Stage 3 Representation 
(formal 
consultation) 

Must be 4 weeks As set out in the 
prescribed alteration 
regulations. 
The LA may refer a 
Trust proposal to the 

7 Section 23A 

32 
 

                                                            

Page 470

mailto:schoolorganisation.notifications@education.gsi.gov.uk


Stage Description Timescale Comments 

Schools Adjudicator 
during this period if it 
considers the proposal 
to have a negative effect 
on standards at the 
school. 

Stage 4 Decision The governing body must 
decide within 12 months of 
the date of publication 

Unless the LA has 
referred the proposal to 
Schools Adjudicator at 
Stage 3. 

Stage 5 Implementation No prescribed timescale. Must be as specified in 
the statutory notice, 
subject to any 
modifications agreed by 
the decision-maker. 

Initiation 
For a proposal to change the category of a school to foundation, the governing body 
should inform the LA in writing, at least seven days in advance of a meeting, if a 
motion to consult on a change of category proposal is to be discussed. 

Before the governing body can publish a proposal to change category from a 
voluntary school to a foundation school, the existing trustees and whoever appoints 
the foundation governors must give their consent. 

Publication 
A statutory proposal must contain sufficient information for interested parties to make 
a decision on whether to support or challenge the proposed change.  Annex B 
specifies the information that the statutory proposal must contain. 

Where a proposal is ‘related’ to another proposal, details of this should be made 
clear in the notice. 

The full proposal must be published on a website (e.g. the school or LA’s website) 
along with a statement setting out: 

• how copies of the proposal may be obtained;  

• that anybody can object to, or comment on, the proposal;  

• the date that the representation period ends; and 

33 
 Page 471



• the address to which objections or comments should be submitted. 

A brief notice (including details on how the full proposal can be accessed e.g. the 
website address) must be published in a local newspaper, and posted in a 
conspicuous place on the school premises and at all of the entrances to the school. 

Within one week of the date of publication on the website, the governing body must 
send a copy of the proposal and notification information to: 

• the LA; 

• the parents of every registered pupil at the school - where the school is a 
special school; 

• if it involves or is likely to affect a school which has a religious character:  

• the local Church of England diocese; 

• the local Roman Catholic diocese; or 

• the relevant faith group in relation to the school; and 

• any other body or person that the proposer thinks is appropriate. 

Within one week of receiving a request for a copy of the proposal the proposer must 
send a copy to the person requesting it. 

Representation (formal consultation) 
The representation period starts on the date of the publication of the proposal and 
must last four weeks. During this period, any person or organisation can submit 
comments on the proposal to the governing body, to be taken into account when the 
decision is made. 

During the representation period, the LA has the power to require the referral of a 
proposal to acquire a Trust/foundation majority to the Schools Adjudicator for 
decision if they consider it will have a negative impact on standards at the school. 
The specific circumstances in which a referral can be made are if the proposed 
alteration would result in a community, community special, foundation, foundation 
special or VC school becoming either or both: a foundation or foundation special 
school having a foundation; or a foundation or foundation special school whose 
instrument of government provides for the majority of governors to be foundation 

34 
 Page 472

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


governors. The LA does not have this power in respect of a proposal solely to 
change category to foundation8. 

Where a proposal is referred to the Schools Adjudicator, the governing body must 
forward any objections or comments it has received to the Schools Adjudicator within 
one week of the end of the representation period. 

Decision 
Unless a proposal has been referred to the Schools Adjudicator (as set out above), 
the governing body will be the decision-maker and must make a decision on the 
proposal within 12 months of the date of publication of the proposal. 

Where a proposal to acquire a Trust or a foundation majority is linked to a proposal 
to change category to foundation, they will fall to be decided together.  

When issuing a decision, the decision-maker can: 

• reject the proposal; 

• approve the proposal without modification; or 

• approve the proposal with modifications, having consulted the LA. 

• approve the proposal with or without modifications but conditional upon: 

o the making of any scheme relating to any charity connected with the 
school; and 

o the establishment of a foundation9  

Where the LA has referred a proposal to acquire a Trust/foundation majority to the 
Schools Adjudicator for decision, any related proposal(s) (including a change of 
category to foundation) will also fall to be decided by the Schools Adjudicator.  

Within one week of making a decision the governing body must publish a copy of the 
decision (together with reasons) on the website where the original proposal was 
published and send copies to: 

• the LA 

• the local Church of England diocese; and 

8 However, where such a proposal is related to a proposal to acquire a Trust, then the whole set of 
proposals will be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 
9 As defined in section 23A of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

35 
 

                                                            

Page 473

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• the local Roman Catholic diocese. 

Within one week of the decision being made the proposer (i.e. governing body or 
LA) should make the necessary changes to the school’s record in the department’s 
EduBase system and must make the change by the date of implementation. 

Where a proposal has been decided by the governing body and is to change the 
category of a VA school to foundation (with or without the acquisition of a 
Trust/foundation majority), the following bodies have the right of appeal to the 
Schools Adjudicator10: 

• the LA; 

• the local Church of England diocese; and 

• the local Roman Catholic diocese. 

Implementation 
The governing body must implement any approved proposal by the approved 
implementation date, taking into account any modifications made by the decision-
maker. 

Modification post determination 
Modifications can be made to a proposal by the governing body after determination 
but before implementation. 

Revocation of proposals  
See the advice set out for prescribed alteration changes. 

Governance and staffing issues 
Schedule 4 to the Prescribed Alterations Regulations provides further information on 
the requirements about: 

• the revision or replacement of the school’s instrument of government; 

10 The specific circumstances in which a referral can be made are prescribed under paragraphs 15 of 
Schedule 1 to the Prescribed Alterations Regulations. 

36 
 

                                                            

Page 474

http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• reconstitution or replacement of the governing body; 

• current governors continuing in office; 

• Surplus governors; 

• transfer of staff; and  

• transitional admission arrangements. 

Land transfer issues 
Requirements as to land transfers, when a school changes category or acquires a 
Trust, are prescribed in Schedule 5 to the Prescribed Alterations Regulations. 

  

37 
 Page 475



Removing a Trust and/or removing a foundation majority 
There are five or six statutory stages (depending on the proposal and circumstances) 
to remove a Trust and/or to reduce a Trust majority. It may be triggered in two 
different ways – either by a majority or a minority of the governing body: 

Stage Description Timescale Comments 

Stage 1 Initiation   Majority  
A majority of 
governors considers 
publishing a proposal 
to remove a 
Trust/reduce the 
number of governors 
appointed by the 
Trust. 
or 
Minority  
A minority (of not less 
than a third of the 
governors) notify the 
clerk of the governing 
body of their wish to 
publish a proposal to 
remove a Trust/reduce 
the number of 
governors appointed 
by the Trust.   

Stage 2 Land Issues 
 
(applicable only to 
removal of Trusts) 

If not resolved within 3 
months, disputes must be 
referred to the Schools 
Adjudicator. 

In cases of removing 
Trusts, the governing 
body, Trustees and 
the LA must resolve 
issues related to land 
and assets before a 
proposal is published.  

Stage 3 Consultation Majority  
A minimum of 4 weeks is 
recommended. 
or 
Minority 
No consultation required. 

Majority  
It is for the governing 
body to determine the 
length of consultation. 
 

Stage 4 Publication and 
representation 

Majority 
6 week representation 

 

38 
 Page 476



Stage Description Timescale Comments 

period. 
or 
Minority 
Where there are no land 
or asset issues – publish 
within 3 months of receipt 
of notice by governing 
body clerk – followed by a 
6-week representation 
period. 
Where there are land 
issues, publish within 1 
month of receipt of School 
Adjudicator’s 
determination – followed 
by a 6-week 
representation period. 

Stage 5 Decision Within 3 months. (A proposal initiated 
by a minority of 
governors may not be 
rejected unless at 
least two-thirds of the 
governing body are in 
favour of the 
rejection). 

Stage 6 Implementation No prescribed timescale,  But must be as 
specified in the 
statutory notice, 
subject to any 
modifications agreed 
by the decision-maker. 

Initiation 
A proposal for removing a Trust and/or removing a foundation majority can be 
triggered by: 

a) a majority11 of the governing body or a committee deciding to publish a 
proposal. The decision to publish must be confirmed by the whole governing body at 
a meeting held at least 28 days after the meeting at which the initial decision was 
made; or 

11 Regulation 4 of the Removal Regulations 

39 
 

                                                            

Page 477



b) at least one-third12 of the governors requesting in writing to the clerk of the 
governing body, that a proposal be published. No vote of the governing body is 
required as they are obliged to publish a proposal. To prevent on-going challenges 
there are a number of prescribed circumstances13 in which there is no obligation to 
follow the wishes of the minority of governors. 

All decisions must be taken in accordance with the processes prescribed in 
Procedures Regulations14. 

Land and assets (when removing a Trust)  
Before publishing proposals to remove a Trust the governing body must reach 
agreement with the trustees and LA on issues relating to the school’s land and 
assets. Where such issues remain unresolved within three months of the initial 
decision (majority) or receipt of notice by the clerk (minority), they must be referred 
to the Schools Adjudicator for determination. 

On the removal of the Trust, all publicly provided land held by the Trust for the 
purposes of the school will transfer to the governing body15. Where the land 
originated from private sources (for example, where land was gifted on trust), the 
land will transfer to the governing body in accordance with a transfer agreement, 
providing for consideration to be paid by the governing body to the Trust where 
appropriate. However, there may be land which has benefited from investment from 
public funds which remains with the trustees under the transfer agreement.  

Alternatively, there may have been investment by trustees in the publicly provided 
land or from public funding in the land provided by the trustees. In either of these 
cases, it may be appropriate for either the trustees or the public purse to be 
compensated. The possibility of stamp duty land tax may also need to be taken into 
account. 

The Schools Adjudicator will announce its determination in writing to both parties. 

Consultation  
Where a minority of governors initiated the process, this stage does not apply. 

Where a majority of governors initiated the process, before publishing a proposal the 
governing body must consult: 

12 See regulation 5 of the Removal Regulations 
13 See regulation 5(4) of the Removal Regulations 
14 Except as otherwise provided by the Removal Regulations. 
15 By virtue of regulation 17(1) of the Removal Regulations 

40 
 

                                                            

Page 478

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


• Families of pupils at the school; 

• Teachers and other staff at the school; 

• The trustees and, if different, whoever appoints foundation governors; 

• The LA; 

• The governing bodies of any other foundation or foundation special schools 
maintained by the same LA for which the foundation acts as a foundation; 

• Any trade unions who represent school staff; 

• If the school has a religious character, the appropriate diocesan authority or 
other relevant faith group; 

• Any other person the governing body consider appropriate. 

Publication 
Where the decision to publish a proposal was made by a majority of governors, the 
governing body at this stage must decide whether to go ahead with publishing the 
proposal. 

Where the decision to publish a proposal was made by a minority of governors and 
there are no land issues to be determined, the governing body must publish the 
proposal within 3 months of the receipt of the notice by the clerk. If land issues were 
referred to the Schools Adjudicator, the proposal must be published within 1 month 
of receipt of its determination. 

Proposals to remove a Trust must contain the information at Annex C. Proposals to 
alter the instrument of government so that foundation governors cease to be the 
majority of governors must contain the information at Annex D. 

Representation 
The representation period starts on the date of the publication of the proposal and 
must last six weeks. During this period, any person or organisation can submit 
comments on the proposal to the governing body to be taken into account when the 
decision is made. 

Unlike the Trust acquisition process there is no power for the LA to refer to the 
Schools Adjudicator a proposal to remove a school’s Trust or to reduce the number 
of governors appointed by the Trust. However, governing bodies must bear in mind 

41 
 Page 479

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-schools-adjudicator


that failure to follow the requirements of the statutory process could lead to a 
complaint to the Secretary of State under Section 496/497 of the Education Act 
1996, and/or ultimately be challenged through judicial review. 

Decision  
The governing body is the decision-maker for a removal proposal and must 
determine the proposal within 3 months of the date of its publication. Decisions must 
be taken in accordance with the Decision-makers Guidance. 

If a proposal was brought forward by a majority of governors, then it may be 
determined by a majority vote of those governors present16. 

If a proposal was brought forward by a minority of governors, then the governing 
body may not reject the proposal unless two thirds or more of the governors indicate 
that they are in favour of its rejection17. 

The governing body must notify the relevant LA and Trustees of their decision. 

Within one week of the decision being made the proposer (i.e. governing body or 
LA) should make the necessary changes to the school’s record in the department’s 
EduBase system and must make the change by the date of implementation. 

Implementation 
The governing body is under a statutory duty to implement any approved proposal, 
as published, by the approved implementation date, taking into account any 
modifications made. 

Removal of a Trust must be implemented in accordance with regulations 14-18, and 
reconstitution of the governing body must be implemented as per regulation 14-16 of 
the Removal Regulations. 

In changing category, an implementation period begins when the proposal is decided 
and ends on the date the proposal is implemented. During this period the LA and 
governing body are required to make a new instrument of government for the school, 
so enough time must be built into the timeframe for this to happen. The governing 
body must then be reconstituted in a form appropriate to the school’s new category 
and also in accordance with the appropriate instrument of government taking into 
account the School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012. 

16 As per the School Governance (Roles, Procedures and Allowances) (England) Regulations 2013. 
17 As per regulation 11(2) of the Removal Regulations. 

42 
 

                                                            

Page 480

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools
http://www.education.gov.uk/edubase/home.xhtml
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1034/contents/made


When removing a Trust or a Trust majority, a governor may continue as a governor 
in the corresponding category (e.g. staff governor, parent governor) if that category 
remains under the new instrument of government. A member of a current governing 
body who continues as a governor on these grounds holds office for the remainder of 
the term for which he or she was originally appointed or elected. Where a school with 
a religious character has no foundation, the governing body must appoint partnership 
governors with a view to ensuring that the religious character of the school is 
preserved and developed in accordance with the School Governance (Constitution) 
(England) Regulations 2012. There is nothing to prevent the appointment of a former 
foundation governor being reappointed by the governing body as a partnership 
governor. 

The Trust of a voluntary or foundation school often makes very specific provisions 
regarding the conduct of the school and the use of any fund held by the Trust for the 
use of the school and premises. When making a proposal to change category, 
proposers will need to consider whether the school’s current Trust allows for the 
change in category proposed. If in doubt, or if a variation in the Trust is clearly 
necessary, promoters and the relevant site trustees are advised to make early 
contact with the Charity Commission to apply for the trust to be varied under the 
relevant trust law. 

Modification of proposals 
Modifications can only be made to the implementation date and the proposed 
constitution of the governing body. 

43 
 Page 481



Annex A: Information to be included in a prescribed 
alteration statutory proposal 
A statutory proposal for making a prescribed alteration to a school must contain 
sufficient information for interested parties to make a decision on whether to support 
the proposed change. A proposal should be accessible to all interested parties and 
therefore use ‘plain English’. 

Proposers will need to be mindful of the factors that will inform the decision-makers 
assessment when determining the proposal. 

As a minimum, the department would expect a proposal to include: 

• School and LA details; 

• Description of alteration and evidence of demand; 

• Objectives (including how the proposal would increase educational standards 
and parental choice); 

• The effect on other schools, academies and educational institutions within the 
area; 

• Project costs and indication of how these will be met, including how long term 
value for money will be achieved; 

• Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation; and 

• A statement explaining the procedure for responses: support; objections and 
comments.  

44 
 Page 482



Annex B: Information that must be included in 
foundation proposals 

a)  name, address and category of the school for which the proposals are 
being published; 

b) implementation date; 

c) a statement of which one of, or combinations of, the prescribed alterations 
in regulation 3 comprise the proposals. 

Where the prescribed alteration is a change of category to foundation, the proposals 
must contain the following information: 

a) a statement whether the school will have a foundation and if so, the name 
or proposed name of the foundation; 

b) where it is a change of category to foundation from a VA or VC school, a 
statement that, in accordance with section 20, the consent of the trustees 
and the persons by whom the foundation governors are appointed has 
been obtained; and 

c) the rationale for the change and the particular ethos that the foundation 
will bring to the school. 

Where the prescribed alteration is the acquisition of a foundation or a relevant 
change at a school for which a foundation already acts, the proposals must contain 
the following information: 

a) name or proposed name of the foundation; 

b) details of membership of the foundation, including members names; 

c) proposed constitution of the school’s governing body; 

d) foundation’s charitable objects; and 

e) rationale for the alteration and the particular ethos that the foundation will 
bring to the school. 

In addition where the relevant change relates to: 

a) a foundation school which, immediately before 25th May 2007, was a 
foundation school having a foundation; or 

b) a foundation school which, having been a voluntary school immediately 
before 25th May 2007, changed category to a foundation school on or 
after that date, 

the proposal must include a statement that in accordance with section 20 the 
consent of the trustees and the persons by whom the foundation governors are 
appointed has been obtained.  

45 
 Page 483



Annex C: Information to be included in proposals to 
remove a Trust 
All proposals must include the following information—  

• The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body 
are publishing the proposals, 

• The proposed implementation date, 

• A statement explaining that any person may object to, or comment on, the 
proposals and the procedure for making such representations, including— 

(i) the date pursuant to regulation 10 by which objections or comments should 
be sent to the governing body, and 

(ii) the address to which objections or comments should be sent. 

• Whether proposals are to be published as required by regulation 4 or under 
regulation 5(2).  

• Information on why is it is proposed to remove the school’s foundation.  

• Where proposals are to be published pursuant to a decision of the governing 
body under regulation 4, a summary of any responses to the consultation on 
removing the school’s foundation.  

• Information about the transfer of land held on trust for the purposes of the 
school should the proposals be approved (with or without modification), 
including—  

(a) the proposed terms of any transfer agreement to be entered into in relation 
to the land, and 

(b) details of any payments which will fall to be made in relation to the land— 

(i) by the governing body or the local education authority to the 
trustees, or 

(ii) by the trustees to the governing body or the local education 
authority. 

• Confirmation that after any land transfer, the requirements of the School 
Premises Regulations 1999 will continue to be satisfied.  

• The proposed constitution of the governing body after the foundation is 
removed (as will be set out in a revised draft instrument of government for the 
school), including an outline of the expected size and composition of the 
governing body after the removal of the foundation, and, where the school has 
a religious character, the body who it is proposed will nominate the 
partnership governors.  

46 
 Page 484



Annex D: Information to be included in proposal to 
reconstitute the governing body 

• All proposals must include the following information—  

• The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body 
are publishing the proposals, 

• The proposed implementation date, 

• A statement explaining that any person may object to, or comment on, the 
proposals and the procedure for making such representations, including— 

(i) the date pursuant to regulation 10 by which objections or comments should 
be sent to the governing body, and 

(ii) the address to which objections or comments should be sent. 

• Whether proposals are to be published as required by regulation 4 or under 
regulation 5(2).  

• Information on why is it is proposed to alter the instrument of government so 
that the foundation governors cease to constitute the majority of governors.  

• Where proposals are to be published pursuant to a decision of the governing 
body under regulation 4, a summary of any responses to the consultation on 
altering the instrument of government so that the foundation governors will 
cease to constitute the majority.  

• The proposed constitution of the governing body following the reduction of the 
foundation governor majority, (as will be set out in a revised draft instrument 
of government for the school), including an outline of the expected size and 
composition of the governing body.  

47 
 Page 485



Annex E: Further Information 
This guidance primarily relates to: 

• The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 

• The School Organisation (Removal of Foundation, Reduction in Number of 
Foundation Governors and Ability of Foundation to Pay Debts) (England) 
Regulations 2007 

• The School Organisation (Requirements as to Foundations) (England) 
Regulations 2007 

• The Education and Inspections Act 2006, as amended by the Education Act 
2011 

• The School Standards and Framework Act 1998, as amended by the 
Education Act 2002  

It also relates to: 

• The School Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) 
Regulations 2013 . 

• School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 

• The School Governance (Constitution and Federations (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 

• The School Governance (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 
2015 

• The School Governance (New Schools) England Regulations 2007 

• School Governance (Roles, Procedures and Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2013 

• Childcare Act 2006 

• School Premises (England) Regulations 2012 . 

• Making Significant Changes to an Existing Academy (2014); 

• Academy/Free School Presumption – departmental advice (2013); and 

• Establishing New Maintained Schools – departmental advice for local 
authorities and new school proposers (2013). 

• The Schools Admissions Code 

  

48 
 Page 486

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3110/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3475/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1287/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1287/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3109/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/3109/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1034/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1257/pdfs/uksi_20141257_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1257/pdfs/uksi_20141257_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/883/pdfs/uksi_20150883_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/883/pdfs/uksi_20150883_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/958/pdfs/uksi_20070958_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1624/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1624/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1943/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-existing-academy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-and-free-school-presumption
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/establishing-new-maintained-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/establishing-new-maintained-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


Annex F: Contact details for RSC offices 
• East and North East London - RSC.EASTNELONDON@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• North - RSC.NORTH@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• East Midlands and Humber - EMH.RSC@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• Lancashire and West Yorkshire - LWY.RSC@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• South Central England and North West London - 
RSC.SCNWLON@education.gsi.gov.uk  

• South East and South London - RSC.SESL@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• South West - RSC.SW@education.gsi.gov.uk 

• West Midlands - RSC.WM@education.gsi.gov.uk  

  

49 
 Page 487

mailto:RSC.EASTNELONDON@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:RSC.NORTH@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:EMH.RSC@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:LWY.RSC@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:RSC.SCNWLON@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:RSC.SESL@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:RSC.SW@education.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:RSC.WM@education.gsi.gov.uk


 

© Crown copyright 2016 

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified 
any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the 
copyright holders concerned. 

To view this licence: 
visit  www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 
email  psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk 
write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 
4DU 

About this publication: 
enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus  
download  www.gov.uk/government/publications  

Reference:  DFE-00104-2016 

  
Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk  

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

50 
Page 488

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk


Secondary Options

Appendix 6

P
age 489



Phase 1
2019-2021

P
age 490



2019/20

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Sidney Stringer (30) 

Foxford (5) 

Caludon Castle (30) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Coundon Court (30)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Coundon Court (30) 

President Kennedy (30)

Cardinal Newman (30)

Whitley (20)

Blue Coat (10) 

2020/21

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

President Kennedy (30)

Whitley Academy (10)

Caludon Castle (30)

2021/22

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Caludon Castle (30)

Westwood Academy (30)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Finham Park (30)

Coundon Court (30)

Futures Trust – President Kennedy, Barr’s Hill, or Stoke Park(30)

Sidney Stringer Trust – Sidney Stringer, Ernesford Grange (30)

Option 1 – Recommended Option

4075 4070 4070 4070 4070 4070

110 110

230 230 230 230

125
80

80

3900

4000

4100

4200

4300

4400

4500

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Option 1

PAN Permanent Temporary Forecast Number

P
age 491



Option 2
2019/20

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Sidney Stringer (30) 

Foxford (5) 

Coundon Court (30) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Coundon Court (30) 

President Kennedy (30)

Cardinal Newman (30)

Whitley (20) 

2020/21

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Barr's Hill (30)

Westwood Academy (30)

Ernesford Grange (20)

2021/22

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Caludon Castle (30)

Ernesford Grange (30)

Stoke Park (20)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Blue Coat (30)

Finham Park (30)

Caludon Castle (30)

Foxford (30)

4075 4070 4070 4070 4070 4070

110 110

230 230 230 230

125
80

80

3900

4000

4100

4200

4300

4400

4500

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Option 2

PAN Permanent Temporary Forecast Number

P
age 492



2019/20

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Sidney Stringer (30) 

Foxford (5) 

Lyng Hall (30) 

Coundon Court (30) 
Caludon Castle (10) 

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Coundon Court (30)

President Kennedy (30) 

Cardinal Newman (30) 

Caludon Castle (30) 

Whitley (20)

2020/21

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

President Kennedy (30) 

Whitley Academy (10)

2021/22

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Caludon Castle (30)  

Westwood Academy (30)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Barr’s Hill (30)

Finham Park (30) 

Ernesford Grange (30) 

Coundon Court (30)

Option 3

4075 4070 4070 4070 4070 4070

140 140

260 260 260 260

105

40

60

3900

4000

4100

4200

4300

4400

4500

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Option 3

PAN Permanent Temporary Forecast Number

P
age 493



2019/20

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Sidney Stringer (30) 

Foxford (5)

Lyng Hall (30)
Coundon Court (30) 
Caludon Castle (10)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Coundon Court (60) 

Cardinal Newman (60)

Whitley (20)

2020/21

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Finham 2 (30)

Stoke Park (10)

2021/22

Temporary: (Taking OVER Published Admission Number – one off)

Stoke Park (30)

Ernesford Grange (30)

Permanent:  (Increasing Published Admission Number)

Barr’s Hill (60)

President Kennedy (60) 

Option 4

4075 4070 4070 4070 4070 4070

140 140

260 260 260 260

105

40

60

3900

4000

4100

4200

4300

4400

4500

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Option 4 

PAN Permanent Temporary Forecast Number

P
age 494



Phase 2
2022-2024

P
age 495



Alternative Option 1

Alternative option 1
Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24

Schools for Expansion and 

additional pupils as part of 

Expansion

Ernesford Grange (30) Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30)

Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30) Finham Park 2 (30)

Bishop Ullathorne (30) Finham Park 2 (30) Foxford (30)

Finham Park (30) Bishop Ullathorne (30) Stoke Park (30)

Lyng Hall (30) Finham Park (30) Lyng Hall (30)

Sidney Stringer (30) Foxford (30) Sidney Stringer (30)

Westwood (30)* Lyng Hall (30)

Sidney Stringer (30)

Stoke Park (30)

*As part of the initial programme of works for phase 2, Education Capital Strategy identified 2 forms of entry needed – 1 in September 2022 and 1 in 2023 
academic year.  Having relooked at this the Education team have removed the 2022 form of entry and identified the school who will take1 bulge class in 2023. 

The reduction in the September 2022 entry will reduce the number of surplus places for admissions Y7 in that year (c.80), but due to forecasts showing higher 
levels of surplus than the current year, this supports the removal of the 1FE originally planned for.

P
age 496



Alternative Option 2

Alternative option 2

Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24

Schools for Expansion and additional pupils 

as part of Expansion

Ernesford Grange (30) Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30)

Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30) Finham Park 2 (30)

Bishop Ullathorne (30) Westwood (30) Foxford (30)

Finham Park (30) Bishop Ullathorne (30) Stoke Park (30)

Lyng Hall (30) Finham Park (30) Lyng Hall (30)

Sidney Stringer (30) Foxford (30) Sidney Stringer (30)

Westwood (30)* Lyng Hall (30)

Sidney Stringer (30)

Stoke Park (30)

*As part of the initial programme of works for phase 2, Education Capital Strategy identified 2 forms of entry needed – 1 in September 2022 and 1 in 2023 
academic year.  Having relooked at this the Education team have removed the 2022 form of entry and identified the school who will take1 bulge class in 2023. 

The reduction in the September 2022 entry will reduce the number of surplus places for admissions Y7 in that year (c.80), but due to forecasts showing higher 
levels of surplus than the current year, this supports the removal of the 1FE originally planned for.

P
age 497



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2018 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection 2022 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection

Bishop Ullathorne N/A

None - academy 

converter Ernesford Grange Good Apr-19

Blue Coat Good Mar-20 Finham Park Outstanding Jan-15

Cardinal Newman N/A

None - academy 

converter Blue Coat Good Mar-20

Coundon Court Good Nov-16 Bishop Ullathorne N/A

None - academy 

converter

Whitley N/A

None - academy 

converter Lyng Hall Good Jun-19

2019 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection Sidney Stringer Outstanding Mar-13

Caludon Castle Good Feb-19 Westwood Good Oct-17

Foxford N/A

None - academy 

converter 2023 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection

Lyng Hall Good Jun-19 Blue Coat Good Mar-20

Sidney Stringer Outstanding Mar-13 Cardinal Wiseman RI Mar-18

President Kennedy Outstanding Jul-13 Finham Park 2 Good Jun-18

Cardinal Newman N/A

None - academy 

converter Foxford N/A

None - academy 

converter

Coundon Court Good Nov-16 Stoke Park N/A

None - academy 

converter

Whitley N/A

None - academy 

converter Bishop Ullathorne N/A

None - academy 

converter

2020 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection Lyng Hall Good Jun-19

Barr's Hill Good Sep-18 Sidney Stringer Outstanding Mar-13

President Kennedy Outstanding Jul-13 West Coventry RI Oct-19

2021 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection Westwood Good Oct-17

Bishop Ullathorne N/A

None - academy 

converter 2024 Oftsed Rating Date of inspection

West Coventry RI Oct-19 Cardinal Wiseman RI Mar-18

Westwood Good Oct-17 Finham Park 2 Good Jun-18

Phase One Phase Two

Appendix 7

P
age 499



Barr's Hill Good Sep-18 Foxford N/A

None - academy 

converter

Ernesford Grange Good Apr-19 Stoke Park N/A

None - academy 

converter

Finham Park Outstanding Jan-15 Lyng Hall Good Jun-19

Sidney Stringer Outstanding Mar-13

P
age 500



 


 
 
 
 
 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 
   

 
A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as it contains 
details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972. The grounds for privacy are that it contains information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). The public interest in maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Cabinet                                                                                                                   12th October 2021 
Council 18th October 2021 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills – Councillor Dr K Sandhu 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Education and Skills – Kirston Nelson 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: SEND proposal for the use of the Woodlands site  
   
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes – the proposals within the report will affect all wards of the city and has financial implications 

in excess of £1m.   
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry City Council has a statutory duty to ensure 
sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education for all. It is the Council’s role to 
plan, commission and organise school places in a way that raises standards, manages supply and 
demand and creates a diverse infrastructure. 
 
On 30th October 2018, Coventry City Council Cabinet approved in principle the refurbishing of the 
existing Woodlands School site to provide a new home for the existing Woodfield Primary and 
Secondary Schools and the potential subsequent relocation of the Woodfield Schools to the 
Woodlands site.  
 
The One Strategic Plan outlines the strategy to meet the growing demand for places for children 
with special educational needs and disabilities including provision for children age 5 to 16, with 
complex social, emotional and behavioural difficulties. This specialist provision is currently 
delivered by Woodfield Special School from two separate sites. It is acknowledged that the existing 

Page 501

Agenda Item 10



 

school buildings are deemed unsuitable for purpose in the long term and have insufficient capacity 
to meet the growing demand.  
 
The report on the 30th October 2018 outlined that a secondary report would be required to be 
presented to cabinet, containing a full detailed feasibility study. Approval of this feasibility study 
would enable education to proceed with a more detailed examination of the costings and look at 
the funding sources available. The report also requested that the feedback from the School 
Organisation Consultation on the proposed changes were brought to the attention of Cabinet.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Note the outcome of the feasibility study report (as identified in the private element of the 

report) and the consultation in Appendices 3 and 4. 
 

2) Approve the commencement of a competitive procurement process to appoint the design 
team and the building contractor to enable the delivery of the capital refurbishment works 
required on the Woodlands Site to facilitate the relocation of the existing Woodfield Primary 
and Secondary Schools. 

 
3) (Subject to acting within approved budgets), delegate authority to the Director of Education 

and Skills and the Director of Finance, following consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance, to undertake the necessary due diligence including but not limited to the award 
of contracts to successful tenderers and entry into all necessary legal agreements. 

 
4) Note that where the cost of delivering the relocation of the existing Woodfield Primary and 

Secondary schools to the Woodlands Site exceeds the approved budget limit (“the Shortall 
Gap”), a further report will be presented to Cabinet and/or Council for the approval of the 
Shortfall Gap prior to award of the contract to the successful building contractor. 

 
Cabinet recommends that Council: 
 
5) Approve a capital budget for the delivery of the capital refurbishment works on the Woodlands 

 Site to facilitate the relocation of the existing Woodfield Primary and Secondary schools in the  
sum identified in the private element of this report. 

 
6) Approve that the Council capital programme is adjusted to facilitate the recommendation set 

out in recommendation 1) above. 
 
7) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills and the Director of Finance to refine 

and manage the financial projections within the capital budget associated with the delivery of 
capital refurbishment works on the Woodlands site to facilitate the relocation of the existing 
Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools.  

 
Council is requested to: 
 
1) Approve a capital budget for the delivery of the capital refurbishment works on the Woodlands 

site to facilitate the relocation of the existing Woodfield Primary and Secondary schools in the  
sum identified in the private element of this report. 

 
2) Approve that the Council capital programme is adjusted to facilitate the recommendation set 

out in recommendation 1) above. 
 
3) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills and the Director of Finance to refine 

and manage the financial projections within the capital budget associated with the delivery of 
capital refurbishment works on the Woodlands site to facilitate the relocation of the existing 
Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools.  

Page 502



 

List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 – Woodlands 2020 consultation leaflet 
Appendix 2 – Woodlands 2020 consultation FAQs  
Appendix 3 – Woodlands 2020 consultation feedback summary 
Appendix 4 – Woodlands 2020 consultation individual feedback responses 
 
Background paper: 
 
Education and Learning One Strategic Plan 2019-2025  
 
Other useful documents: 
 
Cabinet report October 2021 – Academisation of Woodfield School 
Cabinet report October 2018 – Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme: 
http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11774&Ver=4 
Let’s Talk 2021 live consultation (which includes the 2021 consultation leaflet and FAQs): 
https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/relocationexpansionwoodfieldprimary 
 
It is noted that a consultation was undertaken in 2020, as referenced in Appendices 2, 3, 4 and 5. 
A further consultation is currently live, ending on 1st October 2021, and can be viewed at the above 
link (which includes the 2021 consultation leaflet and FAQs). 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
 
No 
  
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes – 18th October 2021 

Page 503

http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11774&Ver=4
https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/relocationexpansionwoodfieldprimary


 

Report Title: SEND proposal for the use of the Woodlands site 
 

1. Context (or background) 
 

1.1.The local authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficiency of appropriate education 
places for children and young people with Special Educational Needs (SEN). Coventry’s 
inclusion strategy is built on the principle of equality of opportunity, with an expectation that 
children will be able to attend a school in their community and have equal access to the 
same range of curriculum and social experiences as their mainstream peers.  
 

1.2.Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry City Council has a statutory duty to 
ensure sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the Council’s 
role to plan, commission and organise school places in a way that raises standards, 
manages supply and demand and creates a mixed economy of infrastructure. 

 
1.3.This means that Local Authorities have to provide a continuum of provision to meet a 

continuum of need. Whilst Coventry currently has relatively few specialist provisions 
delivered in the form of resourced centres/units in mainstream schools, it does have a good 
range of special school provision.  Consequently, very few Coventry children have to attend 
schools outside of the City, which is a position that needs to be maintained.  

 
1.4.However, the recent evidenced growth in need, specifically in the area of complex 

communication (autism spectrum conditions) and social emotional and mental health 
(SEMH), has placed a level of demand on the special school system that exceeds supply. 
School age Education, Health, and Care plans have increased from 2145 in January 2020 
to 2344 in January 2021, demonstrating an overall growth of 26% across a 5-year period. 
 

1.5.Woodfield Special School is currently in the process of academy conversion. The target 
date for conversion is April 2022, with the conversion being dependent upon significant 
progress being made on this project. The academy conversion is the subject of a separate 
cabinet report scheduled for October 2021.  
 

1.6.The move to the new site would allow Woodfield School to increase the number of pupils. 
 

1.7.The Community use at the Woodlands site is significant and has always been a key 
consideration alongside the proposed development of the site. The council have sustained 
the access to community use since taking over the site in 2017. 
 

1.8.The development of the site has considered the importance of the facility to the local 
community and large amount of sporting groups and clubs that hire the facilities on a weekly 
basis.  
 

1.9.The focus on the future development of the site have always ensured the community use 
is complementary to the education provision and to reduce any impact of the loss of 
community use. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

 
Do nothing  
(Not Recommended) 

 
2.1. Cabinet at its meeting dated 30th October 2018 approved the principle the refurbishing the 

existing Woodlands School site to provide a new home for the existing Woodfield Primary 
& Secondary schools and the potential subsequent relocation of the Woodfield schools to 
the Woodlands site as well as applying for planning/listed building consent in order to be 
able to implement the proposals set out in this report. This report seeks to get the necessary 
approvals required to further progress the delivery of the proposals and as such, this option 
to do nothing is not recommended. 

Page 504



 

 
Commence the procurement of the design team and the building contractor 
(Recommended) 

 
2.2. There is a requirement to expand SEN provision across the city; this is particularly acute in 

terms of Social, Emotional, and Mental Health (SEMH). Currently, the only provision in the 
city offering SEMH in a school-based setting is Woodfield Special School (Primary and 
Secondary Split Site).  
 

2.3. The option of Woodfield Special School remaining on their current sites was considered. It 
is felt the ongoing capital works required, including any future expansions, would require a 
substantial investment. The sites are unable to expand to meet additional capacity needs 
and the investment would not address the ongoing revenue pressure experienced caused 
by a split site school.   
 

2.4. The vacant Woodlands site currently costs the Council the sum identified in the private 
element of this report per annum, which includes income from the sporting facilities, 
reducing the overall costs.  
 

2.5. The return of the Woodlands Academy site to the Council, presents an opportunity to re-
purpose the site for special school provision. This proposal is underpinned by a survey and 
feasibility report undertaken by architects acting on behalf of the Council. It is confirmed 
that it is possible to integrate a primary and secondary Special School onto the Woodlands 
site. 
 

2.6. Following an Ofsted inspection at Woodfield School in March 2020, which resulted in a 
grading of ‘Inadequate’, Woodfield School is required to academise. The Governing Body 
of Woodfield School has made a successful application to the Secretary of State for an 
Academy Order under the Academies Act 2010 (“the 2010 Act”). Following the West 
Midlands Headteacher Board in October 2020, it was agreed that Woodfield School will 
join the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust (“Sidney Stringer MAT”) as a convertor 
academy and thereafter will cease to be maintained by the Local Authority. 
 

2.7. The Council in conjunction the Department for Education, Woodfield School and Sidney 
Stringer MAT are working towards a target conversion date of 1st April 2022, subject to 
leases being agreed and all other agreements in place. 
 

2.8. A separate report will be brought to October 2021 Cabinet for approval to agree the terms 
of the academy agreement – a 5-year excluded act lease for the existing Woodfield Primary 
and Secondary School sites and a 125-year long lease in respect of the Woodlands site to 
the Sidney Stringer MAT.  
 

2.9. The integration onto one site, allows both Woodfield primary and secondary phases to 
benefit from shared working practices, provision of more efficient and improved facilities, 
and a purpose designed building. In addition, the refurbishment of the Woodlands site 
would potentially allow a continuation and expansion of the community sporting provision 
that has been successfully provided at the site for many years. 
 

2.10. The existing Woodlands buildings are of a 1950’s vintage and are Grade II listed. As such 
significant investment is required to allow them to be used as a modern SEND school.  

 
2.11. The DfE transferred the building across to The Council in September 2017. The condition 

report highlighted the sum identified in the private element of the report for the upkeep and 
maintenance costs, and many of the buildings have remained vacant since the Woodlands 
Academy closure.  

 
2.12. As part of the submission of the planning permission, extensive consultation has been 

undertaken with Sport England to address the re-provision of any playing pitch loss arising 

Page 505



 

from the proposals set out in this report and discussions are ongoing which we anticipate 
will be resolved prior to the submission of the planning application. 
 

3. Timetable  
 
3.1.The timescale is set out in the following table:  

 
3.2  Any delay to the above indicative programme would likely cause delays to the target 

conversion date, as Sidney Stinger MAT cannot enter into a development agreement and 
lease if satisfactory progress has not been made.  
 

4. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 
4.1.Financial implications 

 
4.1.1. From the initial work undertaken to date it is anticipated that the budgetary 

requirement can be summarised below.  
 

4.1.2. The Cabinet Report in October 2018 estimated the works required were anticipated 
to be in the region of £17.8m, of which there was an anticipated financial gap of c. 
£2.4m.  

 
4.1.3. A review was recently undertaken to understand the likely impact of Covid, Brexit 

and other external factors which could affect the cost of the project. The most recent 
report outlines the funding required to bring the former Woodlands Academy 
buildings back in to use and make the required adaptations are estimated to be the 
sum identified in the private element of this report.  

 
4.1.4. Although the costs have risen, the anticipated gap has reduced due to the Council 

receiving capital funds from Central Government directly relating to increasing SEND 
school places which has been allocated to this project. 

 
4.1.5. Proposed capital spend and resources are as outlined in the private element of this 

report. 
 

4.1.6. The current estimated costs for the project are as identified in the private element of 
this report, which is an increase from 2018 due to this updated figure including 

Activity Approximate Timing Action 

Consultation with local community on 
proposals pre-Planning submission 

14 September 2021 –  
19 October 2021 

Commenced 

Section 77 Application to DfE 
September – December 

2021 
Commenced 

Cabinet report requesting permission to 
conduct tender process and delegation 

of contract award 
12th October 2021 Proposed 

Submission of planning application for 3 
sites 

October 2021 – 
February 2022 

Proposed 

Where the cost of delivering the 
relocation of the existing Woodfield 

Primary and Secondary Schools to the 
Woodlands site exceeds the approved 
budget limit, further Cabinet report to 

consider final costs of the project to date, 
prior to building contractor contract 

award 

April 2022 Proposed 

Woodfield Special School relocated to 
Woodlands site 

September 2023 Proposed 

Page 506



 

inflation uplift and increased contingency risk due to current market conditions 
(Covid/Brexit). This figure is subject to change due to the above factors and will not 
be known until tender receipt.  
  

4.1.7. The Council would be required to fund the project in anticipation of capital receipts 
for the existing Woodfield sites being received  in order to cash flow the project, as 
the sale of the land cannot be completed until completion of the project allowing the 
relocation of the pupils to the new site.  We would seek to minimise any risk on these 
sale by potentially entering into contracts for sale with the completion of the purchase 
subject to us providing vacant possession of the Woodfield sites. This would provide 
certainty to both purchaser and the Council that a sale is contracted at a known cost. 

 
4.2.Legal implications 

 
4.2.1. The City Council has a statutory duty under Section 14 of the 1996 Education Act to 

provide sufficient school places. The consultation and determination arrangements 
meet the requirements of The Education and Inspection Act 2006 and The School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 
2007 (as amended). Failure to comply with these statutory requirements would leave 
us unable to expand school places as required, subject to action by DfE or to seek 
alternative provision outside of the City and independent sector. 
 

4.2.2. In accordance with Section 77 of the Schools Standards and Framework Act the 
Council must obtain permission from DfE to dispose of the education sites (Hawthorn 
Lane, Stoneleigh Road, and partial disposal of the former Woodlands Academy).  

 
4.2.3. The City Council need to obtain the relevant planning permissions and enter into the 

appropriate contractual arrangements for the construction of new schools in line with 
the requirements of the Council’s rules for contract and relevant procurement 
legislation. A further report seeking a final decision on proposals will be provided to 
Cabinet and Council for consideration detailing the outcome of any planning 
applications and the financial implications. This future report will also require more 
detailed legal implications in relation to the property matters that will at that stage 
need to be considered including the legal requirement to obtain consent from the 
Secretary of State. 

 
4.2.4. The nature and value of the works to be procured are such that they are likely to be 

subject to the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (as amended). Where this is the 
case a full tendering process will be undertaken which meets the requirements of 
those Regulations. 

 
4.2.5. The cabinet’s attention is drawn to the Public Sector Equality duty (PSED General 

Duty) under the Equality Act 2010, which requires public bodies to have regard, when 
making decisions, to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not share it. The cabinet is specifically 
referred to the equalities impact statement at paragraphs 5.4 below, setting out the 
consideration that has been given to equalities issues which should be considered 
when approving the recommendations in this report.  

 
5. Other implications 
 

5.1.How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?  
 
These proposals will support and synergise with the Council’s Policies as set out below: 

• Making the most of our Assets – utilising existing estate to maximum potential and 
 ensuring value for money. 

Page 507



 

• Improving Educational Outcomes – by providing additional school places in Good 
or Outstanding Schools. 

• Raising the Profile of Coventry – by providing additional school places in Good or 
Outstanding schools. 

• Creating the Infrastructure – Aiding in Schools to be self-sufficient. 

• Rationalising our property portfolio – Enabling schools to reach their potential. 
 

5.2.How is risk being managed?  
 
Monitoring is carried out through a number of different processes. This project will be 
monitored through a project management team and full project board and will be subject to 
careful scrutiny and regular assessment on progress towards identified milestones. Further 
monitoring will be carried out through progress reports to the Cabinet Member (Education 
and Skills), Cabinet and full Council.  
 

5.3.What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
There are no specific impacts on the organisation.  

 
5.4.Equalities / EIA  

 
The categorisation of social emotional and mental health difficulties (SEMH), is included as 
a SEN under part 3 of The Education Act, 2014. Some, but not all pupils experiencing 
SEMH, will also have an underlying learning disability, for example an autism spectrum 
condition. Currently the separate phase distribution of Woodfield Special School’s primary 
and secondary sites presents significant access barriers to an appropriate curriculum and 
learning environment. This is specifically relevant to girls who can access the primary offer 
but under current arrangements are displaced at secondary transfer, requiring transition 
into independent school provision outside of the City. Both disability and gender are 
protected characteristics under The Equality Act 2010. The proposed refurbishment of the 
Woodlands School site, which will be occupied by Sidney Stringer MAT upon practical 
completion of agreed works, is designed to address these inequalities by extending 
opportunities and outcomes. 
 
Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the need to 
eliminate discrimination, 2) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not 3) foster good relations between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not (public sector equality 
duty - s 149(1) Equality Act 2010). The applicable protected characteristics are disability, 
gender reassignment; race, religion or belief, sex; sexual orientation, pregnancy or 
maternity.  
 
Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of their 
decision-making process with rigour and with an open mind. The duty is to have “due 
regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals. 
Consideration being given to the potential adverse impacts and the measures needed to 
minimise any discriminatory effects.  
 
The majority of children categorised as SEMH experience a wide range of social and 
emotional difficulties that manifest themselves in many ways.  These may reflect an 
underlying mental health difficulty such as anxiety or depression; self-harming, substance 
misuse or symptoms that are medically unexplained.  Many children may have disorders 
such as attention deficit disorder or attachment disorder and/or an underlying learning 
difficulty such as autism or dyslexia.  If the child exhibits persistent and severe difficulties 
in relation to social behaviour and relationships, emotional development and mental health 
they are likely to fall within one or more of the protected characteristics under The Equality 
Act 2010. 

Page 508



 

 
This proposal seeks to address the inequalities created by social exclusion, by securing an 
appropriate provision that maximises young people’s life chances in adulthood, through 
improved: engagement, educational achievement, self-esteem and aspiration. 
 

5.5.Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
Coventry's schools currently account for 28% of the City's carbon footprint and this scheme 
will support the reduction of that level through replacing old school buildings with modern, 
energy efficient facilities. The Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency 
Scheme as amended is a mandatory carbon emissions tax covering non-energy intensive 
users in both public and private sectors and is a central part of the UK’s strategy to deliver 
the emission reduction targets set in the Climate Change Act 2008. Emissions from schools 
(including PFI Schools) are to be included in the total reported carbon emissions for their 
participating local authority. The new school building would also be designed to mitigate 
the effects of climate change fluctuations and to help reduce surface water run off as a 
result of flash or extreme weather events, reducing any negative effects on the local 
community and environmental infrastructure. 
 
All the proposed changes and the environmental impacts of the proposed scheme will be 
considered as part of the planning process and will comply with all relevant environmental 
legislation. 
 

5.6.Implications for partner organisations?  
 
Planning for re-designation to SEMH will require close partnership with the PCT, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust, Social Care and 
Private/Voluntary Organisations and will enable multi-agency support and provision for 
children with SEN to be made. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 509



 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title:   
Kirston Nelson, Director of Education and Skills 
Richard Moon, Director of Property Services & Development 
 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 02476 832785 
Email: kirston.nelson@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/ 
Approver name 

Title Service 
Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Jonathon Hunt 
Development Manager - 
Sports and Active Recreation 

Business, 
Investment 
and Culture 

02/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services Officer 
Law and 
Governance 

16/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Paul Beesley 

Team Leader, Property 
Development, Project 
Management and Property 
Services 

Property 
Services and 
Development 

02/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Richard Moon 
Director of Property Services 
and Development 

- 16/09/2021 17/09/2021 

Nicola Williams 
 

Project Manager 
Property 
Services and 
Development 

02/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Jeannette Essex 
Head of Service, SEND and 
Specialist Services 

Education 
and Skills 

16/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Helen Williamson 
Lead Accountant, Capital and 
Grants Team 

Finance 02/09/2021 15/09/2021 

Chloe Webb 
Education Capital Strategy 
Manager 

Education 
and Skills 

16/09/2021 16/09/2021 

Names of 
approvers for 
submission: 
(Officers and 
Members) 

    

Rachel Sugars 
Head of Service, Education 
Improvement and Standards 

Education 
and Skills 

16/09/2021 17/09/2021 

Julie Newman 
Director of Law and 
Governance 

Law and 
Governance 

16/09/2021 20/09/2021 

Barry Hastie Director of Finance  - 16/09/2021 21/09/2021 

Kirston Nelson 
Director of Education and 
Skills 

- 16/09/2021 20/09/2021 

Councillor Dr K 
Sandhu 

Cabinet Member for 
Education and Skills 

- 20/09/2021 20/09/2021 

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief Executive - 20/09/2021 21/09/2021 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 
 

Page 510

mailto:kirston.nelson@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 

Proposal for the Relocation and expansion of 
Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools – 
Information for Schools and Parents/Carers 
 
Background 

 
Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry 
City Council has a statutory duty to ensure sufficient 
school places and fair appropriate access to education 
for all. It is the Council’s role to plan, commission and 
organise school places in a way that raises standards, 
manages supply and demand and creates a diverse 
infrastructure.  
 
It is the local authority’s statutory duty to secure a 
sufficiency of appropriate education places for children 
and young people with Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND).  
 
Coventry has a good range of specialist school provision 
and a small number of Coventry children attend schools 
outside of the city, a position that needs to be 
maintained. However, recent evidenced growth in 
need – specifically in the area of complex 
communication/autism spectrum conditions, (ASC) and 
social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) – has 
placed a level of demand on the special school system 
that exceeds current supply. 
 
Whilst the recent expansion and relocation of Tiverton 
Special School created much needed capacity in the 
primary sector for children with generic learning 
difficulties, there is no physical capacity in the system 
to support SEMH growth across all age ranges; 
increased demand for secondary/post-16 special 
school places for generic learning difficulties; and ASC 
growth across all age ranges.  
 
Rationale 

 
An opportunity has risen to utilise the vacant education 
site at the former Woodlands School site and to co-
locate Woodfield School in its entirety.  
 
Woodfield School is currently split across two sites - 
primary and secondary. The proposed utilisation of the 
Woodlands site would relocate both primary and 
secondary onto a shared site with separate buildings. It 
would give access and play space providing age 
appropriate curriculum and resources and support the 
transition from primary to secondary school. Shared 
facilities would also reduce revenue costs and support 
sustainability.  
 
In the UK, all children are entitled to participate in 
Physical Education lessons at school and the Council is 
committed to ensuring that all pupils have access to a 
wide range of sports provision to promote health and 
wellbeing benefits and to develop teamwork. The 
proposed move to Woodlands would help facilitate 
this.  
 
This relocation and expansion would provide a future-
proofed fit for purpose educational environment and a 
wealth of sports facilities for both existing and future 
pupils and the wider public - with the capacity for the 
provision to grow.  
 
Local Authority proposal 

 
To refurbish the former Woodlands site to provide a 
new location for the existing Woodfield Primary and 
Secondary schools and expanding the number of 
specialist SEMH places in both primary and secondary 
phases to meet the known demand.  
 
A survey and initial feasibility report have been 
undertaken by architects acting on behalf of the Council 
and it has been confirmed that it is possible to integrate 

a primary and secondary special 
school onto the Woodlands site.  
 
The integration onto one site would allow both primary 
and secondary phases to benefit from shared working 
practices, more efficient and improved facilities and a 
purpose designed building. In addition, the 
refurbishment of the Woodlands site would also 
potentially allow a continuation and expansion of the 
community sporting provision that has been 
successfully in place on the site.  
 
Meeting project costs 

 
Significant investment is required to allow the existing 
Woodlands site, with Grade II statutorily listed 
buildings, to be used as a modern SEND school.  
 
The educational capital budget alone cannot support 
the costs. It is intended that planning consent is sought 
on both existing Woodfield School sites for housing 
provision. This is required to help fund the 
refurbishment of the Woodlands site as a SEMH School. 
If successful, the proceeds from the sale of the sites will 
be ring-fenced and used to fund the refurbishment of 
the Woodlands site.  
 
Your comments are sought on the relocation and 
disposal of surplus land at Woodfield. Please respond 
to the consultation via 
letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/woodfields-school-
consultation, 
education.consultations@coventry.gov.uk or via letter 
addressed to Education Entitlement, Coventry City 
Council, PO Box 15, Council House, Coventry, CV1 5RR. 
The consultation will close at midnight on 22nd July 
2020

Appendix 1

P
age 511

mailto:education.consultations@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:education.consultations@coventry.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



   

 

Page 1 of 3 
 

RELOCATION AND COMMUNICATION 
 
1. How long is the consultation period? 

The consultation is taking place between 10th June 2020 and 
midnight on 22nd July 2020. 
 

2. What is the proposed date of relocation of the schools?  
Further work is required to establish a project programme. However, 
an initial target has been set for Woodfield School to be operational 
on the new site by September 2022.  

 
3. What would the process be of closing the current Woodfield School 

sites and moving pupils, staff, equipment, etc. across to the new site?  
Pupils would remain on their current site until the new building is 
ready. More information will be available as the project progresses in 
the form of information events and newsletters. 

 
4. Do you envisage any other potential uses of the site? 

There have been no discussions yet with other services. However, we 
are exploring the option of other services taking up appropriate 
occupation on the site; this would only be professionals that could 
add value to the school.  

 
5. If the sale of the two Woodfield sites exceeded the shortfall, would 

Woodfield benefit from this?  
The funds from the sale of the two sites would be ring-fenced for  
Education purposes. 

 
PROVISION AND FACILITIES  
 
6. What is the condition of the existing Woodlands site?  

The existing school buildings are Grade II listed and, due to their age 
and condition, will require significant works to bring them up to 

current building regulations and educational 
standards.  
 

7. How many of the buildings on the existing Woodlands site are listed? 
13 of the 16 buildings on site are listed. 
 

8. What types of facilities would Woodfield’s new school site benefit 
from?  
The proposal includes refurbishing and adapting the existing listed 
buildings, creating modern learning spaces specifically tailored to the 
needs of the pupils and maintaining the community sports facilities.   

 

9. It is proposed that the Woodlands site becomes both a site for 
Woodfield primary and secondary pupils, and the wider public. How 
would the primary and secondary sites be segregated, and what 
safeguarding measures would be put into place? 
Woodfield School will benefit from having a shared site however, the 
primary and secondary phases would retain distinct areas while both 
utilising the Broad Lane entrance for entry and exit. The external 
sports provision for community use within the school site will 
continue to be available outside of school hours only. The shared 
sports facility at the front of the site will be timetabled to ensure both 
public and school use is effectively managed. The safeguarding of 
pupils is of the highest importance and will be considered throughout 
the project.  

 
10. What are the proposed numbers across the primary and secondary 

sites?  
The Woodlands site previously had capacity for over 1000 pupils. The 
figures for the new school are not yet finalised, however it is 
expected that around 250 SEN places will be commissioned in a 
phased approach. 

 

Appendix 2

Consultation FAQs – Proposal for the Relocation of Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools

P
age 513



Consultation FAQs – Proposal for the Relocation of Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools  

 

Page 2 of 3 
 

11. How much involvement will current staff have in the design and 
planning of the new site?  
This information has been shared with the Woodfield School 
headteacher and staff are invited to take part in this consultation.  

 

12. Why can’t the Council invest in the current Woodfield sites? 
The current sites cannot facilitate the increase in numbers required. 
We would look at what is working well at the current sites in order to 
replicate this on the new site. 
 

13. Other than moving to a new school site, what are the other options?  
The other option is to remain on the current site, where it is not 
feasible to fund further work as it cannot deliver the increase in 
places required. If the schools remain on their current sites, Coventry 
may receive a free school in order to deliver a sufficient number of 
special school places.  
 

14. Is there an intention to incorporate nursery and post-16 facilities?  
There are currently no plans for this, but could be considered if 
funding, need and timetabling were available. 
 

15. Will there be an option for girls to be admitted to Woodfield School? 
This hasn’t been proposed at this stage and any decision would be 
dependent on need and further discussion with the schools.   
 

16. How many classes would there be? 
This would be dependent on the number of places required and 
negotiated with governors. We would intend for similar class sizes to 
be kept and the number of classes increased.  
 

17. Can you guarantee that new pupils placed at the school would meet 
the criteria for the school, and not just placed there because there is 
an increased number of places regardless of their individual needs?  

This relates to the school’s admissions policy. Other 
special schools are also expanding their numbers to 
meet need to create a more effective mixed economy of care and 
support. 
 

18. What is the security of the school’s current support staff?  
If the primary and secondary schools moved site, staffing would be a 
governor and school leadership decision. However, there is a need for 
increasing and enhancing capacity, with the number of pupils coming 
through from primary. 

 
TRANSPORT 
 
19. My child currently receives travel assistance to school because he/she 

is eligible under the distance criteria. The Woodlands site is closer to 
our home address; would my child continue to receive travel 
assistance? 
Yes. Any child currently on roll at Woodfield School – and receiving 
travel assistance – would continue to receive this assistance for their 
remaining time at the school. The Coventry Travel Assistance Policy 
and application form can be found online at 
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/256/travel_assistance/3135/travel
_assistance/1 

 
 
 
 
SPORTS FACILITIES  
 
20. The ‘continuation and expansion of the community sporting 

provision’ from the leaflet – what does this look like? 
Part of the site is currently for community use for sport, including 
Power league, specialist gymnastics, wheelchair basketball and 

P
age 514

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/256/travel_assistance/3135/travel_assistance/1
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/256/travel_assistance/3135/travel_assistance/1


Consultation FAQs – Proposal for the Relocation of Woodfield Primary and Secondary Schools  

 

Page 3 of 3 
 

cheerleading. The vision would be to encourage further use in the 
future. Whilst pupils would have timetabled use of these facilities 
during school time, the intention is that it continues to be open for 
community use in the evenings and weekends. 
 

21. Can each school have its own sports facilities?  
The primary and secondary sites would have their own separate 
outdoor spaces in addition to the shared indoor facilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 515



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The responses which were not in favour of the project focussed upon the closure of the Woodlands School in 2016, 

the potential for expansion on current land (which was addressed in the published FAQs about being sufficient for 

size needed, lack of infrastructure in nearby facilities to accommodate the housing, and whether it was necessary to 

have primary and secondary pupils sharing the same access off of Broad Lane.  

Recommended Actions:  

• Place feedback on Let’s Talk page showing that proposed action plan. 

• Submit completed S77 to SoS 

• Engage with next steps of the project 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Yes

No

31

7

Do you agree with the need to relocate Woodfield School to a site with 
improved facilities and capacity for provision to grow?

Yes

No

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Yes

No

31

8

Do you agree with the proposal to co-locate Woodfield Primary and Secondary 
Schools on a shared site?

Yes

No

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Yes

No

26

14

Do you agree with the disposal of surplus land for the provision of small-scale 
housing to facilitate the new special school?

Yes

No

Appendix 3

Woodlands Consultation Feedback

The consultation on the relocation, expansion and permission to dispose of land at Woodfield School concluded on 
the 22nd July 2020. This consultation has been conducted with parents/carers, staff, and headteacher at the 
Woodfield School, along with the information posted on the Coventry Let’s Talk page, and shared via the Council’s 
social media pages, for the general public and local community to offer responses.

In all 40 responses were received to this consultation. However, there were 716 visits to the page, and the 
documents produced downloaded 272 times. There were two Cllr enquiries from Cllr Male and Cllr Lepoidevin 
requesting feedback on the schemes. It is unknown whether they formally responded to the consultation process. 
The feedback from the Cllrs was that ‘The proposals for community use sound very promising.’

The consultation responses were overwhelmingly in favour of the relocation to a shared site, and for the disposal of 
land for housing to enable the commencement of the project. As the below tables highlight.

Page 517



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of 
contribut

ion 

Contributor Details Survey Response  

Login 
(Screen 
name) 

Contribu
tor 

Summar
y 

(Signup 
form Qs 

- 
Detailed 
breakup 
on the 

right > ) 

Which 
school are 

you 
affiliated 

with?(delet
ed) 

Are you 
respondi

ng 
as?(delet

ed) 

Have you 
read the 

‘Proposed 
relocation 

of 
Woodfield 
Schools 

Primary and 
Secondary 

– 
Information 
for Schools 

and 
Parents/Car
ers’ leaflet? 

Are you aware of 
Coventry City 

Council’s 
statutory duty in 

providing 
sufficient school 

places?&nbsp;(de
leted) 

Are 
you 

aware 
of the 
growi

ng 
need 
for 

speci
al 

schoo
l 

place
s 

acros
s the 
city? 

Do you 
agree 

with the 
need to 
relocat

e 
Woodfi

eld 
School 
to a site 

with 
improv

ed 
facilitie
s and 

capacit
y for 

provisi
on to 

grow? 

Please explain 
why: 

Do you 
agree 

with the 
proposal 

to co-
locate 

Woodfiel
d 

Primary 
and 

Seconda
ry 

Schools 
on a 

shared 
site? 

Please expain why: 

Do you agree with the 
disposal of surplus land for 
the provision of small-scale 

housing to facilitate the 
new special school? 

Please tell us why: Do you have any additional comments? 

Jul 02 20 
12:53:42 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No 

There is not enough infrastructure to 
support additional housing, the 
schools and doctors surgeries are 
already oversubscribed and it's 
impossible to get an appointment.  
However I'm happy with the site 
remaining as a school site. 

  

Jun 18 20 
03:29:45 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

The relocation of Woodfield School to the old 
Woodlands school site would ensure the continuing 
existence of the green playing fields.  
  
However, as a near neighbour I feel that support for 
the local community when pupils are travelling to 
and from the school (such as school staff at bus 
stops and local shops) would be really useful in 
ensuring the behaviours of pupils. There are local 
difficulties currently at local shops with groups of 
young people causing disruption and low level 
criminality. Support to ensure this is not exacerbated 
by the increased numbers of young people in the 
area would help local residents feel happier about 
Woodfield relocating. 

Jun 10 20 
03:41:44 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 13 20 
09:52:26 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes No 

Smaller, more 
bespoke schools/ 
units better 
support these 
vulnerable pupils. 
Yes improved 
facilities are 
required at both 
sites but 
numbers should 
not grow. 
Perhaps another 
new specialist 
school should be 
built in the north 
of the city to 
provide additional 
places. 

No 

I am familiar with both 
sites.I strongly believe it 
would be a mistake to 
combine the primary 
and secondary sites. It 
would be better if the 
primary school had  
stronger and closer links 
with a mainstream 
primary so the primary 
pupils had more 
appropriate and 
aspirational role models. 

Yes     

Appendix 4

P
age 519



Jun 13 20 
06:55:31 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   
Unsure in the wisdom of secondary and primary 
children having the same access area off Broad 
lane. 

Jun 10 20 
04:08:50 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 10 20 
04:31:09 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No   
Why is the new provision purely for boys. With a 
new site enabling greater pupil numbers, girls should 
be on the roll!  

Jun 11 20 
06:45:19 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   At the moment not yet  

Jul 08 20 
07:09:01 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No 
Proposed too much development in 
the area 

  

Jun 16 20 
05:02:04 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes No 

There is plenty of 
land on both 
school sites to 
enable expansion 
in current 
settings. Why not 
invest and 
improve current 
sites?  

No 

The primary pupils 
should be kept 
completely separate 
from secondary pupils. 
To my knowledge, there 
is no other school in 
Coventry where primary 
and secondary are on 
the same site. Why 
should Woodfield be any 
different?  

No 

There are houses going up 
everywhere within the city and a 
huge estate in bannerbrook, the 
traffic would be even worse than it is 
now!  

I understand that there is a need for more SEMH 
places for children but completely oppose this idea. 
Both current school sites are adequate and could 
just be extended probably saving thousands in the 
long run. Have residents of Stoneleigh road, 
hawthorn lane and broad Lane been made aware of 
these proposals? I think there would be a lot of 
opposition. Why was Woodlands site not earmarked 
for Finham Park 2? 

Jun 13 20 
07:01:31 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No 

There are not enough green spaces 
in the city. Building on the few green 
spaces we have left seems 
irresponsible. By all means sell it, 
but I don’t think it should be used for 
housing.  

Having a shared entrance may be problematic 
especially at the start and end of the school day. 
Many pupils find these to be difficult times and 
primary pupils may need to be safeguarded from 
secondary pupil behaviour. 

P
age 520



Jun 13 20 
09:34:43 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   No No 

The existing 
school seems big 
enough and there 
is a greater need 
for regular 
schools 

Yes   No 
There is a distinct lack of housing in 
the area already  

  

Jun 13 20 
10:07:37 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   No No 

Rather than 
create more 
space to 
accommodate 
more children the 
system should be 
in place to help 
children back to 
mainstream 
schools. The 
woodfield site is 
unable to control 
its pupils now let 
alone with more 
children. They 
cannot manage 
them the children 
run round the 
street damaging 
my property, 
swearing and 
threatening 
myself and other 
locals and quite 
frankly we do not 
want it any more 
let alone increase 
numbers. I'd 
prefer the 
woodfield school 
to close 
completely and 
move 
somewhere else! 
What a waste of 
a site Woodlands 
is and would be a 
shame for it to be 
wasted on kids 
that clearly 
couldnt care less 

No 

It will be a nightmare for 
us locals, they will 
damage property, abuse 
locals and generally 
bring down the area. 

No 

Housing! So not only will they run 
riot during the day we will also have 
to put up with the problems they will 
bring at night too! Great, thanks! 

This should not go ahead but we all no regardless of 
what people say you will do what you want anyway. 

Jun 14 20 
08:12:44 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 14 20 
11:59:24 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes No 

The primary site 
is already in a 
perfect location 
which allows 
children to learn 
and develop in a 
safe environment 
with fabulous 
outdoor learning 
opportunities 
which many of 
them do not have 
access to in the 
inner city areas in 
which they 
reside. 

No 

The primary and 
secondary sites are 
currently very different 
and I believe that the 
younger pupils need to 
remain in their own 
specifically tailored 
environment. This 
allows them much more 
opportunity to flourish 
and thrive away from 
any negative influences. 
A carefully planned 
transition to the 
secondary phase can 
then be allowed to take 
place. 

No 

It is completely unecessary aswell 
as unfeasible. The residents around 
the Stoneleigh Road site area will 
greatly oppose any further 
development in the area as the 
infrastructure is already overloaded. 

Woodfield School, the primary site especially, works 
perfectly well as a small special school, with an 
amazing team who are dedicated to giving their 
pupils the learning experiences they deserve in the 
best suited environment. To relocate this to a 
sprawling site combined with secondary pupils 
would be to the detriment of the entire ethos and 
success of the school.  P

age 521



Jun 18 20 
07:41:29 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

More SEND places are definitely needed as it is 
currently difficult to find the right provision for some 
children e.g. academically able ASD children & 
children with significant SEND but no behaviour 
issues who are often left to muddle through in 
mainstream schools but who might thrive in a 
different setting. Given the large size of the 
woodlands site would there be capacity for out of 
school/community clubs for children with SEND/ASD 
who attend mainstream schools as this is another 
area which many families would benefit from. Some 
sort of SEND family hub maybe? If a site which 
accommodated 1000 previously is only going to offer 
250 spaces initially, is there scope for this to extend 
as time goes on?  

Jun 15 20 
08:42:08 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 15 20 
12:15:29 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes No 

You need to 
investigate why 
900 boys lives 
were turned 
upside down 
because of this 
council's lack of 
duty of care for 
their education 
first. 

No As above No   

The council is a disgrace in its handling of this saga. 
I had two boys at Woodlands school, one of whom 
was due to sit GCSE's. The upheaval and stress 
caused to them was unforgiveable. I hope you all 
sleep poorly at night. 

Jun 15 20 
12:57:47 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

Although co-loction for primary and secondary 
school children is clearly an economical necessity, 
has thought been given to segregating primary 
children from secondary children?   It may be better 
to avoid undesirable influence of young children by 
more worldly-wise teenagers.  Is there a potential for 
bullying of younger children. 
 
Has thought been given to constructing a swimming 
pool? 
 
Has thought been given to constructing a climbing 
wall? 
 
What level of security will be in place to prevent 
absconding?  Should residents have any concerns 
about an increase in vandalism and burglaries?  Will 
insurance companies ask us to increase our house 
insurance premiums? 
 
Will there be a need to increase the provision of a 
GP's surgery and a dentist's surgery? 
 
Will local shops experience an increase in 
customers from the school or is a tuck shop planned 
on-site? 
 
Will traffic increase on Broad Land and Banner Lane 
or is the school to be 100% residential? 
 
Note: these are just questions and do not 
necessarily reflect the views of the survey 
responder. 

Jun 16 20 
08:11:53 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   
Essential to develop SEND capacity within the city to 
enable educational funding to be more cost effective 
for all Coventry children  

P
age 522



Jun 30 20 
10:55:13 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

As a locks existing user of Woodlands school at 
Coventry Dynamite the programme they run has 
bought an amazing opportunity for my 2 daughters 
and we are so excited about the proposed plans for 
our gym. Being based locally with a lot of local 
children we attend a number of the schools in the 
area and give free performances.  
We also attract a lot of visitors from all over the 
country which brings added business to shops and 
eateries in the area.  

Jun 16 20 
06:45:58 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   No   Yes     

Jun 16 20 
07:25:20 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 17 20 
07:47:51 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 18 20 
10:28:47 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes No   No   No     

Jun 19 20 
10:08:55 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 21 20 
08:53:02 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   No Yes   Yes   Yes   No options for ticking.... Not Sure 

P
age 523



Jun 22 20 
12:08:40 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No 
Any spare plot of land seems to be 
set aside for housing. 

The site could be renovated for West Coventry 
Academy, especially as the playing fields are 
already there and use the West Coventry site to 
house Woodfield School’s relocation. 

Jun 22 20 
02:26:44 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 23 20 
02:27:17 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

        No Yes   Yes   No 

Because there is a surfeit of housing 
in the area with very little community 
space. Bannerbrook is a new build 
estate with no community space 
whatsoever. Part of the site at 
Woodlands needs to be allocated to 
community activities. Prior to 
Woodlands School closure, it was 
possible to hire buildings on site for 
community groups and activities. 
This needs to be given priority in 
any new development. 

  

Jun 23 20 
02:43:08 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    No   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

SEN CHILDREN SHOULD NOT BE IN 
MAINSTREAM SCHOOLS - IT IS DETRIMENTAL 
TO THEIR EDUCATION AND THERE PEERS. 
THEY DONT ALWAYS GET THE SUPPORT THEY 
NEED AND IT IMPACTS ON THEIR FUTURES.  

Jun 23 20 
02:49:03 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes     

Jun 28 20 
10:24:55 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   
Point 20 in the consultation is very important to me, 
that the provision of existing sports facilities 
continues.  

Jun 29 20 
11:00:54 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes     No 

To close to my home.  
Children allowed out 
during breaks to wonder 
around streets 

Yes     

P
age 524



Jun 29 20 
03:58:52 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

I feel very strongly that the site should still be utilised 
for community sports. There is a very strong group 
of teams and clubs using the site and these should 
be supported to continue as it is beneficial for the 
health and wellbeing of the wider community.  

Jun 30 20 
11:15:22 
am 

Anonym
ous  

    No   Yes         No 
Not much green belt areas and it 
provides a fantastic sports and 
outside space  

The cheer facilities are a big part and these should 
be considered and expanded on as they promote 
small business and sport in the area.  

Jun 30 20 
02:11:56 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   
It is very important to me that the site maintains 
community sports facilities  

Jun 30 20 
06:10:01 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   
Hope you can still have provision for Coventry 
dynamite cheerleaders.  

Jul 06 20 
05:05:44 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   No 

I believe the city needs more 
affordable/social housing which is 
not envisaged in the housing 
development in the Stoneleigh Road 
site. 

I think the school should consider becoming co - 
educational. 
There is as much need for special provision for girls 
as for boys. 

Jul 21 20 
10:40:38 
pm 

Anonym
ous  

    Yes   Yes Yes   Yes   Yes   

This is such a great community within the sports for 
everyone so important to keep this valuable access 
for everyone that keeps them fit healthy and good 
mindset.  

5
5
-
6
4 

  

 

P
age 525



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Coventry City Council 
 

Education and Learning  

One Strategic Plan 

2019 - 2025 

Page 527



 

 

Page 2 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................................. 3 

1.1. Coventry’s Education and Learning Vision .......................................................... 3 

1.2. Statutory Context ...................................................................................................... 3 

1.3. Coordinated Strategic approach ............................................................................ 4 

2 Key strategic priorities .................................................................................................. 6 

3 Maintaining Available Capacity ................................................................................... 7 

3.1 School Admissions .................................................................................................... 8 

3.2 Home to School transport ........................................................................................ 8 

4  Funding .......................................................................................................................... 9 

5  Housing Developments ............................................................................................. 11 

6 Providing School Places ............................................................................................ 13 

6.1 School expansions .................................................................................................. 13 

6.1.1 Partnership working ................................................................................... 14 

6.1.2 Size ........................................................................................................... 14 

6.2 New schools ............................................................................................................. 14 

7.0 Coventry Context ..................................................................................................... 16 

7.1. Characteristics of Coventry provision for children ............................................. 16 

7.1.1 Academisation ........................................................................................... 16 

7.2 Special Schools ............................................................................................ 16 

7.3  Population Context ................................................................................................. 17 

7.4 EHCP’s (Education Health and Care Plans) ....................................................... 18 

7.5 Early Years ............................................................................................................... 19 

7.6 Primary Context ....................................................................................................... 21 

8 Future Need ................................................................................................................. 22 

8.1 Primary ...................................................................................................................... 22 

8.2 Secondary ................................................................................................................. 24 

8.3 SEND Provision ....................................................................................................... 27 

8.4 Proposed Strategic SEN Plan ............................................................................... 36 

8.4.1 SEND (Phase 1) ................................................................................................... 36 

8.4.2 SEND (Phase 2) – 2019 ...................................................................................... 37 

8.4.3 SEND (Phase 3) 2020 onwards ......................................................................... 38 

9. Post 16......................................................................................................................... 39 

10. Alternative Provision (AP) ...................................................................................... 41 

Appendices ...................................................................................................................... 42 

Page 528



 

 

Page 3 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 
1.1. Coventry’s Education and Learning Vision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In this context, the One Strategic Plan will help schools, parents, council staff, local 

partners and stakeholders understand how Coventry City Council plans to provide school 

places to ensure that all children and young people thrive in Coventry schools and settings 

throughout their education, wherever they live.  

 

This document sets out the principles underpinning school place planning; the ways in 

which places will be delivered, the information used to inform this delivery, and the way 

work is conducted to deliver high quality, accessible school places for all learners. 

 

1.2. Statutory Context  
 

Coventry City Council (CCC) has a legal duty under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, 

to ensure sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the 

Council’s role to plan, commission and organise school places in a way that raises 

standards, manages supply and demand and creates a diverse infrastructure. This enables 

the Council to:  

 

• ensure sufficient schools and places in a locality; 

• secure sufficient early years & childcare places; 

• ensure sufficient post 16 provision; 

• provide appropriate education provision for children with special educational 

needs and disabilities; 

• promote high education standards; 

• ensure fair access to educational opportunity; 

• promote the fulfilment of every child’s education potential;  

Coventry’s Children and Young People 2018 plan sets out the outcomes which 

organisations in Coventry will work together to deliver so they can provide the 

best support possible for children, young people and their families.   

 

There are four key priorities within the plan: 

▪ Early help 

▪ Be healthy 

▪ Stay safe 

▪ Education, training and employment 

Page 529



 

 

Page 4 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• promote diversity and parental choice. 

With the Council being statutorily responsible for commissioning school places in all 

schools, including Academies and Free Schools, these are considered equally in the City 

Council’s planning of school places. 

 

This strategy provides, for the longest possible planning horizon, until September 2023 for 

Primary and September 2025 for Secondary, to ensure that need is anticipated and met in 

a transparent, objective, cost effective and sustainable way. The purpose behind the One 

Strategic Plan was to provide political leadership for an annual review and audit of the 

school places being delivered. 

 

1.3. Coordinated Strategic approach 
 

A memorandum of understanding (MOU) has been established in order to ensure 

partnership commitment between the City Council and Coventry Secondary Schools which 

will support the strategic plan for the delivery of additional school places 2018/19 to 

2024/2025. This approach will be rolled out to primary and special to mitigate or meet 

demand through a partnership strategy. 

 

This partnership commitment signifies a statement of intent to collaborate and work in 

partnership to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people in 

Coventry, ensure the sustainability of Coventry schools, and to enable the City Council to 

meet its statutory obligations.  

 

The MOU has established a partnership commitment concerning the below principles: 

 

1. The Council and all Coventry schools have a shared interest in ensuring all pupils 

have access to good quality local provision.  

2. School organisation issues rarely affect schools in isolation; therefore, strong LA/ 

school partnerships are important to understanding the impact of school organisation 

decisions. 

3. A partnership approach is therefore required to create the strategic plan based on 

a set of agreed partnership principles: 

• Collective moral purpose & accountability;  

• Openness & transparency; 

• Expansion & investment of existing schools where possible and relevant – 

against agreed criteria – as set out in point 4. 

• Working with current partners; and 

• Never knowingly undermining another school. 

These principles will underpin the way we work together and how we create the plan. 

 

Page 530



 

 

Page 5 of 57 

 
 

 

 

4. A basic requirement of this strategy is that it ensures the right number of school 

places to meet pupil’s needs, in the right locations, at the time they are needed. 

Commissioning additional school places at existing schools will therefore be assessed 

against the following criteria: 

  

• Net Capacity. We will wherever possible seek to expand schools in whole forms 

of entry; 

• Current performance of school – LA or Ofsted categorisation. Guidance on 

school organisation is clear that outcomes should lead to school improvement 

and increased attainment levels; 

• The location of the school relative to the expected pupil need. It is desirable for 

schools to be at the heart of the community that they serve in order to provide 

easy access to their facilities by children, young people and their families, and 

the resident community;  

• Current size of school – maximum 10 forms of entry and minimum 7 forms of 

entry where possible; 

• Popularity of the school. We will seek to commission additional places, when 

needed, at schools with high levels of parental preference in the locality, looking 

closely at first choices and those schools that are oversubscribed; 

• Physical ability of school to expand including any site or potential planning 

constraints; 

• Cost of expansion. It will be important to ensure that any proposals represent 

good value for money and are in keeping with available capital funds. All school 

buildings and estates in the City should be of the highest quality within the 

resources available; 

• Diversity of provision. Coventry has a broad variety of provision, with both 

voluntary-aided, trust schools, in addition to a large number of academies of 

various types. The LA seeks to maintain or increase levels of diversity and choice 

for parents wherever possible. In considering school planning, the aim will be to 

maintain the balance of denominational provision, unless parental preferences 

via the admissions process provide evidence that change is required. In 

considering places at voluntary aided schools the LA has a strong relationship 

with the appropriate Diocesan and Church Authorities, and we regard this 

partnership working as implicit to good planning; 

• SEN/ Inclusion. Wherever possible any school changes should seek to promote 

greater inclusion for those pupils having SEN and/or disabilities, by providing 

specialist provision within /linked to mainstream schools or academies. The 

benefits of this approach are that it; maximises the opportunity for children and 

young people to be included within their local community, minimises journey 

times to and from school and makes the optimal use of the revenue funding 

available to support such individuals or groups. 

Page 531



 

 

Page 6 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• Governing Body/ Trustees support. Proposals will normally require careful 

negotiation with schools and their governors to align aspirations for 

development. Where proposals are subject to statutory notice processes we will 

ensure that all prescribed consultees have the opportunity to have their say 

before any decisions are taken by the LA. 

 

It is therefore intended to develop through this agreement, a spirit of co-operation between 

the Council, governing bodies and school leadership teams that will help all parties to 

achieve a fair and open way forward to meet the education needs of local families and their 

children.  

 

2 Key strategic priorities 
 

Where possible, we will consult with all schools and decide upon the most cost-effective 

way forward.  

 

We are committed to ensuring all schools are kept informed with regards to long term 

school planning. We will, where possible, design buildings which enable schools to be 

flexible in the longer-term regarding use of buildings and grounds. 

 

Each year we will communicate to all schools our proposals for new schools, expansions 

and the long-term demand by area. Schools will be invited to comment and declare an 

interest in expansion.  

 

We are committed, where expansions and funds allow, to address the following areas 

 

• Local places for local children 
We are committed to providing school places for children in their local community whenever 
possible.   
 

• Removal of half forms of entry by increasing or decreasing (where 
appropriate) schools PAN 

In order to provide schools with stability when organising classes, we will look to remove 
half forms of entry, where possible. A number of schools in the City are operating with half 
forms of entry (e.g. admit 45 or other multiples of 15) this often requires the school to 
organise into mixed age classes in order to provide financial viability towards covering the 
cost of a full time teacher. Whilst it is possible to operate in this manner, it is more 
challenging for teachers and can be unpopular with parents. The local authority will look to 
remove half forms of entry where possible, particularly through expansion programmes. 
 

• Increase 1 form of entry (FE) to 2 forms of entry (FE) 
When expansion is required, if possible and appropriate we will look to expand schools to 
2 (FE) to provide better financial stability.  
 

Page 532



 

 

Page 7 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• Incorporate SEND facilities within mainstream schools 
To make best use of education facilities and increase inclusion for pupils with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities, we are developing schemes to include SEND facilities 
within mainstream schools and expand capacity. 
   

• Address safeguarding issues relating to buildings and grounds 
We are committed to addressing any safeguarding within schools relating to the school 
building or grounds and will address any issues identified in a timely manner to ensure the 
safety of children in Coventry schools 
 

• Address buildings defects and Equality Act noncompliance 
Where funds allow, we will address any identified defects. All school buildings in Coventry 
should be accessible to all and up to an equal standard. 
 

3 Maintaining Available Capacity 
 

Education planning areas are used by the LA to assess the supply and demand of school 

places. The areas are proposed by the LA and agreed by the Education Skills Funding 

Agency (ESFA). Any changes to planning areas must be agreed through this process. 

Coventry City Council applied to change its planning areas in February 2018, these were 

accepted and approved in April 2018. Please see attached appendices 1-4 which detail 

the planning area boundaries and in which planning areas schools are sited.  Whilst 

Education use these areas to plan, there is recognition that the boundaries are not rigid 

and there is significant movement across these boundaries as parental preference and 

flexibility changes each year.  

 

There is a need to maintain a certain amount of capacity within a given area to allow for 

flexibility to meet parental preference as much as possible, enable in-year transfers and 

allow families moving to an area to be able to secure a place at a local school or for each 

of their children at the same school.1  

 

The DfE previously recommended that Local Authorities should retain between 4% and 

8% capacity per planning areas as surplus to accommodate ‘In Year’ applications/growth. 

This guidance lapsed in 2014, and now the DfE recommend that LA should monitor its own 

capacity to reasonable levels. Within Coventry LA this figure is determined as 3% for 

Secondary and 4% for Primary.  

 

This is due to high levels of In-Year variance the city is experiencing. For the most part this 

3-4% capacity will be measured within a planning area. However, Education recognise that 

where there are planning areas with a low Published Admission Number (PAN) or 

                                                 
1 The School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) Regulations 2012, Section 4.—(1) states that ‘No infant (Year 
Reception, Year 1, and Year 2) class may contain more than 30 pupils while an ordinary teaching session is 
conducted by a single school teacher.’ 

Page 533



 

 

Page 8 of 57 

 
 

 

 

oversubscribed schools, 4% capacity may be unattainable or lead to issues with financial 

viability in the school. It is also noted that due to the size and nature of the City, particularly 

in relation to secondary pupils where freedom of movement is more accessible, if a 

planning area is consistently oversubscribed it is unlikely to be able to maintain this level 

of surplus capacity. Similarly, if a planning area contains less popular schools, the surplus 

margin may be much larger. Therefore the 4% surplus will also be monitored as a city-wide 

aggregate.  

 

This policy has been factored in the planning and analysis set out further on in this strategy. 

Current and forecast capacity and how it aligns to the maintaining capacity policy is 

available within Appendix 3 (primary) and Appendix 4 (secondary). 

 

3.1 School Admissions  
 

All aspects of school admissions are based on the School Admissions Code. It governs 

the way all schools set their admissions oversubscription criteria, ensures compliance with 

local co-ordinated schemes, makes offers of places and allows for school admissions 

appeals. It also places the local authority as a regulator for all other admission authorities 

within its boundaries, with the expectation that the local authority will report those 

admission authorities whose admission arrangements are not in line with the School 

Admissions Code to the school’s adjudicator.  

 

The School Admissions Code places a requirement on all local authorities to publish a ‘co-

ordinated scheme’ and manage the admissions process. This booklet is published and 

made available to all parents, via the Council website, and sets out how to apply for a 

school place for 

• Primary (Year R)  

• Junior (Year 3)  

• Secondary (Year 7) 

• University Technical Colleges (Year 10) 

 

For all children, the authority will try to offer a place at the school listed first. Parents are 

advised to read the admissions policies of all the schools requested so they can judge the 

likelihood, or not, of being offered a place at the school they most prefer. When a school 

receives more applications than it has places available, we need a fair and consistent way 

of deciding how to offer the places available. 

 

 

3.2 Home to School transport  
 

Page 534

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/389388/School_Admissions_Code_2014_-_19_Dec.pdf


 

 

Page 9 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Coventry City Council provides home to school transport to pupils in accordance with 

national legislation. In instances where a place at a school named as a parental preference, 

cannot be offered to a pupil and the alternative place offered is above the distance criteria 

set out below (or use of a walking route that is deemed ‘unsafe’ is required), CCC will 

provide transport to the alternative school. 

 

Pupils up until the age of eight: 2 miles 

Pupils aged eight and over: 3 miles  

 

Please click here for more information on Home to School Transport 

 

 

4  Funding 
The provision of additional school places usually requires Capital investment into the 

school. There are currently several avenues for funding additional school places. This is 

usually provided as a grant through the DfE or by requesting contributions from new 

developments. The following section examines the different sources through which funding 

can be claimed.  

 

• Basic Need Grant funding  

 

Capital allocations to meet projected shortfalls in provision are provided by the Education 

Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to all local authorities based on the data provided in the 

annual School Capacity return (SCAP).2 This funding is required to help fulfil the Local 

Authorities duty to make sure there are enough school places for children in their local 

area. The level of funding is determined by the demand for school places in the city. This 

return informs the ESFA of the expected change in pupil numbers over the next few years, 

the current capacity of schools to meet those numbers and the planned changes to that 

capacity. There is pressure on capital budgets for new school places across the country 

and it is likely that allocations will continue to be limited for the foreseeable future. It is 

important, therefore, to consider value for money in the process of commissioning school 

places. 

 

Secured Funding £14,665,000 

19/20 Allocation £3,913,000 

20/21 Allocation £6,237,000 

Total Funding £24,815,000 

 

The Chancellor, in October 2019, confirmed details of the Spending Round. The Spending 

Round focused on day-to-day departmental resource budgets for 2020-21 (as well as a 3-

                                                 
2 The forecast pupil numbers methodology for the SCAP return can be found in Appendix 7. 

Page 535

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/61/schools_and_schooling/756/school_travel_passes/1
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/61/schools_and_schooling/756/school_travel_passes/1


 

 

Page 10 of 57 

 
 

 

 

year settlement for core schools’ resource funding as an exception). It did not consider 

departmental capital budgets, as these have already been set for 2020-21. A full multi-year 

spending review will follow in 2020. One practical consequence for local authorities is that 

the DfE are not able to announce Basic Need allocations for places needed in 2021 

onwards. This uncertainty will have implications for the way that local authorities plan and 

deliver basic need projects.3 

 

• Section 106 (S106) funding / Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding  

 

The SCAP return asks local authorities to provide forecasts of pupil numbers that exclude 

pupils brought to the area by new housing development: there is an expectation that 

provision for these pupils will be funded through contributions provided by the developers. 

The ESFA expect the infrastructure required as a result of housing developments to be 

mitigated by S106 funding/ CIL funding.  

 

The Local Authority will seek to access funding from developers towards providing 

additional education provision, through the expansion of existing schools or the opening of 

new schools, when the predicted impact of a new housing development creates a shortfall. 

 

Where new housing development creates a demand for school places in excess of those 

available, the LA will work with developers to ensure that the appropriate contributions for 

the provision of additional school places are given. Where a housing development yields a 

large amount of pupils and justifies new provision, it may be necessary to secure land. The 

land would be used for education purposes, to safeguard the LA’s statutory responsibility 

to provide sufficient school places.   

 

This will continue to be achieved through Section 106 agreements. Education will seek the 

maximum contribution from developers to support the provision of additional places that 

we believe is proportionate to the impact of the development. It is critical that developers 

make a financial contribution to school places as, without it, the LA will be unable to deliver 

the required provision. Section 106 also includes asking for Primary and Secondary SEN 

contributions to aid in commissioning additional special school places as a result of the 

development.4 

 

Given the housing trajectory provided by the Local Plan as to how many dwellings the 

Council plans to deliver the maximum contribution5 that will be requested is as follows. 

 

                                                 
3 All full copy of the letter received from Lord Agnew can be found Appendix documents 
4 The methodology for the pupil yield calculation is included in appendix 2. 
5 Please note where requests cannot be justified or will not be Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) compliant, the 
funds received may be lower than outlined in this table. 

Page 536



 

 

Page 11 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Funding 

Received in 

Financial Year 

beginning 

Total Primary 

Contribution 

Total Secondary 

Contribution 

Total SEN 

Contribution 

Apr-19 £879,314 £680,739 £58,336 

Apr-20 £2,332,623 £1,805,849 £154,752 

Apr-21 £3,871,422 £2,997,142 £256,840 

Apr-22 £6,869,637 £5,318,272 £455,749 

Apr-23 £5,929,260 £4,590,260 £393,362 

Apr-24 £5,410,221 £4,188,435 £358,927 

Apr-25 £5,703,325 £4,415,348 £378,373 

Apr-26 £5,147,648 £3,985,159 £341,508 

Apr-27 £5,685,006 £4,401,166 £377,157 

Apr-28 £5,343,051 £4,136,434 £354,471 

Apr-29 £5,343,051 £4,136,434 £354,471 

Apr-30 £5,251,456 £4,065,524 £348,395 

 

• Centrally funded new schools via the Government’s Free School programme. 

 

• Capital Receipts – the sale of former education settings deemed surplus to 

requirements can be ring fenced to education, in exceptional circumstances.  

 

• Capital contributions from individual school budgets and/or bids by Academies for 

‘Capital Infrastructure Funding’ (CIF). 

 

• Capital funding allocations for ‘Voluntary Aided’ schools (LCVAP funding). 

 

• Special Provision Fund 

 

The Special Provision fund allocations are designed to create new places and improve 

facilities at existing schools. This funding is primarily intended to develop provision for 

pupils with more complex special educational needs (i.e. an EHC plan or a statement of 

special educational needs) in mainstream and/or special schools. 

 

 

5  Housing Developments  
 

The Coventry Local Plan 2011-2031 has followed a period of public examination and 

consultation on proposed modifications. The Inspector has now published the reports 

covering the Local Plan and City Centre Area Action Plan. These have been approved and 

the Council ratified the plan on the 5th of December 2017. 

Page 537



 

 

Page 12 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

The Local Plan calls for significant development in the North and West of the city, with a 

total of 24,600 additional homes built across the city by 2031, the end of the plan period. 

With a further 17,800 homes being built on Warwickshire land based on an agreed 

redistribution mechanism with the various districts and boroughs. From 2017 onwards 

Coventry City Council plans to build 1,300 homes per annum within the city of which 600 

per annum homes are to be classed as affordable.  

 

New housing developments can create additional demand for existing and new education 

facilities. This new housing is estimated to lead to over 13,200 additional children across 

all age ranges. There are also significant numbers of housing developments receiving 

planning permission outside the local plan process, which are already beginning to impact 

on local schools. Coventry do not ask for developer contributions on one-bedroom 

dwellings, as they are unlikely to generate either primary, secondary or sixth form pupils. 

For this reason, Coventry calculate pupil yield from development which is designed for 

familial occupation, I.E. 2 bed dwellings and above. 

 

From September 2019, the pupil yield figures for Coventry are follows: 

 Primary Secondary 
Sixth 

Form 

Primary 

SEND 

Secondary 

SEND 

Early 

Years 

Pupils generated per 1 

eligible dwelling 
0.39 0.23 0.04 0.01 0.01 0.08 

Pupils generated per 100 

eligible dwelling 
40 24 4 1 1 8 

 

The pupil yield methodology for how these figures have been calculated is included in 

appendix 2.6 

 

The current rate of housebuilding in Coventry is likely to generate additional school age 

pupils. In the north of the city, there are 4000 total homes allocated. The majority of these 

are part of the Keresley SUE, on this site is provision and land for a new 2FE primary 

school which will cater for the long-term impact of this development with other local primary 

schools taking any additional pupils, through school expansions, who will arise from this 

development.  

 

In the west of the city, Coventry City Council have managed to secure a parcel of land for 

Education within this section of the city. This is part of the Eastern Green development in 

the local plan, which is scheduled to commence building works in 2021. The masterplan 

for this site contains land for a 3FE primary school.  

 

                                                 
6 These figures have been rounded to two decimal places.  

Page 538



 

 

Page 13 of 57 

 
 

 

 

In the south of the city, the Kings Hill development in Warwickshire, c. 4000 dwellings, with 

c.1800 dwellings being delivered by 2030. The development is currently scheduled to begin 

in 2021, this site currently has plans for primary school(s), and a Secondary education site. 

It is expected the development of the secondary school will not begin until c.2025 at the 

earliest. Whilst pupils arising from this development will be under Warwickshire’s authority, 

they are likely to look at Coventry for school places, particularly whilst the education 

provision on site is being developed.  

 

In the east of the city, there is significant regeneration, the redevelopment of Bell Green 

and Potter’s Green is nearing completion. Regeneration of housing is difficult to factor into 

pupil yield as it essentially a replacement of stock housing, however the mix of housing 

does bring changes to the demographic and increasing pupil numbers. The largest housing 

development in this part of the city is the Walsgrave development, near the hospital. 

 

6 Providing School Places 
There are two consistent methods for providing additional school places, through either 

school expansions or providing new schools. 

 

6.1 School expansions 
Where a predicted shortfall of places has been identified, the most common solution is to 

expand an existing school. We will consult with all schools in the area and decide upon the 

most cost-effective way forward after considering expansion opportunities available within 

various school sites and costs.  

 

There are several factors taken into consideration as set out below: 

 

Criteria How is this Measured Source 

1 

Access – 

Serving Area 

of Need 

Pupil number forecasts. 

Data Team / Education & 

Learning 

 

Locality of schools in relation to demand. Education & Learning 

Long term planning applications in the adjoining 

area. 

Planning Team / 

Education & Learning 

Proposed admission arrangements. Education & Learning 

2 

Suitability of 

site and 

buildings for 

expansion 

Net capacity of schools. 
Property Information 

Team/Academies 

Size of site7 
Property Information 

Team 

Capacity of existing M&E to accommodate 

expansion requirements. 

Property Information 

Team / School 

                                                 
7 See 2.9.2 for further explanation. 

Page 539



 

 

Page 14 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Planning issues including highways and transport 

impact. 
Highways / Other 

Potential for the site to bring investment that 

would support the development. 
Education & Learning  

Barriers to expansion including listed buildings, 

grant funding conditions, third-party impact. 
Education & Learning 

Demonstrable commitment to making maximum 

use of the existing school buildings.8 
School 

3 

Leadership 

capacity & 

Quality of 

provision 

OFSTED reports. Education & Learning 

School position in terms of pupil attainment. Education & Learning 

Capacity to maintain standards and manage 

change during build programme. 

Education & Learning / 

School 

4 

Consequential 

impact of 

project 

Impact on pupil numbers at other local provision. Education & Learning 

Potential for expansion project to improve 

condition need of existing buildings within funding 

envelope. 

Property Information 

Team 

Current number of forms of entry. 
Education & Learning 

 

Early Years provision. Education & Learning 

 

6.1.1 Partnership working 
There is an expectation that small schools or schools with known budget pressures will 

work in partnership or collaborate with suitable partner schools whenever possible, to 

achieve economies of scale, for example: through federation and shared 

staffing/resources. This may help to maintain financial viability and remain sustainable 

longer term. 

 

6.1.2 Size 
The minimum size for a primary school will vary across local authority borders; however, it 

is an important consideration when looking to ensure the long-term viability of Coventry 

City Schools. When looking at expanding primary school provision, the local authority will 

look to expand primary schools from 1FE to 2FE where there is demand for places, to help 

with the financial viability of those schools. Where new schools are required, the preferred 

model will be for 2FE primaries, although specific context may require smaller or larger 

schools to be provided.  

 

6.2 New schools 
The need for new schools often arises when there are no opportunities to expand existing 

local schools or where new housing developments are expected to bring large numbers of 

new families to an area, where no existing provision can accommodate the influx of people.  

                                                 
8 See 2.9.1 for further explanation. 

Page 540



 

 

Page 15 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

When the need to establish a new school arises, there is a presumption in law that these 

schools will be Free Schools. The role of the local authority is to identify a site for the school 

and to seek applications to run the new school from potential sponsors. The final decision 

on who should sponsor a new school is taken by the Regional Schools Commissioner 

(RSC), whilst the RSC now has a requirement to consult with the LA on any new free 

school proposal, the overall decision is outside of local authority control. 

 

It is the responsibility of the local authority to seek sponsors for these new schools, 

therefore if a new school is required, the local authority would look to engage with potential 

suitable organisations including existing high-quality providers within Coventry. The council 

intends to work collaboratively with the ESFA and office of the Regional Schools 

Commissioner and other external providers if new school(s) are required.  

 

In order to provide sufficient Early Years places across Coventry, where existing provision 

is at capacity, all new build schools will include facilities for Early Years provision, and SEN 

provision. For Secondary, similar inclusion facilities will be provided. 

 

  

Page 541



 

 

Page 16 of 57 

 
 

 

 

7.0 Coventry Context   

7.1. Characteristics of Coventry provision for children 
 

7.1.1 Academisation 

 

There are currently 86 primary schools in Coventry. This includes the Primary phase of the 

Seva School. The academy conversion process which was initially popular with Secondary 

Schools is now starting to spread to Primary schools as Multi-Academy Trusts expand and 

encompass more schools across wider areas. These are broken down as follows.9 

 

Table 3:  Academies, maintained schools and schools in process, a comparison by 
phase (primary, secondary, special, all-through and other)   

School Type 
 In 
process 

 
Maintained 

Free 
Schools 

Voluntary 
Controlled 
Schools 

Voluntary 
Aided 
Schools 

 
Academies 

Total 
(all 
schools 
of type 
in 
county) 

Primary (inc. 
Inf, Jun, Pri) 

1 46 1 2 6 29 85 

Secondary  0 0 3 0 0 18 21 

Special (all 
types) 

0 7 0 0 0 2 9 

All-through 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

 

 

7.2 Special Schools 

 

Coventry maintains six special schools and commissions places at two special academies 

within the local area, offering the following provision: 

 

School Type of Need Age Range 

Castlewood *generic learning difficulties Primary: 4 to 11 

Three Spires 

Academy 

general learning difficulties and 

autism 

Primary: 4 to 11 

Tiverton *generic learning difficulties Primary: 4 to 11 

Sherbourne *generic learning difficulties All age: 4 to 19 

Baginton *generic learning difficulties Secondary: 11 to 19 

                                                 
9 Please note information correct as of the 17/05/2018. 

Page 542



 

 

Page 17 of 57 

 
 

 

 

River Bank 

Academy 

*generic learning difficulties Secondary: 11 to 19 

Corley Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) Secondary: 11 to 18 

Woodfield Social Emotional Mental Health 

(SEMH) 

All age: 4 to 16 

* referred to locally as ‘broad spectrum’ 

 

7.3  Population Context 

 
 

The 2016 Mid-Year estimates 353,000 people live within the City boundaries. (2016 Mid-

Year ONS estimates) This number is only expected to continue to increase, due to the 

young demographic of the city, 20% of the city’s population are aged 20-30 and higher 

levels on inwards migration. 

 

However, the birth cohort is starting to stabilise to more regular levels, this means the 

pressure on primary places is starting to ease, although there are still localised areas of 

pressure within distinct planning areas of the city. The transient nature of a city’s population 

and the social mobility of its residents mean that births, and GP registration data will be 

updated quarterly from the NHS trust, so that Coventry City Council can more effectively 

track pre-school cohorts and how they move around the city. This social mobility, and any 

unprecedented migration to areas of the city may lead to increased localised pressure 

which will require monitoring to ensure that additional school places are not immediately 

planned for when it is known that the pressure will dissipate as the families migrate again. 

3500

3700

3900

4100

4300

4500

4700

4900

D
at

e
 o

f 
B

ir
th

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
2

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
3

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
3

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
4

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
4

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
5

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
5

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
6

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
6

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
7

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
7

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
8

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
8

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
9

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

0
9

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
0

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
0

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
1

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
1

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
2

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
2

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
3

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
3

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
4

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
4

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
5

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
5

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
6

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
6

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
7

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
7

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
8

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
8

-3
1

/0
8

/2
0

1
9

Entry to Primary School2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Birth Cohort

Page 543



 

 

Page 18 of 57 

 
 

 

 

  

The latest data from the health authorities gives us some key headlines: 

 

• The birth cohort peaked for entry into Reception in September 2016 and, with the 

existing housing stock considered, has begun to re-stabilise and in some areas of 

the city started to decrease. Although future developments within the local plan may 

lead to a future rise in birth rates in the specified locations.  

• The current Year 3 is the largest cohort currently in Coventry Primary schools, 

September 2023 entry to Secondary, and will severely impact upon the availability 

of places within the city. 

 

7.4 EHCP’s (Education Health and Care Plans) 
 

In January 2019, Coventry maintained 2,084 Education Health and Care Plans (EHC 

Plans) compared to 1280 in 2014, a growth of 804 or 63% in 6 years. Overall 2.3 % of 

Coventry’s school age population have an EHC Plan, which remains lower than Coventry’s 

statistical neighbours (2.7%) and the all England average (2.8%).   

 

The growth is attributable to both the number of new first-time assessments, resulting in 

an EHC Plan, which has risen by 25% in the last three years and the number of young 

people remaining in Further Education with an EHCP.  Before 2014, a Statement of Special 

Educational Needs would cease at the point a student moved from a school to a college.  

However, in September 2014 legislation changed, which meant LAs took over 

responsibility for maintaining EHC Plans in colleges until a pupil is aged 25.  Approximately 

27% of the EHC Plans maintained are for students aged 16 to 25. 

 

 

 

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

2,200

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Coventry number of EHCP

Page 544



 

 

Page 19 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

7.5 Early Years 
Coventry Local Authority carries out a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment in line with its 

statutory duties under the Childcare Act 2006 and 2016. The assessment is a 

measurement of the nature and extent of the need for, and supply of childcare in each ward 

in Coventry. The purpose of the assessment is to help identify where there are current 

gaps in the childcare market and propose recommendations. Section 6 of the 2006 Act 

gave Local Authorities a new duty of securing, so far as is “reasonably practicable”, that 

the provision of local childcare is sufficient to meet the requirements of parents and carers 

to enable them to work or undertake education or training leading to employment. 

 

Early years’ education and childcare is provided in Coventry through a nursery school, 

school nursery classes and in private, voluntary and independent settings, including child 

minders, preschools and day nurseries. The type of provision can be categorised as 

follows: 

10 

Childcare 

on non- 

domestic 

premises 

Childminders 

Nursery 

classes/ 

school 

Out of 

school 

provision 

Holiday 

schemes 

Childcare 

on school 

sites 

Independent 

school sites 

offering early 

years 

provision 

Number 

of 

settings 

99 271 65 85 27 11 5 

Number 

of places 
4,809 1,754 3,434 n/a n/a 293 n/a 

Data as of 1st September 2019 

 

Coventry’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18 sets out the gap analysis and 

recommendations for ensuring that sufficient places are made available for families and it 

closely aligns to the Schools One Strategic Plan. In summary, childcare provision within 

Coventry has continued to grow and quality continues to remain high. Growth has been 

needed within the city due to the implementation of the 30 hour extended entitlement offer 

for families. This has required targeted development of places through capital expansion 

and a focus on partnership working to enable sufficient capacity to meet DFE delivery 

targets. The planned significant increase in new housing, employment and retail 

development will increase demand for childcare. Coventry local authority has a statutory 

duty to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, sufficient childcare to meet the needs 

of working parents and those studying to work, and to secure prescribed early years 

provision free of charge. Where parents choose to take-up their early year’s entitlements 

for 2, 3 and 4 year olds may change over the next few years. As 30 hours childcare 

                                                 
10 Information provided by the Coventry Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18 

Page 545



 

 

Page 20 of 57 

 
 

 

 

becomes embedded and new parents become eligible for the early year’s entitlements, 

demand may change with parents seeking more flexible childcare provision for example 

open for longer hours, stretched across school holidays and to support weekend work. 

 

In order to meet these challenges, achieve the participation targets for Early Education 

entitlements and support a good level of development at the end of the Foundation Stage, 

the following recommendations will be required and form the basis of the Early Years’ 

Service work stream action plans. 

 

• To increase capacity of childcare in line with growth and employment to meet 

the statutory requirements for all children aged 0-14 years old (and up to 18 

years old for children with Special Educational Needs or Disability). 

• Assess the variety of options for older children within primary and secondary 

during non-school hours including before/after school and holiday provision. 

Explore demand and take up of this provision to inform actions in specific areas 

of the city. Provide a targeted focus on the quality delivery of services for this 

age group. 

• Childcare and early year’s provision needs to be considered when new housing 

is planned, to ensure any new families moving into the area, or any increase in 

overall population, can access childcare and early years provision to meet their 

needs. Consider opportunities for Section 106 funding to support capacity 

development (contributions from developers towards the costs of providing 

community and social infrastructure which are required as a result of new 

development taking place). 

• Ensure parents are aware of the support available to them to reduce the cost of 

childcare including the early year’s entitlements and Tax Free Childcare (TFC). 

Encourage settings to register to deliver Tax Free Childcare. Work with 

employers and Jobcentre Plus to ensure working parents and those moving into 

employment are aware of support to meet the costs of childcare, flexibility 

options and to promote childcare settings locally to support choice. 

• Further work with providers to support robust assessment of parental demand at 

a local level, and to use findings to consider business opportunities to adapt their 

offer to meet identified demand. This may include longer days or stretching 

delivery across the year. 

• Support cluster working between schools to offer sustainable models of delivery 

(including provision across the school holidays). Support partnership working 

across different types of provision (including sessional provision and 

childminders) to ensure parents have access to flexible and stretched provision, 

and providers can maximise occupancy to ensure sustainability of provision. 

• Continue to increase the take-up of all early education entitlements with a 

particular focus on the universal early year’s entitlement for 3 and 4 year olds. 

Support opportunities for providers to maximise funding across all early years 

Page 546



 

 

Page 21 of 57 

 
 

 

 

entitlements, in order to protect provision for 2 year olds and 3 and 4 year olds 

(universal). 

• Drive workforce development improvements within the sector to address growth 

in services and the decreasing interest in childcare as a career choice within the 

sector. 

• Promote childminding as a profession in order to increase overall numbers of 

childminders across the city in order to reverse the decline in numbers of people 

interested in working in this childcare type. 

• Investigate possible barriers for parents and providers to the take up and delivery 

of provision for children with SEND. Ensure information available for parents 

reflects what inclusive provision is on offer across the city. 

• Work across the early year’s sector to improve the attainment level for all 

children at the end of the foundation stage. Reduce levels of inequality and 

narrow the educational gap between those most disadvantaged and their peers. 

• Monitor and drive quality improvement of Ofsted outcomes to ensure sufficient 

childcare of high quality is available. 

 

An action plan is in place to deliver these recommendations and support management of 

the market. Childcare provision needs are ever changing as demand fluctuates from 

families. The current focus for Coventry for early years and childcare provision is to sustain 

places we have developed over the past 4 years, availability of flexible education 

entitlements offers and developing partnership working to enable choice for families across 

the city.  

 

 

 

 

 

7.6 Primary Context 
 

Significant amount of work by the School Improvement team, in liaison with the schools, 

has resulted in there being only 6 Ofsted rated ‘Requires Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ 

Coventry Schools. Coventry has been delivering additional primary places since 2008. The 

vast majority of these have been OFSTED rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ schools.  

 

The below table highlights the phasing of these expansions and the overall number of 

additional places added. The 37.3FE added in permanent format equates to 1120 

additional Reception places for children. There were a further 2 bulge classes added at 

Edgewick, and at Moseley which temporarily increased capacity in Reception for a single 

year before reducing back down to the agreed PAN. 

 

Page 547



 

 

Page 22 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Given the shifting movement of births within Coventry from the Binley and North East of 

the city, which has a falling birth rate, towards the North and West of the City where births 

are starting to stabilise and, in some areas, continuing to increase. As this cohort moves 

through the primary phase, alongside existing primary cohorts, and starts to impact upon 

secondary places the level of secondary school places required will rise.  

 

 

8 Future Need 

8.1 Primary  
Since 2011 Coventry has undergone a significant primary expansion programme. Circa 37 

forms of entry have been added to primary capacity. This coupled with the declining birth 

rate means the surplus capacity across primary schools is rising. 

  

The below table breaks down below the rate by catchment area. As can be seen across 

the majority of the planning areas, births are declining in Coventry, whilst in certain areas 

particularly the West of Coventry the birth rate is continuing to increase. 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

P
la

ce
s 

ad
d

ed
 a

s 
Fo

rm
s 

o
f 

En
tr

y

Primary Forms of Entry Added

Additional Permanent FE Created in that Year Cumulative FE Added

Page 548



 

 

Page 23 of 57 

 
 

 

 

  Year Entering Primary School 

PLANNING AREA PAN Sep-19 Sep-20 Sep-21 Sep-22 Sep-23 

West Central 300 274 264 258 233 296 

North West 210 208 219 211 188 222 

Longford 510 460 524 484 507 479 

East 465 323 345 319 331 312 

South 405 332 379 371 349 304 

North East 395 352 369 362 335 327 

North 315 371 399 356 341 346 

West 225 220 224 217 236 202 

South East 180 220 203 224 218 200 

East Central 555 538 531 496 472 492 

Coundon 240 157 133 136 152 144 

Tile Hill 195 242 264 238 204 214 

North Central 570 625 571 561 569 555 

Binley 300 258 241 222 261 216 

  4865 4580 4666 4455 4396 4309 

Given this reduction in birth rate it is likely to have a significant impact upon the number of 

surplus school places in the City.  

 

PLANNING AREA 
Current Spaces in 

Reception in 
Planning Area11 

Difference 
between 2019 and 

2023 Births 

Provisional places 
in Reception 

available in 2023 

West Central 36 22 14 

North West 17 14 3 

Longford 50 19 31 

East 22 -11 33 

South 52 -28 80 

North East 82 -25 107 

North 6 -25 31 

West 2 -18 20 

South East 18 -20 38 

East Central 58 -46 104 

Coundon 7 -13 20 

Tile Hill 22 -28 50 

North Central 78 -70 148 

Binley 22 -42 64 

City Wide 472 -271 743 

 

As the above table suggests this will create significant levels of surplus at Reception in 

2023. As the DfE recommend have between 4-8% surplus places, having 743 surplus 

places in Reception in 2023 will leave Coventry with close to 15% surplus capacity.  

 

We are working towards a sustainable level of surplus places in the city. There are local 

fluctuations in birth rates and migration rates which create challenges. It is our intention to 

                                                 
11 Data correct as of 18/10/19. 

Page 549



 

 

Page 24 of 57 

 
 

 

 

ensure sufficient places whilst avoiding oversupply and without exceeding 5% surplus 

places within a planning area.  

 

Year Forecast Level of Surplus/Available Capacity 

Primary Planning Area 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

North 2% -7% 5% 6% 8% 

North Central 13% 18% 19% 20% 21% 

East Central 13% 13% 19% 21% 20% 

West Central 11% 4% 3% 13% -7% 

Longford 9% 1% 7% 5% 8% 

North East 19% 14% 17% 22% 25% 

East 4% -1% 6% 5% 9% 

Binley 9% 13% 18% 8% 20% 

South East 5% 12% 4% 7% 15% 

South 12% 3% 5% 10% 19% 

Tile Hill 11% 4% 12% 22% 20% 

West -1% -5% -5% -6% 7% 

North West 5% 2% 6% 13% 2% 

Coundon 1% 9% 12% 6% 9% 

City Wide 9% 7% 11% 12% 14% 

 

Given this forecast level of surplus for the plan period, DfE recommendations suggest that 

best practise for Coventry would be for schools in the  

• South 

• North East 

• East Central 

• Binley 

• South East 

• South 

• Tile Hill 

• and, North Central12 

planning areas to look at potentially temporarily decommissioning places to adjust supply 

to meet future reductions in demand. Coventry Local Authority will look to facilitate those 

connections between head teachers, governing bodies and school finance to examine 

where parties are in agreement over potential reduction of PAN. 

 

Headteachers are encouraged to contact the Local Authority to discuss the PAN of the 

school if they are concerned about the number of surplus places the school is likely to hold. 

 

8.2 Secondary  
 

                                                 
12 Please see Appendix 1 

Page 550



 

 

Page 25 of 57 

 
 

 

 

The large cohort of pupils moving through primary provision is due to impact upon 
secondary provision from September 2018. In order to meet the need for additional 
provision without providing too much surplus capacity in future years, it is proposed to 
expand secondary places using a mixture of temporary ‘bulge’ and permanent expansions.  
 
As set out below, Phase One was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 and outlines the 
planned temporary and permanent increases up to 2021. To address the further forecast 
shortfall of places between 2022 and 2024, Phase Two outlines the agreement between 
the Local Authority and the Coventry Secondary Headteacher Partnership to meet the 
additional places required. This will continue to be reviewed annually in line with updated 
pupil forecasts. 
 
All schools are required to consult as part of the expansion programme. 
 
Phase One 
 
In September 2018, the LA added an additional 50 places across 5 different secondary 
schools. These were temporary increases and did not require any school to expand. The 
additional 50 places were accommodated in the below schools: 
 

• Bishop Ullathorne – 10 places 

• Blue Coat – 10 places13 

• Cardinal Newman – 5 places 

• Coundon Court – 15 places 

• Whitley – 10 places 
 
In September 2019, an additional 8 forms of entry (235 year 7 places) were added using 
a mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry schools.  
 
The temporary increases are outlined below: 

 

Caludon Castle increasing PAN from 240 to 270 for September 2019 only. 

Foxford increasing PAN from 180 to 185 for September 2019 only. 

Lyng Hall increasing PAN from 150 to 180 for September 2019 only. 

Sidney Stringer increasing PAN from 210 to 240 for September 2019 only. 

 
The permanent increases are outlined below: 
 

Cardinal Newman increasing PAN from 220 to 250 from September 2019.   

Coundon Court increasing PAN from 285 to 345 from September 2019. 

President Kennedy increasing PAN from 270 to 300 from September 2019. 

Whitley increasing PAN from 160 to 180 from September 2019.  

 
In September 2020, an additional 2 forms of entry (60 year 7 places) are planned using a 
mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry schools. 

                                                 
13 This was agreed separately to Partnership agreement; the school permanently increased their PAN to 
265 from September 2018.  

Page 551



 

 

Page 26 of 57 

 
 

 

 

The temporary planned increases are outlined below: 
 

President Kennedy increasing PAN from 300 to 330 for September 2020 only. 

 
The permanent planned increases are outlined below: 
 

Barr’s Hill increasing PAN from 131 to 161 from September 2020.  

 
In September 2021, an additional 6.5 forms of entry (199 year 7 places) are planned using 
a mixture of temporary and permanent expansions within existing Coventry schools.  
 
The temporary planned increases are outlined below: 
 

West Coventry increasing PAN from 237 to 297 for September 2021 only. 

Westwood increasing PAN from 157 to 217 for September 2021 only. 

 
The planned permanent increases are outlined below: 
 

Barr’s Hill increasing PAN from 161 to 180 from September 2021. 

Ernesford Grange increasing PAN from 180 to 210 from September 2021.  

Finham Park increasing PAN from 240 to 270 from September 2021. 

 
The below table demonstrates the sufficiency position if the additional places are added in 
this way: 
 

 

3500

3700

3900

4100

4300

4500

4700

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Rising Secondary School Cohort

PAN Permanent

Temporary Basic need pressure on school places

Forecast pupil numbers (incl. housing)

Page 552



 

 

Page 27 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Phase Two 
 
The above table shows how the Phase One of the capital programme will meet demand. 
From September 2022 onwards, with increasing pupils’ numbers, there is an additional 
basic need pressure which will require the delivery of a phase 2.14 To address the forecast 
shortfall of places and provide a sufficient surplus of places city-wide, it is expected that 
there will be the following requirement for additional places 
 

• In September 2022, an additional 8 forms of entry (FE) will be needed. 

• In September 2023, an additional 10 FE will be needed. 

• In September 2024, an additional 6 FE will be needed. 
 
Due to the anticipated decline in pupil numbers from 2025, which is forecast to reduce. It 
is expected that the required number of places here will be met by the 2019-2021 
permanent expansions. Therefore, the proposal for Phase Two is to use temporary 
increases. This solution would allow the Coventry Partnership to future proof by avoiding 
an oversupply of places long term and ensuring that no school has a significant amount of 
spaces. Proposals for potential options for the phase have been discussed with Secondary 
Heads with a formal plan being finalised in December 2019 and brought for political 
approval in March 2020. 
 

 

 

 

8.3 SEND Provision  
Introduction 
 
The Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) School Place Planning Strategy for 
Coventry City Council sets the baseline for specialist provision across the city and 
summarises a range of factors that are driving the need for change over the short to 
medium term.  
 
This strategy gives more in-depth information regarding the current and future SEND pupil 
population and outlines the options available to add or make changes to specialist provision 
for Coventry pupils. The aim of this strategy is to help the City Council, schools, parents 
and the wider community understand the need for specialist provision planning and to 
establish future demand. It will provide a basis against which future specialist provision will 
be planned. 
 
The agreed key principles for meeting the demand for SEND school places is set out below: 

 

• A whole system approach will be adopted, to secure a continuum of provision that 

reflects the continuum of need 

                                                 
14 This is in addition to the agreed expansions for 2019 – 2021 (Phase One).  

Page 553



 

 

Page 28 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• The majority of children with an EHC Plan will have their needs met within a 

community mainstream school 

• Where possible the current special school(s) estate will be expanded to meet 

demand and ensure sustainability 

• When additional or new provision is required, this will be secured through utilising 

existing vacant or underused education provision   

• The condition of existing provision will be addressed to secure minimum standards 

and maximise capacity 

• The special school offer will negate the need to place out of City because of a 

shortfall in local provision  

• Consideration of reviewing and extending the age range of existing provision to 

address any ‘bottle-necks’ in transition.  

 

The provision strategy to meet the needs of Coventry with SEND includes: 

 

• The further development and review of current enhanced resourced provision 

(ERP), which will lead to a range of ERP bases across the primary and secondary 

phase that reflects current priority areas of need including ASC (Autistic Spectrum 

Condition) and SEMH (Social, Emotional, and Mental Health). 

 

• Prioritisation of the current special school estate to develop it for purpose schools 

within the available capital funds. Explore, where possible and advantageous, the 

opportunity to move, expand and/or rebuild special schools on alternative sites.  

 

• Increase, where required, special secondary provision within the budget envelope 

of the High Needs Block for commissioned places. 

 
 

Number of 
school age 
EHCPs 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

1,349 1,321 1,315 1,292 1,280 1,432 1,559 1,724 1,863 2,084 

 
In 2014 the Children and Families Act came into effect, and subsequently the introduction 
of the Code of Practice (2014) covering the extension of the age range for special 
education needs (SEN) for young people up to and including the age of 25.  This also saw 
the Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans) brought into effect to replace the 
statements.  
The increase in EHC plans in Coventry is displayed in the chart below: 
 
 

Page 554



 

 

Page 29 of 57 

 
 

 

 

  
 
The increase in the number of plans since 2014, is a clear indicator from the Code of 
Practice (2014), and the extended age range of 25. 
 
These numbers encompass all pupils with SEND on roll at schools located in Coventry, 

including independent schools and pupils that are resident in Coventry but attend schools 

outside of Coventry. With the number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) 

increasing over the last few years, this has resulted in an increasing number of children in 

high cost Out of City Placements.  

 

National and Local Policy Context 

 

The Government’s vision for children and young people with special educational needs 
(SEN) and disabilities is the same as for all children and young people – that they achieve 
well, and lead happy and fulfilled lives. The Children and Families Act 2014 places 
important statutory responsibilities on local authorities for supporting children and young 
people with special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities. This is a vital role that local 
authorities retain in an increasingly school-led education system and one that requires 
long-term strategic planning, informed by detailed local knowledge enhanced through 
consultation with parents and carers, and good relationships with local schools. 
 
Local authorities must ensure there are sufficient good school places for all pupils, 
including those with SEN and disabilities. Through long-term strategic planning Councils 
are seeking to reconfigure specialist places to ensure that they can meet need whilst 
containing spending within the constraints of the High Needs budget and available capital 
resources. 
 
The Special Educational Needs & Disability Provision Strategy is part of a wider framework 
of policy documents that support the One Coventry Council Plan (2016-24) which sets out 
the 3 Council priorities: 
 

• Globally connected 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Coventry – Pupils with Statements and/or EHC plans 

Page 555



 

 

Page 30 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• Locally connected 

• Delivering our priorities 
 
Current School Estate 
 
Specialist SEND Provision located in Coventry is comprised of 8 special schools: six 
maintained special schools and two special academies.  
The total number of commissioned placements at Coventry’s Special Schools, is 

exhausted.  Whilst there is capacity to increase the number of primary placements for 

generic learning difficulty, there is generally no physical capacity to expand secondary 

placements, without capital investment; with the exception of Corley secondary school, 

which caters for autism spectrum conditions (ASC).  

 

The 8 schools are outlined in more detail below: 

School 
 

Description 

Castle Wood 
Special School 

For pupils aged from 4 -11 with a range of learning difficulties from profound 
and multiple, severe to moderate and with varying degrees of autistic 
spectrum conditions.  

Baginton 
Fields 

For pupils aged from 11-18 with a broad range of special educational need 
and disability; Autism, Sensory Impairment, Physical Disability, 
Communication Difficulties and Challenging Behaviours. 
 

Corley Centre For pupils aged from 11-18 with complex social and communication 
difficulties.  

Sherbourne 
Fields 

For pupils aged from 2-19 with a broad spectrum of need including physical 
disabilities, medical conditions and learning needs.  

Tiverton  For pupils aged from 3-11 with severe learning difficulties or profound and 
multiple learning difficulties. They may also have some physical or sensory 
impairment, or an autistic spectrum disorder.  

Woodfield Based across two sites, a Primary for pupils aged 4-11 and a Secondary 
for pupils aged 11-16 (and support until the age of 18). Many of the pupils 
needs range from dyslexia, dyspraxia, being on the Autistic Spectrum 
(ASC), or having Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD), 
Pathological Demand Avoidance (PDA) and attachment difficulties.  

RNIB Three 
Spires 

For pupils aged 4-11 with learning difficulties and additional needs, with 
over half of the pupils having autism spectrum conditions (ASC) and others 
have additional needs, including sensory impairment, communication 
difficulties and physical difficulties.  
 

Riverbank For pupils aged 11-19 with a broad range of special educational need and 
disability. Learning is influenced by Autism, Moderate and Severe Learning 
disabilities, Sensory Impairment, Physical and medical difficulties, 
Communication Difficulties and Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
difficulties linked with their special educational needs. 

 

Page 556



 

 

Page 31 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 
Breakdown of type of need 
 
There are several categories of SEN need, which bring different severities of support 
required by an individual.  A particular individual with a SEN need is assessed on an 
individual basis and an EHCP plan is created and identifies the type of support they require.  
This then forms the basis of criteria used to identify which school will best cater for an 
individual pupil needs. 
 
Historically, Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD) represented the largest percentages of 
need. However, current demand identifies an evidenced growth in Social, Emotional 
Mental Health (SEMH) and Autistic Spectrum Condition/Disorder (ASC/D). ASC is now 
identified as the highest prevalence of additional need in the city. An analysis of the type 
of need based on current EHCPs identifies a shift as follows: 
 

 
 

                                                 
15 The increase of commissioned places at Tiverton School is being completed as part of their move to the Whitley 
Abbey site. 

SLCN
8%

ASC
29%

SEMH
13%

MLD
19%

SPLD
2%

OTH
3%

PD
3%

VI
1%

HI
2%

PMLD
5%

SLD
15%

Breakdown of SEN

School Name 
September 2018 
Commissioned 
Places 

May 2019 
Commissioned 
Places 

September 2019 
Commissioned 
Places 

Total 
increase 

Castle Wood 139 139 147 8 

Three Spires 84 84 84 0 

Riverbank 164 164 164 0 

Corley 96 96 118 22 

Tiverton 70 74 95 2515 

Baginton Fields 100 102 116 16 

Sherbourne 
Fields 

148 157 167 19 

Woodfield 160 160 160 0 
 961 976 1043 82 

Page 557



 

 

Page 32 of 57 

 
 

 

 

As the graph identifies the breakdown of need with SEN, below is the definition of such 
needs: 
 
SLCN – Speech, Language and Communication Needs 
ASC – Autistic Spectrum Condition 
SEMH – Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
MLD – Moderate Learning Disability 
SPLD – Specific Learning Disability 
OTH – Other 
PD – Physical Disability 
VI – Visual Impairment 
HI – Hearing Impairment 
PMLD – Profound and Multiple Learning Disability 
SLD – Severe Learning Disability 
 
It is to be noted that each pupils primary need does not look at their underlying need or 
interconnectivity of the classifications as listed above. 
 
Historical Growth 
Significant growth in capacity for primary generic learning difficulties has been achieved 

through the expansion of Tiverton School which has been rebuilt, on the former Alice 

Stevens School site. The primary site of Woodfield Special School has been identified in 

the local plan as having some potential for development, and currently a draft masterplan 

is in development to scope options for integrating the primary and secondary sites onto 

one site, with the aim of responding to growth demands.  

 

Future Need Methodology 

It is widely known that mainstream population has grown over the last few years. It is more 

commonly acknowledged within primary, where large scale expansion of mainstream 

capacity has taken place.  We therefore see there is a direct correlation at least at primary 

level, of the growth of EHCP’s being linked to the growth in mainstream. With the size of 

the mainstream primary cohort now starting to stabilise, it can be assumed by way of 

forecast that the number of primary pupils with additional need will similarly stabilise.  

 

Proportion of EHCP 

(Education, Health, and 

Care Plan) of total 

cohort 

2015 2016 2017 2018 

Early Years Cohort 0.69% 1.36% 1.79% 1.67% 

Primary Cohort 1.85% 1.94% 1.98% 2.24% 

Secondary Cohort 3.53% 3.44% 3.40% 3.44% 

 

The above figures show that despite the large raw increase in Primary SEN number’s, 

proportionally EHCP numbers have only slightly increased in primary compared to the 

Page 558



 

 

Page 33 of 57 

 
 

 

 

population growth. 2018 jump in primary is due to an increase in plans being issued. It also 

identifies a clear stabilising numbers in proportion for Secondary need.  Given that the 

secondary cohort is increasing the largest, this proportion will similarly increase. 

 

Forecasts 

The below forecasts have been arrived at by analysing the mainstream forecasts and 

projecting the % of EHC numbers forward. 

All SEN (number of 

EHCPs) 
(0-4) Primary Secondary Post – 16 

2019 80 780 750 432 

2020 94 789 772 458 

2021 101 787 800 475 

2022 100 780 830 487 

2023 105 769 859 489 

2024 98 749 870 502 

 

No increase is shown in the forecasts for Early Years. This is due to the fact that, despite 

a 0-4 care: on the whole, children are too young to have an EHCP in place during the Early 

Years phase and Coventry has no physical capacity to arrange specialist early years 

provision, within the special school sector.  This is a priority area for future early 

intervention development, which will be subject to high needs block affordability and 

prioritisation of special school space. 

 

For indications of trends at the Early Years stage, data around SEN support will need to 

be considered. The SEND support forecast data is showing a 78% increase in demand 

over the same 5-year period.  

 

The largest increases are in Secondary and Post 16. Nationally, and within Coventry, there 

is a higher percentage of pupils with EHCP at Secondary than Primary. Larger primary 

cohorts are moving through into secondary, impacting upon the availability of places. With 

the extension of the age range to 25; Post – 16 EHCP numbers have increased and are 

forecast to increase further, and this has placed unplanned pressure on Key Stage 5 and 

FE provision, which is envisaged to continue.  

 

There is forecast to be small increases in Primary SEN. This is due in part to a stabilising 

of the birth rates and larger cohorts moving through into Secondary phase. 

 

Based on current trends and using forecast data for September 2020, we can model the 

anticipated increase in EHCPs for Coventry pupils. Assuming the current trends continue, 

the table below shows the expected growth in demand, across Primary and Secondary, by 

type of need. This then further breaks down the Primary and Secondary forecasts into type 

of need, and highlights a growing need for additional Secondary SEN places in the city.  It 

Page 559



 

 

Page 34 of 57 

 
 

 

 

also identifies that there will be a significant shortfall of places within ASC, SEMH, and 

Broad Spectrum.   

 

 

Breakdown 

This means that there is an increased need for SLCN places, that steady from 2022 to 

2024.  ASC and SEMH continue to increase year or year, steadying in 2023 and 2024.  

The forecast growth identifies a potential increase of 50 ASC placements and 31 SEMH 

placements by 2024. 

 

Numbers remain high but with a steady increase in both MLD and SLD also.  Numbers 
remain low and steady for the other types of EHCP’s, but overall it still shows an increase 
nevertheless going forwards. 
 

This growth will require additional capacity within the system to secure statutory provision. 

This analysis does not take into account the number of pupils with EHC Plans currently 

placed in mainstream schools, who have been identified as requiring specialist placements 

in the near future. 

 

Future need 

 

Using September 2017 commissioned places as a baseline and assuming that the recent 

increase in demand is permanent, the following cumulative forecast for demand increase 

by phase between 2019 and 2022 is set out:   

 

The analysis indicates that currently 63% of pupils with an EHCP are placed in specialist 

provision.  Based on this statistic, the table above outlines the forecast need for additional 

places for children with EHCP across all year groups. These additional places will be added 

across mainstream and special schools. The special school places are separated for 

secondary. This assumes the threshold for EHCP continues at the same level and 

Year 

EHCPs across Primary and Secondary 

SLC

N ASC 

SEM

H MLD SPLD OTH PD 

VI HI PML

D 

SLD 

2017 102 350 159 226 29 37 33 8 20 65 184 

2018 106 364 166 236 30 38 35 8 21 66 191 

2019 109 373 173 244 31 39 36 9 22 68 195 

2020 112 382 178 251 32 40 36 9 22 69 199 

2021 114 390 183 258 32 42 37 9 23 69 202 

2022 117 397 188 264 33 42 38 9 23 70 205 

2023 117 400 190 266 34 43 38 9 24 70 205 

2024 117 400 190 267 34 43 38 9 24 70 203 

Page 560



 

 

Page 35 of 57 

 
 

 

 

therefore the split between pupils attending special schools (63%) and mainstream (37%) 

stays the same.  

 

The SEND code of practise states that it is expected that “the majority of C&YP with SEN 

or Disability will have their needs met within local mainstream, EY settings, schools or 

colleges. In comparison to Coventry’s statistical neighbours, Coventry has a higher 

proportion of pupils with an EHCP within a special school.  

 

  

Total Pupils 

in 

Mainstream 

Total 

Pupils in 

Special 

School 

% of Pupils 

with EHC in 

Special 

Proportion of 

Cohort with 

an EHCP 

Bolton 768 705 48% 2.87% 

Tameside 183 383 68% 1.64% 

Wigan 587 646 52% 2.74% 

Leeds 1,000 1,207 55% 1.78% 

Sheffield 894 1,094 55% 2.47% 

Derby 634 693 52% 3.06% 

Coventry 481 858 64% 2.33% 

Medway 559 736 57% 3.03% 

Portsmouth 453 485 52% 3.29% 

Southampton 469 523 53% 3.08% 

 

Statistically, it might be argued that Coventry has a high percentage of children with EHCPs 

placed in specialist provisions. However, there is no evidence that the threshold for 

placement in Coventry is lower than other LAs.  Initial work suggests that Coventry’s profile 

of complex SEN is high.  Further investment will be made in supporting mainstream schools 

to build capacity within the community through a range of targeted training and support to 

schools.  This programme will be designed in partnership with schools and underpin the 

Inclusion Strategy. 

 

Primary 

The amount of pupils in primary mainstream with additional needs has also been rising 
requiring schools to have to meet a broader range of pupils needs with no additional 
funding. In order to meet the needs of these pupils, it is proposed to create several 
resourced provision units on mainstream school sites making use of existing education 
assets. The resourced provision will be targeted towards primary age pupils with Autism 
Spectrum Condition and Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) 
 
New specialist provision attached to mainstream schools has proved able to meet some of 
the needs of many complex learners with Autism Spectrum Condition and Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs whilst allowing the individuals to remain in 
their own communities and not face overly arduous travel. Coventry has developed a model 

Page 561



 

 

Page 36 of 57 

 
 

 

 

of provision based on best practice and experience, both internally and that of other local 
authorities. This best practise states that resource provisions can accommodate to 10 
learners in secondary and up to 8 learners in primary on a mainstream school or academy 
site. However, this is a variable depending on the type of provision being provided.  
 
It is envisaged that the increased demand arising from the projected increase in pupil 

numbers, could be accommodated within resourced provision (RP) over the next 5 years. 

The RP would need to be targeted for primary age pupils with ASC and SEMH.  

 

It is envisaged that an additional 3-5 resourced provision would be required over the plan 

period, assuming a population of 8-12 pupils per provision. It is estimated that this would 

cost c.£200k, in capital cost investment. Work is underway to identify areas of the city 

where education provision will be released and can be utilised for this purpose.  

 
The priority, to provide sufficient and quality SEN provision, is to develop such provision 
on 4 - 5 school sites across the City as follows:  

• In North Eastern Coventry at primary-phase schools  

• In the East of Coventry area on a primary school site 

• In central Coventry at a secondary school site. 
However, given the relatively small distances involved these locations are quite flexible 
and of more concern would be inclusivity of the school; and the quality of provision being 
offered.  
 
 

Secondary 

Work is currently underway to scope options for integrating the primary and secondary 

sites of Woodfield Special School. 

Both the Corley Centre and Baginton Fields have taken on additional pupils, with the 

addition of modular builds as part of the Capital Programme for 2019/20.  

 

Post 16 

Secondary special school provisions have developed an increased post 16 provision as a 

consequence of growth.  As part of secondary mainstream expansion, partnerships with 

colleges and employment pathways including supported internships there is an opportunity 

to develop an extended SEND post 16 provision which would in turn release special school 

capacity.  The old Tiverton building on Sherbourne Fields site, has been identified as 

potential to rebuild as post 16. 

 

8.4 Proposed Strategic SEN Plan 

8.4.1 SEND (Phase 1)  

In November 2018, Cabinet Members agreed to the principle of expanding and relocating 
Woodfield Special School to the vacant former Woodlands School site. It is proposed to 
relocate Woodfield Special School in September 2021 to address split site, building 

Page 562



 

 

Page 37 of 57 

 
 

 

 

suitability, and capacity issues. This is subject to further detailed plans and financial 
approval. This project will enable the school to grow in capacity as set out below, increasing 
the number of SEMH places across primary and secondary phases: 

 
 
When fully occupied this will resolve the SEMH deficit of places, enabling children that are 
currently in ‘Out of City’ placements to be brought back into the City.  This larger school 
site for both SEMH primary and secondary, will enable pupils of all age ranges to attend 
the and fulfil the increase in demand for SEN places; thus supporting the increase in the 
extended age range to 25 for SEND post-16 education. 
 

8.4.2 SEND (Phase 2) – 2019 

 
The phase two expansions are solely covering the additional places that we know are 
required for the 2019 academic year.  No creation of further places that can be utilised, will 
come from these developments.  They will be fulfilled from September 2020 onwards. The 
schools that form part of this phase 2 expansion, to fulfil the additional places required are: 
Baginton Fields, Corley Centre, Sherbourne Fields, and Castle Wood.    
The following table shows the detail in how this is broken down: 

 

Year 2018

Current Intake Places Intake Places Intake Places Intake Places

Primary 65 15 80 24 104 24 128 16 144

Secondary 68 16 84 16 100 16 116 16 132

Overall places available 133

Places away from full capacity

2021 2022 2023 2024

Forecasted students places 2021-2024 Woodlands SEMH school

(Max intake 280) *assuming school move to new site 01/09/2021

Agreed 9/1/2018 Expected growth

164 204 244 276

116 76 36 4

School 
Name 

Sept 2018 
Commissi
oned 
Places 

May 2019 
Commissio
ned Places 

Variation 

Sept 
2019 
Commiss
ioned 
Places 

Variance 
to 
Sum-19 

Total 
increase 

 
Project detail 

 
Estimated 
costs 
(£) 

 
Funding 
source 

Castle Wood 139 139 0 147 8 8 

Creating 2 
classrooms from 
previous 1 larger 
classroom 

£20,000.00 Special 
Provision 
Fund 

Corley Centre 96 96 0 118 22 22 

Refurb of old 
residential unit to 
create 3 additional 
classrooms 

£350,000.00 Special 
Provision 
Fund 

Baginton 
Fields 

100 102 2 116 14 16 

Installation of 2 
classroom modular 
unit including 
hygiene suite 

£360,000.00 Special 
Provision 
Fund 

Sherbourne 
Fields 

148 157 9 167 10 19 

Remodel of 
existing 2 
classrooms to 
create 2 additional 
classrooms and 
breakout space 

£270,000.00 Special 
Provision 
Fund 

City wide 961 976 15 1043 67 82    

Page 563



 

 

Page 38 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 
As the table above shows, there was an increased need in places for September 2019. 
Castle Wood acquired an additional 8 pupils to the previous academic year, Corley Centre 
an additional 22, Baginton Fields an extra 16 pupils and Sherbourne Fields a further 19 
places.  This growth in additional places has been met using both refurb or remodelling of 
existing space, by way of adding additional teaching areas, and also by adding modular 
units on site to create further classrooms & breakout areas.  
 

8.4.3 SEND (Phase 3) 2020 onwards  

 
The current Year 5 (September 2020 into Secondary), is larger than the year 6 (September 
2019 into Secondary) for pupils with EHCPs. Given that the Secondary capacity has been 
filled from 2019 children, this increase will mean a need for additional places. The main 
increases are evident with pupils attending Tiverton and Castle Wood school. This will 
impact upon the availability of Special school places, given that the schools are already, 
from September 2019, at full capacity at their already increased commissioned number.  

 
Given that, historically, a significant number of pupils from Castle Wood attend Riverbank 
(last year; 2018 transfer - 80% of Castle Wood students transferred to Riverbank) and 
Tiverton children were split between Baginton Fields, Riverbank and Sherbourne Fields. 
This increase in pupils at these primary schools is likely to impact upon demand for places 
at Sherbourne and Riverbank in particular.  

School 
2019 
Transfer 

2020 
Transfer 

Castle Wood 16 26 

RNIB Three Spires 
Academy 

19 17 

Sherbourne Fields 
School 

5 5 

The Corley Centre 2  

Tiverton School 5 16 

Woodfield School 15 15 

Grand Total 62 79 

 
From these figures it looks possible that further Secondary expansion may be required. 
Given the areas of demand and primary need of the pupils, there appears to be up to 3 
potential options or a combination of all 3 options.  

•  Demolition of the Old Tiverton school building will enable use of the land to 

accommodate two, double modular build provisions.  One used for a purpose-built 

provision for pupils with higher needs and require their own space separate to the 

main school building.  The second modular build with internal reorganisation within 

the school, will allow for an additional 24 pupils to be taken on role in September 

2020.  

 

Page 564



 

 

Page 39 of 57 

 
 

 

 

• Expansion of Riverbank school – the school has not recently been expanded and 

so there is potential to extend on the school site and take an additional 36 pupils 

onsite. 

• Potential to utilise previous Extended Learning Provisions’ (ELCs) on two of our 

mainstream school sites. There is currently a need for an additional 1FE (8 pupils) 

at Castle Wood Primary effective immediately.  The reception age pupils are 

anticipated to join the school in early 2020, due to considerable reconfiguration 

works carried out at site.  The shift in resource rooms, to make a new classroom 

with some wall and door movements, will allow for this additional classroom whilst 

maintaining essential staffing areas.  Funding for this project will come from the 

Special Provision Fund. 

Expanding on the above, below is the proposed options for academic years 2020/21 and 
2021/22: 
 
2020/21  
Permanent Special School expansion wing has been identified at Riverbank Academy, with 
remodelling and relocation of car parking. This additional accommodation and site 
reconfiguration will be funded by the  Special Provision Fund and Basic Need.   
 
Sept 2020/21 
It has been identified that there is a need for additional Enhanced Resource Provision’s 
(ERPs), and three areas of need will be commissioned on existing space at mainstream 
site’s to be identified.  One provision is for ASD for 8 pupils, 2nd for SEMH for 8 pupils and 
a third for ASD/SEMH for 8 pupils (24 in total across 3 settings).  This also forms part of 
the Special Provision Fund. 
 

Sept 2021/22 – possible options 
Although there are no plans set for 2021/22 in terms of permanent expansions at the 

current SEN estates, there could potentially be land available on the Old Tiverton site that 

may provide a suitable solution in the future.  The majority of the current SEN estates are 

ideally not suitable for further expansion, but it maybe that feasibility studies can be carried 

out to see if the space currently utilised is used in the most effective way.  This may identify 

some areas for reconfiguration and as a result create teaching space for use. 

 
 

9. Post 16 
 

Currently, all but 3 Secondary schools within Coventry have sixth form provision. These 

current arrangements have been developed as a collaborative approach across Coventry 

and provide sufficient sixth form places to meet the demand, variety and quality of 

education within the city.  

 

Page 565



 

 

Page 40 of 57 

 
 

 

 

There are a further three secondary schools within Coventry which do not have sixth forms, 

Seva, Eden Girls, and Finham Park 2 these are growing organically from Year 7 upwards. 

The decision for Eden Girls to open a sixth form has been delayed for the foreseeable 

future. However, it is anticipated that these new sixth forms will provide the additional 

spaces required to accommodate the increasing secondary and forecast sixth form 

numbers in the coming years.  

 

Currently, the two largest sixth forms in Coventry are Caludon Castle and Blue Coat Church 

of England School. These two are the only sixth form provisions in Coventry to have in 

excess of 300 pupils across both years. At the other end of the scale there are 6 sixth forms 

within Coventry which have less than 100 pupils in both year groups. To resolve these low 

pupil numbers Coventry sixth forms, have, through partnership working, banded together, 

often through MAT links, to provide educational facilities and a range of curriculum which 

positively impacts upon student attainment.  

 

In addition to this there are 2 general Further Education Colleges; Coventry College, (as a 

merger between City and Henley Campuses), and Hereward College, which is specifically 

for those pupils with additional needs. These provide more technical training and support, 

whilst also providing more academic teaching. 

  

This mixed economy of sixth form provision allows for Year 11 pupils to study a wide range 

of subjects within the city boundary. Whilst also ensuring the quality of provision allows 

them to achieve their potential. 

Page 566



 

 

Page 41 of 57 

 
 

 

 

10. Alternative Provision (AP) 

 

 

Hospital Education – SEMH Location: Whitmore Park Annex 

 

Provision for children and young people who have difficulties in areas such as: 

 

• Attending their usual school following hospitalisation or long term illness 

• Reaching their full potential because of time missed at their usual school due to 

various medical conditions 

• Re-integrating successfully back into their usual school. 

 

 

Coventry Extended Learning Centre (CELC) – Link, Swanswell, Wyken 

 

Provision for pupils who are experiencing behaviour difficulties within a mainstream school 
setting and are in Key Stage 3 & 4 (11-16). Previously some pupils will have been 
permanently excluded and most will have been at risk of permanent exclusion from their 
mainstream school.  
 
There is a proposed option for a 2 storey expansion to the existing ‘The Link’ provision, to 
merge the current Swanswell centre pupils to create 1 larger provision to accommodate an 
approximate 60 additional pupils.  As part of this, there would also be scope to take an 
extra 10 pupils taking the extra pupils to a potential of 70.  Factoring in the existing 60 
pupils at the Link, this could theoretically accommodate 130 pupils post expansion.  
 
To help facilitate this, this project will also see a reconfiguration and part-refurbishment to 
the existing layout and structure, including a new reception area and multi-function office 
areas, to include space for when external professionals come in for appointments with the 
pupils.  Additions of hair, beauty and nail salons that will be housed in this section of the 
provision, to provide a more purpose built curriculum. This helping to achieve a target set 
by Ofsted. Additional kitchen/canteen and dining facilities.  As part of the ground floor 
extension, ‘The Link’ will see 4 new vocational subject workshop’s, showcasing fully 
accessible areas: electrical, plumbing, mechanic and bricklaying/plastering.  As part of the 
first floor extension, this is where Core subjects English, maths and science will be 
taught.  Overall in the extended ground and first floor, there is the possibility to create up 
to an additional 7 classrooms, with additional intervention rooms and a newly purpose built 
staff room. With the additional subjects being able to be taught at the centre, focussing on 
the core subjects and the vocational, this will aid in encouraging pupils to engage and 
support them post-education, and gaining recognised qualifications and gateway onto 
future vocational qualifications. 
 
The initial budget has been outlined as being £2.2 million from the Education basic need 
resource. There is also a plan to add a small Multi-use Games Area (MUGA) to the existing 
land at the rear of the provision, to enhance the outdoor sporting facilities. 
 

Page 567



 

 

Page 42 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Keys – Parkgate Primary School, Frederick Bird Primary School 

 

Provision for mainstream intervention programmed for National Curriculum Key Stage 1 

and Key Stage 2 pupils who are at risk of exclusion and are struggling to meet the 

behavioural expectations of their school. The service provides short term, intensive support 

in a small group to improve resilience and self-regulation focused on enabling a child to be 

successfully integrated into their mainstream class group. The intervention is offered for 

up to 2 terms for 4 days per week, children remain in their registered school on the 5th day.  

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices  
Appendix 1 - Primary Planning Areas 

 

Page 568



 

 

Page 43 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Primary Planning Area School 

North 

Holy Family Catholic  

John Shelton 

Parkgate Academy 

Whitmore Park 

Keresley Grange 

North Central 

Broad Heath 

Edgewick 

Hill Farm Academy 

Stanton Bridge 

Page 569



 

 

Page 44 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Joseph Cash 

St Augustine’s Catholic 

John Gulson 

Radford Academy 

St Elizabeth’s Catholic 

East Central 

All Saints’ CE 

Frederick Bird 

Gosford Park 

Stoke 

Stoke Heath 

Sacred Heart Catholic 

St Mary & St Benedict Catholic  

Sidney Stringer Academy 

Southfields 

West Central 

All Souls’ Catholic 

Earlsdon 

Hearsall Academy 

Moseley 

St Osburg’s Catholic 

Spon Gate 

Longford 

Alderman’s Green 

Courthouse Green Academy 

Grangehurst 

Good Shepherd Catholic Academy 

Holbrook 

Little Heath 

Longford Park 

St Laurence’s CE Academy 

North East 

Henley Green 

Moat House 

Potters Green 

SEVA (Free) 

Whittle 

SS Peter & Paul Catholic 

Walsgrave 

St Patricks Catholic 

East 

Wyken Croft 

John Fisher Catholic  

Clifford Bridge 

Pearl Hyde 

Ravensdale 

Page 570



 

 

Page 45 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Richard Lee 

St Gregory's Catholic 

Binley 

Aldermoor Farm 

Ernesford Grange 

St Bartholomew's 

Sowe Valley 

Corpus Christi 

South East 

St Anne's Catholic 

Stretton CE 

Whitley Abbey 

Willenhall 

South 

Finham 

Grange Farm 

Howes 

Manor Park 

St Thomas More Catholic 

Stivichall 

Cannon Park 

Tile Hill 

Templars 

Our Lady of the Assumption Catholic 

Leigh 

Charter 

West 

Eastern Green Junior 

Limbrick Wood 

Mount Nod 

Park Hill 

St Andrew's Infant 

St John Vianney 

North West 

Allesley 

Allesley Hall 

St Christopher 

St John CE 

Whoberley Hall 

Coundon 

Christ the King 

Coundon 

Hollyfast 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Secondary Planning Areas 

 

Page 571



 

 

Page 46 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Secondary 

Planning Areas 
Schools 

Centre 

Barr's Hill 

Eden Girls 

Sydney Stringer 

North East 

Seva 

Grace Academy 

Cardinal Wiseman 

North West 

President Kennedy 

Cardinal Newman 

Coundon Court 

Page 572



 

 

Page 47 of 57 

 
 

 

 

South West 

Whitely Academy 

Ernesford Grange 

Blue Coat 

South East 

West Coventry Academy 

The Westwood Academy 

WMG Academy for Young Engineers (UTC Free School) 

Finham Park 2 (Free school)     

South 
Finham Park School  

Bishop Ullathorne Catholic School (Voluntary Aided) 

Foxford Foxford 

East 

Lyng Hall 

Stoke Park 

Caludon Castle 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Primary Forecasts 

Primary 
Planning 
Area Year 

Reception 
Forecasts PAN 

Available 
Capacity 

Total NOR 
Forecasts 

Overall 
Capacity 

Available 
Capacity 

North 

2019/20 308 315 2% 2173 2205 1% 

2020/21 336 315 -7% 2266 2205 -3% 

2021/22 300 315 5% 2307 2205 -5% 

2022/23 295 315 6% 2307 2205 -5% 

2023/24 288 315 8% 2122 2205 4% 

North 
Central 

2019/20 497 570 13% 3663 3930 7% 

2020/21 466 570 18% 3625 3960 8% 

2021/22 460 570 19% 3558 3990 11% 

2022/23 459 570 20% 3487 3990 13% 

2023/24 449 570 21% 3390 3990 15% 

East 
Central 

2019/20 482 555 13% 3553 3765 6% 

2020/21 481 555 13% 3546 3825 7% 

2021/22 448 555 19% 3507 3885 10% 

2022/23 436 555 21% 3407 3885 12% 

2023/24 443 555 20% 3324 3885 14% 

West 
Central 

2019/20 266 300 11% 1905 2040 7% 

2020/21 259 270 4% 1893 2010 6% 

2021/22 261 270 3% 1900 1980 4% 

2022/23 234 270 13% 1857 1950 5% 

2023/24 289 270 -7% 1872 1920 2% 

Longford 

2019/20 436 480 9% 3289 3480 5% 

2020/21 475 480 1% 3303 3450 4% 

2021/22 449 480 7% 3282 3420 4% 

Page 573



 

 

Page 48 of 57 

 
 

 

 

2022/23 458 480 5% 3273 3390 3% 

2023/24 441 480 8% 3212 3350 4% 

North East 

2019/20 321 395 19% 2466 2835 13% 

2020/21 338 395 14% 2477 2835 13% 

2021/22 327 395 17% 2463 2835 13% 

2022/23 310 395 22% 2431 2835 14% 

2023/24 297 395 25% 2370 2835 16% 

East 

2019/20 409 425 4% 2962 3045 3% 

2020/21 428 425 -1% 2996 3075 3% 

2021/22 398 425 6% 2964 3075 4% 

2022/23 405 425 5% 2933 3075 5% 

2023/24 385 425 9% 2867 3045 6% 

Binley 

2019/20 246 270 9% 1715 1830 6% 

2020/21 234 270 13% 1714 1875 9% 

2021/22 222 270 18% 1671 1860 10% 

2022/23 247 270 8% 1695 1890 10% 

2023/24 217 270 20% 1665 1890 12% 

South East 

2019/20 171 180 5% 1161 1230 6% 

2020/21 159 180 12% 1176 1260 7% 

2021/22 173 180 4% 1187 1260 6% 

2022/23 168 180 7% 1187 1260 6% 

2023/24 154 180 15% 1170 1260 7% 

South 

2019/20 357 405 12% 2696 2835 5% 

2020/21 394 405 3% 2702 2835 5% 

2021/22 383 405 5% 2677 2835 6% 

2022/23 365 405 10% 2642 2835 7% 

2023/24 329 405 19% 2580 2835 9% 

Tile Hill 

2019/20 174 195 11% 1233 1320 7% 

2020/21 187 195 4% 1266 1335 5% 

2021/22 171 195 12% 1293 1350 4% 

2022/23 151 195 22% 1264 1365 7% 

2023/24 156 195 20% 1245 1365 9% 

West 

2019/20 227 225 -1% 1483 1560 5% 

2020/21 237 225 -5% 1576 1575 0% 

2021/22 235 225 -5% 1641 1575 -4% 

2022/23 238 225 -6% 1661 1575 -5% 

2023/24 209 225 7% 1541 1575 2% 

North West 

2019/20 199 210 5% 1407 1470 4% 

2020/21 206 210 2% 1423 1470 3% 

2021/22 198 210 6% 1422 1470 3% 

2022/23 182 210 13% 1393 1470 5% 

2023/24 205 210 2% 1388 1470 6% 

Page 574



 

 

Page 49 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Coundon 

2019/20 238 240 1% 1542 1590 3% 

2020/21 219 240 9% 1587 1650 4% 

2021/22 212 240 12% 1570 1650 5% 

2022/23 226 240 6% 1567 1650 5% 

2023/24 219 240 9% 1549 1650 6% 

City Wide 

2019/20 4330 4765 9% 31249 33135 6% 

2020/21 4421 4735 7% 31549 33360 5% 

2021/22 4236 4735 11% 31441 33390 6% 

2022/23 4174 4735 12% 31103 33375 7% 

2023/24 4082 4735 14% 30294 33275 9% 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Secondary Forecasts 

 

Secondary 
Planning 
Area Year 

Year 7 
Forecast PAN 

Available 
Capacity 

Total NOR 
Forecasts 

Overall 
Capacity 

Available 
Capacity 

Central 

2019/20 575 491 -17% 2385 2315 -3% 

2020/21 570 491 -16% 2532 2365 -7% 

2021/22 580 510 -14% 2651 2414 -10% 

2022/23 598 510 -17% 2790 2463 -13% 

2023/24 606 510 -19% 2942 2512 -17% 

North West 

2019/20 860 895 4% 3976 4008 1% 

2020/21 852 925 8% 4087 4135 1% 

2021/22 918 895 -3% 4223 4255 1% 

2022/23 933 895 -4% 4377 4375 0% 

2023/24 928 895 -4% 4541 4475 -1% 

Foxford 

2019/20 182 185 2% 894 905 1% 

2020/21 179 180 1% 906 905 0% 

2021/22 183 180 -2% 912 905 -1% 

2022/23 183 180 -1% 911 905 -1% 

2023/24 182 180 -1% 914 905 -1% 

South 

2019/20 474 420 -13% 2134 2100 -2% 

2020/21 471 420 -12% 2216 2100 -6% 

2021/22 493 450 -10% 2291 2130 -8% 

2022/23 501 450 -11% 2371 3160 25% 

2023/24 495 450 -10% 2436 2190 -11% 

East 

2019/20 693 630 -10% 2962 2910 -2% 

2020/21 680 570 -19% 3103 2910 -7% 

2021/22 711 570 -25% 3252 2910 -12% 

2022/23 717 570 -26% 3385 2910 -16% 

2023/24 738 570 -29% 3558 2910 -22% 

Page 575



 

 

Page 50 of 57 

 
 

 

 

North East 

2019/20 332 550 40% 1876 2710 31% 

2020/21 323 550 41% 1872 2805 33% 

2021/22 334 545 39% 1855 2780 33% 

2022/23 330 545 39% 1788 2755 35% 

2023/24 341 545 37% 1671 2730 39% 

South East 

2019/20 634 625 -2% 2856 3055 7% 

2020/21 616 625 1% 2942 3070 4% 

2021/22 667 655 -2% 3049 3115 2% 

2022/23 653 655 0% 3174 3175 0% 

2023/24 669 655 -2% 3248 3215 -1% 

South West 

2019/20 474 529 10% 2181 2755 21% 

2020/21 482 529 9% 2188 2895 24% 

2021/22 515 639 19% 2319 3015 23% 

2022/23 552 519 -6% 2506 3015 17% 

2023/24 522 519 -1% 2641 3015 12% 

City Wide 

2019/20 4225 4325 2% 19264 20758 7% 

2020/21 4172 4290 3% 19846 21185 6% 

2021/22 4401 4444 1% 20551 21524 5% 

2022/23 4467 4324 -3% 21302 22758 6% 

2023/24 4482 4324 -4% 21951 21952 0% 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5 – Bus Route Information 

 

School Bus Routes 

Barr’s Hill All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

Caludon Castle 4 – Holbrooks, Ricoh arena, Foleshill, City centre, Stoke, Walsgrave 

 

8 & 8a – City centre, Stoke, Wyken, Walsgrave, Potters Green, Henley Green 

 

9/9A – Finham, Stivichall, City centre, Stoke, Wyken , Walsgrave 

 

Coundon Court 5- Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City centre, Coundon, Holbrooks, Little Heath 

 

Page 576



 

 

Page 51 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Eden All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

6/6a – Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City centre, courthouse green, little heath Bell 

green 

 

21 - Willenhall, Whitley, City centre, Courthouse green,  bell green 

 

Ernesford Grange 13 – Willenhall, Binley, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

Finham Park 9s/9/9a – Walsgrave, Wyken, stoke, City centre, Stivichall, Finham 

 

Foxford 6/6A – Tile Hill, Chapelfields, City centre, Courthouse Green, Little Heath, 

Aldermans Green 

 

20 – City centre, Foleshill, Little Heath. Longford, Ricoh arena, Exhall, 

Bedworth 

 

Lyng Hall 10/10a– Eastern Green, Chapelfields, City centre, Wyken, Bell Green 

 

60 – Canley, Whitley, Willenhall, Walsgrave, Wyken, Holbrooks 

 

President Kennedy 13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley, 

Holbrooks, City centre 

 

772 – Bedworth, Exhall, Longford, Holbrooks, Little heath 

 

Sidney Stringer All bus routes to Pool Meadow 

 

The Westwood 

Academy 

19- Westwood Business Park - Hearsall Common - Coventry City centre 

 

18 - Tile Hill - Canley - Hearsall Common - Coventry City centre 

 

18a  Tile Hill, Canley, Stivichall, City centre 

 

43 – Westwood, Canley, Tile Hill, Allesley 

 

Whitley Academy 7 – Brownshill Green, Allesley Village, City centre, Whitley 

 

21 - Willenhall, Whitley, City centre, Courthouse green,  bell green 

 

Page 577



 

 

Page 52 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Bluecoat 16 - Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

16s (school bus) Coundon, Radford City centre 

S4 

Bishop Ullathorne 9/9a – Walsgrave, Wyken, stoke, City centre, Stivichall, Finham 

 

18a – Tile Hill, Canley, Stivichall, City centre 

 

45 (school bus) 

Cardinal Newman 13/13a – Willenhall, Binley, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Keresley, 

Holbrooks 

 

16/16a – Binley, Stoke Aldermoor, City centre, Radford, Coundon, Kersley 

 

61s – Allesley, Coundon, Holbrooks, Ricoh arena 

 

Appendix 6 - Education Pupil Yield Methodology 

There are two main factors to the contributions requests, firstly the cost per pupil (Cost 

Multiplier) which is a Department for Education (DfE) stated amount for Coventry, and secondly 

the pupil yield anticipated from the development. Coventry City Council request contributions, 

where required, for Early Years (EY), Primary, Secondary, Sixth Form, and Primary, and Secondary 

SEN. These requests are in line with changes in Government policy including the funded two year 

olds EY policy, 30 Hrs as of September 2017, and the raising of the participation age to 18; as well 

as ensuring Coventry matches its neighbouring local authorities in terms of level of request. 

Coventry City Council Education do not ask for contributions for one bedroom dwellings as 

they are unlikely to generate either primary, secondary or sixth form pupils. For this reason 

Coventry calculate the pupil yield from dwellings which are designed for familial occupation, I.E. 2 

bed dwellings and above. Furthermore, a majority of the one bed dwellings within the city are 

occupied by and designated for use by students and so familial occupation would not occur. 

Education also request a contribution towards the recouping of officer time invested into 

responding to the planning application. This has been implemented following discussions with 

other West Midlands Local Authorities, who also request similar contributions. The majority of 

West Midlands Authorities which request such a contribution have set a 3% on the total request 

as their officer time figure. Coventry having examined the average amount of officer time spent 

on requests, that a fairer figure would be 2%. Therefore, Education will request a contribution of 

2% in additional to the Education contribution for increasing pupil places.  

 

Cost Multiplier 

Page 578



 

 

Page 53 of 57 

 
 

 

 

There is no nationwide funding formula for Early Years provision, however there is guidance 

based on the amount of floor space that an Early Years child will need, based on age of the child. 

Providers must meet the following indoor space requirements:  

• Children under two years: 3.5 m2 per child 

• Two year olds: 2.5 m2 per child 

• Children aged three to five years: 2.3 m2 per child 

The variation in EY provision, between AM and PM sessions, and the high turnover of providers 

mean that this can often be a variable that changes on a monthly basis. For this reason the same 

cost multiplier as primary aged pupils is used.  

The Department for Education (DfE) provide an annual update to this figure and for 

2017/18 this figure is £12,722. The Secondary calculation has been updated by the DfE to a figure 

of £16,539. These new figures have been confirmed by the DfE and are expected to rise in the 

future in line with inflation. Therefore, the cost per pupil multiplier will be updated as and when 

the DfE provide the new allocation allowance for Coventry. 

The DfE do not provide costs per pupil place for Sixth form pupils. Therefore the 

methodology for this, takes the Secondary calculation and adds the additional floor space required 

for a sixth form pupil. The additional floor space required for a sixth form pupil over a secondary 

age pupil is a recognised DfE statistic. The basis behind these floor space calculations is the extra 

equipment and supervision that sixth form pupils require over secondary age pupils. The DfE state 

the additional floor space required be larger than that for Secondary, working this out as a 

percentage sixth form pupils require 14.6% more space than Secondary. Therefore, 14.6% has 

been added to the cost multiplier for Secondary to give a total for a single sixth form of £18,953.  

For SEN, as there is no DfE multiplier, Coventry use the benchmarking mechanism 

undertaken by the DfE in 2019, which recommends that ‘Special schools require more space per pupil 

than mainstream schools, and this should be reflected in the assumed costs of provision. We recommend 

that developer contributions for special or alternative school places are set at four times the cost of 

mainstream places, consistent with the space standards in Building Bulletin 104. You can also refer to the 

National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking report for the costs of delivering SEN school places.’ The DfE 

recommend for a cost of £65,739 average cost per pupil place for SEN, Coventry’s cost per pupil multiplier 

has been updated to match this figure. 

 

Pupil Yield Changes 

Early Years 

The take up rate for Coventry for the 30hrs was circa 50% and the take-up rate for funded 

two years old is circa 32%. These two programmes have effectively doubled the amount of Early 

Years care required. The impact of the new universal credit benefit system, and the lowering of 

the benefit cap, will also increase the eligibility of funded two year old places and therefore the 

amount of places required will increase. Coventry City Council are currently working to calculate 

Page 579



 

 

Page 54 of 57 

 
 

 

 

the effect of this. Therefore, the contribution request is calculated from asking for two years’ 

worth 15 Hrs or 0.8 of a FT year group with the take up rate of funded two years and 30 Hrs being 

added into this. This will be co-ordinated each year with Early Years colleagues as the take up rate 

for both Government schemes is expected to rise. 

 

Primary and Secondary 

Coventry City Council has seen a primary age population explosion in recent years with the 

current reception cohort being 24% higher than the current Year 11. This has been as a result of 

larger birth cohorts which have impacted upon available school places. These larger birth cohorts 

are coming from existing housing stock as well as new homes being put into the city. There has 

been relatively little new housing in Coventry over this period, but the city as a whole has become 

more attractive for people to raise families in, resulting in a younger population within the city. 

This trend is expected to continue in the new housing that is being put into the city. In essence 

more people within Coventry are having more children. The formula for this is by examining the 

total number of eligible homes within Coventry and the current Number on Roll in Schools, split 

between Primary and Secondary. This gives the pupil yield for how many school age children the 

current housing stock within Coventry provide. The pupil yield from a single eligible dwelling for 

primary is 0.39 and for secondary 0.22 pupils per eligible household. 

 

Sixth Form  

The formula for this is calculated from the proportion of children staying on in sixth form 

and also staying in education between Years 12 and 13. However it is still an inconsistent indicator, 

therefore the percentage applied to the children staying on rate will be based on the stay on rate 

of children the September before the application was received. For the most recent year, the drop 

off between year 12 and year 13 was 8.9% of the cohort, therefore to incorporate this into the 

pupil yield only 1.9 year groups are requested. This has resulted in a drop in the sixth form 

contribution asked for.  

 

Primary SEN 

To calculate the primary SEN contribution Coventry City Council use the School census 

published three times annually. This lists the student details for the current mainstream and BSSS 

cohort and the amount of children within this cohort an EHC plan or SEN statement. By 

understanding the total number of EHC plans and SEN statements within the current primary 

cohort, it is possible to calculate the current % of the cohort which require additional needs arising 

from new housing. By dividing the figures of total cohort by number of EHC’s a total of 1.67% is 

received. This factor will be applied to the pupil yield calculation for primary. This figure will be 

updated annually as the number of EHC plans is rising in excess of proportionality of the general 

increase in population.  

Page 580



 

 

Page 55 of 57 

 
 

 

 

 

Secondary SEN 

The Secondary SEN pupil yield is calculated using the same method of calculating the 

current number of secondary age pupils with an EHC plan or Statement and dividing by the total 

amount of children in Secondary education. The current amount of EHC plans within Secondary 

school is 3.3%. This figure will be updated annually as the number of EHC plans is rising in excess 

of proportionality of the general increase in population. 

 

Appendix 7 – Forecasting Methodology and Planning Considerations 

Introduction 

 

Local authorities use different methods to forecast pupil numbers and take different factors into 

account, the forecast of pupil numbers are submitted to the ESFA annually and a basic need 

allocation is granted based off the information provided. 

The methodology explains the process by which the pupil forecasts are made, the following 

process is followed. 

 

Reception 

 

To calculate the Reception intake for each forecast year, birth data is gathered annually from the 

NHS Trust that covers Coventry. This is then aggregated annually with the most recent GP data, 

and broken down into each individual school’s catchment area, using GIS software. This provides 

basic, raw, forecasts for the following 4 years. For forecasts beyond this point a three-year 

weighted average for each catchment area is used, to plot the trends and determine long term 

sufficiency planning.  

 

To calculate how this cohort is reflected onto a school level, the variable of parental choice is 

applied. This is calculated by the percentage of each catchment area attending all schools in the 

city. As an example, if there are 100 children born in catchment area and 50% attend that school 

then the school will be forecast to have 50 pupils, if in the same catchment area 25% attend the 

next closest school then that school will be forecast to have 25 pupils. This process is then 

undertaken for every catchment area in the city. Where any school has an excess above its PAN, 

unless it is agreed that the school can take above PAN, then that excess will be redistributed to 

other schools within the planning area.16 The redistribution is added, in liaising with admissions, 

by filling the most ‘popular’ school in planning area and then moving onto the second ‘most 

popular’. 

 

                                                 
16 This One Strategic Plan contains maps of the planning areas and which schools lie within them.  

Page 581



 

 

Page 56 of 57 

 
 

 

 

Any other mitigating factors, such as Out of City (OOC) children entering the school are then added 

for the September intake. Individual rates of increase are applied to schools as this is more of a 

factor for schools near the city boundaries or schools which have more cross border accessible 

admission arrangements. Those rates are based on recent trends of OOC in the school. These are 

manually added after the Coventry applications are factored in to account for the effective 

pushback of some of these children. 

 

This provides a September intake figure for every mainstream school. 

 

In-Year  

 

Once the September intake is calculated In-Year variations are applied, there are two forms of In-

Year. In-Year calculations are currently based from migration rates and the impact of additional 

housing across the City. The Coventry City Council Admissions Service monitor In-Year movements 

both into the city and within the city. Data is indicating significant movements between schools 

with no house move and in some areas such as Radford and Foleshill significant movement into 

the city. All these factors need to be taken into account when planning in particular areas. 

 

• Migration is added for each school year group in each school based off historic 

transience and movement – this is often internal migration.  

• The City Council maintains a database of housing developments with their likely pupil 

yields, which are calculated using formulae that are based off city wide pupil yields. In 

some cases, assumptions are made as to the rate the houses will be built and occupied 

unless the application is reproduced in either the Local Plan or the Annual Housing 

Monitor.  

 

Secondary 

 

The same formula, for primary, is placed in effect for Secondary. The Year 6 cohort is calculated 

based on census information on the existing school cohort and rolled forward 1 year factoring in 

the transfer round loss of pupils, c.5% of total cohort size, as children choose to attend other LA 

schools and private education, this figure is dependent yearly upon the amount of places available 

in other LA schools. Through partnership working with other local authorities, the competition for 

space in other LA schools can be factored in as to how many spaces might be available for Coventry 

pupils. 

 

Sixth Form 

 

Page 582



 

 

Page 57 of 57 

 
 

 

 

For Sixth form the school’s intake figures for Year 12 + 13 are generated from actual school values 

by using the previous year’s transfer of Year 11 to Post-16 is then placed within the context of the 

projected Year 11 cohort for the forecast years. This transfer round takes into account the pupils 

transferring to other phases of education, such as apprenticeship, or FE colleges, which the LA do 

not forecast for. Therefore, only the pupils anticipated to enter a School sixth form are included in 

the forecasts. 

 

Additional Detail  

 

It should be stressed that the projections are only indicative. For instance, where the projection 

for the city is in excess of total amount of places available and an individual school forecast exceeds 

the capacity of that school, therefore no redistribution can occur as there are insufficient city wide 

school places, the projections do not imply that the school will be required to admit the additional 

pupils. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 583



This page is intentionally left blank




 
 
 

Public report 
Cabinet Report  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet  12th October 2021 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills – Councillor Dr K Sandhu 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Education and Skills 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Academies Act 2010 – Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease following the proposed 
academy conversion in respect of Woodfield School site and the grant of a 125-year Long Lease 
in respect of Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) 
   
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes – the academisation of Woodfield School will affect all wards of the city   
 

Executive Summary: 
 
Although delegated authority was granted to the Cabinet Member for Education and Skills in 
respect of academy conversion sign-off, Council officers consider that a formal Cabinet report is 
appropriate for the academy conversion of Woodfield Primary and Secondary School (“Woodfield 
School”). Given the unique nature of this conversion – in respect of the requirement for multiple 
leases – additional Cabinet approval is sought. There is also a significant cost implication to the 
Council in relation to the planned works at the existing Woodfield School sites and the 
Woodlands School site – as outlined in the Woodlands Cabinet report October 2021 – which aim 
to continue and improve SEND education provision and opportunities within the city. Therefore, a 
formal Cabinet report is considered necessary in order to provide transparency given the context 
and complexities behind this conversion. 
 
Following an Ofsted inspection at Woodfield School in March 2020, which resulted in a grading of 
‘Inadequate’, Woodfield School is required to academise. The Governing Body of Woodfield 
School has made a successful application to the Secretary of State for an Academy Order under 
the Academies Act 2010 (“the 2010 Act”). Following the West Midlands Headteacher Board in 
October 2020, it was agreed that Woodfield School will join the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy 
Trust (“Sidney Stringer MAT”) as a convertor academy and thereafter will cease to be maintained 
by the Local Authority. 
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to provide appropriate education provision for children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). The Council aims to deliver 
support for children and young people with SEND in the maintained sector where possible, and 
within their community, to enable them to enjoy the same range of experiences and opportunities 
as children with no additional needs. Following the conversion to an Academy, Sidney Stringer 
MAT will provide the appropriate education provision for children and young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities from Woodfield School.  
 Page 585

Agenda Item 11



 

 2 

It is proposed that Sidney Stringer MAT will use and occupy Woodfield School for the delivery of 
the aforementioned educational provisions under a  5-year lease and, upon the practical 
completion of agreed works being carried out by the Council to the adjoining Woodlands School, 
Sidney Stringer MAT will decant from Woodfield School to Woodlands School. At the point of 
practical completion of the agreed works at Woodlands School and relocation of Woodfield School 
to this site – even if this is prior to the expiry of the 5-year term of the Woodfield School temporary 
leases – it is agreed that Sidney Stringer MAT will surrender the 5-year lease of Woodfield School 
and complete a 125-year lease of the agreed land and buildings at Woodlands School in 
accordance with Section 1 of the Academies Act 2010. 
 
This will enable officers to subsequently market and dispose of Woodfield School together with 
surplus playing field land at Woodlands School for housing development thereby securing a capital 
receipt for the Council. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Note Woodfield School’s intent to convert to an academy by joining the Sidney Stringer MAT.  

 
2) Authorise the Director of Law and Governance to agree and complete the suite of legal 

documentation to  facilitate the short-term 5-year lease in respect of Woodfield School, the 
grant of the 125-year long lease in respect of  Woodlands School, the separate lease or leases 
in respect of the Site Services Officer (SSO) accommodation and any necessary Commercial 
Transfer Agreement (CTA). 

 
3) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills, following consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Education and Skills, to agree where necessary any amendments to the 
legal agreements arising from further consideration by both the Council and Sidney Stringer 
MAT. 

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 – Woodfield School Stoneleigh Road site lease plan 
Appendix 2 – Woodfield School Hawthorn Lane site lease plan 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 

 
Other useful documents: 
 
Cabinet Report 30th October 2021 – SEND proposal for the use of the Woodlands site 
  
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
 
No 
  
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No  
 
 

Page 586



 

 3 

Report Title: Academies Act 2010 – Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease following the 
proposed academy conversion in respect of Woodfield School site and the grant of a 125-year 
Long Lease in respect of Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust 
(MAT) 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 

1.1.Sidney Stringer MAT is an academy trust in Coventry, currently formed of two primary 
schools (Radford Primary Academy and Sidney Stringer Primary), two secondary schools 
(Ernesford Grange Community Academy and Sidney Stringer Academy) and one special 
school (Riverbank Academy). The Sidney Stringer MAT formed in 2010. 
 

1.2.The Governing Body of Woodfield School has made a successful application to the 
Secretary of State for an Academy Order under the Academies Act 2010 (“the 2010 Act”). 
Sidney Stringer MAT was approved as academy sponsor at the West Midlands 
Headteacher Board in October 2020; when Woodfield School joins Sidney Stringer MAT as 
a convertor academy, they will not thereafter be maintained by the Local Authority. 
 

1.3.On 30th October 2018, Coventry City Council (CCC) Cabinet approved in principle the 
refurbishment of the existing Woodlands School site to provide a new home for Woodfield 
School (primary and secondary) and the subsequent relocation of Woodfield School to the 
Woodlands site. A further report is due to be considered by Cabinet on 12th October 2021 
to agree funding in order to enable the Council to progress this project. 
 

1.4.It is proposed that Sidney Stringer MAT will use and occupy Woodfield School for the 
delivery of the aforementioned educational provisions under a 5-year lease pending the 
practical completion of agreed works being carried out by the council to the adjoining 
Woodlands School. Once complete, Sidney Stringer MAT will decant from Woodfield School 
to Woodlands School surrendering the 5-year lease and completing a new 125-year lease 
in respect of Woodlands School in accordance with Schedule 1 of the Academies Act 2010. 
 

1.5.Officers within the Council, the Department for Education, Woodfield School and Sidney 
Stringer MAT are working towards a target conversion date of 1st April 2022, subject to 
leases being agreed and all other agreements being in place. The legal and other 
considerations factored into the leases are detailed in the below sections of this report. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

 
2.1. Following an Ofsted inspection at Woodfield School in March 2020, which resulted in a 

grading of ‘Inadequate’, Sidney Stringer MAT expressed an interest in sponsoring 
Woodfield School, which the Council supports. The academisation was discussed at the 
West Midlands Headteacher Board on 22nd October 2020, where it was agreed that Sidney 
Stringer MAT would become the academy sponsor.  
 

3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 

3.1. Sidney Stringer MAT will become the employer of the school’s staff. Sidney Stringer MAT 
has not yet commenced the TUPE consultation but are in the process of discussing with 
solicitors and agreeing a timeline for the consultation activities. 
  

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 

4.1.The timescale is set out in the following table: 

Activity Approximate Timing Action 

Approval of academy sponsor (Sidney 
Stringer MAT) for Woodfield School at 
the West Midlands Headteacher Board 

October 2020 Completed 

Page 587



 

 4 

 
4.2.Following the agreement of this report, officers will immediately seek to finalise and 

complete the required lease(s) in liaison with the academy trust’s solicitor to enable the 
school to convert. The target conversion date for the school is 1st April 2022, subject to 
leases being agreed.   

 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 

5.1.Financial implications 
 
5.1.1. Academies receive their funding directly from the Education Funding Agency, which 

includes a share of the central funding currently received by Local Authorities for 
maintained schools. Before conversion, a commercial transfer agreement should be 
in place, which is designed to ensure that a number of agreements are in place 
including details of any assets or contracts that will transfer to the academy trust and 
of those that will not.   
 

5.1.2. As Woodfield School is converted as a sponsored academy, this means that, at the 
point of conversion, if the school has a deficit financial balance, this will remain with 
the Council. If a school has a surplus financial balance, then this transfers to the 
academy trust. 

 
5.1.3. The Council is involved in calculating the financial balance and paying to the 

academy any surplus within 4 months. To mitigate against the risk of a school having 
a deficit balance at the point of conversion, CCC Finance colleagues work closely 
with the school to ensure appropriate financial monitoring of budget and expenditure 
continues, and to forecast as accurately as possible the balance at the point of 
conversion. During this process, should the Council have concerns about the 
financial management being operated within the school prior to conversion, then 
these can be formally raised with the Governing Body in line with sanctions set out 
in the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation. Ultimately, the Local Authority can 
suspend a maintained school’s right to a delegated budget but would only want to 
pursue this in extreme cases. In the event that the Local Authority makes an 
underpayment or overpayment in relation to any historic liabilities (including, without 
limitation, any payments relating to the School's accounts), the CTA states that the 
Local Authority and the Company agree to repay any such sums to the other (as 
appropriate). 

 
5.1.4. For sponsored academy conversions, the Council usually has a responsibility to 

ensure that any health and safety issues in the predecessor schools are addressed 
ahead of transfer. Following a condition survey of the Hawthorn Lane (Woodfield 
Secondary) site, a number of issues were identified and required urgent attention. 
To address these issues, the Council supported the school by providing capital funds 
of circa £68,000 to carry out agreed works; this enabled the school to ensure the 
health and safety of pupils, staff and users of the school site until occupation of the 
new buildings at  Woodlands School.  

 
 

Kickstart meeting between the Council, 
Woodfield School, Sidney Stringer MAT 
and Browne Jacobson (acting on behalf 

of Sidney Stringer MAT) 

February 2021 Completed 

Ongoing communication and meetings between the Council, Woodfield School,  
Sidney Stringer MAT and the DfE 

Report to CCC Cabinet for support of the 
academisation of Woodfield School 

12th October 2021 Proposed 

Target conversion date to academy 
status 

1st April 2022 Proposed 

Page 588



 

 5 

5.2.Legal implications 
 
5.2.1. In consideration that the school sites or part of the sites have been used as school 

playing fields by a maintained school within the last 10 years, the Council is required 
to obtain the consent from the Secretary of State prior to any disposal of the land 
and buildings  at either Woodfield  School or Woodlands School under Section 22 
and Section 77(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 
 
To regularise the temporary use and occupation of Woodfield School, the Council 
will grant to Sidney Stringer MAT a 5-year lease excluded from the security of tenure 
provisions afforded under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 Part II. 
 
In accordance with Schedule 1 of the 2010 Act, the Council shall grant to Sidney 
Stringer MAT a 125-year lease at a peppercorn rental of the land and buildings at 
Woodlands School. Guidance on land transfer from the DfE suggests that, if land is 
held by a Local Authority, a long leasehold interest should be granted rather than a 
transfer of the freehold. 
 
Sidney Stringer MAT will be under an Agreement to surrender the 5-year lease in 
respect of Woodfield School upon the practical completion of the Council’s works 
being carried out to Woodlands School, which will then yield up vacant possession 
of Woodfield School ready for disposal. 
 
Officers within Legal Services will prepare and complete the necessary agreements 
and leases to deal with the temporary occupation of Woodfield School and the 125-
year lease of Woodlands School. The form of leases will be based upon the "model 
long term lease" produced by the DfE. 
 
Officers within the Legal Services will prepare and complete any necessary CTA. 

 
5.2.2. In respect of the 5-year lease of the Stoneleigh Road site (Woodfield Primary 

School), there is a Site Service Officer (SSO) property on the site and this will form 
part of the lease.  

 
5.2.3. There are two SSO properties on the Woodlands School site; the Council has drafted 

a separate long lease for these properties following the DfE model lease. The lease 
includes a provision that, in the event Sidney Stringer MAT no longer require use of 
the properties, they are able to serve notice on the Council and officers can consider 
whether to exercise an option which would mean the properties revert back to the 
Council free from the leasehold interest.  

 
6. Other implications 
  

6.1.How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan? 
 
Following an Ofsted inspection at Woodfield School in March 2020, which resulted in a 
grading of ‘Inadequate’, Sidney Stringer MAT expressed an interest in sponsoring 
Woodfield School, which the Council supports. The academisation was discussed at the 
West Midlands Headteacher Board on 22nd October 2020, where it was agreed that Sidney 
Stringer MAT (an Outstanding academy trust) would become the academy sponsor.  
 
To date, good relationships have been maintained with both the school and academy trust. 
As part of the Coventry Education Partnership, there is a commitment on the academy 
trust’s part to continue to work with the Council and other schools. This will require both 
existing and future academy schools to use some of their funding to support partnership 
working.  

  
 

Page 589



 

 6 

6.2.How is risk being managed?  
 
An academy school is no longer maintained by the Local Authority and the land and 
buildings transfer to the academy trust, so health and safety will no longer be the Local 
Authority's responsibility. It will be the same for business continuity. If there were significant 
Health and Safety or Business Continuity issues in an academy school, this could result in 
numbers of children and young people not being in school. This needs to be discussed and 
agreed with academy trusts and Headteachers as we consider with them the protocols for 
working with academies. All schools in Coventry are part of a Partnership with the Local 
Authority (the Coventry Education Partnership). This means the Local Authority and all 
schools will work together to minimise risks, including those outlined above. 

 
6.3.What is the impact on the organisation? 

 
Academies are independent bodies from the Council. As such, they will have freedom to 
decide where they obtain services and support from. Where academies decide to procure 
services elsewhere than the Council then this may impact on the services involved. For 
many Council services this means no change as under Fair Funding legislation and Budget 
Delegation requirements, schools have held such budgets and service delivery decision-
making powers for several years. However, where services have been provided as part of 
a corporate statutory service then academies will need to purchase such services from the 
Council or seek an alternative provider. When bidding for academy business, all Local 
Authority services will have to base bids on commercial rates that achieve full recovery of 
Authority costs. Revised formal arrangements in respect of service charging for community 
and academies were introduced from April 2013. 
 
The Council will look to deal with both the site service officer accommodation and identified 
sports facilities within the Woodlands School Site to a) preserve a potential capital receipt 
for the Council in the event that the site service officer accommodation became surplus to 
Sidney Stringer MAT’s requirements and b) ensure that the community use of the sport 
facilities continues to be facilitated and delivered  

 
6.4.Equalities / EIA  

 
There are no specific EIA issues directly related to the land transfer. The agreement of a 
lease for the land and buildings to each academy will not in itself have any adverse effect 
on the community access or enjoyment of each of the sites compared to that currently 
available from the school. Parts of the current school buildings and certain site locations 
may have access restrictions or limits for those with a disability (e.g. wheelchair users, 
blind/partially sighted) or movement restriction (e.g. elderly) due to the age and design of 
the site; however, these issues will not worsen with the agreement of the lease. 
Responsibility for monitoring and addressing access issues on the site will transfer from the 
Council to the academy with the school’s conversion to academy status and it will be for the 
academy to prioritise improvement works in the usual way.  
 
The categorisation of social emotional and mental health difficulties (SEMH), is included as 
a SEN under part 3 of The Education Act, 2014. Some, but not all pupils experiencing 
SEMH, will also have an underlying learning disability, for example an autism spectrum 
condition. Currently the separate phase distribution of Woodfield Special School’s primary 
and secondary sites presents significant access barriers to an appropriate curriculum and 
learning environment. This is specifically relevant to girls who can access the primary offer 
but under current arrangements are displaced at secondary transfer, requiring transition 
into independent school provision outside of the City. Both disability and gender are 
protected characteristics under The Equality Act 2010. The proposed refurbishment of the 
Woodlands School site, which will be occupied by Sidney Stringer MAT upon practical 
completion of agreed works, is designed to address these inequalities by extending 
opportunities and outcomes. 

   

Page 590



 

 7 

6.5.Implications for partner organisations? 
 
None that have not already been addressed.  
 
Some areas of the Woodlands School site that will become part of the 125-year academy 
lease are currently used by community groups.  The Council will look to ensure that this 
provision is maintained and availability to community users is not impacted by the grant of 
the lease. Sidney Stringer MAT will manage the contracts directly with the sporting 
organisations.  
 

6.6.Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
None that have not already been addressed.  
 
Coventry's schools currently account for 28% of the City's carbon footprint and the 
Woodlands relocation project will support the reduction of that level through 
replacing/refurbishing old school buildings with modern, energy efficient facilities. The 
Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme as amended is a 
mandatory carbon emissions tax covering non-energy intensive users in both public and 
private sectors and is a central part of the UK’s strategy to deliver the emission reduction 
targets set in the Climate Change Act 2008. Emissions from schools (including PFI Schools) 
are to be included in the total reported carbon emissions for their participating Local 
Authority. The building works would also be designed to mitigate the effects of climate 
change fluctuations and to help reduce surface water run off as a result of flash or extreme 
weather events, reducing any negative effects on the local community and environmental 
infrastructure. All the proposed changes and the environmental impacts of the proposed 
scheme will be considered as part of the planning process and will comply with all relevant 
environmental legislation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 591



 

 8 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title:   
Kirston Nelson, Director of Education and Skills 
Rachael Sugars, Head of Service – Education Improvement & Standards 
 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 024 7697 7278 
Email: rachael.sugars@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/ 
approver name 

Title Service 

Date 
document 
sent 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services Officer 
Law and 
Governance 

15.09.21 15.09.21 

Paul Beesley 

Team Leader, Property 
Development, Project 
Management and Property 
Services 

Property 
Services and 
Development 

15.09.21 15.09.21 

Julie Sprayson Property Lawyer, Legal Services 
Law and 
Governance 

15.09.21 16.09.21 

Christopher Whiteley Finance Manager 
Financial 
Management 

17.09.21 17.09.21 

Jeannette Essex 
Head of Service, SEND and 
Specialist Services 

Education and 
Skills 

16.09.21 17.09.21 

Chloe Webb 
Education Capital Strategy 
Manager  

Education and 
Skills 

15.09.21 15.09.21 

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(Officers and 
Members) 

  

  

Rachael Sugars 
Head of Service, Education 
Improvement and Standards 

Education and 
Skills 

16.09.21 17.09.21 

Julie Newman Director of Law and Governance - 16.09.21 21.09.21 

Barry Hastie Director of Finance - 17.09.21 21.09.21 

Richard Moon 
Director of Property Services and 
Development 

- 
20.09.21 20.09.21 

Kirston Nelson Director of Education and Skills - 16.09.21 20.09.21 

Councillor Dr K 
Sandhu 

Cabinet Member for Education 
and Skills 

- 
20.09.21 20.09.21 

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief Executive - 20.09.21 21.09.21 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 
 

Page 592

mailto:rachael.sugars@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Pond

4

1
0

9

7

ESS

L
E
IG
H
T
O
N
 C
LO
S
E

2

W
oo
dfi
eld
 S
ch
oo
l

1

1c

97.4m

S
TO
N
E
LE
IG
H
 R
O
A
D

3

© Crown Copyright and database right 2021.  Ordnance Survey 100026294

PLACE DIRECTORATE
PO BOX 15
COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL
CV1 5RR
02476 961952

Scale   1:1250                             Drawn by RG                        Date 20/07/2021
O.S. Ref. No:                               LPR-

Woodfield School Site - Stoneleigh Road

Appendix 1

Page 593



This page is intentionally left blank



5

1

2

1
2

22

Kelso Ho

Tor

DUNHILL AVENUE

7
0

6
4

75

H
A
W
T
H
O
R
N
 L
A
N
E

Posts

124.4m

73

81

7
4

7
0

7
2

6
8

11

DYSON STREET

78

Track

4
8

Pond

3
8

5
6

123.4m

125.0m

The

Bungalow

7
6

29

Woodfield School

1 to 2
3

25 to 
47

49 to 
71

© Crown Copyright and database right 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100026294

PLACE DIRECTORATE
PO BOX 15
COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL
CV1 5RR
02476 961952

Scale           1:1250                     Drawn by RG                        Date 13/07/2021
O.S. Ref. No:                               LPR-

Woodfield School Site - Hawthorn Lane

Appendix 2

P
age 595



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 597

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 609

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 781

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 783

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 787

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 789

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Coventry City Council's Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23 (Youth Justice Plan)
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	The Cabinet is requested to:
	1)    Recommend that Council endorse the Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021/2023.
	Council is requested to:
	1)   Endorse the Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021/2023.
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	Yes - 18th October 2021
	Coventry City Council’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23 (Youth Justice Plan) - Appendix 1 - Strategy and Plan
	Untitled
	Untitled

	Coventry City Council's Youth Justice Strategy and Plan (Youth Justice Plan) - 2021-23 - Appendix 2 - EIA

	6 Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account)
	Executive Summary:
	The Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (also referred to as the Local Account) describes the performance of Adult Social Care and the progress made against the priorities for the year.  It also provides specific examp...
	Although there is not a statutory requirement to produce an annual report, it is considered good practice as it provides an opportunity to be open and transparent about the successes and challenges facing Adult Social Care and to show what is being do...
	The production of the 2020/21 report has drawn on the pool of feedback and information that was gathered over the year from a range of sources including social care staff, Adult Social Care Stakeholder Reference Group, providers, partner organisations...
	The Local Account also looks forward to 2021/22 and includes summary details regarding key areas for improvement. These are improvements the service intends to look at to achieve better service delivery, improve outcomes for people and supporting our ...
	Recommendations:
	Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) is asked to:
	1) Consider the report and submit any comments to Cabinet for their consideration on the content of the report.
	Cabinet is asked to:
	1) Consider comments from the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5).
	2) Approve the Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account).
	List of Appendices included:
	Appendix One - Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account)
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents:
	None
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	Yes – Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) on 29 September 2021
	Will this report go to Council?
	Andrew Errington
	Adults Principal Social Worker
	Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) - Appendix 1 - Annual Report
	Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2020/21 (Local Account) - Briefing Note from Scrutiny Board 5

	7 Coventry Transport Strategy
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No – However, a Briefing Note and Presentation on the Coventry Transport Strategy were considered by the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) at their meeting on 8 September 2021.
	No – However, a presentation on the draft strategy was considered by the Disability Equality Action Partnership at their meeting on 12 August 2021
	Will this report go to Council?
	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 1 - Draft Coventry Transport Strategy
	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 2 - Draft Implementation Plan
	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 3 - TfWM LTP Green Paper
	Reimagining transport in the West Midlands:  a conversation about€change
	Foreword
	Section 1: Introduction
	A new Local Transport Plan
	The purpose of this green paper 

	Section 2: The state of transport in€the West Midlands
	How transport has changed
	Where we are heading
	The consequences of the COVID-19€pandemic

	Section 3: Our Motives for Change
	Motive 1: Sustaining economic success
	Motive 2: Creating a fairer society
	Motive 3: Supporting local communities and places
	Motive 4: Becoming more active
	Motive 5: Tackling the climate€emergency

	Section 4: Reimagining transport in the West€Midlands
	Rethinking the role of mobility in€accessibility
	A framework for change
	Change in different places

	Section 5: Developing the Local€Transport Plan 
	Our partners
	A new framework for transport policy
	Working with the public, private organisations€and€public€authorities



	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 4 - Draft WMCA CRSTS Prospectus
	1 Foreword from Mayor and Transport Portfolio Lead
	2 Introduction
	3 Strategic case for a new investment approach via CRSTS
	3.1 The West Midlands economic context
	3.2 The West Midlands transport context
	3.3 Our investment themes
	3.4 Our objectives for the CRSTS investment programme
	3.5 Alignment with local policies and strategies
	3.6 Alignment with national policies and strategies

	4 How we have identified and prioritised schemes for CRSTS
	5 Our proposed investment programme 2022-27
	6 The benefits of our programme
	7 How the programme will be funded
	7.1 Programme Funding
	7.2 Our fiscal sustainability plan
	7.3 Alignment with other funding programmes

	8 How we will deliver at pace and scale

	Coventry Transport Strategy - Appendix 5 - Let's Talk Survey Results
	1 Background and methodology
	1.1 Coventry City Council are in the process of developing a new Transport Strategy. To inform this work, an initial survey of residents has been carried out via the Council’s online consultation platform, Let’s Talk. This document provides a summary ...
	1.2 The Let’s Talk survey was carried out between 3 February and 7 March 2021.
	1.3 Survey questions were mostly open and were intended to capture residents’ views on the city’s current transport network and on their aspirations for the future. This is in advance of a more detailed public consultation being carried out on a draft...
	1.4 In total 262 people completed the survey. The vast majority of these (256) were responding as individuals, with only a very small number of responses (6) coming from organisations.

	2 Executive summary
	2.1 This section provides a brief summary of the main headlines from the Let’s Talk survey. A more detailed analysis of the results is provided in section 3.
	2.2 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system works well, residents most commonly mentioned:
	 the city’s comprehensive bus network. While many respondents also suggested that some services could be more frequent, more reliable or more affordable, most comments in response to this question were still broadly favourable
	 recent/planned improvements to cycle infrastructure. Many respondents were keen to see more of this in the future
	 the city’s good rail connections, particularly the frequent services to London and Birmingham
	 the ease with which motorists can move from one part of the city to another, facilitated by the Ring Road
	 the pedestrianisation of much of the city centre, particularly the areas around Coventry Railway Station and Coventry University.

	2.3 When asked what about Coventry’s existing transport system requires improvement, residents most commonly mentioned:
	 the lack of safe space for cyclists
	 congestion on the road network
	 a lack of safe, attractive or suitable spaces for pedestrians, outside of the city centre
	 infrequent or unreliable bus services
	 gaps in the bus network or a lack of direct bus services between particular places
	 a lack of car parking or the cost of car parking
	 issues with junction design at particular locations, most commonly the on/off slip roads on the Ring Road.

	2.4 When residents were asked to name a town or city with a good transport system, the most popular choice was London because of its comprehensive and affordable public transport network and its good facilities for cyclists.
	2.5 Other popular choices included Amsterdam (and various other cities in the Netherlands) Birmingham, Manchester, Nottingham and Copenhagen. The reasons given for choosing these cities were generally similar – a good public transport network (includi...
	2.6 Residents’ top priorities for the Transport Strategy are making walking and cycling easier, reducing air pollution, improving public transport and tackling climate change.
	2.7 Residents’ most common suggestions when asked to name something which should definitely be in the Transport Strategy were more cycleways, or other measures to make cycling safer, and the creation of a Very Light Rail/tram/metro/underground system.

	3 Full analysis of survey results
	3.1 A fuller summary of residents’ responses to each survey question is set out below. This is not an exhaustive list of all responses but is intended to highlight the recurring themes that emerged from the responses to each question.
	3.2 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think currently works well? Think about all forms of transport. What should we keep doing/do more of?
	3.3 Public transport
	There were a high number of responses to this question relating to public transport.
	In particular, there were lots of comments (53) about the frequency, reliability and coverage of the city’s bus network. Most of these were broadly positive, although some also suggested that some services could still be made more frequent, more relia...
	“Buses seem to be able to get in and out (of the city centre) reasonably well and cover most areas”
	“Bus services, with some exceptions, have good frequency and accessibility to (the) city centre but less so to hospital and employment destinations”
	“Bus services are generally good, but need a more regular service outside peak times”
	“The bus network, whilst the coverage is good, doesn’t always perform reliably”
	“The busses are very expensive, but the routes seem to work well”
	There were also a number of positive comments (12) about the new electric buses, which are now operating on some routes.
	“Bus routes are generally good. The fact that they are electric busses is very good”
	In addition, there were also a high number of comments (24) about the city’s rail connections, particularly the frequent services to London and Birmingham.
	“Train frequency is good in the most part”
	“Good railway links to London and Birmingham (and thus to the rest of the UK from these nodes)”
	3.4 Active travel
	There were also a large number of comments relating to active travel.
	In particular, a high number of respondents (42) were positive about recent/planned improvements to cycle infrastructure and wanted to see more of this in the future.
	“I have used the temporary cycleway on Charter Avenue and I look forward to the Coundon cycleway. I love cycling”
	“I know that two cycle ways are being built, this network needs to be expanded to cover all areas of the city”
	“We have some good cycle routes, we need more of them and they need to join up”
	“New cycleways on Barkers Butts Ln and Binley Rd will be great! The plans and progress look really good, glad to see they're fully segregated”
	“The new canal towpath surface is amazing. It has made the cycle into Bedworth (for work) much safer and enjoyable”
	A number of respondents (15) also commented on the pedestrianisation of sections of the city centre, saying that this had created a better environment for walking. Respondents specifically mentioned the areas around Coventry Railway Station and Covent...
	“The pedestrianised centre of the city is great, it's much more pleasant to be able to walk around without cars”
	“The walking route from the train station into town is great and is a pleasure to use”
	“(The) Pedestrianised city centre was ahead of its time. (The) train station to city centre walking route (is now) much more attractive”
	3.5 Car travel
	There were also a significant number of comments about car travel.
	Of these, a large number (22) related specifically to the Ring Road, which respondents felt facilitated the movement of traffic between different parts of the city effectively.
	“Getting from one side of the city to the other is relatively efficient… The Coventry Ring Road, whilst much maligned, does a good job here”
	“The Ring Road has always worked well at moving traffic from one radial road to another”
	There were also a smaller number of comments in support of:
	 the rollout of average speed cameras (10)
	 the relative lack of congestion on the city’s road network (7)
	 proximity to the motorway network (6)
	 ease of access to the city centre and the availability of city centre car parking (6).
	There were both positive (9) and negative (5) comments about the removal of bus lanes.
	3.6 Other comments
	There were also a group of respondents (16) who felt that there was nothing, or very little, that works well about the current transport system.
	“Honestly, nothing works well. Traffic is too congested for cars, public transport is not connected enough and takes too long, cycling is too dangerous”
	3.7 Question: In terms of travelling around, into and out of Coventry, what do you think works less well? Again, think about all forms of transport. What should we improve?
	3.8 Active travel
	The largest number of responses to this question related to active travel.
	A very large number of these (89) related specifically to the lack of safe spaces for cyclists.
	“Compared to other similar sized and located cities… cycling infrastructure is woeful in Coventry. More people would be cycling if the infrastructure was there, people don't cycle due to being afraid of cycling on the roads”
	“Roads (are) unsuitable and often dangerous for cycling”
	“The city is relatively compact - easily within cycling distance - but many routes are just too dangerous to cycle”
	“Getting around Coventry by bicycle is not a pleasant or safe feeling thing to do”
	Related to this, some respondents (11) also mentioned a lack of cycle parking facilities.
	“(The) lack of bike parking at shops or in parks is a problem”
	A significant number of respondents (21) also cited a lack of safe, attractive and suitable infrastructure for pedestrians. More specific comments included concerns about pedestrian underpasses, a lack of pedestrian crossings on busy roads and poorly ...
	“Ring Road pedestrian underpasses are unattractive and a blight on the city”
	“Pedestrian & cycle access into the city centre is poor - at almost every point where the Ring Road needs to be traversed the experience is off putting”
	“The A45 is such a barrier to active transport. There are so few crossing points and those that do exist favour motor transport over cyclists and pedestrians”
	“Pavements (are) not well maintained in a lot of areas”
	3.9 Car travel
	There were also a large number of responses to this question relating to car travel.
	The majority (48) of these related to congestion. Respondents cited a variety of different causes of congestion, including the sheer volume of cars on the road, the impact of traffic lights at key junctions and the number of HGVs operating on certain ...
	“Car traffic is terrible at peak times”
	“Most routes into and out of the city have key ‘pinch points’ which slow the flow of traffic considerably... Also when there is an accident on the M6, every route into and out of town grinds to a standstill”
	“When there are more cars back on the road again, the sheer volume of traffic is just too much. We need to encourage more people to cycle or use public transport”
	“(There are) too many traffic lights on the main routes into the city centre causing delays and congestion”
	“Lorries in and around Allesley are having a real impact on road services”
	A number of respondents (16) also raised concerns about either the cost or availability of car parking. Various specific locations were mentioned, including the city centre, University Hospital and Tile Hill Railway Station.
	“(There is a lack of) affordable parking for people who work in the city centre or at the hospital”
	“Car parking can be an issue at busy times in (the) city centre”
	Several respondents (15) also criticised junction layouts at specific locations. These most commonly related to the on/off slip-roads on the Ring Road, however various other locations were also mentioned.
	“People (from) out of Coventry hate the Ring Road junctions and avoid Coventry as a shopping and leisure destination”
	“The Ring Road is absolutely appalling, but is virtually the only way to traverse the city”
	“Many roundabouts (are) poorly designed and drivers can't understand how they work”
	In addition, there were also a smaller number of comments relating to:
	 air pollution (11)
	 traffic speeds (10)
	 lack of enforcement of parking restrictions, particularly pavement parking (10)
	 potholes/poor maintenance of road surfaces (6).
	3.10 Public transport
	There were fewer responses to this question relating to public transport.
	However, the greatest number of these related to either infrequent or unreliable bus services (20) or gaps in the bus network/a lack of direct bus services between particular places (18).
	“Bus services (are) too infrequent, especially (at) evenings and weekends”
	“Buses are not regular and do not meet their schedules”
	“To go to another area of Coventry nearly all journeys involve (a) change of bus”
	“In general, I think the buses are pretty good but they don't really work if you have to change”
	“Bus routes don't run regularly to (the) hospital outside of 9-5pm, making their use for workers hard”
	A number of respondents (11) also mentioned the cost of travelling on public transport.
	“Bus (services are) too infrequent, and too expensive. (When a) family of four trip to town (costs) £8... why wouldn't you just drive?”
	“Another drawback to using buses is the one-off price, £2 I think to go even just one or two stops. This encourages people to drive short distances”
	A smaller number of respondents mentioned the continuing presence of diesel/petrol buses and taxis (9) and infrequent or unreliable train services (6).
	3.11 Question: Is there another town or city you have visited that you think had good transport opportunities? Please briefly tell us where you visited and what was good about it
	Respondents mentioned a wide variety of different towns and cities with good transport systems. However, London (34) was the place which was highlighted most frequently. Respondents particularly praised its comprehensive and affordable public transpor...
	“Cycling in London is actually really good, (it is) well signposted and the cycle super-highways are excellent”
	“Some of the cycle paths in London are awesome. They are segregated from both pedestrians and motor vehicles. They have their own traffic lights”
	“London buses are fab. (You pay a) flat fare, (and) travel as far as you like”
	“Use of the Oyster card and excellent public transport means most people never use a car, and many don't even own a car”
	“London has a fantastic one ticket (system covering) all forms of (public) transport”
	“Fast, cheap and easy. Everyone takes public transport because it's the easiest option”
	Within the UK, Birmingham (18), Manchester (12) and Nottingham (10) were all also popular choices. Several respondents highlighted their respective metro/tram systems and their cycling facilities:
	“Birmingham has great transport opportunities with trams, dedicated cycle lanes… and a good suburban train network, along with many bus routes to all corners of the city”
	“The cycle provision there (in Manchester) was great. Drivers (are) physically separated from cyclists… (and) the tram network was fast and reliable”
	“The tram network in Manchester is excellent. It has great connectivity and goes to all areas”
	“(The) tram network (in Nottingham) is good for a city its size”
	Many respondents also mentioned various European cities, the most common of which were various cities in the Netherlands (33). Respondents mostly cited Amsterdam, however Arnhem, Breda, Groningen, Leiden and Rotterdam were all also mentioned. Responde...
	“Joined up public transport offering, priority given to cycles and pedestrians over private cars. The public transport was frequent, clean, and you felt safe”
	“The public’s transport and cycling provision are world class”
	“Cycling is so easy there, bikes are given at least equal priority to cars everywhere, which means everyone cycles. The segregated cycle lanes are great! Particularly helpful as well is how easy it is to transfer from cycling to public transport and b...
	“Both the cycling and public transport infrastructure, I believe, make Amsterdam the gold standard in getting around in a safe and greener way”
	Outside of the Netherlands, a number or respondents (12) identified Copenhagen, for similar reasons.
	“My favourite cities with regards to transport are Copenhagen and Amsterdam. The cycling infrastructure encourages all levels and all ages to cycle. Families can cycle safely”
	“Cycling is extremely easy and safe, so everyone, from kids to old ladies, do it on a daily basis. Separated cycle paths go everywhere, including lots of routes that are for cycling and walking only.”
	“Cycle paths on every road and an excellent circular rail/metro system allowing easy access to all areas of the city”
	3.12 Question: Which of the following do you think are the most important for us to consider in relation to transport in Coventry. Please choose three only
	Respondents were asked to choose their top three from a selection of possible policy priorities. When ranked from the most to least popular choices, these were:
	 making walking and cycling easier (170)
	 reducing air pollution (147)
	 improving public transport (144)
	 tackling climate change (93)
	 preventing road traffic accidents (66)
	 better connecting Coventry to the rest of the country (54)
	 improving access to employment opportunities (48)
	 enabling new jobs to be created (46)
	 enabling new technology (e.g. driverless cars) (37)
	 enabling new homes to be built (13).
	3.13 Question: What one thing do you think we absolutely should include in the strategy?
	Respondents made a wide variety of suggestions when asked for something that should definitely be included in the strategy. These were a mix of specific policy suggestions and broad areas for improvement.
	However, the most common, recurring choices were:
	 more cycleways/safer cycling (58)
	 Very Light Rail/trams/metro/underground (24)
	 improved public transport (in general terms) (14)
	 reduced air pollution (13)
	 reduced car dependency (12)
	 safer/better walking routes for pedestrians (11)
	 more/more affordable/free car parking (9)
	 improved provision for motorcycles/motorcycle parking (8)
	 reduced congestion (8)
	 climate change (8)
	 improvements to walking and cycling (mentioned in general terms) (8)
	 electric buses (7).
	David Pipe



	8 Coventry Very Light Rail
	Coventry’s Strategic Transport Investment Strategy ‘Connecting Coventry’, approved by Council in January 2017, aims to maximise the economic potential of the city through investment in transport infrastructure to support growth and jobs. It set out an...
	A progress report in March 2018 provided an update on how the strategy had progressed and sought further approvals to take forward the schemes in the Strategy to delivery. A further report will be tabled at today’s Cabinet to provide an update on Cove...
	This report provides a brief progress update on CVLR, a flagship project for the Council.  The project is supported by Transport for West Midlands (TfWM) and has gained national and global interest. Appendix 1 outlines the VLR vision, progress to date...
	The purpose of this report is to outline the capital investment required to deliver the first route, the funding opportunities currently identified, together with the project’s funding requirements for the 2021/22 financial year.
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Appendix 1: VLR vision, progress to date, next steps and evidence of progress.
	Background papers:
	None
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	 enable progression of the business and commercial case for the first route
	 enable the procurement of the Outline Design Concept and Operations and Maintenance input for the first route
	 progression of the track workstream to enable Test Track facilities of the new track design to be procured and constructed. It is anticipated the £1.7m allocated to R&D will enable test track facilities to be inserted into the loop at DVLRNIC to ena...
	5.1.1 The required capital investment cost through to the delivery of the first route is estimated at £140m.  Of this, £16.4m has been secured and committed from a combination of the CWLEP and the WMCA. Further funding bids of £93m have been submitted.
	5.1.2 The outcome of funding bids will be known this year and in March 2022
	5.1.3 There is a requirement to commit up to £3.2m imminently to maintain momentum.
	5.1.4 The corporate contribution if approved will be put forward as part of the minimum 15% match required for City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement bid submission. This would improve the chances of a successful outcome of the regional bid, wit...

	9 Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	Cabinet is requested to:
	1) Authorise the programme of work outlined within the proposed Coventry One Strategic Plan for Primary, Secondary Education and Special Educational Needs (SEN).
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	Will this report go to Council?
	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 1 - One Strategic Plan 2020-25
	1.0 Introduction
	1.1. Coventry’s Education and Learning Vision
	1.2. Statutory Context
	1.3. Coordinated Strategic approach
	2 Key strategic priorities
	3 Maintaining Available Capacity
	3.1 School Admissions
	3.2 Home to School transport

	4  Funding
	5  Housing Developments
	6 Providing School Places
	6.1 School expansions
	6.1.1 Partnership working
	6.1.2 Size
	6.2 New schools
	7.1. Characteristics of Coventry provision for children
	7.1.1 Academisation
	7.2 Special Schools

	7.3  Population Context
	7.4 Early Years
	7.5 Primary Context

	8 Future Need
	8.1 Primary

	8.2 Secondary
	8.3 SEND Provision
	8.4 Proposed Strategic SEN Plan
	8.4.1 SEMH Strategy
	8.4.2 Broad Spectrum/Autism
	8.4.3 SEND programme 2020 onwards
	9. Post 16
	10. Alternative Provision (AP)

	Appendices

	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 2 - Lord Agnew Letter 30-05-2018
	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 3 - Lord Agnew Letter 23-09-2019
	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 4 - Baroness Berridge Letter 25-02-2021
	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 5a - Academy School Org Policy
	1: Summary
	About this departmental advice
	Expiry or review date
	Who is this advice for?
	Main points

	2: Types of changes
	Potentially contentious proposals: full business case required
	Governance changes to an academy trust
	Physical expansion of premises
	Physical expansions onto satellite sites

	Age range changes
	Amalgamations / mergers
	Faith-related changes
	Other change proposals

	3: Funding
	4: What are the steps to making changes?
	Who should be consulted and how?
	Requesting a change: fast track and full business case
	Fast track application: academies rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’
	Full business case

	Decision making process
	Admissions-related changes

	5: Further Information

	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 5b - School Org Policy
	1: Summary
	About this guidance
	Review date
	Who is this guidance for?
	Main points

	2: Prescribed alteration changes
	Enlargement of premises
	Expansion onto an additional site (‘or satellite sites’)
	Quality of new places created by expansions
	Change in number of pupils in a special school

	Reducing pupil numbers in mainstream schools
	Change of age range
	Adding or removing a sixth-form
	Closing an additional site
	Transfer to a new site
	Changes of category
	Single sex school becoming co-educational (or vice versa)
	Mainstream school: establish/remove/alter SEN provision
	Change the types of need catered for by a special school
	Boarding provision
	Remove selective admission arrangements at a grammar school

	3: Contentious / controversial proposals
	4: Changes that can be made outside of the statutory process
	5: Statutory process: prescribed alterations
	Publication
	Representation (formal consultation)
	Decision
	Rights of appeal against a decision
	Implementation
	Modification post determination
	Revocation of proposals
	Land and buildings for foundation, foundation special or voluntary controlled schools

	6: Statutory process: foundation proposals
	Changing category to foundation, acquiring a Trust and/or acquiring a foundation majority
	Initiation
	Publication
	Representation (formal consultation)
	Decision
	Implementation
	Modification post determination
	Revocation of proposals
	Governance and staffing issues
	Land transfer issues
	Removing a Trust and/or removing a foundation majority
	Initiation
	Land and assets (when removing a Trust)
	Consultation
	Publication
	Representation
	Decision
	Implementation
	Modification of proposals

	Annex A: Information to be included in a prescribed alteration statutory proposal
	Annex B: Information that must be included in foundation proposals
	Annex C: Information to be included in proposals to remove a Trust
	Annex D: Information to be included in proposal to reconstitute the governing body
	Annex E: Further Information
	Annex F: Contact details for RSC offices

	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 6 - Alternative Options for Secondary Expansion
	Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme - Appendix 7 -  Secondary Schools & Oftsed Rating

	10 SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	Council is requested to:
	List of Appendices included:
	Appendix 1 – Woodlands 2020 consultation leaflet
	Appendix 2 – Woodlands 2020 consultation FAQs
	Appendix 3 – Woodlands 2020 consultation feedback summary
	Appendix 4 – Woodlands 2020 consultation individual feedback responses
	Background paper:
	Education and Learning One Strategic Plan 2019-2025
	Other useful documents:
	Cabinet report October 2021 – Academisation of Woodfield School
	Cabinet report October 2018 – Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme:
	http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=11774&Ver=4
	Let’s Talk 2021 live consultation (which includes the 2021 consultation leaflet and FAQs):
	It is noted that a consultation was undertaken in 2020, as referenced in Appendices 2, 3, 4 and 5. A further consultation is currently live, ending on 1st October 2021, and can be viewed at the above link (which includes the 2021 consultation leaflet ...
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 1 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Leaflet
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 2 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation FAQs
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 3 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Feedback Summary
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 4 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Feedback Responses
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Background Paper - Education and Learning One Strategic Plan 2019-25

	11 Academies Act 2010 - Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease following the proposed academy conversion in respect of Woodfield School site and the grant of a 125-year Long Lease in respect of Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust (MAT)
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	Cabinet is requested to:
	List of Appendices included:
	Appendix 1 – Woodfield School Stoneleigh Road site lease plan
	Appendix 2 – Woodfield School Hawthorn Lane site lease plan
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents:
	Cabinet Report 30th October 2021 – SEND proposal for the use of the Woodlands site
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	Academies Act 2010 - Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease following the proposed academy conversion in respect of Woodfield School site and the grant of a 125-year Long Lease in respect of Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) - Appendix 1 - Woodfield Stoneleigh Road Lease Draft Plan
	Academies Act 2010 - Grant of temporary 5-year excluded act lease following the proposed academy conversion in respect of Woodfield School site and the grant of a 125-year Long Lease in respect of Woodlands School site to the Sidney Stringer Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) - Appendix 2 - Woodfield Hawthorn Lane Lease Draft Plan

	14 SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 1 - Woodlands Feasibility Study Feb 2018
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 2 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Leaflet
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 3 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation FAQs
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 4 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Feedback Summary
	SEND Proposal for the Use of the Woodlands Site - Appendix 5 - Woodlands 2020 Consultation Feedback Responses




